ENGINEERING MICROBES FOR THERAPY

EDITED BY: Aleš Berlec and Borut Štrukelj PUBLISHED IN: Frontiers in Microbiology







Frontiers Copyright Statement

© Copyright 2007-2019 Frontiers Media SA. All rights reserved. All content included on this site, such as text, graphics, logos, button icons, images, video/audio clips, downloads, data compilations and software, is the property of or is licensed to Frontiers Media SA ("Frontiers") or its licensees and/or subcontractors. The copyright in the text of individual articles is the property of their respective authors, subject to a license granted to Frontiers.

The compilation of articles constituting this e-book, wherever published, as well as the compilation of all other content on this site, is the exclusive property of Frontiers. For the conditions for downloading and copying of e-books from Frontiers' website, please see the Terms for Website Use. If purchasing Frontiers e-books from other websites or sources, the conditions of the website concerned apply.

Images and graphics not forming part of user-contributed materials may not be downloaded or copied without permission.

Individual articles may be downloaded and reproduced in accordance with the principles of the CC-BY licence subject to any copyright or other notices. They may not be re-sold as an e-book.

As author or other contributor you grant a CC-BY licence to others to reproduce your articles, including any graphics and third-party materials supplied by you, in accordance with the Conditions for Website Use and subject to any copyright notices which you include in connection with your articles and materials.

All copyright, and all rights therein, are protected by national and international copyright laws.

The above represents a summary only. For the full conditions see the Conditions for Authors and the Conditions for Website Use. ISSN 1664-8714 ISBN 978-2-88945-883-7

ISBN 978-2-88945-883-7 DOI 10.3389/978-2-88945-883-7

About Frontiers

Frontiers is more than just an open-access publisher of scholarly articles: it is a pioneering approach to the world of academia, radically improving the way scholarly research is managed. The grand vision of Frontiers is a world where all people have an equal opportunity to seek, share and generate knowledge. Frontiers provides immediate and permanent online open access to all its publications, but this alone is not enough to realize our grand goals.

Frontiers Journal Series

The Frontiers Journal Series is a multi-tier and interdisciplinary set of open-access, online journals, promising a paradigm shift from the current review, selection and dissemination processes in academic publishing. All Frontiers journals are driven by researchers for researchers; therefore, they constitute a service to the scholarly community. At the same time, the Frontiers Journal Series operates on a revolutionary invention, the tiered publishing system, initially addressing specific communities of scholars, and gradually climbing up to broader public understanding, thus serving the interests of the lay society, too.

Dedication to Quality

Each Frontiers article is a landmark of the highest quality, thanks to genuinely collaborative interactions between authors and review editors, who include some of the world's best academicians. Research must be certified by peers before entering a stream of knowledge that may eventually reach the public - and shape society; therefore, Frontiers only applies the most rigorous and unbiased reviews.

Frontiers revolutionizes research publishing by freely delivering the most outstanding research, evaluated with no bias from both the academic and social point of view. By applying the most advanced information technologies, Frontiers is catapulting scholarly publishing into a new generation.

What are Frontiers Research Topics?

Frontiers Research Topics are very popular trademarks of the Frontiers Journals Series: they are collections of at least ten articles, all centered on a particular subject. With their unique mix of varied contributions from Original Research to Review Articles, Frontiers Research Topics unify the most influential researchers, the latest key findings and historical advances in a hot research area! Find out more on how to host your own Frontiers Research Topic or contribute to one as an author by contacting the Frontiers Editorial Office: researchtopics@frontiersin.org

ENGINEERING MICROBES FOR THERAPY

Topic Editors: Aleš Berlec, Jožef Stefan Institute, Slovenia Borut Štrukelj, University of Ljubljana, Slovenia



Image: Kateryna Kon/Shutterstock.com.

Microbes can play protective role in human health, and the concepts of probiotics and microbiota have been well established in recent years. Probiotics have an important economic impact in food, food supplement and veterinary industry with increasing market size. Engineering microbes for therapy can lead to selection of new microbial strains and mixtures, or targeted improvement of existing microbial strains, achieved by mutagenesis, genetic engineering and synthetic biology. Engineering of microbes can also encompass the development and improvement of their dosage forms. Possible uses of engineered microbes include antigen delivery, immunomodulation, inflammation, cancer, infectious diseases and metabolic disorders. The eBook represents an up-to-date overview, shows new results, as well as demonstrates future trends in the developing field of therapeutic microbial engineering.

Citation: Berlec, A., Štrukelj, B., eds. (2019). Engineering Microbes for Therapy. Lausanne: Frontiers Media. doi: 10.3389/978-2-88945-883-7

Table of Contents

- 05 Editorial: Engineering Microbes for Therapy Aleš Berlec and Borut Štrukelj
- 07 Vector Development Timeline for Mucosal Vaccination and Treatment of Disease Using Lactococcus lactis and Design Approaches of Next Generation Food Grade Plasmids

Camila Prosperi de Castro, Mariana M. Drumond, Viviane L. Batista, Amanda Nunes, Pamela Mancha-Agresti and Vasco Azevedo

- **15 Prospects on the Use of Schizochytrium sp. to Develop Oral Vaccines** Abel Ramos-Vega, Sergio Rosales-Mendoza, Bernardo Bañuelos-Hernández and Carlos Angulo
- 30 Microbial Delivery Vehicles for Allergens and Allergen-Derived Peptides in Immunotherapy of Allergic Diseases

Abida Zahirović and Mojca Lunder

42 Lactic Acid Bacteria for Delivery of Endogenous or Engineered Therapeutic Molecules

Peter A. Bron and Michiel Kleerebezem

46 Anti-tumoral Effects of Recombinant Lactococcus lactis Strain Secreting IL-17A Cytokine

Elsa Jacouton, Edgar Torres Maravilla, Anne-Sophie Boucard, Nicolas Pouderous, Ana Paula Pessoa Vilela, Isabelle Naas, Florian Chain, Vasco Azevedo, Philippe Langella and Luis G. Bermúdez-Humarán

53 A New Bifidobacteria Expression SysTem (BEST) to Produce and Deliver Interleukin-10 in Bifidobacterium bifidum

Aurélie Mauras, Florian Chain, Aurélie Faucheux, Pauline Ruffié, Sophie Gontier, Bernhard Ryffel, Marie-José Butel, Philippe Langella, Luis G. Bermúdez-Humarán and Anne-Judith Waligora-Dupriet

65 Engineering Components of the Lactobacillus S-Layer for Biotherapeutic Applications

Courtney Klotz and Rodolphe Barrangou

77 Discovery of Bacterial Deaminases That Convert 5-Fluoroisocytosine Into 5-Fluorouracil

Agota Aučynaitė, Rasa Rutkienė, Daiva Tauraitė, Rolandas Meškys and Jaunius Urbonavičius

87 Whey Protein Isolate-Supplemented Beverage, Fermented by Lactobacillus casei BL23 and Propionibacterium freudenreichii 138, in the Prevention of Mucositis in Mice

Bárbara F. Cordeiro, Emiliano R. Oliveira, Sara H. da Silva, Bruna M. Savassi, Leonardo B. Acurcio, Luisa Lemos, Juliana de L. Alves, Helder Carvalho Assis, Angélica T. Vieira, Ana M. C. Faria, Enio Ferreira, Yves Le Loir, Gwénaël Jan, Luiz R. Goulart, Vasco Azevedo, Rodrigo D. de O. Carvalho and Fillipe L. R. do Carmo 105 Microencapsulation of Lactic Acid Bacteria Improves the Gastrointestinal Delivery and in situ Expression of Recombinant Fluorescent Protein

Nina D. Coelho-Rocha, Camila P. de Castro, Luis C. L. de Jesus, Sophie Y. Leclercq, Savio H. de Cicco Sandes, Alvaro C. Nunes, Vasco Azevedo, Mariana M. Drumond and Pamela Mancha-Agresti

- Mutation of the Surface Layer Protein SlpB has Pleiotropic Effects in the Probiotic Propionibacterium freudenreichii CIRM-BIA 129
 Fillipe L. R. do Carmo, Wanderson M. Silva, Guilherme C. Tavares, Izabela C. Ibraim, Barbara F. Cordeiro, Emiliano R. Oliveira, Houem Rabah, Chantal Cauty, Sara H. da Silva, Marcus V. Canário Viana, Ana C. B. Caetano, Roselane G. dos Santos, Rodrigo D. de Oliveira Carvalho, Julien Jardin, Felipe L. Pereira, Edson L. Folador, Yves Le Loir, Henrique C. P. Figueiredo, Gwénaël Jan and Vasco Azevedo
- 138 Characterization of a Prophage-Free Derivative Strain of Lactococcus lactis ssp. lactis IL1403 Reveals the Importance of Prophages for Phenotypic Plasticity of the Host

Anne Aucouturier, Florian Chain, Philippe Langella and Elena Bidnenko

- **154** Standardized Preparation for Fecal Microbiota Transplantation in Pigs Jun Hu, Lingli Chen, Yimei Tang, Chunlin Xie, Baoyang Xu, Min Shi, Wenyong Zheng, Shuyi Zhou, Xinkai Wang, Liu Liu, Yiqin Yan, Tao Yang, Yaorong Niu, Qiliang Hou, Xiaofan Xu and Xianghua Yan
- 164 Antimicrobial Susceptibility and Virulence Surveillance of Campylobacter spp. Isolated From Patients in Two Tertiary Medical Centers in Taiwan Mao-Cheng Ge, Shu-Fang Kuo, Shih-Cheng Chang, Chun-Chih Chien, Huey-Ling You and Jang-Jih Lu





Editorial: Engineering Microbes for Therapy

Aleš Berlec^{1,2*} and Borut Štrukelj^{1,2}

¹ Department of Biotechnology, Jožef Stefan Institute, Ljubljana, Slovenia, ² Faculty of Pharmacy, University of Ljubljana, Ljubljana, Slovenia

Keywords: probiotics, therapy, engineering, Lactococcus, Lactobacillus, vaccination, immunotherapy, delivery

Editorial on the Research Topic

Engineering Microbes for Therapy

The notion that microbes are not just vicious pathogens but can play protective role in human health has been well-established in recent years. The concept of probiotics, "live micro-organisms which, when administered in adequate amounts, confer a health benefit on the host," has been introduced, focusing mainly on species of lactic acid bacteria already present in food products. The beneficial activity of selected probiotics has been well-documented and supported in clinical trials. Probiotics have an important economic impact in food, food supplement, and veterinary industry with increasing market size.

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

George Grant, University of Aberdeen, United Kingdom

Reviewed by:

Luis Ángel Fernández Herrero, Centro Nacional de Biotecnología (CNB), Spain

> *Correspondence: Aleš Berlec

ales.berlec@iis.si

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Infectious Diseases, a section of the journal Frontiers in Microbiology

Received: 25 February 2019 Accepted: 13 March 2019 Published: 02 April 2019

Citation:

Berlec A and Štrukelj B (2019) Editorial: Engineering Microbes for Therapy. Front. Microbiol. 10:629. doi: 10.3389/fmicb.2019.00629 The introduction of next generation sequencing techniques has boosted the research of human microbiota and established the importance of its composition. The perturbation of composition of microbiota can lead to imbalance and dysbiosis—a disease characterized by the changes in microbiota. The latter has been demonstrated in inflammatory bowel disease, irritable bowel syndrome, allergy, obesity, colon cancer, and even autism. The ability to restore the balance with microbial intervention was also demonstrated. The stunning example is fecal transplant for the treatment of recurrent *Clostridium difficile* infection.

Engineering microbes for therapy can lead to selection of new microbial strains and mixtures, or targeted improvement of existing microbial strains, achieved by mutagenesis, genetic engineering, and synthetic biology. The new species will exceed the existent probiotic definition for food applications, but may well be adopted by the pharmaceutical industry as "pharmabiotics" or "live biotherapeutic products."

Delivery of antigens for the purpose of vaccination is maybe among the most frequently explored ways of using genetically engineered microbes, although not many examples have actually reached the human clinical stage. Prosperi de Castro et al. have reviewed the use of lactic acid bacterium *Lactococcus lactis* as a mucosal vaccine delivery vehicle. Special emphasis was put on the delivery of DNA vaccines that enable *in situ* translation of the antigen. Novel, advanced and food-grade vectors have been developed for that purpose. Apart from *L. lactis*, Ramos-Vega et al. have reviewed the use of another, much less established microbial host—microalgae from the genus *Schizochytrium*. These were shown as favorable hosts for influenza subunit vaccine production, and were described as safe for human consumption. Apart from delivery of antigens, the microbes can also be engineered to deliver allergens with the final goal of desensitizing allergic individuals, essentially enabling immunotherapy of allergic disease. This field has been thoroughly described by Zahirović and Lunder.

Other possible uses of engineered microbes include immunomodulation, inflammation, cancer, infectious diseases, and metabolic disorders. Some recent examples from this field have been reviewed by Bron and Kleerebezem. Jacouton et al. have developed *L. lactis* secreting IL-17A

that prevented the formation of tumors in a mouse model. Mauras et al. have developed new plasmid vector for Bifidobacterium bifidum and used it to express Interleukin-10. These recombinant bacteria were effective in decreasing intestinal inflammation in mice. Therapeutic proteins, delivered by engineered microbes, can be either secreted or displayed on the surface. Some species from the genus Lactobacillus contain surface (S) layers that are made of crystalline arrays of repeating subunits of S layer proteins. Klotz and Barrangou reviewed the possibilities to apply these structures for biotherapeutic applications. Apart from engineering microbes to deliver therapeutic proteins, they can also be used to activate prodrugs at a defined site of action, by delivering appropriate enzymes, thereby minimizing side effects. Aučynaitė et al. report the discovery of deaminases that convert 5-Fluoroisocytosine into 5-Fluorouracil.

Engineering of microbes can also encompass the development and improvement of their dosage forms. Cordeiro et al. have improved the viability of *Lactobacillus casei* BL23 and *Propionibacterium freudenreichii* 138 in fermented skim milk by the addition of whey protein isolate. The latter has increased the protective activity of the beverage against mucositis in mice. Another mode of protection of bacteria, namely incorporation of *L. lactis* in sodium alginate microcapsules, has been reported by Coelho-Rocha et al. Considerably higher expression of the model protein in mice gastrointestinal tract has been achieved.

The studies of engineering of microbes do not focus only on expressing heterologous proteins, but also on the role of intrinsic bacterial proteins. *Propionibacterium freudenreichii* is a beneficial Gram-positive bacterium, currently considered as an emerging probiotic with promising immunomodulatory properties. do Carmo et al. have shown that its S layer protein SlpB has a crucial pleiotropic role in mediating beneficial activity. Inactivating SlpB led to dramatic change of bacterial surface properties, as well as on the entire bacterial proteome. Aucouturier et al. have shown the importance of prophages in the genome of *Lactococcus lactis* ssp. *lactis* IL1403. Their removal contributed significantly to the changes in the lactococcal physiology, and may play a role in the adaptation of bacteria to the changes in their environment.

The use of engineered microbes is not limited to human medicine only, but also includes veterinary applications. Hu et al. reported a standardized preparation for fecal transplantation of microbiota in pigs. Such protocols are crucial for establishing stool banks of appropriate safety, and thereby promoting this approach as an alternative to antibiotics for intestinal health of animals.

The compendium of original and review articles that were assembled in the Research Topic Engineering microbes for therapy represents an up to date overview, shows new results, as well as demonstrates future trends. These and other studies suggest that the therapeutic use of microbes has exciting future. However, the crucial step from successful proof-of-principle reports in animal models to well-executed human clinical trials is, at the moment, still lacking in most of the cases and represents a challenge for the future.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

All authors listed have made a substantial, direct and intellectual contribution to the work, and approved it for publication.

FUNDING

The work was supported by the Slovenian Research Agency (grant numbers P4-0127, J4-9327).

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2019 Berlec and Štrukelj. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Vector Development Timeline for Mucosal Vaccination and Treatment of Disease Using *Lactococcus lactis* and Design Approaches of Next Generation Food Grade Plasmids

Camila Prosperi de Castro^{1,2}, Mariana M. Drumond^{1,3}, Viviane L. Batista¹, Amanda Nunes¹, Pamela Mancha-Agresti¹ and Vasco Azevedo^{1*}

¹ Laboratório de Genética Celular e Molecular, Departamento de Biologia Geral, Instituto de Ciências Biológicas, Universidade Federal de Minas Gerais, Belo Horizonte, Brazil, ² Kroton Educacional, Faculdade Pitágoras, Contagem, Brazil, ³ Centro Federal de Educação Tecnológica de Minas Gerais, Coordenação de Ciências, Belo Horizonte, Brazil

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Aleš Berlec, Jožef Stefan Institute (IJS), Slovenia

Reviewed by: Priti Desai,

Priti Desai, Institute of Advanced Research, India Catherine Daniel, Institut Pasteur de Lille, France

> *Correspondence: Vasco Azevedo vasco@icb.ufmg.br

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Infectious Diseases, a section of the journal Frontiers in Microbiology

Received: 09 April 2018 Accepted: 18 July 2018 Published: 14 August 2018

Citation:

de Castro CP, Drumond MM, Batista VL, Nunes A, Mancha-Agresti P and Azevedo V (2018) Vector Development Timeline for Mucosal Vaccination and Treatment of Disease Using Lactococcus lactis and Design Approaches of Next Generation Food Grade Plasmids. Front. Microbiol. 9:1805. doi: 10.3389/fmicb.2018.01805 Lactococcus lactis has been used historically in fermentation and food preservation processes as it is considered safe for human consumption (GRAS-Generally Recognized As Safe). Nowadays, in addition to its wide use in the food industry, L. lactis has been used as a bioreactor for the production of molecules of medical interest, as well as vectors for DNA delivery. These applications are possible due to the development of promising genetic tools over the past few decades, such as gene expression, protein targeting systems, and vaccine plasmids. Thus, this review presents some of these genetic tools and their evolution, which allow us to envision new biotechnological and therapeutic uses of L. lactis. Constitutive and inductive expression systems will be discussed, many of which have been used successfully for heterologous production of different proteins, tested on animal models. In addition, advances in the construction of new plasmids to be used as potential DNA vaccines, delivered by this microorganism, will also be viewed. Finally, we will focus on the scene of gene expression systems known as "food-grade systems" based on inducing compounds and safe selection markers, which eliminate the need for the use of compounds harmful to humans or animal health and potential future prospects for their applications.

Keywords: lactic acid bacteria, recombinant L. lactis, expression systems, DNA vaccine, food grade vectors

Lactococcus lactis: THE MODEL LACTIC ACID BACTERIA

Lactic acid bacteria (LAB) constitute a diverse group of Gram-positive microorganisms, including species of genera *Lactobacillus*, *Lactococcus*, *Streptococcus*, *Pediococcus Leuconostoc*, and *Oenococcus*, which, among other shared characteristics, have the capacity to convert sugars into lactic acid (Makarova and Koonin, 2007). Because they have long been used in fermentation and food preservation processes, most of these bacteria are considered safe for human consumption, possessing the GRAS (*Generally Recognized As Safe*) status (van de Guchte et al., 2006). Among the representatives of this group, *L. lactis* is the best characterized species and figures as the model organism for its study. This, in turn, is due not only to its evident economic importance, but also to the fact that this bacterium is a microorganism of easy manipulation and has its genome sequenced. A great number of genetic tools have been developed. Thus, *L. lactis* has

also been widely used in the field of biotechnology for the production and delivery of antigens and cytokines to mucosal surfaces (Wells, 2011), and more recently as a vehicle for the delivery of DNA vaccines (Pereira et al., 2014, 2017; Pontes et al., 2014; Zurita-Turk et al., 2014; Souza et al., 2016; Mancha-Agresti et al., 2017).

This microorganism has several characteristics that make it an interesting vector for the production and delivery of biomolecules, especially for oral route, such as resisting stomach acidic environment and being able to survive in the gastrointestinal tract. Another attractive property of *L. lactis* is that it lacks lipopolysaccharides in its cell wall, which eliminates the risk of endotoxin shock. Finally, this bacterium is poorly immunogenic, and for this reason, it can be continuously used in immunization programs (Mercenier et al., 2000). Thus, *L. lactis* offers great versatility, and several vectors to be used in this microorganism have already been constructed, allowing a wide range of biotechnological applications, besides its use in the food industry.

Lactococcus lactis AS A CELL FACTORY—PROTEINS OF BIOTECHNOLOGICAL INTEREST

The use of L. lactis as a cell factory for high-level protein production was developed using constitutive and inducible promoters. The history regarding the use of vectors for cloning exogenous genes in the LAB started with two cryptic broad hostrange plasmids: pWV01 (Kok et al., 1984) and pSH71 (de Vos et al., 1997). The replicons of these plasmids have been the base for creating useful cloning vectors being able to replicate in a broad range of genera, such as L. lactis and also in Escherichia coli (recA+strain) (De Vos and Simons, 1994). In general, these small plasmids undergo a rolling-circle replication with chloramphenicol resistance. Another family of vectors derived from pAMbeta1 (from Enterococcus faecalis), which can only replicate in Gram-positive host strains, was constructed, pIL252 and pIL253, showing low and high copy plasmids, respectively, as having erythromycin resistance (Simon and Chopin, 1988; Kleerebezem et al., 1997b). These large plasmids replicate via "theta" replication and are equipped with E. coli replicons, generating pOri23 (Que et al., 2000), allowing efficient shuttling between Gram-positive and Gram-negative bacteria (O'Sullivan and Klaenhammer, 1993).

Afterwards, several vectors containing constitutive or inducible promoters were developed, and they represent the basis of all expression systems in *L. lactis* and other LAB (Pontes et al., 2011). Although the high production of heterologous proteins in *L. lactis* has been achieved using constitutive promoters (De Vos, 1999), this continuous production of high-level protein could generate intracellular accumulation, which could lead to degradation in the cytoplasm and sometimes could be toxic to the cell. This drawback, together with the fact that inducible promoters offer better handling, makes them the vectors of choice. In 1995, the most promising and frequently used system based on genes involved in biosynthesis and regulation of nisin, an antimicrobial peptide whose biosynthesis is encoded by a cluster of 11 genes, was developed (Kuipers et al., 1995). The NICE system (nisin-controlled expression), as it is called, comprises NIS operon regulatory elements, NisR and NisK code, for the regulator two-component system. The histidine-protein kinase NisK located in the cytoplasmic membrane binds the nisin molecule and activates NisR via phosphorylation, which in turn induces transcription of two promoters in the nisin gene cluster: PnisA and PnisF. In fact, this system has been demonstrated to have high protein production and is also easy to use as it has been extensively used in the industry. However, nisin has a high cost limiting its use. Due to nisin, researchers developed another system that is inducible by xylose sugar (Miyoshi et al., 2004). The xylose-inducible expression system (XIES) has the PxylT promoter, and in the presence of other sugars such as glucose, fructose, and/or mannose, it is tightly repressed. Thus, in the presence of xylose, PxylT is transcriptionally activated (Lokman et al., 1994). Another important characteristic of this system is its capacity to produce cytoplasmic or secreted proteins, and it can be easily switched on or off by adding either xylose or glucose, respectively (Miyoshi et al., 2004). As a sugar is used to operate this system, it is considered cheap and very useful for implementation in biotechnological processes. The secretion of heterologous proteins has advantages over intracellular-expressed ones, in the way in which only a simple purification step is necessary, higher yields are reached, and better target interactions are achieved (Le Loir et al., 2005).

Two other inducible systems for L. lactis were described recently. One is the zinc-inducible expression system, called ZIREX. This system allows induction of genes regulated by zinc ions and the pneumococcal repressor SczA (Mu et al., 2013). The other inducible system for L. lactis is stress-inducible controlled expression system (SICE). This system uses a promoter of the L. lactis groESL operon, whose expression is induced under stress conditions, which does not need exogenous induction, nor the presence of regulatory genes (Benbouziane et al., 2013). Characteristics of all these vectors are summarized in Table 1. Many of these vector applications have been described with satisfactory results. A recent report showed the gastrointestinal passage time of bacteria and their spatial localization in the gut. To this end, the authors used a plasmid from the NICE system (pNZ8148) in which IRFP reporters (pNZIRFP713 and pNZ-IRFP682) were cloned, resulting in near-infrared fluorescent proteins being expressed in the LAB (Berlec et al., 2015).

Concerning the XIES system, some therapeutic molecules such as 15-lipoxygenase were cloned in it. *L. lactis* (pXIES:CYT:*15lox-1*)-fermented milk was effective in the prevention of intestinal damage associated with inflammatory bowel disease (IBD) in a trinitrobenzenesulfonic acid-induced IBD mouse model (Saraiva et al., 2015) and, in addition, a decrease in IFN- γ and IL-4 was also observed. Also, an increase in IL-10 was observed in a dextran sodium sulfate-induced (DSS-induced) IBD mouse model, where mice were orally administrated with the culture of this strain (Carvalho et al., 2016). *L. lactis* (pXIES:*hsp65*) expressing the 65-kDa heat

Plasmid/ System	Characteristics	Cloned genes	Reference
pWV01	Lactococcal cryptic plasmid, rolling circle replication, (RCR) type, Cm ^r , 2.1 kb size, P23 promoter.	_	Kok et al., 1984
pSH71	Rolling circle replication (RCR) type, Cm ^r .	_	de Vos et al., 1997
plL252	Low-copy-number, broad-host- range cloning vector, theta-replication, Ery ^r , 4.7 kb size, P23/59 promoters.	-	Simon and Chopin, 1988
plL253	High-copy-number, broad-host-range cloning vector, theta-replication, Ery ^r , 5.2 kb size P23/P32 promoters.	-	Kleerebezem et al., 1997a
pORI23	High-copy-number, broad-host-range cloning vector, theta-replication, <i>oriCol</i> E1 origin, Ery ^r , 5.2 kb size P23 promoter	Luciferase	Que et al., 2000
NICE system	Nisin controlled gene expression system, Cm ^r , PnisA and PnisF. promoters. Secreted heterologous protein <i>L. lactis</i> NZ900 is the only host strain (NisK, nisR in genome). Nisin induced.	GroEL Catalase HPV-16 E7/IL-12 Human -Leptin	Kuipers et al., 1995 Miyoshi et al., 2006 de Moreno de LeBlanc et al., 2008 Bermudez-Humaran et al., 2005 Bermúdez-Humarán et al.,
XIES system	Xylose inducible expression system. Cm ^r , pXyIT promoter. Two versions of heterologous proteins, either cytoplasmic or secreted. Xylose induced.	Mirabilis MrpA fimbrial protein IL10 15-Lox-1 hsp65	2007 Miyoshi et al., 2004 Scavone et al., 2007 Marinho et al., 2010 Saraiva et al., 2015; Carvalho et al., 2016 de Azevedo et al., 2012
ZIREX system	Zinc-inducible expression system. Cm ^r pczcD promoter with SczA gene (for its regulatory protein).	gfp	Mu et al., 2013
SICE System	Stress Inducible Controlled Expression system. Cm ^r , groESL promoter, Stress conditions induced.	IL10 HPV-16E7	Benbouziane et al., 2013

TABLE 1 | Characteristics of constructed L. lactis vectors for heterologous protein production.

Em^r -erythromycin resistance gene, Cm^r - Chloramphenicol resistance gene, hsp65: heat-shock protein coding sequence of Mycobacterium leprae, GroEL: heat-shock protein coding sequence of B. abortus, 15-Lox-1: human 15 lypoxygenase coding sequence, HPV-16/E7: human papillomavirus type 16 cell wall-anchored E7 Antigen.

shock protein from *Mycobacterium leprae* (de Azevedo et al., 2012) was able to prevent the development of experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis in C57BL/6 mice which received this bacterium by oral administration. The reduction of IL-17 and the increase of IL-10 in mesenteric lymph node and spleen cell cultures were observed (Rezende et al., 2013). The same recombinant strain was tested in the DSS-induced colitis mouse model. In colonic tissue levels, proinflammatory cytokines (IFN-γ, IL-6, and TNF-α) were reduced by increasing IL-10 production. An expansion of regulatory T cells (CD4⁺Foxp3⁺ and CD4⁺LAP⁺) was also observed in the spleen, as well as in mesenteric lymph nodes. Thus, these data indicate that oral pretreatment with genetically modified *L. lactis* Hsp65 protein production is able to prevent DSS-induced colitis in C57BL/6 mice (Gomes-Santos et al., 2017).

DNA VACCINE VECTORS

Since the early 1990s, several studies have been conducted to test the efficiency of DNA vaccines in the prevention or treatment of different diseases (Huang and Gorman, 1990; Galvin et al., 2000). Modern vaccinology employs plasmids obtained from bacteria that encode antigen polypeptide sequences. These constructions are made using classical molecular biology techniques and more recently molecular techniques such as synthetic biology. There are many advantages of using bacterial plasmids as a vaccine strategy, and some of them are related to their stability at room temperature and reduction of production costs once the purification of the protein in interest is not required, which increases safety in administration (Suschak et al., 2017). Since these vaccine techniques began to be developed, many studies have been conducted aiming at empowering the delivery of these plasmids to host cells, and among these different strategies, we can cite, for example, the different routes of administration and use of adjuvants. However, much emphasis has been placed on the design of vectors that will be used as a vaccine platform (Sørensen et al., 2005; Oliveira and Mairhofer, 2013; Williams, 2014; Suschak et al., 2017).

Currently, there are very few groups worldwide working on the development of vectors for DNA vaccines using *L. lactis*

as delivery vehicles, and in recent years, only a few papers have been published in the scientific literature (Guimarães et al., 2009; Tao et al., 2011; Mancha-Agresti et al., 2016; Yagnik et al., 2016, 2017). Vectors generally exhibit some common features such as the presence of a strong eukaryotic promoter, such as cytomegalovirus, multiple cloning sites, a polyadenylation signal in addition to a prokaryotic region that includes a selection marker, usually an antibiotic resistance gene, as well as a prokaryotic origin of replication (Kutzler and Weiner, 2008). In 2009, our research group published a new vector for DNA delivery, pValac (vaccination using lactic acid bacteria), using lactococci. This vector exhibits the characteristics cited above including bovine growth hormone (BGH polyA) polyadenylation sequence, prokaryotic region that allows its replication in both E. coli and L. lactis strains, and chloramphenicol resistance gene as a selection marker, in addition to presenting a rolling circle origin of replication, which contributes to the relatively small size of the plasmid (3742 bp). L. lactis carrying pValac was able to efficiently deliver the vector to eukaryotic cells, allowing expression of green fluorescent protein (GFP) that could be observed by fluorescence microscopy and flow cytometry (Guimarães et al., 2009). Tao et al. (2011) published a paper describing the construction of the pLKV1 vector (4400 bp), which is quite similar to pValac. However, its selection marker is the kanamycin resistance gene, which is seen as an advantage due to the Food and Drug Administration recommending its use in DNA vaccines. The DsRed2 gene, which encodes a red fluorescent protein, was cloned in it. The functionality of this plasmid was verified by visualizing the expression of this protein in epifluorescent microscopy 48 h after the transfection of Caco-2 cells (Tao et al., 2011). However, there are no reports in the literature about in vivo studies using this plasmid. More

recently, Yagnik et al. (2016) published the construction of the pPERDBY vector (4800 bp), which, in addition to sharing features common to other vectors already mentioned above, shows the polyadenylation signal of SV40 and the enhanced green fluorescent protein, eGFP, linked to the multiple cloning sites. This feature was designed to facilitate other protein expression, since the eGFP is expressed fused to the protein of interest where the presence of immunostimulatory CpG motifs, which could act as adjuvants, has been described in it. In the Chinese hamster ovary cells (CHO) cell transfection assay, it was possible to observe eGFP expression, demonstrating the functionality of the vector. However, in the flow cytometry analysis, the percentage of cells expressing the reporter protein was extremely low, showing only 0.53% of positive cells (Yagnik et al., 2016). In 2016, our research group published a study relating to the construction of the pExu vector (extra chromosomal unit) with 6854 bp, which in comparison with the described vectors presents the "theta" type origin of replication, which gives it both greater structural and segregational stability. Eukaryotic cells were transfected with pExu:egfp plasmid and analyzed by confocal microscopy and flow cytometry 48 h after transfection. The flow cytometric analysis showed that 18.7% cells were positive for eGFP expression. In addition, in vivo expression kinetics were performed on mice that had received the *L. lactis* (pExu:*egfp*) strain by oral administration. The results demonstrated that intestinal cells, specifically in the duodenal region of the bowel, were able to produce the protein of interest from 12 h to 72 h after treatment (Mancha-Agresti et al., 2016) in high amounts. These interesting results would be beneficial from a therapeutic standpoint because it reduces the need for multiple doses in a short period of time. Table 2 summarizes some characteristics of major plasmids constructed for DNA vaccine.

Eukaryotic expression vector (pCMV/RCR/RepA/RepC/Cm ^r /BGH	gfp Ag85A	Guimarães et al., 2009
polyA). Size: 3742 pb	Адвоя ESAT-6 IL-10 IL-4	Mancha-Agresti et al., 2017 Pereira et al., 2014 Zurita-Turk et al., 2014 Souza et al., 2016
Eukaryotic expression vector, (pCMV/RCR/RepA/RepC/Km ^r /BGH polyA). Size: 4400 pb	DsRed2 GFPmut3	Tao et al., 2011
Eukaryotic expression vector (pCMV/RCR/RepA/RepC/Cm ^r /BGH SV40 polyA/ <i>eGFP</i>). Size: 4800 pb	egfp	Yagnik et al., 2016
Eukaryotic expression vector (pCMV/TER/RepD/RepE/Ery ^r /BGH polyA). Size: 6854 pb	egfp mCherry	Mancha-Agresti et al., 2016 (Personal communication Dr. Azevedo) (Personal communication
	Eukaryotic expression vector, (pCMV/RCR/RepA/RepC/Km ^r /BGH polyA). Size: 4400 pb Eukaryotic expression vector (pCMV/RCR/RepA/RepC/Cm ^r /BGH SV40 polyA/ <i>eGFP</i>). Size: 4800 pb Eukaryotic expression vector (pCMV/TER/RepD/RepE/Ery ^r /BGH	IL-10 IL-4 Eukaryotic expression vector, DsRed2 (pCMV/RCR/RepA/RepC/Km ^r /BGH GFPmut3 polyA). Size: 4400 pb egfp Eukaryotic expression vector egfp (pCMV/RCR/RepA/RepC/Cm ^r /BGH SV40 polyA/ eGFP). Size: 4800 pb Eukaryotic expression vector egfp (pCMV/TER/RepD/RepE/Ery ^r /BGH mCherry

pCMV cytomegalovirus promoter; RepA, RepC, RepD, and RepE replication origins; Cm^r-chloramphenicol resistance gene; Ery^r-erythromycin resistance gene; Km^rkanamycin resistance gene, egfp enhanced green fluorescent protein coding sequence; RCR: a rolling circle origin of replication, TER: a theta origin of replication. Ag85A coding sequence of Mycobacterium tuberculosis, ESAT-6: early secreted antigenic target coding sequence of Mycobacterium tuberculosis, DSRed2: red fluorescent protein coding sequence, GFPmut3: mutant green fluorescent protein coding sequence, egfp; enhanced green fluorescent protein coding sequence, mCherry: red fluorescent protein coding sequence, hsp65: heat-shock protein coding sequence of Mycobacterium leprae.

FOOD-GRADE VECTORS FOR Lactococcus lactis

The use of *L. lactis* for the production of heterologous proteins, as well as for the delivery of DNA vaccines, is currently a promising reality. However, for further clinical trials, the assessment and minimization of risks to human health will be necessary. One of the major concerns related to the use of recombinant bacteria in clinical trials is related to the safety of their use by the host. Historically, cloning and expression vectors are designed using antibiotic resistance genes as marker selection; therefore, this feature may make it unfeasible to use extra-laboratories of *L. lactis* in the food and pharmaceutical industry.

Many questions are raised, not only about this specific issue, but also about the long-term adverse effects, as well as questions about possible integration into genome, dissemination and toxicity of these plasmids during human trials. To minimize these concerns, the development of new expression systems composed of safer elements, called food-grade systems, that allow selection, induction, and maintenance in the host is necessary to overcome the use of conventional gene expression systems and preserve the GRAS status of this bacterium (Cotter et al., 2003; Landete, 2017). Thus, some tools can be used, such as optimization of vector design, allowing the construction of food grade plasmids, without antibiotic resistance markers, for example, which could increase the safety in use. In addition, bioinformatics tools can aid in this process, allowing the construction of more robust vectors without, however, compromising the safety in the use to treat diseases in humans (Cho et al., 2018).

Among the main mechanisms of resistance and induction used for the development of food-grade vectors such as auxotrophic complementation, chromosome integration, use of sugars, resistance to heavy metals, and more recently, the use of CRISPR/Cas technology can be mentioned (Berlec and Strukelj, 2009; Landete, 2017; Berlec et al., 2018). As an example of auxotrophic complementation, MacCormick and coworkers developed a food-grade system based on lactose metabolism of the L. lactis MG5267 strain. This strain, which has lac operon in its chromosome, was subjected to deletion of the lacF gene, and when this gene was expressed in a plasmid, its ability to metabolize lactose was restored, presenting potential for industrial use (MacCormick et al., 1995). Another selection system based on threonine complementation was described. For this reason, researchers constructed the pJAG5 vector containing the gene that encodes homoserine dehydrogenasehomoserine kinase protein as a selective marker, which catalyzes two steps of the conversion of the aspartate into threonine. This vector, when used in an L. lactis MG1363 strain that presents deletions in two genes encoding threonine biosynthetic enzymes, proved to be quite stable and was able to express green fluorescent protein in eukaryotic cells (Glenting et al., 2002). In another study, a purine auxotrophic L. lactis DN209 strain (Dickely et al., 1995) was transformed with replicative food-grade plasmid pFG1 coding for genes producing peptidases from Lactobacillus helveticus. This strain was able to reduce the ripening period in cheese manufacturing, as well as producing special varieties of cheese (Joutsjoki et al., 2002).

Besides auxotrophic complementation, resistance to heavy metals can also be explored with the aim of developing food-grade expression systems for *L. lactis* (Landete, 2017). The pND302 vector identified in *L. lactis* M71 strain, for example, offers resistance to cadmium (Liu et al., 1996). Even though it seems paradoxical, the use of these markers is safe, because this vector uses a theta origin of replication, thus being stable even in the absence of selective pressure (Emond et al., 2001).

However, it is important to note that some food-grade vectors present structural instability, and to circumvent this problem, some systems based on chromosomal integration have been developed (Wegmann et al., 1999; Gosalbes et al., 2000; Sheng et al., 2015). Perhaps the most promising example of this technique is the work of Steidler et al. (2003). These researchers replaced thymidylate synthase gene (thyA) of L. lactis with a synthetic human IL10 gene by double homologous crossover (Steidler et al., 2003). This strain contains no antibiotic resistance markers, and because of its thymidine auxotrophy, it cannot spread in the environment, making it one of the safest genetically modified organisms ever designed. The efficacy of this strain was assessed in a first phase 1 clinical trial in a patient with Crohn's disease, and the results from this study revealed that the use of genetically modified L. lactis to deliver therapeutic molecules, such as IL-10, at the mucosal level is a viable strategy in humans with chronic intestinal inflammation (Braat et al., 2006). Another elegant report showed a recombinant strain of LAB, capable to both produce and secrete the mucosal protectant human trefoil factor 1 at the site of the targeted oral mucosa [L. lactis (AGO13)]. This strain was engineered based on the same strategy (deficient in the gene encoding thymidylate synthase), being a food-grade strain. Results in patients with oral mucositis (phase 1 clinical trial) demonstrated that this strain was able to ameliorate the symptoms of this disease (Limaye et al., 2013).

Although research works with recombinant LAB show promising results in animal models of human disease, these particular ones were the only studies in which recombinant bacteria were used in human clinical trials, demonstrating its potential as a biotechnological tool for the treatment of diseases, but still remaining as a proof of concept. Concerning the regulation of gene expression in food-grade vectors, sugar, temperature, and pH-induced systems are highlighted. The promoter P170 present in *L. lactis* is inducible by the accumulation of lactic acid at pH 6.0–6.5, when the culture is reaching the stationary phase (Madsen et al., 1999). Therefore, this self-inducible promoter could be considered for the construction of new food-grade expression systems.

P1 and P2 are classic examples of temperature-induced promoters. The repressor of the P2 promoter is inactivated when the medium temperature reaches 40°C. Thus, shifting growth temperature to $24-42^{\circ}$ C results in an increase of gene expression controlled by this promoter (Sanders et al., 1998). Sugars can be a safe and inexpensive way to induce gene expression in food-grade systems. Payne and colleagues developed a food-grade expression system induced by lactose; they used the previously mentioned *L. lactis* strain MG5267, which possesses

the lactose operon integrated in the bacterial chromosome. After the lysin gene from *Listeria monocytogenes* bacteriophage LM-4 was integrated into the chromosome, the chromosomal *lacG* gene, which encodes phospho-beta-galactosidase, was inactivated by a double cross-over event. Thus, the expression of the lysin gene was shown to be regulated by growth in the presence of lactose, proving to be an important strategy for controlled protein expression in *L. lactis* (Payne et al., 1996).

PERSPECTIVES FOR DEVELOPMENT OF NEXT GENERATION VECTORS

Lactococcus lactis, the model lactic acid bacteria, has enormous potential to be used as a biofactory for the production of numerous proteins of medical and industrial interests, as well as a carrier vehicle for DNA vaccines. Nowadays, this is a reality on the laboratory scale. As new information concerning this microorganism emerges, new possibilities for its use are being contemplated. Constant discoveries in the areas of genomics, transcriptomics, and proteomics of lactic acid bacteria provide us information for new approaches for the construction of the next generation of vectors. These should include the investigation of L. lactis cryptic plasmids, as well as exploration of new selection markers that exclude any type of resistance to antibiotics. In addition, features such as host range, stability, and copy number of plasmids must be considered and also the type of replication origin to be used in vector construction. The theta-type replication mechanism is indicated for reasons already mentioned in previous sections. Moreover, food-grade systems can also be developed by integrating vectors into the host's chromosomal DNA allowing more stability. Finally, mechanisms of gene expression induction that include the use of cheap and non-harmful compounds such as sugar, pH, or temperature should be considered for future biomedical, biotechnological, and industrial applications. Furthermore, the

REFERENCES

- Benbouziane, B., Ribelles, P., Aubry, C., Martin, R., Kharrat, P., Riazi, A., et al. (2013). Development of a Stress-Inducible Controlled Expression (SICE) system in *Lactococcus lactis* for the production and delivery of therapeutic molecules at mucosal surfaces. *J. Biotechnol.* 168, 120–129. doi: 10.1016/j. jbiotec.2013.04.019
- Berlec, A., Škrlec, K., Kocjan, J., Olenic, M., and Štrukelj, B. (2018). Single plasmid systems for inducible dual protein expression and for CRISPR-Cas9/CRISPRi gene regulation in lactic acid bacterium *Lactococcus lactis. Sci. Rep.* 8:1009. doi: 10.1038/s41598-018-19402-1
- Berlec, A., and Strukelj, B. (2009). Novel applications of recombinant lactic acid bacteria in therapy and in metabolic engineering. *Recent Pat. Biotechnol.* 3, 77–87. doi: 10.2174/187220809788700175
- Berlec, A., Završnik, J., Butinar, M., Turk, B., and Štrukelj, B. (2015). In vivo imaging of *Lactococcus lactis, Lactobacillus plantarum* and *Escherichia coli* expressing infrared fluorescent protein in mice. *Microb. Cell Fact.* 14:181. doi: 10.1186/s12934-015-0376-4
- Bermudez-Humaran, L. G., Cortes-Perez, N. G., Lefevre, F., Guimaraes, V., Rabot, S., Alcocer-Gonzalez, J. M., et al. (2005). A novel mucosal vaccine based on live *Lactococci* expressing E7 antigen and IL-12 induces systemic and mucosal immune responses and protects mice against human papillomavirus

most promising technique in the field of genetic studies is the CRISPR Cas9 (clustered regularly interspaced short palindromic repeats) system. CRISPR is known as the prokaryote adaptive immune system that provides resistance against foreign DNA, such as plasmids and bacteriophage (Bolotin et al., 2005; Deveau et al., 2008). This system has been studied for the last 30 years (Ishino et al., 1987), but only in 2013 the first experiments were conducted, demonstrating its functionality as an editing genome tool (Cong et al., 2013; Mali et al., 2013). This system has been used in different studies to help understand both disease models and therapeutic schemes for several diseases (Jiang et al., 2013; Makarova et al., 2015; Di Bella et al., 2016).

Although several studies have been carried out with bacterial species using this strategy for genomic editing, only few studies are reported to be using LAB (Oh and van Pijkeren, 2014; Sanozky-Dawes et al., 2015; Song et al., 2017; Berlec et al., 2018). In this way, this technique can be explored for the development of food-grade expression systems and opens perspectives for the use of *L. lactis* in clinical routine in the near future.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

CP, MD, and PM-A conceptualized the study. CP, MD, PM-A, VB, and AN wrote the original draft of the paper. CP, MD, PM-A, and VA reviewed and edited the manuscript. VA acquired funding and supervised the study.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

The authors want to thank the Conselho Nacional de Desenvolvimento Científico e Tecnológico (CNPq), Coordenação de Aperfeiçoamento de Pessoal de Nível Superior (CAPES), and Fundação de Amparo à Pesquisa do Estado de Minas Gerais (FAPEMIG).

type 16-induced tumors. J. Immunol. 175, 7297–7302. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol. 175.11.7297

- Bermúdez-Humarán, L. G., Nouaille, S., Zilberfarb, V., Corthier, G., Gruss, A., Langella, P., et al. (2007). Effects of intranasal administration of a leptin-secreting *Lactococcus lactis* recombinant on food intake, body weight, and immune response of mice. *Appl. Environ. Microbiol.* 73, 5300–5307. doi: 10.1128/AEM.00295-07
- Bolotin, A., Quinquis, B., Sorokin, A., and Ehrlich, S. D. (2005). Clustered regularly interspaced short palindrome repeats (CRISPRs) have spacers of extrachromosomal origin. *Microbiology* 151, 2551–2561. doi: 10.1099/mic.0. 28048-0
- Braat, H., Rottiers, P., Hommes, D. W., Huyghebaert, N., Remaut, E., Remon, J.-P., et al. (2006). A phase I trial with transgenic bacteria expressing interleukin-10 in Crohn's disease. *Clin. Gastroenterol. Hepatol.* 4, 754–759. doi: 10.1016/j.cgh. 2006.03.028
- Carvalho, R. D. O., Morais, K., Pereira, V. B., Gomes-Santos, A. C., Luerce, T. D., de Azevedo, M. S., et al. (2016). Oral administration of *Lactococcus lactis* expressing recombinant 15-lipoxygenase-1 (15 LOX-1) modulates chemically induced colitis in mice. *Med. Res. Arch.* 4:1. doi: 10.18103/mra.v4i7.612
- Cho, S., Shin, J., and Cho, B.-K. (2018). Applications of CRISPR/cas system to bacterial metabolic engineering. *Int. J. Mol. Sci.* 19:E1089. doi: 10.3390/ ijms19041089

- Cong, L., Ran, F. A., Cox, D., Lin, S., Barretto, R., Habib, N., et al. (2013). Multiplex genome engineering using CRISPR/Cas systems. *Science* 339, 819–823. doi: 10.1126/science.1231143
- Cotter, P. D., Hill, C., and Ross, R. P. (2003). A food-grade approach for functional analysis and modification of native plasmids in *Lactococcus lactis*. *Appl. Environ. Microbiol.* 69, 702–706. doi: 10.1128/AEM.69.1.702-706.2003
- de Azevedo, M. S. P., Rocha, C. S., Electo, N., Pontes, D. S., Molfetta, J. B., Gonçalves, E. D. C., et al. (2012). Cytoplasmic and extracellular expression of pharmaceutical-grade mycobacterial 65-kDa heat shock protein in *Lactococcus lactis. Genet. Mol. Res.* 11, 1146–1157. doi: 10.4238/2012.April.27.14
- de Moreno de LeBlanc, A., LeBlanc, J. G., Perdigón, G., Miyoshi, A., Langella, P., Azevedo, V., et al. (2008). Oral administration of a catalase-producing *Lactococcus lactis* can prevent a chemically induced colon cancer in mice. *J. Med. Microbiol.* 57, 100–105. doi: 10.1099/jmm.0.47403-0
- De Vos, W. M. (1999). Gene expression systems for lactic acid bacteria. Curr. Opin. Microbiol. 2, 289–295. doi: 10.1016/S1369-5274(99)80050-2
- de Vos, W. M., Kleerebezem, M., and Kuipers, O. P. (1997). Expression systems for industrial gram-positive bacteria with low guanine and cytosine content. *Curr. Opin. Biotechnol.* 8, 547–553. doi: 10.1016/S0958-1669(97)80027-4
- De Vos, W. M., and Simons, G. F. M. (1994). "Gene cloning and expression systems in *Lactococci*," in *Genetics and Biotechnology of Lactic Acid Bacteria*, eds M. J. Gasson and W. de Vos (Dordrecht: Springer), 52–105. doi: 10.1007/978-94-011-1340-3_2
- Deveau, H., Barrangou, R., Garneau, J. E., Labonté, J., Fremaux, C., Boyaval, P., et al. (2008). Phage response to CRISPR-encoded resistance in *Streptococcus thermophilus. J. Bacteriol.* 190, 1390–1400. doi: 10.1128/JB.01412-07
- Di Bella, S., Ascenzi, P., Siarakas, S., Petrosillo, N., and di Masi, A. (2016). Clostridium difficile toxins A and B: insights into pathogenic properties and extraintestinal effects. *Toxins* 8:E134. doi: 10.3390/toxins8050134
- Dickely, F., Nilsson, D., Hansen, E. B., and Johansen, E. (1995). Isolation of Lactococcus lactis nonsense suppressors and construction of a food-grade cloning vector. Mol. Microbiol. 15, 839–847. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2958.1995. tb02354.x
- Emond, E., Lavallée, R., Drolet, G., Moineau, S., and LaPointe, G. (2001). Molecular characterization of a theta replication plasmid and its use for development of a two-component food-grade cloning system for *Lactococcus lactis*. *Appl. Environ. Microbiol.* 67, 1700–1709. doi: 10.1128/AEM.67.4.1700-1709.2001
- Galvin, T. A., Muller, J., and Khan, A. S. (2000). Effect of different promoters on immune responses elicited by HIV-1 gag/env multigenic DNA vaccine in *Macaca mulatta* and *Macaca nemestrina*. Vaccine 18, 2566–2583. doi: 10.1016/ S0264-410X(99)00569-1
- Glenting, J., Madsen, S. M., Vrang, A., Fomsgaard, A., and Israelsen, H. (2002).). A plasmid selection system in *Lactococcus lactis* and its use for gene expression in *L. lactis* and human kidney fibroblasts. *Appl. Environ. Microbiol.* 68, 5051–5056. doi: 10.1128/AEM.68.10.5051-5056.2002
- Gomes-Santos, A. C., de Oliveira, R. P., Moreira, T. G., Castro-Junior, A. B., Horta, B. C., Lemos, L., et al. (2017). Hsp65-producing *Lactococcus lactis* prevents inflammatory intestinal disease in mice by IL-10- and TLR2-dependent pathways. *Front. Immunol.* 8:30. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2017. 00030
- Gosalbes, M. J., Esteban, C. D., Galán, J. L., and Pérez-Martínez, G. (2000). Integrative food-grade expression system based on the lactose regulon of *Lactobacillus casei. Appl. Environ. Microbiol.* 66, 4822–4828. doi: 10.1128/AEM. 66.11.4822-4828.2000
- Guimarães, V., Innocentin, S., Chatel, J.-M., Lefèvre, F., Langella, P., Azevedo, V., et al. (2009). A new plasmid vector for DNA delivery using *Lactococci. Genet. Vaccines Ther.* 7:4. doi: 10.1186/1479-0556-7-4
- Huang, M. T., and Gorman, C. M. (1990). Intervening sequences increase efficiency of RNA 3' processing and accumulation of cytoplasmic RNA. *Nucleic Acids Res.* 18, 937–947. doi: 10.1093/nar/18.4.937
- Ishino, Y., Shinagawa, H., Makino, K., Amemura, M., and Nakata, A. (1987). Nucleotide sequence of the iap gene, responsible for alkaline phosphatase isozyme conversion in *Escherichia coli*, and identification of the gene product. *J. Bacteriol.* 169, 5429–5433. doi: 10.1128/jb.169.12.5429-5433.1987
- Jiang, W., Bikard, D., Cox, D., Zhang, F., and Marraffini, L. A. (2013). RNA-guided editing of bacterial genomes using CRISPR-Cas systems. *Nat. Biotechnol.* 31, 233–239. doi: 10.1038/nbt.2508

- Joutsjoki, V., Luoma, S., Tamminen, M., Kilpi, M., Johansen, E., and Palva, A. (2002). Recombinant *Lactococcus* starters as a potential source of additional peptidolytic activity in cheese ripening. *J. Appl. Microbiol.* 92, 1159–1166. doi: 10.1046/j.1365-2672.2002.01652.x
- Kleerebezem, M., Beerthuyzen, M. M., Vaughan, E. E., De Vos, W. M., and Kuipers, O. P. (1997a). Controlled gene expression systems for lactic acid bacteria: transferable nisin-inducible expression cassettes for *Lactococcus*, *Leuconostoc*, and *Lactobacillus* spp. *Appl. Environ. Microbiol.* 63, 4581–4584.
- Kleerebezem, M., Quadri, L. E. N., Kuipers, O. P., and de Vos, W. M. (1997b). Quorum sensing by peptide pheromones and two-component signaltransduction systems in gram-positive bacteria. *Mol. Microbiol.* 24, 895–904. doi: 10.1046/j.1365-2958.1997.4251782.x
- Kok, J., Van Der Vossen, J. M., and Venema, G. (1984). Construction of plasmid cloning vectors for lactic streptococci which also replicate in *Bacillus subtilis* and *Escherichia coli*. Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 48, 726–731.
- Kuipers, O. P., Beerthuyzen, M. M., de Ruyter, P. G., Luesink, E. J., and de Vos, W. M. (1995). Autoregulation of nisin biosynthesis in *Lactococcus lactis* by signal transduction. *J. Biol. Chem.* 270, 27299–27304. doi: 10.1074/jbc.270.45. 27299
- Kutzler, M. A., and Weiner, D. B. (2008). DNA vaccines: ready for prime time? *Nat. Rev. Genet.* 9, 776–788. doi: 10.1038/nrg2432
- Landete, J. M. (2017). A review of food-grade vectors in lactic acid bacteria: from the laboratory to their application. *Crit. Rev. Biotechnol.* 37, 296–308. doi: 10.3109/07388551.2016.1144044
- Le Loir, Y., Azevedo, V., Oliveira, S. C., Freitas, D. A., Miyoshi, A., Bermúdez-Humarán, L. G., et al. (2005). Protein secretion in *Lactococcus lactis*: an efficient way to increase the overall heterologous protein production. *Microb. Cell Fact.* 4:2. doi: 10.1186/1475-2859-4-2
- Limaye, S. A., Haddad, R. I., Cilli, F., Sonis, S. T., Colevas, A. D., Brennan, M. T., et al. (2013). Phase 1b, multicenter, single blinded, placebo-controlled, sequential dose escalation study to assess the safety and tolerability of topically applied AG013 in subjects with locally advanced head and neck cancer receiving induction chemotherapy. *Cancer* 119, 4268–4276. doi: 10.1002/cncr.28365
- Liu, C. Q., Leelawatcharamas, V., Harvey, M. L., and Dunn, N. W. (1996). Cloning vectors for *Lactococci* based on a plasmid encoding resistance to cadmium. *Curr. Microbiol.* 33, 35–39. doi: 10.1007/s002849900070
- Lokman, B. C., Leer, R. J., van Sorge, R., and Pouwels, P. H. (1994). Promoter analysis and transcriptional regulation of *Lactobacillus pentosus* genes involved in xylose catabolism. *Mol. Gen. Genet.* 245, 117–125. doi: 10.1007/BF00279757
- MacCormick, C. A., Griffin, H. G., and Gasson, M. J. (1995). Construction of a food-grade host/vector system for *Lactococcus lactis* based on the lactose operon. *FEMS Microbiol. Lett.* 127, 105–109. doi: 10.1111/j.1574-6968.1995. tb07457.x
- Madsen, S. M., Arnau, J., Vrang, A., Givskov, M., and Israelsen, H. (1999). Molecular characterization of the pH-inducible and growth phase-dependent promoter P170 of *Lactococcus lactis. Mol. Microbiol.* 32, 75–87. doi: 10.1046/j. 1365-2958.1999.01326.x
- Makarova, K. S., and Koonin, E. V. (2007). Evolutionary genomics of lactic acid bacteria. J. Bacteriol. 189, 1199–1208. doi: 10.1128/JB.01351-06
- Makarova, K. S., Wolf, Y. I., Alkhnbashi, O. S., Costa, F., Shah, S. A., Saunders, S. J., et al. (2015). An updated evolutionary classification of CRISPR-cas systems. *Nat. Rev. Microbiol.* 13, 722–736. doi: 10.1038/nrmicro3569
- Mali, P., Yang, L., Esvelt, K. M., Aach, J., Guell, M., DiCarlo, J. E., et al. (2013). RNA-guided human genome engineering via Cas9. *Science* 339, 823–826. doi: 10.1126/science.1232033
- Mancha-Agresti, P., de Castro, C. P., dos Santos, J. S. C., Araujo, M. A., Pereira, V. B., LeBlanc, J. G., et al. (2017). Recombinant invasive *Lactococcus lactis* carrying a DNA vaccine coding the Ag85A antigen increases INF- γ , IL-6, and TNF- α cytokines after intranasal immunization. *Front. Microbiol.* 8:1263. doi: 10.3389/fmicb.2017.01263
- Mancha-Agresti, P., Drumond, M. M., Rosa, do Carmo, F. L., Santos, M. M., Coelho, et al. (2016). A new broad range plasmid for DNA delivery in eukaryotic cells using lactic acid bacteria: in vitro and in vivo assays. *Mol. Ther. Methods Clin. Dev.* 4, 83–91. doi: 10.1016/j.omtm.2016.12.005
- Marinho, F. A. V., Pacífico, L. G. G., Miyoshi, A., Azevedo, V., Le Loir, Y., Guimarães, V. D., et al. (2010). An intranasal administration of *Lactococcus lactis* strains expressing recombinant interleukin-10 modulates acute allergic

airway inflammation in a murine model. *Clin. Exp. Allergy* 40, 1541–1551. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2222.2010.03502.x

- Mercenier, A., Müller-Alouf, H., and Grangette, C. (2000). Lactic acid bacteria as live vaccines. *Curr. Issues Mol. Biol.* 2, 17–25.
- Miyoshi, A., Bermúdez-Humarán, L. G., Ribeiro, L. A., Le Loir, Y., Oliveira, S. C., Langella, P., et al. (2006). Heterologous expression of *Brucella abortus* GroEL heat-shock protein in *Lactococcus lactis. Microb. Cell Fact.* 5:14. doi: 10.1186/ 1475-2859-5-14
- Miyoshi, A., Jamet, E., Commissaire, J., Renault, P., Langella, P., and Azevedo, V. (2004). A xylose-inducible expression system for *Lactococcus lactis*. FEMS Microbiol. Lett. 239, 205–212. doi: 10.1016/j.femsle.2004.08.018
- Mu, D., Montalbán-López, M., Masuda, Y., and Kuipers, O. P. (2013). Zirex: a novel zinc-regulated expression system for *Lactococcus lactis*. Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 79, 4503–4508. doi: 10.1128/AEM.00866-13
- Oh, J.-H., and van Pijkeren, J.-P. (2014). CRISPR-Cas9-assisted recombineering in Lactobacillus reuteri. Nucleic Acids Res. 42:e131. doi: 10.1093/nar/gku623
- Oliveira, P. H., and Mairhofer, J. (2013). Marker-free plasmids for biotechnological applications? implications and perspectives. *Trends Biotechnol.* 31, 539–547. doi: 10.1016/j.tibtech.2013.06.001
- O'Sullivan, D. J., and Klaenhammer, T. R. (1993). High- and low-copy-number Lactococcus shuttle cloning vectors with features for clone screening. Gene 137, 227–231. doi: 10.1016/0378-1119(93)90011-Q
- Payne, J., MacCormick, C. A., Griffin, H. G., and Gasson, M. J. (1996). Exploitation of a chromosomally integrated lactose operon for controlled gene expression in *Lactococcus lactis. FEMS Microbiol. Lett.* 136, 19–24. doi: 10.1111/j.1574-6968. 1996.tb08019.x
- Pereira, V. B., da Cunha, V. P., Preisser, T. M., Souza, B. M., Turk, M. Z., De Castro, C. P., et al. (2017). *Lactococcus lactis* carrying a DNA vaccine coding for the ESAT-6 antigen increases IL-17 cytokine secretion and boosts the BCG vaccine immune response. *J. Appl. Microbiol.* 122, 1657–1662. doi: 10.1111/jam.13449
- Pereira, V. B., Saraiva, T. D. L., Souza, B. M., Zurita-Turk, M., Azevedo, M. S. P., De Castro, C. P., et al. (2014). Development of a new DNA vaccine based on mycobacterial ESAT-6 antigen delivered by recombinant invasive *Lactococcus lactis* FnBPA+. *Appl. Microbiol. Biotechnol.* 99, 1817–1826. doi: 10.1007/ s00253-014-6285-3
- Pontes, D., Azevedo, M., Innocentin, S., Blugeon, S., Lefévre, F., Azevedo, V., et al. (2014). Immune response elicited by DNA vaccination using *Lactococcus lactis* is modified by the production of surface exposed pathogenic protein. *PLoS One* 9:e84509. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0084509
- Pontes, D. S., de Azevedo, M. S. P., Chatel, J.-M., Langella, P., Azevedo, V., and Miyoshi, A. (2011). *Lactococcus lactis* as a live vector: heterologous protein production and DNA delivery systems. *Protein Expr. Purif.* 79, 165–175. doi: 10.1016/j.pep.2011.06.005
- Que, Y. A., Haefliger, J. A., Francioli, P., and Moreillon, P. (2000). Expression of Staphylococcus aureus clumping factor a in Lactococcus lactis subsp. cremoris using a new shuttle vector. Infect. Immun. 68, 3516–3522. doi: 10.1128/IAI.68. 6.3516-3522.2000
- Rezende, R. M., Oliveira, R. P., Medeiros, S. R., Gomes-Santos, A. C., Alves, A. C., Loli, F. G., et al. (2013). Hsp65-producing *Lactococcus lactis* prevents experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis in mice by inducing CD4+LAP+ regulatory T cells. *J. Autoimmun.* 40, 45–57. doi: 10.1016/j.jaut. 2012.07.012
- Sanders, J. W., Leenhouts, K., Burghoorn, J., Brands, J. R., Venema, G., and Kok, J. (1998). A chloride-inducible acid resistance mechanism in *Lactococcus lactis* and its regulation. *Mol. Microbiol.* 27, 299–310. doi: 10.1046/j.1365-2958.1998. 00676.x
- Sanozky-Dawes, R., Selle, K., O'Flaherty, S., Klaenhammer, T., and Barrangou, R. (2015). Occurrence and activity of a type II CRISPR-cas system in *Lactobacillus gasseri*. *Microbiology* 161, 1752–1761. doi: 10.1099/mic.0.000129
- Saraiva, T. D. L., Morais, K., Pereira, V. B., de Azevedo, M., Rocha, C. S., Prosperi, C. C., et al. (2015). Milk fermented with a 15-lipoxygenase-1-producing *Lactococcus lactis* alleviates symptoms of colitis in a murine model. *Curr. Pharm. Biotechnol.* 16, 424–429. doi: 10.2174/1389201015666141113123502
- Scavone, P., Miyoshi, A., Rial, A., Chabalgoity, A., Langella, P., Azevedo, V., et al. (2007). Intranasal immunisation with recombinant *Lactococcus lactis* displaying either anchored or secreted forms of *Proteus mirabilis* MrpA fimbrial protein confers specific immune response and induces a significant reduction of kidney

bacterial colonisation in mi. Microbes Infect. 9, 821–828. doi: 10.1016/j.micinf. 2007.02.023

- Sheng, J., Ling, P., and Wang, F. (2015). Constructing a recombinant hyaluronic acid biosynthesis operon and producing food-grade hyaluronic acid in *Lactococcus lactis. J. Ind. Microbiol. Biotechnol.* 42, 197–206. doi: 10.1007/ s10295-014-1555-8
- Simon, D., and Chopin, A. (1988). Construction of a vector plasnfid family and its use for molecular cloning in *Streptococcus lactis*. *Biochimie* 70, 559–566. doi: 10.1016/0300-9084(88)90093-4
- Song, X., Huang, H., Xiong, Z., Ai, L., and Yang, S. (2017). CRISPR-Cas9D10A nickase-assisted genome editing in *Lactobacillus casei*. Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 83:e1259-17. doi: 10.1128/AEM.01259-17
- Sørensen, S. J., Bailey, M., Hansen, L. H., Kroer, N., and Wuertz, S. (2005). Studying plasmid horizontal transfer in situ: a critical review. *Nat. Rev. Microbiol.* 3, 700–710. doi: 10.1038/nrmicro1232
- Souza, B. M., Preisser, T. M., Pereira, V. B., Zurita-Turk, M., de Castro, C. P., da Cunha, V. P., et al. (2016). *Lactococcus lactis* carrying the pValac eukaryotic expression vector coding for IL-4 reduces chemically-induced intestinal inflammation by increasing the levels of IL-10-producing regulatory cells. *Microb. Cell Fact.* 15, 150. doi: 10.1186/s12934-016-0548-x
- Steidler, L., Neirynck, S., Huyghebaert, N., Snoeck, V., Vermeire, A., Goddeeris, B., et al. (2003). Biological containment of genetically modified *Lactococcus lactis* for intestinal delivery of human interleukin 10. *Nat. Biotechnol.* 21, 785–789. doi: 10.1038/nbt840
- Suschak, J. J., Williams, J. A., and Schmaljohn, C. S. (2017). Advancements in DNA vaccine vectors, non-mechanical delivery methods, and molecular adjuvants to increase immunogenicity. *Hum. Vaccin. Immunother.* 13, 2837–2848. doi: 10.1080/21645515.2017.1330236
- Tao, L., Pavlova, S. I., Ji, X., Jin, L., and Spear, G. (2011). A novel plasmid for delivering genes into mammalian cells with noninvasive food and communal lactic acid bacteria. *Plasmid* 65, 8–14. doi: 10.1016/j.plasmid.2010.09.001
- van de Guchte, M., Penaud, S., Grimaldi, C., Barbe, V., Bryson, K., Nicolas, P., et al. (2006). The complete genome sequence of *Lactobacillus bulgaricus* reveals extensive and ongoing reductive evolution. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 103, 9274–9279. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0603024103
- Wegmann, U., Klein, J. R., Drumm, I., Kuipers, O. P., and Henrich, B. (1999). Introduction of peptidase genes from *Lactobacillus delbrueckii* subsp. *lactis* into *Lactococcus lactis* and controlled expression. *Appl. Environ. Microbiol.* 65, 4729–4733.
- Wells, J. (2011). Mucosal vaccination and therapy with genetically modified lactic acid bacteria. Annu. Rev. Food Sci. Technol. 2, 423–445. doi: 10.1146/annurevfood-022510-133640
- Williams, J. A. (2014). Improving DNA vaccine performance through vector design. Curr. Gene Ther. 14, 170–189. doi: 10.2174/ 156652321403140819122538
- Yagnik, B., Padh, H., and Desai, P. (2016). Construction of a new shuttle vector for DNA delivery into mammalian cells using non-invasive *Lactococcus lactis*. *Microbes Infect.* 18, 237–244. doi: 10.1016/j.micinf.2015.11.006
- Yagnik, B., Sharma, D., Padh, H., and Desai, P. (2017). Dual recombinant Lactococcus lactis for enhanced delivery of DNA vaccine reporter plasmid pPERDBY. Microbiol. Immunol. 61, 123–129. doi: 10.1111/1348-0421.12473
- Zurita-Turk, M., Del Carmen, S., Santos, A. C. G., Pereira, V. B., Cara, D. C., Leclercq, S. Y., et al. (2014). *Lactococcus lactis* carrying the pValac DNA expression vector coding for IL-10 reduces inflammation in a murine model of experimental colitis. *BMC Biotechnol.* 14:73. doi: 10.1186/1472-6750-14-73

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2018 de Castro, Drumond, Batista, Nunes, Mancha-Agresti and Azevedo. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Prospects on the Use of Schizochytrium sp. to Develop Oral **Vaccines**

Abel Ramos-Vega^{1†}, Sergio Rosales-Mendoza^{2,3*†}, Bernardo Bañuelos-Hernández⁴ and Carlos Angulo 1*

¹ Grupo de Inmunología and Vacunología, Centro de Investigaciones Biológicas del Noroeste, La Paz, Mexico, ² Laboratorio de Biofarmacéuticos Recombinantes, Facultad de Ciencias Químicas, Universidad Autónoma de San Luis Potosí, San Luis Potosí, Mexico, 3 Sección de Biotecnología, Centro de Investigación en Ciencias de la Salud y Biomedicina, Universidad Autónoma de San Luis Potosí, San Luis Potosí, Mexico, ⁴ Escuela de Agronomía y Veterinaria, Universidad De La Salle Bajío, León, México

Although oral subunit vaccines are highly relevant in the fight against widespread diseases, their high cost, safety and proper immunogenicity are attributes that have yet to be addressed in many cases and thus these limitations should be considered in the development of new oral vaccines. Prominent examples of new platforms proposed to address these limitations are plant cells and microalgae. Schizochytrium sp. constitutes an attractive expression host for vaccine production because of its high biosynthetic capacity, fast growth in low cost culture media, and the availability of processes for industrial scale production. In addition, whole Schizochytrium sp. cells may serve as delivery vectors; especially for oral vaccines since Schizochytrium sp. is safe for oral consumption, produces immunomodulatory compounds, and may provide bioencapsulation to the antigen, thus increasing its bioavailability. Remarkably, Schizochytrium sp. was recently used for the production of a highly immunoprotective influenza vaccine. Moreover, an efficient method for transient expression of antigens based on viral vectors and Schizochytrium sp. as host has been recently developed. In this review, the potential of Schizochytrium sp. in vaccinology is placed in perspective, with emphasis on its use as an attractive oral vaccination vehicle.

Keywords: adjuvant, bioencapsulation, microalgae, oral vaccine, thermostable vaccine, Algevir system

RELEVANCE AND CHALLENGES IN ORAL VACCINE DEVELOPMENT

Vaccination is a primary intervention against infectious diseases, thus, affordable vaccination campaigns for government budgets, especially in developing countries, are a priority. However, many potentially vaccine-preventable diseases in low-income countries are inadequately prevented due to an insufficient use of the existing vaccines. For instance, there is a lack of efficient distribution and delivery logistics, in addition to the associated high cost of the vaccine (Kochhar et al., 2013; Chen et al., 2014a). Most of the current available vaccines are designed for subcutaneous or intramuscular administration. However, these routes have limitations such as the problems associated with unsafe injections that are consequence of low economic resources and limited trained personnel (Hauri et al., 2004; Wilkhu et al., 2011). In addition, parenteral vaccines generally require "cold chain," which represents further economic and logistical burdens (Kumru et al., 2014). Therefore, oral immunization with thermostable vaccines is highly desired since it avoids the need of cold chain, specialized devices, and trained personnel for administration (Scherliess, 2011).

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Aleš Berlec. Jožef Stefan Institute (IJS), Slovenia

Reviewed by:

Saul Purton. University College London, United Kingdom Vanvimon Saksmerprome, National Science and Technology Development Agency (NSTDA), Thailand

*Correspondence:

Seraio Rosales-Mendoza rosales.s@uaslp.mx Carlos Angulo eangulo@cibnor.mx

[†]These authors have contributed equally to this work

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Infectious Diseases, a section of the iournal Frontiers in Microbiology

Received: 19 January 2018 Accepted: 02 October 2018 Published: 25 October 2018

Citation:

Ramos-Vega A, Rosales-Mendoza S, Bañuelos-Hernández B and Angulo C (2018) Prospects on the Use of Schizochytrium sp. to Develop Oral Vaccines. Front. Microbiol. 9:2506. doi: 10.3389/fmicb.2018.02506 Since the vast majority of pathogens infect their host through the mucosa, local immune responses at these sites serve as the first line of defense against the pathogen (Hornef, 2015). Interestingly, several vaccines administered via mucosal routes have a proven effective induction of both systemic and local immunity (Lamichhane et al., 2014). However, to achieve efficacy, higher and more frequently administered doses are required in oral immunization schemes when compared to intramuscular or subcutaneous vaccines; which is a consequence of antigen dilution and degradation in the gastrointestinal tract as well as a poor antigen uptake (Doherty, 2015; Truong-Le et al., 2015).

Another important aspect is related to the fact that the mucosal tissues maintain homeostasis by mounting specialized anti-inflammatory immune defenses, including the induction of tolerance against innocuous soluble substances and commensal bacteria (Kweon, 2014). Therefore, oral vaccination must overcome the induction of local and systemic immunological tolerance, known as oral tolerance (Wilkhu et al., 2011). This obstacle can be overridden by antigen encapsulation (Kai and Chi, 2008) and the inclusion of adjuvants to enhance the immunogenic properties of the formulation (Hasegawa et al., 2015; Savelkoul et al., 2015). Although several technologies for antigen encapsulation (Trovato and Berardinis, 2015) and adjuvants are under evaluation (Newsted et al., 2015), there is a clear need to continue in the exploration of new oral vaccination strategies; which is reflected by the limited number of oral vaccines available in the clinic (Yuki and Kiyono, 2009).

MICROALGAE-MADE VACCINES

Among the current trends in biotechnology for the production of biopharmaceuticals in attractive platforms, algae have been used to produce monoclonal antibodies, vaccine antigens, therapeutic enzymes, blood proteins, cytokines, growth factors, and growth hormones. Microalgae-based expression systems are inherently faster to develop, potentially less expensive, and require less space for production. In addition, the biomass is relatively inexpensive to produce. Algae-based vaccines offer antigen protection from proteolytic degradation due to the cell wall. In addition, subcellular compartmentalization may also influence antigen release and thus bioavailability (Gregory et al., 2013). Moreover, algae are capable of performing post-translational modifications (e.g., glycosylation in endoplasmic reticulum and Golgi) that are frequently important for the antigen activity, can be produced relatively fast and some species could be used to formulate vaccines in a straightforward manner since they hold a GRAS status (Specht and Mayfield, 2014). This notion has been primarily explored for the freshwater microalga Chlamydomonas reinhardtii with important advances toward the development of low cost orally-delivered vaccines (Bañuelos-Hernández et al., 2015; Rasala and Mayfield, 2015; Dyo and Purton, 2018). Two interesting reports in this area comprise a developed S. aureus vaccine based on C. reinhardtii, showing antigen yields up to 0.7% TSP. The vaccine was stable at room temperature up to 20 months. Moreover, the mucosal IgA and systemic IgG responses were induced in orally immunized mice subjected to a scheme consisting of priming and 4 boosts administered weekly. Remarkably, an 80% survival rate after a lethal challenge with S. aureus was achieved (Dreesen et al., 2010). In the same microalga, a vaccine against malaria was developed. The vaccine was able to induce the systemic IgG responses and conferred protection against Plasmodium berghei in terms of reduction of parasitic load in red blood cells from mice treated with a single vaccine dose (Dauvillée et al., 2010). Another case of an oral algae-based vaccine against malaria consisted of a fusion protein comprising the cholera toxin B subunit (CTB) as adjuvant and the antigen of Plasmodium falciparum Pfs25. In this case, the oral vaccination of BALB/c mice using algae producing CTB-Pfs25 elicited CTB-specific serum IgG, fecal IgA antibodies, as well as Pfs25-specific IgA antibodies (Gregory et al., 2013). Diatoms have also been applied for the expression of vaccine antigens with promising findings on the expression of IbpA DR2 antigen from Histophilus somni (Corbeil et al., 2015; Davis et al., 2017). Although no clinical trials are ongoing for algae-based vaccines, the technology seems promising and these evaluations could begin in the short term (Rosales-Mendoza and Salazar-González, 2014).

APPLICATION OF MARINE MICROALGAE IN VACCINE DEVELOPMENT

Marine organisms are attractive hosts in this field as they are currently produced at industrial levels in culture media based on marine water to produce compounds with pharmaceutical, nutrition, and health applications; among other industrial applications (Mayer et al., 2011; Dewapriya and Kim, 2014). Interestingly, marine microalgae have been used in the production of vaccines. For instance, Phaeodactylum tricornutum was used to produce a monoclonal human IgG antibody against the Hepatitis B surface antigen (HBsAg) as well as HBsAg fused to GFP or an ER retention signal. The achieved antibody production was 8.7% of the total soluble protein (TSP; 1.6 mg per liter of culture or 21 mg antibody per gram algal dry weight), whereas HBsAg yields were up to 0.7% TSP (Hempel et al., 2011). Similarly, Dunaliella salina was transformed for the expression of HBsAg. In this case, the yields obtained were up to 3 ng/mg soluble protein and the positive clones were grown in nonselective liquid media for at least 60 generations; showing that the HBsAg protein was stably expressed in the transformed cells (Geng et al., 2003). On the other hand, the expression of the viral protein 28 (VP28) from the White spot syndrome virus was reported in the marine microalga Dunaliella salina with yields up to 780 µg VP28 per liter of culture. This vaccine was able to induce a 41% reduction in shrimp mortality after a lethal challenge experiment in orally immunized animals (Feng et al., 2014).

RELEVANT CHARACTERISTICS OF Schizochytrium sp. FOR VACCINE DEVELOPMENT

Schizochytrium sp., a thraustochytrid, is a heterokont marine microalgae with a cell diameter of about $9-14\,\mu\text{m}$ belonging

to the Labyrinthulomycetes class, which is used to produce Docosahexaenoic acid (DHA) that accumulates up to 50% of dry weight lipids. Furthermore, it contains up to 10% of protein and 25% of carbohydrates (Qu et al., 2013; Fedorova-Dahms et al., 2014; Yao et al., 2015). In addition β -carotene is accumulated at significant levels in some species of this genus (Aki et al., 2003; Yokoyama and Honda, 2007; Ren et al., 2010). Schizochytrium sp. can be propagated at the industrial scale in heterotrophic conditions in which low cost medium is used and no complex photobioreactors are required since the process does not depend on light irradiation. Since some species of Schizochytrium sp. may grow in marine water-based culture media, their industrial use could not interfere with fresh water sources used for agriculture (Barclay, 1992; Chang et al., 2014). This microalga is currently used as food supplement in mammals and poultry (Meale et al., 2014). For instance, the Schizochytrium sp. supplementation of the laying hen diet has a beneficial effect on egg production, egg weight, yolk color, and blood lipid profiles of the layer hen (Park et al., 2015). In addition, DHA from Schizochytrium sp. is a key component in dietary supplements, cosmetics products, and pharmaceutical formulations (Fedorova-Dahms et al., 2014; Aasen et al., 2016). Moreover, several immunomodulating compounds are also produced by this microalga, which highlights a potential contribution to vaccine efficacy when used as a delivery vehicle (Figure 1). For instance, it produces squalene, a compound with adjuvant activity (Hoang et al., 2014).

Schizochytrium sp. is an interesting alternative for vaccine production and delivery due to its capacity for recombinant protein expression, being able to efficiently export proteins toward the extracellular compartment; which is a substantial advantage over the bacterial hosts since the recombinant protein can be easily purified due to the simpler composition of culture supernatants. In addition, a singular advantage of *Schizochytrium sp.* is the capability of exporting full-length complex membranebound insoluble proteins in a secreted form while retaining full functionality and a properly active structure (Bayne et al., 2013). Since *Schizochytrium sp.* has singular properties among the algae species, the implications of this species in vaccinology are analyzed.

Bioencapsulation Effects

Since a major challenge in oral vaccine development is antigen degradation by commensal bacteria, proteases, and the acidic stomach environment, it is necessary to protect it and include suitable mucosal adjuvants to enhance antigen bioavailability and recognition by the elements of the gut-associated lymphoid tissues (Hernández et al., 2014). One alternative to address these challenges is antigen encapsulation and among the approaches explored in this regard is the use of nano and microparticles for oral vaccine delivery. There is an array of different polymers suitable for this purpose, which can be either natural or synthetic, in which antigens can be encapsulated within the particles. Although promising, it should be considered that these systems require a synthesis approach that involve strict reaction conditions for synthesis, purification and characterization, which is laborious and costly (Sinyakov et al., 2006).

In contrast, Schizochytrium sp. can be used not only as the biofactory of antigens but also as a natural microcapsule (9-14 µm), which is easier and cheaper to obtain than synthetic micro particles. When an antigen is intracellularly accumulated algae biomass can be used as a microencapsulated vaccine not requiring complex processing (i.e., purification). In this manner, the microalgal cell adds its components to the vaccine activity, which could favorably influence: (i) the antigen bioavailability as it is believed to protect the antigen from degradation but at the same time to mediate a proper release of the antigen to make it bioavailable while maintaining its native conformation in the microalgae and therefore the antigenic determinants are preserved (Gregory et al., 2013); and (ii) stimulation of the cells involved in antigen translocation, processing and presentation by the action of algal compounds; improving the response triggered by the antigen. In fact, microalgae have allowed the oral delivery of intact nanobodies in the intestine of mice (Barrera et al., 2015). Therefore, antigens encapsulated into Schizochytrium cells offer a cheaper and more practical system compared with conventional micro and nanoparticulated systems.

Presence of Immunostimulatory Compounds

Immunostimulatory compounds, such as adjuvants and immunostimulants, can enhance vaccine efficacy since they support the induction of robust immune responses through several mechanisms (Reed et al., 2013, **Table 1**). The benefits of immunostimulatory compounds include enhanced immunogenicity, antigen-sparing, and achievement of longlasting immunoprotection (Petrovsky and Aguilar, 2004; Lee and Nguyen, 2015). Therefore, immunostimulatory compounds may contribute to reduce the number and magnitude of antigen doses as well as achieving proper immune polarization (Reed et al., 2013; Ranasinghe, 2014). Using organisms that serve as biofactories but at the same time as delivery vehicles containing immunostimulatory compounds is the ideal case for vaccine design (Rosales-Mendoza and Salazar-González, 2014).

In this context, marine organisms serve as a source of a myriad of potent bioactive compounds; including immunostimulatory molecules of relevance in vaccination. In particular, several algae species have been identified as a source of inflammatory modulators as well as anti-nociceptive and anti-cancer compounds (De Almeida et al., 2011; Farooqi et al., 2014; De Jesus Raposo et al., 2015). To date, the compounds produced by Schizochytrium sp. with known anti-nociceptive and anti-cancer effects are DHA and EPA (van Beelen et al., 2007; Mann et al., 2018; Mitome et al., 2018). In addition, Schizochytrium sp. contains several bioactive compounds such as flavonoids, β-glucans, β-carotene, polysaccharides, nucleotides and peptides; many of them considered immunostimulants and immunomodulators that, in adequate amounts or in appropriate combination, can improve immune competence (Ibañez and Cifuentes, 2013; Kousoulaki et al., 2015). Interestingly, no signs of toxicity have been observed thus far in the use of bioactive compounds from Schizochytrium sp. in humans or animals. Moreover, no intermediary metabolites involved in the synthesis



TABLE 1 Compounds produced by Schizochytrium sp. with known immunostimulatory activities	unostimulatory activity.
---	--------------------------

Compound	Immunomodulatory activity and/or mechanism	References
DHA and EPA	Anti-inflammatory response through the inhibition of the kinases JNK and ERK of the NF $\kappa\beta$ pathway, which leads to reduced production of cytokines such as TNF- α , IFN- γ , IL-1 β , IL-6, IL-12, and enhanced systemic IgG and mucosal IgA production	Xue et al., 2006; Weldon et al., 2007; Draper et al., 2011; Siriwardhana et al., 2012; Magee et al., 2012; Tsunoda et al., 2015; He et al., 2017; Dawczynski et al., 2018
Palmitic acid	Pro-inflammatory response through the TLR4/IKKβ/NFκβ pathway, which leads to increased production of monocyte chemoattractant protein-1, nitric oxide, TNF- α , IL-1 β , IL-2, IL-5, IL-6, IL-8, IL-15, and IFN- γ ; and enhanced mucosal IgA production	Karsten et al., 1994; Medzhitov et al., 1997; Kim et al., 2007; Nguyen et al., 2007; Schaeffler et al., 2009; Kunisawa et al., 2012; Zhou et al., 2013
Squalene	Squalene-based adjuvants exert a proinflamatory response, which involves the production of cytokines and chemokines, such as MCP-1, IL-1β, IL-8 (CXCL-8), CCL3, CCL4 and IL-4; and enhancement of IgG production	Calabro et al., 2013 Vinay et al., 2013
Polysaccharides	Mechanisms involved in their expected immunomodulatory effects are unknown	Laurienzo, 2010 Chang et al., 2013 Liu et al., 2014

of toxic compounds have been reported in *Schizochytrium sp.* Overall, these features make *Schizochytrium sp.* an attractive species to be used for food purposes and as a valuable source of immunostimulatory compounds for animals and humans (Mioso et al., 2014). The relationship between *Schizochytrium sp.* immunostimulatory compounds and the immune system in the context of vaccine development will be briefly discussed in the following sections.

Lipids

Lipids represent up to 56% of the total dry weight of *Schizochytrium* sp. (Yokochi et al., 1998; Ren et al., 2010), with some of them exerting health-promoting effects (Chen et al., 2014b; Raposo and De Morais, 2015). Lipids with

immunostimulatory or immunomodulatory activities produced by *Schizochytrium sp.* comprise DHA, EPA, palmitic acid, and squalene (Huang et al., 2010; Taparia et al., 2016). DHA and EPA have proinflammatory and antinflammatory effects (Kelley, 2001; Ramakers et al., 2005) and improve Th1 and Th2 responses following vaccination (Hogenkamp et al., 2011). DHA and EPA immunomodulatory effects have been evaluated *in vitro* in cells derived from human and animals such as macrophages, dendritic cells, neutrophils, lymphocytes, epithelial cell lines, among others. Therefore, DHA and EPA differently modulate immune responses related to phagocytosis, phosphorylation of intracellular signaling molecules, activation of transcription factors, and effector immune-related gene expression; which largely depends of the cell type or target species. The overall

modulatory effects of DHA and EPA are related to a polarized anti-inflammatory response demonstrated by the reduction of cytokines such as TNF-a, IFN-y, IL-1β, IL-6, IL-12, and the anti-inflammatory cytokine IL-10, through the inhibition of kinases (i.e., JNK, ERK) of the NFkB pathway (Xue et al., 2006; Weldon et al., 2007; Draper et al., 2011; Magee et al., 2012; Siriwardhana et al., 2012; Tsunoda et al., 2015; He et al., 2017; Dawczynski et al., 2018). These effects could be associated with the eicosanoid synthesis pathway (Lokesh et al., 1988). In addition, it should be taken into account that DHA and EPA enhance neutrophil and macrophage phagocytosis, nitric oxide production (a pro-inflammatory mediator), and lymphocyte proliferation (Omura et al., 2001; Verlengia et al., 2004; Gorjão et al., 2006, 2009). Furthermore, it has been suggested that DHA promotes the production of pro-resolving cytokines from T helper lymphocytes and monocytes, via activation of the PPARgamma transcription factor; which finally contributes to adequate pro-resolving inflammatory responses that maintain a healthy status (Jaudszus et al., 2013). Moreover, it has been reported that the administration of DHA and/or EPA regulates the immune response in several animals such as cattle, goats, poultry, and pigs (Moreno-Indias et al., 2012; Bragaglio et al., 2015; Swiatkiewicz et al., 2015). Therefore, DHA and EPA could improve the efficacy of vaccines against inflammatory disorders. Interestingly, supplementation with DHA modulated antigen-specific T cell responses through an IL-10-mediated mechanism in vaccinated pigs (Bassaganya-Riera et al., 2007), and reduced TNF-a and IL-1ß production and increased IgG titers against bacterial toxins in vaccinated infants (López-Alarcón et al., 2008; Furuhjelm et al., 2011). Similarly, the supplementation of the maternal diet with DHA positively favors the activation of B cells and the response to a potential food antigen upon challenge in suckled offspring (Richard et al., 2015). On this regard, the evidence suggest that both DHA and EPA promote B cell activation and antibody production, particularly enhancing mucosal IgA responses, which is relevant to protect against infectious diseases (Gurzell et al., 2013; Teague et al., 2013; Whelan et al., 2016). Remarkably, the study of DHA and DHA-derivatives as potential adjuvants seems promising in vaccinology. Using 17-HDHA led to an enhanced serum protective antibody response after OVA and H1N1 vaccination in a mouse model (Ramon et al., 2014). Dietary DHA has also been proposed as a potential adjuvant in cancer treatments (Merendino et al., 2013) and has been tested in children and adolescents with acute lymphoblastic leukemia (Elbarbary et al., 2016). It is clear that dietary fatty acids influence the response of the immune system to vaccination and the potential benefits from marine (n-3) PUFA have been reported (Hogenkamp et al., 2011). Therefore, it can be expected that the fatty acids existing in Schizochytrium-based vaccines may account for the efficacy of the formulation (Maroufyan et al., 2012).

Another fatty acid present in high levels in *Schizochytrium sp.* is palmitic acid (PA), which triggers a pro-inflammatory response by the activation of macrophages (Talbot et al., 2014; Tian et al., 2015). In addition, PA is involved in the improvement of antigen presentation by antigen presenting cells (APC); an effect that is partly mediated by TLR4 and

TLR2 binding (Weatherill et al., 2005; Huang et al., 2012). In general, it is known that PA exerts immunostimulatory effects through the TLR4/IKK β /NF $\kappa\beta$ pathway. The downstream TLR4 signaling induced by PA leads to the activation of NF-kB and it has been associated with an increase in the secretion of monocyte chemoattractant protein-1 and pro-inflammatory molecules, such as nitric oxide, TNF-a, IL-1β, IL-6, and IL-8 (Medzhitov et al., 1997; Kim et al., 2007; Schaeffler et al., 2009; Zhou et al., 2013). In particular, the production of IFN- γ and IL-2 is enhanced in human peripheral lymphocytes upon PA treatment (Karsten et al., 1994). Additionally, PA was found to enhance secretory IgA responses; which are supported by the production of interleukins such as IL-5, IL-6, IL-10, and IL-15 (Nguyen et al., 2007; Kunisawa et al., 2012). On the other hand, dietary administration of PA in mice stimulates plasma cells to produce antibodies in intestine, highlighting its potential as a diet-mucosal adjuvant (Kunisawa et al., 2012). Particularly, PA-diet supplementation induced higher intestinal IgA responses in orally-immunized mice with OVA antigen and cholera toxin (Kunisawa et al., 2014). Interestingly, the palmitoyl group is also crucial in the approaches to produce immunogenic conjugates able to elicit specific and long lasting humoral immune response without the need of additional adjuvants (Kargakis et al., 2007). Vaccine formulations containing PA and palmitic acid-derivatives as adjuvants resulted in improved efficacy against several diseases including tuberculosis (Gupta et al., 2016), cancer (Rueda et al., 2017), rabies (Liu et al., 2016), canine distemper (Chua et al., 2007), and toxoplasmosis (Tan et al., 2010); an effect that is associated with enhanced pro-inflammatory cytokine production (Movle, 2017).

Schizochytrium lipids are also the basis of some commercial adjuvants. Squalene is a lipid (polyunsaturated triterpen) of the terpenoid family, typically obtained from animal sources; however, recent advances in purification processes have allowed the use of plants and microalgae as squalene sources (Brito et al., 2011). Interestingly, squalene is particularly produced at high levels in Schizochytrium (Yue and Jiang, 2009; Hoang et al., 2014). Squalene is used to produce adjuvants with proven efficacy, such as MF59, AF03, and AS03 (Reddy and Couvreur, 2009; O'Hagan et al., 2012; Kedl and Kedl, 2015; Bonam et al., 2017). Although the activity of such adjuvants is consequence of the combination of squalene with other compounds, it has been reported that neutrophils, dendritic cells and macrophages are the main players involved in the production of proinflamatory cytokines and chemokines (Calabro et al., 2013). Intraperitoneal administration of pure squalene (536.5 ul kg^{-1}) in fish led to safe inflammatory cellular and humoral responses at the site of injection and in immune-relevant tissues (Vinay et al., 2013). It is known that squalene is efficiently absorbed through the intestinal mucosa, rapidly enter into lymphatic circulation and is metabolized (Tilvis and Miettinen, 1983; Gylling and Miettinen, 1994) and therefore it could be active in oral vaccine formulations. For instance, MF59 has been licensed in more than 20 countries for use in an improved influenza vaccine called Fluad[®] (Frey et al., 2014). Squalene-based adjuvants efficiently enhance immune responses and are safe for humans and animals (O'Hagan et al., 2012; Fox and Haensler, 2013; Black, 2015; Haensler et al., 2015).

Therefore, lipids produced by *Schizochytrium sp.* might account, in combination with other inmunostimulatory molecules synthesized by the alga, for the immunogenicity of vaccines. The current information in the literature encourages performing more studies to investigate in detail the immunostimulatory effects of individual compounds or mixtures of them in oral immunization prototypes. All of this evidence on the production of lipids with immunomodulatory properties accounts for the potential of *Schizochytrium sp.* as an attractive host for the development of efficient oral vaccines.

Polysaccharides

Polysaccharides derived from marine microorganisms have had great importance in the industry (Sudha et al., 2014) and are also of relevance for the biomedical field having several applications. For instance, they can serve as vaccine vehicles and adjuvants (Petrovsky and Cooper, 2011; Shinchi et al., 2015). In fact, several polysaccharides have anti-tumor and immunomodulatory properties (Yang and Zhang, 2009; Laurienzo, 2010; Na et al., 2010). In particular, sulfated polysaccharides significantly improved the humoral response; an effect associated to the promotion of lymphocyte proliferation and macrophage activation via TLR-4 binding (Huang et al., 2008). In addition, several polysaccharides favor Th1 responses, promoting protection against intracellular pathogens such as mycobacteria (Pi et al., 2014). A remarkable case is the ADVAX TM adjuvant, made with pectin, which enhances the humoral and cellular responses against hepatitis and influenza vaccines and is currently under clinical evaluation (Saade et al., 2013; Honda-Okubo et al., 2015).

Marine microalgae are known as one of the most abundant sources of polysaccharides (Laurienzo, 2010). Particularly Schizochytrium sp. produces high levels of exopolysaccharides (EPS), at rates of around 300 mg per liter of culture (Chang et al., 2013), that are easily isolated from cultures since these are exported to the culture media (Laurienzo, 2010; Liu et al., 2014). EPS synthetized by the Schizochytrium species and other members of the Labyrinthulomycetes class are of great biotechnological interest (Jain et al., 2005). Overall, EPS exert immunostimulatory activity and adjuvant effects (Feng et al., 2015; Li and Wang, 2015), although no report exists about the immunostimulatory activity of EPS from Schizochytrium sp. and it constitutes an open field of study. Interestingly, it is known that the EPS production can be modulated by certain factors, such as glucose concentration in culture media; therefore, optimization of the EPS synthesis during Schizochytrium-based vaccines production could be an important aspect to optimize (Liu et al., 2014).

Schizochytrium sp. also exports many other compounds into the culture media including proteins, lipids, uronic acids, and sulfates (Lee Chang et al., 2014). Moreover, *Schizochytrium sp.* produces high amounts of xanthophylls (Aki et al., 2003) which possess immunomodulatory properties that promote cellular and humoral responses (Park et al., 2011; Ghodratizadeh et al., 2014). Although no detailed characterization on the cell wall composition is available for *Schizochytrium sp.*, it can be expected that the cell wall of *Schizochytrium sp.* could exert singular inmunostimulatory effects. It is known that microalgae possess a singular cell wall composition: an apparent lack of cellulose and the cell wall components are layers of crystalline Ararich, Hyp-rich glycoproteins (Miller et al., 1974; Roberts, 1974). Therefore, it can be speculated that the components from the cell wall of *Schizochytrium sp.* may exert inmunostimulatory activity leading to highly effective oral vaccines when used as delivery vehicle.

GENETIC ENGINEERING TOOLS

The current genetic engineering methods for *Schizochytrium sp.* comprise transgene installation into the nuclear genome (**Table 2**), which has been achieved by the following transformation techniques: particle bombardment (Lippmeier et al., 2009; Metz et al., 2009; Sakaguchi et al., 2012; Bayne et al., 2013); *Agrobacterium*-mediated transformation using protoplasts (Cheng et al., 2012); and electroporation (Cheng et al., 2011).

Selective agents used in these successful methods include paromomycin, zeocin and geneticin. In terms of regulatory sequences, the EF1 promoter has led to convenient protein yields up to 5–20 mg of recombinant protein per liter of culture (Cheng et al., 2013). However, no extensive evaluation of distinct regulatory sequences and a wide diversity of target proteins have been explored in *Schizochytrium sp*. Despite the fact that homologous recombination occurs in *Schizochytrium sp*. and it has been exploited to generate mutants for lipid metabolism studies (Metz et al., 2009), this feature has not been exploited to generate clones with site directed insertions to favor efficient expression of the transgene in vaccine production.

In this context, the knowledge on the genetic engineering approaches explored for the case of the C. reinhardtii microalga model is a relevant reference that can be used to expand the developments for Schizochytrium sp. According to several reports, C. reinhardtii tends to show complex expression patterns under nuclear expression approaches (Mardanova et al., 2015), however improvements on yields have been achieved by a number of approaches. For instance, co-expressing the gene of interest and the gene marker in a transcriptional arrangement where, once under translation, the presence of the picornaviral 2A element between both sequences induces the release of independent proteins. The yields obtained under this approach were up to 0.25% TSP. Nonetheless, the limitations of this approach include the fact that this split mechanism does not occur in all the molecules and thus a fraction of the produced protein corresponds to fusion proteins (Rasala and Mayfield, 2015). Another approach has consisted on generating mutant strains by UV light exposure and the use of codon optimized selectable markers (Barahimipour et al., 2016). A bicistronic arrangement driven by the promoter of the endogenous intraflagellar transport 25 protein has led to attractive protein yields (Dong et al., 2017). Insertions of the first intron of the

Objective	Vector	Promoter	Terminator	Transformation method	Selection approach	Findings	References
Generate mutants for polyunsaturated fatty acid (PUFA) synthase to characterize PUFA biosynthesis	Schizochytrium PFA1: (pBSK:A) Resistance to zeocin: (pTUBZE011-2)	Schizochytrium &-tubulin	Simian virus SV40	Particle bombardment	Zeocin resistance (Sh ble gene)	Mutants are auxotrophic and required supplementation with PUFAs Transformation efficiency: 10–100 primary transformants per bombardment	Lippmeier et al., 2009
Generate mutant for fatty acid synthase (FAS) by homologous recombination to characterize fatty acid hiosvirthesis	(pBluescript SK(p) from Stratagene)	Schizochytrium a-tubulin	SV40	Particle bombardment	Zeocin (Sh ble gene)	Mutants are lethal and rescued only when grown under supplementation with appropriate saturated fatty acids in combination with methylated cyclodextrins	Metz et al., 2009
Investigate a transgene expression system by 18S rDNA-targeted homologous recombination	pUCT-18S	TEF1	CYC1	Electroporation	Zeocin (Sh ble gene)	The majority of the transformants showed similar biomass and total lipid content when compared to the wild type strain Transformation efficiency: 1 μg linearized plasmid yield more than 100 transformants	Cheng et al., 2011
Develop a novel transformation approach using <i>Agrobacterium</i> <i>tumetaciens</i> and a binary vector	pCAMBIA2301	<i>egfp</i> gene: TEF1 <i>gus</i> gene: CaMV35S	<i>egfp</i> gene: CYC1 <i>gus</i> gene: nos	A. tumefaciens.	G418 resistance (npt/l gene)	A. turn encountenance A. turn encountenance insertion of the T-DNA Transformation efficiency: 150 transformants of Schizochytrium sp. ber experiment	Cheng et al., 2012
Introduce the <i>Escherichia</i> coli acetyl-CoA synthetase (ACS) gene to reduce the negative impact of acetate accumulation on the fermentation products	pBluescript II SK (+)	TEF1	oyo	Electroporation	G418 resistance (npt/l) gene)	Conception and the activity of the second activity of the genetically modified a Schizochytrium sp. showed a significantly higher biomass and fatty acid proportion. Transformants acid proportion. Transformation efficiency: unspecified transformation ef	Yan et al., 2013
Produce the recombinant hemagglutinin (rHA) protein derived from A/Puero Rico/8/34 (H1N1) influenza Virus as a subunit vaccine	pCL0143, pCL0154, pCL0161, pCL0160, pCL0153	Elongation factor 1	РГАЗ	Particle bombardment	Paromomycin resistance (<i>aphH</i> gene)	Protective immunity against a lethell challenge with homologous virus was achieved Dy immunizing with a single dose of 1.7, 5, or 15 mg rHA with or without adjuvant (survival rates: 80–100%) Full protection (100%) was achieved at all dose levels with or without adjuvant when mice were given a second vaccination	Bayne et al., 2013
Develop a versatile transformation system for thraustochytrids applicable to both multiple transgene expression and gene targeting	pGEM-T Easy (Promega) and pUC18 (TaKaRa Bio)	EF-1α promoter	Ubiquitin terminator	Particle bombardment and electroporation	G418 resistance (nptll gene) Hygromicin resistance (hyg gene)	A multiple gene expression and gene targeting was achieved Transformation efficiency Microprojectile bombardment: 4.6 × 10 ¹ Colonies/µg DNA vector Electroporation: 0 Colonies	Sakaguchi et al., 2012

(Continued)

21

TABLE 2 | Summary of the genetic engineering methodologies implemented for the marine microalgae Schizochytrium sp.

Objective	Vector	Promoter	Terminator	Transformation method	Selection approach	Findings	References
Increase the levels of docosahexaenoic acid by the heterologous expression of ω -3 fatty acid desaturase from the nematode <i>Caenorrhabditis elegans</i> . Achieve site-directed mutagenesis of an acetolactate synthase gene	1. pTUBZEO11-2 2. plasmid pMON50201, or ALSmut1-7; pMON50202, or ALSmut3-5 ALSmut3-5	Schizochytrium tubulin gene promoter	SV40 terminator	Particle bombardment Zeocin (<i>Sh ble</i> gene) and electroporation	Zeocin (<i>Sh ble</i> gene)	Expression of the ω -3 fatty acid desaturase increased the levels of docosahexaenoic acid in Schizochytrium sp. Homologous recombination occurs in Schizochytrium sp., allowing for the generation of site-directed mutants Transformation efficiency: about 63% of the resulting Zeocin TM -resistant clones were PCR positive for the fat-1 gene	http://www.google.com/ patents/US7001772

ribulose-1,5-bisphosphate carboxylase/oxygenase small subunit 2 (rbcS2i1) along with codon-optimized coding sequences has proven to enhance the yields of the recombinant protein (Baier et al., 2018).

Looking to develop innovative expression systems, we have reported for the first time the use of a viral vector to efficiently produce biopharmaceuticals in algae, using *Schizochytrium sp.* as the model alga and a geminiviral vector constructed with sequences of the begomovirus *Ageratum enation virus* (Bañuelos-Hernández et al., 2017). The vector mediates the inducible expression driven by the AlcA promoter, which has a fungal origin and is induced by ethanol in a mechanism mediated by the AlcR protein. The proof of concept was provided by expressing in *Schizochytrium sp.*, a complex viral protein, namely GP1 protein from *Zaire ebolavirus*, and a bacterial toxin subunit (B subunit of the heat-labile *E. coli* enterotoxin). High levels of the target antigens were achieved (GP1 yields up to 1.2 mg per gram of fresh weight biomass). **Figure 2** depicts the general methodology comprised by the Algevir system.

In terms of yields, *Schizochytrium sp.* possesses a competitive productivity for recombinant protein production (5–20 mg/L) when compared with other microalgae. For instance, maximum yields observed in photosynthetic algae (*C. reinhardtii*) are 15 mg/l in a system based in the secretion of the target protein using either synthetic glycomodules (tandem serine and proline repeats) that improve secretion or a mutant strain that efficiently expresses heterologous genes (Bayne et al., 2013; Lauersen et al., 2013; Ramos-Martinez et al., 2017). Another promising approach relies in chloroplast genome engineering, by which yields up to 3 mg/L have been achieved (Gimpel et al., 2015). However *Schizochytrium sp.* does not possesses this organelle.

In this context, Algevir is a robust and attractive system as it possesses the following advantages that override the mentioned limitations: nuclear expression offers the possibility to access the complex cellular machinery to perform complex posttranslational modifications (e.g., glycosylation); intracellular accumulation at high levels of the biopharmaceutical allows using the alga cell as the delivery vehicle in oral formulations; inducible expression allows a tight control that might lead to an efficient production of recombinant proteins that have toxic effects in algae; transient expression avoids the long time investment required to select stably transformed clones. Therefore, Algevir is a versatile system offering the advantages of transient expression (short production time and high yields) that are ideal for the production of vaccines in response to epidemics.

Conventional systems for recombinant protein production allow overall higher yields than those of the microalgae-based systems. For instance bacterial systems have a productivity in the order of 5 g/l, yeast systems in the order of 30 g/l, whereas mammalian cells are in the range of 5-25 g/l (Jarvis, 2008; Demain and Vaishnav, 2009). However, besides yields it should also be considered that bacterial systems often led to significant losses when refolding is required, the system has limitations for the synthesis of complex proteins and the host produces endotoxins (Feng et al., 2012). In the case of mammalian cells, the limitations are high production cost and possible contamination with human pathogens (Moody et al.,

FABLE 2 | Continuec



FIGURE 2 General workflow for the Algevir system. (i) The Open Reading Frame of the Gene of Interest (ORF–GI) is cloned into the pALGEVIR plasmid through the restriction sites *Smal* and *Bam* HI, (ii) The expression vector is transferred via electroporation to *Agrobacterium tumefaciens*, (iii) Microalgae culture is inoculated with the recombinant *A. tumefaciens* strain carrying the pALGEVIR vector and incubated during 16 h to allow T-DNA transfer, (iv) Agrobacterium growth is stopped by the addition of cefotaxime, (iv) Expression is induced by adding 1% ethanol, (v) biomass is harvested to determine protein yields and perform preclinical evaluation.

2011). Although yeast is also a fast-growing, GRAS, heterotrophic eukaryotic microorganism leading to high yields of recombinant proteins, it is often associated with hyper- glycosylation problems that may impair correct protein folding and functionality (Wildt and Gerngross, 2005). Therefore, although *Schizochytrium sp.* offers modest productivity in this context, the overall features of this organism make it an attractive host for vaccine production.

INITIAL EFFORTS USING Schizochytrium sp. IN VACCINE DEVELOPMENT

Bayne et al. (2013) reported a pioneering study on the expression of hemagglutinin (rHA) from A/Puerto Rico/8/34 (H1N1) influenza Virus in *Schizochytrium sp.* The *Schizochytrium sp.* EF-1 promoter, PFA3 terminator, and the aphH gene conferrying paromomycin resistance were used. Clones transformed by particle bombardment were obtained and characterized at the molecular and immunogenic level. The algae-made HA was successfully detected in the extracellular space retaining activity as revealed by hemagglutination activities from 16 to 512 hemagglutination activity units (HAU)/50 μ L of cell-free supernatants (CFS).

The algae-made HA antigen was purified from fermentation culture supernatants with average yields of 5–20 mg of HA per liter of culture. The authors explored several immunization schemes in BALB/c mice groups comprising doses of 1.7, 5, and 15 μ g of HA alone or co-administered with the AddaVaxTM adjuvant. Another variable was a boost administered 3 weeks after priming. The hemagglutination inhibition (HI) activity assays revealed that the adjuvant-formulated vaccine induced

higher HA antibody titers, which significantly increased after the second injection.

The protective immunity against a lethal challenge with a homologous virus was evaluated following an immunization scheme comprising three rHA dose levels (1.7, 5, or 15 μ g) with or without adjuvant. In spite of the dose, all mice were fully protected after two vaccinations. In terms of infectious virus titers, the test animals receiving adjuvant showed lower virus titers than adjuvant-free vaccine-treated mice.

The Algevir system has been applied to produce several antigenic proteins with distinct yields, namely the GP1 antigen Zaire ebolavirus (yields: 6 mg/l), the B subunit of the heat labile *E. coli* enterotoxin (yields: 0.4 mg/l), and a chimeric protein targeting the receptor of advanced glycation end products for Alzheimer's disease (RAGE; yields: 0.4 mg/l) (Bañuelos-Hernández et al., 2017; Ortega-Berlanga et al., 2018).

These seminal reports indicate a high potential of *Schizochytrium sp.* in the microalgae-made vaccines field, in particular for the production of antigens requiring complex post-translational modifications in a robust system. Several directions in which this technology can be exploited are identified and discussed in the next section.

FUTURE DIRECTIONS

The positive outcomes derived from the Influenza vaccine prototype developed with Schizochytrium sp. indicate a great potential to develop other vaccine candidates. Several directions in which this organism can be exploited in vaccinology are identified. For instance, biomass from transgenic lines expressing the antigen of interest will allow evaluating oral vaccines formulated in a straightforward manner without complex processing (e.g., freeze-dried biomass could be used for oral immunization). In addition, several cellular localizations can be assessed and the implications on immunogenicity and yields determined. For example, proteins can be retained in the endoplasmic reticulum or expressed in the form of amylosomes as has been performed in C. reinhardtii (Dauvillée et al., 2010); another possibility is the association to lipid bodies or protein bodies which have been accomplished in seed crops. In plants, the oil body fusion technology consists in fusing the target protein to the N- or C-terminus of oleosin in the oil body surface; since the expression is driven by a seed specific promoter, the protein can be efficiently expressed and rescued from seeds (Stoger et al., 2005; Boothe et al., 2010). This approach also extends protein half-life allowing easier transportation and storage (Bhatla et al., 2010). Given the high accumulation of oil bodies in Schizochytrium sp. (Morita et al., 2006), this process is considered viable and proposed as an efficient approach for recombinant antigen production having implications in the immunogenic activity since high molecular size complexes carrying the antigen could be produced in the recombinant algae.

A number of mechanisms may underline the immunomodulatory (pro- and anti-inflammatory) effects of fatty acids present in *Schizochytrium sp.* in prototype vaccines.

All of them should be considered case-by-case determining the immunological outcomes required to fight the target disease. Thus, efforts to elucidate the immunological role and impact of the compounds present in *Schizochytrium* sp. are needed to understand and ultimately manipulate the immune responses induced by the vaccine. In terms of antigen design, studying the potential to produce virus like particles, antibody-antigen immunocomplexes, and adjuvant-antigen fusions are relevant, pending goals (Wen et al., 2016; Ding et al., 2018).

Moreover, conventional mutagenesis and genetic engineering along with the currently available Schizochytrium sp. genome bring opportunities for implementing strategies to improve the production of recombinant subunit vaccines. For instance, endogenous promoters and signal peptides could be used to improve the expression of the target antigens (Molino et al., 2018). Moreover, modifying the expression of enzymes involved in the synthesis of immunostimulatory compounds could lead to strains with modified metabolite profiles that could lead to improved immunogenicity (Park et al., 2018). Exploring these avenues will reinforce the use of Schizochytrium sp. as a convenient host in the production of attractive vaccines. The use of Schizochytrium sp. for vaccine production will also require the implementation of Good Management Practices-compliant process and validation of its safety for consumption by humans. It should be considered that Schizochytrium sp. is safe as food supplement for animals and thus the veterinary field could be the first to be benefited from the evaluation and commercialization of the Schizochytrium-made vaccines (Franklin et al., 1999; Meale et al., 2014; Kousoulaki et al., 2015; Park et al., 2015). This will be highly convenient since aquaculture and poultry intensive farming practices encourage the spread of diseases but the small size and low value of juvenile animals make other vaccination approaches impractical (Charoonnart et al., 2018).

CONCLUSIONS

Safe consumption, bioencapsulation effects, and the presence of immunomodulatory compounds are attributes that account for the potential of *Schizochytrium sp.* as an innovative platform for oral vaccine development. In addition, the well-established industrial process for *Schizochytrium sp.* production and the availability of efficient genetic engineering tools will support the perspectives of this technology.

Therefore, *Schizochytrium sp.* is an interesting alga species with implications in the development of improved algae-made vaccines that will benefit animal and human health. This research path will be particularly relevant in developing countries where heat-stable, low cost, easy to administer, and safe vaccines are urgently needed.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

CA and SR-M conceived the manuscript. AR-V wrote most of the sections under supervision of SR-M and CA. BB-H wrote the section on the Algevir system.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We appreciate the assistance of M.Sc. Crystal A. Guluarte-Vélez and Ricardo Nieto-Gómez during manuscript editing. Current investigations from the group are

REFERENCES

- Aasen, I. M., Ertesvåg, H., Heggeset, T. M., Liu, B., Brautaset, T., Vadstein, O., et al. (2016). Thraustochytrids as production organisms for docosahexaenoic acid (DHA), squalene, and carotenoids. *Appl. Microbiol. Biotechnol.* 100, 4309–4321. doi: 10.1007/s00253-016-7498-4
- Aki, T., Hachida, K., Yoshinaga, M., Katai, Y., Yamasaki, T., Kawamoto, S., et al. (2003). Thraustochytrid as a potential source of carotenoids. J. Am. Oil. Chem. Soc. 80, 789–794. doi: 10.1007/s11746-003-0773-2
- Baier, T., Wichmann, J., Kruse, O., and Lauersen, K. J. (2018). Intron-containing algal transgenes mediate efficient recombinant gene expression in the green microalga *Chlamydomonas reinhardtii*. *Nucleic Acids Res.* 46, 6909–6919. doi: 10.1093/nar/gky532
- Bañuelos-Hernández, B., Beltrán-López, J. I., and Rosales-Mendoza, S. (2015). "Production of biopharmaceuticals in microalgae," in *Handbook of Marine Microalgae*, ed S.-K. Kim (London: Academic Press), 281–298.
- Bañuelos-Hernández, B., Monreal-Escalante, E., González-Ortega, O., Angulo, C., and Rosales-Mendoza, S. (2017). Algevir: an expression system for microalgae based on viral vectors. *Front. microbiol.* 8:1100. doi: 10.3389/fmicb.2017.01100
- Barahimipour, R., Neupert, J., and Bock, R. (2016). Efficient expression of nuclear transgenes in the green alga Chlamydomonas: synthesis of an HIV antigen and development of a new selectable marker. *Plant Mol. Biol.* 90, 403–418. doi: 10.1007/s11103-015-0425-8
- Barclay, W. R. (1992). Process for the heterotrophic production of microbial products with high concentrations of Omega-3 highly unsaturated fatty acids. U.S. Patent No. 5 130, 242.
- Barrera, D. J., Rosenberg, J. N., Chiu, J. G., Chang, Y. N., Debatis, M., Ngoi, S. M., et al. (2015). Algal chloroplast produced camelid VH H antitoxins are capable of neutralizing botulinum neurotoxin. *Plant Biotechnol. J.* 13, 117–124. doi: 10.1111/pbi.12244
- Bassaganya-Riera, J., Guri, A. J., Noble, A. M., Reynolds, K. A., and King, J., Wood, C. M., et al. (2007). Arachidonic acid-and docosahexaenoic acidenriched formulas modulate antigen-specific T cell responses to influenza virus in neonatal piglets. Am. J. Clin. Nutr. 85, 824–836. doi: 10.1093/ajcn/85.3.824
- Bayne, A. C., Boltz, D., Owen, C., Betz, Y., Maia, G., Azadi, P., et al. (2013). Vaccination against influenza with recombinant hemagglutinin expressed by *Schizochytrium sp.* confers protective immunity. *PLoS ONE* 8:e61790. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0061790
- Bhatla, S. C., Kaushik, V., and Yadav, M. K. (2010). Use of oil bodies and oleosins in recombinant protein production and other biotechnological applications. *Biotechnol. Adv.* 28, 293–300. doi: 10.1016/j.biotechadv.2010.01.001
- Black, S. (2015). Safety and effectiveness of MF-59 adjuvanted influenza vaccines in children and adults. *Vaccine* 33, B3–B5. doi: 10.1016/j.vaccine.2014.11.062
- Bonam, S. R., Partidos, C. D., Halmuthur, S. K. M., and Muller, S. (2017). An overview of novel adjuvants designed for improving vaccine efficacy. *Trends Pharmacol. Sci.* 38, 771–793. doi: 10.1016/j.tips.2017.06.002
- Boothe, J., Nykiforuk, C., Shen, Y., Zaplachinski, S., Szarka, S., Kuhlman, P., et al. (2010). Seed-based expression systems for plant molecular farming. *Plant Biotechnol. J.* 8, 588–606. doi: 10.1111/j.1467-7652.2010.00511.x
- Bragaglio, A., Braghieri, A., Napolitano, F., De Rosa, G., Riviezzi, A. M., Surianello, F., et al. (2015). Omega-3 supplementation, milk quality and cow immunecompetence Italian. J. Agron. 10, 9–14. doi: 10.4081/ija.2015.611
- Brito, L. A., Chan, M., Baudner, B., Gallorini, S., Santos, G., O'Hagan, D. T., et al. (2011). An alternative renewable source of squalene for use in emulsion adjuvants. *Vaccine* 29, 6262–6268. doi: 10.1016/j.vaccine.2011.06.067
- Calabro, S., Tritto, E., Pezzotti, A., and Taccone, M. (2013). The adjuvant effect of MF59 is due to the oil-in-water emulsion formulation, none of the individual components induce a comparable adjuvant effect. *Vaccine* 31, 3363–3369. doi: 10.1016/j.vaccine.2013.05.007

supported by CONACYT/México (grants 271182 and CB-256063 to SR-M and grants CB-2010-01/151818, INFR-2014-01/225924, and PDCPN2014-01/248033 to CA). This work was partially funded by the PFCE 2018 program.

- Chang, G., Gao, N., Tian, G., Wu, Q., Chang, M., and Wang, X. (2013). Improvement of docosahexaenoic acid production on glycerol by *Schizochytrium sp.* S31 with constantly high oxygen transfer coefficient. *Bioresour. Technol.* 142, 400–406. doi: 10.1016/j.biortech.2013.04.107
- Chang, G., Wu, J., Jiang, C., Tian, G., Wu, Q., Chang, M., et al. (2014). The relationship of oxygen uptake rate and k(L)a with rheological properties in high cell density cultivation of docosahexaenoic acid by *Schizochytrium sp.* S31. *Bioresour. Technol.* 152, 234–240. doi: 10.1016/j.biortech.2013.11.002
- Charoonnart, P., Purton, S., and Saksmerprome, V. (2018). Applications of microalgal biotechnology for disease control in aquaculture. *Biology* 7:2. doi: 10.3390/biology7020024
- Chen, J., Jiao, R., Jiang, Y., Bi, Y., and Chen, Z. Y. (2014b). Algal sterols are as effective as β -sitosterol in reducing plasma cholesterol concentration. *J. Agric. Food Chem.* 62, 675–681. doi: 10.1021/jf404955n
- Chen, S. I., Norman, B. A., Rajgopal, J., Assi, T. M., Lee, B. Y., and Brown, S. T. (2014a). A planning model for the WHO-EPI vaccine distribution network in developing countries. *IIE Transactions* 46, 853–865. doi: 10.1080/0740817X.2013.813094
- Cheng, R., Ge, Y., Yang, B., Zhong, X., Lin, X., and Huang, Z. (2013). Cloning and functional analysis of putative malonyl-CoA: acyl-carrier protein transacylase gene from the docosahexaenoic acid-producer *Schizochytrium sp.* TIO1101. *World J. Microbiol. Biotechnol.* 29, 959–967. doi: 10.1007/s11274-013-1253-0
- Cheng, R., Ma, R., Li, K., Rong, H., Lin, X., Wang, Z., et al. (2012). Agrobacterium tumefaciens mediated transformation of marine microalgae Schizochytrium. Microbiol. Res. 167, 179–186. doi: 10.1016/j.micres.2011.05.003
- Cheng, R. B., Lin, X. Z., Wang, Z. K., Yang, S. J., Rong, H., and Ma, Y. (2011). Establishment of a transgene expression system for the marine microalga *Schizochytrium* by 18S rDNA-targeted homologous recombination. *World J. Microbiol. Biotechnol.* 27, 737–741. doi: 10.1007/s11274-010-0510-8
- Chua, B. Y., Zeng, W., Lau, Y. F., and Jackson, D. C. (2007). Comparison of lipopeptide-based immunocontraceptive vaccines containing different lipid groups. *Vaccine* 25, 92–101. doi: 10.1016/j.vaccine.2006.07.012
- Corbeil, L. B., Hildebrand, M., Shrestha, R., Davis, A., Schrier, R., Oyler, G. A., et al. (2015). Diatom-based vaccines. U.S. Patent No. 9,358,283.
- Dauvillée, D., Delhaye, S., Gruyer, S., Slomianny, C., Moretz, S. E., d'Hulst, C., et al. (2010). Engineering the chloroplast targeted malarial vaccine antigens in Chlamydomonas starch granules. *PLoS ONE* 5:e15424. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0015424
- Davis, A., Crum, L. T., Corbeil, L. B., and Hildebrand, M. (2017). Expression of Histophilus somni IbpA DR2 protective antigen in the diatom Thalassiosira pseudonana. *Appl. Microbiol. Biotechnol.* 101, 5313–5324. doi: 10.1007/s00253-017-8267-8
- Dawczynski, C., Dittrich, M., Neumann, T., Goetze, K., Welzel, A., Oelzner, P., et al. (2018). Docosahexaenoic acid in the treatment of rheumatoid arthritis: A double-blind, placebo-controlled, randomized cross-over study with microalgae vs. sunflower oil. *Clin. Nutr.* 37, 494–504. doi: 10.1016/j.clnu.2017.02.021
- De Almeida, C. L., Falcão, Hde. S., Lima, G. R., Montenegro, Cde. A., Lira, N. S., de Athayde-Filho, P. F. et al. (2011). Bioactivities from marine algae of the genus Gracilaria. *Int. J. Mol. Sci.* 12, 4550–4573. doi: 10.3390/ijms12074550
- De Jesus Raposo, M. F., De Morais, A. M., and De Morais, R. M. (2015). Marine polysaccharides from algae with potential biomedical applications. *Mar. Drugs* 13, 2967–3028. doi: 10.3390/md13052967
- Demain, A. L., and Vaishnav, P. (2009). Production of recombinant proteins by microbes and higher organisms. *Biotech. Adv.* 27, 297–306. doi: 10.1016/j.biotechadv.2009.01.008
- Dewapriya, P., and Kim, S. K. (2014). Marine microorganisms: an emerging avenue in modern nutraceuticals and functional foods. *Food Res. Int.* 56, 115–125. doi: 10.1016/j.foodres.2013.12.022

- Ding, X., Liu, D., Booth, G., Gao, W., and Lu, Y. (2018). Virus-like particle engineering: from rational design to versatile applications. *Biotechnol J.* 13:1700324. doi: 10.1002/biot.201700324
- Doherty, D. G. (2015). Immunity, tolerance and autoimmunity in the liver: a comprehensive review. J. Autoimmun. 66, 60–75. doi: 10.1016/j.jaut.2015.08.020
- Dong, B., Hu, H. H., Li, Z. F., Cheng, R. Q., Meng, D. M., Wang, J., et al. (2017). A novel bicistronic expression system composed of the intraflagellar transport protein gene ift25 and FMDV 2A sequence directs robust nuclear gene expression in *Chlamydomonas reinhardtii*. Appl. Microbiol. Biotechnol. 101, 4227–4245. doi: 10.1007/s00253-017-8177-9
- Draper, E., Reynolds, C. M., Canavan, M., Mills, K. H., Loscher, C. E., and Roche, H. M. (2011). Omega-3 fatty acids attenuate dendritic cell function via NF-κB independent of PPARγ. J. Nutr. Biochem. 22, 784–790. doi: 10.1016/j.jnutbio.2010.06.009
- Dreesen, I. A., Charpin-El, Hamri. G., and Fussenegger, M. (2010). Heat-stable oral alga-based vaccine protects mice from *Staphylococcus aureus* infection. *J. Biotechnol.* 145, 273–280. doi: 10.1016/j.jbiotec.2009.12.006
- Dyo, Y. M., and Purton, S. (2018). The algal chloroplast as a synthetic biology platform for production of therapeutic proteins. *Microbiology* 164, 113–121. doi: 10.1099/mic.0.000599
- Elbarbary, N. S., Ismail, E. A., Farahat, R. K., and El-Hamamsy, M. (2016). ω -3 fatty acids as an adjuvant therapy ameliorates methotrexate-induced hepatotoxicity in children and adolescents with acute lymphoblastic leukemia: A randomized placebo-controlled study. *Nutrition* 32, 41–47. doi: 10.1016/j.nut.2015.06.010
- Farooqi, A. A., Fayyaz, S., Hou, M. F., Li, K. T., Tang, J. Y., and Chang, H. W. (2014). Reactive oxygen species and autophagy modulation in non-marine drugs and marine drugs. *Mar. Drugs* 12, 5408–5542. doi: 10.3390/md12115408
- Fedorova-Dahms, I., Thorsrud, B. A., Bailey, E., and Salem, N. (2014). A 3-week dietary bioequivalence study in preweaning farm piglets of two sources of docosahexaenoic acid produced from two different organisms. *Food Chem. Toxicol.* 65, 43–51. doi: 10.1016/j.fct.2013.12.008
- Feng, H., Fan, J., Qiu, H., Wang, Z., Yan, Z., Yuan, L., et al. (2015). Chuanminshenviolaceum polysaccharides improve the immune responses of foot-and-mouth disease vaccine in mice. *Int. J. Biol. Macromol.* 78, 405–416. doi: 10.1016/j.ijbiomac.2015.04.044
- Feng, S., Feng, W., Zhao, L., Gu, H., Li, Q., Shi, K., et al. (2014). Preparation of transgenic *Dunaliellasalina* for immunization against white spot syndrome virus in crayfish. Arch. Virol. 159, 519–525. doi: 10.1007/s00705-013-1856-7
- Feng, Y., Zhang, M., Zhang, L., Zhang, T., Ding, J., Zhuang, Y., et al. (2012). An automatic refolding apparatus for preparative-scale protein production. *PLoS ONE* 7: e45891. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0045891
- Fox, C. B., and Haensler, J. (2013). An update on safety and immunogenicity of vaccines containing emulsion-based adjuvants. *Expert. Rev. Vaccines* 12, 747–758. doi: 10.1586/14760584.2013.811188
- Franklin, S. T., Martin, K. R., Baer, R. J., Schingoethe, D. J., and Hippen, A. R. (1999). Dietary marine algae (*Schizochytrium* sp.) increases concentrations of conjugated linoleic, docosahexaenoic and transvaccenic acids in milk of dairy cows. J. Nutr. 129, 2048–2054. doi: 10.1093/jn/129.11.2048
- Frey, S. E., Reyes, M. R., Reynales, H., Bermal, N. N., Nicolay, U., Narasimhan, V., et al. (2014). Comparison of the safety and immunogenicity of an MF59[®]-adjuvanted with a non-adjuvanted seasonal influenza vaccine in elderly subjects. *Vaccine* 32, 5027–5034. doi: 10.1016/j.vaccine.2014. 07.013
- Furuhjelm, C., Jenmalm, M. C., Magnusson, K. F., and Duchén, K. (2011). Th1 and Th2 chemokines, vaccine-induced immunity, and allergic disease in infants after maternal ω -3 fatty acid supplementation during pregnancy and lactation. *Pediatr. Res.* 69, 259–264. doi: 10.1203/PDR.0b013e3182072229
- Geng, D., Wang, Y., Wang, P., Li, W., and Sun, Y. (2003). Stable expression of hepatitis B surface antigen gene in *Dunaliella salina* (Chlorophyta). J. Appl. Phycol. 15, 451–456. doi: 10.1023/B:JAPH.0000004298.89183.e5
- Ghodratizadeh, S., Kanbak, G., Beyramzadeh, M., Dikmen, Z. G., Memarzadeh, S., and Habibian, R. (2014). Effect of carotenoid β-cryptoxanthin on cellular and humoral immune response in rabbit. *Vet. Res. Commun.* 38, 59–62. doi: 10.1007/s11259-013-9584-8
- Gimpel, J. A., Hyun, J. S., Schoepp, N. G., and Mayfield, S. P. (2015). Production of recombinant proteins in microalgae at pilot greenhouse scale. *Biotechnol. Bioeng.* 112, 339–345. doi: 10.1002/bit.25357

- Gorjão, R., Azevedo-Martins, A. K., Rodrigues, H. G., Abdulkader, F., Arcisio-Miranda, M., Procopio, J., et al. (2009). Comparative effects of DHA and EPA on cell function. *Pharmacol Ther.* 122, 56–64 doi: 10.1016/j.pharmthera.2009.01.004
- Gorjão, R., Verlengia, R., de Lima, T. M., Soriano, F. G., Boaventura, M. F., and Kanunfre, C. C. (2006). Effect of docosahexaenoic acid-rich fish oil supplementation on human leukocyte function. *Clin. Nutr.* 25, 923–938. doi: 10.1016/j.clnu.2006.03.004
- Gregory, J. A., Topol, A. B., Doerner, D. Z., and Mayfield, S. (2013). Alga-produced cholera toxin-pfs25 fusion proteins as oral vaccines. *Appl. Environ.Microbiol.* 79, 3917–3925. doi: 10.1128/AEM.00714-13
- Gupta, N., Vedi, S., Kunimoto, D. Y., Agrawal, B., and Kumar, R. (2016). Novel lipopeptides of ESAT-6 induce strong protective immunity against *Mycobacterium tuberculosis*: routes of immunization and TLR agonists critically impact vaccine's efficacy. *Vaccine* 34, 5677–5688. doi: 10.1016/j.vaccine.2016.08.075
- Gurzell, E. A., Teague, H., Harris, M., Clinthorne, J., Shaikh, S. R., and Fenton, J. I. (2013). DHA-enriched fish oil targets B cell lipid microdomains and enhances ex vivo and in vivo B cell function. J. Leukoc. Biol. 93, 463–470. doi: 10.1189/jlb.0812394
- Gylling, H., and Miettinen, T. A. (1994). Post absorptive metabolism of dietary squalene. *Atherosclerosis* 106, 169–178. doi: 10.1016/0021-9150(94)90122-8
- Haensler, J., Probeck, P., Su, J., Piras, F., Dalençon, F., Cotte, J. F., et al. (2015). Design and preclinical characterization of a novel vaccine adjuvant formulation consisting of a synthetic TLR4 agonist in a thermoreversiblesqualene emulsion. *Int. J. Pharm.* 486, 99–111. doi: 10.1016/j.ijpharm.2015.03.028
- Hasegawa, H., van Reit, E., and Kida, H. (2015). Mucosal immunization and adjuvants. Influenza Pathogenesis and Control - Volume II Volume 386 of the series. *Curr. Top. Microbiol. Immunol.* 386, 371–380. doi: 10.1007/82_2014_402
- Hauri, A. M., Armstrong, G. L., and Hutin, Y. J. (2004). The global burden of disease attributable to contaminated injections given in health care settings. *Int.* J. STD. AIDS 15, 7–16. doi: 10.1258/095646204322637182
- He, X., Liu, W., Shi, M., Yang, Z., Zhang, X., and Gong, P. (2017). Docosahexaenoic acid attenuates LPS-stimulated inflammatory response by regulating the PPARγ/NF-κB pathways in primary bovine mammary epithelial cells. *Res. Vet. Sci.* 112, 7–12. doi: 10.1016/j.rvsc.2016.12.011
- Hempel, F., Lau, J., Klingl, A., and Maier, U. G. (2011). Algae as protein factories: expression of a human antibody and the respective antigen in the diatom phaeodactylumtricornutum. *PLoS ONE* 6: e28424. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0028424
- Hernández, M., Rosas, G., Cervantes, J., Fragoso, G., Rosales-Mendoza, S., and Sciutto, E. (2014). Transgenic plants: a 5-year update on oral antipathogen vaccine development. *Expert Rev. Vaccines* 13, 1523–1536. doi: 10.1586/14760584.2014.953064
- Hoang, M. H., Ha, N. C., Thom, le. T., Tam, L. T., Anh, H. T. and Thu, N. T. (2014). Extraction of squalene as value-added product from the residual biomass of *Schizochytrium mangrovei* PQ6 during biodiesel producing process. *J. Biosci. Bioeng.* 118, 632–639. doi: 10.1016/j.jbiosc.2014.05.015
- Hogenkamp, A., van Vlies, N., Fear, A. L., van Esch, B. C., Hofman, G. A., Garssen, J., et al. (2011). Dietary fatty acids affect the immune system in male mice sensitized to ovalbumin or vaccinated with influenza. *J. Nutr.* 141, 698–702. doi: 10.3945/jn.110.135863
- Honda-Okubo, Y., Ong, C. H., and Petrovsky, N. (2015). Advax delta inulin adjuvant overcomes immune immaturity in neonatal mice thereby allowing single-dose influenza vaccine protection. *Vaccine* 33, 4892–4900. doi: 10.1016/j.vaccine.2015.07.051
- Hornef, M. (2015). Pathogens commensal symbionts, and pathobionts: discovery and functional effects on the host. *ILAR J.* 56, 159–162. doi: 10.1093/ilar/ilv007
- Huang, G., Chen, F., Wei, D., Zhang, X., and Chen, G. (2010). Biodiesel production by microalgal biotechnology. *Appl. Energy* 87, 38–46. doi: 10.1016/j.apenergy.2009.06.016
- Huang, S., Rutkowsky, J. M., Snodgrass, R. G., Ono-Moore, K. D., Schneider, D. A., Newman, J. W., et al. (2012). Saturated fatty acids activate TLRmediated proinflammatory signaling pathways. *J. Lipid Res.* 53, 2002–2013. doi: 10.1194/jlr.D029546
- Huang, X., Hu, Y., Zhao, X., Lu, Y., Wang, J., Zhang, F., et al. (2008). Sulfated modification can enhance the adjuvant activity of astragalus polysaccharide for ND vaccine. *Carbohyd. Polym.* 73, 303–308. doi: 10.1016/j.carbpol.2007.11.032

- Ibañez, E., and Cifuentes, A. (2013). Benefits of using algae as natural sources of functional ingredients. J. Sci. Food Agric. 93, 703–709. doi: 10.1002/jsfa.6023
- Jain, R., Raghukumar, S., Tharanathan, R., and Bhosle, N. B. (2005). Extracellular polysaccharide production by thraustochytridprotists. *Mar. Biotechnol. (NY)* 7, 184–192. doi: 10.1007/s10126-004-4025-x
- Jarvis, L. M. (2008). A technology bet. DSM's pharma product unit leverages its biotech strength to survive in a tough environment. *Chem. Eng. News* 86, 30–31. doi: 10.1021/cen-v086n008.p030
- Jaudszus, A., Gruen, M., Watzl, B., Ness, C., Roth, A., Lochner, A., et al. (2013). Evaluation of suppressive and pro-resolving effects of EPA and DHA in human primary monocytes and T-helper cells. *J. Lipid Res.* 54, 923–935. doi: 10.1194/jlr.P031260
- Kai, Y. H., and Chi, S. C. (2008). Efficacies of inactivated vaccines against betanodavirus in grouper larvae (*Epinephelus coioides*) by bath immunization. *Vaccine* 26, 1450–1457. doi: 10.1016/j.vaccine.2007.12.043
- Kargakis, M., Zevgiti, S., Krikorian, D., Sakarellos-Daitsiotis, M., Sakarellos, C., and Panou-Pomonis, E. (2007). A palmitoyl-tailed sequential oligopeptide carrier for engineering immunogenic conjugates. *Vaccine* 25, 6708–6712. doi: 10.1016/j.vaccine.2007.07.007
- Karsten, S., Schäfer, and, G., and Schauder, P. (1994). Cytokine production and DNA synthesis by human peripheral lymphocytes in response to palmitic, stearic, oleic, and linoleic acid. *J. Cell Physiol*.161, 15–22. doi: 10.1002/jcp.1041610103
- Kedl, J. D., and Kedl, R. M. (2015). How squalene GLAdly helps generate antigenspecific T cells via antigen-carrying neutrophils and IL-18. *Eur. J. Immunol.* 45, 376–379. doi: 10.1002/eji.201445379
- Kelley, D. S. (2001). Modulation of human immune and inflammatory responses by dietary fatty acids. *Nutrition* 17, 669–673. doi: 10.1016/S0899-9007(01)00576-7
- Kim, F., Pham, M., Luttrell, I., Bannerman, D. D., Tupper, J., Thaler, J., et al. (2007). Toll-like receptor-4 mediates vascular inflammation and insulin resistance in diet-induced obesity. *Circ. Res.* 100, 1589–1596. doi: 10.1161/CIRCRESAHA.106.142851
- Kochhar, S., Rath, B., Seeber, L. D., Rundblad, G., Khamesipour, A., Ali, M., et al. (2013). Introducing new vaccines in developing countries. *Expert Rev. Vaccines*. 2, 1465–1478. doi: 10.1586/14760584.2013.855612
- Kousoulaki, K., Ostbye, T. K. K., Krasnov, A., and Torgersen, J. S. (2015). Metabolism, health and fillet nutritional quality in Atlantic salmon (*Salmosalar*) fed diets containing n-3-rich microalgae. *J.Nutr. Sci.* 4:e24. doi: 10.1017/jns.2015.14
- Kumru, O. S., Joshi, S. B., Smith, D. E., Middaugh, C. R., Prusik, T., and Volkin, D. B. (2014). Vaccine instability in the cold chain: Mechanisms, analysis and formulation strategies. *Biologicals* 42, 237–259. doi: 10.1016/j.biologicals.2014.05.007
- Kunisawa, J., Hashimoto, E., Inoue, A., Nagasawa, R., Suzuki, Y., Ishikawa, I., et al. (2014). Regulation of intestinal IgA responses by dietary palmitic Acid and its metabolism. *J. Immunol.* 193, 1666–1671. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.13 02944
- Kunisawa, J., Kurashima, Y., and Kiyono, H. (2012). Gut-associated lymphoid tissues for the development of oral vaccines. *Adv. Drug. Deliv. Rev.* 64, 523–530. doi: 10.1016/j.addr.2011.07.003
- Kweon, M. N. (2014). Recent progress in mucosal immunology and vaccine development. *Exp. Mol. Med.* 46:e86 doi: 10.1038/emm.2014.2
- Lamichhane, A., Azegamia, and, T., and Kiyonoa, H. (2014). The mucosal immune system for vaccine development. *Vaccine* 32, 6711–6723. doi: 10.1016/j.vaccine.2014.08.089
- Lauersen, K. J., Berger, H., Mussgnug, J. H., and Kruse, O. (2013). Efficient recombinant protein production and secretion from nuclear transgenes in *Chlamydomonas reinhardtii*. J. Biotechnol. 167, 101–110. doi: 10.1016/j.jbiotec.2012.10.010
- Laurienzo, P. (2010). Marine polysaccharides in pharmaceutical applications: an overview. *Mar. Drugs* 8, 2435–2465. doi: 10.3390/md80 92435
- Lee Chang, K. J., Nichols, C. M., Blackburn, S. I., Dunstan, G. A., Koutoulis, A., and Nichols, P. D. (2014). Comparison of thraustochytrids Aurantiochytrium sp., Schizochytrium sp., Thraustochytrium sp., and Ulkenia sp. for production of biodiesel, long-chain omega-3 oils, and exopolysaccharide. Mar. Biotechnol. 16, 396–411. doi: 10.1007/s10126-014-9560-5

- Lee, S., and Nguyen, M. T. (2015). Recent advances of vaccine adjuvants for infectious diseases. *Immune Netw.* 15, 51–57. doi: 10.4110/in.2015.15.2.51
- Li, P., and Wang, F. (2015). Polysaccharides: candidates of promising vaccine adjuvants. Drug Discov. Ther. 9, 88–93. doi: 10.5582/ddt.2015.01025
- Lippmeier, J. C., Crawford, K. S., Owen, C. B., Rivas, A. A., Metz, J. G., and Apt, K. E. (2009). Characterization of both polyunsaturated fatty acid biosynthetic pathways in *Schizochytrium sp. Lipids* 44, 621–630. doi: 10.1007/s11745-009-3311-9
- Liu, R., Wang, J., Yang, Y., Khan, I., Dong, Y., and Zhu, N. (2016). A novel rabies virus lipopeptide provides a better protection by improving the magnitude of DCs activation and T cell responses. *Virus Res.* 221, 66–73. doi: 10.1016/j.virusres.2016.05.007
- Liu, Y., Singh, P., Sun, Y., Luan, S., and Wang, G. (2014). Culturable diversity and biochemical features of thraustochytrids from coastal waters of Southern China. *Appl. Microbiol. Biotechnol.* 98, 3241–3255. doi: 10.1007/s00253-013-5391-y
- Lokesh, B. R., Black, J. M., German, J. B., and Kinsella, J. E. (1988). Docosahexaenoic acid and other dietary polyunsaturated fatty acids suppress leukotriene synthesis by mouse peritoneal macrophages. *Lipids* 23, 968–972. doi: 10.1007/BF02536345
- López-Alarcón, M., Garza, C., Del Prado, M., García-Zúñiga , P. A., and Barbosa, L. (2008). Breastfeeding's protection against illness-induced anorexia is mediated partially by docosahexaenoic acid. *Eur. J. Clin. Nutr.* 62, 32–38. doi: 10.1038/sj.ejcn.1602686
- Magee, P., Pearson, S., Whittingham-Dowd, J., and Allen, J. (2012). PPARγ as a molecular target of EPA anti-inflammatory activity during TNF-αimpaired skeletal muscle cell differentiation. *J. Nutr. Biochem.* 23, 1440–1448. doi: 10.1016/j.jnutbio.2011.09.005
- Mann, J. D., Faurot, K. R., MacIntosh, B., Palsson, O. S., Suchindran, C. M., and Gaylord, S. A., et al. (2018). A sixteen-week three-armed, randomized, controlled trial investigating clinical and biochemical effects of targeted alterations in dietary linoleic acid and n-3 EPA+DHA in adults with episodic migraine: Study protocol. *Prostaglandins Leukot. Essent. Fatty Acids.* 128, 41–52. doi: 10.1016/j.plefa.2017.11.002
- Mardanova, E. S., Kotlyarov, R. Y., Kuprianov, V. V., Stepanova, L. A., Tsybalova, L. M., Lomonosoff, G. P., et al. (2015). Rapid high-yield expression of a candidate influenza vaccine based on the ectodomain of M2 protein linked to flagellin in plants using viral vectors. *BMC Biotechnol*. 15:42. doi: 10.1186/s12896-015-0164-6
- Maroufyan, E., Kasim, A., Ebrahimi, M., Loh, T. C., Bejo, M. H., Zerihun, H., et al. (2012). Omega-3 polyunsaturated fatty acids enrichment alters performance and immune response in infectious bursal disease challenged broilers. *Lipids Health Dis.* 11:15. doi: 10.1186/1476-511X-11-15
- Mayer, A. M. S., Rodriguez, A. D., Berlinck, D., and Fusetani, N. (2011). Marine compounds with antibacterial, anticoagulant, antifungal, antiinflammatory, antiprotozoal, antituberculosis and antiviral activities; affecting the immune and nervous system, and other miscellaneous mechanisms of action. *Comp. Biochem. Physiol.* 153, 191–222. doi: 10.1016/j.cbpc.2010.08.008
- Meale, S. J., Chaves, A. V., He, M. L., and McAllister, T. A. (2014). Dose-response of supplementing marine algae (*Schizochytrium sp.*) on production performance, fatty acid profiles, and wool parameters of growing lambs. *J. Anim. Sci.* 92, 2202–2213. doi: 10.2527/jas.2013-7024
- Medzhitov, R., Preston-Hurlburt, P., and Janeway, C. A. (1997). A human homologue of the Drosophila Toll protein signals activation of adaptive immunity. *Nature* 388, 394–397. doi: 10.1038/41131
- Merendino, N., Costantini, L., Manzi, L., Molinari, R., D'Eliseo, D., and Velotti, F. (2013). Dietary ω -3 polyunsaturated fatty acid DHA: a potential adjuvant in the treatment of cancer. *Biomed. Res. Int.* 2013:310186. doi: 10.1155/2013/310186
- Metz, J. G., Kuner, J., Rosenzweig, B., Lippmeier, J. C., Roessler, P., and Zirkle, R. (2009). Biochemical characterization of polyunsaturated fatty acid synthesis in *Schizochytrium sp.*: release of the products as free fatty acids. *Plant Physiol. Biochem.* 47, 472–478. doi: 10.1016/j.plaphy.2009.02.002
- Miller, D. H., Mellman, I. S., Lamport, D. T., and Miller, M. (1974). The chemical composition of the cell wall of *Chlamydomonas gymnogama* and the concept of a plant cell wall protein. *J. Cell Biol.* 63, 420–429. doi: 10.1083/jcb.63.2.420
- Mioso, R., Marante, F. J. T., González, J. E., and Rodríguez, J. J. (2014). Laguna IHBD Metabolite profiling of *Schizochytrium sp.* by GC-MS, an

oleaginous microbial source of biodiesel. Braz. J. Microbiol. 45, 403–409. doi: 10.1590/S1517-83822014000200006

- Mitome, K., Takehana, S., Oshima, K., Shimazu, Y., and Takeda, M. (2018). Local anesthetic effect of docosahexaenoic acid on the nociceptive jaw-opening reflex in rats. *Neurosci. Res.* doi: 10.1016/j.neures.2018.02.005. [Epub ahead of print].
- Molino, J. V. D., de Carvalho, J. C. M., and Mayfield, S. P. (2018). Comparison of secretory signal peptides for heterologous protein expression in microalgae: expanding the secretion portfolio for *Chlamydomonas reinhardtii*. *PLoS ONE* 13:e0192433. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0192433
- Moody, M., Alves, W., Varghese, J., and Khan, F. (2011). Mouse minute virus (MMV) contamination–a case study: detection, root cause determination, and corrective actions. PDA J. Pharm. Sci. Technol. 65, 580–588. doi: 10.5731/pdajpst.2011.00824
- Moreno-Indias, I., Morales-DelaNuez, A., Hernández-Castellano, L. E., and Rodríguez, J. J. (2012). Laguna IHBD Docosahexaenoic acid in the goat kid diet: effects on immune system and meat quality. J. Anim. Sci. 90, 3729–3738. doi: 10.2527/jas.2011-4351
- Morita, E., Kumon, Y., Nakahara, T., Kagiwada, S., and Noguchi, T. (2006). Docosahexaenoic acid production and lipid-body formation in Schizochytrium limacinum SR21. Mar. Biotechnol. 8, 319–327. doi: 10.1007/s10126-005-5060-y
- Moyle, P. M. (2017). Biotechnology approaches to produce potent, selfadjuvanting antigen-adjuvant fusion protein subunit vaccines. *Biotechnol. Adv.* 35, 375–389. doi: 10.1016/j.biotechadv.2017.03.005
- Na, Y. S., Kim, W. J., Kim, S. M., Park, J. K., Lee, S. M., Kim, S. O., et al. (2010). Purification, characterization and immunostimulating activity of water-soluble polysaccharide isolated from *Capsosiphon fulvescens. Int. Immunopharmacol.* 10, 364–370. doi: 10.1016/j.intimp.2009.12.011
- Newsted, D., Fallahi, F., Golshani, A., and Azizi, A. (2015). Advances and challenges in mucosal adjuvant technology. *Vaccine* 33, 2399–2405. doi: 10.1016/j.vaccine.2015.03.096
- Nguyen, M. T., Favelyukis, S., Nguyen, A. K., Reichart, D., Scott, P. A., Jenn, A., et al. (2007). A subpopulation of macrophages infiltrates hypertrophic adipose tissue and is activated by free fatty acids via Toll-like receptors 2 and 4 and JNK-dependent pathways. *J. Biol. Chem.* 282, 35279–35292. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M706762200
- O'Hagan, D. T., Ott, G. S., De Gregorio, E., and Seubert, A. (2012). The mechanism of action of MF59-an innately attractive adjuvant formulation. *Vaccine* 30, 4341-4348.
- Omura, M., Kobayashi, S., Mizukami, Y., Mogami, K., Todoroki-Ikeda, N., Miyake, T., et al. (2001). Eicosapentaenoic acid (EPA) induces Ca(2+)independent activation and translocation of endothelial nitric oxide synthase and endothelium-dependent vasorelaxation. *FEBS Lett.* 487, 361–366. doi: 10.1016/S0014-5793(00)02351-6
- Ortega-Berlanga, B., Bañuelos-Hernández, B., and Rosales-Mendoza, S. (2018). Efficient expression of an Alzheimer's disease vaccine candidate in the microalga *Schizochytrium* sp. using the Algevir system. *Mol. Biotechnol.* 60, 362–368. doi: 10.1007/s12033-018-0077-4
- Park, H., Kwak, M., Seo, J., Ju, J., Heo, S., Park, S., et al. (2018). Enhanced production of carotenoids using a Thraustochytrid microalgal strain containing high levels of docosahexaenoic acid-rich oil. *Bioprocess Biosyst. Eng.* 41, 1355–1370. doi: 10.1007/s00449-018-1963-7
- Park, J. H., Upadhaya, S. D., and Kim, I. H. (2015). Effect of dietary marine microalgae (*Schizochytrium* sp.) powder on egg production, blood lipid profiles, egg quality, and fatty acid composition of egg yolk in layers. *Asian-Australas J. Anim. Sci.* 28, 391–397. doi: 10.5713/ajas.14.0463
- Park, J. S., Mathison, B. D., Hayek, M. G., Massimino, S., Reinhart, G. A., and Chew, B. P. (2011). Astaxanthin stimulates cell-mediated and humoral immune responses in cats. *Vet. Immunol. Immunopathol.* 144, 455–461. doi: 10.1016/j.vetimm.2011.08.019
- Petrovsky, N., and Aguilar, J. C. (2004). Vaccine adjuvants: current state and future trends. *Immunol. Cell Biol.* 82, 488–496. doi: 10.1111/j.0818-9641.2004.01272.x
- Petrovsky, N., and Cooper, P. D. (2011). Carbohydrate-based immune adjuvants. *Expert. Rev. Vaccines* 10, 523–537. doi: 10.1586/ erv.11.30
- Pi, C. C., Chu, C. L., Lu, C. Y., Zhuang, Y. J., Wang, C. L., Yu, Y. H., et al. (2014). Polysaccharides from Ganodermaformosanum function as a Th1 adjuvant and stimulate cytotoxic T cell response *in vivo*. *Vaccine* 32, 401–408. doi: 10.1016/j.vaccine.2013.11.027

- Qu, L., Ren, L. J., Li, J., Sun, G. N., Sun, L. N., Ji, X. J., et al. (2013). Biomass composition, lipid characterization, and metabolic profile analysis of the fedbatch fermentation process of two different docosahexanoic acid producing *Schizochytrium sp.* strains. *Appl. Microbiol. Biotechnol.* 171, 1865–1876. doi: 10.1007/s12010-013-0456-z
- Ramakers, J. D., Plat, J., Sébédio, J. L., and Mensink, R. P. (2005). Effects of the individual isomers cis-9,trans-11 vs. trans-10,cis-12 of conjugated linoleic acid (CLA) on inflammation parameters in moderately overweight subjects with LDL-phenotype B. *Lipids* 40, 909–918. doi: 10.1007/s11745-005-1451-8
- Ramon, S., Baker, S. F., Sahler, J. M., Kim, N., Feldsott, E. A., Serhan, C. N., et al. (2014). The specialized proresolving mediator 17-HDHA enhances the antibody-mediated immune response against influenza virus: a new class of adjuvant? J. Immunol. 193, 6031–6040. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.1302795
- Ramos-Martinez, E. M., Fimognari, L., and Sakuragi, Y. (2017). High-yield secretion of recombinant proteins from the microalga *Chlamydomonas reinhardtii*. *Plant Biotech. J.* 15, 1214–1224. doi: 10.1111/pbi.12710
- Ranasinghe, C. (2014). New advances in mucosal vaccination. *Immunol. Lett.* 161, 204–206. doi: 10.1016/j.imlet.2014.01.006
- Raposo, M. F., and De Morais, A. M. (2015). Microalgae for the prevention of cardiovascular disease and stroke. *Life Sci.* 125, 32–41. doi: 10.1016/j.lfs.2014.09.018
- Rasala, B. A., and Mayfield, S. P. (2015). Photosynthetic biomanufacturingin green algae; production of recombinant proteins for industrial, nutritional, and medical uses. *Photosynth.* 123, 227–239. doi: 10.1007/s11120-014-9994-7
- Reddy, L. H., and Couvreur, P. (2009). Squalene: a natural triterpene for use in disease management and therapy. Adv. Drug Deliv. Rev. 61, 1412–1426. doi: 10.1016/j.addr.2009.09.005
- Reed, S. G., Orr, M. T., and Fox, C. B. (2013). Key roles of adjuvants in modern vaccines. *Nat. Med.* 19, 1597–1608. doi: 10.1038/nm.3409
- Ren, L. J., Ji, X. J., Huang, H., Qu, L., Feng, Y., Tong, Q. Q., et al. (2010). Development of a stepwise aeration control strategy for efficient docosahexaenoic acid production by *Schizochytrium sp. Appl. Microbiol. Biotechnol.* 87, 1649–1656. doi: 10.1007/s00253-010-2639-7
- Richard, C., Lewis, E. D., Goruk, S., and Field, C. J. (2015). The content of docosahexaenoic acid in the maternal diet differentially affects the immune response in lactating dams and suckled offspring. *Eur. J. Nutr.* 55, 2255–2264. doi: 10.1007/s00394-015-1035-6
- Roberts, K. (1974). Crystalline glycoprotein cell walls of algae: their structure, composition and assembly. *Philos. Trans. R. Soc. Lond. B.* 268, 129–146. doi: 10.1098/rstb.1974.0021
- Rosales-Mendoza, S., and Salazar-González, J. A. (2014). Immunological aspects of using plant cells as delivery vehicles for oral vaccines. *Expert Rev. Vaccines* 13, 737–749. doi: 10.1586/14760584.2014.913483
- Rueda, F., Eich, C., Cordobilla, B., Domingo, P., and Acosta, G., Albericio, F., et al. (2017). Effect of TLR ligands co-encapsulated with multiepitopic antigen in nanoliposomes targeted to human DCs via Fc receptor for cancer vaccines. *Immunobiology* 222, 989–997. doi: 10.1016/j.imbio.2017.06.002
- Saade, F., Okubo, Y. H., Trec, S., and Petrovsky, N. (2013). A novel hepatitis B vaccine containing AdvaxTM, a polysaccharide adjuvant derived from delta inulin, induces robust humoral and cellular immunity with minimal reactogenicity in preclinical testing. *Vaccine* 31, 1999–2007. doi: 10.1016/j.vaccine.2012.12.077
- Sakaguchi, K., Matsuda, T., Kobayashi, T., Ohara, J. I., Hamaguchi, R., Abe, E., et al. (2012). Versatile transformation system that is applicable to both multiple transgene expression and gene targeting for Thraustochytrids. *Appl. Environ. Microbiol.* 78, 3193–3202. doi: 10.1128/AEM.07129-11
- Savelkoul, H. F., Ferro, V. A., Strioga, M. M., and Schijns, V. E. (2015). Choice and design of adjuvants for parenteral and mucosal vaccines. *Vaccine* 3, 148–171. doi: 10.3390/vaccines3010148
- Schaeffler, A., Gross, P., Buettner, R., Bollheimer, C., Buechler, C., Neumeier, M., et al. (2009). Fatty acid-induced induction of Toll-like receptor-4/nuclear factor-kappaB pathway in adipocytes links nutritional signalling with innate immunity. *Immunology* 126, 233–245. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2567.2008.02 892.x
- Scherliess, R. (2011). Delivery of antigens used for vaccination: recent advances and challenges. *Ther. Deliv.* 2, 1351–1368. doi: 10.4155/tde.11.80

- Shinchi, H., Crain, B., Yao, S., Chan, M., Zhang, S. S., Ahmadiiveli, A.,et al. (2015). Enhancement of the immunostimulatory activity of a TLR7 ligand by conjugation to polysaccharides. *Bioconjug. Chem.* 26, 1713–1723. doi: 10.1021/acs.bioconjchem.5b00285
- Sinyakov, M. S., Dror, M., Lublin-Tennenbaum, T., Salzberg, S., Margel, S., and Avtalion, R. R. (2006). Nano- and microparticles as adjuvants in vaccine design: success and failure is related to host natural antibodies. *Vaccine* 24, 6534–6541. doi: 10.1016/j.vaccine.2006.06.021
- Siriwardhana, N., Kalupahana, N. S., Fletcher, S., Xin, W., Claycombe, K. J., Quignard-Boulange, A., et al. (2012). n-3 and n-6 polyunsaturated fatty acids differentially regulate adipose angiotensinogen and other inflammatory adipokines in part via NF-κB-dependent mechanisms. J. Nutr. Biochem. 23, 1661–1667. doi: 10.1016/j.jnutbio.2011.11.009
- Specht, E. A., and Mayfield, S. P. (2014). Algae-based oral recombinant vaccines. Front. Microbiol. 5:60. doi: 10.3389/fmicb.2014.00060
- Stoger, E., Ma, J. K., Fischer, R., and Christou, P. (2005). Sowing the seeds of success: pharmaceutical proteins from plants. *Curr. Opin. Biotechnol.* 16, 167–173. doi: 10.1016/j.copbio.2005.01.005
- Sudha, P. N., Aisverya, S., Nithya, R., and Vijayalakshmi, K. (2014). Industrial applications of marine carbohydrates. Adv. Food Nutr. Res.73, 145–181. doi: 10.1016/B978-0-12-800268-1.00008-1
- Swiatkiewicz, S., Arczewska-Wlosek, A., and Jozefiak, D. (2015). The relationship between dietary fat sources and immune response in poultry and pigs: an updated review. *Livest. Sci.* 180, 237–246. doi: 10.1016/j.livsci.2015.07.017
- Talbot, N. A., Wheeler-Jones, C. P., and Cleasby, M. E. (2014). Palmitoleic acid prevents palmitic acid-induced macrophage activation and consequent p38 MAPK-mediated skeletal muscle insulin resistance. *Mol. Cel. Endocrinol.* 393, 129–142. doi: 10.1016/j.mce.2014.06.010
- Tan, T. G., Mui, E., Cong, H., Witola, W. H., Montpetit, A., and Muench, S. P. (2010). Identification of *T. gondii* epitopes, adjuvants, and host genetic factors that influence protection of mice and humans. *Vaccine* 28, 3977–3989. doi: 10.1016/j.vaccine.2010.03.028
- Taparia, T., MVSS, M., Mehrotra, R., Shukla, P., and Mehrotra, S. (2016). Developments and challenges in biodiesel production from microalgae: a review. *Biotechnol. Appl. Biochem.* 63, 715–726. doi: 10.1002/bab.1412
- Teague, H., Rockett, B. D., Harris, M., Brown, D. A., and Shaikh, S. R. (2013). Dendritic cell activation, phagocytosis and CD69 expression on cognate T cells are suppressed by n-3 long-chain polyunsaturated fatty acids. *Immunology* 139, 386–394. doi: 10.1111/imm.12088
- Tian, H., Liu, C., Zou, X., Wu, W., Zhang, C., and Yuan, D. (2015). MiRNA-194 Regulates palmitic acid-induced toll-like receptor 4 inflammatory responses in THP-1. *Nutrients* 7, 3483–3496. doi: 10.3390/nu7053483
- Tilvis, R. S., and Miettinen, T. A. (1983). Absorption and metabolic fate of dietary 3H-squalene in the rat. *Lipids* 18, 233–238. doi: 10.1007/BF025 34554
- Trovato, M., and Berardinis, P. D. (2015). Novel antigen delivery systems. *World J. Virol.* 4, 156–168. doi: 10.5501/wjv.v4.i3.156
- Truong-Le, V., Lovalenti, P. M., and Abdul-Fattah, A. M. (2015). Stabilization challenges and formulation strategies associated with oral biologic drug delivery systems. *Adv. Drug Deliv. Rev.* 93, 95–108. doi: 10.1016/j.addr.2015.08.001
- Tsunoda, F., Lamon-Fava, S., Asztalos, B. F., Iyer, L. K., Richardson, K., and Schaefer, E. J. (2015). Effects of oral eicosapentaenoic acid versus docosahexaenoic acid on human peripheral bloodmononuclear cell gene expression. *Atherosclerosis* 241, 400–408. doi: 10.1016/j.atherosclerosis.2015.05.015
- van Beelen, V. A., Roeleveld, J., Mooibroek, H., Sijtsma, L., Bino, R. J., Bosch, D., et al. (2007). A comparative study on the effect of algal and fish oil on viability and cell proliferation of Caco-2 cells. *Food Chem. Toxicol.* 45, 716–724. doi: 10.1016/j.fct.2006.10.017
- Verlengia, R., Gorjão, R., Kanunfre, C. C., Bordin, S., de Lima, T. M., Martins, E. F., et al. (2004). Effects of EPA and DHA on proliferation, cytokine production, and gene expression in Raji cells. *Lipids* 39, 857–864. doi: 10.1007/s11745-004-1307-2
- Vinay, T. N., Park, C. S., Kim, H. Y., and Jung, S. J. (2013). Toxicity and dose determination of quillaja saponin, aluminum hydroxide and squalene in oliveflounder (*Paralichthys olivaceus*). *Vet. Immunol. Immunopathol.* 158, 73–85. doi: 10.1016/j.vetimm.2013.03.007

- Weatherill, A. R., Lee, J. Y., Zhao, L., Lemay, D. G., Youn, H. S., and Hwang, D. H. (2005). Saturated and polyunsaturated fatty acids reciprocally modulate dendritic cell functions mediated through TLR4. *J. Immunol.* 174, 5390–5397. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.174.9.5390
- Weldon, S. M., Mullen, A. C., Loscher, C. E., Hurley, L. A., and Roche, H. M. (2007). Docosahexaenoic acid induces an anti-inflammatory profile in lipopolysaccharide-stimulated human THP-1 macrophages more effectively than eicosapentaenoic acid. J. Nutr. Biochem. 18, 250–258. doi: 10.1016/j.jnutbio.2006.04.003
- Wen, Y. M., Mu, L., and Shi, Y. (2016). Immunoregulatory functions of immune complexes in vaccine and therapy. *EMBO Mol. Med.* 8, 1120–1133. doi: 10.15252/emmm.201606593
- Whelan, J., Gowdy, K. M., and Shaikh, S. R. (2016). N-3 polyunsaturated fatty acids modulate B cell activity in pre-clinical models: implications for the immune response to infections. *Eur. J. Pharmacol.* 785, 10–17. doi: 10.1016/j.ejphar.2015.03.100
- Wildt, S., and Gerngross, T. U. (2005). The humanization of N-glycosylation pathways in yeast. Nat Rev Microbiol. 3, 119–128. doi: 10.1038/nrmicro1087
- Wilkhu, J., McNeil, S. E., Kirby, D. J., and Perrie, Y. (2011). Formulation design considerations for oral vaccines. *Ther. Deliv.* 2, 1141–1164. doi: 10.4155/tde.11.82
- Xue, H., Wan, M., Song, D., Li, Y., and Li, J. (2006). Eicosapentaenoic acid and docosahexaenoic acid modulate mitogen-activated protein kinase activity in endothelium. *Vascul. Pharmacol.* 44, 434–439. doi: 10.1016/j.vph.2006.02.005
- Yan, J., Cheng, R., Lin, X., You, S., Li, K., Rong, H., et al. (2013). Overexpression of acetyl-CoA synthetase increased the biomass and fatty acid proportion in microalga *Schizochytrium sp. Appl. Microbiol. Biotechnol.* 97, 1933–1939. doi: 10.1007/s00253-012-4481-6
- Yang, L., and Zhang, L. M. (2009). Chemical structural and chain conformational characterization of some bioactive polysaccharides isolated from natural sources. *Carbohyd. Polym.* 76, 349–361. doi: 10.1016/j.carbpol.2008. 12.015
- Yao, L., Gerde, J. A., Lee, S. L., Wang, T., and Harrata, K. A. (2015). Microalgae lipid characterization. J. Agri. Food Chem. 63, 1773–1787. doi: 10.1021/jf50 50603
- Yokochi, T., Honda, D., Higashihara, T., and Nakahara, T. (1998). Optimization of docosahexaenoic acid production by *Schizochytrium limacinum* SR21. *Appl. Microbiol. Biotechnol.* 49, 72–76. doi: 10.1007/s0025300 51139
- Yokoyama, R., and Honda, D. (2007). Taxonomic rearrangement of the genus *Schizochytrium* sensulato based on morphology, chemotaxonomic characteristics, and 18S rRNA gene phylogeny (*Thraustochytriaceae*, *Labyrinthulomycetes*): emendation for *Schizochytrium* and erection of Aurantiochytrium and Oblongichytrium. *Gen. Nov. Mycoscience* 48, 199–211. doi: 10.1007/S10267-006-0362-0
- Yue, C. J., and Jiang, Y. (2009). Impact of methyl jasmonate on squalene biosynthesis in microalga *Schizochytrium mangrovei*. Process Biochem. 44, 923–927. doi: 10.1016/j.procbio.2009.03.016
- Yuki, Y., and Kiyono, H. (2009). Mucosal vaccines: novel advances in technology and delivery. *Expert Rev. Vaccines* 8, 1083–1097. doi: 10.1586/ erv.09.61
- Zhou, B. R., Zhang, J. A., Zhang, Q., Permatasari, F., Xu, Y., Wu, D., et al. (2013). Palmitic acid induces production of proinflammatory cytokines interleukin-6, interleukin-1 β , and tumor necrosis factor- α via a NF- κ B-dependent mechanism in HaCaT keratinocytes. *Mediators Inflamm.* 46, 823–830.

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2018 Ramos-Vega, Rosales-Mendoza, Bañuelos-Hernández and Angulo. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Microbial Delivery Vehicles for Allergens and Allergen-Derived Peptides in Immunotherapy of Allergic Diseases

Abida Zahirović and Mojca Lunder*

Faculty of Pharmacy, University of Ljubljana, Ljubljana, Slovenia

Allergen-specific immunotherapy represents the only available curative approach to allergic diseases. The treatment has proven effective, but it requires repetitive administrations of allergen extracts over 3-5 years and is often associated with adverse events. This implies the need for novel therapeutic strategies with reduced side effects and decreased treatment time, which would improve patients' compliance. Development of vaccines that are molecularly well defined and have improved safety profile in comparison to whole allergen extracts represents a promising approach. Molecular allergy vaccines are based on major allergen proteins or allergen-derived peptides. Often, such vaccines are associated with lower immunogenicity and stability and therefore require an appropriate delivery vehicle. In this respect, viruses, bacteria, and their protein components have been intensively studied for their adjuvant capacity. This article provides an overview of the microbial delivery vehicles that have been tested for use in allergy immunotherapy. We review in vitro and in vivo data on the immunomodulatory capacity of different microbial vehicles for allergens and allergenderived peptides and evaluate their potential in development of allergy vaccines. We also discuss relevant aspects and challenges concerning the use of microbes and their components in immunotherapy of allergic diseases.

Keywords: allergy immunotherapy, bacteriophage, delivery vehicle, lactic acid bacteria, S-layers, virus-like particle, viral surface protein

INTRODUCTION

Allergen-specific immunotherapy is based on the repeated administration of increasing doses of allergen extracts over 3–5 years (Akdis and Akdis, 2014). Although this conventional immunotherapy regimen has proven effective, several important weaknesses such as the high percentage of undesired IgE-mediated adverse effects and long treatment duration are forcing the development of novel immunotherapeutic approaches and preparations (Larsen et al., 2016). One possible approach relies on design of molecular allergy vaccines which include individual allergen proteins (recombinant allergens), allergen-derived peptides carrying relevant epitopes

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

George Grant, University of Aberdeen, United Kingdom

Reviewed by:

Ed C. Lavelle, Trinity College, Dublin, Ireland Rajna Minic, Institute of Virology, Vaccines and Sera "Torlak", Serbia

> ***Correspondence:** Mojca Lunder mojca.lunder@ffa.uni-lj.si

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Infectious Diseases, a section of the journal Frontiers in Microbiology

Received: 18 April 2018 **Accepted:** 11 June 2018 **Published:** 02 July 2018

Citation:

Zahirović A and Lunder M (2018) Microbial Delivery Vehicles for Allergens and Allergen-Derived Peptides in Immunotherapy of Allergic Diseases. Front. Microbiol. 9:1449. doi: 10.3389/fmicb.2018.01449

Abbreviations: AAVLP, adeno-associated virus-like particles; BLPs, bacteria-like particles; CpG, cytosine-phosphateguanine deoxynucleotides; GRAS, generally regarded as safe; IFN, interferon; Ig, immunoglobulin; IL, interleukin; LAB, lactic acid bacteria; LL-OVA, OVA-secreting *L. lactis*; OVA, ovalbumin; PBMC, peripheral blood mononuclear cell; Q β -VLPs, bacteriophage Q β derived VLPs; T_H1, type 1 helper cells; VLP, virus-like particle.

or epitope-mimicking peptides (mimotopes) (Szalai et al., 2008; Marth et al., 2014; Tscheppe and Breiteneder, 2017; Valenta et al., 2017). Allergen-derived peptides are designed to contain antigenic determinants of major allergens (epitopes) that are capable of activating the appropriate cellular and humoral responses while avoiding possible allergenic and/or reactogenic responses induced by whole allergens and allergen extracts. T cell epitope peptides are longer synthetic peptide sequences derived from primary allergen structure (Moldaver and Larché, 2011). B cell epitope peptides and mimotopes are short peptides that include or mimic three-dimensional IgE binding sites of allergens, respectively.

Recombinant allergens and particularly allergen-derived peptides are generally inadequately immunogenic and their immunogenicity is usually enhanced with application of an adjuvant (Siskind et al., 1966; Valenta et al., 1999). However, traditional agents and preparations with adjuvant properties are badly tolerated, and only a couple of them are appropriate for human use (Petrovsky, 2015). Aluminum hydroxide is the most widely used adjuvant in allergy immunotherapy with excellent safety record but has some limitations, particularly with regard to its profound T_H2-biasing effects (Hogenesch, 2012). Therefore, current research aims to develop new, potent and effective delivery vehicles for allergens or allergen-derived peptides that are able to induce tolerance and analogous to CpG motifs exhibit T_H1-immunostimulating properties (Johansen et al., 2005). An ideal delivery vehicle should possess the following characteristics: (1) provide targeted delivery and efficient presentation of vaccine components to the specific immune cells in a manner that would induce appropriate immune response (Moingeon et al., 2002; Souza et al., 2005); (2) exhibit low intrinsic immunogenicity to allow readministration in order to boost relevant specific immune response (Chesné et al., 2016); (3) sustain the vaccine release over an extended period of time; (4) protect vaccine components from degradation; and (5) allow large-scale production at low cost (Souza et al., 2005; Jafari and Abediankenari, 2016).

Over the recent years, viruses and bacteria have been intensively studied for their potential as delivery vehicles in allergy vaccines. Here, we discuss different aspects of microbial delivery vehicles of allergens and allergen-derived peptides employed in allergy immunotherapy in the attempt to develop formulations with improved immunogenicity and stability as well as the ability to target specific cells.

WHOLE VIRAL AND BACTERIOPHAGE PARTICLES AS DELIVERY VEHICLES

Despite their inherent ability to induce humoral and cellular immune responses, a major obstacle in using eukaryotic viruses as delivery vehicles in humans is their potential pathogenicity and oncogenic integration into the genome of the host cells (Souza et al., 2005; Bakhshinejad and Sadeghizadeh, 2014; Jafari and Abediankenari, 2016). The presence of pre-existing immunity to the viral vector, which causes fast viral clearance from the body and thereby reduces the dose of the vectored antigen even before



it is able to elicit an immune response, is another limitation to their general use (Souza et al., 2005; Saxena et al., 2013). These disadvantages have stimulated the search for novel more adequate vaccine delivery vehicles among non-eukaryotic viruses. **Figure 1** shows a schematic representation of different types of viral delivery vehicles that have been tested for use in allergy immunotherapy.

Bacteriophages (or phages for short) are viruses that infect bacteria. They are composed of DNA or RNA genome encapsulated inside a protein shield called capsid. In contrast to eukaryotic viruses, phages propagate in a prokaryotic host, and therefore appear as an attractive alternative for use in humans (Bakhshinejad and Sadeghizadeh, 2014; Jafari and Abediankenari, 2016). They act as inert particulate antigens, which are taken up and processed by antigen-presenting cells, and thus induce specific immune response by targeting delivery to these cells (Gao et al., 2010). The studies demonstrated that phages can induce both humoral and cellular immune responses without the use of an adjuvant (Adhya et al., 2014; Clark and March, 2014; Jafari and Abediankenari, 2016). Protection of the displayed peptides from a variety of harsh environmental conditions by phage particle provides extended degradation time and makes phages appropriate vectors for oral and mucosal applications (Delmastro et al., 1997; Jensen-Jarolim et al., 1998; Jepson and March, 2004). Combination of the feasibility of largescale, cost-effective production and ease of modification makes them appealing for the industrial development of phage-based vaccines.

Phage-based vaccines are usually developed by recombinant fusion of the antigen to one of the virion surface proteins, of which the pIII and pVIII of M13 phage are used most frequently

(Figure 1A). Such phage virions have the antigenic sequence included in their genome, which allows steady production of the vaccine construct through bacterial amplification (Aghebati-Maleki et al., 2016). Alternatively, the antigenic sequence may be conjugated to the phage surface via artificial linkers (van Houten et al., 2010). This allows a broader range of antigens to be displayed. However, the vaccine construct must be prepared by synthesis for each batch. The intensity of immune response depends on characteristics of the displayed peptide and the method of its display. For example, pIII fusions usually exhibit lower immunogenicity than pVIII fusions (Jensen-Jarolim et al., 1998; Scholl et al., 2002). The reason for this probably lies in the copy number difference. There are 2,700 copies of the major coat protein (pVIII) and only five copies of the minor coat protein (pIII) present on the surface of M13 filamentous phage (Figure 1A). Namely, an antigen displayed in high copy on the surface of an individual phage virion is more effective in eliciting an immune response than the same antigen displayed in low copy number (Rakonjac et al., 2011). In general, phages possess comparable immunogenicity to that of the traditional carrier proteins such as bovine serum albumin or keyhole limpet hemocyanin and essentially have a small number of their own B cell epitopes to deflect antibody response away from the molecule they display (Luzar et al., 2016b). Indeed, it has been shown that filamentous phage carriers elicit antibody response that is more focused against displayed peptides compared to the traditional carrier protein OVA (van Houten et al., 2006). Although still in early stages of development, phagebased vaccines have been used to induce protection against infectious diseases and cancers in preclinical studies and have also been tested in phase I/II clinical studies (Roehnisch et al., 2014). Both icosahedral phages (such as lambda, T7, T4) and filamentous phages (such as fd, F1, M13) have been used for production of these vaccines (Jafari and Abediankenari, 2016).

In allergy immunotherapy, filamentous phage M13 has been most commonly employed for delivery of allergen-derived peptides (Chen and Dreskin, 2017). In the study performed by Luzar et al. (2016a), the filamentous phage particles displaying mimotopes of major cat allergen Fel d 1 (approximately 150 copies fused to major coat protein pVIII) were constructed and evaluated for their potential as vehicles for a cat allergy vaccine. Even though the mimotopes recognized IgE from sera of catallergic patients they did not activate the basophils of these patients. The phage carrier on the other hand caused non-specific stimulation of basophils probably triggering receptors of innate immunity such as Toll-like receptors, which are known to be present on basophil surface (Suurmond et al., 2014). Importantly, phage-displayed mimotopes were able to induce preferentially $T_{\rm H}$ 1 directed response (increased IFN- γ production) in cultures of PBMCs from allergic patients.

The ability of phage-displayed mimotopes to induce antibodies specific for the whole allergen has been demonstrated in animal studies. In a mouse model, intragastric as well as intranasal administration of phages displaying mimotopes of major birch pollen allergen Bet v 1 (approximately 2,700 copies fused to major coat protein pVIII) induced Bet v 1-specific IgG response (Jensen-Jarolim et al., 1998; Scholl et al., 2002). Unfortunately, this IgG failed to induce immune tolerance to Bet v 1 in skin reactivity test emphasizing the importance of peptides' ability to adequately mimic the IgE epitopes on allergen (Knittelfelder et al., 2009). Since epitope specificity of an induced IgG antibody can be decisive for the success of therapy, particular attention must be paid to this issue during the development of peptide-based vaccines.

The studies suggest a possible future for filamentous phages as delivery vehicles in the therapy of allergic reactions. Nevertheless, several important drawbacks currently limit their application in clinical practice. Although the phage therapy has proven safe in healthy human volunteers (Bruttin and Brussow, 2005), some phages have the potential to release endotoxin from lysed Gram-negative bacteria (Young, 1992). This concern can be avoided with the application of non-lytic filamentous phages (e.g., M13 phage). However, when administered via oral route, these phages may transfer virulence factors or genes that confer antibiotic resistance to F-pili positive intestinal microbiota and thereby generate new unwanted traits (Bazan et al., 2012; Colavecchio et al., 2017). Additionally, longterm treatments with phages or phage exposure itself can induce an antibody response against phages, which can decrease their titer and reduce the effectiveness of therapy (Clark and March, 2014). Therefore, substantial evidence acquired in clinical trials, particularly regarding phage safety and effectiveness in subjects, who are positive for anti-phage antibodies, is still missing.

SELF-ASSEMBLING VIRUS-LIKE PARTICLES AS DELIVERY VEHICLES

Virus-like particles are composed of one or several viral structural proteins that have the ability to self-assemble during recombinant expression (Fuenmayor et al., 2017). They resemble and mimic the structure of actual viruses (Zeltins, 2013). A key advantage of VLPs is the lack of viral genomic material, which enhances safety during both manufacture and administration (Klimek et al., 2014). VLPs are composed of many subunits of one or more viral capsid proteins, which can be modified to display short peptide sequences in high-density at their surface either by genetic engineering or by chemical coupling, as schematically represented in Figure 1B (Brown et al., 2009; Schmitz et al., 2009). The findings in mouse models showed that an antigen presented to the immune cells in a highly ordered repetitive fashion is capable of eliciting strong antibody response even in the absence of adjuvant, while the same antigen presented as a monomer appears to be nonimmunogenic (Feldmann and Easten, 1971; Marth et al., 2013). Examples of such natural repetitive immunogenic structures are surfaces of viruses and bacteria. There is also epidemiologic evidence that the repetitiveness of antigen correlates with its immunogenicity for B cells in human subjects (Jegerlehner et al., 2002a). This was essentially the rationale for the use of VLPs as carriers of allergens and allergen-derived peptides.

First, Jegerlehner et al. (2002b) showed that the antigens displayed on VLPs derived from the 180 coat protein subunits of the bacteriophage Q β (Q β -VLPs) are highly immunogenic in mice. A strong IgG2-dominated antibody response was induced by Q β -VLPs because of the presence of bacterial host RNA, which is a ligand of Toll-like receptors. It was encapsulated into the VLPs during self-assembly process (Forsbach et al., 2007). Similarly, Q β -VLPs have been shown to greatly enhance the immunogenicity of major cat allergen Fel d 1 chemically coupled to their surface (Schmitz et al., 2009).

In the first human use of VLP-based vaccines, Kündig et al. (2006) generated a construct composed of a peptide sequence from major house dust mite allergen Der p 1 chemically coupled to bacteriophage QB coat protein and evaluated its safety and immunogenicity in phase I clinical trial. Twentyfour healthy volunteers were vaccinated by two different routes (subcutaneous and intramuscular) with two different doses (10 μ g and 50 μ g of total protein) without the use of an adjuvant. The treatment was well tolerated. All immunized subjects developed a significant antibody response to both Der p 1 and bacteriophage QB coat protein, even after single injection demonstrating that allergen coupled to highly repetitive VLPs is an efficient approach for rapid induction of high titers of antibodies in human subjects (Kündig et al., 2006). The response depended on the administered dose, while the immunization route had only small influence. These findings were extended in phase I/IIa clinical trial, in which Senti et al. (2009) investigated the safety, tolerability and clinical effectiveness of treatment composed of house dust mite extract and deoxynucleotides with CpG motifs packaged into Q\beta-VLPs. CpG motifs are known ligands of Toll-like receptor 9 with T_H1-immunostimulating properties (Johansen et al., 2005). Twenty-one dust mite allergic patients were enrolled in an open monocentric study. The results showed high level of safety and good tolerability. The treatment led to increased allergen-specific IgG and reduced skin reactivity to house dust mite extract. Almost complete tolerance to the allergen in conjunctival provocation testing and a significant reduction of rhinitis and allergic asthma symptoms were observed. After 10 weeks of treatment, patients were almost without symptoms. This alleviation lasted for at least 38 weeks after the treatment (Senti et al., 2009).

Virus-like particles obtained from adeno-associated viruses (AAVLPs) are composed of 60 copies of the VP3 capsid protein, which can be genetically modified to display short peptide sequences. Manzano-Szalai et al. (2014) assessed on a mouse model the immunogenicity and safety of such AAVLPs displaying a B-cell epitope peptide of food allergen OVA. The results showed that the titers of IgG1 specific for OVA in mice immunized with AAVLP-OVA were comparable to those induced by native OVA. However, native OVA elicited high levels of IgE, whereas OVA displayed on AAVLPs produced background IgE values only. Accordingly, OVA-immunized mice, but not mice immunized AAVLP-OVA, developed an anaphylactic reaction upon intravenous allergen challenge, which manifested as a significant drop in body temperature (Manzano-Szalai et al., 2014).

VIRAL AND PHAGE SURFACE PROTEINS AS DELIVERY VEHICLES

Different viral and phage surface proteins have also been tested for delivery of allergen-derived peptides (**Figure 1C**). In a number of preclinical studies, they showed excellent immunomodulatory capacity (Focke et al., 2001, 2010; Niespodziana et al., 2011; Valenta et al., 2016) and proved to be suitable for clinical trials (Zieglmayer et al., 2016).

VP1 Surface Protein From Human Rhinovirus

A study by Edlmayr et al. (2009) reported the construction of a recombinant vaccine for grass pollen allergy using surface protein VP1 from rhinovirus, which plays a major role in viral infection of respiratory cells. Recombinant fusion proteins composed of VP1 and a B cell epitope peptide derived from the major grass pollen allergen Phl p 1 were not recognized by patients' IgE and showed no allergenic activity in basophil activation test. Immunization of mice and rabbits with the fusion proteins resulted in the production of IgG that cross-reacted with group 1 grass pollen allergens. The induced antibodies were able to block recognition of native Phl p 1 by patients' IgE and Phl p 1-induced activation of basophils.

Hemagglutinin A Surface Protein From Influenza A Virus

Hemagglutinin A is a dominant glycoprotein on the envelope of influenza virus and a key antigen in the host response to virus infection. In a study conducted by Mrkić et al. (2016), the immunomodulatory potential of recombinant chimeric protein composed of the major allergen of house dust mite, Der p 2, and hemagglutinin A was tested in a mouse model. Intranasal pretreatment of mice with Der p 2/hemagglutinin A fusion, prior to sensitization with the allergen, significantly decreased IgE levels and markedly increased allergen-specific IgG and IgA levels in sera. Moreover, enhanced proliferation of CD4+CD25+ regulatory T cells was detected in mouse spleens after pretreatment with fusion molecule but not with the native allergen. This indicates that the carrier beneficially affects the immunomodulating properties of the vaccine.

PreS Surface Protein From Hepatitis B Virus

The PreS domain is a part of a large surface protein, which forms the hepatitis B virus envelope along with middle and small surface proteins. It showed good immunogenicity and safety during clinical use as a hepatitis B vaccine (Ilaria et al., 2016). Recently, several recombinant fusion proteins composed of PreS and B cell epitopes derived from allergens Fel d 1 (Niespodziana et al., 2011), Der p 23 (Banerjee et al., 2014), and Bet v 1 (Marth et al., 2013) have been constructed as vaccine candidates. The recombinant fusion proteins showed no relevant IgE reactivity and strongly reduced allergenic activity. Immunization of animals resulted in the production of allergenspecific IgG that inhibited the binding of allergic patients' IgE to the native allergen as well as allergen-induced activation of basophils to a similar extent or better as did IgG elicited by vaccination with native allergen (Marth et al., 2013). This indicated that some of these fusion proteins have the ability to focus IgG response against the major IgE-reactive sites on allergen better than the allergen itself. In PBMCs from allergic patients, lower T cell proliferation and lower levels of $T_{\rm H2}$ cytokine IL-5 were observed compared to the effect of native allergens. This was additionally associated with the secretion of the higher levels of the tolerogenic cytokine IL-10 and the $T_{\rm H1}$ -specific cytokine IFN- γ (Banerjee et al., 2014).

In the study conducted by Focke-Tejkl et al. (2015), four fusion proteins composed of B-cell epitope peptides from the major timothy grass pollen allergens (Phl p 1, Phl p 2, Phl p 5, and Phl p 6) and the PreS were generated and evaluated as components of the vaccine termed BM32. The BM32 vaccine, whose allergenic activity was almost completely eliminated, showed significantly reduced T-cell proliferation and decrease in production of proinflammatory cytokines in patients' PBMCs compared to grass pollen allergens. The vaccine was capable of inducing specific IgG antibodies directed toward native allergens in mice. Moreover, induced IgG were able to inhibit the binding of patients' IgE to all four major grass pollen allergens as well as inhibit the activation of basophils by the allergens. BM32 is at present farther advanced B-cell epitope-based vaccine. In the most recent multicentered double-blind, placebo-controlled phase 2b clinical trial, BM32 was well tolerated and efficiently relieved symptoms of allergic rhinitis in patients (Zieglmayer et al., 2016; Niederberger et al., 2018).

PIII Surface Protein From M13 Phage

Multivalent display of antigenic epitopes provides high immunogenicity to the therapeutic constructs and is desirable in most cases. However, this may present a limitation in the context of mimotope immunotherapy. Since mimotopes imitate the natural IgE epitopes and normally bind IgE, they might cross-link IgE on effector cells if displayed in high density on a carrier. Therefore, the application of monovalent carriers of allergen mimotopes may be more favorable. We tested the minor coat protein pIII from M13 phage as a delivery vehicle for mimotopes of major bee venom allergen Api m 1. PIII-fused mimotopes were recognized specifically by patients' IgEs, thus demonstrating that they imitate the natural IgE epitope; however, they caused no basophil degranulation in corresponding patients. This confirmed the absence of allergenic activity and demonstrated that the mimotopes bound to a monovalent carrier such as the minor coat protein pIII are not able to cross-link IgE on basophils. In addition, pIII-fused mimotopes exhibited immunomodulatory effects by eliciting secretion of T_H1 cytokine IFN-y in PBMCs from bee venom-allergic patients, as opposed to bee venom and Api m 1, indicating a shift from T_H2 toward T_H1 immune response. These results suggest that the minor coat protein pIII might be suitable as a delivery vehicle for mimotopes obtained from phage display libraries. By using single coat proteins the problems associated with the application of whole phages in humans such as their potential to transfer antibiotic resistance to F-pili positive microbiota can also be

avoided. Furthermore, the mimotopes fused to pIII preserve the conformation they had when displayed on phage. Hence, we can circumvent the problems with the loss of mimicry potential which was observed in the case of chemical coupling of mimotopes to certain traditional protein carriers such as keyhole limpet hemocyanin (May et al., 2003).

LIVE BACTERIA AS DELIVERY VEHICLES

Owing to their immunomodulatory properties, a number of probiotic strains have shown beneficial effects in the treatment of allergic diseases (Repa et al., 2003; Karimi et al., 2009; Costa et al., 2014; Ai et al., 2015b; Yepes-Nunez et al., 2016). In light of this, recombinant LAB engineered to produce and/or deliver allergens or allergen-derived peptides to mucosal surfaces to induce tolerance have emerged. Figure 2 shows a schematic representation of different types of bacterial delivery vehicles that have been tested for use in allergy immunotherapy. Allergen vaccination via mucosal route is a desirable alternative to subcutaneous injections. It is not only easier but also increases the effectiveness against allergens that enter the body through mucosal surfaces (Wyszyńska et al., 2015). Some LAB strains have adjuvant properties and can enhance the immune response to the carried antigen (Schabussova and Wiedermann, 2008). They are especially suited for human use because of their "GRAS" status (Berlec et al., 2012; Trombert, 2015). Furthermore, LAB ability to withstand the passage through the gastrointestinal tract makes them an ideal oral delivery vehicle (Hynonen and Palva, 2013). Gut colonization by live strains allows the reduction of the number of vaccine doses required and also simplifies the immunization procedure to a great extent. Recombinant LAB serve as production hosts and as protective coatings at the same time. This can result in lower costs, as there is less need for purification of allergen protein and development of formulation. Additionally, lyophilization of LAB increases their stability at room temperature (Berlec et al., 2012). All of these characteristics, particularly, the immunomodulating and adjuvant effects as well as high safety profile, make LAB an attractive delivery vehicle for the construction of allergy vaccines. Live bacterial vehicles with intracellular, cell wall or membrane based display of antigens are schematically represented in Figure 2A.

Mucosal Delivery of Allergen-Expressing LAB in Food Allergy

In the context of food allergy, oral pretreatment of mice with *L. lactis* strains secreting β -lactoglobulin, the major cow's milk allergen, induced a shift toward T_H1 immune response and reduced the IgE levels. The best results were obtained with the strains that produced the highest amounts of β -lactoglobulin (Adel-Patient et al., 2005). In another study, similar effects on mice were obtained with *Lb. casei* expressing the same allergen (Hazebrouck et al., 2006).

Oral tolerance is an unresponsiveness of gut immune system to innocuous food antigens ingested by oral route. This process is regulated by multiple mechanisms, in which the dose of the antigen has an important role. High doses of antigen induce



deletion or anergy of the T cells recognizing the antigen, whereas low doses induce antigen-specific regulatory T cells, which promote active suppression through secretion of tolerogenic cytokines (such as IL-10 and transforming growth factor β). Induction of regulatory T cells is a major goal for immunotherapy of allergic diseases, and it can be achieved by exposing the mucosal immune system to low doses of antigen (Mowat, 2003). Accordingly, the application of L. lactis secreting egg ovalbumin (LL-OVA) to transgenic mice with expressed OVAspecific T cell receptor on CD4+ T cells caused a reduction in delayed-type hypersensitivity responses to OVA. This reduction was mediated by induction of CD4+CD25+ regulatory T cells that secreted transforming growth factor β . Restimulation of splenocytes and gut-associated lymph node tissue from these mice with OVA caused reduced IFN-y and increased IL-10 production. The effect was achieved with substantially lower doses of OVA (up to 10 µg), secreted in the gut upon repeated oral administration of LL-OVA, compared to that typically used for successful tolerance induction (5 mg). Interestingly, control L. lactis carrying the empty vector also suppressed OVA-specific delayed-type hypersensitivity responses albeit to a lesser extent than LL-OVA. Contrary to the control, induction of regulatory T cells was detected only in mice fed with LL-OVA (Huibregtse et al., 2007). The mechanism by which wild-type L. lactis suppressed OVA-specific delayed-type hypersensitivity response remains to be explored. Whether administration of L. lactis simply mixed with low doses of soluble OVA also induces oral

tolerance is worth exploring as it can overcome the need to use recombinant bacteria.

Mucosal Delivery of Allergen-Expressing LAB in Respiratory Allergies

In studies involving inhalational allergies, oral administration of Lb. plantarum expressing major dust mite allergen Der p 1 and Lb. acidophilus expressing another major dust mite allergen Der p 5 reduced hyperreactivity and inflammation of the airways induced by allergen and decreased the production of specific IgE (Charng et al., 2006; Rigaux et al., 2009). Also, in a murine model of cedar pollinosis Lb. plantarum secreting major Japanese cedar pollen allergen Cry j 1 was able to suppress nasal clinical symptoms and allergen-specific IgE response upon oral administrations (Ohkouchi et al., 2012). Similarly, recombinant L. lactis and Lb. plantarum that produce inhalational allergen Bet v 1 were evaluated for their immunomodulating potential in a murine model of birch pollen allergy. A prophylactic intranasal immunization of mice, caused an increased production of allergen-specific IgA and induced a shift toward T_H1-specific immune response (Daniel et al., 2006). Different routes of application were compared and intranasal application seemed more effective than the intragastric route. Moreover, Lb. plantarum was more effective carrier compared to L. lactis. This was attributed to lower production of Bet v 1 and shorter intestinal transit time of L. lactis
(Daniel et al., 2007). Therefore, the intrinsic immunomodulating capacities of the strain, gut persistence, or both, are important contributing factors. Additionally, cellular location of produced allergen showed influence on the treatment efficacy. The Bet v 1 secreting strain of *Lb. plantarum*, particularly after intranasal pretreatment, led to a stronger reduction of allergen-specific IgE and higher secretion of T_H1-dependent IgG2a compared to the *Lb. plantarum* that produced the allergen intracellularly (Daniel et al., 2007).

Recently, pre-, peri- and/or postnatal periods have been proposed as a critical short-time interval when many factors influence the onset and course of allergic diseases. Several clinical studies have found an association between a reduced number of lactobacilli or bifidobacteria in the early intestinal microbiota of atopic children and the occurrence of allergic diseases later in life (Marschan et al., 2008). Thus, intervening at an early developmental stage seems reasonable targeted preventive strategy to modulate immune responses in a long term. Indeed, this was confirmed in a study conducted by Schwarzer et al. (2011), in which germ-free mice were colonized with the Lb. plantarum producing Bet v 1 and did not develop birch pollen allergy later on. The effect was associated with an increased immunoregulatory responses and a shift to a non-allergic T_H1 phenotype. Notably, in this study the wild-type Lb. plantarum itself had no suppressive effects on the allergic immune response. The effects depended on the expression of the specific allergen.

Besides allergens, allergen-derived T cell epitope peptides displayed on LAB were evaluated for active vaccination and induction of tolerance in allergy. Mucosal immunization of mice with peptide from the house dust mite followed by treatment with recombinant Lb. plantarum expressing an immunodominant T-cell epitope of major dust mite allergen Der p 1 inhibited production of both IFN- γ and IL-5. The effect on IFN- γ was shown to be a non-specific effect of Lb. plantarum, while the effect on IL-5 production was observed only when the Lb. plantarum expressing Der p 1-derived peptide was used for treatment (Kruisselbrink et al., 2001). Similarly, L. lactis was engineered to express peptides containing major T cell epitopes of another major dust mite allergen Der p 2 and their protective effects were evaluated in Der p 2-sensitized BALB/c mice model. Mucosal delivery of these strains reduced specific IgE levels and decreased lung inflammatory responses caused by Der p 2. The study showed an increase of specific IgG2a in serum and a proliferation of regulatory T cells in mesenteric lymph nodes in association with the protective responses (Ai et al., 2015a).

L. lactis produces a cell envelope structural component known as a polysaccharide pellicle, which might restrict accessibility of the heterologous peptide (Chapot-Chartier et al., 2010). This can be circumvented by displaying foreign peptides on the tip of a pilus to expose the peptides at a distance from the cell envelope (see **Figure 2A** for schematic representation) (Quigley et al., 2009). The pilus structure is also highly immunogenic. In the proof-of-principle study, the peptide from the major egg allergen ovomucoid (Ova324–339) was inserted into three different loop regions of the monomeric pilus backbone protein from group A *Streptococcus pyogenes* serotype M1 (PilM1) and expressed in high copy number as a part of pili on the surface of *L. lactis* (LL-PilM1-Ova). Intranasal immunization of mice with LL-PilM1-Ova generated measurable Ova-specific systemic and mucosal responses (IgA and IgG). Notably, Ova-specific IgG or IgA were not detected in serum or mucosal sites when synthetic Ova324–339 was mixed with LL-PilM1. This indicates that the adjuvant property of *L. lactis* alone is not sufficient to induce Ova-specific immunity and suggests that the physical integration of the peptide into the pilus structure is important, probably due to peptide stabilization and prevention of enzymatic degradation (Wagachchi et al., 2018). This method seems to be a promising strategy for display of allergen-derived peptides on the LAB and remains to be compared with other modes of delivery (e.g., intracellular, cell wall anchored).

Taken together, these studies have shown that recombinant LAB pose as efficacious live vehicles that elicit specific and protective immune responses against the allergens or allergenderived peptides. However, none of these constructs have been tested in human studies thus far. Several disadvantages of the engineered recombinant LAB have prevented their wider use in therapy. In the case of in vivo production of therapeutic molecules, the precise dosage is difficult to control. Moreover, the fate of the bacteria in the intestine and pharmacokinetics are difficult to determine (Berlec et al., 2012). Importantly, the major hindrance has been the fear of release of the genetically modified organism into the environment. Even though this has been successfully tackled by the development of containment system for L. lactis (Steidler et al., 2003) regulatory authorities will probably prefer the use of killed bacteria or BLPs (Berlec et al., 2012). BLPs are a non-recombinant alternative to live bacteria. They are obtained by treatment with hot trichloroacetic acid, which causes depletion of surface lipoteichoic acids, proteins, and the cytoplasmic content. The remaining intact peptidoglycan layer retains the particle shape similar to that of live cells (van Roosmalen et al., 2006). Because of the lack of recombinant DNA the risk of uncontrolled spreading of genetically modified material into the environment is eliminated. Another interesting approach to avoid the use of recombinant LAB is based on the non-covalent heterologous surface display of fusion proteins on unmodified, wild-type LAB (Hu et al., 2011; Zadravec et al., 2015a,b). In both cases, foreign proteins are produced as fusions with cell-wall binding domains in the recombinant host and are subsequently mixed with either BLPs or unmodified, wild-type LAB (see Figure 2A for schematic representation). These platforms allow the simultaneous presentation of several antigens, which may be significant for the production of vaccine candidates composed of several important allergens. Although these non-recombinant display technologies have not yet been tested in allergy immunotherapy, they open up new possibilities for improvement of allergy vaccine formulations.

BACTERIAL SURFACE PROTEINS AS DELIVERY VEHICLES

S-layer Proteins

Bacterial surface S-layers are two-dimensional crystalline arrays of glycoprotein subunits that make up the outermost layer

of many bacteria (Figure 2B). S-layers have been shown to possess strong adjuvant properties and represent excellent carrier candidates for immunotherapeutic vaccines (Raha et al., 2005; Sleytr et al., 2014). The general applicability of S-layers as vaccine carriers for treatment of type I allergy was tested using S-layer self-assembly products from Lysinibacillus sphaericus or Thermoanaerobacter thermohydrosulfuricus chemically conjugated with recombinant Bet v 1 (Jahn-Schmid et al., 1996). In a subsequent study by Jahn-Schmid et al. (1997), T cell lines derived from PBMCs of birch pollenallergic patients were induced either using recombinant Bet v 1 alone or Bet v 1/S-layer conjugates. After re-stimulation with Bet v 1, T cell lines induced with conjugates showed substantial increase in IFN-y production compared to T cell lines induced with allergen only. The presence of IFN- γ in the induction phase of T cell lines has been described to lead to a preferential development of T cell clones with a T_H1-like phenotype. Indeed, most of the T cell clones derived from the Bet v 1-induced T cell lines (55%) exhibited a T_H2-like pattern of cytokine production and majority (79%) of the T cell clones established with the Bet v 1/S-layer conjugates revealed T_H1 pattern. In PBMC cultures stimulation with S-layer proteins and Bet v 1/S-layer conjugates but not recombinant Bet v 1 increased production of IL-12, an essential mediator of T_H1 response. This indicates an adjuvant effect of S-layer mediated by IL-12 (Jahn-Schmid et al., 1997).

In the following years, recombinant fusion of the Bet v 1 to S-layer proteins successfully replaced the procedures of chemical coupling. For example, recombinant fusion of Bet v 1 with S-layer proteins, SbpA from Bacillus sphaericus and SbsC from Bacillus stearothermophilus, yielded two S-layer/allergen recombinant constructs, which showed strongly reduced capacity to bind IgE compared to free Bet v 1 and possessed the ability to induce allergen-specific T_H0/T_H1 and regulatory T cell immune responses (Breitwieser et al., 2002; Ilk et al., 2002; Gerstmayr et al., 2007). Initially, the S-layer/allergen fusion proteins were expressed in Gram-negative host E. coli and the associated endotoxin was subsequently removed by purification procedure, which is costly and time-consuming. In a recent study a Gram-positive, non-pathogenic bacteria with naturally high secretory capacity, Bacillus subtilis, was tested for expression of the endotoxin-free recombinant protein. The obtained fusion protein consisting of Bet v 1 and S-layer surface protein SbpA from Lysinibacillus sphaericus showed excellent recrystallization properties and immune reactivity (Ilk et al., 2011). Bacterial S-layers also proved to be applicable as carriers for the development of a peanut allergen-derived peptides. In a study by Anzengruber et al. (2017), a fusion protein of the S-layer protein SlpB from Lb. buchneri and the peptide AH3a42, containing immunodominant B-cell epitopes and one T cell epitope of major peanut allergen Ara h 2, was generated. The fusion protein SlpB-AH3a42 was recognized by IgE from 69% of the allergic patients and did not induce β-hexosaminidase release from sensitized rat basophil leukemia cells. However, IgG antibodies induced by immunization of rabbits with

the SlpB-AH3a42 molecule weakly inhibited IgE-binding to the natural Ara h 2 (no more than 30% reduction observed with 20 patient sera) in comparison with the inhibition by anti-Ara h 2 rabbit IgG antibodies (48% reduction). These results indicate that more than one peptide, derived from allergen, would probably be needed to promote wider patient protection.

Albumin Binding Protein

In the study by Ganglberger et al. (2001), the Bet v 1 mimotopes were expressed as fusion proteins with streptococcal albumin binding protein as a monovalent carrier and their antigenicity and allergenicity were examined. The fusion proteins were shown to selectively bind to anti-Bet v 1 human IgE thus demonstrating that the mimotopes fused to albumin binding protein resemble the genuine IgE epitopes. Even though they possess IgE binding structures, the recombinant mimotopealbumin binding protein constructs did not cause skin test reactivity in Bet v 1-allergic mice, indicating that mimotopes of IgE epitopes are safe for immunotherapy when presented in a monovalent form. Furthermore, upon vaccination of BALB/c mice, the constructs were able to induce Bet v 1-specific IgGs that inhibited recognition of Bet v 1 by patients' IgE.

CONCLUSION

Microbial delivery vehicles have been applied in allergy immunotherapy to enhance its efficacy, reduce side effects, and shorten the treatment. Several promising viral and bacterial carriers have been developed and tested. Regarding phage carriers, apart from regulatory constraints, the preexisting immunity and possible transfer of antibiotic resistance prevent their broader application in spite of the exceptional stability, cost-effectiveness, and ease-of-production. In general, delivery vehicles that are not genetically modified and are not problematic from the regulatory point of view are gaining momentum in today's research. From this perspective, non-recombinant alternatives to GRAS probiotic carriers displaying particularly good performance in mucosal and gastrointestinal delivery are receiving attention. However, none of the proposed whole bacterial or whole viral delivery vehicles have reached the clinical phase of investigation thus far.

Despite numerous applications which have been proposed and their proof-of-principle demonstrated on animal models, only two virus-derived carriers have entered human trials. VLPs (in combination with CpGs) showed suitable clinical tolerance and beneficial immunological and clinical effects. Based on their viral immunomodulatory properties, VLPs in general and CpGs as adjuvants were successfully used in the treatment of allergic rhinitis. However, large controlled studies are needed to collect more extensive clinical experience with this new technology. Hepatitis B virus PreS surface protein is another viral carrier that successfully underwent phase 2b clinical trial, in which it proved to be safe and effective as a vehicle for subcutaneous delivery of B cell epitope peptides in grass pollen allergy.

In the future, the expression of multiple allergens or allergenderived peptides on a single carrier will probably be necessary to cover a larger repertoire of the epitopes and to elicit optimal anti-allergic immune responses. This strategy also opens possibilities for patient-specific immunotherapy. Knowledge of the epitopes characteristic for the individual allergic patient, together with technology for development of the appropriate carriers, would allow targeted, personalized therapy. Moreover, the combination of several functional molecules (e.g., delivery vehicle, adjuvant, and allergen; such as VLP/CpG/house dust mite allergens) might be required to maximize vaccine efficiency. Finally, a deeper understanding of cellular and humoral factors involved in immune responses will contribute to optimization of these delivery systems and their faster translation to clinical practice.

REFERENCES

- Adel-Patient, K., Ah-Leung, S., Creminon, C., Nouaille, S., Chatel, J. M., Langella, P., et al. (2005). Oral administration of recombinant *Lactococcus lactis* expressing bovine beta-lactoglobulin partially prevents mice from sensitization. *Clin. Exp. Allergy* 35, 539–546. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2222.2005.02225.x
- Adhya, S., Merril, C. R., and Biswas, B. (2014). Therapeutic and prophylactic applications of bacteriophage components in modern medicine. *Cold Spring Harb. Perspect. Med.* 4:a012518. doi: 10.1101/cshperspect.a012518
- Aghebati-Maleki, L., Bakhshinejad, B., Baradaran, B., Motallebnezhad, M., Aghebati-Maleki, A., Nickho, H., et al. (2016). Phage display as a promising approach for vaccine development. *J. Biomed. Sci.* 23:66. doi: 10.1186/s12929-016-0285-9
- Ai, C., Zhang, Q., Ding, J., Wang, G., Liu, X., Tian, F., et al. (2015a). Mucosal delivery of allergen peptides expressed by *Lactococcus lactis* inhibit allergic responses in a BALB/c mouse model. *Appl. Microbiol. Biotechnol.* 100, 1915– 1924. doi: 10.1007/s00253-015-7187-8
- Ai, C., Zhang, Q., Ren, C., Wang, G., Liu, X., Tian, F., et al. (2015b). Protective effect of *Streptococcus thermophilus* CCFM218 against house dust mite allergy in a mouse model. *Food Control* 50, 283–290. doi: 10.1016/j.foodcont.2014.08.040
- Akdis, M., and Akdis, C. A. (2014). Mechanisms of allergen-specific immunotherapy: multiple suppressor factors at work in immune tolerance to allergens. J. Allergy Clin. Immunol. 133, 621–631. doi: 10.1016/j.jaci.2013.12.1088
- Anzengruber, J., Bublin, M., Bönisch, E., Janesch, B., Tscheppe, A., Braun, M. L., et al. (2017). *Lactobacillus buchneri* S-layer as carrier for an Ara h 2-derived peptide for peanut allergen-specific immunotherapy. *Mol. Immunol.* 85, 81–88. doi: 10.1016/j.molimm.2017.02.005
- Bakhshinejad, B., and Sadeghizadeh, M. (2014). Bacteriophages as vehicles for gene delivery into mammalian cells: prospects and problems. *Expert Opin. Drug Deliv.* 11, 1561–1574. doi: 10.1517/17425247.2014.927437
- Banerjee, S., Weber, M., Blatt, K., Swoboda, I., Focke-Tejkl, M., Valent, P., et al. (2014). Conversion of Der p 23, a new major house dust mite allergen, into a hypoallergenic vaccine. *J. Immunol.* 192, 4867–4875. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol. 1400064
- Bazan, J., Calkosinski, I., and Gamian, A. (2012). Phage display-a powerful technique for immunotherapy: 2. Vaccine delivery. *Hum. Vaccin. Immunother*. 8, 1829–1835. doi: 10.4161/hv.21704
- Berlec, A., Ravnikar, M., and Strukelj, B. (2012). Lactic acid bacteria as oral delivery systems for biomolecules. *Pharmazie* 67, 891–898. doi: 10.1691/ph.2012.1705
- Breitwieser, A., Egelseer, E. M., Moll, D., Ilk, N., Hotzy, C., Bohle, B., et al. (2002). A recombinant bacterial cell surface (S-layer)-major birch pollen allergen-fusion protein (rSbsC/Bet v1) maintains the ability to self-assemble into regularly structured monomolecular lattices and the functionality of the allergen. *Protein Eng.* 15, 243–249. doi: 10.1093/protein/15.3.243

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

ML conceived of the presented idea. AZ reviewed the literature and collected the data. Both ML and AZ contributed to the final version of the manuscript.

FUNDING

The authors acknowledge financial support of Slovenian Research Agency through Research Program P4-0127.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

The authors thank Assoc. Prof. Dr. Tomaž Bratkovič for critical reading of the manuscript.

- Brown, S. D., Fiedler, J. D., and Finn, M. G. (2009). Assembly of hybrid bacteriophage Qbeta virus-like particles. *Biochemistry* 48, 11155–11157. doi: 10.1021/bi901306p
- Bruttin, A., and Brussow, H. (2005). Human volunteers receiving *Escherichia coli* phage T4 orally: a safety test of phage therapy. *Antimicrob. Agents Chemother*. 49, 2874–2878. doi: 10.1128/AAC.49.7.2874-2878.2005
- Chapot-Chartier, M.-P., Vinogradov, E., Sadovskaya, I., Andre, G., Mistou, M.-Y., Trieu-Cuot, P., et al. (2010). Cell surface of *Lactococcus lactis* is covered by a protective polysaccharide pellicle. *J. Biol. Chem.* 285, 10464–10471. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M109.082958
- Charng, Y., Lin, C., and Hsu, C. (2006). Inhibition of allergen-induced airway inflammation and hyperreactivity by recombinant lactic-acid bacteria. *Vaccine* 24, 5931–5936. doi: 10.1016/j.vaccine.2005.07.107
- Chen, X., and Dreskin, S. C. (2017). Application of phage peptide display technology for the study of food allergen epitopes. *Mol. Nutr. Food Res.* 61:1600568. doi: 10.1002/mnfr.201600568
- Chesné, J., Schmidt-Weber, C. B., and Esser von-Bieren, J. (2016). The use of adjuvants for enhancing allergen immunotherapy efficacy. *Immunol. Allergy Clin. North Am.* 36, 125–145. doi: 10.1016/j.iac.2015.08.009
- Clark, J. R., and March, J. B. (2014). Bacterial viruses as human vaccines? *Expert Rev. Vaccin.* 3, 463–476. doi: 10.1586/14760584.3.4.463
- Colavecchio, A., Cadieux, B., Lo, A., and Goodridge, L. D. (2017). Bacteriophages contribute to the spread of antibiotic resistance genes among foodborne pathogens of the *Enterobacteriaceae* family – a review. *Front. Microbiol.* 8:1108. doi: 10.3389/fmicb.2017.01108
- Costa, D. J., Marteau, P., Amouyal, M., Poulsen, L. K., Hamelmann, E., Cazaubiel, M., et al. (2014). Efficacy and safety of the probiotic *Lactobacillus paracasei* LP-33 in allergic rhinitis: a double-blind, randomized, placebocontrolled trial (GA2LEN Study). *Eur. J. Clin. Nutr.* 68, 602–607. doi: 10.1038/ ejcn.2014.13
- Daniel, C., Repa, A., Mercenier, A., Wiedermann, U., and Wells, J. (2007). The European LABDEL project and its relevance to the prevention and treatment of allergies. *Allergy* 62, 1237–1242. doi: 10.1111/j.1398-9995.2007.01496.x
- Daniel, C., Repa, A., Wild, C., Pollak, A., Pot, B., Breiteneder, H., et al. (2006). Modulation of allergic immune responses by mucosal application of recombinant lactic acid bacteria producing the major birch pollen allergen Bet v 1. Allergy 61, 812–819. doi: 10.1111/j.1398-9995.2006.01071.x
- Delmastro, P., Meola, A., Monaci, P., Cortese, R., and Galfre, G. (1997). Immunogenicity of filamentous phage displaying peptide mimotopes after oral administration. *Vaccine* 15, 1276–1285. doi: 10.1016/S0264-410X(97)00072-8
- Edlmayr, J., Niespodziana, K., Linhart, B., Focke-Tejkl, M., Westritschnig, K., Scheiblhofer, S., et al. (2009). A combination vaccine for allergy and rhinovirus infections based on rhinovirus-derived surface protein VP1 and a nonallergenic peptide of the major timothy grass pollen allergen Phl p 1. *J. Immunol.* 182, 6298–6306. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.0713622

- Feldmann, M., and Easten, A. (1971). The relationship between antigenic structure and the requirement for thymus-derived cells in the immune response. J. Exp. Med. 134, 103–119. doi: 10.1084/jem.134.1.103
- Focke, M., Mahler, V., Ball, T., Sperr, W. R., Majlesi, Y., Valent, P., et al. (2001). Nonanaphylactic synthetic peptides derived from B cell epitopes of the major grass pollen allergen, Phl p 1, for allergy vaccination. *FASEB J.* 15, 2042–2044. doi: 10.1096/fj.01-0016fje
- Focke, M., Swoboda, I., Marth, K., and Valenta, R. (2010). Developments in allergen-specific immunotherapy: from allergen extracts to allergy vaccines bypassing allergen-specific immunoglobulin E and T cell reactivity. *Clin. Exp. Allergy* 40, 385–397. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2222.2009.03443.x
- Focke-Tejkl, M., Weber, M., Niespodziana, K., Neubauer, A., Huber, H., Henning, R., et al. (2015). Development and characterization of a recombinant, hypoallergenic, peptide-based vaccine for grass pollen allergy. *J. Allergy Clin. Immunol.* 135, 1207–1217.e11. doi: 10.1016/j.jaci.2014.09.012
- Forsbach, A., Nemorin, J. G., Volp, K., Samulowitz, U., Montino, C., Muller, C., et al. (2007). Characterization of conserved viral leader RNA sequences that stimulate innate immunity through TLRs. *Oligonucleotides* 17, 405–417. doi: 10.1089/oli.2007.0098
- Fuenmayor, J., Godia, F., and Cervera, L. (2017). Production of virus-like particles for vaccines. N. Biotechnol. 39, 174–180. doi: 10.1016/j.nbt.2017.07.010
- Ganglberger, E., Barbara, S., Scholl, I., Wiedermann, U., Baumann, S., Hafner, C., et al. (2001). Monovalent fusion proteins of IgE mimotopes are safe for therapy of type I allergy. *FASEB J.* 15, 2524–2526. doi: 10.1096/fj.00-0888fje
- Gao, J., Wang, Y., Liu, Z., and Wang, Z. (2010). Phage display and its application in vaccine design. Ann. Microbiol. 60, 13–19. doi: 10.1007/s13213-009-0014-7
- Gerstmayr, M., Ilk, N., Schabussova, I., Jahn-Schmid, B., Egelseer, E. M., Sleytr, U. B., et al. (2007). A novel approach to specific allergy treatment: the recombinant allergen-S-layer fusion protein rSbsC-bet v 1 matures dendritic cells that prime Th0/Th1 and IL-10-producing regulatory T cells. *J. Immunol.* 179, 7270–7275. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.179.11.7270
- Hazebrouck, S., Oozeer, R., Adel-Patient, K., Langella, P., Rabot, S., Wal, J. M., et al. (2006). Constitutive delivery of bovine -lactoglobulin to the digestive tracts of gnotobiotic mice by engineered *Lactobacillus casei*. *Appl. Environ. Microbiol.* 72, 7460–7467. doi: 10.1128/aem.01032-06
- Hogenesch, H. (2012). Mechanism of immunopotentiation and safety of aluminum adjuvants. *Front. Immunol.* 3:406. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2012.00406
- Hu, S., Kong, J., Sun, Z., Han, L., Kong, W., and Yang, P. (2011). Heterologous protein display on the cell surface of lactic acid bacteria mediated by the s-layer protein. *Microb. Cell Fact.* 10:86. doi: 10.1186/1475-2859-10-86
- Huibregtse, I. L., Snoeck, V., de Creus, A., Braat, H., de Jong, E. C., van Deventer, S. J. H., et al. (2007). Induction of ovalbumin-specific tolerance by oral administration of *Lactococcus lactis* secreting ovalbumin. *Gastroenterology* 133, 517–528. doi: 10.1053/j.gastro.2007.04.073
- Hynonen, U., and Palva, A. (2013). Lactobacillus surface layer proteins: structure, function and applications. Appl. Microbiol. Biotechnol. 97, 5225–5243. doi: 10.1007/s00253-013-4962-2
- Ilaria, P., Francesca, L.-S., and Paola, M. (2016). "Therapeutic approaches in allergic diseases," in *Immune Rebalancing*, ed. D. Boraschi (Cambridge, MA: Academic Press), 85–103. doi: 10.1016/b978-0-12-803302-9.00005-1
- Ilk, N., Schumi, C. T., Bohle, B., Egelseer, E. M., and Sleytr, U. B. (2011). Expression of an endotoxin-free S-layer/allergen fusion protein in gram-positive *Bacillus subtilis* 1012 for the potential application as vaccines for immunotherapy of atopic allergy. *Microb. Cell Fact.* 10:6. doi: 10.1186/1475-2859-10-6
- Ilk, N., Vollenkle, C., Egelseer, E. M., Breitwieser, A., Sleytr, U. B., and Sara, M. (2002). Molecular characterization of the S-layer gene, sbpA, of *Bacillus sphaericus* CCM 2177 and production of a functional S-layer fusion protein with the ability to recrystallize in a defined orientation while presenting the fused allergen. *Appl. Environ. Microbiol.* 68, 3251–3260. doi: 10.1128/AEM.68. 7.3251-3260.2002
- Jafari, N., and Abediankenari, S. (2016). Phage particles as vaccine delivery vehicles: concepts, applications and prospects. *Asian Pac. J. Cancer Prev.* 16, 8019–8029. doi: 10.7314/apjcp.2015.16.18.8019
- Jahn-Schmid, B., Graninger, M., Glozik, M., Kupcu, S., Ebner, C., Unger, F. M., et al. (1996). Immunoreactivity of allergen (Bet v 1) conjugated to crystalline bacterial cell surface layers (S-layers). *Immunotechnology* 2, 103–113. doi: 10.1016/1380-2933(96)00041-3

- Jahn-Schmid, B., Siemann, U., Zenker, A., Bohle, B., Messner, P., Unger, F. M., et al. (1997). Bet v 1, the major birch pollen allergen, conjugated to crystalline bacterial cell surface roteins, expands allergen-specific T cells of the Th1/Th0 phenotype in vitro by induction of IL-12. *Int. Immunol.* 9, 1867–1874. doi: 10.1093/intimm/9.12.1867
- Jegerlehner, A., Storni, T., Lipowsky, G., Schmid, M., Pumpens, P., and Bachmann, M. F. (2002a). Regulation of IgG antibody responses by epitope density and CD21-mediated costimulation. *Eur. J. Immunol.* 32, 3305–3314.
- Jegerlehner, A., Tissot, A., Lechner, F., Sebbel, P., Erdmann, I., Kundig, T., et al. (2002b). A molecular assembly system that renders antigens of choice highly repetitive for induction of protective B cell responses. *Vaccine* 20, 3104–3112.
- Jensen-Jarolim, E., Leitner, A., Kalchhauser, H., Zurcher, A., Ganglberger, E., Bohle, B., et al. (1998). Peptide mimotopes displayed by phage inhibit antibody binding to bet v 1, the major birch pollen allergen, and induce specific IgG response in mice. *FASEB J.* 12, 1635–1642. doi: 10.1096/fasebj.12.15.1635
- Jepson, C. D., and March, J. B. (2004). Bacteriophage lambda is a highly stable DNA vaccine delivery vehicle. *Vaccine* 22, 2413–2419. doi: 10.1016/j.vaccine.2003. 11.065
- Johansen, P., Senti, G., Martinez Gomez, J. M., Storni, T., Beust, B. R., Wuthrich, B., et al. (2005). Toll-like receptor ligands as adjuvants in allergen-specific immunotherapy. *Clin. Exp. Allergy* 35, 1591–1598. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2222. 2005.02384.x
- Karimi, K., Inman, M. D., Bienenstock, J., and Forsythe, P. (2009). Lactobacillus reuteri-induced regulatory T cells protect against an allergic airway response in mice. Am. J. Respir. Crit. Care Med. 179, 186–193. doi: 10.1164/rccm.200806-9510C
- Klimek, L., Bachmann, M. F., Senti, G., and Kundig, T. M. (2014). Immunotherapy of type-1 allergies with virus-like particles and CpG-motifs. *Expert Rev. Clin. Immunol.* 10, 1059–1067. doi: 10.1586/1744666X.2014.924854
- Knittelfelder, R., Riemer, A. B., and Jensen-Jarolim, E. (2009). Mimotope vaccination – from allergy to cancer. *Expert Opin. Biol. Ther.* 9, 493–506. doi: 10.1517/14712590902870386
- Kruisselbrink, A., Heijne Den Bak-Glashouwer, M. J., Havenith, C. E., Thole, J. E., and Janssen, R. (2001). Recombinant *Lactobacillus plantarum* inhibits house dust mite-specific T-cell responses. *Clin. Exp. Immunol.* 126, 2–8. doi: 10.1046/ j.1365-2249.2001.01642.x
- Kündig, T., Senti, G., Schnetzler, G., Wolf, C., Prinzvavricka, B., Fulurija, A., et al. (2006). Der p 1 peptide on virus-like particles is safe and highly immunogenic in healthy adults. *J. Allergy Clin. Immunol.* 117, 1470–1476. doi: 10.1016/j.jaci. 2006.01.040
- Larsen, J. N., Broge, L., and Jacobi, H. (2016). Allergy immunotherapy: the future of allergy treatment. *Drug Discov. Today* 21, 26–37. doi: 10.1016/j.drudis.2015. 07.010
- Luzar, J., Molek, P., Šilar, M., Korošec, P., Košnik, M., Štrukelj, B., et al. (2016a). Identification and characterization of major cat allergen Fel d 1 mimotopes on filamentous phage carriers. *Mol. Immunol.* 71, 176–183. doi: 10.1016/j.molimm. 2016.02.004
- Luzar, J., Štrukelj, B., and Lunder, M. (2016b). Phage display peptide libraries in molecular allergology: from epitope mapping to mimotope-based immunotherapy. *Allergy* 71, 1526–1532. doi: 10.1111/all.12965
- Manzano-Szalai, K., Thell, K., Willensdorfer, A., Weghofer, M., Pfanzagl, B., Singer, J., et al. (2014). Adeno-associated virus-like particles as new carriers for b-cell vaccines: testing immunogenicity and safety in BALB/c mice. Viral Immunol. 27, 438–448. doi: 10.1089/vim.2014.0059
- Marschan, E., Kuitunen, M., Kukkonen, K., Poussa, T., Sarnesto, A., Haahtela, T., et al. (2008). Probiotics in infancy induce protective immune profiles that are characteristic for chronic low-grade inflammation. *Clin. Exp. Allergy* 38, 611–618. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2222.2008.02942.x
- Marth, K., Breyer, I., Focke-Tejkl, M., Blatt, K., Shamji, M. H., Layhadi, J., et al. (2013). A nonallergenic birch pollen allergy vaccine consisting of hepatitis pres-fused bet v 1 peptides focuses blocking IgG toward IgE epitopes and shifts immune responses to a tolerogenic and Th1 phenotype. J. Immunol. 190, 3068–3078. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.1202441
- Marth, K., Focke-Tejkl, M., Lupinek, C., Valenta, R., and Niederberger, V. (2014). Allergen peptides, recombinant allergens and hypoallergens for allergenspecific immunotherapy. *Curr. Treat. Options Allergy* 1, 91–106. doi: 10.1007/ s40521-013-0006-5

- May, R. J., Beenhouwer, D. O., and Scharff, M. D. (2003). Antibodies to keyhole limpet hemocyanin cross-react with an epitope on the polysaccharide capsule of *Cryptococcus neoformans* and other carbohydrates: implications for vaccine development. J. Immunol. 171, 4905–4912. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.171.9.4905
- Moingeon, P., de Taisne, C., and Almond, J. (2002). Delivery technologies for human vaccines. *Br. Med. Bull.* 62, 29–44. doi: 10.1093/bmb/62.1.29
- Moldaver, D., and Larché, M. (2011). Immunotherapy with peptides. *Allergy* 66, 784–791. doi: 10.1111/j.1398-9995.2011.02610.x
- Mowat, A. M. (2003). Anatomical basis of tolerance and immunity to intestinal antigens. *Nat. Rev. Immunol.* 3, 331–341. doi: 10.1038/nri1057
- Mrkić, I., Minić, R., Bulat, T., Aradska, J., Atanasković-Marković, M., Drakulić, B., et al. (2016). Modulation of the specific immune response in Balb/c mice by intranasal application of recombinant H1D2 chimera. J. Chem. Technol. Biotechnol. 92, 1328–1335. doi: 10.1002/jctb.5127
- Niederberger, V., Neubauer, A., Gevaert, P., Zidarn, M., Worm, M., Aberer, W., et al. (2018). Safety and efficacy of immunotherapy with the recombinant B-cell epitope-based grass pollen vaccine BM32. *J. Allergy Clin. Immunol.* doi: 10.1016/j.jaci.2017.09.052 [Epub ahead of print].
- Niespodziana, K., Focke-Tejkl, M., Linhart, B., Civaj, V., Blatt, K., Valent, P., et al. (2011). A hypoallergenic cat vaccine based on Fel d 1–derived peptides fused to hepatitis B PreS. J. Allergy Clin. Immunol. 127, 1562–1570.e6. doi: 10.1016/j. jaci.2011.02.004
- Ohkouchi, K., Kawamoto, S., Tatsugawa, K., Yoshikawa, N., Takaoka, Y., Miyauchi, S., et al. (2012). Prophylactic effect of *Lactobacillus* oral vaccine expressing a Japanese cedar pollen allergen. *J. Biosci. Bioeng.* 113, 536–541. doi: 10.1016/j.jbiosc.2011.11.025
- Petrovsky, N. (2015). Comparative safety of vaccine adjuvants: a summary of current evidence and future needs. *Drug Saf.* 38, 1059–1074. doi: 10.1007/ s40264-015-0350-4
- Quigley, B. R., Hatkoff, M., Thanassi, D. G., Ouattara, M., Eichenbaum, Z., and Scott, J. R. (2009). A foreign protein incorporated on the tip of T3 pili in *Lactococcus lactis* elicits systemic and mucosal immunity. *Infect. Immun.* 78, 1294–1303. doi: 10.1128/iai.01037-09
- Raha, A. R., Varma, N. R., Yusoff, K., Ross, E., and Foo, H. L. (2005). Cell surface display system for *Lactococcus lactis*: a novel development for oral vaccine. *Appl. Microbiol. Biotechnol.* 68, 75–81. doi: 10.1007/s00253-004-1851-8
- Rakonjac, J., Bennett, N. J., Spagnuolo, J., Gagic, D., and Russel, M. (2011). Filamentous bacteriophage: biology, phage display and nanotechnology applications. *Curr. Issues Mol. Biol.* 13, 51–76.
- Repa, A., Grangette, C., Daniel, C., Hochreiter, R., Hoffmann-Sommergruber, K., Thalhamer, J., et al. (2003). Mucosal co-application of lactic acid bacteria and allergen induces counter-regulatory immune responses in a murine model of birch pollen allergy. *Vaccine* 22, 87–95. doi: 10.1016/s0264-410x(03)00528-0
- Rigaux, P., Daniel, C., Hisbergues, M., Muraille, E., Hols, P., Pot, B., et al. (2009). Immunomodulatory properties of *Lactobacillus plantarum* and its use as a recombinant vaccine against mite allergy. *Allergy* 64, 406–414. doi: 10.1111/j. 1398-9995.2008.01825.x
- Roehnisch, T., Then, C., Nagel, W., Blumenthal, C., Braciak, T., Donzeau, M., et al. (2014). Phage idiotype vaccination: first phase I/II clinical trial in patients with multiple myeloma. *J. Transl. Med.* 12:119. doi: 10.1186/1479-5876-12-119
- Saxena, M., Van, T. T., Baird, F. J., Coloe, P. J., and Smooker, P. M. (2013). Preexisting immunity against vaccine vectors-friend or foe? *Microbiology* 159(Pt 1), 1–11. doi: 10.1099/mic.0.049601-0
- Schabussova, I., and Wiedermann, U. (2008). Lactic acid bacteria as novel adjuvant systems for prevention and treatment of atopic diseases. *Curr. Opin. Allergy Clin. Immunol.* 8, 557–564. doi: 10.1097/ACI.0b013e328317b88b
- Schmitz, N., Dietmeier, K., Bauer, M., Maudrich, M., Utzinger, S., Muntwiler, S., et al. (2009). Displaying Fel d1 on virus-like particles prevents reactogenicity despite greatly enhanced immunogenicity: a novel therapy for cat allergy. *J. Exp. Med.* 206, 1941–1955. doi: 10.1084/jem.20090199
- Scholl, I., Wiedermann, U., Forster-Waldl, E., Ganglberger, E., Baier, K., Boltz-Nitulescu, G., et al. (2002). Phage-displayed Bet mim 1, a mimotope of the major birch pollen allergen Bet v 1, induces B cell responses to the natural antigen using bystander T cell help. *Clin. Exp. Allergy* 32, 1583–1588. doi: 10.1046/j.1365-2222.2002.01527.x
- Schwarzer, M., Repa, A., Daniel, C., Schabussova, I., Hrncir, T., Pot, B., et al. (2011). Neonatal colonization of mice with *Lactobacillus plantarum* producing

the aeroallergen Bet v 1 biases towards Th1 and T-regulatory responses upon systemic sensitization. *Allergy* 66, 368–375. doi: 10.1111/j.1398-9995.2010. 02488.x

- Senti, G., Johansen, P., Haug, S., Bull, C., Gottschaller, C., Müller, P., et al. (2009). Use of A-type CpG oligodeoxynucleotides as an adjuvant in allergen-specific immunotherapy in humans: a phase I/IIa clinical trial. *Clin. Exp. Allergy* 39, 562–570. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2222.2008.03191.x
- Siskind, G. W., Paul, W. E., and Benacerraf, B. (1966). Studies on the effect of the carrier molecule on antihapten antibody synthesis. I. Effect of carrier on the nature of the antibody synthesized. J. Exp. Med. 123, 673–688. doi: 10.1084/ jem.123.4.673
- Sleytr, U. B., Schuster, B., Egelseer, E.-M., and Pum, D. (2014). S-layers: principles and applications. *FEMS Microbiol. Rev.* 38, 823–864. doi: 10.1111/1574-6976. 12063
- Souza, A. P., Haut, L., Reyes-Sandoval, A., and Pinto, A. R. (2005). Recombinant viruses as vaccines against viral diseases. *Braz. J. Med. Biol. Res.* 38, 509–522. doi: 10.1590/S0100-879X2005000400004
- Steidler, L., Neirynck, S., Huyghebaert, N., Snoeck, V., Vermeire, A., Goddeeris, B., et al. (2003). Biological containment of genetically modified *Lactococcus lactis* for intestinal delivery of human interleukin 10. *Nat. Biotechnol.* 21, 785–789. doi: 10.1038/nbt840
- Suurmond, J., Stoop, J. N., Rivellese, F., Bakker, A. M., Huizinga, T. W., and Toes, R. E. (2014). Activation of human basophils by combined toll-like receptorand FceRI-triggering can promote Th2 skewing of naive T helper cells. *Eur. J. Immunol.* 44, 386–396. doi: 10.1002/eji.201343617
- Szalai, K., Jensen-Jarolim, E., and Pali-Scholl, I. (2008). Vaccination strategies based on the mimotope concept. G. Ital. Dermatol. Venereol. 143, 95–104.
- Trombert, A. (2015). Recombinant lactic acid bacteria as delivery vectors of heterologous antigens: the future of vaccination? *Benef. Microbes* 6, 313–324. doi: 10.3920/bm2014.0068
- Tscheppe, A., and Breiteneder, H. (2017). Recombinant allergens in structural biology, diagnosis, and immunotherapy. Int. Arch. Allergy Immunol. 172, 187–202. doi: 10.1159/000464104
- Valenta, R., Campana, R., Focke-Tejkl, M., and Niederberger, V. (2016). Vaccine development for allergen-specific immunotherapy based on recombinant allergens and synthetic allergen peptides: lessons from the past and novel mechanisms of action for the future. J. Allergy Clin. Immunol. 137, 351–357. doi: 10.1016/j.jaci.2015.12.1299
- Valenta, R., Campana, R., and Niederberger, V. (2017). Recombinant allergy vaccines based on allergen-derived B cell epitopes. *Immunol. Lett.* 189, 19–26. doi: 10.1016/j.imlet.2017.04.015
- Valenta, R., Vrtala, S., Focke-Tejkl, M., Bugajska, S., Ball, T., Twardosz, A., et al. (1999). Genetically engineered and synthetic allergen derivatives: candidates for vaccination against type I allergy. *Biol. Chem.* 380, 815–824. doi: 10.1515/BC. 1999.101
- van Houten, N. E., Henry, K. A., Smith, G. P., and Scott, J. K. (2010). Engineering filamentous phage carriers to improve focusing of antibody responses against peptides. *Vaccine* 28, 2174–2185. doi: 10.1016/j.vaccine.2009. 12.059
- van Houten, N. E., Zwick, M. B., Menendez, A., and Scott, J. K. (2006). Filamentous phage as an immunogenic carrier to elicit focused antibody responses against a synthetic peptide. *Vaccine* 24, 4188–4200. doi: 10.1016/j.vaccine.2006. 01.001
- van Roosmalen, M. L., Kanninga, R., El Khattabi, M., Neef, J., Audouy, S., Bosma, T., et al. (2006). Mucosal vaccine delivery of antigens tightly bound to an adjuvant particle made from food-grade bacteria. *Methods* 38, 144–149. doi: 10.1016/j.ymeth.2005.09.015
- Wagachchi, D., Tsai, J.-Y. C., Chalmers, C., Blanchett, S., Loh, J. M. S., and Proft, T. (2018). PilVax – a novel peptide delivery platform for the development of mucosal vaccines. *Sci. Rep.* 8:2555. doi: 10.1038/s41598-018-20 863-7
- Wyszyńska, A., Kobierecka, P., Bardowski, J., and Jagusztyn-Krynicka, E. K. (2015). Lactic acid bacteria—20 years exploring their potential as live vectors for mucosal vaccination. *Appl. Microbiol. Biotechnol.* 99, 2967–2977. doi: 10.1007/ s00253-015-6498-0
- Yepes-Nunez, J. J., Fiocchi, A., Pawankar, R., Cuello-Garcia, C. A., Zhang, Y., Morgano, G. P., et al. (2016). World allergy organization-mcmaster university

guidelines for allergic disease prevention (GLAD-P): vitamin D. World Allergy Organ. J. 9:17. doi: 10.1186/s40413-016-0108-1

- Young, R. (1992). Bacteriophage lysis: mechanism and regulation. *Microbiol. Rev.* 56, 430–481.
- Zadravec, P., Štrukelj, B., and Berlec, A. (2015a). Heterologous surface display on lactic acid bacteria: non-GMO alternative? *Bioengineered* 6, 179–183. doi: 10.1080/21655979.2015.1040956
- Zadravec, P., Štrukelj, B., Berlec, A., and Björkroth, J. (2015b). Improvement of LysM-mediated surface display of designed ankyrin repeat proteins (DARPins) in recombinant and nonrecombinant strains of *Lactococcus lactis* and *Lactobacillus* species. *Appl. Environ. Microbiol.* 81, 2098–2106. doi: 10.1128/ aem.03694-14
- Zeltins, A. (2013). Construction and characterization of virus-like particles: a review. *Mol. Biotechnol.* 53, 92–107. doi: 10.1007/s12033-012-9598-4
- Zieglmayer, P., Focke-Tejkl, M., Schmutz, R., Lemell, P., Zieglmayer, R., Weber, M., et al. (2016). Mechanisms, safety and efficacy of a B cell epitope-based vaccine for immunotherapy of grass pollen allergy. *EBioMedicine* 11, 43–57. doi: 10.1016/j.ebiom.2016.08.022

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2018 Zahirović and Lunder. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Lactic Acid Bacteria for Delivery of Endogenous or Engineered Therapeutic Molecules

Peter A. Bron^{1,2} and Michiel Kleerebezem^{2,3*}

¹ NIZO Food Research BV, Ede, Netherlands, ² BE-Basic Foundation, Delft, Netherlands, ³ Host-Microbe Interactomics Group, Department of Animal Sciences, Wageningen University & Research, Wageningen, Netherlands

Food-grade lactic acid bacteria (LAB) are considered suitable vehicles for the production

and/or delivery of health promoting or therapeutic, bioactive molecules. The molecules considered for health-beneficial use include the endogenous effector molecules produced by probiotics (mostly lactobacilli), as well as heterologous bioactives that can be produced in LAB by genetic engineering (mostly using lactococci). Both strategies aim to deliver appropriate dosages of specific bioactive molecules to the site of action. This review uses specific examples of both strategies to illustrate the different avenues of research involved in these applications as well as their translation to human health-promoting applications. These examples pinpoint that despite the promising perspectives of these approaches, the evidence for their effective applications in human populations is lagging behind.

Keywords: lactic acid bacteria, probiotics, Lactococcus lactis, Lactobacillus, genetic engineering, therapeutic molecules

LAB FOR FOOD-GRADE BIOACTIVE DELIVERY

Lactic acid bacteria (LAB) have a long history of safe consumption in the form of fermented food products and as a consequence are considered food-grade. LAB encompass various bacterial genera, including *Lactococcus*, *Streptococcus*, *Lactobacillus*, *Leuconostoc*, and *Pediococcus*. The safety status of these bacteria has inspired their use for the production and delivery of bioactive molecules that intend to improve consumers' health. An important concept in this domain is the use of probiotics that are live microorganisms that when administered in adequate amounts confer a health benefit on the host (Hill et al., 2014), a domain dominated by species of the *Lactobacillus* genus. An alternative approach employs LAB for the engineered production and/or delivery of heterologous bioactive molecules, which mostly employs *Lactococcus lactis* as a production host, because of its extensive genetic toolbox. Both conceptual approaches are illustrated in this review through specific examples that in our opinion are closest to actual application as health promoting concepts. This highlights the impressive potential of using these bacteria for bioactive delivery, but also exemplifies the complexity of translation toward predictable effects in human applications.

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Aleš Berlec, Jožef Stefan Institute (IJS), Slovenia

Reviewed by:

Nikhil Unni Nair, Tufts University, United States Matthew Wook Chang, National University of Singapore, Singapore

> *Correspondence: Michiel Kleerebezem michiel.kleerebezem@wur.nl

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Infectious Diseases, a section of the journal Frontiers in Microbiology

Received: 20 May 2018 Accepted: 20 July 2018 Published: 03 August 2018

Citation:

Bron PA and Kleerebezem M (2018) Lactic Acid Bacteria for Delivery of Endogenous or Engineered Therapeutic Molecules. Front. Microbiol. 9:1821. doi: 10.3389/fmicb.2018.01821

THE PROBIOTIC LACTOBACILLI

Lactobacillus species encompass a group of LAB that are encountered in a diverse range of nutrition-rich environments, including the human and animal gastrointestinal tract, plants, as well as food and feed (Duar et al., 2017). Specific *Lactobacillus* strains are marketed as probiotics.

An intrinsic characteristic of these probiotics lactobacilli is that they produce and deliver (specific) health promoting effector molecules in situ that modulate host physiology in a health-promoting direction. For many probiotic lactobacilli the molecular mechanism by which they impact host health remains largely unknown. However, in depth molecular research on specific probiotic strains has generated an impressive knowledgebase of the effector molecules of these strains that play a role in the modulation of specific host pathways. Many of the probiotic effector molecules that have been described appear to reside in the bacterial cell-envelope (Bron et al., 2011, 2013; Lebeer et al., 2018). Since the research related to probiotic effector molecule discovery has recently been reviewed, we do not expand this section beyond the exemplary case discussed below. The chosen example is in our opinion among the best-described in this field, and includes technological improvements by encapsulation for in situ delivery of the probiotic bacteria and/or their effector molecules (Li et al., 2016).

The major secreted proteins P40 and P75 produced by the extensively studied probiotic strain Lactobacillus rhamnosus GG were demonstrated to modulate epidermal growth factor receptor (EGF-R) activity in epithelial cells, thereby modulating Akt activation. This interaction was shown to inhibit cytokineinduced apoptosis in epithelial cells in vitro, and to promote epithelial cell growth ex vivo in human and mouse colon-tissue explants (Yan et al., 2011; Yan and Polk, 2012). Importantly, EGF-R modulation by P40 protected mice against chemically induced colitis (Yan et al., 2011; Yan and Polk, 2012). Notably, homologues of these two secreted proteins are present in other L. rhamnosus strains as well as in the related species Lactobacillus casei, implying that the effects reported for L. rhamnosus GG could potentially also be achieved with related strains (Bauerl et al., 2010). The same effector molecules probably underlie the observation that L. rhamnosus GG is able to stimulate epithelial wound healing in in vitro scratch assays using both skin- and gingival- human epithelial-cell lines (Mohammedsaeed et al., 2015; Fernandez-Gutierrez et al., 2017). Interestingly, in vivo transcriptome responses in human duodenal tissues following L. rhamnosus GG consumption revealed significant modulation of epithelial wound healing pathways in the human intestinal mucosa (van Baarlen et al., 2011), indicating the congruency of these molecular interactions in different model systems. However, the connection of these conserved responses to reliable health benefits in human populations remains highly challenging. This may be due to the extensive degree of human individuality and the corresponding individualized physiological relevance of such cellular modulations, which could predominantly depend on the baseline molecular state of an individual. This conceptual view was previously coined as the "band-width of health" and

may represent a principal hurdle in the reliable application of probiotics and/or their effector molecules in human (Bron et al., 2011; van Baarlen et al., 2011; Klaenhammer et al., 2012).

ENGINEERED LACTOCOCCI

For specific diseases it is well established which human proteins are underrepresented in the diseased population and/or have an established role in therapy. LAB engineered to produce such heterologous bioactive and/or therapeutic molecules provide an approach to delivering such molecules in situ as live bacterial therapeutics, or may serve as a production host to obtain these molecules in purified form. General genetic engineering capacities and in particular the controlled gene expression toolboxes available for the lactobacilli are lagging behind those that have been developed for the paradigm LAB L. lactis (Kok et al., 2017). As a consequence, the majority of these engineering approaches for the production (and delivery) have employed L. lactis as a production host. A lot of effort has been invested in the production and delivery of vaccineantigens and allergens by engineered lactococci, and since this area has recently been reviewed (Wyszynska et al., 2015; Wang et al., 2016; Szatraj et al., 2017) we focus on some specific examples of alternative categories of bioactive molecules, including bacterial enzymes and human factors known to modulate mucosal physiology and/or immune function. The examples presented were chosen on basis of available scaleup and commercialization strategies and employ L. lactis as a production host.

LACTOCOCCAL PRODUCTION OF AN ANTIMICROBIAL ENZYME

Staphylococcus simulans harbors lss which encodes a 25 kDa antibacterial protein termed lysostaphin that hydrolyzes the Gly-Gly bond present in the cell wall of *Staphylococcus aureus*, thereby lysing this important pathogen (Thumm and Gotz, 1997). Lysostaphin administration in a nasal spray effectively reduces S. aureus carriage, supporting the prevention of spreading of this bacterium in hospital environments (Quickel et al., 1971). Biosynexus Inc. is involved in development of protein-based pharmaceutical products aiming to ameliorate staphylococcal infections in infants, including lysostaphin. To provide a suitable production system for this selective antimicrobial enzyme, the encoding lss gene was cloned under control of the PnisA promoter and introduced in the expression host-strain NZ3900, allowing food-grade, lactosebased plasmid selection and induction of lysostaphin production through the NICE system (Mierau and Kleerebezem, 2005; Mierau et al., 2005). Following optimization of lysostaphin production at 1 L scale it was shown to be readily scalable to 300 and 3000 L production facilities. In addition, the protein could be purified from the lactococcal culture supernatant via straightforward and industrially scalable chromatography procedures (Mierau et al., 2005). This example illustrates that *L. lactis* is a suitable host for the production and purification of relevant bioactive enzymes, in this case an anti-*Staphylococcus* agent. Purification of the compound of interest. avoids the consequences of releasing genetically modified *L. lactis* strains and is suitable for bioactive molecules that do not depend on the presence or co-modulatory effects of the production host in the application.

LIVE-BIOTHERAPEUTICS USING ENGINEERED *L. lactis*

Intrexon develops so-called Actobiotics, a class of orally delivered biopharmaceuticals employing engineered and biologically contained L. lactis production hosts for the in situ production and delivery of various proteins and peptides in the oral and gastrointestinal tract of humans. The selection of the bioactives to be produced within this delivery system aim to provide therapies against oral, gastrointestinal, metabolic, allergic, and autoimmune diseases, focusing on bioactives with known pharmacological activity and that are supported by documented efficacy and safety information. The company's ambition is strongly based on the landmark study that demonstrated that chemically induced colitis in mice could be effectively treated with L. lactis strains that produce interleukin-10 (IL-10) (Steidler et al., 2000). Later work illustrated that the L. lactis based intestinal IL-10 delivery could also contribute to reduction of food-induced anaphylaxis in mice models, which may support the prevention of IgE-type sensitization to common food allergens (Frossard et al., 2007). Likewise, IL-10 delivery combined with secretion of the type-1 diabetes (T1D) auto-antigen GAD65370-575 by the same L. lactis strain was effective in suppressing T1D in a preclinical NOD-mouse model (Robert and Steidler, 2014; Robert et al., 2014). Besides these IL-10 producing L. lactis strains and their derivatives, the same platform for production and delivery of bioactives is employed for a variety of other molecules intending to provide live lactococcal therapeutics for a range of human and animal diseases (Vandenbroucke et al., 2004; McLean et al., 2017). Moreover, some comparative work using similar IL-10 producing Lactobacillus strains has been reported and may expand or enhance the application potential of these concepts (Steidler, 2003). Besides the bioactive production and delivery technology, the Actobiotics platform is supported by effective strategies for the biological containment of genetically engineered bacteria as well as scalable production and processing procedures for the live biotherapeutic bacteria (Steidler, 2003). However, initial human trials in patients suffering from inflammatory bowel disease established the safety and biological containment of the IL-10 producing lactococcal delivery vehicle (Braat et al., 2006), but failed to deliver convincing clinical efficacy evidence for disease symptom reduction to date, illustrating that translation of the mousemodel outcomes to human applications still requires further investigation.

Aurealis Pharma is a pharmaceutical company that employs genetically modified *L. lactis* strains for the delivery of combinations of therapeutic proteins to diseased tissues. For example, *L. lactis* MG1363 was engineered to allow plasmid-based expression of three genes encoding human fibroblast growth factor 2 (FGF-2), interleukin 4 (IL-4), and colony stimulating growth factor 1 (CSF-1) that were selected based on their functional properties (Yun et al., 2010; Hume and MacDonald, 2012; Sica and Mantovani, 2012) and availability of clinical safety data. An animal study demonstrated the efficacy of the combination therapy provided by the three proteins and the *L. lactis* strain in a delayed wound healing model in diabetic mice¹. Aurealis Pharma is currently producing a clinical grade product for a clinical phase 1 trial to build a safety dossier for the use of this live bacterial therapeutic in diabetic foot ulcer patients.

PERSPECTIVES

This short review illustrates that significant advances have been made in understanding the mechanism of action of endogenous probiotic *Lactobacillus* effector molecules, and that heterologous production of therapeutic bioactives in engineered lactococci has reached technological maturity. The examples chosen employed in this review are actively pursued by commercial initiatives and involve either purified bioactives or the use of the engineered LAB as live biotherapeutic.

However, in both strategies, the translation of the healthbeneficial effects toward reliable human application is lagging behind despite the consistent findings across the different layers of the translational pipeline progressing from molecular insight in molecular interactions involved toward their conservation in *in situ* human response. Lagging efficacy evidence may be largely due to human individuality in health and disease, which implies that careful consideration should be given to selecting the appropriate target population. This may require novel strategies toward subject stratification and responsiveness prediction to better select and treat human subjects that are likely to have a perceivable benefit from the response elicited by the bioactive supplied.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

Both authors conceived the review, wrote it together and decided to submit it to this Research Topic.

FUNDING

Part of this work was carried out within the BE-Basic R&D program (Grant F10.002.01), which was granted an FES subsidy from the Dutch Ministry of Economic Affairs.

¹ http://ewma.conference2web.com/#users/153991

REFERENCES

- Bauerl, C., Perez-Martinez, G., Yan, F., Polk, D. B., and Monedero, V. (2010). Functional analysis of the p40 and p75 proteins from *Lactobacillus casei* BL23. *J. Mol. Microbiol. Biotechnol.* 19, 231–241. doi: 10.1159/000322233
- Braat, H., Rottiers, P., Hommes, D. W., Huyghebaert, N., Remaut, E., Remon, J. P., et al. (2006). A phase I trial with transgenic bacteria expressing interleukin-10 in Crohn's disease. *Clin. Gastroenterol. Hepatol.* 4, 754–759. doi: 10.1016/j.cgh. 2006.03.028
- Bron, P. A., Tomita, S., Mercenier, A., and Kleerebezem, M. (2013). Cell surfaceassociated compounds of probiotic lactobacilli sustain the strain-specificity dogma. *Curr. Opin. Microbiol.* 16, 262–269. doi: 10.1016/j.mib.2013.06.001
- Bron, P. A., van Baarlen, P., and Kleerebezem, M. (2011). Emerging molecular insights into the interaction between probiotics and the host intestinal mucosa. *Nat. Rev. Microbiol.* 10, 66–78. doi: 10.1038/nrmicro2690
- Duar, R. M., Lin, X. B., Zheng, J., Martino, M. E., Grenier, T., Perez-Munoz, M. E., et al. (2017). Lifestyles in transition: evolution and natural history of the genus *Lactobacillus. FEMS Microbiol. Rev.* 41, S27–S48. doi: 10.1093/femsre/fux030
- Fernandez-Gutierrez, M. M., Roosjen, P. P. J., Ultee, E., Agelink, M., Vervoort, J. J. M., Keijser, B., et al. (2017). *Streptococcus salivarius* MS-oral-D6 promotes gingival re-epithelialization in vitro through a secreted serine protease. *Sci. Rep.* 7:11100. doi: 10.1038/s41598-017-11446-z
- Frossard, C. P., Steidler, L., and Eigenmann, P. A. (2007). Oral administration of an IL-10-secreting *Lactococcus lactis* strain prevents food-induced IgE sensitization. *J. Allergy Clin. Immunol.* 119, 952–959. doi: 10.1016/j.jaci.2006. 12.615
- Hill, C., Guarner, F., Reid, G., Gibson, G. R., Merenstein, D. J., Pot, B., et al. (2014). Expert consensus document. The International Scientific Association for Probiotics and Prebiotics consensus statement on the scope and appropriate use of the term probiotic. *Nat. Rev. Gastroenterol. Hepatol.* 11, 506–514. doi: 10.1038/nrgastro.2014.66
- Hume, D. A., and MacDonald, K. P. (2012). Therapeutic applications of macrophage colony-stimulating factor-1 (CSF-1) and antagonists of CSF-1 receptor (CSF-1R) signaling. *Blood* 119, 1810–1820. doi: 10.1182/blood-2011-09-379214
- Klaenhammer, T. R., Kleerebezem, M., Kopp, M. V., and Rescigno, M. (2012). The impact of probiotics and prebiotics on the immune system. *Nat. Rev. Immunol.* 12, 728–734. doi: 10.1038/nri3312
- Kok, J., van Gijtenbeek, L. A., de Jong, A., van der Meulen, S. B., Solopova, A., and Kuipers, O. P. (2017). The evolution of gene regulation research in *Lactococcus lactis. FEMS Microbiol. Rev.* 41, S220–S243. doi: 10.1093/femsre/fux028
- Lebeer, S., Bron, P. A., Marco, M. L., Van Pijkeren, J. P., O'Connell Motherway, M., Hill, C., et al. (2018). Identification of probiotic effector molecules: present state and future perspectives. *Curr. Opin. Biotechnol.* 49, 217–223. doi: 10.1016/j. copbio.2017.10.007
- Li, R., Zhang, Y., Polk, D. B., Tomasula, P. M., Yan, F., and Liu, L. (2016). Preserving viability of *Lactobacillus rhamnosus* GG in vitro and in vivo by a new encapsulation system. *J. Control. Release* 230, 79–87. doi: 10.1016/j.jconrel. 2016.04.009
- McLean, M. H., Andrews, C., Hanson, M. L., Baseler, W. A., Anver, M. R., Senkevitch, E., et al. (2017). Interleukin-27 Is a potential rescue therapy for acute severe colitis through interleukin-10-dependent. *Inflamm. Bowel Dis.* 23, 1983–1995. doi: 10.1097/MIB.00000000001274
- Mierau, I., and Kleerebezem, M. (2005). 10 years of the nisin-controlled gene expression system (NICE) in *Lactococcus lactis. Appl. Microbiol. Biotechnol.* 68, 705–717. doi: 10.1007/s00253-005-0107-6
- Mierau, I., Leij, P., van Swam, I., Blommestein, B., Floris, E., Mond, J., et al. (2005). Industrial-scale production and purification of a heterologous protein in *Lactococcus lactis* using the nisin-controlled gene expression system NICE: the case of lysostaphin. *Microb. cell fact.* 4:15.
- Mohammedsaeed, W., Cruickshank, S., McBain, A. J., and O'Neill, C. A. (2015). Lactobacillus rhamnosus GG lysate increases re-epithelialization of keratinocyte scratch assays by promoting migration. Sci. Rep. 5:16147. doi: 10.1038/ srep16147

- Quickel, K. E. Jr., Selden, R., Caldwell, J. R., Nora, N. F., and Schaffner, W. (1971). Efficacy and safety of topical lysostaphin treatment of persistent nasal carriage of *Staphylococcus aureus*. *Appl. Microbiol.* 22, 446–450.
- Robert, S., Gysemans, C., Takiishi, T., Korf, H., Spagnuolo, I., Sebastiani, G., et al. (2014). Oral delivery of Glutamic Acid Decarboxylase (GAD)-65 and IL10 by *Lactococcus lactis* reverses diabetes in recent-onset NOD mice. *Diabetes* 63, 2876–2887. doi: 10.2337/db13-1236
- Robert, S., and Steidler, L. (2014). Recombinant *Lactococcus lactis* can make the difference in antigen-specific immune tolerance induction, the Type 1 diabetes case. *Microb. cell fact.* 13(Suppl. 1):S11. doi: 10.1186/1475-2859-13-S 1-S11
- Sica, A., and Mantovani, A. (2012). Macrophage plasticity and polarization: in vivo veritas. J. Clin. Invest. 122, 787–795. doi: 10.1172/JCI59643
- Steidler, L. (2003). Genetically engineered probiotics. Best pract. Res. Clin. Gastroenterol. 17, 861–876. doi: 10.1016/S1521-6918(03)00072-6
- Steidler, L., Hans, W., Schotte, L., Neirynck, S., Obermeier, F., Falk, W., et al. (2000). Treatment of murine colitis by *Lactococcus lactis* secreting interleukin-10. *Science* 289, 1352–1355. doi: 10.1126/science.289.5483.1352
- Szatraj, K., Szczepankowska, A. K., and Chmielewska-Jeznach, M. (2017). Lactic acid bacteria - promising vaccine vectors: possibilities, limitations, doubts. *J. Appl. Microbiol.* 123, 325–339. doi: 10.1111/jam.13446
- Thumm, G., and Gotz, F. (1997). Studies on prolysostaphin processing and characterization of the lysostaphin immunity factor (Lif) of *Staphylococcus simulans* biovar staphylolyticus. *Mol. Microbiol.* 23, 1251–1265. doi: 10.1046/ j.1365-2958.1997.2911657.x
- van Baarlen, P., Troost, F., van der Meer, C., Hooiveld, G., Boekschoten, M., Brummer, R. J., et al. (2011). Human mucosal in vivo transcriptome responses to three lactobacilli indicate how probiotics may modulate human cellular pathways. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 108(Suppl. 1), 4562–4569. doi: 10.1073/ pnas.1000079107
- Vandenbroucke, K., Hans, W., Van Huysse, J., Neirynck, S., Demetter, P., Remaut, E., et al. (2004). Active delivery of trefoil factors by genetically modified *Lactococcus lactis* prevents and heals acute colitis in mice. *Gastroenterology* 127, 502–513. doi: 10.1053/j.gastro.2004.05.020
- Wang, M., Gao, Z., Zhang, Y., and Pan, L. (2016). Lactic acid bacteria as mucosal delivery vehicles: a realistic therapeutic option. *Appl. Microbiol. Biotechnol.* 100, 5691–5701. doi: 10.1007/s00253-016-7557-x
- Wyszynska, A., Kobierecka, P., Bardowski, J., and Jagusztyn-Krynicka, E. K. (2015). Lactic acid bacteria–20 years exploring their potential as live vectors for mucosal vaccination. *Appl. Microbiol. Biotechnol.* 99, 2967–2977. doi: 10.1007/s00253-015-6498-0
- Yan, F., Cao, H., Cover, T. L., Washington, M. K., Shi, Y., Liu, L., et al. (2011). Colon-specific delivery of a probiotic-derived soluble protein ameliorates intestinal inflammation in mice through an EGFR-dependent mechanism. *J. Clin. Invest.* 121, 2242–2253. doi: 10.1172/JCI44031
- Yan, F., and Polk, D. B. (2012). Characterization of a probiotic-derived soluble protein which reveals a mechanism of preventive and treatment effects of probiotics on intestinal inflammatory diseases. *Gut microbes* 3, 25–28. doi: 10.4161/gmic.19245
- Yun, Y. R., Won, J. E., Jeon, E., Lee, S., Kang, W., Jo, H., et al. (2010). Fibroblast growth factors: biology, function, and application for tissue regeneration. *J. Tissue Eng.* 2010:218142. doi: 10.4061/2010/218142

Conflict of Interest Statement: PB was employed by the company NIZO Food Research BV. Part of the work by PB and MK was funded by the BE-Basic Program. Neither employer, nor funding agency had a role in the preparation of the manuscript.

Copyright © 2018 Bron and Kleerebezem. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Anti-tumoral Effects of Recombinant *Lactococcus lactis* Strain Secreting IL-17A Cytokine

Elsa Jacouton^{1†}, Edgar Torres Maravilla^{1†}, Anne-Sophie Boucard¹, Nicolas Pouderous¹, Ana Paula Pessoa Vilela^{1,2}, Isabelle Naas¹, Florian Chain¹, Vasco Azevedo², Philippe Langella¹ and Luis G. Bermúdez-Humarán^{1*}

¹ Micalis Institute, AgroParisTech, INRA, Université Paris-Saclay, Jouy-en-Josas, France, ² Instituto de Ciências Biológicas,

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Aleš Berlec, Jožef Stefan Institute (IJS), Slovenia

Reviewed by:

Scott Kenneth Durum, National Cancer Institute (NCI), United States Apon Zaenal Mustopa, Indonesia Institute of Sciences (LIPI), Indonesia

*Correspondence:

Luis G. Bermúdez-Humarán luis.bermudez@inra.fr †These authors have contributed equally to this work

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Infectious Diseases, a section of the journal Frontiers in Microbiology

Received: 24 May 2018 Accepted: 31 December 2018 Published: 23 January 2019

Citation:

Jacouton E, Torres Maravilla E, Boucard A-S, Pouderous N, Pessoa Vilela AP, Naas I, Chain F, Azevedo V, Langella P and Bermúdez-Humarán LG (2019) Anti-tumoral Effects of Recombinant Lactococcus lactis Strain Secreting IL-17A Cytokine. Front. Microbiol. 9:3355. doi: 10.3389/fmicb.2018.03355 Interleukin-17A (IL-17A) is a pro-inflammatory cytokine produced by T_{H17} cells that participates and contributes in host defense and autoimmune disease. We have recently reported antitumor properties of the probiotic strain of Lactobacillus casei BL23 in mice and T_{H17} cells was shown to play an important role in this beneficial effect. In order to better understand the role of IL-17A in cancer, we constructed a recombinant strain of Lactococcus lactis producing this cytokine and we determined its biological activity in: (i) a bioassay test for the induction of IL-6 production by murine fibroblasts 3T3 L1 cells line and (ii) in a mouse allograft model of human papilloma virus (HPV)-induced cancer. Our data show that recombinant L. lactis produces and efficiently secretes biologically active IL-17A cytokine. Interestingly, ~26% of mice intranasally treated with L. lactis-IL-17A and challenged with TC-1 cells remained tumor free over the experiment, in contrast to control mice treated with the wild type strain of L. lactis which developed 100% of aggressive tumors. In addition, the median size of the \sim 74% tumor-bearing mice treated with recombinant L. lactis-IL-17A, was significantly lower than mice treated with L. lactis-wt. Altogether, our results demonstrate that intranasal administration with L. lactis secreting IL-17A results in a partial protection against TC-1-induced tumors in mice, confirming antitumor effects of this cytokine in our cancer model.

Keywords: Lactococcus lactis, lactic acid bacteria, IL-17A, cancer, HPV

Federal University of Minas Gerais, Belo Horizonte, Brazil

INTRODUCTION

Cancer remains a serious health concern in human society worldwide and colorectal cancer (CRC), prostrate, lung, stomach, liver and breast cancers are among the major types associated with significant mortality every year (Ferlay et al., 2012). Cancer is generally considered to be a disease involving both host genetics and environmental factors; however microorganisms (such as viruses and bacteria) are associated in \sim 20% of human cancers (de Martel et al., 2012). Recent studies suggest that probiotics can help to fight cancer. Probiotics are live

microorganism which, when administered in adequate amounts confer a health benefit on the host (Food and Agriculture Organization, 2002). For instance, probiotics can induce dendritic cells (DC) maturation (Delcenserie et al., 2008), enhance natural killer (NK) cells cytotoxicity (Takagi et al., 2001), and upregulate cytokine secretion (Delcenserie et al., 2008; Azcarate-Peril et al., 2011). It has also been reported that some strains of Lactobacillus can induce DC maturation and T_{H1} (antiviral and bacterial immunity) and T_{H17} (inflammation and auto-immunity) differentiation (Kemgang et al., 2014; Cai et al., 2016; Lee et al., 2016). However, despite the great number of studies that have demonstrated anticancer effects of different strains of Lactobacillus (Khazaie et al., 2012; Konishi et al., 2016; Lenoir et al., 2016), the precise host molecular mechanisms of these antitumor properties remain unclear. Next generation probiotics, such as Akkermansia muciniphila and Faecalibacterium genus as well as genetically modified microorganisms (GMOs) (O'Toole et al., 2017) have demonstrated beneficial effects in the context of cancer, promoting the immune checkpoints inhibitors therapy targeting the programmed cell death protein 1 (PD-1) and cytotoxic lymphocyte-associated antigen (CTLA-4). In addition, other studies support the role of Bifidobacterium, Bacteroides, Faecalibacterium and Akkermansia species in cancer therapy targeting the immune checkpoint blockade (CTLA-4, PD-1), showing a T cellspecific anti-tumor-induced response (Sivan et al., 2015; Vetizou et al., 2015; Gopalakrishnan et al., 2018; Routy et al., 2018).

We previously demonstrated that mucosal administration of the probiotic strain of Lactobacillus casei BL23 displays antitumor properties in three different murine models of cancer (Lenoir et al., 2016; Jacouton et al., 2017). Interestingly, we showed that this strain was able to modulate a T-cell immune response toward a T_{H17}-biased immune response, accompanied by the expression of regulatory cytokines (e.g., IL-6, IL-17, IL-10, and TGF- β), in a murine model of CRC (Lenoir et al., 2016). In particular we were intrigued by IL-17 induction, since IL-17 seems to be essential for both metastasis and elimination of tumor cells (Murugaiyan and Saha, 2009). Thus, IL-17-producing T_{H17} cells have recently gained considerable importance in cancer (Maniati et al., 2010). Therefore, we hypothesized that IL-17induced by L. casei BL23 could play an important role in the anti-tumor effect of this probiotic strain. We thus decided to use a genetically modified strain of Lactococcus lactis, the model lactic acid bacterium (LAB), to produce and deliver exogenous murine IL-17 and to determine its anti-tumor effect in a mouse allograft model of human papilloma virus (HPV)-induced cancer.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Bacterial Strains and Growth Conditions

L. lactis MG1363 (Gasson, 1983) was grown in M17 medium (Difco Laboratories, England) supplemented with 0.5% glucose (GM17) and 15 μ g/ml of chloramphenicol at 30°C without agitation.

Construction of a Recombinant Strain of *L. lactis* Secreting Murine IL-17

To construct a vector which will allow stress-inducible IL-17 expression in L. lactis a DNA fragment encoding IL-17 mature sequence was obtained from a recombinant plasmid containing murine *il-17* gene (synthesized by Geneart, Invitrogen) with NsiI/EcoRI enzymes. As previously described (Benbouziane et al., 2013), we used pLB333 vector containing nucB gene under the control of the stress inducible groESL promotor. pLB333 was digested with the same enzymes to replace nuc gene by il-17 gene. The resulting vector, pSICE:IL-17 (Figure 1A), was established into L. lactis MG1363 strain to obtain L. lactis-IL-17. For detection of IL-17, L. lactis-IL-17 strain (L. lactis-wt was used as negative control) was grown overnight (ON, optical density $(OD)_{600nm} = 2.0-2.5$) as described above. Plasmid DNA isolation and general procedures for DNA manipulation were essentially performed as described previously (Sambrook et al., 1989). PCR amplification was performed using High Fidelity PCR Enzyme Mix (Fermentas) with a thermal cycler (Applied Biosystem). DNA sequences were confirmed by sequencing (MWG-Genomic Company, Germany).

In vitro Validation of IL-17 Production and Secretion by Recombinant *L. lactis*

Over-night cultures were washed twice using PBS and culture pursued (after a 1:10 dilution in GM17 medium) until OD_{600nm} \sim 0.6. Then, cultures were induced with 2.5% NaCl for 30 min and protein samples prepared from 2 ml of the induced cultures. After centrifugation (10 min, 17500g), the cellular pellet (C) and supernatant (S) were treated separately. The S samples were precipitated with 200 µl of trichloroacetic acid (TCA) 100% for 1 h on ice to recover proteins (centrifugation at 17500g at 4°C for 30 min) and resuspended in 200 µl of 50mM NaOH. The C fraction was resuspended in 200 µl of PBS plus protease inhibitors (Roche) and sonicated 30 s with alternated pulses on ice (on: 5 s, off: 30 s). Protein samples were diluted 1:1 in Laemmli sample buffer containing 355 mM β-mercaptoethanol and denaturated 5 min at 95°C. Equal amounts of proteins were loaded and separated on a Mini-PROTEAN TGX stain free 4-20% SDS gel at 200 V and further transferred to a PVDF membrane using a Trans-Blot Turbo transfer system (Biorad). Membrane was probed with primary antibody antimouse IL-17A (R&D Systems) and secondary anti-rat IgG HRP-conjugated antibody (Abliance) at 1:1000 dilutions. Bound secondary antibody was visualized by the Clarity ECL Western Substrate (Bio-Rad) and Chemidoc imaging system (Biorad). The concentration of IL-17A secreted in the medium was assessed by ELISA (mouse IL-17 ELISA Development Kit, Mabtech).

Determination of the Biological Activity of IL-17 Produced by Recombinant *L. lactis*

Murine fibroblasts 3T3 L1 cells line, grown in DMEM medium (Lonza, Switzerland) supplemented with 10% heat-inactivated fetal calf serum (FCS), 50 U/ml penicillin and 50 U/ml streptomycin (Lonza, Levallois-Perret, France) were cultivated



markers is indicated on the left. The position of mature murine IL-17 is given by an arrow. Values are mean \pm SEM.

at 1×10^5 cells per well during 24 h at 37°C, 5% CO₂. Then, medium was changed and bacterial preparations added at 10% for supernatants, pellet and control medium or MOI 100 for bacteria suspensions during 24 h. Supernatants of co-incubations were collected and stored at -80° C before ELISA analyses (mouse IL-6 DuoSet ELISA, R&D).

Mice and TC-1 Cell Line

Specific pathogen-free C57BL/6 mice (females, 6–8 weeks old; Janvier SAS, St. Berthevin, France) were housed in a pathogenfree isolator (n = 4 mice per cage) under sterile conditions in 12-h light cycles in the animal facilities of the French National Institute for Agricultural Research (INRA, IERP, Jouy-en-Josas, France). Animals were supplied with water and fed *ad libitum* (normal chow: R 03-40, SAFE). Temperature and moisture were carefully controlled. Mice were observed once a day to ensure their welfare. All protocols were carried out in accordance with the institutional ethical guidelines of the ethics committee COMETHEA (Comité d'Ethique en Expérimentation Animale of the Centre INRA of Jouy-en-Josas and AgroParisTech), which approved this study.

The mouse (C57BL/6) lung tumor cell line TC-1 (generated by transduction with a retroviral vector harboring HPV-16 E6/E7 genes plus a retrovirus expressing activated human oncogene c-Ha-*ras* (Lin et al., 1996)) was grown in RPMI medium 1640 (Lonza, Switzerland) supplemented with 10% heat-inactivated FCS, 50 U/ml penicillin, 50 U/ml streptomycin (Lonza, Levallois-Perret, France), 0.4 mg/ml G418 and 0.2 mg/ml hygromycin in 5% CO₂ atmosphere.

TC-1 Cell Line Challenge and Bacteria Administration

Groups of mice (n = 22 from 3 independent *in vivo* experiments) were intranasally (i.n.) administered using a micropipette with 1×10^9 colony-forming units (CFU) of either L. lactis-wt or L. lactis-IL-17 strain (suspended in 10 µl of PBS). ON cultures were washed two times and finally suspended in PBS at 1 \times 10^{11} CFU/ml. Each mouse received 5 μl of the solution in each nostril on days -35, -21, and -7. Control mice received identical quantities of PBS (i.e., 10 µl). Mice were challenged 7 days after the final bacterial administration (D0) by subcutaneous (s.c.) injection in the right rear flank with 5×10^4 TC-1 cells in 100 μl of sterile PBS. The dimensions of the tumor at the site of injection were measured every week in two perpendicular directions with a caliper, and tumor volume was estimated as $(length \times width^2)/2$ (Bermudez-Humaran et al., 2005). Mice were sacrificed by vertebral dislocation at D28.

Analysis of the Immune Response in Mice Treated With Recombinant *L. lactis* and Challenged With TC-1 Cells

Mice were euthanatized at D28 and spleens collected and isolated via gentle extrusion of the tissue through a 50- μ m-mesh nylon cell strainer (BD). Cells were resuspended in DMEM medium supplemented with 10% FCS, 2 mM L-glutamine, 50 U/mg penicillin and 50 U/mg streptomycin. Erythrocytes

were lysed with red-blood-cell lysing buffer (Sigma-Aldrich). For stimulation experiments, 1×10^6 cells per well were stimulated for 48 h (37°C, 10% CO2) in DMEM medium in P24 plates in presence of PMA (phorbol 12-myristate 13-acetate) ionomycin cocktail $1 \times$ (eBioscience). Culture supernatant was frozen at -80° C until processing. Levels of the cytokines IL-6 (mouse IL-6 DuoSet ELISA, R&D), IL-17A, and IFN- γ (ELISA Development Kit, Mabtech) were determined using ELISA according manufacturer's instructions.

Statistical Analysis

All data are expressed as mean values and standard deviations. Data analysis was performed using the GraphPad Prism Software V.5.00. Experiments were analyzed using an unpaired *t*-test. The two-tailed unpaired Mann–Whitney test was used to evaluate differences between two groups. In all experiments, a value of P < 0.05 was considered significant (*P < 0.05, **P < 0.01, ***P < 0.001).

RESULTS

Characterization of IL-17 Production by Recombinant *Lactococcus lactis*

Before to test the biological effect of the genetically modified strain of *L. lactis* harboring pSICE:IL-17 plasmid (**Figure 1A**), we first analyzed IL-17 production and secretion from both nonstressed and stressed *L. lactis*-wt and *L. lactis*-IL-17 cultures by Western blot (**Figure 1B**). A band of approximately 15 kDa was detected in the supernatant (S) fraction from induced cultures of *L. lactis*-IL-17 strain, which corresponds to secreted mature murine IL-17. IL-17 secretion and quantification was then determined by ELISA in C and S samples. As shown in **Figure 1C**, a better production of IL-17 was observed (~3-fold) under stress conditions (i.e., NaCl 2.5%): ~15,000 pg/ml versus ~5000 pg/ml. As expected no IL-17 signal was detected in the negative control *L. lactis*-wt.

Recombinant *Lactococcus lactis* Secretes a Biologically Active IL-17 Cytokine

Besides IL-17 detection in S samples of bacterial cultures, we determined the biological activity of this cytokine secreted by recombinant *L. lactis.* IL-17A is known to stimulate several cytokines (including IL-6) in different cell lines (such as fibroblast, epithelial cells and immune cells). Thus, we selected murine fibroblasts 3T3 L1 cells to assess specific IL-6-induction by recombinant *L. lactis.* Our results showed that S samples of *L. lactis*-IL-17 strain and stressed with NaCl 2.5% induced a significant IL-6 secretion in 3T3 L1 cells (**Figure 2A**) in comparison with their respective negative control. No significant IL-6 production was observed in bacterial cultures without stress induction. In parallel we confirmed by ELISA the presence of IL-17 cytokine in S samples of recombinant bacteria (**Figure 2B**).

L. lactis IL-17 Has a Protective Effect Against Tumors in TC-1 Allograft Model of HPV-Induced Cancer

To further evaluate *in vivo* the biological activity of IL-17 produced by recombinant *L. lactis*, and in particular the impact of this cytokine in the TC-1 mouse allograft model of HPVinduced cancer, we analyzed the effect after *i.n.* administration of this strain in the TC-1 tumor mice. Mice were immunized as described in Material and Methods and tumor absence/presence monitored every week. As shown in **Figure 3A**, *L. lactis* IL-17 displayed a protective effect against tumor development at D28 (the end of the experiment) since 77% (5/22) of mice that had been administered *L. lactis* IL-17 developed tumors with a mean tumor size of ~0.80 cm³ (**Figure 3B**) compared to 100% (22/22) of mice receiving *L. lactis-wt* control strain (mean tumor size of ~1.2 cm³) (**Figures 3A,B**). These results confirm





that IL-17 cytokine display anti-tumor effects in our cancer model.

L. lactis IL-17 Induces IL-6 and IL-17 Secretion in Reactivated Splenocytes From Mice Challenged With the Tumoral Cell Line

In order to further explore the impact on the immune response of mice treated with recombinant *L. lactis* IL-17 we analyzed cytokines release by reactivated splenocytes from mice 28 days after *i.n* administration of recombinant bacteria and challenged with TC-1 cells. Interestingly, *L. lactis* IL-17 induced a significant IL-6 secretion in splenocytes compared to *L. lactis*-wt (**Figure 4**). This modulation was correlated with a slight IL-17 induction but without reach statistical significance (**Figure 4**). No effect was observed on IFN- γ production by recombinant bacteria (**Figure 4**).

DISCUSSION AND CONCLUSION

A better understanding of the interactions between cancer cells and stromal components in the tumor associated pro-inflammatory microenvironment would be important for the management of this disease (Ferlay et al., 2012). Anti-tumor response involves different components of the immune system, such as NK cells, DC, macrophages and T cells. A growing body of evidence suggests that probiotics can help to combat cancer by either protecting against gastrointestinal infections or enhancing immune response. Indeed, it has been shown that probiotics can induce DC maturation (Delcenserie et al., 2008), enhance NK cell cytotoxicity (Takagi et al., 2001), and upregulate cytokine secretion (Delcenserie et al., 2008; Azcarate-Peril et al., 2011). In addition, recent studies described the role of specific members of microbiota in cancer therapy by targeting the immune checkpoint blockade (CTLA-4, PD-1) (Sivan et al., 2015; Vetizou et al., 2015; Gopalakrishnan et al., 2018; Routy et al., 2018).



FIGURE 3 [Effect of recombinant *L. lactis* expressing IL-17 against tumors in TC-1 allograft model of HPV-induced cancer. Mice were *i.n.* treated with 1×10^9 CFU resuspended in 10 µl of PBS (5 µl were administered with a micropipette into each nostril) on D-35, -21, and -7. Seven days after the last administration (D0), a challenge with the tumoral cell line TC-1 was performed, and the presence and size of the tumor was monitored once a week. **(A)** Tumor incidence with proportions of tumor-free animals **(B)** Individual tumor volume at the end of week 10. Data represented mean \pm SEM from 3 independent *in vivo* experiments.



FIGURE 4 | Cytokines production by reactivated splenocytes from mice treated with recombinant bacteria and challenged with TC-1 cells. Splenocytes were stimulated for 48 h with PMA ionomycin before measuring cytokines levels. Data represented mean ± SEM from 4 (*L. lactis* wt) to 8 mice (*L. lactis* IL-17). Data are analyzed with unpaired *t*-test followed by Mann–Withney post-test.

Among the potential anti-tumoral mechanisms of probiotics, two of the most known are the modulation of the immune response and the induction of cellular apoptosis. For instance, two strains of *L. casei* are able to decrease tumor cell proliferation and enhance apoptosis in allograft models of CRC (Lee et al., 2004; Baldwin et al., 2010; Konishi et al., 2016). Similarly, oral administration of a L. casei strain reduces the onset of chemically induced tumors via the stimulation of IL-12 or NK-cell cytotoxicity mechanisms (Takagi et al., 2001, 2008). Furthermore, our team recently demonstrated protective effects of the probiotic strain L. casei BL23 in three different mouse models of cancer, including CRC (Lenoir et al., 2016; Jacouton et al., 2017) and the TC-1 allograft model (Lenoir et al., 2016). In one of our two CRC models (Lenoir et al., 2016), the anti-tumor effects of L. casei BL23 were associated with the reduction of pro-inflammatory cytokines, but the precise molecular and cellular mechanisms involved in tumor prevention of this bacterium remain unclear. Since cancer therapy includes chemotherapy, drug, vaccines, and cytokines, and for instance, current therapies are toward to enhance the immune system as use of pro-inflammatory cytokines (such as IL-2, one of the first cytokines used in cancer therapy) and immune check points inhibitors (CTLA-4, PD-1). In this work, we constructed a recombinant strain of L. lactis expressing IL-17. Strikingly, we showed that *i.n.* administration of this strain results in a lower tumor incidence and that tumor size was reduced in comparison to the control L. lactis-wt, a LAB strain for which no positive effect has been reported in the HPVinduced cancer model. Our results not only suggest a positive effect of IL-17 but also reinforce the idea that some of the molecular mechanisms of L. casei BL23 against cancer could be related to activation of T_H and NK via T_{H17}. IL-17 is a pro-inflammatory cytokine, although its role is controversially, some studies report that IL-17 deficiency state may have a protective role or a harmful role in tumorigenesis (Welch et al., 2015; Qian et al., 2017). For example, in IL-17 deficient mice, enhanced lung and subcutaneous tumor growth and metastasis is correlated to a decrease in the number of IFNy producing NK cells (Kryczek et al., 2009). Recent research provided substantial insights into the mode of action of IL-17 cytokines in a variety of tumors, suggesting an anti-tumor activity of IL-17 could be achieved by means of a T celldependent mechanism increasing generation of specific cytotoxic

REFERENCES

- Alshaker, H. A., and Matalka, K. Z. (2011). IFN-γ, IL-17 and TGF-β involvement in shaping the tumor microenvironment: the significance of modulating such cytokines in treating malignant solid tumors. *Cancer Cell Int.* 11, 33–33. doi: 10.1186/1475-2867-11-33
- Azcarate-Peril, M. A., Sikes, M., and Bruno-Barcena, J. M. (2011). The intestinal microbiota, gastrointestinal environment and colorectal cancer: a putative role for probiotics in prevention of colorectal cancer? *Am. J. Physiol. Gastrointest. liver physiol.* 301, G401–G424. doi: 10.1152/ajpgi.00110.2011
- Baldwin, C., Millette, M., Oth, D., Ruiz, M. T., Luquet, F. M., and Lacroix, M. (2010). Probiotic *Lactobacillus acidophilus* and *L. casei* mix sensitize colorectal tumoral cells to 5-fluorouracil-induced apoptosis. *Nutr. Cancer* 62, 371–378. doi: 10.1080/01635580903407197

T lymphocytes (Alshaker and Matalka, 2011). Paradigms are changing, and IL-17 cytokines are double-edged agents acting in a cancer-type depending manner as anti- and pro-tumor cytokines (Fabre et al., 2016). IL-6 is a pro-inflammatory cytokine involved, in part, in a TH17-related immune response with a feedback loop. Thus, we assessed the *in vivo* ability of *L. lactis* secreting IL-17 to stimulate the TH17 pathway. Here, we demonstrated an *in vivo* induction of IL-6 resulting in an increase of IL-17. We hypothesized that the anti-tumoral effect of recombinant lactococci secreting biologically active IL-17 could due to a TH17 immune response even if more experiments are needed to further decipher the precise molecular mechanisms.

In conclusion, our results demonstrate that *i.n.* administration with a genetically modified strain of *L. lactis* secreting IL-17 results in a partial protection against TC-1-induced tumors in mice, confirming antitumor effects of this cytokine in this model.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

EJ and LB-H conceived and designed the study. EJ, ETM, and A-SB conducted all experiments. NP, APV, IN, FC, and VA contributed analytic tools. EJ, ETM, PL and LB-H performed the data analysis. ETM and LB-H wrote the manuscript.

FUNDING

This work was partially funded by the Association pour la Recherche sur le Cancer (ARC, France): action no PGA12014020851. ETM received a post-doctoral fellowship mobility from CONACyT (Consejo Nacional de Ciencia y Tecnología, Mexico) and APV from CAPES-COFECUB (action no 849/15).

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We are grateful to conventional animal facility' staff from INRA Jouy-en-Josas. We also thank Dr. Naima Cortes-Perez for her precious advices.

- Benbouziane, B., Ribelles, P., Aubry, C., Martin, R., Kharrat, P., and Riazi, A. (2013). Development of a stress-inducible controlled expression (SICE) system in *Lactococcus lactis* for the production and delivery of therapeutic molecules at mucosal surfaces. J. Biotechnol. 168, 120–129. doi: 10.1016/j.jbiotec.2013.04.019
- Bermudez-Humaran, L. G., Cortes-Perez, N. G., Lefevre, F., Guimaraes, V., Rabot, S., Alcocer-Gonzalez, J. M., et al. (2005). A novel mucosal vaccine based on live *Lactococci* expressing E7 antigen and IL-12 induces systemic and mucosal immune responses and protects mice against human papillomavirus type 16-induced tumors. *J. Immunol.* 175, 7297–7302. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol. 175.11.7297
- Cai, S., Kandasamy, M., Rahmat, J. N., Tham, S. M., Bay, B. H., Lee, Y. K., et al. (2016). *Lactobacillus rhamnosus* GG activation of dendritic cells and neutrophils depends on the dose and time of exposure. *J. Immunol. Res.* 2016:7402760. doi: 10.1155/2016/7402760

- de Martel, C., Ferlay, J., Franceschi, S., Vignat, J., Bray, F., Forman, D., et al. (2012). Global burden of cancers attributable to infections in 2008: a review and synthetic analysis. *Lancet Oncol.* 13, 607–615. doi: 10.1016/S1470-2045(12) 70137-7
- Delcenserie, V., Martel, D., Lamoureux, M., Amiot, J., Boutin, Y., and Roy, D. (2008). Immunomodulatory effects of probiotics in the intestinal tract. *Curr. Issues Mol. Biol.* 10, 37–54.
- Fabre, J., Giustiniani, J., Garbar, C., Antonicelli, F., Merrouche, Y., Bensussan, A., et al. (2016). Targeting the tumor microenvironment: the protumor effects of IL-17 related to cancer type. *Int. J. Mol. Sci.* 17:1433. doi: 10.3390/ijms17091433
- Ferlay, J., Soerjomataram, I., Dikshit, R., Eser, S., Mathers, C., Rebelo, M., et al. (2012). Cancer incidence and mortality worldwide: sources, methods and major patterns in GLOBOCAN. *Int. J. Cancer* 136, E359–E386. doi: 10.1002/ijc.29210
- Food and Agriculture Organization (2002). FAO/WHO Working Group Report on Drafting Guidelines for the Evaluation of Probiotics in Food. London: Food and Agriculture Organization, 11.
- Gasson, M. J. (1983). Plasmid complements of Streptococcus lactis NCDO 712 and other lactic streptococci after protoplast-induced curing. J. Bacteriol. 154, 1–9.
- Gopalakrishnan, V., Spencer, C. N., Nezi, L., Reuben, A., Andrews, M. C., Karpinets, T. V., et al. (2018). Gut microbiome modulates response to anti-PD-1 immunotherapy in melanoma patients. *Science* 359, 97–103. doi: 10.1126/ science.aan4236
- Jacouton, E., Chain, F., Sokol, H., Langella, P., and Bermudez-Humaran, L. G. (2017). Probiotic strain *Lactobacillus casei* BL23 prevents colitis-associated colorectal cancer. *Front. Immunol.* 8:1553. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2017.01553
- Kemgang, T. S., Kapila, S., Shanmugam, V. P., and Kapila, R. (2014). Cross-talk between probiotic *Lactobacilli* and host immune system. *J. Appl. Microbiol.* 117, 303–319. doi: 10.1111/jam.12521
- Khazaie, K., Zadeh, M., Khan, M. W., Bere, P., Gounari, F., Dennis, K., et al. (2012). Abating colon cancer polyposis by *Lactobacillus acidophilus* deficient in lipoteichoic acid. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U S A.* 109, 10462–10467. doi: 10.1073/ pnas.1207230109
- Konishi, H., Fujiya, M., Tanaka, H., Ueno, N., Moriichi, K., Sasajima, J., et al. (2016). Probiotic-derived ferrichrome inhibits colon cancer progression via JNK-mediated apoptosis. *Nat. Commun.* 7:12365. doi: 10.1038/ncomms12365
- Kryczek, I., Wei, S., Szeliga, W., Vatan, L., and Zou, W. (2009). Endogenous IL-17 contributes to reduced tumor growth and metastasis. *Blood* 114, 357–359. doi: 10.1182/blood-2008-09-177360
- Lee, H. A., Kim, H., Lee, K. W., and Park, K. Y. (2016). Dead *Lactobacillus* plantarum stimulates and skews immune responses toward T helper 1 and 17 polarizations in RAW 264.7 cells and mouse splenocytes. J. Microbiol. Biotechnol. 26, 469–476. doi: 10.4014/jmb.1511.11001
- Lee, J. W., Shin, J. G., Kim, E. H., Kang, H. E., Yim, I. B., Kim, J. Y., et al. (2004). Immunomodulatory and antitumor effects *in vivo* by the cytoplasmic fraction of *Lactobacillus casei* and *Bifidobacterium longum*. J. Vet. Sci. 5, 41–48.
- Lenoir, M., Del, Carmen S, Cortes-Perez, N. G., Lozano-Ojalvo, D., Muñoz-Provencio, D., Chain, F., et al. (2016). *Lactobacillus casei* BL23 regulates Treg and Th17 T-cell populations and reduces DMH-associated colorectal cancer. *J. Gastroenterol.* 51, 862–873. doi: 10.1007/s00535-015-1158-9
- Lin, K. Y., Guarnieri, F. G., StaveleyOCarroll, K. F., Levitsky, H. I., August, J. T., Pardoll, D. M., et al. (1996). Treatment of established tumors with a novel

vaccine that enhances major histocompatibility class II presentation of tumor antigen. *Cancer Res.* 56, 21–26.

- Maniati, E., Soper, R., and Hagemann, T. (2010). Up for Mischief? IL-17/Th17 in the tumour microenviroment. Oncogene 29, 5653–5662. doi: 10.1038/onc. 2010.367
- Murugaiyan, G., and Saha, B. (2009). Protumor vs antitumor functions of IL-17. J. Immunol. 183, 4169–4175. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.0901017
- O'Toole, P. W., Marchesi, J. R., and Hill, C. (2017). Next-generation probiotics: the spectrum from probiotics to live biotherapeutics. *Nat. Microbiol.* 2:17057. doi: 10.1038/nmicrobiol.2017.57
- Qian, X., Chen, H., Wu, X., Hu, L., Huang, Q., and Jin, Y. (2017). Interleukin-17 acts as double-edged sword in anti-tumor immunity and tumorigenesis. *Cytokine* 89, 34–44. doi: 10.1016/j.cyto.2015.09.011
- Routy, B., Le Chatelier, E., Derosa, L., Duong, C. P. M., Alou, M. T., Daillere, R., et al. (2018). Gut microbiome influences efficacy of PD-1-based immunotherapy against epithelial tumors. *Science* 359, 91–97. doi: 10.1126/ science.aan3706
- Sambrook, J., Fritsch, E. F., and Maniatis T. (1989). Molecular Cloning: A Laboratory Manual, 2nd Edn. Cold Spring Harbor, NY: Cold Spring Harbor Laboratory.
- Sivan, A., Corrales, L., Hubert, N., Williams, J. B., Aquino-Michaels, K., Earley, Z. M., et al. (2015). Commensal *Bifidobacterium* promotes antitumor immunity and facilitates anti-PD-L1 efficacy. *Science* 350, 1084–1089. doi: 10.1126/ science.aac4255
- Takagi, A., Ikemura, H., Matsuzaki, T., Sato, M., Nomoto, K., Morotomi, M., et al. (2008). Relationship between the *in vitro* response of dendritic cells to *Lactobacillus* and prevention of tumorigenesis in the mouse. J. Gastroenterol. 43, 661–669. doi: 10.1007/s00535-008-2212-7
- Takagi, A., Matsuzaki, T., Sato, M., Nomoto, K., Morotomi, M., and Yokokura, T. (2001). Enhancement of natural killer cytotoxicity delayed murine carcinogenesis by a probiotic microorganism. *Carcinogenesis* 22, 599–605. doi: 10.1093/carcin/22.4.599
- Vetizou, M., Pitt, J. M., Daillere, R., Lepage, P., Waldschmitt, N., Flament, C., et al. (2015). Anticancer immunotherapy by CTLA-4 blockade relies on the gut microbiota. *Science* 350, 1079–1084. doi: 10.1126/science.aad1329
- Welch, E. Z., Anderson, K. L., and Feldman, S. R. (2015). Interleukin 17 deficiency and implications in cutaneous and systemic diseases. J. Dermatol. Dermatol. Surg. 19, 73–79. doi: 10.1016/j.jdds.2015.03.004

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2019 Jacouton, Torres Maravilla, Boucard, Pouderous, Pessoa Vilela, Naas, Chain, Azevedo, Langella and Bermúdez-Humarán. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





A New Bifidobacteria Expression SysTem (BEST) to Produce and Deliver Interleukin-10 in *Bifidobacterium bifidum*

Aurélie Mauras¹, Florian Chain², Aurélie Faucheux¹, Pauline Ruffié², Sophie Gontier², Bernhard Ryffel³, Marie-José Butel¹, Philippe Langella², Luis G. Bermúdez-Humarán^{2*†} and Anne-Judith Waligora-Dupriet^{1*†}

¹ EA 4065, Ecosystème Intestinal, Probiotiques, Antibiotiques, Faculté de Pharmacie de Paris, DHU Risques et Grossesse, Université Paris Descartes, Paris, France, ² INRA, Commensals and Probiotics-Host Interactions Laboratory, Micalis Institute, AgroParisTech, Université Paris-Saclay, Jouy-en-Josas, France, ³ UMR 7355 CNRS, Laboratory of Experimental and Molecular Immunology and Neurogenetics, University of Orleans, Orleans, France

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Aleš Berlec, Jožef Stefan Institute (IJS), Slovenia

Reviewed by:

Andrey Shkoporov, University College Cork, Ireland Gi-Seong Moon, Korea National University of Transportation, South Korea

*Correspondence:

Luis G. Bermúdez-Humarán luis.bermudez@inra.fr Anne-Judith Waligora-Dupriet anne-judith.waligora@parisdescartes.fr [†]These authors have contributed equally to this work

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Infectious Diseases, a section of the journal Frontiers in Microbiology

Received: 07 May 2018 Accepted: 29 November 2018 Published: 21 December 2018

Citation:

Mauras A, Chain F, Faucheux A, Ruffié P, Gontier S, Ryffel B, Butel M-J, Langella P, Bermúdez-Humarán LG and Waligora-Dupriet A-J (2018) A New Bifidobacteria Expression SysTem (BEST) to Produce and Deliver Interleukin-10 in Bifidobacterium bifidum. Front. Microbiol. 9:3075. doi: 10.3389/fmicb.2018.03075 In the last years there has been a growing interest in the use of genetically modified bacteria to deliver molecules of therapeutic interest at mucosal surfaces. Due to the well-recognized probiotic properties of some strains, bifidobacteria represent excellent candidates for the development of live vehicles to produce and deliver heterologous proteins at mucosal surfaces. However, very few studies have considered this genus because of its complexity to be genetically manipulated. In this work, we report the development of a new Bifidobacteria Expression SysTem (BEST) allowing the production of heterologous proteins in Bifidobacterium bifidum. This system is based on: i) the broad host range plasmid pWV01, ii) a stress-inducible promoter, and iii) two different signal peptides (SPs) one issued from Lactococcus lactis (SP_{Exp4}) and issued from Bifidobacterium longum (SP_{BL1181}). The functionality of BEST system was validated by cloning murine interleukin-10 (IL-10) and establishing the resulting plasmids (i.e., pBEST_{Exp4}:IL-10 and pBEST_{BL1181}:IL-10) in the strain of *B. bifidum* BS42. We then demonstrated in vitro that recombinant B. bifidum BS42 harboring pBEST_{BI 1181}:IL-10 plasmid efficiently secreted IL-10 and that this secretion was significantly higher (sevenfold) than its counterpart *B. bifidum* BS42 harboring pBEST_{Exo4}:IL-10 plasmid. Finally, we validated in vivo that recombinant B. bifidum strains producing IL-10 using BEST system efficiently delivered this cytokine at mucosal surfaces and exhibit beneficial effects in a murine model of low-grade intestinal inflammation.

Keywords: *Bifidobacterium bifidum*, microbiota, recombinant bacteria, heterologous expression system, IL-10, low-grade intestinal inflammation

INTRODUCTION

Bifidobacteria are strict anaerobic Gram-positive bacteria with irregular forms, belonging to the dominant microbiota in the human gut (especially in young children). Some species of bifidobacteria display beneficial properties for human health and are recognized as GRAS (Generally Regarded As Safe) microorganisms. In addition, some strains are already marketed as food supplements (with probiotic claims) such as *Bifido-bacterium breve* M16-V, *Bifidobacterium longum* BB536, and *Bifidobacterium bifidum* BGN4. Probiotics are live microorganisms that, when administered in adequate amounts, confer a health benefit on the host, as defined by the World Health Organization (WHO) and the Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations (FAO) (Hill et al., 2014).

While recombinant bacteria are used in industry for the production of insulin or vaccines, researchers are increasingly interested by the direct administration of these recombinant bacteria to humans for either the development of mucosal vaccines or in situ delivery of proteins of therapeutic interest such as antioxidants, cytokines and protease inhibitors (Bermúdez-Humarán et al., 2013; Kumar et al., 2016). One of the main benefits in the use of probiotics as live vectors to deliver biologically active cytokines is to combine: (i) the intrinsic beneficial properties of some strains and (ii) the potential effect of the delivered protein. Moreover, several probiotics strains belong to some bacteria already present in our organism (i.e., intestinal microbiota) such as certain lactobacilli and bifidobacteria strains. This feature allows these strains to withstand gut environment wherein they can release biologically active molecules. Most bacteria used to deliver heterologous protein so far are lactobacilli and lactococci. Indeed, several trials have been carried out in animal models using either recombinant lactococci or lactobacilli to treat different human pathologies such as irritable bowel syndrome (IBS) and inflammatory bowel disease (IBD) (Motta et al., 2012; Martín et al., 2014; Allain et al., 2016). Strikingly, some human clinical trials (phase I and II) have been conducted with L. lactis producing either IL-10 or trefoil factor (TTF) to treat, respectively IBD (Braat et al., 2006) and oral mucositis (Limaye et al., 2013), confirming both the feasibility and the potential in the use of recombinant probiotics for human health.

In contrast to lactobacilli and lactococci, Bifidobacterium sp. could be a more attractive live vector to deliver proteins. Indeed, B. breve has been shown to persist for up to 32 days into mouse digestive tract after 3 days of gavage (Sheehan et al., 2007), in contrast to Lactobacillus plantarum which persists only 10 days (Pavan et al., 2003) and Lactococcus lactis that did not colonize with a transit time of 24-48 h (Kimoto et al., 2003). Finally, bifidobacteria have a low intrinsic and acquired resistance to antibiotics, showing therefore a safe profile for use in humans (Moubareck et al., 2005). Today, only few strains of bifidobacteria have been proposed as live delivery vehicles. For instance, some strains of *B. longum* have been used as a delivery vector for the development of: (i) oral vaccine against Hepatitis C virus (HVC) and Enterovirus 71 (Yu et al., 2013; Takei et al., 2014), (ii) anti-tumoral treatment (Shirakawa and Kitagawa, 2017), and (iii) to treat metabolic disorders in mice (Zhang et al., 2018). Other reports have described the use of genetically modified bifidobacteria to express diverse heterologous proteins (Khokhlova et al., 2010; Losurdo et al., 2013).

Currently, several expression systems are available for both lactobacilli and lactococci, including constitutive and inducible promoters and the possibility to express the desired protein into different cellular locations (i.e., intracellular, extracellular, or cell wall-attached) (Bermúdez-Humarán et al., 2013). However, as some proteins (such as cytokines) can accumulate in the cytoplasm and consequently be deleterious to bacteria growth, there is a need to develop new controlled-expression systems. These systems could avoid the negative outcomes of the overproduction of heterologous proteins by controlling expression through an inductor such as changes in either the pH, temperature or even the addition of bile salts or antimicrobial peptides. One of the best-described expression systems in L. lactis is the NICE system (for NIsin Controlled Expression) (Kuipers et al., 1995), where gene expression is turned on by the addition of nisin to the culture medium. However, NICE system requires the presence of some regulatory genes (i.e., *nisRK*) that hampers its further applications in both fed-batch production and in vivo models. One alternative is the use of an expression system that does not require either the presence of regulatory genes or induction of bacterial cultures before use. Thus, we developed in our laboratory two in vivo stress-inducible expression systems for both lactococci [i.e., the SICE system (Benbouziane et al., 2013)] and lactobacilli [i.e., the LIVE system (Allain et al., 2016)], which allow the direct delivery of heterologous proteins in situ by recombinant bacteria. In the current work, we seek to develop a comparable system to deliver proteins of health interest by recombinant bifidobacteria. This system, named BEST for Bifidobacteria Expression SysTem, is based in the use of the broad-host range plasmid pWV01 (Morello et al., 2008), a dnaK promoter from B. longum dnaK operon, and two different signal peptides (SPs): one issued from the lactic acid bacterium (LAB) model L. lactis (SP_{Exp4}) (Morello et al., 2008), and one from B. longum: SPBL1181. Furthermore, the functionality of BEST system was validated in vivo. For this, we cloned murine interleukin-10 (IL-10) an anti-inflammatory cytokine successfully expressed in different LAB (Braat et al., 2006), under BEST system and we determine its beneficial effects in a model of murine colitis (Martín et al., 2014). Our results show that genetically modified B. bifidum BS42 harboring IL-10 under BEST system successfully delivered the recombinant cytokine at mucosal surfaces and display beneficial properties in the murine model of intestinal low-grade inflammation.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Bacterial Strains, Plasmids, and DNA Manipulation

Strains and plasmids used in this work are listed in **Table 1**. *Escherichia coli* was grown in Luria-Bertani medium (Oxoid, Dardilly, France) at 37°C, under aerobic conditions with shaking. *L. lactis* was grown in M17 medium (Difco Laboratories, Detroit, MI, United States) supplemented with 1% glucose at 30°C without agitation. Bifidobacteria were cultured in de Man Rogosa Sharpe medium (MRS, Oxoid), supplemented prior to inoculation with cysteine (500 mg/L, Oxoid), at 37°C under anaerobic conditions (N2:CO2:H2; 80:10:10) in an anaerobic chamber (MACS, Chemunex AES Laboratoire, Bruz, France). Recombinant bacteria were selected by the addition of chloramphenicol (10 mg/L) except for *E. coli* harboring TOPO plasmid which was selected with kanamycin (50 mg/L).

TABLE 1 | Bacterial strains and plasmids used in this study.

Strain or plasmid	Characteristic(s) ^a	Reference or source	
Strains			
E. coli TOP10	Commercial competent cells	TOPOKit Invitrogen	
B. bifidum BS42	Infant feces	Ménard et al., 2008	
Plasmids			
pCR®2.1	Ap ^R K ^R subcloning TOPO vector	TOPOKit Invitrogen	
pCR-TOPO:dnaK	Ap ^R K ^R pCR-TOPO subcloning vector harboring a DNA fragment containing <i>dnaK</i> promoter	This study	
pLB141	Cm ^R , pGK plasmid (a derivative from the broad host range plasmid pWV01) expressing a secreted form of the Staphylococcal nuclease (Nuc)(cassette SPexp4-NucB) under the control PnisA promoter	Morello et al., 2008	
pLB270	Cm ^R , pGK plasmid expressing a secreted form of murine IL-10 (cassette SPLcob-IL-10) under the control PnisA promoter	Motta et al., 2012	
pBEST _{Exp4} :NUC	Cm ^R , pGK plasmid expressing a secreted form of the Staphylococcal nuclease (Nuc)(cassette SPexp4-NucB) under the control PdnaK promoter	This study	
pBEST _{Exp4} :IL-10	Cm ^R , pGK plasmid expressing a secreted form of murine II-10 (cassette SP _{Exp4} -IL-10) under the control PdnaK promoter	This study	
pCR-TOPO:SP _{BL1181}	Ap ^R K ^R pCR-TOPO subcloning vector harboring a DNA fragment containing the signal peptide of BL1181 hypothetical protein from <i>B. longum</i>	This study	
pBEST _{BL1181} :IL-10	Cm ^R , pGK plasmid expressing a secreted form of murine IL-10 (cassette SP _{BL1181} -IL-10) under the control PdnaK promoter	This study	

^a For strains origin are given; for plasmids and cloned cassette characteristic are given. Ap, ampicillin; K, kanamycin; Cm, chloramphenicol.

General procedures for DNA manipulation were essentially performed as described previously (Sambrook et al., 1989). Plasmid DNA isolation was performed using the Qiagen Midiprep kit (Qiagen, Courtaboeuf, France). DNA sequences were confirmed by sequencing (Genewiz, Paris, France). Plasmid constructions were first established in either E. coli or L. lactis by electrotransformation (Sambrook et al., 1989) and then transferred into bifidobacteria. Electrocompetent B. bifidum protocols were adapted from Alvarez (Álvarez-Martín et al., 2008). Briefly, bifidobacteria were grown up to the optical density 0.6 at 600 nm (OD_{600nm}) in MRS supplemented with 0.5 M of sucrose. Cultures were then put on ice for 20 min. After centrifugation for 15 min at 4700 rpm, 4°C, pellets were washed three times with cold 0.5 M sucrose + 10% glycerol. This step allowed a 200-fold bifidobacteria concentration. Aliquots were incubated 1 h on ice, and then frozen at -80° C. Cells $(5 \times 10^{10}$ colony-forming units, CFU/mL) were electroporated at 200 Ω, 2.5 kV/cm, 25 µF (Bio-Rad, Marnes-la-Coquette, France) with 0.1-0.3 µg of DNA and resuspended in MRS for 3 h at 37°C in anaerobic condition before plating on MRS agar plus chloramphenicol (10 mg/L).

Construction of the Bifidobacteria Expression SysTem (BEST)

For the construction of a vector allowing heterologous protein production in *Bifidobacterium* sp., we cloned *dnaK* promoter from a strain of *B. longum* into pLB141 vector (**Table 1**; Morello et al., 2008), a derivative of the broad-host range plasmid pWV01 (GenBank Accession Number: NC_002192). Briefly, a DNA fragment (241 bp) containing *dnaK* promoter was amplified by PCR from genomic DNA of *B. longum* (GenBank Accession Number: NC_004307.2) with primers: *BglII-PdnaK* (5'-CCAAGATCTCAAAAAACBTGAGCCWAMMWYRCTCA ACTT-3') for the coding strand and *NheI-PdnaK* (5'-AGCT AGCGTTAATAAAGCAAGGTTTATTTTTTTCATAACGTGTG CTCCTTAATTAYTCGTTTGTTCTTACGTTSTTYG-3') for the complementary strand (with B = C or G or T; W = A or T; M = Aor C; Y = C or T; R = A or G). The PCR product was then subcloned into a pCR-TOPO plasmid (Invitrogen, Carlsbad, CA, United States) resulting in pCR-TOPO:dnaK (Table 1). Then, the DNA fragment containing dnaK promoter was recovered from pCR-TOPO: dnaK plasmid with BglII/NheI enzymes (New England Biolabs, Evry, France) and cloned into purified backbone isolated from BglII/NheI-cut pLB141 vector, resulting in pLB141:dnaK:Nuc. Nucleotide sequence analysis of this construction revealed a deletion in the SP_{Exp4} (data not shown). To repair this, we performed a directed mutagenesis step by PCR. Briefly, we established pLB141:dnaK:Nuc vector in E. coli TG1 strain in order to purify large quantities of the plasmid, we then performed a first PCR reaction with forward primer: 5'-GTTATGAAA AAAATAAACCTTGCTTTATTAACGCTA-3' using Pfu turbo DNA polymerase (Promega). Parameters of PCR were a first cycle at 95°C 1 min and 5 cycles at 95°C 30 s, 55°C 1 min, and 68°C 4 min. Afterward, we performed a second PCR reaction on the first PCR product with forward and reverse primers: 5'-TAGCGTTAATAAAGCAAGGTTTATTTTTTTCATAAC-3'). PCR parameters were as follow: first cycle 95°C, 1 min; 20 cycles

at 95°C 30 s/55°C 1 min/68°C 4 min; 4°C. Then we performed one digestion with *Dpn*I enzyme (New England Biolabs, Evry, France) before establishment of the plasmid into *L. lactis*. The final construction $pBEST_{Exp4}$:Nuc (**Figure 1** and **Table 1**) was confirmed by sequencing.

Expression of IL-10 Cytokine Using BEST System

For the expression of IL-10 using BEST system, a DNA fragment encoding for IL-10 mature sequence was obtained from a plasmid harboring murine *il-10* gene (cassette SP_{Usp45}:IL-10) under the control of P_{nisA} promoter, also known as pLB270



plasmid (Motta et al., 2012; Benbouziane et al., 2013), with *NsiI/SpeI* enzymes (Thermo Scientific, Courtaboeuf, France) and cloned into $pBEST_{Exp4}$:Nuc vector digested with the same enzymes and replacing the corresponding *nuc* DNA fragment. The resulting vector $pBEST_{Exp4}$:IL-10 was established into *B. bifidum*.

In parallel and in order to determine the impact of SP_{Exp4} (issued from L. lactis) for heterologous protein secretion in bifidobacteria, we replaced this SP with a new one issued from B. longum: SP of the hypothetical protein BL1181 from B. longum NCC2705 (Schell et al., 2002). Indeed, after in silico analysis (using SignalP software¹) of homologous proteins efficiently secreted by bifidobacteria we put a particular interest in this SP since it was one with the highest score of "cleavage site." For the cloning: a DNA fragment containing the SP of BL1181 (SPBL1181) was PCR amplified from genomic DNA of B. longum strain (GenBank Accession Number: NC_004307.2) with the following primers: EcoRV-SPBL1181 (5'-GGATATCAAGGAGATATAAAA ATGACGAACGTACGTGTGATCAAGCCCGC-3') for the coding strand and NsiI-SPBL1181 (5'-TGATGCATCTGCCTGGG CAGGCTGTGCCGAGCTGAACG-3') for the complementary strand. The PCR product (132 pb) was subcloned into a pCR-TOPO kit (Invitrogen, Carlsbad, CA, United States) resulting in pCR-TOPO:SPBL1181 (Table 1). Afterward, the DNA fragment containing SP_{BL1181} was obtained from this plasmid with EcoRV/NsiI enzymes (Thermo Scientific) and cloned into purified backbone isolated from bluntended-AflIII/NsiI-cut pBEST_{Exp4}:IL-10 vector. The resulting plasmid pBEST_{BL1181}:IL-10 (Figure 1) was established into B. bifidum.

For IL-10 detection, bacteria were grown until exponential phase $(OD_{600nm} = 0.4-0.8)$ and the centrifuged culture resuspended (after one wash step with PBS) into the culture medium: MRS plus cysteine (500 mg/L) in order to apply different stresses: pH4, pH8, 42°C, NaCl (25 g/L) or bile salts (100 or 500 mg/L, Sigma-Aldrich, Saint-Quentin-Fallavier, France). Induction was performed in anaerobic conditions during 30 min. Culture extraction was performed as followings. Protein samples were prepared from 2 ml of induced cultures. After centrifugation (5 min, 5000 rpm), the cell pellet (C) and supernatant (S) were treated separately. The S samples were treated by filtration on 0.25 μ m filter then frozen at -20° C. The C fraction was obtained after treatment in a PBS complemented with antiprotease 1× and lysozyme (100 mg/mL, Roche), at 37°C during 1 h and then sonicated (6 \times 10 sec with a 30 s of timeout on ice). IL-10 concentration in S and C was assessed by ELISA (eBioscience, Paris, France) and normalized by the final OD_{600nm}.

For western blot experiments, the C fraction was obtained as described for ELISA detection. The S samples were also treated by filtration on 0.25 μ m filter plus a 50-fold concentration by the addition and precipitation of 10% trichloroacetic acid (TCA) during 15 min on ice and then centrifuged. Pellets were resuspended in NaOH. Protein concentration was determined by Bradford assay. Ten micrograms of protein were mixed with

the blue gel-loading buffer and loaded in pre-casted gel (Bio-Rad). Proteins were then transferred on PVDF membrane and then blocked overnight in 5% milk in TBST. Membranes were stained with a primary rabbit polyclonal antibody against murine IL-10 (Abcam, ab9735) and a second goat HRP-conjugated against Rabbit IgG (BI2407, Abliance). Blots were reveled using Bio-Rad Kit.

Detection of IL-10 in vivo

The two strains $BS42:BEST_{Exp4}:IL-10$ and $BS42:BEST_{BL1181}:IL-10$ were administered by oral gavage to 6 weeks old IL-10-KO mice during 11 days. To mimic the context of our standard experiment in WT mice (**Figure 2**), animals received one intrarectal injection of a low dose of 2,4-DiNitroBenzene Sulfonic acid (DNBS, 2 mg/mouse), 7 days after the beginning of the gavage with bacteria. After sacrifice, colonic content and caecal content were collected. After being weighted, contents were diluted at 1/4 in PBS 150 mM pH7.2 with 1× anti-protease cocktail (Sigma-Aldrich, Saint-Quentin-Fallavier, France), and then placed 30 min at 4°C under mechanic agitation. Supernatants were collected after centrifugation and IL-10 was measured using ELISA (BioLegend, San Diego, CA, United States).

DNBS-Induced Colitis Model

Male C57BL/6 mice (6 to 8-week-old) (Janvier, Le-Genest-Saint-Isle, France) were maintained at the animal care facilities of the National Institute of Agricultural Research (IERP, INRA, Jouy-en-Josas, France). Mice were housed under standard conditions for a minimum of 1 week before experimentation. All experiments were performed in accordance with European Community rules for animal care and were approved by COMETHEA C2EA-45 with authorization n°3445-2016010615159974.

For the induction of colitis, we used an adapted protocol from Martín (Martín et al., 2014; Figure 2) based on the intrarectal administration of DNBS. Briefly, mice (\sim 20 g) were anesthetized by intraperitoneal injection of 150 μ L of 0.1% ketamine (Imalgene 1000, Merial) and 0.06% xylazine (Rompun). Then, a 4 cm-long catheter (Ecimed, Boissy-Saint-Léger, France) was attached to a tuberculin syringe, inserted into the colon and a dose of 100 mg/Kg of DNBS solution (Sigma-Aldrich, Saint-Quentin Fallavier, France) in 30% ethanol (EtOH) was injected intra-rectally to induce colitis in all group except control mice. Control mice (without colitis) received only 30% EtOH. Ten days after the so-called DNBS period, 1X10⁹ CFU of bacteria in PBS or PBS alone were intragastrically administered daily for 10 days (gavage period). The inflammation was reactivated 21 days after the first DNBS injection (recovery period) with a second injection of 100 mg/Kg of DNBS solution. Weight loss was monitored daily to assess the severity of colitis. Experiment was performed twice and mice were treated as follow: with ETOH-PBS (control mice without colitis, n = 16), with DNBS-PBS (colitis control group, n = 20), with B. bifidum BS42 wild-type strain (WT-BS42, n = 16), with *B. bifidum* BS42 harboring pBEST_{Exp4}:IL-10 plasmid (BS42:BEST_{Exp4}:IL-10, n = 16), and with *B. bifidum* BS42 harboring pBEST_{BL1181}:IL-10 plasmid (BS42:BEST_{BL1181}:IL-10, n = 16).

¹http://www.cbs.dtu.dk/services/SignalP/



Macroscopic Damage Scores

Macroscopic scores were recorded in the abdominal cavity using previously described system (Wallace and Keenan, 1990). Briefly, the macroscopic criteria (assessed on a scale from 0 to 9) include macroscopic mucosal damages such as ulcers, thickening of the colon wall, the presence of adhesions between the colon and other intra-abdominal organs, the consistency of fecal material (as an indicator of diarrhea), and the presence of hyperemia in colon (increase of blood flow).

Histology on Colonic Samples

Fragment of colon were fixed in Formalin then dehydrated with ethanol 70%, and paraffin-embedded. Section of 3 μ m-thick sections were stained with hematoxylin and eosin (H&E). As previously described (Cooper et al., 1993), colonic damage was scored according to architectural derangement, goblet cell depletion, edema/ulceration, and degree of inflammatory cell infiltration.

Lipocalin-2 (LCN-2) Levels

Colonic contents were homogenized in FastPrep instrument with cold PBS. Supernatants were collected and stored at -80° C until analysis. LCN-2 was measured using R&D ELISA kit (R&D System, Minneapolis, MN, United States) and following manufacturer instruction.

Cytokine Production by CD3/CD28-Stimulated Splenocytes

The day of sacrifice, spleens were removed and placed in RPMI medium for culture (Breyner et al., 2017). Briefly, spleens were crushed and filtered through a 70 μ m nylon filter (BD, Le Pont-de-Claix, France) and were resuspended in RPMI (Lonza, Levallois-Perret, France) completed with 100 Unit of Streptomycin, Penicillin and 10% Fetal Calf Serum (FCS). Red blood cells were removed with buffered Blood Cell Lysis Buffer (Sigma-Aldrich, France). Plates were pre-coated with anti-CD3 and anti-CD28 antibodies, 4 μ g/ml of each antibody (eBioscience) in PBS with 0.5% FCS. Splenocytes cells were

adjusted to 2×10^6 cells/ml per well and were cultured in 24-well plates at 37°C in a 5% CO2 and 95% air atmosphere. Supernatants were collected after 48 h of culture and were stored at -80° C until further analysis. Splenocytes culture supernatant levels of IL-4, IL-5 (Mabtech, Stockholm, Sweden), IL-6, IFN- γ (eBioscience), and IL-10 (BioLegend, San Diego, CA, United States) were quantified by ELISA, following manufacturer instructions.

Statistical Analyses

Data were analyzed using GraphPad Prism (GraphPad Software Inc, San Diego, CA, United States) by non-parametric Kruskal– Wallis test followed by a Mann–Whitney test. A *P*-value of less than 0.05 was considered significant.

RESULTS

Development of a New Expression System to Produce and Deliver IL-10 Cytokine in *Bifidobacterium bifidum*

To obtain a functional expression plasmid allowing *in vivo* stressinducible heterologous protein expression in bifidobacteria, we first cloned the promoter from *B. longum dnaK* operon (Sanchez et al., 2005) into pLB270 plasmid (**Table 1**) resulting in pBEST_{Exp4}:Nuc vector, replacing P_{nisA} promoter by P_{dnaK} promoter (**Figure 1**). We chose this promoter, because *dnaK* operon encodes heat-shock proteins partially involved in the adaptation and survival of some bacteria (such as Bifidobacteria) in the gut (Sanchez et al., 2005). In addition, in this genus, transcription of heat-shock proteins (and more particularly DnaK), are greatly enhanced by exposure to both bile salts and different pH.

In order to validate the functionality of BEST system *in vivo*, *nuc* gene was replaced from this vector for murine IL-10 to obtain plasmid pBEST_{Exp4}:IL-10. The resulting vector, pBEST_{Exp4}:IL-10 (**Figure 1**), was established into *B. bifidum* BS42. As expected, no IL-10 was detected with the BS42 wild-type strain. As shown in **Figure 3**, *B. bifidum* BS42 harboring pBEST_{Exp4}:IL-10 plasmid



without any stress revealed IL-10 both in C and S samples reaching a maximal concentration of 2000 ng/L/OD. This phenomenon suggests a basal activity of the BEST system. To further explore if we can improve IL-10 secretion we replaced the SP_{Exp4} which is issued from *L. lactis* by a new one issued from a B. longum (SP_{BL1181}). Our results show that there was no significant difference in C samples between the two recombinant strains; however, the constitutive production of IL-10 was sevenfold higher in S samples (9283 \pm 2981 ng/L/OD) prepared from recombinant BS42:BEST_{BL1181}:IL-10 compared to BS42:BEST_{Exp4}:IL-10 strain: S (1377 \pm 840 ng/L/OD) (p < 0.05) (Figure 3). Due to protein concentration and the sensitivity of western blot together with the fact that this cytokine is acid sensitive, only IL-10 produced by BS42:BEST_{BL1181}:IL-10 in S samples was detected (Supplementary Figure S1). The in vitro production of IL-10 from recombinant B. bifidum BS42 harboring either pBEST_{Exp4}:IL-10 or pBEST_{BL1181}:IL-10 plasmid was studied under 6 different stress conditions during 30 min and compared to non-induced cultures in order to validate the inducibility of the BEST system (Figures 4A,B).

Regardless of the stress conditions, IL-10 concentration was higher in S fraction from BS42:BEST_{BL1181}:IL-10 than BS42:BEST_{Exp4}:IL-10 (p < 0.05, **Figure 4C**). Heat (42°C), NaCl, and bile salts stresses did not induce a significant difference in IL-10 concentrations neither in C nor S samples in BS42:BEST_{BL1181}:IL-10 strain compared to non-induced condition (**Figure 4A**). In contrast, compared to non-induced conditions, IL-10 concentrations were significantly lower in S fraction at pH4 (p < 0.05) or higher at pH8 (p = 0.05). IL-10 amount was much higher in S than in C under pH8 and

bile salt stress conditions (p < 0.05). Concerning the analysis in BS42:BEST_{Exp4}:IL-10 strain (**Figure 4B**), nonetheless the stress condition, IL-10 levels were similar in both C and S samples even if IL-10 amount decreased in C at pH4 (p = 0.05). Finally, the two recombinant strains displayed a different IL-10 secretion profile.

Detection of IL-10 Delivered *in vivo* in IL-10 KO Mice

Our IL-10 KO mice did not develop colitis: percentage of weight loss and macroscopic score were measured but no differences were observed (data not shown) between control and DNBS mice. Our results revealed that IL-10 could be detected in (i) ceacal samples of either 62.5% of mice (5/8) treated with BS42:BEST_{BL1181}:IL-10 strain or 50% of mice (4/8) treated with BS42:BEST_{Exp4}:IL-10, with a mean level of 0.759 and 0.554 pg/g, respectively (**Supplementary Figure S2A**); and (ii) colonic content samples of either 50% of mice (4/8) treated with BS42:BEST_{BL1181}:IL-10 strain or 25% of mice (2/8) treated with BS42:BEST_{Exp4}:IL-10, with a mean level of 0.280 and 0.097 pg/g, respectively (**Supplementary Figure S2B**). The presence of IL-10 in caecal and colonic content in IL-10 KO mice shows that the recombinant BS42:BEST_{BL1181}:IL-10 and BS42:BEST_{Exp4}:IL-10 are able to bring IL-10 *in vivo* within the digestive tract.

Impact of IL-10 Delivery by Recombinant *B. bifidum* Using BEST System in a Low-Grade Inflammation Murine Model

In vivo delivery of IL-10 through administration of BS42:BEST_{BL1181}:IL-10 and BS42:BEST_{Exp4}:IL-10 strains



MRS-cysteine broth under anaerobic condition until OD_{600nm} = 0.6–0.8. Cultures were washed once with PBS and re-cultured in fresh medium for 30 min at 37°C (except for heat-shock). **(C)** Comparison of IL-10 production in supernatant samples of the two recombinant strains. NI, non-induced (pH6); heat-shock: 42°C; acid shocks: pH4 and pH8; salt-shocks: NaCl25 = 25 g/L of NaCl; SB100 = 100 mg/L of bile salts; SB500 500 mg/L of bile salts. IL-10 was measured with ELISA in Cell-pellet and filtered Supernatant. Data (means plus SEMs) are the result of four separate experiments. Comparison involved the non-parametric Mann–Whitney test. *p < 0.05.

were then studied in a murine model of low-grade intestinal inflammation in wild type mice (**Figure 2**). As shown in **Figure 5A**, compared to ethanol, DNBS-treatment induced a weight loss (90.6 \pm 0.94% at day 31, p < 0.001) after the second rectal injection and the next 3 days. Mice treated with IL-10-producing bifidobacterial strains tended to lose less weight, 93.06 \pm 1.02% and 92.5 \pm 1.18% for BS42:BEST_{BL1181}:IL-10 and BS42:BEST_{Exp4}:IL-10 groups, respectively, compared to the

DNBS-PBS control group, (i.e., colitis control). Nevertheless, only the Ethanol-PBS group is significantly different compared to this colitis control group. The macroscopic score was significantly higher in the DNBS-PBS group compared to Ethanol-PBS group (p < 0.0001, **Figure 5B**). Mice treated with BS42 strain showed almost the same score as DNBS-PBS group. In contrast, BS42:BEST_{BL1181}:IL-10 treatment significantly decreased this score (p < 0.05) and BS42:BEST_{Exp4}:IL-10 induced a non-significant slight decrease in macroscopic score.

LCN-2, an early marker of inflammation, was measured in colonic content at day 33 (**Figure 5C**). The level of LCN-2 was significantly higher in the DNBS-PBS group compared to negative control (p < 0.0001). LCN-2 level was significantly lower with BS42:BEST_{BL1181}:IL-10 group (p < 0.05), and, although not significant, tended to be decreased following treatment with BS42 and BS42:BEST_{Exp4}:IL-10.

The histological score was significantly lower in BS42:BEST_{BL1181}:IL-10 and BS42:BEST_{Exp4}:IL-10 groups (respectively p < 0.05 and p < 0.0001) than in the DNBS-PBS group (**Figures 5D,E**).

The impact on systemic T-helper cells balance was determined by measuring IL-4, IL-5, IL-6, IFN- γ , and IL-10 cytokines in supernatant from mice splenocytes after 48H of CD3/CD28 restimulation (**Figure 6**). For all cytokines, there were significant differences between the colitis control group and the negative control group, confirming the inflammatory status of DNBS-PBS group. The intake of BS42:BEST_{BL1181}:IL-10 slightly decreased IL-5, IL-6, and IFN- γ (not significant). However, there was no effect on IL-4 and IL-10. The intake of BS42:BEST_{Exp4}:IL-10 as well as the BS42 tended to decrease the level of IL-5 and IFN- γ , with no effect on other cytokines.

DISCUSSION

In this work, we sought to construct an inducible expression system for bifidobacteria allowing in vivo delivery of proteins of health interest. For this, we developed a Bifidobacterium expression system (BEST) regulated by stress that we validated in B. bifidum. The functionality of BEST system was validated by cloning murine IL-10 cytokine and confirming both its correct expression and biological activity in vivo in a mouse model of low-grade intestinal inflammation. For the expression of IL-10 we confirm that the two recombinant B. bifidum strains were able to produce and secrete (even without any stress) the same IL-10 levels than those previously reported in recombinant bifidobacteria (Escogido et al., 2007; Khokhlova et al., 2010). For instance, a recombinant strain of B. longum was reported to produce 22 pg/ml of IL-10 (Escogido et al., 2007) whereas a recombinant strain of B. breve produced 1900 pg/ml of IL-10 (Khokhlova et al., 2010). In our study, we observed a constitutive production of IL-10 comparable or even greater (up to sevenfold) than those described with another plasmid, with an average yield of 1000 pg/ml with B. bifidum harboring pBEST_{Exp4}:IL-10 plasmid and reaching 7000 pg/ml with B. bifidum harboring pBEST_{SP1181}:IL-10. Moreover, at pH 8 (a stress condition under basic pH), we observed an IL-10



overproduction reaching 24000 pg/ml. This pH, which could reflect the pH of pancreatic juice when it is spilled into the duodenum, models a condition that *Bifidobacterium* can shortly encounter following oral administration. It shows the inductivity of our system as, in the large intestine where they are mainly located, *Bifidobacterium* will encounter a combination of factors and stresses which is difficult to reproduce *in vitro*. It is also interesting to note that pH8 can also stabilize IL-10. Indeed,



it has been shown that at pH8.5, human IL-10 is under a highly stable dimer form (Syto et al., 1998). In the same study, the authors showed that IL-10 retained high activity between pH6 and 10. Below pH6.0, its activity decreased significantly and at pH2.5 only a small percent of IL-10 activity remained. A comparison analysis with commercial murine recombinant IL-10 allowed us to confirm that IL-10 produced by recombinant Bifidobacteria was stable in all the tested stresses conditions except at pH4 and lower (data not shown). In addition, pH4 can impact bifidobacteria growth. Except for some strains of *B. thermacidophilus*, bifidobacteria can survive (but not grow) at pH4.5–5 (Biavati and Mattarelli, 2015), this can explain that after 30 min at pH4, no IL-10 was detected in the culture medium.

To improve secretion, we included in the BEST system a new signal peptide issued from *B. longum*: SP_{BL1181}. At pH8 (pancreatic juice), IL-10 secretion was 2.7-fold increased, confirming the interest of both SP_{BL1181} and P_{DnaK} promoter. Concentrations of IL-10 in the C fraction were similar for our two recombinant BS42; however, a sevenfold higher concentration was observed in the S of BS42:BEST_{BL1181}:IL-10 compared to that of BS42:BEST_{Exp4}:IL-10. SP_{Exp4} allows only a small amount of IL-10 to be secreted compared to SP_{BL1181}. This can be easily understandable by the bifidobacterial origin of this SP compared to SP_{Exp4} which is issued from *L. lactis*. Thus, BEST system using SP_{BL1181} seems to be an efficient system to secrete heterologous protein in *B. bifidum*. In addition, this SP (issued from *B. longum*) could also work in other *Bifidobacterium* strains, including *B. longum* itself; and although preliminary data suggest that SP_{1181} is functional in *B. longum* and *B. breve*, this remains to be confirmed.

To assess IL-10 *in vivo* delivery by recombinant bifidobacteria, we used IL-10 KO mice model. In these mice, following oral administration of the recombinant strains, we detected IL-10 in ceacal and colonic content confirming the production of IL-10 *in vivo*. Of note, these young IL-10 KO mice do not develop colitis despite the administration of DNBS, so we assess the biological efficacy of these recombinant bacteria on a well characterized low-grade intestinal inflammation model (Martín et al., 2014; Allain et al., 2016).

Several studies have reported beneficial effects of different strains of *B. bifidum* in a murine model of acute colitis (Preising et al., 2010; Alard et al., 2018). Our *B. bifidum* BS42 seems to have no beneficial impact as demonstrated on the murine model of low-grade intestinal inflammation. In our experiments, BS42:BEST_{BL1181}:IL-10 had a greater beneficial effect on gut inflammation with a significant

decrease in LCN-2 level than BS42. Despite not significant, BS42:BEST_{BL1181}:IL-10 improved systemic inflammation as observed by the decrease in IL-6 and IFN-y cytokines. Impact of BS42:BEST_{Exp4}:IL-10 was less obvious confirming that IL-10 secretion is an advantage. In a previous work Martín et al. (2014) tested a recombinant strain of L. lactis producing murine IL-10 in the same model of low-grade intestinal inflammation and using the same dose of bacteria (i.e., 1×10^9 CFU/mouse) for the same administration period (11 days). If we compare the efficacy between the two recombinant strains, the effects of our BS42:BEST_{BL1181}:IL-10 were more efficient regarding the weight evolution, the macroscopic and histologic scores and LCN-2 levels. In contrast, IL-10-producing L. lactis had a better effect on gut permeability and in cytokines levels. Despite each strain display its intrinsic properties, in the two cases, the presence of IL-10 in the intestine has beneficial effect on the low-grade intestinal inflammation model. It will be interesting to test in a near future a combination of these two recombinant strains producing IL-10 in different murine models of either IBS or IBD. Indeed, the ecological niche of L. lactis is the small intestine whereas for Bifidobacterium it is the colon and we can thus expect a synergic beneficial effect.

CONCLUSION

In conclusion, we succeeded in the construction of a new Bifidobacteria Expression SysTem (BEST) that allowed *in vivo* IL-10 delivery by *B. bifidum*. Furthermore, the use of recombinant *B. bifidum* BS42 secreting IL-10 cytokine in a model of low-grade intestinal inflammation showed its ability to decrease local inflammation and confirmed therefore its potential for delivery of therapeutic molecules in the colon. Despite we consider our expression system is promising, more studies are needed, such as evaluate either daily or weekly bacteria administration which will allow us to determine the advantages of the higher persistency of

REFERENCES

- Alard, J., Peucelle, V., Boutillier, D., Breton, J., Kuylle, S., Pot, B., et al. (2018). New probiotic strains for inflammatory bowel disease management identified by combining in vitro and in vivo approaches. *Benef. Microbes* 9, 317–331. doi: 10.3920/BM2017.0097
- Allain, T., Mansour, N. M., Bahr, M. M. A., Martin, R., Florent, I., Langella, P., et al. (2016). A new lactobacilli in vivo expression system for the production and delivery of heterologous proteins at mucosal surfaces. *FEMS Microbiol. Lett.* 363:fnw117. doi: 10.1093/femsle/fnw117
- Álvarez-Martín, P., Flórez, A. B., Margolles, A., del Solar, G., and Mayo, B. (2008). Improved cloning vectors for bifidobacteria, based on the bifidobacterium catenulatum pBC1 replicon. *Appl. Environ. Microbiol.* 74, 4656–4665. doi: 10. 1128/AEM.00074-08
- Benbouziane, B., Ribelles, P., Aubry, C., Martin, R., Kharrat, P., Riazi, A., et al. (2013). Development of a Stress-Inducible Controlled Expression (SICE) system in *Lactococcus lactis* for the production and delivery of therapeutic molecules at mucosal surfaces. *J. Biotechnol.* 168, 120–129. doi: 10.1016/j. jbiotec.2013.04.019
- Bermúdez-Humarán, L. G., Aubry, C., Motta, J.-P., Deraison, C., Steidler, L., Vergnolle, N., et al. (2013). Engineering lactococci and lactobacilli for human health. *Curr. Opin. Microbiol.* 16, 278–283. doi: 10.1016/j.mib.2013. 06.002

this genus *versus* other recombinant bacteria (e.g., lactococci and lactobacilli).

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

LB-H and A-JW designed the study. AF performed the cloning. AM performed the *in vitro* characterization of IL-10 production. AM, FC, PR, and A-JW performed the animal experiments. AM performed all dosages. BR read the histological score. SG provided the analytical tools. AM, LB-H, and A-JW interpreted the data and wrote the manuscript. PL and M-JB provided the critical feedback, and helped to shape the research, analysis, and manuscript.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

The authors would like to thank Laurie Watterlot, Thomas Larcher, and Jasmine Sridar for their involvement in the recombinant bacteria construction. The authors also thank the members of the IERP animal facilities from INRA, Jouy-en-Josas, for their assistance in mouse care and experiments.

SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIAL

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fmicb. 2018.03075/full#supplementary-material

FIGURE S1 | Western blot analyses of IL-10 in the C and S sample following or not 42° C induction.

FIGURE S2 | *In vivo* production of IL-10. IL-10 KO-mice received daily BS42:BEST_{Exp4}:IL-10 or BS42:BEST_{BL1181}:IL-10, during 11 days by oral gavage. IL-10 were then measured in **(A)** caecal content and **(B)** colonic content by ELISA.

- Biavati, B., and Mattarelli, P. (2015). "Bifidobacterium," in *Bergey's Manual of Systematics of Archaea and Bacteria*, ed. W. B. Whitman (Boboken, NJ: John Wiley & Sons).
- Braat, H., Rottiers, P., Hommes, D. W., Huyghebaert, N., Remaut, E., Remon, J., et al. (2006). A phase I trial with transgenic bacteria expressing interleukin-10 in Crohn's disease. *Clin. Gastroenterol. Hepatol.* 4, 754–759. doi: 10.1016/j.cgh. 2006.03.028
- Breyner, N. M., Michon, C., de Sousa, C. S., Vilas Boas, P. B., Chain, F., Azevedo, V. A., et al. (2017). Microbial Anti-Inflammatory Molecule (MAM) from *Faecalibacterium prausnitzii* shows a protective effect on DNBS and DSS-induced colitis model in mice through inhibition of NF-κB pathway. *Front. Microbiol.* 8:114. doi: 10.3389/fmicb.2017. 00114
- Cooper, H. S., Murthy, S. N., Shah, R. S., and Sedergran, D. J. (1993). Clinicopathologic study of dextran sulfate sodium experimental murine colitis. *Lab. Invest.* 69, 238–249.
- Escogido, M. L. R., Rodríguez, A. D. L., and de la Rosa, A. P. B. (2007). A novel binary expression vector for production of human IL-10 in *Escherichia coli* and *Bifidobacterium longum. Biotechnol. Lett.* 29, 1249–1253. doi: 10.1007/s10529-007-9376-8
- Hill, C., Guarner, F., Reid, G., Gibson, G. R., Merenstein, D. J., Pot, B., et al. (2014). Expert consensus document: the international scientific association for probiotics and prebiotics consensus statement on the scope and appropriate

use of the term probiotic. Nat. Rev. Gastroenterol. Hepatol. 11, 506–514. doi: 10.1038/nrgastro.2014.66

- Khokhlova, E. V., Efimov, B. A., Kafarskaia, L. I., and Shkoporov, A. N. (2010). Heterologous expression of secreted biologically active human interleukin-10 in *Bifidobacterium breve. Arch. Microbiol.* 192, 769–774. doi: 10.1007/s00203-010-0606-4
- Kimoto, H., Nomura, M., Kobayashi, M., Mizumachi, K., and Okamoto, T. (2003). Survival of lactococci during passage through mouse digestive tract. *Can. J. Microbiol.* 49, 707–711. doi: 10.1139/w03-092
- Kuipers, O. P., Beerthuyzen, M. M., de Ruyter, P. G., Luesink, E. J., and de Vos, W. M. (1995). Autoregulation of nisin biosynthesis in *Lactococcus lactis* by signal transduction. *J. Biol. Chem.* 270, 27299–27304.
- Kumar, M., Kumar Yadav, A., Verma, V., Singh, B., Mal, G., Nagpal, R., et al. (2016). Bioengineered probiotics as a new hope for health and diseases: an overview of potential and prospects. *Future Microbiol.* 11, 585–600. doi: 10.2217/ fmb.16.4
- Limaye, S. A., Haddad, R. I., Cilli, F., Sonis, S. T., Colevas, A. D., Brennan, M. T., et al. (2013). Phase 1b, multicenter, single blinded, placebo-controlled, sequential dose escalation study to assess the safety and tolerability of topically applied AG013 in subjects with locally advanced head and neck cancer receiving induction chemotherapy. *Cancer* 119, 4268–4276. doi: 10.1002/cncr.28365
- Losurdo, L., Quintieri, L., Caputo, L., Gallerani, R., Mayo, B., and De Leo, F. (2013). Cloning and expression of synthetic genes encoding angiotensin-I converting enzyme (ACE)-inhibitory bioactive peptides in *Bifidobacterium pseudocatenulatum*. *FEMS Microbiol. Lett.* 340, 24–32. doi: 10.1111/1574-6968. 12068
- Martín, R., Martín, R., Chain, F., Chain, F., Miquel, S., Miquel, S., et al. (2014). Effects in the use of a genetically engineered strain of *Lactococcus lactis* delivering in situ IL-10 as a therapy to treat low-grade colon inflammation. *Hum. Vaccines Immunother*. 10, 1611–1621. doi: 10.4161/hv.28549
- Ménard, O., Butel, M.-J., Gaboriau-Routhiau, V., and Waligora-Dupriet, A.-J. (2008). Gnotobiotic mouse immune response induced by *Bifidobacterium* sp. strains isolated from infants. *Appl. Environ. Microbiol.* 74, 660–666. doi: 10. 1128/AEM.01261-07
- Morello, E., Bermúdez-Humarán, L. G., Llull, D., Solé, V., Miraglio, N., Langella, P., et al. (2008). *Lactococcus lactis*, an efficient cell factory for recombinant protein production and secretion. *J. Mol. Microbiol. Biotechnol.* 14, 48–58. doi: 10.1159/ 000106082
- Motta, J.-P., Bermúdez-Humarán, L. G., Deraison, C., Martin, L., Rolland, C., Rousset, P., et al. (2012). Food-grade bacteria expressing elafin protect against inflammation and restore colon homeostasis. *Sci. Transl. Med.* 4:158ra144. doi: 10.1126/scitranslmed.3004212
- Moubareck, C., Gavini, F., Vaugien, L., Butel, M. J., and Doucet-Populaire, F. (2005). Antimicrobial susceptibility of bifidobacteria. *J. Antimicrob. Chemother.* 55, 38–44. doi: 10.1093/jac/dkh495
- Pavan, S., Desreumaux, P., and Mercenier, A. (2003). Use of mouse models to evaluate the persistence, safety, and immune modulation capacities of lactic acid bacteria. *Clin. Diagn. Lab. Immunol.* 10, 696–701. doi: 10.1128/CDLI.10.4.696-701.2003
- Preising, J., Philippe, D., Gleinser, M., Wei, H., Blum, S., Eikmanns, B. J., et al. (2010). Selection of bifdobacteria based on adhesion and anti-inflammatory capacity in vitro for amelioration of murine colitis. *Appl. Environ. Microbiol.* 76, 3048–3051. doi: 10.1128/AEM.03127-09

- Sambrook, J., Fritsch, E. F., and Maniatis, T. (1989). Molecular Cloning: a Laboratory Manual. Available at: https://www.cabdirect.org/cabdirect/abstract/ 19901616061 (accessed March 19, 2018).
- Sánchez, B., Champomier-Vergès, M.-C., Anglade, P., Baraige, F., de los Reyes-Gavilán, C. G., Margolles, A., et al. (2005). Proteomic analysis of global changes in protein expression during bile salt exposure of *Bifidobacterium longum* NCIMB 8809. *J. Bacteriol.* 187, 5799–5808. doi: 10.1128/JB.187.16.5799-5808. 2005
- Schell, M. A., Karmirantzou, M., Snel, B., Vilanova, D., Berger, B., Pessi, G., et al. (2002). The genome sequence of *Bifidobacterium longum* reflects its adaptation to the human gastrointestinal tract. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 99, 14422–14427. doi: 10.1073/pnas.212527599
- Sheehan, V. M., Sleator, R. D., Hill, C., and Fitzgerald, G. F. (2007). Improving gastric transit, gastrointestinal persistence and therapeutic efficacy of the probiotic strain *Bifidobacterium breve* UCC2003. *Microbiology* 153, 3563–3571. doi: 10.1099/mic.0.2007/006510-0
- Shirakawa, T., and Kitagawa, K. (2017). Antitumor effect of oral cancer vaccine with Bifidobacterium delivering WT1 protein to gut immune system is superior to WT1 peptide vaccine. *Hum. Vaccines Immunother.* 0, 1–4. doi: 10.1080/ 21645515.2017.1382787
- Syto, R., Murgolo, N. J., Braswell, E. H., Mui, P., Huang, E., and Windsor, W. T. (1998). Structural and biological stability of the human interleukin 10 homodimer. *Biochemistry* 37, 16943–16951. doi: 10.1021/ bi981555y
- Takei, S., Omoto, C., Kitagawa, K., Morishita, N., Katayama, T., Shigemura, K., et al. (2014). Oral administration of genetically modified Bifidobacterium displaying HCV-NS3 multi-epitope fusion protein could induce an HCV-NS3-specific systemic immune response in mice. *Vaccine* 32, 3066–3074. doi: 10.1016/j. vaccine.2014.03.022
- Wallace, J. L., and Keenan, C. M. (1990). An orally active inhibitor of leukotriene synthesis accelerates healing in a rat model of colitis. *Am. J. Physiol. Gastrointest. Liver Physiol.* 258, G527–G534. doi: 10.1152/ajpgi.1990.258.4.G527
- Yu, Z., Huang, Z., Sao, C., Huang, Y., Zhang, F., Ma, G., et al. (2013). Oral immunization of mice using *Bifidobacterium longum* expressing VP1 protein from enterovirus 71. Arch. Virol. 158, 1071–1077. doi: 10.1007/s00705-012-1589-z
- Zhang, Q., Liu, M., Li, S., Xu, Z., Wang, J., Wang, Y., et al. (2018). Oral Bifidobacterium longum expressing GLP-2 improves nutrient assimilation and nutritional homeostasis in mice. J. Microbiol. Methods 145, 87–92. doi: 10.1016/ j.mimet.2018.01.002

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2018 Mauras, Chain, Faucheux, Ruffié, Gontier, Ryffel, Butel, Langella, Bermúdez-Humarán and Waligora-Dupriet. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Engineering Components of the *Lactobacillus* S-Layer for **Biotherapeutic Applications**

Courtney Klotz^{1,2} and Rodolphe Barrangou^{1,2*}

¹ Genomic Sciences Graduate Program, North Carolina State University, Raleigh, NC, United States, ² Department of Food, Bioprocessing and Nutrition Sciences, North Carolina State University, Raleigh, NC, United States

Lactic acid bacteria (LAB) are frequently harnessed for the delivery of biomolecules to mucosal tissues. Several species of Lactobacillus are commonly employed for this task, of which a subset are known to possess surface-layers (S-layers). S-layers are two-dimensional crystalline arrays of repeating proteinaceous subunits that form the outermost coating of many prokaryotic cell envelopes. Their periodicity and abundance have made them a target for numerous biotechnological applications. In the following review, we examine the multi-faceted S-layer protein (SIp), and its use in both heterologous protein expression systems and mucosal vaccine delivery frameworks, through its diverse genetic components: the strong native promoter, capable of synthesizing as many as 500 Slp subunits per second; the signal peptide that stimulates robust secretion of recombinant proteins; and the structural domains, which can be harnessed for both cell surface display of foreign peptides or adhesion enhancement of a host bacterium. Although numerous studies have established vaccine platforms based on one or more components of the Lactobacillus S-layer, this area of research still remains largely in its infancy, thus this review is meant to not only highlight past works, but also advocate for the future usage of Slps in biotherapeutic research.

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Aleš Berlec, Jožef Stefan Institute, Slovenia

Reviewed by:

Akinobu Kajikawa, Tokyo University of Agriculture, Japan Olivia Cano Garrido, Centre for Research in Agricultural Genomics (CRAG), Spain

> *Correspondence: Rodolphe Barrangou rbarran@ncsu.edu

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Infectious Diseases, a section of the journal Frontiers in Microbiology

Received: 05 June 2018 Accepted: 05 September 2018 Published: 02 October 2018

Citation:

Klotz C and Barrangou R (2018) Engineering Components of the Lactobacillus S-Layer for Biotherapeutic Applications. Front. Microbiol. 9:2264. doi: 10.3389/fmicb.2018.02264 Keywords: Lactobacillus, probiotic, S-layer, biotherapeutic, mucosal vaccine, CRISPR

INTRODUCTION

Lactic acid bacteria (LAB) are Gram-positive, anaerobic or microaerophilic, non-sporulating microorganisms that inhabit diverse environments including milk and plant surfaces, as well as the mouth, gastrointestinal tract, and vaginal tract of humans and animals (Liu et al., 2014). Traditionally, they have been employed for food and dairy fermentations, but have more recently garnered attention for their health-promoting properties with many species used widely as probiotics (Klein et al., 1998; Klaenhammer et al., 2005). Recombinant LABs are frequently harnessed for mucosal delivery of biomolecules such as therapeutic proteins or vaccine antigens (Berlec et al., 2012). In comparison to traditional intravenous or intramuscular vaccine administration, the mucosal route enables immunizations to be performed orally, reducing potential side effects while increasing specificity for chronic illnesses and infections associated with mucosal tissues (Bermudez-Humaran et al., 2011;

Wyszynska et al., 2015). Furthermore, many LABs are bile and acid tolerant, act as natural adjuvants, and interact with cells of the immune system (Wells and Mercenier, 2008), making them ideal candidates for antigen carriage.

The LABs most frequently chosen for vaccine delivery are Lactococcus lactis and select species of the Lactobacillus genus (Wells and Mercenier, 2008; Bermudez-Humaran et al., 2011, 2013; Wyszynska et al., 2015). However, unlike L. lactis, several species Lactobacillus have been shown to possess surface-layers (S-layers) (Hynonen and Palva, 2013). S-layers have been detected on both Gram-positive and Gram-negative bacteria and are nearly ubiquitous in archaea (Fagan and Fairweather, 2014). They are defined as two-dimensional crystalline arrays composed of repeating proteinaceous subunits that constitute the outermost layer of a cell envelope (Fagan and Fairweather, 2014). The S-layer proteins (Slps) attach to the underlying peptidoglycan via electrostatic interactions and possess inherent, entropy-driven affinities to self-assemble with each other (Hynonen and Palva, 2013). Thus far, S-layers have been characterized for their role in maintaining cell shape; acting as molecular sieves; serving as binding sites for large molecules, ions, or phages; and mediating surface adhesion (Sleytr et al., 2014). Additionally, Slps are some of the most abundant proteins synthesized by the cell, making them metabolically expensive but also underscoring their importance to the organism (Sara and Sleytr, 2000; Fagan and Fairweather, 2014). Their high expression, periodicity, and self-assembling properties have made them a target for numerous applications in biotechnology and nanotechnology (Avall-Jaaskelainen and Palva, 2005; Hynonen and Palva, 2013; Slevtr et al., 2014).

In the following review, we examine Slp applications in recombinant protein expression and biotherapeutic delivery via their distinct genetic building blocks: the strong native promoter, which can synthesize as many as 500 Slp subunits per second; the signal peptide, that can trigger robust secretion of target molecules; and the structural domains, which can be harnessed for both cell surface display of heterologous proteins or enhancement of host adhesion (**Figure 1A**). Despite the existence of several recombinant protein expression systems based on one or more components of the *Lactobacillus* S-layer, this area of research still remains largely underexploited. Thus, the purpose of this review is to not only shed light on past S-layer studies, but also to advocate for future utilization of Slps in mucosal vaccine and biotherapeutic delivery research.

HARNESSING THE STRONG NATIVE PROMOTER

The bacterial S-layer array is composed of an estimated 5×10^5 subunits, representing 10–15% of the total protein content of the bacterium (Sleytr and Messner, 1983; Avall-Jaaskelainen and Palva, 2005). During exponential growth phase, approximately 500 subunits per second must be synthesized, translocated to the cell surface, and incorporated into the existing lattice

structure (Sleytr et al., 2014). In order to obtain these high levels of transcription, S-layer genes possess strong, efficient promoters, which can be harnessed for protein production systems (**Figure 1B**). Within the *Lactobacillus* genus, this research has predominately been limited to *slp* promoters of *Lactobacillus acidophilus* and *Lactobacillus brevis*.

Several studies have investigated the versatility of Lactobacillus S-layer promoters for driving heterologous protein expression in various LAB hosts. Lactobacilli regularly possess multiple slp genes within the same strain that are not all concurrently active (Hynonen and Palva, 2013). Although SlpA is the major constituent of the L. acidophilus S-layer, it can be moved to an inactive position triggering expression of the once silent SlpB (Boot et al., 1996a; Konstantinov et al., 2008). When the L. acidophilus ATCC 4356 slpA and slpB promoters were evaluated in Lactobacillus casei ATCC 393, only slpA remained active under all tested growth phases (Boot et al., 1996b). However, the same *slpA* promoter, although highly efficient in L. lactis, was nearly inactive in isolates of Lactobacillus reuteri (Lizier et al., 2010). The L. acidophilus NCFM slpA promoter was used to drive expression of a green fluorescent protein (GFP) in shuttle vectors based on oriV1 and oriV2 replicons (Chen et al., 2014). Similarly, the plasmids exhibited distinct properties based on which strain they were ported into as well as growth-phase-dependent effects. Both plasmids were capable of replicating in strains of L. casei and Lactobacillus delbrueckii, but only the oriV1 plasmid, pEL5.6, could replicate in Lactobacillus paracasei (Chen et al., 2014). The functionality of the L. brevis ATCC 8287 slpA promoter was evaluated in three LAB hosts: L. lactis MG1614, Lactobacillus plantarum NCDO1193 and Lactobacillus gasseri NCK334, via the expression of various reporter genes (Kahala and Palva, 1999). The S-layer promoter was recognized in each strain, but was particularly active in L. lactis and L. plantarum. In fact, aminopeptidase N (PepN) reporter activity within L. plantarum was 30-fold higher compared to the Lactobacillus helveticus PepN native host and composed a staggering 28% of the total cellular protein during late exponential growth phase. In summary, Lactobacillus slp promoters are effective tools for driving recombinant protein expression, but optimization based on host and growth conditions is essential.

The S-layer promoter has also been harnessed for reporter expression in situ. Plasmid instability and antibiotic markers can complicate the use of these constructs when moving into human clinical trials or to market, thus chromosomal insertions have gained immense popularity. For L. acidophilus NCFM, a pORI-based upp counterselective gene replacement system (Goh et al., 2009) has considerably aided this effort (see "Engineering Platforms"). Originally intended for knockout characterizations, it was first employed for a knock-in by cloning a β-glucuronidase (gusA) reporter downstream of the slpA gene (Douglas and Klaenhammer, 2011). The resulting mutant exhibited a three log increase in GusA activity in comparison to the gusA-negative parent, and the study established a framework for the exploitation of highly expressed genomic regions for heterologous protein production (Douglas and Klaenhammer, 2011). Although this particular system was never evaluated within the context of



vaccine delivery, the technique was shown effective for expressing antigens using an alternative highly expressed region within the *L. acidophilus* genome (O'Flaherty and Klaenhammer, 2016).

Moving beyond reporter genes and targeting more specific therapeutics, the L. brevis JCM 1559 slpA promoter was evaluated in an L. casei IGM393 host via incorporation into a mouse interleukin 10 (IL-10) secretion system (Kajikawa et al., 2010). Administration of IL-10 was previously shown to be an effective treatment of murine colitis when delivered via recombinant L. lactis (Steidler et al., 2000). The authors sought to improve upon this design by substituting in a strain hypothesized to be better adapted to mammalian body temperature. The delivery system was successful in that it yielded high levels of IL-10 secretion when cloned into L. casei, but accumulation of the protein varied widely based on pH (Kajikawa et al., 2010). Maximum efficiency occurred at pH 8.0 and dropped drastically as the pH became more acidic. Although the authors attributed low levels of the protein to its physical characteristics (Kajikawa et al., 2010), the selection of a promoter from a free-living species (e.g., L. brevis) over a low pH tolerating, vertebrate-adapted organism (e.g., L. acidophilus), may have also contributed (Duar et al., 2017).

Nonetheless, the S-layer promoter has repeatedly demonstrated its utility for driving protein production systems, and thus merits future research with a focus on therapeutic molecule delivery.

EXPLOITATION OF THE SECRETION SIGNAL PEPTIDE

All *Lactobacillus* S-layer proteins characterized thus far are preceded by a 25–32 amino acid signal peptide sequence indicative of secretion through the general secretory pathway (Hynonen and Palva, 2013). By cloning this short sequence upstream of an antigen or biotherapeutic molecule, one can obtain robust secretion of a target protein (**Figure 1C**), thus this peptide is frequently harnessed for biotechnological applications.

The *L. brevis* ATCC 8287 *slpA* signal sequence, along with the promoter and transcription terminator, were used to drive expression and secretion of the *Escherichia coli* β -lactamase (*bla*) reporter gene in *L. lactis*, *L. brevis*, *L. plantarum*, *L. gasseri*, and *L. casei*, using a low-copy-number plasmid derived from pGK12 (Savijoki et al., 1997). In all hosts tested, Bla was expressed and released into the culture medium, though highest yields were obtained by recombinant *L. lactis* and the strain of *L. brevis* from which the SlpA components were derived. Production of Bla was mainly restricted to exponential growth phase (Savijoki et al., 1997). Since the system was under control of an *slpA* promoter, it was unsurprising that efficiency was host-specific and growth-phase-dependent (see "Harnessing the strong native promoter").

The Slp secretion signal has frequently been harnessed for targeted therapeutic applications. In a study seeking to develop a recombinant L. lactis mucosal vaccine against porcine postweaning diarrhea and edema disease, signal peptides from the L. lactis major extracellular protein, Usp45, and L. brevis SlpA, were used to stimulate the secretion of an E. coli F18 fimbrial adhesion protein (FedF) fused to a proteinase PrtP cell wall anchor (Lindholm et al., 2004). Both expression systems induced secretion of all tested FedF-PrtP fusions, however, the quantity of fusion proteins found in the culture medium was four to sixfold higher in those containing the SlpA signal peptide. This was a compelling find considering that the Usp45 signal sequence, previously shown to be one of the most effective L. lactis secretion signals (Nouaille et al., 2003), was outperformed by the heterologous SlpA signal sequence. A similar result was obtained with the human interferon alpha 2b (hIFNa-2b) gene (Zhang et al., 2010), used worldwide for the treatment of diseases such as hepatitis B and C (Chelbi-Alix and Wietzerbin, 2007). The addition of the L. brevis SlpA signal peptide increased the secretion efficiency threefold in comparison to the lactococcal Usp45 signal sequence (Zhang et al., 2010).

The SlpA signal sequence has also been employed for secretion of chromosomally inserted heterologous proteins. The Bacillus anthracis protective antigen (PA), fused to a dendritic cell (DC)-targeting peptide, was previously shown to induce protective immunity when delivered on a plasmid via L. acidophilus NCFM (Mohamadzadeh et al., 2009) and L. gasseri (Mohamadzadeh et al., 2010). Since a major advantage of using recombinant microbes for vaccine delivery is their ability to express multiple antigens (Wells and Mercenier, 2008), the B. anthracis PA was co-expressed with the Clostridium botulinum Serotype A neurotoxin heavy-chain antigen (O'Flaherty and Klaenhammer, 2016). The C. botulinum vaccine cassette, which utilizes an L. acidophilus SlpA secretion signal, was chromosomally inserted downstream of the highly expressed enolase gene. Western blot analysis and RNA sequencing confirmed expression of the two antigens (O'Flaherty and Klaenhammer, 2016). Although this strain was never evaluated in vivo, a similarly, constructed strain, also utilizing the SlpA secretion signal, but carrying only the C. botulinum antigen (O'Flaherty and Klaenhammer, 2016), was used to vaccinate mice but unable to confer complete protection (Sahay et al., 2018). Rather, vaccine efficacy was enhanced by intradermal injection of the purified immunogenic subunit, which elicited robust memory B cell responses and rendered mice resistant to lethal doses of botulinum neurotoxin serotype A (Sahay et al., 2018).

The Slp signal sequence is capable of stimulating ample secretion of target molecules, prompting its continued use in vaccine research platforms. Although antigen secretion by recombinant LABs has been shown effective for treating disease (Mohamadzadeh et al., 2005, 2009, 2010), exposure to proteolytic enzymes, low pH, and bile salts may encourage protein degradation and therefore decreased functionality (Wells and Mercenier, 2008); consequently cell wall anchoring has become a popular alternative. However, surface display is a balancing act. High exposure of a protein implies optimal host interaction, but also increased susceptibly to degradation. Alternatively, low exposure, via compact protein folding or embedment within the cell wall, confers protection in exchange for diminished efficacy (Michon et al., 2016). Several S-layer-mediated surface display approaches have attempted to resolve this relationship.

THE SELF-ASSEMBLING AND ANCHORING DOMAINS OF THE SIP

Cell wall anchoring via fusion to Slp structural domains (Figure 1D) enables direct interaction of target peptides with host mucosal tissues while simultaneously protecting them from degradation (Bermudez-Humaran et al., 2011; Wang et al., 2016). The first S-layer-mediated display of a foreign epitope was generated by fusing the S-layer homology (SLH) domain of B. anthracis to the normally secreted levansucrase of Bacillus subtilis (Mesnage et al., 1999). The surface-exposed levansucrase retained its enzymatic and antigenic properties, prompting a new area of research which exploits the anchoring abilities of the Slp for cell surface presentation. Lactobacillus Slps do not possess SLH domains and are instead composed of two structural domains: a variable terminal for monomer self-assembly (N- or C- depending on the species), and a highly conserved peptidoglycan anchor (Smit et al., 2001; Hynonen and Palva, 2013).

Several studies have used S-layer-mediated anchoring for recombinant protein display on S-layer-deficient bacteria. The cell wall binding domain of the L. crispatus F5.7 Slp (LbsA) in conjunction with the Slp promoter and secretion signal, were used for surface display of a GFP on several Lactobacillus chicken isolates (Mota et al., 2006). The intention was to generate a vaccine delivery framework for the immunization of broilers against infectious diseases, but never evolved past proof of concept. Vaccination via recombinant bacteria is a particularly attractive option for livestock and poultry operations since the lyophilized microorganisms can be blended into feed; a process that is easily scaled up (Wang et al., 2016). For human applications, the complete SlpA from L. acidophilus ATCC 4356 was fused to a GFP reporter for external presentation on a plasmid-cured, lactose-deficient derivative of L. casei ATCC 334 (Qin et al., 2014). The authors were able to develop a food-grade cell surface display vector by substituting lactose metabolism genes in place of antibiotic selection markers and verified gastrointestinal stability via in vitro modeling (Qin et al., 2014). The L. crispatus K2-4-3 SlpB C-terminal domain,



defense (Cascade) and the signature Cas3 nuclease (Barrangou, 2015).

LcsB, was employed for the display of not only a GFP reporter (Hu et al., 2011), but also a carcinoembryonic antigen (CEA) (Zhang et al., 2016). Previous studies have shown that CEA is capable of eliciting strong T-cell and humoral immune responses, which can hinder tumor growth (Greiner et al., 2002). Oral administration of recombinant CEA-presenting *L. lactis* to mice yielded significantly higher levels of CEA-specific secretory IgA and a higher spleen index in comparison to CEA antigen alone or

the negative control, demonstrating the potential of *L. lactis* CEA as a cancer vaccine (Greiner et al., 2002).

Since the S-layer of *L. crispatus* is capable of binding intestinal extracellular matrices such as collagen and laminin, heterologous expression of Slps has also been used to improve the adhesive capacity of host organisms. For example, the *L. crispatus* JCM5810 collagen-binding S-layer protein, CbsA (Martinez et al., 2000), as well as its individual domains (Antikainen et al., 2002),

were expressed on the surface of *L. casei* enabling recombinant organisms to bind various extracellular matrices. Similarly, a surface display cassette consisting of the *L. brevis* ATCC 8287 SlpA receptor-binding domain fused to a PrtP spacer enhanced *L. lactis* adherence to Intestine 407 cells (Avall-Jaaskelainen et al., 2003). Both approaches were able to significantly increase the adhesive capacity of engineered organisms, but yet to be evaluated is the probable synergistic effect of combining improved adhesion with an S-layer anchored antigen in what could potentially be a potent vaccine design platform.

Unlike much of the work presented in this review, a handful of studies achieved Slp-mediated display of foreign proteins without DNA manipulation in the host by exploiting the inherent ability of Slps to anchor and self-assemble. For instance, the L. acidophilus C-terminal anchor (SAC) was attached to a GFP reporter, then produced and purified in E. coli. The SAC-GFP fusion protein was capable of binding lithium chloridepretreated surfaces of wild-type L. acidophilus, L. helveticus, and L. crispatus (Smit et al., 2001). Similarly, L. crispatus K2-4-3 LcsB-GFP fusions were able to associate with SDS-pretreated surfaces of various S-layer-forming LABs including L. brevis, L. helveticus, L. crispatus, and Lactobacillus salivarius as well as several non-S-layer-formers, including L. lactis, L. delbrueckii, Lactobacillus johnsonii, and Streptococcus thermophilus (Hu et al., 2011). Interestingly, neither the SAC-GFP fusion nor LcsB-GFP were able to bind the surface of L. casei (Smit et al., 2001; Hu et al., 2011). This approach is unique in that it offers an alternative way to deliver foreign proteins while also circumventing the GMO (genetically modified organism) label, but is limited by its inability to generate additional heterologous protein in vivo and susceptibility to replacement by wild type Slps. However, in general, studies using heterologously expressed Slps and Slp anchors are hindered by inadequate secretion across the cell wall (Hu et al., 2011) or inability to form an array due to irregular folding and/or lack of cell surface exposure (Martinez et al., 2000). Consequently, rather than tease apart the efficient Slp secretion and display system, there is now interest in harnessing it as a whole through the direct insertion of foreign peptides within the context of the protein.

DELIVERY VIA DIRECT INTEGRATION WITHIN THE SIP

The extraordinarily high, stable abundance of the Slp, makes it an enticing target for antigen display and delivery via direct integration into its genome sequence (**Figure 1E**). The presentation of an exogenous protein within the context of the Slp was first achieved in *Caulobacter crescentus* through the random introduction of a pilin peptide from *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* strain K. Eleven potential sites of successful insertion were identified, demonstrating for the first time the capacity of the Slp to act as a carrier for foreign epitopes (Bingle et al., 1997).

Many subsequent studies have focused on mapping the S-layer to gain insight into ideal positioning for novel insertions,

including in *Lactobacillus*. In *L. acidophilus* ATCC 4356, peptides ranging from 7 to 13 amino acids were randomly introduced into the Slp (Smit et al., 2002). Within the variable N-terminal (SAN), five of these positions maintained paracrystalline structure formation *in vitro*, while four others resulted in the complete abolishment of any array-forming capacity. Unsurprisingly, an insertion into the cell wall-binding domain had no effect on assembly (Smit et al., 2002). Similarly, the *L. brevis* SlpA was mapped via cysteine-scanning mutagenesis combined with sulfhydryl modification to identify locations of high surface accessibility and verify that the mutations did not alter self-assembly properties (Vilen et al., 2009). Combined, these works established several stable, surface-accessible insertion sites within the *Lactobacillus* Slp, yet few researchers have capitalized on this knowledge.

Currently, only two studies have successfully integrated antigens within the context of the Lactobacillus Slp. Through an inducible expression system, the poliovirus VP1 epitope was evaluated in four potential L. brevis ATCC 8287 slpA insertion sites (Avall-Jaaskelainen et al., 2002). The location that demonstrated the best surface expression was then targeted for chromosomal insertion of the c-Myc epitope via direct double-crossover integration (Avall-Jaaskelainen et al., 2002). A uniformly chimeric S-layer was obtained without any effect on array formation. More recently, the membrane proximal external region (MPER) epitope from human immunodeficiency virus type 1 (HIV-1) was inserted into L. acidophilus NCFM SlpA (Kajikawa et al., 2015). L. acidophilus NCFM is regularly employed for mucosal vaccine delivery due in part to its direct interactions with the dendritic cell-specific antigen DC-SIGN (Konstantinov et al., 2008) and adaptation to the harsh conditions associated with gastric transit (Sanders and Klaenhammer, 2001). Vaccination via the recombinant organism, in conjunction with an IL-1ß adjuvant, successfully stimulated MPER-specific antibody production in both the serum and mucosal secretions of mice (Kajikawa et al., 2015). This study marks the first and only instance of an Slp-integrated antigen being evaluated in vivo.

The establishment of a uniformly chimeric S-layer translates to approximately 10⁵ instances of epitope display on the surface of a single bacterium (Sleytr and Messner, 1983). Despite these considerable numbers, insert size is exceptionally limited in order to preserve S-layer array formation (Smit et al., 2002). Currently, peptides longer than 19 amino acids are unable to be inserted into SlpA without disrupting the lattice structure (Kajikawa et al., 2015). Therefore, alternative methods exploiting auxiliary proteins associated with the S-layer are now being investigated for the display and delivery of larger antigens, as seen in Slp-mediated anchoring studies (see "The self-assembling and anchoring domains of the Slp"), but at frequencies more akin to direct integration.

S-LAYER ASSOCIATED PROTEINS

The Lactobacillus S-layer, once thought to be solely composed of repeating monomeric Slp subunits, is actually far more

complex (Johnson et al., 2013, 2015). It is now widely accepted that S-layers can act as scaffolds for the external display of numerous auxiliary proteins, termed S-layer associated proteins (SLAPs), which can confer additional physiological functionalities (Johnson et al., 2013, 2015, 2017; Hymes et al., 2016; Johnson and Klaenhammer, 2016; Celebioglu and Svensson, 2017). Recently, the SLAP profile of *L. acidophilus* NCFM was quantified via multiplexing mass spectrometry (Klotz et al., 2017). Although results revealed significant growth stage-dependent alterations, they also highlighted several proteins with consistent high expression in both

logarithmic and stationary growth phases (Klotz et al., 2017). The surface location and abundance of these proteins make them excellent targets for biotherapeutic delivery. Unlike Slp integrants, SLAP fusions are theoretically less limited in epitope size as they are not prone to S-layer array disruption (**Figure 1F**). Both the native SLAP promoter and secretion signal can be harnessed for this process with the intent to maintain high expression, secretion, and surface localization coupled with the display and delivery of a significantly larger and therefore more potent epitope.

S-layer- forming lactobacilli	Slp	Slp Component	Host	Antigen/Reporter	Results	Reference
L. acidophilus	SIpA; SIpB	Promoter	L. casei	CAT	Evaluated slpA and slpB promoters; only slpA remained active under all tested growth conditions	Boot et al., 1996b
	SIpA	Promoter	<i>L. lactis; L. reuteri</i> chicken crop isolates	eGFP	The <i>slpA</i> promoter was highly efficient in <i>L. lactis</i> but nearly inactive in <i>L. reuteri</i> isolates	Lizier et al., 2010
	SIpA	Promoter	L. casei; L. paracasei; L. plantarum; L. lactic; L. helveticus; L. acidophilus; L. lactis; E. coli	GFP	Plasmids encoding <i>slpA</i> promoter exhibited distinct properties based on host and growth phase	Chen et al., 2014
	SIpA	Promoter	L. acidophilus	GusA	The <i>slpA</i> -driven GusA activity increased three logs in comparison to the <i>gusA</i> -negative parent	Douglas and Klaenhammer, 2011
	SIpA	Secretion	L. acidophilus	<i>B. anthracis</i> protective antigen (PA); <i>C. botulinum</i> Serotype A neurotoxin heavy-chain antigen	The SIpA signal sequence generated stable and robust secretion of the <i>C. botulinum</i> antigen	O'Flaherty and Klaenhammer, 2016
	SIpA	Secretion	L. acidophilus	<i>C. botulinum</i> Serotype A neurotoxin heavy-chain antigen	Recombinant organism was unable to confer complete protection against an experimental botulism challenge	Sahay et al., 2018
	SIpA	Integration	L. casei	GFP	Generated a food-grade SlpA-based cell surface display vector and verified gastrointestinal stability <i>in vitro</i>	Qin et al., 2014
	SIpA	Integration	L. acidophilus	HIV-1 membrane proximal external region (MPER)	Delivery of MPER peptide via direct integration into SIpA stimulated antigen-specific antibody production in both serum and mucosal secretions of vaccinated mice	Kajikawa et al., 2015
L. brevis	SIpA	Promoter	L. lactis; L. plantarum; L. gasseri	GusA; Luc; PepN	The <i>slpA</i> promoter was recognized in all strains but especially <i>L. lactis</i> and <i>L. plantarum</i>	Kahala and Palva, 1999
	SIpA	Promoter	L. casei	Mouse IL-10	The <i>slpA</i> promoter yielded high levels of IL-10 but was sensitive to low pH	Kajikawa et al., 2010
TABLE 1 | Continued

S-layer- forming lactobacilli	Slp	Slp Component	Host	Antigen/Reporter	Results	Reference
	SIpA	Promoter; secretion	L. lactis; L. brevis; L. plantarum; L. gasseri; L. casei	<i>E. coli</i> β-lactamase (Bla)	Bla was expressed in all hosts, but most efficiently in <i>L. lactis</i> and <i>L. brevis</i> ; production was restricted to exponential growth phase	Savijoki et al., 1997
	SIpA	Secretion	L. lactis	<i>E. coli</i> F18 fimbrial adhesion protein (FedF)	The SIpA signal sequence increased FedF secretion efficiency four to sixfold in comparison to the lactococcal Usp45 signal sequence	Lindholm et al., 2004
	SIpA	Secretion	L. lactis	Human interferon alpha 2b (hIFNα-2b)	SlpA signal sequence increased hIFNα-2b secretion efficiency threefold in comparison to the lactococcal Usp45 signal sequence	Zhang et al., 2010
	SIpA	Secretion; structural domain	L. lactis	None	Surface expression of SIpA receptor-binding domain increased adherence to Intestine 407 cells	Avall-Jaaskelainen et al., 2003
	SIpA	Integration	L. brevis	Poliovirus VP1 epitope; c-Myc epitope	Directly inserted epitopes into SlpA without disrupting array formation	Avall-Jaaskelainen et al., 2002
L. crispatus	LbsA	Promoter; secretion, structural domain	Lactobacillus chicken isolates	GFP	Achieved expression, secretion and surface presentation of GFP	Mota et al., 2006
	LcsB	Structural domain	L. lactis	GFP	Achieved surface presentation of GFP	Hu et al., 2011
	LcsB	Structural domain	L. lactis	Carcinoembryonic antigen (CEA)	LcsB-mediated display of CEA stimulated higher levels of antigen-specific secretory IgA and a higher spleen index when fed to mice	Zhang et al., 2016
	CbsA	Structural domain	L. casei	None	Recombinant <i>L. casei</i> expressing CbsA was able to bind immobilized collagens	Martinez et al., 2000
	CbsA	Structural domain	L. casei	None	Recombinant expression of CbsA domains enabled adhesion to laminin and collagen	Antikainen et al., 2002

SIP ENGINEERING PLATFORMS

Presently, the two most popular techniques for engineering LABs are the NICE (NIsin Controlled gene Expression) system in *L. lactis* and the pORI-based *upp* counterselective gene replacement system in *L. acidophilus*. There is also growing interest surrounding the use of CRISPR-Cas technology, though its application in bacterial genome editing remains relatively underrepresented (Selle and Barrangou, 2015; Hidalgo-Cantabrana et al., 2017).

The NICE System

The NICE system uses nisin to drive heterologous protein expression in *L. lactis* (Kuipers et al., 1995). Through the insertion of signal transduction genes from a nisin gene cluster into a nisin-negative *L. lactis* strain, NZ9000 was

created (Kuipers et al., 1998). Subsequently, when a gene of interest is inserted downstream of the inducible nisA promoter, expression of that gene can be obtained by the addition of nisin to the culture medium (Mierau and Kleerebezem, 2005). Since its conception, NICE has become one of the most successful and widely used expression systems in Grampositive bacteria (Mierau and Kleerebezem, 2005). Indeed, the NICE system was even employed for the production a number of the S-layer fusion proteins mentioned above (Hu et al., 2011; Zhang et al., 2016) and to render the non-adhesive L. lactis NZ9000 adhesive via the addition of an L. brevis SlpA receptor-binding domain (Avall-Jaaskelainen et al., 2003). The availability of an easily engineered, non-S-layer-forming organism, has greatly accelerated not only our understanding of the biological role of an S-layer but also how we can exploit it.

The pORI-Based upp System

The establishment of the pORI-based upp counterselective gene replacement system in S-layer-former L. acidophilus NCFM, first employed for the functional characterization of SlpX (Goh et al., 2009), has since become an invaluable tool for S-layer component engineering. The system uses a upp-encoded uracil phosphoribosyltransferase (UPRTase) as a counterselection marker to positively select for double crossover homologous recombination events. The method has been adapted for numerous Slp studies ranging from reporter integration (Douglas and Klaenhammer, 2011), anchoring/adjuvant assessment (Kajikawa et al., 2011), and targeted antigen delivery systems for disease protection (Kajikawa et al., 2015; O'Flaherty and Klaenhammer, 2016). Similar counterselective systems have also been developed in non-S-layer-formers including L. gasseri ATCC 33323 (Selle et al., 2014) and L. casei ATCC 393 (Song et al., 2014), but have yet to be harnessed for Slp analyses. In general, the technique remains a superior approach for characterizing the functional genetics of lactobacilli without the additional pressures required for plasmid maintenance.

CRISPR

Clustered Regularly Interspaced Short Palindromic Repeats (CRISPR) together with CRISPR-associated (Cas) proteins, form the prokaryotic adaptive immune system which provides DNAencoded, RNA-guided, sequence-specific protection against viral invaders (Barrangou and Doudna, 2016). The current classification system uses two broad classes consisting of six major types (I-VI) which can be allocated into approximately 30 subtypes (Klompe and Sternberg, 2018). The simplest of these is the Type II system which relies on the activity of a singular Cas9 endonuclease and has gained immense popularity for its ability to be repurposed for genome editing (Chylinski et al., 2014; Barrangou and Doudna, 2016; Klompe and Sternberg, 2018). Depending on the organism, this can be done via harnessing of the endogenous system or supplying an exogenous Cas9:single guide RNA (sgRNA) complex. To date, no CRISPRbased genome editing has been performed in S-layer-forming lactobacilli, but it has been conducted in L. casei (Song et al., 2017) and L. lactis (Berlec et al., 2018), frequent hosts for recombinant Slp investigative research. Nevertheless, the development and delivery of a functional CRISPR-Cas9 plasmid remains a critical need, particularly in organisms such as L. acidophilus NCFM (depicted in Figure 2A), which does not possess an active CRISPR system (Crawley et al., 2018), but has proven to be hugely impactful in both probiotic and Slp research.

Despite the popularity of Type II engineering, Type I systems have been harnessed for genome editing in *Clostridium* and archaea (Pyne et al., 2016; Cheng et al., 2017) and transcriptional regulation in *E. coli* (Luo et al., 2015). S-layer formers, *L. crispatus*, and *L. helveticus*, frequently possess Type I systems (Crawley et al., 2018) and are also of interest for vaccine delivery. *L. crispatus* is a natural inhabitant of the human vaginal tract (Lepargneur, 2016), rendering it suitable for delivery of antigens targeting sexually transmitted diseases, such as HIV, while *L. helveticus* is predominately associated with dairy (Taverniti and Guglielmetti, 2012), which could be advantageous when considering modes of delivery and stability of the vaccine. A proposed strategy for Type I genome editing in *L. crispatus* is illustrated in **Figure 2B**. Harnessing of the endogenous system or delivery of a functional exogenous system both possess the potential to be powerful tools for advancing Slp-mediated biotherapeutic research.

The NICE and pORI-based *upp* systems have both proven effective for S-layer-mediated biotherapeutic delivery; however, next-generation genome editing tools, such as CRISPR-Cas, hold tremendous potential for bacterial engineering overall (Selle and Barrangou, 2015; Hidalgo-Cantabrana et al., 2017). Many S-layer-forming lactobacilli possess endogenous CRISPR systems, making them promising candidates for future S-layer engineering studies. Alternatively, delivery of a functional CRISPR to strains devoid of a system, will also greatly accelerate the pace at which recombinant organisms can be generated. Ironically, despite CRISPR originating as the bacterial adaptive immune system, CRISPR-based bacterial genome editing still remains relatively underexploited, though recent studies have provided valuable insights for its widespread future implementation (Selle and Barrangou, 2015).

FUTURE DIRECTIONS

The Slp is a multi-faceted engineering target with both biotherapeutic and biotechnological applications (Sleytr et al., 2014). However, within the Lactobacillus genus, harnessing of this protein remains early in its development (Avall-Jaaskelainen and Palva, 2005; Hynonen and Palva, 2013); nonetheless, the research highlighted above (summarized in Table 1) advocates for its continued pursuit. The *slp* promoter and signal peptide are undoubtedly adept at driving robust expression and secretion of target proteins, while the structural domains have successfully displayed foreign epitopes and improved the adhesive capacity of host cells. More complex and novel display strategies, such as direct integration into the Slp or SLAP fusions, are innovative approaches for cell surface presentation that also exploit the inherent properties of S-layer-forming lactobacilli. In general, eliciting consistent immune responses via the mucosal route of administration is hindered by rapid elimination or inability to make contact with M cells and other mucosal tissues involved in antigen uptake and processing (Ogra et al., 2001). Thus the ability of recombinant LABs, and the S-layer in particular, to promote antigen uptake and stimulate the adaptive immune response is highly desirable (Konstantinov et al., 2008).

Numerous studies have established vaccine platforms based on one or more components of the *Lactobacillus* Slp, however, there remains a disconnect between delivery and efficacy. Despite extensive reviews touting the effectiveness of the LAB-based vaccines *in vivo* (Wells and Mercenier, 2008; LeCureux and Dean, 2018), few S-layer-based delivery frameworks have moved into animal models. Although successful secretion and/or surface display of the reporter/antigen is regularly achieved, only three of the recombinant organisms presented above were tested in mice (Kajikawa et al., 2015; Zhang et al., 2016; Sahay et al., 2018), whereas the remainder were more focused on establishing that antigen production/display was even possible. Thus, an important step moving forward will be connecting the delivery of these antigens with an actual vaccination event, therefore surpassing proof of concept studies and ultimately demonstrating disease protection.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

CK and RB wrote and edited the manuscript.

REFERENCES

- Antikainen, J., Anton, L., Sillanpaa, J., and Korhonen, T. K. (2002). Domains in the S-layer protein CbsA of *Lactobacillus crispatus* involved in adherence to collagens, laminin and lipoteichoic acids and in self-assembly. *Mol. Microbiol.* 46, 381–394.
- Avall-Jaaskelainen, S., Kyla-Nikkila, K., Kahala, M., Miikkulainen-Lahti, T., and Palva, A. (2002). Surface display of foreign epitopes on the *Lactobacillus brevis* S-layer. *Appl. Environ. Microbiol.* 68, 5943–5951.
- Avall-Jaaskelainen, S., Lindholm, A., and Palva, A. (2003). Surface display of the receptor-binding region of the *Lactobacillus brevis* S-layer protein in *Lactococcus lactis* provides nonadhesive lactococci with the ability to adhere to intestinal epithelial cells. *Appl. Environ. Microbiol.* 69, 2230–2236.
- Avall-Jaaskelainen, S., and Palva, A. (2005). Lactobacillus surface layers and their applications. FEMS Microbiol. Rev. 29, 511–529.
- Barrangou, R. (2015). Diversity of CRISPR-Cas immune systems and molecular machines. *Genome Biol.* 16:247. doi: 10.1186/s13059-015-0816-9
- Barrangou, R., and Doudna, J. A. (2016). Applications of CRISPR technologies in research and beyond. *Nat. Biotechnol.* 34, 933–941. doi: 10.1038/nbt.3659
- Berlec, A., Ravnikar, M., and Strukelj, B. (2012). Lactic acid bacteria as oral delivery systems for biomolecules. *Pharmazie* 67, 891–898.
- Berlec, A., Skrlec, K., Kocjan, J., Olenic, M., and Strukelj, B. (2018). Single plasmid systems for inducible dual protein expression and for CRISPR-Cas9/CRISPRi gene regulation in lactic acid bacterium *Lactococcus lactis. Sci. Rep.* 8:1009. doi: 10.1038/s41598-018-19402-1
- Bermudez-Humaran, L. G., Aubry, C., Motta, J. P., Deraison, C., Steidler, L., Vergnolle, N., et al. (2013). Engineering lactococci and lactobacilli for human health. *Curr. Opin. Microbiol.* 16, 278–283. doi: 10.1016/j.mib.2013.06.002
- Bermudez-Humaran, L. G., Kharrat, P., Chatel, J. M., and Langella, P. (2011). Lactococci and lactobacilli as mucosal delivery vectors for therapeutic proteins and DNA vaccines. *Microbial Cell Factories* 10(Suppl. 1)), S4. doi: 10.1186/1475-2859-10-S1-S4
- Bingle, W. H., Nomellini, J. F., and Smit, J. (1997). Cell-surface display of a *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* strain K pilin peptide within the paracrystalline S-layer of *Caulobacter crescentus. Mol. Microbiol.* 26, 277–288.
- Boot, H. J., Kolen, C. P., Andreadaki, F. J., Leer, R. J., and Pouwels, P. H. (1996a). The *Lactobacillus acidophilus* S-layer protein gene expression site comprises two consensus promoter sequences, one of which directs transcription of stable mRNA. *J. Bacteriol.* 178, 5388–5394.
- Boot, H. J., Kolen, C. P., and Pouwels, P. H. (1996b). Interchange of the active and silent S-layer protein genes of *Lactobacillus acidophilus* by inversion of the chromosomal slp segment. *Mol. Microbiol.* 21, 799–809.
- Celebioglu, H. U., and Svensson, B. (2017). Exo- and surface proteomes of the probiotic bacterium *Lactobacillus acidophilus* NCFM. *Proteomics* 17, 1700019. doi: 10.1002/pmic.201700019
- Chelbi-Alix, M. K., and Wietzerbin, J. (2007). Interferon, a growing cytokine family: 50 years of interferon research. *Biochimie* 89, 713–718.
- Chen, Z. J., Lin, J. Z., Ma, C. J., Zhao, S. M., She, Q. X., and Liang, Y. X. (2014). Characterization of pMC11, a plasmid with dual origins of replication isolated from *Lactobacillus casei* MCJ and construction of shuttle vectors with each replicon. *Appl. Microbiol. Biotechnol.* 98, 5977–5989. doi: 10.1007/s00253-014-5649-z

FUNDING

This work was supported by DuPont Nutrition and Health and the North Carolina Ag Foundation.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We would like to thank Dr. Yong Jun Goh, Dr. Sarah O'Flaherty, Dr. Claudio Hidalgo-Cantabrana, and Dr. Alexandra Crawley for their technical expertise and assistance with manuscript preparation.

- Cheng, F., Gong, L., Zhao, D., Yang, H., Zhou, J., Li, M., et al. (2017). Harnessing the native type I-B CRISPR-Cas for genome editing in a polyploid archaeon. J Genet Genomics 44, 541–548. doi: 10.1016/j.jgg.2017.09.010
- Chiang, T. W., Le Sage, C., Larrieu, D., Demir, M., and Jackson, S. P. (2016). CRISPR-Cas9(D10A) nickase-based genotypic and phenotypic screening to enhance genome editing. *Sci Rep* 6, 24356. doi: 10.1038/srep 24356
- Chylinski, K., Makarova, K. S., Charpentier, E., and Koonin, E. V. (2014). Classification and evolution of type II CRISPR-Cas systems. *Nucleic Acids Res.* 42, 6091–6105. doi: 10.1093/nar/gku241
- Crawley, A., Henriksen, E., Stout, E., Brandt, K., and Barrangou, R. (2018). Characterizing the activity of abundant, diverse and active CRISPR-Cas systems in lactobacilli. *Sci Rep* 8, 11544. doi: 10.1038/s41598-018-29746-3
- Douglas, G. L., and Klaenhammer, T. R. (2011). Directed chromosomal integration and expression of the reporter gene gusA3 in *Lactobacillus acidophilus* NCFM. *Appl. Environ. Microbiol.* 77, 7365–7371. doi: 10.1128/AEM.06028-11
- Duar, R. M., Lin, X. X. B., Zheng, J. S., Martino, M. E., Grenier, T., Perez-Munoz, M. E., et al. (2017). Lifestyles in transition: evolution and natural history of the genus *Lactobacillus*. *FEMS Microbiol. Rev.* 41, S27–S48. doi: 10.1093/femsre/ fux030
- Fagan, R. P., and Fairweather, N. F. (2014). Biogenesis and functions of bacterial S-layers. Nat. Rev. Microbiol. 12, 211–222. doi: 10.1038/nrmicro3213
- Goh, Y. J., Azcarate-Peril, M. A., O'Flaherty, S., Durmaz, E., Valence, F., Jardin, J., et al. (2009). Development and application of a upp-based counterselective gene replacement system for the study of the S-layer protein SlpX of *Lactobacillus acidophilus* NCFM. *Appl. Environ. Microbiol.* 75, 3093–3105. doi: 10.1128/ AEM.02502-08
- Greiner, J. W., Zeytin, H., Anver, M. R., and Schlom, J. (2002). Vaccine-based therapy directed against carcinoembryonic antigen demonstrates antitumor activity on spontaneous intestinal tumors in the absence of autoimmunity. *Cancer Res.* 62, 6944–6951.
- Hidalgo-Cantabrana, C., O'Flaherty, S., and Barrangou, R. (2017). CRISPR-based engineering of next-generation lactic acid bacteria. *Curr. Opin. Microbiol.* 37, 79–87. doi: 10.1016/j.mib.2017.05.015
- Hu, S., Kong, J., Sun, Z., Han, L., Kong, W., and Yang, P. (2011). Heterologous protein display on the cell surface of lactic acid bacteria mediated by the s-layer protein. *Microb Cell Fact* 10, 86. doi: 10.1186/1475-2859-10-86
- Hymes, J. P., Johnson, B. R., Barrangou, R., and Klaenhammer, T. R. (2016). Functional analysis of an S-layer-associated fibronectin-binding protein in *Lactobacillus acidophilus* NCFM. *Appl. Environ. Microbiol.* 82, 2676–2685. doi: 10.1128/AEM.00024-16
- Hynonen, U., and Palva, A. (2013). Lactobacillus surface layer proteins: structure, function and applications. Appl. Microbiol. Biotechnol. 97, 5225–5243.
- Johnson, B., Selle, K., O'Flaherty, S., Goh, Y. J., and Klaenhammer, T. (2013). Identification of extracellular surface-layer associated proteins in *Lactobacillus acidophilus* NCFM. *Microbiology* 159, 2269–2282. doi: 10.1099/mic.0.070755-0
- Johnson, B. R., Hymes, J., Sanozky-Dawes, R., Henriksen, E. D., Barrangou, R., and Klaenhammer, T. R. (2015). Conserved S-layer-associated proteins revealed by exoproteomic survey of S-layer-forming Lactobacilli. *Appl. Environ. Microbiol.* 82, 134–145. doi: 10.1128/AEM.01968-15
- Johnson, B. R., and Klaenhammer, T. R. (2016). AcmB Is an S-Layerassociated beta-N-acetylglucosaminidase and functional autolysin in

Lactobacillus acidophilus NCFM. Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 82, 5687-5697. doi: 10.1128/AEM.02025-16

- Johnson, B. R., O'Flaherty, S., Goh, Y. J., Carroll, I., Barrangou, R., and Klaenhammer, T. R. (2017). The S-layer associated serine protease homolog PrtX impacts cell surface-mediated microbe-host interactions of *Lactobacillus* acidophilus NCFM. Front. Microbiol. 8:1185. doi: 10.3389/fmicb.2017.01185
- Kahala, M., and Palva, A. (1999). The expression signals of the *Lactobacillus brevis* slpA gene direct efficient heterologous protein production in lactic acid bacteria. *Appl. Microbiol. Biotechnol.* 51, 71–78.
- Kajikawa, A., Ichikawa, E., and Igimi, S. (2010). Development of a highly efficient protein-secreting system in recombinant *Lactobacillus casei*. J. Microbiol. Biotechnol. 20, 375–382.
- Kajikawa, A., Nordone, S. K., Zhang, L., Stoeker, L. L., Lavoy, A. S., Klaenhammer, T. R., et al. (2011). Dissimilar properties of two recombinant *Lactobacillus acidophilus* strains displaying *Salmonella* FliC with different anchoring motifs. *Appl. Environ. Microbiol.* 77, 6587–6596. doi: 10.1128/AEM.05 153-11
- Kajikawa, A., Zhang, L., Lavoy, A., Bumgardner, S., Klaenhammer, T. R., and Dean, G. A. (2015). Mucosal immunogenicity of genetically modified *Lactobacillus* acidophilus expressing an HIV-1 epitope within the surface layer protein. *PLoS* One 10:e0141713. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0141713
- Klaenhammer, T. R., Barrangou, R., Buck, B. L., Azcarate-Peril, M. A., and Altermann, E. (2005). Genomic features of lactic acid bacteria effecting bioprocessing and health. *FEMS Microbiol. Rev.* 29, 393–409.
- Klein, G., Pack, A., Bonaparte, C., and Reuter, G. (1998). Taxonomy and physiology of probiotic lactic acid bacteria. *Int. J. Food Microbiol.* 41, 103–125.
- Klompe, S., and Sternberg, S. (2018). Harnessing a billion years of experimentation: the ongoing exploration and exploitation of CRISPR–cas immune systems. *CRISPR J.* 1, 141–158.
- Klotz, C., O'Flaherty, S., Goh, Y. J., and Barrangou, R. (2017). Investigating the effect of growth phase on the surface-layer associated proteome of *Lactobacillus* acidophilus using quantitative proteomics. Front. Microbiol. 8:2174. doi: 10. 3389/fmicb.2017.02174
- Konstantinov, S. R., Smidt, H., De Vos, W. M., Bruijns, S. C., Singh, S. K., Valence, F., et al. (2008). S layer protein A of *Lactobacillus* acidophilus NCFM regulates immature dendritic cell and T cell functions. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 105, 19474–19479. doi: 10.1073/pnas.081030 5105
- Kuipers, O. P., Beerthuyzen, M. M., De Ruyter, P. G., Luesink, E. J., and De Vos, W. M. (1995). Autoregulation of nisin biosynthesis in *Lactococcus lactis* by signal transduction. *J. Biol. Chem.* 270, 27299–27304.
- Kuipers, O. P., De Ruyter, P. G. G. A., Kleerebezem, M., and De Vos, W. M. (1998). Quorum sensing-controlled gene expression in lactic acid bacteria. *J. Biotechnol.* 64, 15–21.
- LeCureux, J. S., and Dean, G. A. (2018). *Lactobacillus* mucosal vaccine vectors: immune responses against bacterial and viral antigens. *mSphere* 3:e00061-e18. doi: 10.1128/mSphere.00061-18
- Lepargneur, J. P. (2016). *Lactobacillus crispatus* as biomarker of the healthy vaginal tract. *Ann. Biol. Clin.* 74, 421–427. doi: 10.1684/abc.2016.1169
- Lindholm, A., Smeds, A., and Palva, A. (2004). Receptor binding domain of *Escherichia coli* F18 fimbrial adhesin FedF can be both efficiently secreted and surface displayed in a functional form in *Lactococcus lactis*. *Appl. Environ*. *Microbiol*. 70, 2061–2071.
- Liu, W., Pang, H., Zhang, H., and Cai, Y. (2014). "Biodiversity of Lactic Acid Bacteria," in *Lactic Acid Bacteria: Fundamentals and Practice*, eds H. Zhang and Y. Cai (Dordrecht: Springer Netherlands), 103–203.
- Lizier, M., Sarra, P. G., Cauda, R., and Lucchini, F. (2010). Comparison of expression vectors in *Lactobacillus reuteri* strains. *FEMS Microbiol. Lett.* 308, 8–15. doi: 10.1111/j.1574-6968.2010.01978.x
- Luo, M. L., Mullis, A. S., Leenay, R. T., and Beisel, C. L. (2015). Repurposing endogenous type I CRISPR-Cas systems for programmable gene repression. *Nucleic Acids Res.* 43, 674–681. doi: 10.1093/nar/gku971
- Martinez, B., Sillanpaa, J., Smit, E., Korhonen, T. K., and Pouwels, P. H. (2000). Expression of cbsA encoding the collagen-binding S-protein of *Lactobacillus crispatus* JCM5810 in *Lactobacillus casei* ATCC 393(T). J. Bacteriol. 182, 6857–6861.
- Mesnage, S., Tosi-Couture, E., and Fouet, A. (1999). Production and cell surface anchoring of functional fusions between the SLH motifs of the *Bacillus anthracis*

S-layer proteins and the Bacillus subtilis levansucrase. *Mol. Microbiol.* 31, 927–936.

- Michon, C., Langella, P., Eijsink, V. G. H., Mathiesen, G., and Chatel, J. M. (2016). Display of recombinant proteins at the surface of lactic acid bacteria: strategies and applications. *Microb. Cell Fact.* 15:70. doi: 10.1186/s12934-016-0468-9
- Mierau, I., and Kleerebezem, M. (2005). 10 years of the nisin-controlled gene expression system (NICE) in *Lactococcus lactis*. *Appl. Microbiol. Biotechnol.* 68, 705–717.
- Mohamadzadeh, M., Duong, T., Sandwick, S. J., Hoover, T., and Klaenhammer, T. R. (2009). Dendritic cell targeting of *Bacillus anthracis* protective antigen expressed by *Lactobacillus acidophilus* protects mice from lethal challenge. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 106, 4331–4336. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0900029106
- Mohamadzadeh, M., Durmaz, E., Zadeh, M., Pakanati, K. C., Gramarossa, M., Cohran, V., et al. (2010). Targeted expression of anthrax protective antigen by *Lactobacillus gasseri* as an anthrax vaccine. *Future Microbiol* 5, 1289–1296. doi: 10.2217/fmb.10.78
- Mohamadzadeh, M., Olson, S., Kalina, W. V., Ruthel, G., Demmin, G. L., Warfield, K. L., et al. (2005). Lactobacilli activate human dendritic cells that skew T cells toward T helper 1 polarization. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 102, 2880–2885.
- Mota, R. M., Moreira, J. L., Souza, M. R., Horta, M. F., Teixeira, S. M., Neumann, E., et al. (2006). Genetic transformation of novel isolates of chicken *Lactobacillus* bearing probiotic features for expression of heterologous proteins: a tool to develop live oral vaccines. *BMC Biotechnol.* 6:2. doi: 10.1186/1472-6750-6-2
- Nouaille, S., Ribeiro, L. A., Miyoshi, A., Pontes, D., Le Loir, Y., Oliveira, S. C., et al. (2003). Heterologous protein production and delivery systems for *Lactococcus lactis. Genet. Mol. Res.* 2, 102–111.
- O'Flaherty, S., and Klaenhammer, T. R. (2016). Multivalent chromosomal expression of the *Clostridium botulinum* serotype a neurotoxin heavy-chain antigen and the *Bacillus anthracis* protective antigen in *Lactobacillus acidophilus*. *Appl. Environ. Microbiol.* 82, 6091–6101.
- Ogra, P. L., Faden, H., and Welliver, R. C. (2001). Vaccination strategies for mucosal immune responses. *Clin. Microbiol. Rev* 14, 430–445.
- Pyne, M. E., Bruder, M. R., Moo-Young, M., Chung, D. A., and Chou, C. P. (2016). Harnessing heterologous and endogenous CRISPR-Cas machineries for efficient markerless genome editing in *Clostridium. Sci. Rep.* 6:25666. doi: 10.1038/srep25666
- Qin, J., Wang, X., Kong, J., Ma, C., and Xu, P. (2014). Construction of a food-grade cell surface display system for *Lactobacillus casei*. *Microbiol. Res.* 169, 733–740. doi: 10.1016/j.micres.2014.02.001
- Sahay, B., Colliou, N., Zadeh, M., Ge, Y., Gong, M., Owen, J. L., et al. (2018). Dual-route targeted vaccine protects efficiently against botulinum neurotoxin A complex. *Vaccine* 36, 155–164. doi: 10.1016/j.vaccine.2017.11.008
- Sanders, M. E., and Klaenhammer, T. R. (2001). Invited review: the scientific basis of *Lactobacillus acidophilus* NCFM functionality as a probiotic. *J. Dairy Sci.* 84, 319–331.
- Sara, M., and Sleytr, U. B. (2000). S-Layer proteins. J. Bacteriol. 182, 859-868.
- Savijoki, K., Kahala, M., and Palva, A. (1997). High level heterologous protein production in *Lactococcus* and *Lactobacillus* using a new secretion system based on the *Lactobacillus brevis* S-layer signals. *Gene* 186, 255–262.
- Selle, K., and Barrangou, R. (2015). Harnessing CRISPR-Cas systems for bacterial genome editing. *Trends Microbiol* 23, 225–232. doi: 10.1016/j.tim.2015.01.008
- Selle, K., Goh, Y. J., O'Flaherty, S., and Klaenhammer, T. R. (2014). Development of an integration mutagenesis system in *Lactobacillus gasseri*. *Gut Microbes* 5, 326–332. doi: 10.4161/gmic.29101
- Sleytr, U. B., and Messner, P. (1983). Crystalline surface layers on bacteria. Annu. Rev. Microbiol. 37, 311–339.
- Sleytr, U. B., Schuster, B., Egelseer, E. M., and Pum, D. (2014). S-layers: principles and applications. *FEMS Microbiol. Rev.* 38, 823–864. doi: 10.1111/1574-6976. 12063
- Smit, E., Jager, D., Martinez, B., Tielen, F. J., and Pouwels, P. H. (2002). Structural and functional analysis of the S-layer protein crystallisation domain of *Lactobacillus acidophilus* ATCC 4356: evidence for protein-protein interaction of two subdomains. J. Mol. Biol. 324, 953–964.
- Smit, E., Oling, F., Demel, R., Martinez, B., and Pouwels, P. H. (2001). The S-layer protein of *Lactobacillus acidophilus* ATCC 4356: identification and characterisation of domains responsible for S-protein assembly and cell wall binding. J. Mol. Biol. 305, 245–257.

- Song, B. F., Ju, L. Z., Li, Y. J., and Tang, L. J. (2014). Chromosomal insertions in the *Lactobacillus casei* upp gene that are useful for vaccine expression. *Appl. Environ. Microbiol.* 80, 3321–3326. doi: 10.1128/AEM.00175-14
- Song, X., Huang, H., Xiong, Z., Ai, L., and Yang, S. (2017). CRISPR-Cas9(D10A) nickase-assisted genome editing in *Lactobacillus casei*. Appl. Environ. Microbiol 83, e01259-17. doi: 10.1128/AEM.01259-17
- Steidler, L., Hans, W., Schotte, L., Neirynck, S., Obermeier, F., Falk, W., et al. (2000). Treatment of murine colitis by *Lactococcus lactis* secreting interleukin-10. *Science* 289, 1352–1355.
- Taverniti, V., and Guglielmetti, S. (2012). Health-promoting properties of Lactobacillus helveticus. Front. Microbiol. 3:392. doi: 10.3389/fmicb.2012. 00392
- Vilen, H., Hynonen, U., Badelt-Lichtblau, H., Ilk, N., Jaaskelainen, P., Torkkeli, M., et al. (2009). Surface Location of Individual Residues of SIpA Provides Insight into the Lactobacillus brevis S-Layer. J. Bacteriol. 191, 3339–3349. doi: 10.1128/ IB.01782-08
- Wang, M., Gao, Z., Zhang, Y., and Pan, L. (2016). Lactic acid bacteria as mucosal delivery vehicles: a realistic therapeutic option. *Appl. Microbiol. Biotechnol.* 100, 5691–5701. doi: 10.1007/s00253-016-7557-x
- Wells, J. M., and Mercenier, A. (2008). Mucosal delivery of therapeutic and prophylactic molecules using lactic acid bacteria. *Nat. Rev. Microbiol.* 6 349–362. doi: 10.1038/nrmicro1840

- Wyszynska, A., Kobierecka, P., Bardowski, J., and Jagusztyn-Krynicka, E. K. (2015). Lactic acid bacteria–20 years exploring their potential as live vectors for mucosal vaccination. *Appl. Microbiol. Biotechnol.* 99, 2967–2977. doi: 10.1007/s00253-015-6498-0
- Zhang, Q., Zhong, J., Liang, X., Liu, W., and Huan, L. (2010). Improvement of human interferon alpha secretion by *Lactococcus lactis*. *Biotechnol. Lett.* 32, 1271–1277. doi: 10.1007/s10529-010-0285-x
- Zhang, X., Hu, S., Du, X., Li, T., Han, L., and Kong, J. (2016). Heterologous expression of carcinoembryonic antigen in *Lactococcus lactis* via LcsB-mediated surface displaying system for oral vaccine development. *J. Microbiol. Immunol. Infect.* 49, 851–858. doi: 10.1016/j.jmii.2014.11.009

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2018 Klotz and Barrangou. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Discovery of Bacterial Deaminases That Convert 5-Fluoroisocytosine Into 5-Fluorouracil

Agota Aučynaitė¹, Rasa Rutkienė¹, Daiva Tauraitė¹, Rolandas Meškys¹ and Jaunius Urbonavičius^{1,2*}

¹ Institute of Biochemistry, Department of Molecular Microbiology and Biotechnology, Life Sciences Center, Vilnius University, Vilnius, Lithuania, ² Department of Chemistry and Bioengineering, Vilnius Gediminas Technical University, Vilnius, Lithuania

Cytosine is one of the four letters of a standard genetic code, found both in DNA and in RNA. This heterocyclic base can be converted into uracil upon the action of the well-known cytosine deaminase. Isocytosine (2-aminouracil) is an isomer of cytosine, yet the enzymes that could convert it into uracil were previously mainly overlooked. In order to search for the isocytosine deaminases we used a selection strategy that is based on uracil auxotrophy and the metagenomic libraries, which provide a random pool of genes from uncultivated soil bacteria. Several genes that encode isocytosine deaminases were found and two respective recombinant proteins were purified. It was established that both novel deaminases do not use cytosine as a substrate. Instead, these enzymes are able to convert not only isocytosine into uracil, but also 5-fluoroisocytosine into 5-fluorouracil. Our findings suggest that novel isocytosine deaminases have a potential to be efficiently used in targeted cancer therapy instead of the classical cytosine deaminases. Use of isocytosine instead of cytosine would produce fewer side effects since deaminases produced by the commensal E. coli gut flora are ten times less efficient in degrading isocytosine than cytosine. In addition, there are no known homologs of isocytosine deaminases in human cells that would induce the toxicity when 5-fluoroisocytosine would be used as a prodrug.

Keywords: metagenomics, deaminase, isocytosine, 5-fluorouracil, cancer therapy

INTRODUCTION

Cytosine is a common cellular pyrimidine. It is a part of the cytidine triphosphate (CTP), which can serve as a high-energy molecule and a co-factor in metabolic processes. Cytosine is also one of the nitrogenous bases both in DNA and in RNA, which makes it an important molecule with many functions in the cell. It is a genomic "wild card" that is a key to generating genomic flexibility (Nabel et al., 2012). The cytosine modifications in messenger RNA precursors have significant impact on the functions of the proteins they encode (Gerber and Keller, 2001). Due to cytosine deamination, the AID/APOBEC family of cytidine deaminases have the unique potential to influence both epigenetic and genetic forms of heritable information, making these enzymes the link between both forms of inheritance (Chahwan et al., 2010). It is obvious that cytosine has objectives in the cell that are beyond the storage of information in the genome and most of these functions rely on the enzymes that are capable of modifying it.

Cytosine deaminase (CD) from *E. coli* is a member of the amidohydrolase superfamily that catalyzes the hydrolytic deamination of cytosine, forming uracil, and ammonia (Hall et al., 2011).

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Aleš Berlec, Jožef Stefan Institute, Slovenia

Reviewed by:

Ramón Alberto Batista-García, Universidad Autónoma del Estado de Morelos, Mexico Miklos Fuzi, Semmelweis University, Hungary

*Correspondence:

Jaunius Urbonavičius jaunius.urbonavicius@bchi.vu.lt; jaunius.urbonavicius@vgtu.lt

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Infectious Diseases, a section of the journal Frontiers in Microbiology

Received: 16 March 2018 Accepted: 18 September 2018 Published: 08 October 2018

Citation:

Aučynaitė A, Rutkienė R, Tauraitė D, Meškys R and Urbonavičius J (2018) Discovery of Bacterial Deaminases That Convert 5-Fluoroisocytosine Into 5-Fluorouracil. Front. Microbiol. 9:2375. doi: 10.3389/fmicb.2018.02375 Members of amidohydrolase superfamily are predominantly found in bacteria and also in certain fungi, but not in mammalian cells (Finn et al., 2016). Due to their ability to convert the non-toxic prodrug, 5-fluorocytosine (5-FC) into a well-known anticancer drug 5-fluorouracil (5-FU) (Raza et al., 2015) cytosine deaminases are among the key enzymes used in the prodrug-mediated control of variety of cancer types. Bacterial and yeast CDs have been investigated in the context of cancer therapy in detail by many research groups (Malekshah et al., 2016). After activation by CD, 5-FU can be further changed into potent pyrimidine antimetabolites by other cellular enzymes. It was shown that the 5-FU produced upon the action of this enzyme mediates the growth inhibition and apoptosis-mediated cell death of a variety of tumor types both in vitro and in vivo (Karjoo et al., 2016; Gaded and Anand, 2018). In this study, we applied our genetic screening system in order to search for new enzymes that could be beneficial for this type of cancer therapy. We chose isocytosine as the substrate for these putative enzymes.

Isocytosine (2-aminouracil) is an isomer of cytosine. Together with isoguanine it was one of the first non-natural nucleobases used in experiments of unnatural base pair studies. These studies seek to understand how the complementarity originally appeared in the forms of the A-T and G-C pairs and ultimately - to reveal the origin of the natural nucleic acids (Hirao et al., 2012). Isocytosine pairs in a normal manner with non-natural isoguanine and also in a "reversed Watson-Crick" manner with natural guanine. Therefore, it is used for structural studies of nucleic acids (Yang et al., 1998) as well as in physical-chemical studies involving metal complex binding (Gupta et al., 2004), hydrogen-bonding (Camacho-García et al., 2015), tautomerism and proton transfer (Delchev and Mikosch, 2007) in nucleobases. Moreover, following the logic of cytosine deaminase-5-fluorocytosine enzyme-prodrug pair, isocytosine could provide a base for a putative new prodrug 5-fluoroisocytosine, if it was used together with a putative isocytosine deaminase (Figure 1).

Metagenomes are an appealing pool of otherwise inaccessible genes that could reveal new enzymatic activities and even biochemical pathways (Popovic et al., 2015). In this study, we used the metagenomic libraries and an *E. coli* uracil auxotroph-based selection strategy in order to search for putative isocytosine deaminases. Since the expected enzymatic activity of the isocytosine deaminase is the conversion of isocytosine into uracil, we used an *E. coli* strain lacking several *pyr* genes that are responsible for the pyrimidine *de novo* biosynthesis (Aučynaitė et al., 2018). This strain is unable to grow in the defined synthetic medium without a source of uracil. Therefore, it could be used as a host strain for functional screening of the metagenomic libraries for the uracil generating enzymes. In this study isocytosine was used as a substrate supposing that the clones encoding the appropriate deaminases would convert isocytosine to uracil hence allowing the growth on the mineral medium.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Bacterial Strains, Plasmids, Primers, Media and Reagents

Escherichia coli DH5 α (Thermo Fisher Scientific) was used for routine DNA manipulations. *E. coli* DH10B (Thermo Fisher Scientific) was used for disruption of *pyr* genes to obtain the DH10B Δ *pyr* strain (Aučynaitė et al., 2018). *E. coli* BL21(DE-3; Novagen) was used to produce the recombinant deaminase proteins.

High copy number cloning vector pUC19 (Thermo Fisher Scientific) was used for the preparation of metagenomic libraries (Aučynaitė et al., 2018). Vectors for inducible expression of C-terminally 6xHis-tagged proteins pET21b(+), pET28a(+; Novagen) and pQE-70 (Qiagen) were used for cloning of the URA3, Vcz, and *E. coli* CD CodA genes, respectively.

Standard techniques were used for DNA manipulations (Sambrook and Russell, 2001). The URA3 deaminase gene was amplified by PCR using primers URA3FW 5'-ATATACATATGGCCAAAACACTCTTGG-3' and URA3RV 5'-TATATCTCGAGTTCACCCATGACC-3', digested with NdeI and *XhoI* and cloned into the corresponding site of pET21b(+) vector. The Vcz deaminase gene was amplified by PCR using primers VczFW 5'-ATATACCATGGACAAAAGAACGCTGC-3' 5'-TATATCTCGAGCAGCCGATGCCGGTTand VczRV 3', digested with NcoI and XhoI and cloned into the corresponding site of pET28a(+) vector. The E. coli CD CodA gene was amplified by PCR using primers CodAFW: 5'-ATTAAGCATGCCGAATAACGCTTTA-3' and CodARV: 5'-TAATTAAGCTTTCAACGTTTGTAATCGAT-3', digested with SphI and HindIII and cloned into the corresponding site of pQE-70 vector. All of the DNA primers were synthesized at Metabion International AG. All of the restriction endonucleases were purchased from Thermo Fisher Scientific.



Escherichia coli strains transformed with recombinant plasmids were grown in nutrient broth (NB; Oxoid, Thermo Fisher Scientific) medium supplemented with either 100 mg/L ampicillin or 50 mg/L kanamycin, as required, at 37° C with aeration (unless noted otherwise). *E. coli* DH10B Δ *pyr* cells transformed with metagenomic libraries were grown in M9 minimal medium with casamino acids (Ausubel et al., 2003) supplemented with 100 mg/L ampicillin, 15 mg/L kanamycin, 20 mg/L cytosine, isocytosine or uracil, as required, at 37° C with aeration. A final concentration of 0.1 mM IPTG was added to the M9 minimal medium for induction of *E. coli* CD CodA gene expression.

Uracil and 5-fluorouracil were purchased from Sigma-Aldrich Co., Isocytosine was purchased from Combi-Blocks Inc. Cytosine was purchased from Alfa Aesar. 5-fluoroisocytosine was synthesized using the established protocols, with slight modifications (Chen et al., 2009 WO/158011 A1).

Over-Expression and Purification of the Recombinant 6xhis Tagged Isocytosine Deaminase Proteins

Vcz and URA3 deaminase genes were cloned into pET28a(+) or pET21b(+) vectors, respectively, and transformed in to the BL21(DE-3) cells. The resulting bacteria were grown in LB medium containing 50 mg/L kanamycin (for pET28a(+)) or 100 mg/L ampicillin (for pET21b(+)). The culture was grown at 37°C until OD₆₀₀ reached 0.5–0.6. It was then cooled on ice and the inducer isopropyl-1-thio- β -D-galactopyranoside (IPTG, Thermo Fisher Scientific) was added to a final concentration of 0.5 mM. The induced cells then were incubated at 20°C overnight. The cells were then collected by centrifugation, resuspended in 50 mM TRIS–HCl, pH 8, and disrupted by sonication at 750 W for 1 min using a VC-750 ultrasound processor (Sonics 0026 Materials, Inc.). Cell debris was removed by centrifugation at 16000 × g for 10 min.

Cell extracts were loaded onto a Ni-NTA column (GE Healthcare) previously equilibrated with 50 mM TRIS–HCl, pH 8. The adsorbed proteins were eluted with 50 mM TRIS–HCl, pH 8 using linear gradient of 0–500 mM imidazole. The fractions containing the proteins were pooled and desalted by dialysis against 50 mM TRIS–HCl, pH 8. The purity of recombinant proteins was confirmed by electrophoresis on a 12% SDS–PAGE gel visualized by Coomassie Brilliant Blue staining. The concentration of recombinant proteins was measured using Lowry method (Lowry et al., 1951) with bovine serum albumin as the standard.

Substrate Specificity Assays

The enzymatic reactions were carried out at 37° C in 50 mM TRIS-HCl, pH 8.0 buffer and incubated for 1 h. The 20 µL final volume of the reaction mixture contained 1 µg of purified recombinant 6xHis tagged Vcz or URA3 deaminase protein and 20 mM of substrate (cytosine, isocytosine, or 5-fluoroisocytosine).

After the incubation, 1 μL of the reaction mixture was used for the thin layer chromatography (TLC) analysis. TLC was

performed on aluminum sheets coated with silica gel 60 F254 using the methanol:chloroform (1:9) mixture as a mobile phase. The spots were detected and visualized under the 254 nm UV light.

HPLC-MS analyses were performed using a high performance liquid chromatography system, equipped with a photo diode array detector (SPD-M20A) and a mass spectrometer (LCMS-2020), equipped with an electrospray ionization (ESI) source. The chromatographic separation was conducted using a YMC Pack Pro column, 3 mm \times 150 mm at 40°C and a mobile phase that consisted of 0.1% formic acid water solution (solvent A) and acetonitrile (solvent B). Mass spectrometry data was acquired in both positive and negative ionization mode and analyzed using the LabSolutions LCMS software.

Enzyme Activity Measurements

The activity of isocytosine deaminases were assayed spectrophotometrically at 21°C by monitoring the decrease in absorbance at 285 nm ($\varepsilon_{285} = 3760 \text{ M}^{-1} \text{ cm}^{-1}$) or 260 nm ($\varepsilon_{260} = 2715 \text{ M}^{-1} \text{ cm}^{-1}$) resulting from the deamination of isocytosine or 5-fluorisocytosine to uracil or 5-fluorisocytosine, respectively, by using a Helios gamma UV-visible spectrophotometer (Thermo Fisher Scientific). The reaction was initiated by the addition of the appropriate amount of the enzyme to 0.05 M TRIS–HC1, pH 8.0, buffer supplemented with isocytosine (5–700 μ M) and the initial reaction rates were recorded. The kinetic parameters (k_{cat} and K_m) of the purified Vcz and URA3 deaminases were determined by fitting the experimental data from three independent experiments using a Michaelis-Menten equation (SigmaPlot 10).

Synthesis of 5-Fluoroisocytosine

Ethylfluoroacetate (1.93 mL, 20 mmol) and ethylformate (1.74 mL, 20 mmol) were added to the cooled suspension of sodium hydride (960 mg, 20 mmol) in 30 mL of anhydrous ether. The reaction mixture was stirred for 20 h at room temperature. The solvent was evaporated and the residue was cooled in an ice bath. Guanidine hydrochloride (1.38 g, 60 mmol) was neutralized by addition to a solution of sodium ethylate (2.5 M in ethanol, 24 mL) cooled in an ice bath. The solution was stirred for 30 min, the formed sodium chloride was filtered and the filtrate was added to the cooled reaction mixture. The mixture was refluxed for 17 h. After the reaction was completed (as monitored by TLC), the formed brownish precipitate was filtered. The filtrate was concentrated under reduced pressure and acidified with 1 N HCl solution to pH 4.0. The crude reaction mixture was twice purified by reverse phase column chromatography (C-18 cartridges, water/methanol mixture, $10:0 \rightarrow 10:2$). The solvents were removed under reduced pressure to afford 780 mg (30% yield) of 5-fluoroisocytosine. MS (ESI⁺), m/z 128.05 (M–H)⁻, 130.05 (M + H)⁺. UV λ_{max} 263 nm. ¹H NMR (DMSO-d₆, 400 MHz): $\delta = 6.50$ (s, 2H, NH_2 ; 7.64 (d, 1 H, J = 4.3 Hz, CH); 11.42 (s, 1H, NH). ¹³C NMR (DMSO-d₆, 100 MHz): $\delta = 142.43$; 144.77; 153.25; 156.15.

RESULTS

Screening for Isocytosine Deaminases

The *E. coli* DH10B Δpyr strain is unable to grow in the defined synthetic medium without a source of uracil, because its pyrimidine *de novo* biosynthesis pathway has been disrupted. Therefore, these cells can be used as a host while searching for isocytosine deaminases in the metagenomic libraries, if the M9 minimal medium is supplemented with isocytosine as a sole source of uracil. Of the several positive hits, three transformants exhibited strong growth on isocytosine, but not cytosine

(Figure 2, Vcz, URA3, and URA4); one, which could use isocytosine as well as cytosine, was also selected as control (Figure 2, KANOS), as it was reminiscent of classical CD (Figure 2, CodA). It is shown in Figure 2 that proteins encoded all four of the selected DNA fragments are functional *in vivo* and are able to convert isocytosine into uracil thus restoring the growth phenotype of *E. coli* DH10B Δpyr cells.

Plasmid DNA was isolated from these transformants and sequenced using primer-walking method. The presence of a single ORF encoding a deaminase was revealed in each of the DNA fragments. The DNA fragments, ORFs and corresponding









FIGURE 5 | 12% SDS–PAGE gel representing the purification of recombinant Vcz and URA3 deaminases. 1, 5, and 9: PageRulerTM Prestained Protein Ladder (Thermo Fisher Scientific); 2: total proteins obtained from induced *E. coli* BL21(DE-3) bacteria transformed with pET28a-Vcz; 3: soluble protein fraction of *E. coli* BL21(DE-3) bacteria transformed with pET28a-Vcz; 4: ~40 µg of recombinant 6xHis-tagged Vcz deaminase; 6: total proteins obtained from induced *E. coli* BL21(DE-3) bacteria transformed with pET21b-URA3; 7: soluble protein fraction of *E. coli* BL21(DE-3) bacteria transformed with pET21b-URA3; 4: ~30 µg of recombinant 6xHis-tagged URA3 deaminase.

proteins were named after the metagenomic libraries they were found in: Vcz, URA3, URA4, and KANOS [accession numbers MH015236, MH015234, MH015235, and MH015237 in GenBank (Benson et al., 2012), respectively].

Ensuing phylogenetic analysis using MEGA7 (Kumar et al., 2016) demonstrated that these proteins belong to two phylogenetic groups as depicted in **Figure 3** (human single-strand DNA CD APOBEC3G (Li et al., 2012) was used as an outgroup). The KANOS protein is closely related to the classical cytosine deaminases (represented by CodA of *E. coli* (Ireton et al., 2002), see also **Figure 4**), therefore it was not chosen for further experiments. The other three proteins are closely related to 8-oxoguanine deaminases represented by the 8-oxoguanine deaminase from an environmental sample of Sargasso sea (Hall et al., 2010), but are different from a bacterial 5-methylcytosine deaminases.

Enzymatic Activity of the Recombinant Deaminase Proteins

Two of the deaminase proteins (URA3 and Vcz) were overproduced in the *E. coli* BL21(DE-3) cells and purified using the Ni-ion chromatography (the purification steps are shown in **Figure 5**). The molecular weights of URA3 and Vcz (approx. 50 kDa) corresponded to the theoretical ones (48.8 and 49.5 kDa, respectively) (**Figure 5**). Third putative deaminase URA4 was not purified since the attempts to clone it into the expression vectors have failed. The recombinant URA3 and Vcz deaminases were tested for the enzymatic activity *in vitro*

by incubating them with isocytosine and other substrates. As depicted in Figure 6, neither of these deaminases use cytosine as a substrate (Figures 6A-D), but they do convert isocytosine into uracil (Figures 6E-H) as well as 5-fluoroisocytosine into 5-fluorouracil (Figures 6I-L). The Vcz and URA3 enzymes efficiently catalyzed the deamination of isocytosine but were not active toward cytosine. For Vcz, the values of kcat, Km, and $k_{\text{cat}}/K_{\text{m}}$ for isocytosine were $1.64 \pm 0.06 \text{ s}^{-1}$, $1860 \pm 45 \mu \text{M}$, and $8.8 \pm 0.3 \times 10^2 \text{ M}^{-1} \text{ s}^{-1}$, respectively. For URA3, the values of k_{cat} , K_{m} , and $k_{\text{cat}}/K_{\text{m}}$ for isocytosine were 2.00 \pm 0.15 s⁻¹, $1085 \pm 120 \ \mu\text{M}$, and $1.8 \pm 0.1 \times 10^3 \ \text{M}^{-1} \ \text{s}^{-1}$, respectively. For Vcz, the values of k_{cat} , K_m , and k_{cat}/K_m for 5-fluorisocytosine were 0.1 \pm 0.007 s⁻¹, 1270 \pm 128 μ M, and 7.9 \pm 0.08 \times 10¹ M^{-1} s⁻¹, respectively. For URA3, the values of k_{cat} , K_m , and $k_{\text{cat}}/K_{\text{m}}$ for isocytosine were 0.02 \pm 0.003 s⁻¹, 1330 \pm 305 μ M, and $1.5 \pm 0.3 \times 10^1 \text{ M}^{-1} \text{ s}^{-1}$, respectively.

DISCUSSION

The isocytosine deaminases that were discovered in this study are all members of the amidohydrolase superfamily of enzymes that catalyze the hydrolysis of a wide range of substrates and contains most of the enzymes known to catalyze the deamination of nucleobases. In all known cases, the nucleophilic water molecule is activated through complexation with a mononuclear or binuclear metal center (Zn²⁺ in the case of 8-oxoguanine deaminases) that is perched at the C-terminal end of the β -barrel core within a $(\beta \alpha)_8$ structural domain (Seibert and Raushel, 2005). The phylogenetic analysis that includes deaminases of amidohydrolase superfamily with known enzymatic activities and tertiary structure solved, demonstrated that the deaminases we have discovered fall into 2 distinct groups. The first group includes the URA4, URA3, and Vcz, which are closely related to 8-oxoguanine deaminases - these enzymes have previously been shown to act on isocytosine (Hall et al., 2010). The second group includes the classical CD (CodA from E. coli), 5-methylcytosine deaminase Kpn00632 from Klebsiella pneumoniae (Hitchcock et al., 2014) and KANOS (Figure 3). Based on the similarity to 8-oxoguanine deaminase discovered by Hall et al. (2010), we tested the enzymatic activity of both URA3 and Vcz enzymes and discovered that they are capable of converting both guanine into xanthine and 8-oxoguanine into uric acid. The limited solubility of guanine and 8-oxoguanine prevented accurate detection via TLC. Nonetheless, according to the HPLC-MS results that were obtained, URA3 and Vcz deaminases convert guanine into xanthine and 8-oxoguanine into uric acid, although the detection of UV spectra and molecular ions is complicated (data not shown). The sequence comparison of newly discovered isocytosine deaminases with the ones that act on either cytosine, 5-methylcytosine or 8-oxoguanine (Figure 4) allowed us to make predictions regarding the requirements for the enzymatic activity and substrate specificity. The tertiary structures and the enzymatic activities of the above mentioned deaminases were studied in detail (Ireton et al., 2002; Hall et al., 2010, 2011; Hitchcock et al., 2014). Sequence alignment (Figure 4) demonstrates that all these deaminases are metal



FIGURE 6 [1 nin layer chromatography plate (1) and corresponding LC-MS analyses (2) of substrates (A,E,J), enzymatic isocytosine deaminase Voz (B,F,J) and URA3 (C,G,K) reactions and products (D,H,L). (A) TLC and UV chromatogram of cytosine standard, (a) MS-spectra (m/z of 112 consistent with [M + H]⁺ of cytosine), (B) TLC and UV chromatogram of the reaction mixture using cytosine and Vcz deaminase, (b) MS-spectra (m/z of 112 consistent with [M + H]⁺ of cytosine), (C) TLC and UV chromatogram of the reaction mixture using cytosine and URA3 deaminase, (c) MS-spectra (m/z of 112 consistent with [M + H]⁺ of cytosine), (D) TLC and UV chromatogram of uracil standard, (d) MS-spectra (m/z of 113 consistent with [M + H]⁺ of cytosine), (D) TLC and UV chromatogram of uracil standard, (d) MS-spectra (m/z of 113 consistent with [M + H]⁺ of cytosine standard, (e) MS-spectra (m/z of 110 consistent with [M-H]⁻ of isocytosine), (F) TLC and UV chromatogram of the reaction mixture using isocytosine and Vcz deaminase, (f) MS-spectra (m/z of 111 consistent with [M-H]⁻ of uracil), (G) TLC and UV chromatogram of the reaction mixture using isocytosine and URA3 deaminase, (g) MS-spectra (m/z of 111 consistent with [M-H]⁻ of uracil), (G) TLC and UV chromatogram of the reaction mixture using isocytosine standard, (i) MS-spectra (m/z of 128 consistent with [M-H]⁻ of 5-fluoroisocytosine), (J) TLC and UV chromatogram of the reaction mixture using 5-fluoroisocytosine and Vcz deaminase, (g) MS-spectra (m/z of 129 consistent with [M-H]⁻ of 5-fluorousocytosine), (J) TLC and UV chromatogram of the reaction mixture using 5-fluoroisocytosine and Vcz deaminase, (g) MS-spectra (m/z of 129 consistent with [M-H]⁻ of 5-fluorousocytosine), (J) TLC and UV chromatogram of the reaction mixture using 5-fluoroisocytosine and Vcz deaminase, (j) MS-spectra (m/z of 129 consistent with [M-H]⁻ of 5-fluorousocytosine), (J) TLC and UV chromatogram of the reaction mixture using 5-fluoroisocytosine and Vcz deaminase,

proteins with binuclear metal centers that are defined by the conservative His62, His64, His215, and Asp314 residues (numbering according to CodA in Figure 4, green dots). These residues were previously reported as involved in metal coordination and substrate binding in the active site of E. coli CD (Ireton et al., 2002). The residues that form the active center of 8-oxoguanine deaminases (Hall et al., 2010) are conserved in the Vcz, URA3 and URA4 deaminases (Figure 4, blue dots). Three of these residues are conservative in CodA (and in 5-methylcytosine deaminase as well) and are involved in its active site formation (Figure 4, CodA numbering: Glu218, His247, and Asp314, green and blue dots). However, the Asp315, which is present in CodA and KANOS (CodA numbering in Figure 4), is replaced by glycine in URA3, URA4, Vcz, and 8-oxoguanine deaminase (or by serine in 5-methylcytosine deaminase). This residue is critical for the substrate specificity of deaminases: CodA is essentially unable to catalyze the deamination of 5-methylcytosine, but when the Asp315 residue was replaced by alanine, the mutant CodA enzyme displayed activity toward 5-methylcytosine (Hitchcock et al., 2014). Comparison of 3D structures of CodA and the 8-oxoguanine deaminase demonstrates that $\beta 7/\alpha 3/\beta 8$ helixes are missing in the latter as well as in the Vcz, URA3, and URA4 deaminases, but an $\alpha 3_{10}$ ($\eta 2$) helix is present instead, in which a cysteine residue that is involved in active site formation is present (Figure 4, n2 helix, blue dot). In contrast to all known isocytosine/cytosine deaminases, URA4 protein contains an additional loop between helixes $\alpha 10$ and $\alpha 11$. The functional role of this structural element is not clear. It was demonstrated that 8-oxoguanine deaminase from Pseudomonas aeruginosa PA01 is capable of isocytosine deamination, albeit with 10-fold lower efficiency than that of 8-oxoguanine. Moreover, cytosine was not a substrate of this protein (Hall et al., 2010). The URA3 and Vcz deaminase values of k_{cat}/K_m for isocytosine were similar to those obtained by Hall et al. (2010), using the 8-oxoguanine deaminase from Pseudomonas sp. However, their homolog from Sargasso sea metagenome is a tenfold more efficient in deamination of isocytosine, as well as is the E. coli CD (Hall et al., 2011).

Although the isocytosine deaminases, as predicted, do convert isocytosine into uracil, another substrate – 5-fluoroisocytosine – is a gateway to a potential future application of newly discovered enzymes, namely, the enzyme-prodrug therapy of cancer. The purpose of cancer therapy is to kill cancer cells selectively without harming the non-cancer cells. The classical bacterial or yeast CD and its prodrug 5-fluorocytosine (5-FC) have been one of the most investigated enzyme-prodrug pairs for many years (Malekshah et al., 2016). This type of cancer therapy relies on the non-toxic prodrug 5-FC, which is converted to its active form, 5-fluorouracil (5-FU), by CD activity (Mullen et al., 1992; Huber et al., 1993).

The 5-FU, which is a common chemotherapy drug, is further converted into potent pyrimidine antimetabolites by other cellular enzymes and can inhibit thymidylate synthase which leads to the cell cycle arrest and apoptosis (Yata et al., 2012). 5-FU is widely used in the treatment of a range of cancers, including that of the aero-digestive tract, breast, head, and neck, but the greatest response rates were observed in the case of colorectal cancer. However, the administration of 5-FU is toxic to the patients – up to 80% of administered 5-FU is broken down in the liver (Longley et al., 2003). Hence, the efficient tumor-localized expression of CD enzymes remains one of the main problems that the enzyme-prodrug therapy has to face.

The use of the non-toxic prodrug and localized expression of CD enables the reduction of the systemic side effects of 5-FU. Still, it remains one of the problems with CD/5-FC enzyme/prodrug therapy, mainly because of the presence of CD in normal gut flora, which is also able to convert 5-FC to 5-FU (Harris et al., 1986; Malet-Martino et al., 1991). We propose that 5-fluoroisocytosine, together with the new URA3 or Vcz isocytosine deaminases, could be used as a novel enzyme-prodrug pair. We believe that the gut flora would not metabolize 5-fluoroisocytosine as efficiently as 5-fluorocytosine. Although it was shown that the CD from E. coli is able to catalyze the deamination of isocytosine, the kinetic parameters $(k_{\text{cat}}/K_{\text{m}})$ differ by a 10-fold in favor of cytosine (Hall et al., 2011). Moreover, there are no known homologs of Vcz and URA3 isocytosine deaminases in the human cells, as revealed by BLAST (Altschul et al., 1990) analysis (data not shown). The new isocytosine deaminase/5-fluoroisocytosine enzyme/prodrug pair would alleviate the toxic side effects of cytosine deaminase/5-fluorocytosine pair in cancer therapy. More biochemical experiments may be required in order to determine the exact kinetic parameters of these enzymes with different substrates and also to pinpoint the exact amino acids involved in the catalysis. The alanine scanning and/or random mutagenesis experiments similar to those performed for the 5-FC deaminase (Mahan et al., 2004a,b) would allow the selection of the most efficient variants of URA3 and Vcz enzymes. In order to test the applicability of isocytosine deaminase/5-fluoroisocytosine enzyme/prodrug pair for cancer gene therapy, several experiments are under way. These additional studies are aimed at production of cell lines/bacterial strains that express the isocytosine deaminases and also at the action of this novel enzyme/prodrug pair on cancer cells in vitro and in animals.

CONCLUSION

Three isocytosine/8-oxoguanine deaminases that belong to the amidohydrolase superfamily were discovered using soil-based metagenomic libraries, a selection method employing *E. coli* uracil auxotrophy and isocytosine as a substrate. It was demonstrated *in vitro* that two of these deaminases are capable of converting isocytosine, but not cytosine, into uracil as well as 5-fluoroisocytosine into 5-fluorouracil. The latter finding suggests that these enzymes, together with 5-fluoroisocytosine, could be used for cancer therapy as a novel enzyme/prodrug pair, which might alleviate problems associated with the classical cytosine deaminase/5-fluorocytosine enzyme/prodrug pair.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

AA performed the genetic screens, cloning, enzymatic activity measurements, and wrote the manuscript. RR purified the recombinant proteins and reviewed the manuscript. DT synthesized 5-fluoroisocytosine, performed the HPLC-MS analyses, and reviewed the manuscript. RM planned the experiments, analyzed the results, provided the metagenomic

REFERENCES

- Altschul, S. F., Gish, W., Miller, W., Myers, E. W., and Lipman, D. J. (1990). Basic local alignment search tool. J. Mol. Biol. 215, 403–410. doi: 10.1016/S0022-2836(05)80360-2
- Aučynaitė, A., Rutkienė, R., Gasparavičiûtë, R., Meškys, R., and Urbonavičius, J. (2018). A gene encoding a DUF523 domain protein is involved in the conversion of 2-thiouracil into uracil. *Environ. Microbiol. Rep.* 10, 49–56. doi: 10.1111/1758-2229.12605
- Ausubel, F. M., Brent, R., Kingston, R. E., Moore, D. D., Seidman, J. G., Smith, J. A., et al. (2003). *Current Protocols in Molecular Biology*. Hoboken, NJ: Wiley.
- Benson, D. A., Cavanaugh, M., Clark, K., Karsch-Mizrachi, I., Lipman, D. J., Ostell, J., et al. (2012). GenBank. *Nucleic Acids Res.* 41, D36–D42. doi: 10.1093/ nar/gks1195
- Camacho-García, J., Montoro-García, C., López-Pérez, A. M., Bilbao, N., Romero-Pérez, S., and González-Rodríguez, D. (2015). Synthesis and complementary self-association of novel lipophilic π-conjugated nucleoside oligomers. Org. Biomol. Chem. 13, 4506–4513. doi: 10.1039/C5OB00098J
- Chahwan, R., Wontakal, S. N., and Roa, S. (2010). Crosstalk between genetic and epigenetic information through cytosine deamination. *Trends Genet.* 26, 443–448. doi: 10.1016/j.tig.2010.07.005
- Chen, G., Cushing, T. D., Fisher, B., He, X., Li, K., Zhihong, L., et al. (2009). Alkynyl alcohols as kinase inhibitors. U.S. Patent No 20110086834. Thousand Oaks, CA: Amgen Inc.
- Delchev, V. B., and Mikosch, H. (2007). Theoretical study of the intermolecular H-bonding and intermolecular proton transfer between isocytosine tautomeric forms and R,S-lactic acid. J. Mol. Model. 13, 19–28. doi: 10.1007/s00894-005-0090-y
- Felsenstein, J. (1985). Confidence limits on phylogenies: an approach using the bootstrap. *Evolution* 39, 783–791. doi: 10.1111/j.1558-5646.1985.tb00420.x
- Finn, R. D., Coggill, P., Eberhardt, R. Y., Eddy, S. R., Mistry, J., Mitchell, A. L., et al. (2016). The Pfam protein families database: towards a more sustainable future. *Nucleic Acids Res.* 44, D279–D285. doi: 10.1093/nar/gkv1344
- Gaded, V., and Anand, R. (2018). Nucleobase deaminases: a potential enzyme system for new therapies. *RSC Adv*. 8, 23567–23577. doi: 10.1039/C8RA04112A
- Gerber, A. P., and Keller, W. (2001). RNA editing by base deamination: more enzymes, more targets, new mysteries. *Trends Biochem. Sci.* 26, 376–384.
- Gupta, D., Huelsekopf, M., Morell Cerdà, M., Ludwig, R., and Lippert, B. (2004). Complex formation of isocytosine tautomers with PdII and PtII. *Inorg. Chem.* 43, 3386–3393. doi: 10.1021/ic0353965
- Hall, R. S., Fedorov, A. A., Marti-Arbona, R., Fedorov, E. V., Kolb, P., Sauder, J. M., et al. (2010). The hunt for 8-oxoguanine deaminase. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 132, 1762–1763. doi: 10.1021/ja909817d
- Hall, R. S., Fedorov, A. A., Xu, C., Fedorov, E. V., Almo, S. C., and Raushel, F. M. (2011). Three-dimensional structure and catalytic mechanism of cytosine deaminase. *Biochemistry* 50, 5077–5085. doi: 10.1021/bi200483k
- Harris, B. E., Manning, B. W., Federle, T. W., and Diasio, R. B. (1986). Conversion of 5-fluorocytosine to 5-fluorouracil by human intestinal microflora. Antimicrob. Agents Chemother. 29, 44–48.
- Hirao, I., Kimoto, M., and Yamashige, R. (2012). Natural versus artificial creation of base pairs in DNA: origin of nucleobases from the perspectives of unnatural base pair studies. *Acc. Chem. Res.* 45, 2055–2065. doi: 10.1021/ar200257x
- Hitchcock, D. S., Fedorov, A. A., Fedorov, E. V., Almo, S. C., and Raushel, F. M. (2014). Discovery of a bacterial 5-methylcytosine deaminase. *Biochemistry* 53, 7426–7435. doi: 10.1021/bi5012767
- Huber, B. E., Austin, E. A., Good, S. S., Knick, V. C., Tibbels, S., and Richards, C. A. (1993). In vivo antitumor activity of 5-fluorocytosine on human colorectal

libraries, and reviewed the manuscript. JU planned the experiments, analyzed the results, and wrote the manuscript.

FUNDING

This work was financed by the Lithuanian Research Council (LMT) grant SEN-07/2015 to JU.

carcinoma cells genetically modified to express cytosine deaminase. *Cancer Res.* 53, 4619–4626.

- Ireton, G. C., McDermott, G., Black, M. E., and Stoddard, B. L. (2002). The structure of *Escherichia coli* cytosine deaminase 1 1Edited by I. A. Wilson. *J. Mol. Biol.* 315, 687–697. doi: 10.1006/jmbi.2001.5277
- Karjoo, Z., Chen, X., and Hatefi, A. (2016). Progress and problems with the use of suicide genes for targeted cancer therapy. *Adv. Drug Deliv. Rev.* 99, 113–128. doi: 10.1016/j.addr.2015.05.009
- Kumar, S., Stecher, G., and Tamura, K. (2016). MEGA7: molecular evolutionary genetics analysis version 7.0 for bigger datasets. *Mol. Biol. Evol.* 33, 1870–1874. doi: 10.1093/molbev/msw054
- Li, M., Shandilya, S. M., Carpenter, M. A., Rathore, A., Brown, W. L., Perkins, A. L., et al. (2012). First-in-class small molecule inhibitors of the single-strand DNA cytosine deaminase APOBEC3G. ACS Chem. Biol. 7, 506–517. doi: 10.2210/ PDB3V4J/PDB
- Longley, D. B., Harkin, D. P., and Johnston, P. G. (2003). 5-fluorouracil: mechanisms of action and clinical strategies. *Nat. Rev. Cancer* 3, 330–338. doi: 10.1038/nrc1074
- Lowry, O. H., Rosebrough, N. J., Farr, A. L., and Randall, R. J. (1951). Protein measurement with the Folin phenol reagent. J. Biol. Chem. 193, 265–275.
- Mahan, S. D., Ireton, G. C., Knoeber, C., Stoddard, B. L., and Black, M. E. (2004a). Random mutagenesis and selection of *Escherichia coli* cytosine deaminase for cancer gene therapy. *Protein Eng. Des. Sel.* 17, 625–633. doi: 10.1093/protein/ gzh074
- Mahan, S. D., Ireton, G. C., Stoddard, B. L., and Black, M. E. (2004b). Alanine-scanning mutagenesis reveals a cytosine deaminase mutant with altered substrate preference †. *Biochemistry* 43, 8957–8964. doi: 10.1021/bi049 720z
- Malekshah, O. M., Chen, X., Nomani, A., Sarkar, S., and Hatefi, A. (2016). Enzyme/prodrug systems for cancer gene therapy. *Curr. Pharmacol. Rep.* 2, 299–308. doi: 10.1007/s40495-016-0073-y
- Malet-Martino, M. C., Martino, R., de Forni, M., Andremont, A., Hartmann, O., and Armand, J. P. (1991). Flucytosine conversion to fluorouracil in humans: does a correlation with gut flora status exist? A report of two cases using fluorine-19 magnetic resonance spectroscopy. *Infection* 19, 178–180.
- Mullen, C. A., Kilstrup, M., and Blaese, R. M. (1992). Transfer of the bacterial gene for cytosine deaminase to mammalian cells confers lethal sensitivity to 5-fluorocytosine: a negative selection system. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 89, 33–37.
- Nabel, C. S., Manning, S. A., and Kohli, R. M. (2012). The curious chemical biology of cytosine: deamination, methylation, and oxidation as modulators of genomic potential. ACS Chem. Biol. 7, 20–30. doi: 10.1021/cb2002895
- Popovic, A., Tchigvintsev, A., Tran, H., Chernikova, T. N., Golyshina, O. V., Yakimov, M. M., et al. (2015). Metagenomics as a tool for enzyme discovery: hydrolytic enzymes from marine-related metagenomes. *Adv. Exp. Med. Biol.* 883, 1–20. doi: 10.1007/978-3-319-23603-2_1
- Raza, A., Kohila, V., and Ghosh, S. S. (2015). Redesigned *Escherichia coli* cytosine deaminase: a new facet of suicide gene therapy. *J. Gene Med.* 17, 132–139. doi: 10.1002/jgm.2831
- Robert, X., and Gouet, P. (2014). Deciphering key features in protein structures with the new ENDscript server. *Nucleic Acids Res.* 42, W320–W324. doi: 10. 1093/nar/gku316
- Saitou, N., and Nei, M. (1987). The neighbor-joining method: a new method for reconstructing phylogenetic trees. *Mol. Biol. Evol.* 4, 406–425. doi: 10.1093/ oxfordjournals.molbev.a040454
- Sambrook, J., and Russell, D. W. (2001). *Molecular Cloning: a Laboratory Manual*. New York, NY: Cold Spring Harb. Lab. Press.

- Seibert, C. M., and Raushel, F. M. (2005). Structural and catalytic diversity within the amidohydrolase superfamily. *Biochemistry* 44, 6383–6391. doi: 10.1021/ bi047326v
- Sievers, F., Wilm, A., Dineen, D., Gibson, T. J., Karplus, K., Li, W., et al. (2011). Fast, scalable generation of high-quality protein multiple sequence alignments using Clustal Omega. *Mol. Syst. Biol.* 7:539. doi: 10.1038/msb. 2011.75
- Yang, X.-L., Sugiyama, H., Ikeda, S., Saito, I., and Wang, A. H.-J. (1998). Structural studies of a stable parallel-stranded DNA duplex incorporating isoguanine:cytosine and isocytosine:guanine basepairs by nuclear magnetic resonance spectroscopy. *Biophys. J.* 75, 1163–1171. doi: 10.1016/S0006-3495(98)74035-4
- Yata, V. K., Gopinath, P., and Ghosh, S. S. (2012). Emerging implications of nonmammalian cytosine deaminases on cancer therapeutics. *Appl. Biochem. Biotechnol.* 167, 2103–2116. doi: 10.1007/s12010-012-9746-0

Zuckerkandl, E., and Pauling, L. (1965). "Evolutionary divergence and convergence in proteins," in *Evolving Genes and Proteins*, eds V. Bryson and H. J. Vogel (New York, NY: Academic Press), 97–166.

Conflict of Interest Statement: AA, RR, DT, RM, and JU declare potential financial interests in the future development and commercialization of the isocytosine deaminases. Vilnius University has filed a Lithuanian patent application (LT2017 533).

Copyright © 2018 Aučynaitė, Rutkienė, Tauraitė, Meškys and Urbonavičius. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Whey Protein Isolate-Supplemented Beverage, Fermented by *Lactobacillus casei* BL23 and *Propionibacterium freudenreichii* 138, in the Prevention of Mucositis in Mice

Bárbara F. Cordeiro¹, Emiliano R. Oliveira¹, Sara H. da Silva¹, Bruna M. Savassi¹, Leonardo B. Acurcio¹, Luisa Lemos¹, Juliana de L. Alves¹, Helder Carvalho Assis¹, Angélica T. Vieira¹, Ana M. C. Faria¹, Enio Ferreira¹, Yves Le Loir², Gwénaël Jan², Luiz R. Goulart³, Vasco Azevedo^{1*}, Rodrigo D. de O. Carvalho^{1†} and Fillipe L. R. do Carmo^{1,2†}

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Aleš Berlec, Jožef Stefan Institute (IJS), Slovenia

Reviewed by:

Svetoslav Todorov, Universidade de São Paulo, Brazil Vijendra Mishra, National Institute of Food Technology Entrepreneurship and Management, India

*Correspondence:

Vasco Azevedo vascoariston@gmail.com

[†]These authors have contributed equally to senior authorship

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Infectious Diseases, a section of the journal Frontiers in Microbiology

Received: 08 May 2018 Accepted: 13 August 2018 Published: 12 September 2018

Citation:

Cordeiro BF, Oliveira ER, da Silva SH, Savassi BM, Acurcio LB, Lemos L, Alves JL, Assis HC, Vieira AT, Faria AMC, Ferreira E, Le Loir Y, Jan G, Goulart LR, Azevedo V, Carvalho RDO and do Carmo FLR (2018) Whey Protein Isolate-Supplemented Beverage, Fermented by Lactobacillus casei BL23 and Propionibacterium freudenreichii 138, in the Prevention of Mucositis in Mice. Front. Microbiol. 9:2035. doi: 10.3389/fmicb.2018.02035 ¹ Institute of Biological Sciences, Federal University of Minas Gerais (ICB/UFMG), Belo Horizonte, Brazil, ² STLO, INRA, Agrocampus Ouest, Rennes, France, ³ Institute of Biotechnology, Federal University of Uberlândia, Uberlândia, Brazil

Mucositis is a clinically important gastrointestinal inflammatory infirmity, generated by antineoplastic drugs cytotoxic effects. The inflammatory process caused by this disease frequently leads to derangements in the alimentary tract and great malaise for the patient. Novel strategies are necessary for its prevention or treatment, as currently available treatments of mucositis have several limitations in relieving its symptoms. In this context, several research groups have investigated the use of probiotic bacteria, and in particular dairy bacterial strains. Compelling evidences reveal that milk fermented by certain probiotic bacteria has the capacity to ameliorate intestinal inflammatory disorders. In addition, innovative probiotic delivery strategies, based on probiotics incorporation into protective matrices, such as whey proteins, were able to increase the therapeutic effect of probiotic strains by providing extra protection for bacteria against environmental stresses. Therefore, in this study, we evaluated the role of the whey protein isolate (WPI), when added to skim milk fermented by Lactobacillus casei BL23 (L. casei BL23) or by Propionibacterium freudenreichii CIRM-BIA138 (P. freudenreichii 138), as a protective matrix against in vitro stress challenges. In addition, we investigated the therapeutic effect of these fermented beverages in a murine model of mucositis induced by 5-Fluorouracil (5-FU). Our results demonstrated that milk supplementation with 30% (w/v) of WPI increases the survival rate of both strains when challenged with acid, bile salts, high temperature and cold storage stresses, compared to fermented skim milk without the addition of WPI. Moreover, treatment with the probiotic beverages prevented weight loss and intestinal damages in mice receiving 5-FU. We conclude that the presence of WPI maximizes the anti-inflammatory effects of L. casei BL23, but not for P. freudenreichii 138, suggesting that whey protein enhancement of probiotic activity might be strain-dependent.

Keywords: Lactobacillus, mucositis, probiotics, Propionibacterium, stress tolerance, whey protein isolate

87

INTRODUCTION

Mucositis is a severe inflammation that affects the entire extension of the Alimentary Tract (AT) of individuals undergoing malignancy treatment based on chemotherapy or radiotherapy (Sonis, 2004). One of the main drugs associated with this condition is 5-Fluorouracil (5-FU). This is a antimetabolic drug commonly prescribed for the treatment of head, neck and gastrointestinal cancer (Longley et al., 2003). 5-FU unfortunately presents non-specific cytotoxicity toward cells, inhibiting the proliferation of both cancer cells and normal cells with high replication rates, such as the enterocytes of the gastrointestinal tract (GIT) (Carvalho et al., 2017a). A series of clinical symptoms, such as nausea, weight loss, vomiting, severe abdominal pain and diarrhea are commonly reported in patients receiving 5-FU during cancer treatment (Bastos et al., 2016). Moreover, mucositis frequently increases predisposition to local and systemic secondary infections, thus generating additional costs and extending the patient's hospitalization time (Carvalho et al., 2017a). Mucositis is characterized by pathological changes in the small bowel. These changes include the presence of degenerate enterocytes (Ciorba et al., 2016), submucosal vessel damage, leukocyte infiltrate in the lamina propria, with accumulation of neutrophils and eosinophils (Antunes et al., 2016), increased mucin production and degeneration of goblet cells (Stringer, 2013), atrophy of villi, hypoplasia and apoptosis of intestinal crypts (Chang et al., 2012). Currently, there is no treatment that is completely successful in the prevention and treatment of mucositis. However, there has been a growing interest in the use of probiotics as promising candidates for the treatment of this disease (Carvalho et al., 2017a).

Probiotics are included in a variety of products, including fermented foods, dietary supplements, formulas for newborns and infants, as well as various pharmaceutical formulations (Cousin et al., 2011). Currently, fermented beverages by one or more bacteria, have gained the functional food status, which makes them an important part of our diet as well as our main daily source of beneficial microbes (Leroy and De Vuyst, 2014; Carmo et al., 2017).

Selected strains of lactic acid bacteria (LAB) were reported as probiotic with beneficial effects provided by different mechanisms of action and can be used in functional foods withal (Carvalho et al., 2017b; Eales et al., 2017; Tang et al., 2017). Some studies have shown that the administration of lactobacilli strains can reduced some parameters of mucositis in mice model induced by 5-FU, such as prevent weight loss, attenuate the diarrhea and intestinal damage (Justino et al., 2015). L. casei BL23 has also been considered as a good probiotic strain, according to results obtained in others inflammatory models. Some studies demonstrated that L. casei BL23 was able to alleviates colitis symptoms in a dextran sulfate sodium (DSS) model (Foligne et al., 2007; Rochat et al., 2007) and the ability of these strain to attenuate intestinal inflammation can be enhanced using a protection matrix (Lee et al., 2015b). Other important group of bacteria widely used in the food industry, particularly in Swiss-type cheese

manufacture, is propionic acid bacteria (PAB). Propionibacterium freudenreichii represents the main species thereof and is listed in the Qualified Presumption of Safety list (QPS) by the European food safety authority and it has recently been considered a promising probiotic (Rabah et al., 2017). P. freudenreichii produces metabolites are considered as prebiotics, such as 1,4dihydroxy-2-naphtoic acid (DHNA) and 2-amino-3-carboxy-1,4-naphthoquinone (ACNQ), both associated to bifidogenic effects. Furthermore, P. freudenreichii is the only GRAS bacterial species producing food-grade vitamin B12 at the industrial scale (Rabah et al., 2017). Selected P. freudenreichii strains have been associated with therapeutical effects based on in vitro and in vivo properties to attenuate colitis model induced by trinitrobenzene sulfonic acid (TNBS) (Cousin et al., 2012a, 2016; Plé et al., 2015). A dairy propionibacteria, P. freudenreichii 138, demonstrated a pro-apoptosis capacity, in HTG-1 human gastric cancer cells without toxicity effects in healthy human cells (Cousin et al., 2012a, 2016). Moreover, Cousin et al. (2012b) shown the persistence of P. freudenreichii 138 in piglets colon, withal metabolic activity and producing propionate, which is a SCFA with probiotic properties (Cousin et al., 2012b).

An extremely important factor for the therapeutic effects of probiotics is the ability of the bacteria to survive during transit through the GIT or during industrial processes (Cousin et al., 2012b; Rabah et al., 2017). Digestion indeed imposes harsh conditions including gastric acid and presence of bile salts, which may severely affect bacterial viability (Leroy and De Vuyst, 2014; Huang et al., 2016a). A probiotic microorganism must, however, tolerate these stresses for a long persistence in the host and for an enhanced beneficial effect (Carmo et al., 2017). In the aim to maximize the tolerance of bacteria to stressful environments and thus to increase their probiotic ability, the food matrix used in the manufacture of fermented products plays a key role as a protective medium (Gagnaire et al., 2015; Lee et al., 2015a). As an example, milk proteins, as well as whey protein isolates, constitute very promising protective matrices for probiotics, besides being an efficient delivery vehicles to target protective molecules and microorganisms to digestive epithelium (Livney, 2010; Cousin et al., 2012a; Vargas et al., 2015; Huang et al., 2016a). Whey proteins have been recognized for their various functional and nutritional properties. The functional properties are mainly due to their physical, chemical and structural characteristics and the nutritional value is directly linked to the concentration of essential amino acids (Yadav et al., 2015). Some studies have also demonstrated the potential of whey proteins to enhance the survival and viability of probiotic bacteria during production and storage (Marshall, 2004; Madureira et al., 2007; Almeida et al., 2009; Huang et al., 2016b; Baruzzi et al., 2017; Dąbrowska et al., 2017).

The aims of this work were (i) to evaluate whether whey protein isolate is a good protective matrix for *L. casei* BL23 and *P. freudenreichii* CIRM-BIA 138, against adverse environmental conditions and (ii) to investigate the therapeutic effect of administration of whey protein isolate-supplemented beverage, fermented by both strains, in the prevention of mucositis induced by 5-FU.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Bacterial Strains and Growth Conditions

Lactobacillus casei BL23 strain was kindly supplied by the UMR1219 Micalis Institute (INRA-AgroParisTech, Jouy-En-Josas, France) and the *P. freudenreichii* CIRM-BIA138 (alias ITG P9) strain by the Biological Resource Center (International Center of Microbial Resources, INRA, Rennes, France). *L. casei* BL23 was grown in MRS broth at 37°C for 24 h, without shaking. *P. freudenreichii* 138 was grown in YEL culture medium at 30°C for 72 h, without agitation (Malik et al., 1968).

Dairy Beverage Formulation and Supplementation With Whey Protein Isolate

The fermented beverage was prepared using skimmed milk (SM) powder 12% w/v (Itambé, Brazil). For cultivation of L. casei BL23 (SMLC), the SM was supplemented with yeast extract (Kasvi Curitiba, Brazil) and glucose (Merck, Germany) (Tharmaraj and Shah, 2003). For cultivation of P. freudenreichii 138 (SMPF), the milk was supplemented with casein peptone (5g/L) (KASVI, Curitiba, Brazil) and sodium lactate (50 m/M) (Sigma, St. Louis, MO, United States) (Cousin et al., 2012b). Both milk were autoclaved at 110°C for 15 min. The SMs was supplemented with whey protein isolate (WPI), natural flavor, 90% protein (Vulgo Supplements, Brazil) at concentrations of 5, 15, and 30% w/v, and strains cultivated in skimmed milk without WPI was used as control. The same growth conditions used to cultivate the strains in MRS or YEL were applied for growth in fermented beverages.

Stress Challenges

Samples of 10 ml from the stationary-phase of L. casei BL23 and P. freudenreichii 138 in culture media or in skim milk, supplemented or not with WPI were subjected to acid, bile salts, and heat challenges (Huang et al., 2016b). For acid stress, the samples were incubated in MRS broth or YEL broth, previously adjusted to pH 2.0 using HCl, at 37°C for 60 min. Briefly, for bile salts stress, the samples were incubated in MRS broth or YEL broth containing 1.0 g/L of bile salts (an equimolar mixture of cholate and deoxycholate, Sigma Chemical, St. Louis, MO, United States) and then, incubated at 37°C for 60 min. Finally, to simulate the pasteurization temperature established by the International Dairy Foods Association (IDFA), the samples were incubated in their specific culture media pre-heated to 63°C for 30 min. After stresses challenges, aliquots of each sample were subjected to 1:10 serial dilutions using peptone water (9 g/L peptone, 5 g/L NaCl) and plated on MRS agar or YEL agar medium. Plates of L. casei BL23 were incubated for 48 h at 37°C. Plates of P. freudenreichii 138 were incubated for 144 h (6 days) at 30°C in jars containing anaerobiosis generator (Anaerocult A®, Merck Millipore). The number of viable bacteria was determined by counting of colony forming unit (CFU) after incubation. The bacteria survival rate (%) through each stress condition

was calculated through the following equation (Ferreira et al., 2017):

Survival Rate (%) :
$$\frac{\log N}{(\log N_0 \times 100)}$$
 (1)

Where N refers to the number of bacteria population (CFU mL^{-1}) in culture medium after stress challenges, and N_0 refers to the number of initial population (CFU mL^{-1}) before the stress challenges.

Bacterial Survival During Storage at 4°C

The long-term survival of L. casei BL23 and P. freudenreichii 138 in dairy beverage supplemented with 30% of WPI was assessed during the storage process at 4°C for 90 days kept away from light (Huang et al., 2016b). For the evaluation of bacterial survival during cold storage, plate seeding was performed on days 0 (pre-storage time), 7, 14, 21, 30, 60, and 90 after storage. The L. casei BL23 and P. freudenreichii 138 plates were incubated according to their specific conditions on agar media (see above). The number of viable bacteria during storage was determined by counting CFU in the culture after incubation. The evolution of acidification of stored samples was also screened in the same days. To evaluate if both fermented beverages could survive GIT stress conditions after being stored at 4°C, we performed acid stress and biliary stress in vitro challenges for the dairy beverage supplemented with 30% of WPI. Acid and bile salts stresses were performed on days 30, 60, and 90 after the storage start.

Evaluation of Therapeutic Effects of Beverages Fermented by *L. casei* BL23 or *P. freudenreichii* 138 in a Mice Model of Mucositis

Animals

Conventional female BALB/c mice between 6 and 8 weeks of age were obtained at Federal University of Minas Gerais (UFMG– Belo Horizonte, Brazil). Mice were kept in a temperaturecontrolled room with *ad libitum* access to water and standard chow diet. The study was approved by the Ethics Committee on Animal Experimentation of the Federal University of Minas Gerais (CEUA-UFMG, Brazil, protocol 366).

Probiotic Treatment, Mucositis Induction, and Experimental Groups

For probiotic treatment, mice received 0.5 ml of fermented beverages supplemented or not with 30% of WPI via gastric gavage, during 13 days. In order to induce mucositis, mice received a single intraperitoneal injection of 5-FU (Fauldfluor – Libbs) (300 mg/kg) on day 11, and were euthanized 72 h after induction of mucositis, in 14th of experimental day (Carvalho et al., 2017a). An injection of saline (NaCl 0.9%) was used in control groups. After euthanasia, a longitudinal abdominal incision was performed to remove the intestine for further analyses. Body weight of mice was determined throughout the experiment. For *in vivo* experimentation, BALB/c mice were divided into sixteen groups according to **Table 1**. All experiments

TABLE 1 | Experimental groups and the respective treatments.

Non-inflamed group	os Injection of 300 mg/kg of saline (0.9% NaCl)	Inflamed groups Injection of 300 mg/kg of 5-FU		
Group	Treatment	Group	Treatment	
Water	H ₂ O	Water	H ₂ O	
SMLC + WPI	Skim milk specific for <i>L. casei</i> BL23 + WPI	SMLC + WPI	Skim milk specific for <i>L. casei</i> BL23 + WPI	
SMPF + WPI	Skim milk specific for <i>P. freudenreichii</i> 138 + WPI	SMPF + WPI	Skim milk specific for <i>P. freudenreichii</i> 138 + WPI	
SMLC + BL23	Skim milk specific for <i>L. casei</i> BL23 fermented by <i>L. casei</i> BL23	SMLC + BL23	Skim milk specific for <i>L. casei</i> BL23 fermented by <i>L. casei</i> BL23	
SMLC + WPI + BL23	Skim milk specific for <i>L. casei</i> BL23 fermented by <i>L. casei</i> BL23 + WPI	SMLC + WPI + BL23	Skim milk specific for <i>L. casei</i> BL23 fermented by <i>L. casei</i> BL23 + WPI	
SMPF + 138	Skim milk specific for <i>P. freudenreichii</i> 138 fermented by <i>P. freudenreichii</i> 138	SMPF + 138	Skim milk specific for <i>P. freudenreichii</i> 138 fermented by <i>P. freudenreichii</i> 138	
SMPF + WPI + 138	Skim milk specific for <i>P. freudenreichii</i> 138 fermented by <i>P. freudenreichii</i> 138 + WPI	SMPF + WPI + 138	Skim milk specific for <i>P. freudenreichii</i> 138 fermented by <i>P. freudenreichii</i> 138 + WPI	
Association (Assoc)	Equal mixture of SMLC + WPI + BL23 and SMPF + WPI + 138	Association (Assoc)	Equal mixture of SMLC + WPI + BL23 and SMPF + WPI + 138	

All groups were gavaged daily, with 0.5 ml of the appropriate treatments, for 13 days.



were performed simultaneously therefore, the same control groups were used for all experimental probiotic assays. Each group containing 6–9 animals. All beverages contained 10^9 CFU mL⁻¹ bacteria.

Histological Analysis

The distal portion of the small bowel (ileum) from the mice was collected and washed with PBS. Afterwards, rolls were prepared for histomorphological analysis. Histological materials were immersed in 4% buffered formaldehyde solution for tissue fixation. Then, the material was embedded in paraffin, and a 4 μ m section of each sample was placed on a glass slide and stained with Hematoxylin-Eosin (HE). The histological score was determined using a score that measures the intensity of the infiltrate of mononuclear and polymorphonuclear cells in the *lamina propria* of the ileum, the presence of ulceration and erosion and changes in mucosal architecture (Soares et al., 2008). For each parameter a classification was given according to the



severity of the lesion in the tissues: absent (0), mild (1), moderate (2) and severe (3). For morphometric analysis, 10 images of the ileum of each animal were randomly captured and analyzed using ImageJ software (version 1.8.0). Villi height and the crypt depth were measured vertically from the tip of villi to the base of the adjacent crypt. Additional cuts in the paraffinized samples from the ileum were stained by the Periodic Acid-Schiff (PAS), technique to determine the number of goblet cells in the tissues (Prisciandaro et al., 2011). Ten random field images of each sample were made using ImageJ software (version 1.8.0) and expressed as the number of cells per high-power field (hpf) (40×, 108.2 μ m²).

Measurement of Secretory IgA

Levels of secretory IgA (sIgA) were determined by enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay (ELISA) in small bowel intestinal fluids (Carvalho et al., 2017a). Microtiter plates (Nunc-Immuno Plates, MaxiSorp) were coated with anti-IgA antibodies (Southern Biotechnology, Birmingham, AL, United States) for 18 h at 4°C. The plates were washed with saline (NaCl 0.9%) added with Tween 20 (0.05%) and blocked with 200 μ l PBS-casein (0.05%) for 1 h at room temperature. Intestinal fluid samples

were diluted in PBS-casein (0.25%) and then added to the plate. After incubation for 1 h at room temperature, the wells were washed and biotin-conjugated anti-mouse IgA antibody (Southern Biotechnology) diluted in PBS-casein (0.25%) (1: 10,000). The plates were incubated for 1 h at 37°C and anti-IgA conjugated to streptavidin peroxidases (1:10,000) were added (Southern Biotechnology). After 1 h of incubation, 100 μ l of orthophenylenediamine (OPD) (Sigma, St. Louis, MO, United States) and H₂O₂ (0.04%) were added to each well. Plates were kept away from light until the coloration developed. The reaction was stopped by addition of 2 N H₂SO₄. Reading was performed on a plate reader (Bio-Rad Model 450 Microplate Reader) at 492 nm absorbance. The results were measured in concentration of sIgA (μ g) per ml of intestinal fluid, according to the standard curve.

Statistical Analyses

The results were reported as the mean \pm standard deviation and analyzed using Student's *t*-test, Holm–Sidak *t*-test, One-Way ANOVA or Two-Way ANOVA followed by the Tukey or Sidak post-test. Non-parametric data's were analyzed using Kruskal-Wallis data followed by the Dunns post-test. Graphs and statistical analyzes were performed in GraphPad Prism



version 7.00 for Windows (GraphPad Software, San Diego, CA, United States). *P*-values under 0.05 were considered significant.

RESULTS

Different Concentrations of Whey Protein Isolate Alter the Growth of Bacteria

The final population of *L. casei* BL23 and of *P. freudenreichii* 138 was monitored after growth in skim milk supplemented with different concentrations of WPI (**Figure 1**). We observed a significant increase in the CFU counting of *L. casei* BL23 when cultivated in SMLC after 24 h (6.3×10^9 CFU mL⁻¹), in comparison with MRS medium (2.1×10^9 CFU mL⁻¹). Moreover, the largest final population of *L. casei* BL23 was found in skim milk supplemented with 30% WPI (SMLC + WPI 30%) (9.5×10^9 CFU mL⁻¹). The final population of *P. freudenreichii* 138 also showed a similar result (**Figure 1B**). In this case, the highest population (7.2×10^9 CFU mL⁻¹) was obtained in skim

milk supplemented with 30% of WPI (SMPF + WPI 30%). This condition allowed the highest growth of the propionibacteria, when compared with all other culture media used.

Whey Protein Isolate Improves the Tolerance of Bacteria Toward Environmental Stresses

The survival rate of *L. casei* BL23 and *P. freudenreichii* 138 was evaluated after acid stress, bile salts stress and high-temperature stress (**Figure 2**). *L. casei* BL23 showed enhanced survival rate after acid stress, when cultured in SMLC medium (69.2%), compared to the MRS control (55.1%) (**Figure 2A**). The survival was further increased when SMLC was supplemented with 30% WPI, leading to the highest survival rate of *L. casei* BL23 (80.6%). This value was significantly higher than skim milk supplemented with 5% and 15% of WPI (data not shown). The population after acid stress in SMLC + WPI 30% was 8.5×10^7 CFU mL⁻¹. A similar result was observed for *P. freudenreichii* 138 (**Figure 2D**). After acid stress, the highest





tolerance was observed when P. freudenreichii 138 was grown in skim milk supplemented with 30% WPI (SMPF + WPI 30%) (88.6%), compared with skim milk without supplementation (SMPF) (84.3%) or YEL medium (65.3%). In addition, the survival rate of P. freudenreichii 138 grown in milk added with 5% of WPI or 15% are lower than supplementation with 30% (data not shown). The population of P. freudenreichii 138 after acid stress in SMPF + WPI 30% was 7.6 \times 10⁸ CFU mL⁻¹. Likewise, our results show enhanced tolerance toward bile salts stress when L. casei BL23 and P. freudenreichii 138 were cultured in beverage containing 30% of WPI (Figures 2B,E). After temperature stress, we observed that both strains presented a high tolerance to 63°C, independent of culture medium. However, the highest survival rate was obtained when bacteria were cultured in milk added with 30% of WPI (Figures 2C,F).

Bacteria Remained Viable in the Fermented Milk Supplemented With WPI During Storage at 4°C

Changes in bacterial population in fermented skim milk supplemented with whey protein were monitored during storage at 4°C for 90 days (**Figures 3A,B**). The viability of both strains, in skim milk contained 30% of WPI, remained practically unchanged, with a small CFU reduction after 90 days. After cold storage, the *L. casei* BL23 population in the skim milk culture media was maintained at 1.5×10^9 CFU mL⁻¹, while the *P. freudenreichii* 138 population at 7.4×10^9 CFU mL⁻¹. In contrast, viable *L. casei* BL23 and *P. freudenreichii* 138 was significantly decreased when grown in culture media (MRS and YEL, respectively) over the entire storage time, presenting a final population below 2×10^2 CFU mL⁻¹, for *L. casei* BL23 and 1.0×10^6 CFU mL⁻¹ for *P. freudenreichii* 138. **Figures 3C,D** represents the evolution of the pH values in the culture of both strains during the storage. We observed a decrease in pH values in beverages containing WPI. In the order hand, in controls the pH values did not decline over the storage time, remaining constant for *L. casei* BL23 while a slight increase in the pH value was detected for *P. freudenreichii* 138. **Figures 4A,B** represent the survival rates of *L. casei* BL23 and *P. freudenreichii* 138, upon acid and bile salt stresses, following storage at 4°C. The survival rate of *L. casei* remained almost constant between days 0 and 90 of storage (**Figure 4A**). For *P. freudenreichii* 138, the acid and bile salts tolerance slightly decreased, between days 0 and 30 (**Figure 4B**). However, propionibacteria survival remained around 70% after 90 days of storage.

Probiotic Beverage Fermented by *L. casei* BL23 or *P. freudenreichii* 138 Reduces the Weight Loss in Mice With Mucositis

Time-course of the weight of mice during the 14 experimental days is shown in **Figure 5**. None of the treatments with probiotic beverages was able to significantly alter the weight of mice during the first 11 days of gavage preceding mucositis induction. As expected, mice receiving 5-FU began to lose weight soon after the drug injection on day 11 (**Figures 5A,C,E**). Interestingly, we observed that the treatment with probiotic beverage fermented by *L. casei* BL23 (**Figure 5B**) or fermented by *P. freudenreichii* 138 (**Figure 5D**) was able to reduce the weight loss of inflamed mice, in the presence or absence of WPI in the medium. However, the association of both bacterial strains were not efficient to further limit the weight loss, compared to mice that received no probiotic treatment (**Figure 5F**).



FIGURE 5 | Time-course of body weight for mice treated with (A) probiotic beverage fermented by *L. casei* BL23; (C) probiotic beverage fermented by *P. freudenreichii* 138 and (E) probiotic beverage fermented by association with *L. casei* BL23 and *P. freudenreichii* 138. (B,D,F) Weight loss observed after 5-FU injection and differences across groups. N = 6-9. Mice were weighted daily during 14 days. Asterisks represent statistically significant differences as follows: *p < 0.05, **p < 0.01, ***p < 0.001, ***p < 0.0001.



*p < 0.05, **p < 0.01, ***p < 0.001, ****p < 0.001.

Beverage Supplemented With Whey Protein Isolate Improves Mucosal Preservation in the Inflamed Mice

Histological analysis revealed a mucosal pattern within normal limits in all groups injected with saline (0.9% NaCl), showing that the probiotics beverages did not alter gut mucosal morphology (**Figures 6–8**). On the other hand, mice submitted to mucositis demonstrated alterations in the morphological structure of the ileum, which was evidenced by an increase in the histopathological parameters. This reflected mainly inflammatory cell infiltration in the *lamina propria*, submucosa and muscular layer, and a prominent alteration in villus structure. However, mice treated with probiotic beverages showed decreased mucosal damage, compared to inflamed mice that did not receive any probiotic treatment. Moreover,

supplementation with WPI was able to improve the antiinflammatory effects of *L. casei* BL23 beverage (Figure 6) but not for *P. freudenreichii* (Figure 7). Mice treated with the association of *L. casei* BL23 and *P. freudenreichii* 138 in skim milk, presented a reduced histopathological score compared to mice receiving only water, however, the histopathological scores obtained are no better than the treatment using the individually fermented milks by *L. casei* BL23 or *P. freudenreichii* 138 (Figure 8).

Treatment With Probiotic Beverages Prevented Villus Shortening and Degeneration of Goblet Cells

Morphometric analysis was carried out to evaluate epithelial integrity. A decrease in villus height and in crypt depth was



(A) Representative H&E-stained images from mucosal histopathology and (B) histopathological score obtained in mice. The image acquisition phase was done with a 20× magnification objective. Scale bar = 100 μ m. Same control groups were used for all experimental probiotic assays. Asterisks represent statistically significant differences as follows: **p* < 0.05, ***p* < 0.01, ****p* < 0.001, *****p* < 0.001.

observed in mice after 5-FU injection (66 μ m) (**Figure 9**). Treatment with probiotic beverages showed increased villus height, especially in groups treated with SMLC + WPI + BL23 (129.2 μ m) (**Figure 9A**) and SMPF + 138 (176.04 μ m) (**Figure 9C**). No difference was found in crypt depths either in treated or untreated mice. As expected, the mucositis induction resulted in substantial decrease in goblet cells number (9.08 goblet cell/hpf) (**Figure 10**) when compared to the groups injected with 0.9% saline (51.4 goblet cell/hpf). In the other hand, administration of probiotics beverages prevented the degeneration of goblet cells in the mice ileum. The highest goblet cell count was found in mice

treated with SMLC + WPI + BL23 (34.7 goblet cell/hpf) (Figure 10A) and SMPF + 138 (27.9 goblet cell/hpf) (Figure 10B).

Administration of Probiotic Beverages Did Not Change the Secretory IgA Production

Figure 11 indicates the concentration of IgA secreted in the small intestine of healthy animals or after induction of 5-FU mucositis, treated or not with *L. casei* BL23, with *P. freudenreichii* 138, or with the association of the two strains. Our results showed that



FIGURE 8 Association of skim milk fermented by *L. casei* BL23 and skim milk fermented by *P. freudenreichii* 138 does not provide additional effect in prevents mucosal damage. (A) Representative H&E-stained images from mucosal histopathology and (B) histopathological score obtained in the animals treated with different beverages. The image acquisition phase was done with a 20× magnification objective. Scale bar = 100 μ m. Same control groups were used for all experimental probiotic assays. Asterisks represent statistically significant differences as follows: **p* < 0.05, ***p* < 0.01, *****p* < 0.001, *****p* < 0.0001.

there was no significant difference across the groups evaluated in this study.

DISCUSSION

Mucositis is a gastrointestinal inflammation that affects the quality of life of patients undergoing malignancy treatments (Sonis, 2004). Currently, classical therapies available for the prevention and treatment of the disease are not very effective and therefore new options have been suggested, such as the use of probiotic bacteria (Carvalho et al., 2017a). Several of these probiotics required the addition of protective matrices, in order to confer a protection via an efficient delivery of probiotic bacteria

to the GIT, and enhance the therapeutics effects in the disease context (Carmo et al., 2017). The present study investigated the effects of whey protein isolate as a protective matrix for two bacterial strains and study the probiotic potential of these fermented beverages in a mucositis mice model induced by 5-FU.

Our data show that the addition of whey protein isolate boosted the growth of *L. casei* BL23 and of *P. freudenreichii* 138. This result may be due to a larger amount of nutrients provided by milk constituents and by WPI in the beverages, including carbohydrate and nitrogen sources, as they are essential for the energy metabolism of both *L. casei* BL23 and *P. freudenreichii* 138 (Cousin et al., 2011; Pessione, 2012). This result corroborates previous studies showing that other bacteria experienced enhanced growth as a result of whey proteins







****p < 0.0001.

addition (Almeida et al., 2009; Skryplonek and Jasińska, 2015; Huang et al., 2016b; Baruzzi et al., 2017).

Due the fact that the products to be considered as a probiotic must be in sufficient quantities of viable bacteria in your local of action (Cousin et al., 2012a; Rabah et al., 2017), we decided to investigate the efficiency of WPI as a protective matrix for bacteria. For this, we evaluated the survival rate of *L. casei* BL23 and of *P. freudenreichii* 138 strains in environments that simulated stomach pH (pH 2), in the presence of bile salts in GIT and at high temperature. Our results demonstrated that the tolerance of *L. casei* BL23 and of *P. freudenreichii* 138 to these stressing conditions was significantly higher in the presence of WPI. Therefore, beverages containing WPI also showed a high viable cell counts after these stresses. Thus, skim milk supplemented with WPI is an effective matrix for the two strains used in this work, considering acid, bile salts





and high-temperature stresses. Similar results were described by Vargas et al. (2015), who demonstrated that the probiotic strains *Streptococcus thermophilus* and *L. bulgaricus* presented a higher tolerance to the same stress conditions in the presence of WPI in the culture medium (Vargas et al., 2015). Cousin et al. (2012b) have also shown that *Propionibacterium* strains survived better in acid and biliary stresses when included in a dairy matrix (Cousin et al., 2012b). In a study by Huang et al. (2016b) was also demonstrated that the *P. freudenreichii* CIRM-BIA 129 tolerates simulated GIT stresses when included in hyperconcentrated sweet whey (Huang et al., 2016b). Studies suggest that dairy proteins protect probiotic bacteria via a process called coacervation. In this process, the proteins form microspheres that pack the microorganism inside, thus forming a kind of barrier that protects them from adverse environmental conditions (Silva et al., 2015; Coghetto et al., 2016).

The current definition of probiotic stipulates that microorganisms should be consumed alive (WHO, 2002; Hill et al., 2014). Thus, the survival of bacteria at low temperatures is an important parameter for the development of an effective probiotic product and fermented dairy products are generally stored at 4°C (Cousin et al., 2012b). Both bacteria tested in this work remained viable during at least 90 days at 4°C when cultured in skim milk supplemented with WPI, reaching up to 10^9 CFU mL⁻¹, after 90 days. Furthermore, it is possible to suggest that these bacteria were also metabolically active as a pH decrease was observed, due to production of lactic acid and propionic acid (main fermentation products of *L. casei* and *P. freudenreichii*, respectively) during cold storage. In addition, stress tolerance of *L. casei* BL23 and of *P. freudenreichii* 138 was maintained upon cold storage in skim milk plus WPI. Therefore, the amount of nutrients provided by milk plus WPI was sufficient to sustain survival of the bacteria over 90 days of cold storage, in accordance with previous reports (Cousin et al., 2012b; Vargas et al., 2015; Moslemi et al., 2016; Shori, 2016; Baruzzi et al., 2017).

In our probiotic beverages, WPI supplementation increases the bacteria's survival rate to environmental stresses, which is an essential parameter for therapeutic effects (Rabah et al., 2017). Since, L. casei BL23 is able to reduce inflammation parameters in colitis model (Rochat et al., 2007; Watterlot et al., 2010), and P. freudenreichii 138 has been shown some probiotic effects in vitro and ex vivo model (Cousin et al., 2012a,b), which is interesting to check their potentials in other disease models. In this context, we tested whether the probiotic beverages were able to exert beneficial effects in mice submitted to experimental mucositis and whether the addition of WPI would enhance these probiotic effects. 5-FU treatment caused weight loss, shortening of intestinal villi and an inflammation of mucosa in mice, in accordance with the literature (Carvalho et al., 2017a). Moreover, probiotic beverages fermented by L. casei BL23 and P. freudenreichii 138 were able to decrease 5-FU-induced intestinal inflammation in BALB/c mice, with preservation of the mucosal integrity and reduced weight loss. Same results were observed by oral administration of Simbioflora®, that containing L. paracasei, L. rhamnosus, L. acidophilus and Bifidobacterium lactis plus fructooligosaccharide in a 5-FU-mucositis mice model and in a treatment using a probiotic mixture, named VSL#3, in mucositis model induced by Irinotecan in rats (Bowen et al., 2007; Trindade et al., 2018). Our study also shows that addition of WPI improved L. casei BL23 beneficial effects in the ileum, but not for P. freudenreichii 138.

Another important feature evaluated in this study was the number of goblet cells throughout the tissue. Goblet cells are responsible for producing a layer of mucus that covers the entire surface of the intestinal epithelium and is mainly composed of high molecular weight glycoproteins known as mucins (Johansson et al., 2013). This mucus prevents the direct adhesion of microorganisms to the epithelium and their translocation to the internal layers of the intestine, besides being important for the lubrication of the intestinal walls and for the protection of the epithelium against digestive acidic fluids and toxins (Kim and Khan, 2013). Previous studies have described that the intestine cells need a series of amino acids, mainly threonine, cysteine, and serine, for the synthesis of this mucus in healthy conditions (Faure et al., 2006). However, during inflammatory processes such as mucositis, a superactivation of the goblet cells occurs, aiming to increase the protection of the epithelium damaged by the inflammatory process (Stringer et al., 2007, 2009a). Consequently, the requirement for amino acids by the cells is increased. However, these amino acids

are usually insufficient during the inflammation, compromising adequate mucus barrier functioning (Stringer et al., 2009b). The demand for threonine, cysteine, and serine can be adequately supplied by the diet in order to increase the availability of these amino acids (Faure et al., 2006). WPI used in this study is rich in these three amino acids. Our probiotic beverages prevented the degeneration of goblet cells, suggesting that the presence of milk and WPI may have increased the availability of these amino acids, increasing the production of mucus and consequently improving the framework of protection and tissue repair observed in the histological analyses. Similar results were shown in a probiotic treatment with Saccharomyces cerevisiae UFMG A-905 in a murine model of irinotecan-induced mucositis (Bastos et al., 2016), as well as in a mice treated with a mixture of L. acidophilus and Bifidobacterium bifidum in a 5-FU-induced intestinal mucositis model (Yeung et al., 2015). Prisciandaro et al. (2011) also shown that a Escherichia coli Nissle 1917 (EcN) probiotic derived supernatants was able to partially maintained acidic-mucin producing goblet cells in the jejunum and neutral mucin producing goblet cells in the ileum, in 5-FU mucositis model in mice (Prisciandaro et al., 2011). Furthermore, due to the capacity to preserve globet cells and consequently to maintenance of mucin production, this is possible that adhesion of L. casei BL23 and P. freudenreichii 138 strains to the intestinal epithelial cells can be enhanced in mouse GIT, leading to an increase the probiotic therapeutic effect (Ouwehand and Salminen, 2003).

In summary, our results indicate that the developed probiotic beverages have anti-inflammatory effects in mucositis. Thus, we sought to investigate the role of IgA in the regulation of inflammatory conditions in these mice. IgA is the main antibody type found in mucosal secretions (Pabst et al., 2016) and has many important functions such as modulation of intestinal microbiota and mucosal protection against invading pathogens (Lycke and Bemark, 2017). These functions are naturally important in intestinal mucositis because this disease is associated with dysfunctions related to imbalances in the intestinal microbial community (Clemente et al., 2012). Destruction of the physical barrier that covers the GIT facilitates the invasion of pathogens from the lumen (Bischoff et al., 2014). However, none of the probiotic beverages used in this study was able to alter IgA production, ruling out a probiotic effect via stimulation of sIgA. Accordingly, administration of another probiotic species, Lactococcus lactis NCDO, in a DSS-induced colitis model, does not enhance the levels of sIgA (Luerce et al., 2014).

CONCLUSION

We have demonstrated that the supplementation of skim milk with 30% of whey protein isolate is a good matrix to provide protection for the *L. casei* BL23 and for *P. freudenreichii* 138 against environmental stresses. Furthermore, both probiotic beverages developed here were efficient in preventing mucositis induced by 5-Fluorouracil in BALB/c mice. *L. casei* BL23 protective effect was further enhanced by the addition of WPI. The benefits of adding WPI for the prevention of mucositis thus depends on the bacterial strain used.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

BC performed the in vitro analysis, animal experimentation regarding mucositis pre-treatment with the probiotic strains, interpreted the data regarding the immunological parameters that were assessed, and was a major contributor in the writing of the manuscript. EO and BS were major contributors in the animal experimentation. EF and SS performed, analyzed, and interpreted the histological analysis from ileum slides. JA analyzed and interpreted the morphometric analysis. LA performed the in vitro analysis and data interpretation. LL and HA performed, analyzed, and interpreted the secretory IgA quantification assay. AF, AV, LG, and VA contributed to the data interpretation and were major contributors in the writing of the manuscript. GJ and YLL were responsible for ceding the strains, contributed to the data interpretation, and were major contributors in the writing of the manuscript. RC and FC have contributed equally in the supervision, performing experiments, analysis and interpretation

REFERENCES

- Almeida, K. E., Tamime, A. Y., and Oliveira, M. N. (2009). Influence of total solids contents of milk whey on the acidifying profile and viability of various lactic acid bacteria. *LWT Food Sci. Technol.* 42, 672–678. doi: 10.1016/j.lwt.2008. 03.013
- Antunes, M. M., Leocádio, P. C. L., Teixeira, L. G., Leonel, A. J., Cara, D. C., Menezes, G. B., et al. (2016). Pretreatment with l-citrulline positively affects the mucosal architecture and permeability of the small intestine in a murine mucositis model. *J. Parenter. Enter. Nutr.* 40, 279–286. doi: 10.1177/ 0148607114567508
- Baruzzi, F., de Candia, S., Quintieri, L., Caputo, L., and De Leo, F. (2017). Development of a synbiotic beverage enriched with bifidobacteria strains and fortified with whey proteins. *Front. Microbiol.* 8:640. doi: 10.3389/fmicb.2017. 00640
- Bastos, R. W., Pedroso, S. H. S. P., Vieira, A. T., Moreira, L. M. C., França, C. S., Cartelle, C. T., et al. (2016). Saccharomyces cerevisiae UFMG A-905 treatment reduces intestinal damage in a murine model of irinotecan-induced mucositis. Benef. Microbes 7, 549–558. doi: 10.3920/BM2015.0190
- Bischoff, S. C., Barbara, G., Buurman, W., Ockhuizen, T., Schulzke, J., Serino, M., et al. (2014). Intestinal permeability – a new target for disease prevention and therapy. *BMC Gastroenterol*. 14:189. doi: 10.1186/s12876-014-0189-7
- Bowen, J. M., Stringer, A. M., Gibson, R. J., Yeoh, A. S., Hannam, S., and Keefe, D. M. (2007). VSL#3 probiotic treatment reduces chemotherapy-induced diarrhoea and weight loss. *Cancer Biol. Ther.* 6, 1445–1450. doi: 10.4161/cbt.6. 9.4622
- Carmo, F. L. R., Rabah, H., Cordeiro, B., Silva, S., Jan, G., Azevedo, V. A., et al. (2017). "Applications of probiotic bacteria and dairy foods in health," in *Current Research in Microbiology Applications*, eds B. Sivasankari, G. Tomazetto, and M. Verma (Wilmington, DE: Open Access eBooks), 1–33.
- Carvalho, R. D., Breyner, N., Garcia, Z. M., Rodrigues, N. M., Lemos, L., Maioli, T. U., et al. (2017a). Secretion of biologically active pancreatitis associated protein I (PAP) by genetically modified dairy *Lactococcus lactis* NZ9000 in the prevention of intestinal mucositis. *Microb. Cell Fact.* 16, 1–11. doi: 10.1186/ s12934-017-0624-x
- Carvalho, R. D., do Carmo, F. L. R., de Oliveira Junior, A., Langella, P., Chatel, J.-M., Bermúdez-Humarán, L. G., et al. (2017b). Use of wild type or recombinant lactic acid bacteria as an alternative treatment for gastrointestinal inflammatory diseases: a focus on inflammatory bowel diseases and mucositis. *Front. Microbiol.* 8:800. doi: 10.3389/fmicb.2017.00800
- Chang, C. T., Ho, T. Y., Lin, H., Liang, J. A., Huang, H. C., Li, C. C., et al. (2012). 5-fluorouracil induced intestinal mucositis via nuclear factor-kB activation by transcriptomic analysis and in vivo bioluminescence imaging. *PLoS One* 7:e31808. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0031808

of the immunological data, and were major contributors equally in the writing of the manuscript.

FUNDING

This work was supported by Fundação de Amparo à Pesquisa do Estado de Minas Gerais (FAPEMIG), Conselho Nacional de Desenvolvimento Científico e Tecnológico (CNPq), and Coordenação de Aperfeiçoamento de Pessoal de Nível Superior (CAPES).

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

The authors thank Prof. Simone Vasconcelos Generoso (UFMG), Prof. Aristoteles Goes Neto (UFMG) for expert technical assistance, and useful discussions and advices.

- Ciorba, M., Hellemeier, C., Stenson, W., and Parikh, P. (2016). Probiotics to prevents gastrointestinal toxicity from cancer therapy: an interpretative review and call to action. *Curr. Opin. Support. Palliat. Care* 1848, 3047–3054. doi: 10.1016/j.bbamem.2015.02.010.Cationic
- Clemente, J. C., Ursell, L. K., Parfrey, L., and Knight, R. (2012). The impact of the gut microbiota on human health: an integrative view. *Cell* 148, 1258–1270. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2012.01.035
- Coghetto, C. C., Brinques, G. B., and Ayub, M. A. Z. (2016). Probiotics production and alternative encapsulation methodologies to improve their viabilities under adverse environmental conditions. *Int. J. Food Sci. Nutr.* 67, 929–943. doi: 10.1080/09637486.2016.1211995
- Cousin, F. J., Jouan-Lanhouet, S., Dimanche-Boitrel, M. T., Corcos, L., and Jan, G. (2012a). Milk fermented by *Propionibacterium freudenreichii* induces apoptosis of HGT-1 human gastric cancer cells. *PLoS One* 7:e31892. doi: 10.1371/journal. pone.0031892
- Cousin, F. J., Louesdon, S., Maillard, M. B., Parayre, S., Falentin, H., Deutsch, S. M., et al. (2012b). The first dairy product exclusively fermented by *Propionibacterium freudenreichii*: a new vector to study probiotic potentialities in vivo. *Food Microbiol.* 32, 135–146. doi: 10.1016/j.fm.2012.05.003
- Cousin, F. J., Jouan-Lanhouet, S., Theret, N., Brenner, C., Jouan, E., Le Moigne-Muller, G., et al. (2016). The probiotic *Propionibacterium freudenreichii* as a new adjuvant for TRAIL-based therapy in colorectal cancer. *Oncotarget* 7, 7161–7178. doi: 10.18632/oncotarget.6881
- Cousin, F. J., Mater, D. D. G., Foligne, B., and Jan, G. (2011). Dairy propionibacteria as human probiotics: a review of recent evidence. *Dairy Sci. Technol.* 91, 1–26. doi: 10.1051/dst/2010032
- Dąbrowska, A., Babij, K., Marek, S., and Chrzanowska, J. (2017). Viability and growth promotion of starter and probiotic bacteria in yogurt supplemented with whey protein hydrolysate during refrigerated storage. *Postep. Hig. Med. Dosw.* 71, 952–959. doi: 10.5604/01.3001.0010.5866
- Eales, J., Gibson, P., Whorwell, P., Kellow, J., Yellowlees, A., Perry, R. H. J., et al. (2017). Systematic review and meta-analysis: the effects of fermented milk with *Bifidobacterium lactis* CNCM I-2494 and lactic acid bacteria on gastrointestinal discomfort in the general adult population. *Ther. Adv. Gastroenterol.* 10, 74–88. doi: 10.1177/1756283X16670075

Faure, M., Mettraux, C., Moennoz, D., Godin, J.-P., Vuichoud, J., Rochat, F., et al. (2006). Specific amino acids increase mucin synthesis and microbiota in dextran sulfate sodium-treated rats. J. Nutr. 136, 1558–1564. doi: 10.1093/jn/136.6.1558

- Ferreira, A. A., Huang, S., Perrone, ÍT., Schuck, P., Jan, G., and Carvalho, A. F. (2017). Tracking Amazonian cheese microbial diversity: development of an original, sustainable, and robust starter by freeze drying/spray drying. *J. Dairy Sci.* 100, 6997–7006. doi: 10.3168/jds.2016-12418
- Foligne, B., Nutten, S., Grangette, C., Dennin, V., Goudercourt, D., Poiret, S., et al. (2007). Correlation between in vitro and in vivo immunomodulatory properties

of lactic acid bacteria. *World J. Gastroenterol.* 13, 236–243. doi: 10.3748/wjg.v13. i2.236

- Gagnaire, V., Jardin, J., Rabah, H., Briard-Bion, V., and Jan, G. (2015). Emmental cheese environment enhances *Propionibacterium freudenreichii* stress tolerance. *PLoS One* 10:e0135780. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0135780
- Hill, C., Guarner, F., Reid, G., Gibson, G. R., Merenstein, D. J., Pot, B., et al. (2014). Expert consensus document: the international scientific association for probiotics and prebiotics consensus statement on the scope and appropriate use of the term probiotic. *Nat. Rev. Gastroenterol. Hepatol.* 11, 506–514. doi: 10.1038/nrgastro.2014.66
- Huang, S., Cauty, C., Dolivet, A., Le Loir, Y., Chen, X. D., Schuck, P., et al. (2016a). Double use of highly concentrated sweet whey to improve the biomass production and viability of spray-dried probiotic bacteria. *J. Funct. Foods* 23, 453–463. doi: 10.1016/j.jff.2016.02.050
- Huang, S., Rabah, H., Jardin, J., Briard-Bion, V., Parayre, S., Maillard, M. B., et al. (2016b). Hyperconcentrated sweet whey, a new culture medium that enhances *Propionibacterium freudenreichii* stress tolerance. *Appl. Environ. Microbiol.* 82, 4641–4651. doi: 10.1128/AEM.00748-16
- Johansson, M. E. V., Sjövall, H., and Hansson, G. C. (2013). The gastrointestinal mucus system in health and disease. Nat. Rev. Gastroenterol. Hepatol. 10, 352–361. doi: 10.1038/nrgastro.2013.35
- Justino, P. F. C., Melo, L. F. M., Nogueira, A. F., Morais, C. M., Mendes, W. O., Franco, A. X., et al. (2015). Regulatory role of *Lactobacillus acidophilus* on inflammation and gastric dysmotility in intestinal mucositis induced by 5fluorouracil in mice. *Cancer Chemother. Pharmacol.* 75, 559–567. doi: 10.1007/ s00280-014-2663-x
- Kim, J., and Khan, W. (2013). Goblet cells and mucins: role in innate defense in enteric infections. *Pathogens* 2, 55–70. doi: 10.3390/pathogens2010055
- Lee, B., Tachon, S., Eigenheer, R. A., Phinney, B. S., and Marco, M. L. (2015a). Lactobacillus casei low-temperature, dairy-associated proteome promotes persistence in the mammalian digestive tract. J. Proteome Res. 14, 3136–3147. doi: 10.1021/acs.jproteome.5b00387
- Lee, B., Yin, X., Griffey, S. M., and Marco, M. L. (2015b). Attenuation of colitis by *Lactobacillus casei* BL23 is dependent on the dairy delivery matrix. *Appl. Environ. Microbiol.* 81, 6425–6435. doi: 10.1128/AEM.01360-15
- Leroy, F., and De Vuyst, L. (2014). Fermented food in the context of a healthy diet: how to produce novel functional foods? *Curr. Opin. Clin. Nutr. Metab. Care* 17, 574–581. doi: 10.1097/MCO.00000000000108
- Livney, Y. D. (2010). Milk proteins as vehicles for bioactives. Curr. Opin. Colloid Interface Sci. 15, 73–83. doi: 10.1016/j.cocis.2009.11.002
- Longley, D. B., Harkin, D. P., and Johnston, P. G. (2003). 5-Fluorouracil: mechanisms of action and clinical strategies. *Nat. Rev. Cancer* 3, 330–338. doi: 10.1038/nrc1074
- Luerce, T. D., Gomes-Santos, A. C., Rocha, C. S., Moreira, T. G., Cruz, D. N., Lemos, L., et al. (2014). Anti-inflammatory effects of *Lactococcus lactis* NCDO 2118 during the remission period of chemically induced colitis. *Gut Pathog.* 6, 1–11. doi: 10.1186/1757-4749-6-33
- Lycke, N. Y., and Bemark, M. (2017). The regulation of gut mucosal IgA B-cell responses: recent developments. *Mucosal Immunol.* 10, 1361–1374. doi: 10. 1038/mi.2017.62
- Madureira, A. R., Pereira, C. I., Gomes, A. M. P., Pintado, M. E., and Xavier Malcata, F. (2007). Bovine whey proteins - overview on their main biological properties. *Food Res. Int.* 40, 1197–1211. doi: 10.1016/j.foodres.2007.07.005
- Malik, A. C., Reinbold, G. W., and Vedamuthu, E. R. (1968). An evaluation of the taxonomy of *Propionibacterium. Can. J. Microbiol.* 14, 1185–1191. doi: 10.1139/m68-199
- Marshall, K. (2004). Therapeutic applications of whey protein. Altern. Med. Rev. 9, 136–156.
- Moslemi, M., Mazaheri Nezhad Fard, R., Hosseini, S. M., Homayouni-Rad, A., and Mortazavian, A. M. (2016). Incorporation of Propionibacteria in fermented milks as a probiotic. *Crit. Rev. Food Sci. Nutr.* 56, 1290–1312. doi: 10.1080/ 10408398.2013.766584
- Ouwehand, A. C., and Salminen, S. (2003). In vitro adhesion assays for probiotics and their in vivo relevance: a review. *Microb. Ecol. Health Dis.* 15, 175–184. doi: 10.1080/08910600310019886
- Pabst, O., Cerovic, V., and Hornef, M. (2016). Secretory IgA in the coordination of establishment and maintenance of the microbiota. *Trends Immunol.* 37, 287–296. doi: 10.1016/j.it.2016.03.002

- Pessione, E. (2012). Lactic acid bacteria contribution to gut microbiota complexity: lights and shadows. *Front. Cell. Infect. Microbiol.* 2:86. doi: 10.3389/fcimb.2012. 00086
- Plé, C., Richoux, R., Jardin, J., Nurdin, M., Briard-Bion, V., Parayre, S., et al. (2015). Single-strain starter experimental cheese reveals antiinflammatory effect of *Propionibacterium freudenreichii* CIRM BIA 129 in TNBS-colitis model. *J. Funct. Foods* 18, 575–585. doi: 10.1016/j.jff.2015. 08.015
- Prisciandaro, L. D., Geier, M. S., Butler, R. N., Cummins, A. G., and Howarth, G. S. (2011). Probiotic factors partially improve parameters of 5fluorouracil-induced intestinal mucositis in rats. *Cancer Biol. Ther.* 11, 671–677. doi: 10.4161/cbt.11.7.14896
- Rabah, H., Rosa do Carmo, F., and Jan, G. (2017). Dairy Propionibacteria: versatile probiotics. *Microorganisms* 5:E24. doi: 10.3390/microorganisms502 0024
- Rochat, T., Bermúdez-Humarán, L., Gratadoux, J. J., Fourage, C., Hoebler, C., Corthier, G., et al. (2007). Anti-inflammatory effects of *Lactobacillus casei* BL23 producing or not a manganese-dependant catalase on DSS-induced colitis in mice. *Microb. Cell Fact.* 6, 1–10. doi: 10.1186/1475-2859-6-22
- Shori, A. B. (2016). Influence of food matrix on the viability of probiotic bacteria: a review based on dairy and non-dairy beverages. *Food Biosci.* 13, 1–8. doi: 10.1016/j.fbio.2015.11.001
- Silva, T. M., Rodrigues, L. Z., Codevilla, C. F., Silva, C., and Menezes, C. R. (2015). Coacervação complexa?: uma técnica para a encapsulação de probióticos. *Ciência Nat.* 37, 49–55. doi: 10.5902/2179-460X19714
- Skryplonek, K., and Jasińska, M. (2015). Fermented probiotic beverages based on acid whey. Acta Sci. Pol. Technol. Aliment. 14, 397–405. doi: 10.17306/J.AFS. 2015.4.39
- Soares, P. M. G., Mota, J. M. S. C., Gomes, A. S., Oliveira, R. B., Assreuy, A. M. S., Brito, G. A. C., et al. (2008). Gastrointestinal dysmotility in 5-fluorouracilinduced intestinal mucositis outlasts inflammatory process resolution. *Cancer Chemother. Pharmacol.* 63, 91–98. doi: 10.1007/s00280-008-0715-9

Sonis, S. T. (2004). A biological approach to mucositis. J. Support. Oncol. 2, 21-36.

Stringer, A. M. (2013). Interaction between host cells and microbes in chemotherapy-induced mucositis. *Nutrients* 5, 1488–1499. doi: 10.3390/ nu5051488

- Stringer, A. M., Gibson, R. J., Bowen, J. M., Logan, R. M., Ashton, K., Yeoh, A. S. J., et al. (2009a). Irinotecan-induced mucositis manifesting as diarrhoea corresponds with an amended intestinal flora and mucin profile. *Int. J. Exp. Pathol.* 90, 489–499. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2613.2009.00671.x
- Stringer, A. M., Gibson, R. J., Logan, R. M., Bowen, J. M., Yeoh, A. S. J., Hamilton, J., et al. (2009b). Gastrointestinal microflora and mucins may play a critical role in the development of 5-fluorouracil-induced gastrointestinal mucositis. *Exp. Biol. Med.* 234, 430–441. doi: 10.3181/0810-RM-301
- Stringer, A. M., Gibson, R. J., Bowen, J. M., Logan, R. M., Yeoh, A. S.-J., and Keefe, D. M. K. (2007). Chemotherapy-induced mucositis: the role of gastrointestinal microflora and mucins in the luminal environment. *J. Support. Oncol.* 5, 259–267.
- Tang, Y., Wu, Y., Huang, Z., Dong, W., Deng, Y., Wang, F., et al. (2017). Administration of probiotic mixture DM#1 ameliorated 5-fluorouracil induced intestinal mucositis and dysbiosis in rats. *Nutrition* 33, 96–104. doi: 10.1016/j. nut.2016.05.003
- Tharmaraj, N., and Shah, N. P. (2003). Selective enumeration of Lactobacillus delbrueckii ssp. bulgaricus, Streptococcus thermophilus, Lactobacillus acidophilus, bifidobacteria, Lactobacillus casei, Lactobacillus rhamnosus, and propionibacteria. J. Dairy Sci. 86, 2288–2296. doi: 10.3168/jds.S0022-0302(03)73821-1
- Trindade, L. M., Martins, V. D., Rodrigues, N. M., Souza, E. L. S., Martins, F. S., Costa, G. M. F., et al. (2018). Oral administration of Simbioflora[®] (synbiotic) attenuates intestinal damage in a mouse model of 5-fluorouracilinduced mucositis. *Benef. Microbes* 9, 477–486. doi: 10.3920/BM2017. 0082
- Vargas, L. A., Olson, D. W., and Aryana, K. J. (2015). Whey protein isolate improves acid and bile tolerances of *Streptococcus thermophilus* ST-M5 and Lactobacillus delbrueckii ssp. *bulgaricus* LB-12. *J. Dairy Sci.* 98, 2215–2221. doi: 10.3168/jds. 2014-8869
- Watterlot, L., Rochat, T., Sokol, H., Cherbuy, C., Bouloufa, I., Lefèvre, F., et al. (2010). Intragastric administration of a superoxide dismutase-producing

recombinant Lactobacillus casei BL23 strain attenuates DSS colitis in mice. Int. J. Food Microbiol. 144, 35–41. doi: 10.1016/j.ijfoodmicro.2010.03.037

- WHO (2002). Guidelines for the Evaluation of Probiotics in Food. London: World Health Organization, 1–11. doi: 10.1111/j.1469-0691.2012.03873
- Yadav, J. S. S., Yan, S., Pilli, S., Kumar, L., Tyagi, R. D., and Surampalli, R. Y. (2015). Cheese whey: a potential resource to transform into bioprotein, functional/nutritional proteins and bioactive peptides. *Biotechnol. Adv.* 33, 756–774. doi: 10.1016/j.biotechadv.2015.07.002
- Yeung, C. Y., Chan, W. T., Jiang, C. B., Cheng, M. L., Liu, C. Y., Chang, S. W., et al. (2015). Amelioration of chemotherapy-induced intestinal mucositis by orally administered probiotics in a mouse model. *PLoS One* 10:e0141402. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0138746

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2018 Cordeiro, Oliveira, da Silva, Savassi, Acurcio, Lemos, Alves, Assis, Vieira, Faria, Ferreira, Le Loir, Jan, Goulart, Azevedo, Carvalho and do Carmo. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Microencapsulation of Lactic Acid Bacteria Improves the Gastrointestinal Delivery and *in situ* Expression of Recombinant Fluorescent Protein

Nina D. Coelho-Rocha¹, Camila P. de Castro^{1,2}, Luis C. L. de Jesus¹, Sophie Y. Leclercq³, Savio H. de Cicco Sandes⁴, Alvaro C. Nunes⁴, Vasco Azevedo^{1*}, Mariana M. Drumond^{1,5*†} and Pamela Mancha-Agresti^{1*†}

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Aleš Berlec, Jožef Stefan Institute (IJS), Slovenia

Reviewed by:

Jorge Gomez-Gutierrez, University of Louisville, United States Pasquale Russo, University of Foggia, Italy

*Correspondence:

Vasco Azevedo vasco@icb.ufmg.br Mariana M. Drumond mmdrumond@gmail.com Pamela Mancha-Agresti p.mancha.agresti@gmail.com

[†]These authors have contributed equally to senior authorship

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Infectious Diseases, a section of the journal Frontiers in Microbiology

Received: 09 May 2018 Accepted: 19 September 2018 Published: 05 October 2018

Citation:

Coelho-Rocha ND, de Castro CP, de Jesus LCL, Leclercq SY, de Cicco Sandes SH, Nunes AC, Azevedo V, Drumond MM and Mancha-Agresti P (2018) Microencapsulation of Lactic Acid Bacteria Improves the Gastrointestinal Delivery and in situ Expression of Recombinant Fluorescent Protein. Front. Microbiol. 9:2398. doi: 10.3389/fmicb.2018.02398 ¹ Laboratório de Genética Celular e Molecular, Instituto de Ciências Biológicas, Departamento de Biologia Geral, Universidade Federal de Minas Gerais, Belo Horizonte, Brazil, ² Kroton Educacional, Faculdade Pitágoras, Contagem, Brazil, ³ Laboratório de Inovação Biotecnológica, Fundação Ezequiel Dias, Belo Horizonte, Brazil, ⁴ Laboratório de Genética Molecular de Protozoários Parasitas, Instituto de Ciências Biológicas, Departamento de Biologia Geral, Universidade Federal de Minas Gerais, Belo Horizonte, Brazil, ⁵ Centro Federal de Educação Tecnológica de Minas Gerais, Coordenação de Ciências, Belo Horizonte, Brazil

The microencapsulation process of bacteria has been used for many years, mainly in the food industry and, among the different matrixes used, sodium alginate stands out. This matrix forms a protective wall around the encapsulated bacterial culture, increasing its viability and protecting against environmental adversities, such as low pH, for example. The aim of the present study was to evaluate both in vitro and in vivo, the capacity of the encapsulation process to maintain viable lactic acid bacteria (LAB) strains for a longer period of time and to verify if they are able to reach further regions of mouse intestine. For this purpose, a recombinant strain of LAB (L. lactis ssp. cremoris MG1363) carrying the pExu vector encoding the fluorescence protein mCherry [L. lactis MG1363 (pExu:mCherry)] was constructed. The pExu was designed by our group and acts as a vector for DNA vaccines, enabling the host cell to produce the protein of interest. The functionality of the pExu:mCherry vector, was demonstrated in vitro by fluorescence microscopy and flow cytometry after transfection of eukaryotic cells. After this confirmation, the recombinant strain was submitted to encapsulation protocol with sodium alginate (1%). Non-encapsulated, as well as encapsulated strains were orally administered to C57BL/6 mice and the expression of mCherry protein was evaluated at different times (0-168 h) in different bowel portions. Confocal microscopy showed that the expression of mCherry was higher in animals who received the encapsulated strain in all portions of intestine analyzed. These results were confirmed by gRT-PCR assay. Therefore, this is the first study comparing encapsulated and non-encapsulated L. lactis bacteria for mucosal DNA delivery applications. Our results showed that the microencapsulation process is an effective method to improve DNA delivery, ensuring a greater number of viable bacteria are able to reach different sections of the bowel.

Keywords: recombinant *Lactococcus lactis*, sodium alginate encapsulation, mCherry reporter protein, pExu vector, DNA delivery

INTRODUCTION

The intestinal microbiota is composed of a huge diversity of ecological niches, encompassing more than 50 genera of bacteria (Holdeman et al., 1976) with different characteristics: harmful, beneficial, or both. Among the bacteria with beneficial activity, the LAB can be highlighted. These are Gram-positive, saccharolytic, rod shaped, non-sporulating bacteria with low-GC content genomes, that could reside in the large intestine (Salminen et al., 1998). The majority of LAB have a 'Generally Recognized as Safe' (GRAS) status according to the United Sates Food and Drug Administration (US FDA) and fulfill of the Qualified Presumption of Safety (QPS) notion criteria developed by the European Food Safety Authority (EFSA).

Some strains are classified as probiotic, promoting them to be beneficial for consumer health (Sanders et al., 2013). This intrinsic advantage of some LAB, as well as the easiness to design them in recombinant lactic acid bacteria (rLAB) makes them a good alternative to systemic delivery systems compared with other mucosal delivery vehicles such as liposomes and attenuated pathogens. For these reasons, over the past two decades, LAB has been intensively studied as potential carriers of compounds with therapeutic or prophylactic effects at mucosal surface (Wells and Mercenier, 2008; Bermúdez-Humarán, 2009; Zurita-Turk et al., 2014; Souza et al., 2016; Mancha-Agresti et al., 2017). In this context, plasmid-cured strains of L. lactis ssp. lactis IL1403 and L. lactis ssp. cremoris MG1363, whose genomes were sequenced in 1999/2001 and 2007, respectively, are the strains most commonly used (Bolotin et al., 2001; Wegmann et al., 2007; Linares et al., 2010) for production of recombinant molecules in mucosal vaccination (Wells and Mercenier, 2008). In addition, interest in genus Lactobacillus has also increased (Li et al., 2007; Hongying et al., 2014; Allain et al., 2016). In DNA delivery system the eukaryotic host cells express antigens encoded by the vaccine. Epitopes exposed by the recombinant protein (antigen) are very similar to those in their native form (Běláková et al., 2007), consequently they are presented to the immune system in an analogous form found in nature.

Oral administration of rLAB producing/coding therapeutics proteins have the benefit of direct proteins delivery *in situ*, avoiding degradation either by enzymatic action or adverse conditions encountered in the stomach such as severe acid challenges. Also, rLAB could be protect against stress elicited by the exposure to high bile and salt conditions of the intestine faced during transit through the gastrointestinal tract (Drouault et al., 1999). On the other hand, studies have shown that the percentage of viable bacteria that reaches the gut may be considerably lower compared to the number of administered bacteria (Charteris et al., 1998; Cook et al., 2012), due to above mentioned stress conditions.

To circumvent this drawback, bacterial microencapsulation technique using polymer matrix offers adequate conditions to reduce bacterial loss, in the gastrointestinal tract, as well as in food products (Fávaro-Trindade and Grosso, 2002). The most widely used matrix for microencapsulation is sodium alginate, a non-toxic and biocompatible polymer which is able to establish a versatile matrix which protects active components, as well as probiotic microorganisms sensible to pH, heat, oxygen, and other factors (Goh et al., 2012). Some studies report an increase of up to 80–95% survival of encapsulated probiotics with alginate beads (Sheu and Marshall, 1993; Jankowski et al., 1997; Krasaekoopt et al., 2003). Lower bacteria population reduction during exposure to simulated gastric environment and bile solution (Picot and Lacroix, 2004) are some features improved by encapsulation of probiotics in alginate. Encapsulation in alginate of *Bifidobacterium longum* as well as, *Lactobacillus rhamnosus* improved survival at acid pH (pH 2.0) up to 48 h and also, death rate decreased proportionately with increased alginate concentrations (2–4%) and bead size (Lee and Heo, 2000; Goderska et al., 2003).

In previous work, our group developed a new vector (pExu -Extra Chromosomal Unit) to be used as a DNA delivered by Lactococcus lactis and Lactobacillus strains. We showed eGFP expression (Enhanced Green Fluorescent Protein), by enterocytes in the duodenal region between 12 up to 72 h after oral administration of the recombinant strain L. lactis (pExu:egfp) (Mancha-Agresti et al., 2016). Nevertheless, tissue auto fluorescence is in the same GFP protein wavelength, hindering tissue analysis and eGFP expression detection in the lower bowel region. Nowadays, there are many fluorescent proteins available (Shaner et al., 2005; Ai et al., 2008; Day and Davidson, 2009). Among the best red members in the fruit series, the RFP (Red Fluorescent Protein) mCherry, can be highlighted. This protein is obtained from successive modifications of the Discosoma ssp. fluorescent protein DsRed, and it has longest excitation and emission wavelengths (587/610 nm, respectively) with shortest maturation time (Patterson et al., 2001; Shaner et al., 2004; Jach et al., 2006) in comparison with other RFPs. Proteins that emit fluorescence in red zone are more desirable for cellular studies than those which emit in green or blue zones because red light presents less dispersion allowing deep tissue penetration (Nienhaus and Wiedenmann, 2009), therefore increasing sensibility (Deliolanis et al., 2008).

The aim of this study was to encapsulate the *L. lactis* ssp. *cremoris* MG1363 strain carrying the pExu vector encoding RFP *mCherry* gene in alginate matrix and evaluate potential delivery across gut portions after oral administration by comparing non-encapsulated and encapsulated bacteria.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Bacterial Strains and Plasmids

Bacterial strains and plasmids used in this study are listed in **Table 1**. *E. coli* Top10 strain was grown in Luria-Bertani (LB) medium (Acumedia, Lansing, MI, United States) at 37°C with vigorous shaking. *L. lactis* ssp. *cremoris* MG1363 was grown statically at 30°C in M17 medium (Sigma-Aldrich, St. Louis, MO, United States) supplemented with 0.5% glucose (w/v) (Labsynth, São Paulo, Brazil) (G-M17). The Erythromycin antibiotic (Sigma-Aldrich) was added at the indicated concentration as necessary; 500 μ g/mL for *E. coli* and 125 μ g/mL for *L. lactis*. Pure cultures of bacteria were kept as stock cultures in 40% glycerol (v/v)

TABLE 1 | Bacterial strains and plasmids used in this work.

Bacterial strain	Characteristics	Source
Escherichia coli TOP10	<i>E. coli</i> K-12-derived strain; F-mcrA 1 (mrr-hsdRMS-mcrBC) 8 80lacZ1M15 1lacX74 nupG recA1 araD139 1 (ara-leu)7697 galE15 galK16 rpsL (StrR) endA1 λ.	Invitrogen
Escherichia coli TOP10 (pTP:mCherry)	<i>E. coli</i> TOP10 carrying the pTP: <i>mCherry</i> plasmid; Km ^r	This work
Escherichia coli TOP10 (pExu:mCherry)	<i>E. coli</i> TOP 10 carrying the pExu: <i>mCherry</i> plasmid; Ery ^r	This work
Lactococcus lactis MG1363	L. lactis ssp. cremoris	Gasson, 1983
<i>Lactococcus lactis</i> MG1363 (pExu: <i>mCherry</i>)	<i>L. lactis</i> MG1363 carrying the pExu: <i>mCherry</i> plasmid; Ery ^r	This work
Plasmids	Characteristics	Source
Zero Blunt® TOPO®	Cloning vector (KmR, ccdB gene fused to the C-terminus of the LacZ α fragment)	Invitrogen
pXJM19:mCherry	ori colE1, oricg, ptac, <i>mCherry,</i> Cm ^r	Ott et al., 2012
pTP:mCherry	TOPO [®] vector with the <i>mCherry</i> ORF; Km ^r	This work
pExu: <i>mCherry</i>	pCMV/Ery ^r /RepA/ RepC/mCherry	This work

Plac: promoter of operon lac; Km^r: gene that confers resistance to kanamycin; pUc ori: origin of replication; ccdB: lethal gene; ZeoR: gene resistance to zeomycin, ori ColE1: origin of replication for E. coli; Amp: gene that confers ampicillin resistance; pCMV: cytomegalovirus promoter; Ery: gene that confers erythromycin resistance; RepD and RepE: origins of prokaryotic replication for L. lactis and Lactobacillus; egfp: coding sequence of enhancer fluorescent green protein; Cm: gene that confers resistance to chloramphenicol; mCherry: coding sequence of red fluorescent monomeric protein.

(Sigma-Aldrich) for *E. coli* and 25% glycerol (v/v) for *L. lactis* at -80° C.

DNA Manipulations

The protocols of DNA manipulation were performed following Sambrook protocols (Green and Sambrook, 2012) with some modifications. For plasmid DNA extraction from *L. lactis*, to prepare the protoplasts, TES buffer (25% sucrose, 1 mM EDTA, and 50 mM Tris-HCl pH 8) containing lysozyme (Sigma- Aldrich) (10 mg/mL) was added for 1 h at 37°C. Restriction enzymes were used as recommended by suppliers. Transformation of *L. lactis* was performed by electroporation (2,400 V, 25 μ F capacitance and 200 Ω of resistance). *L. lactis* transformants were plated on G-M17 agar plates containing erythromycin and were counted after 48 h incubation at 30°C, whereas *E. coli* transformants were plated onto LB agar plates containing the required antibiotic for 24 h at 37°C.

pExu:*mCherry* and *L. lactis* ssp. *cremoris* MG1363 (pExu:*mCherry*)

amplified The ORF of reporter gene *mCherry* was by PCR technique using Hot Start® high-fidelity DNA Polymerase (Qiagen, Hilden, Germany). Oligonucleotides primers used for mCherry were: 5' ggcGCGGCCGCAATGGTGAGCAAGGGCGAGG 3' (forward) and 5' ggcCTCGAGTTACTTGTACAGCTCGTCCATGC 3' (reverse). Artificial restriction sites of NotI and XhoI enzyme and also, customized Kozak sequence were added in the forward oligonucleotides. Purified PCR product and pExu plasmid (Mancha-Agresti et al., 2016) were digested with the same restriction enzymes, as recommended by suppliers. The digested vector and insert were purified by IllustraTM GFXTM PCR DNA kit and then were ligated with T4 DNA ligase (Invitrogen, Carlsbad, CA, United States) and transformed into E. coli Top10, creating the E. coli Top10 (pExu:mCherry) strain. Sequence analysis was done to confirm the insert integrity using BigDye Terminator v3.1 Cycle Sequencing Kit (Applied Biosystems, Foster City, CA, United States) and ABI3130 sequencing equipment. Lastly, pExu:mCherry was transformed into competent cells of L. lactis ssp. cremoris MG1363 strain generating L. lactis MG1363 (pExu:mCherry) strain, used in this study.

mCherry Production by Eukaryotic Cells in vitro

Chinese hamster ovarian cell line [Flp-InTM-CHO (Invitrogen)] (CRL 12023)-ATCC was used to evaluate the mCherry expression. For this intent, CHO cells were cultured in complete Nutrient Mixture F12 Ham media (Sigma-Aldrich), supplemented with 10% fetal bovine serum (Gibco-Thermo Scientific, Waltham, MA, United States), 1% L-glutamine (Sigma-Aldrich), and 1% HEPES (Sigma-Aldrich). Cells were seeded at 1×10^{6} in a 6-well plate and at 90–95% of confluence, CHO cells were transfected with 4 µg of pExu:mCherry vector or no plasmid (negative control) using LipofectamineTM 2000 (Invitrogen), according to supplier's recommendation. Eukaryotic cells protein expression was checked by epifluorescent microscope (Zeiss Axiovert 200, filter 585/42 nm, Oberkochen, Germany) and by flow cytometry (BD FACSCantoTM, BD Bioscience, Franklin Lakes, NJ, United States). Duplicate transfection assays were performed.

Bacterial Doses and Microencapsulation

To prepare the doses of *L. lactis* (pExu:*mCherry*), on the first day, the culture was grown at 30°C in M17 medium (Sigma-Aldrich) supplemented with 0.5% glucose (Labsynth) (GM17) and 125 μ g/mL of erythromycin (Sigma-Aldrich). On the second day, a 1/20 dilution was performed until the culture reaches OD_{600 nm} = 1.0. Then 2 mL, which corresponds to one dose, centrifuged for 10 min at 4°C at 4,000 rpm. Supernatant was discarded, and the pellet was washed twice with PBS (0.01 M) and then it was resuspended in 30 μ L of sterile PBS, immediately frozen in ultra-freezer -80° C until use. At the moment of gavage, sterile PBS (0.01 M) was added (~70 μ L) to the prepared
doses to reach a final volume of 100 μ L. The final quantities of administrated bacteria were 10¹⁴ CFU/dose. This concentration was calculated after adequate dilution (10⁻¹⁴), where colonies were counted by pour plate method (G-M17 agar-medium with erythromycin).

For encapsulated doses, after washing the pellet with PBS (0.01 M), bacteria culture [10¹⁴ colony forming unit (CFU)] was mixed with 50 µL of sterile PBS (0.01 M)and 50 µL of 1% of Sodium Alginate Solution matrix as described by Krasaekoopt et al. (2003). For this procedure, alginate solution was prepared and sterilized by autoclaving (121°C for 15 min). The mixture was homogenized carefully and this homogeneous solution (Bacteria+PBS+1% of sodium alginate solution) was extruded through a 21-gauge nozzle into a sterile 3% CaCl₂ solution magnetically stirring (a cross-linking solution), forming beads (encapsulated bacteria) by contact of both solutions. Afterward, beads were harvested by filtering using Cell Strainer 40 µm Nylon (Corning, NY, United States) and CaCl₂ remnants were removed by pipetting. Then, they were transferred to a sterile micro tube and stored in ultra-freezer -80°C until use. Before gavage, $\sim 100 \,\mu$ L of sterile PBS was added to frozen encapsulated doses.

Encapsulation Efficiency and Viability After Freezing

To determine the encapsulation efficiency (EE), the beads were mixed with 100 μ L of 2% (w/v) sterile sodium citrate buffer (pH = 8.36) during 10 min to dissociate the capsules. After this time, the mixture was vigorously homogenized and subsequently the entrapped viable bacteria, after adequate dilution (10⁻¹⁰), were counted by pour plate method (G-M17 agar-medium). Non-encapsulated bacteria were also submitted to the same treatment to guarantee the same experimental condition. This process was performed during 5 days after doses production to see viability of beads after freezing. Encapsulation efficiency after freezing was calculated by the following equation:

$$EE\% = \frac{CFU \text{ encapsulated cells}}{CFU \text{ non} - \text{ encapsulated cells}} \times 100$$

* CFU is a number of colony forming unit on the agar plate.

Efficiency was verified for freshly encapsulated and nonencapsulated bacteria (day 0) and for doses conditioned at -80° C (days 1 to 5). For the last condition, single doses were unfrozen and plated each day.

Viability of Encapsulated Bacteria to Artificial Juice

To verify the viability of entrapped bacteria, stomach environment was simulated. In a 20 mL solution containing sodium chloride 0.9% (w/v) and 0.3% of pepsin (w/v) (Sigma-Aldrich) (pH = 2), 10^{14} CFU (one dose) of encapsulated and non-encapsulated bacteria was added and incubated for 2 h at 37°C, with shaking at 50 rpm (Chávarri et al., 2010). Afterward, both suspensions were centrifuged and the supernatant was discarded (the encapsulated solution was filtered using Cell Strainer 40 μ m Nylon-corning to avoid capsule loss during

discard of the supernatant). Then, the bacterial content was washed twice with PBS (0.01 M) and centrifuged in order to remove the remaining acid solution. Finally, pellets were ressuspended with 100 μ L of sodium citrate buffer (pH = 8.36) and after that, 100 μ L of this mixture was assayed to pour plate method. This experiment was performed in duplicate. The survival (%) of free and encapsulated bacteria was calculated by spread plate count on G-M17 agar after incubation at 30°C for 48 h as shown in the following equation:

$$\frac{\log{(\text{CFU beads after 2 hours exposure to acid condition)}}{\log{(\text{CFU initial beads count)}} \times 100}$$
(1)

Mice

Conventional 4 to 6-week-old (25–30 g) male and female C57BL/6 mice, were obtained from Centro de Bioterismo (CEBIO) of Universidade Federal de Minas Gerais (UFMG, Brazil). Procedures and manipulation of animals followed the rules of Ethical Principles in Animal Experimentation, accepted by the Ethics Committee on Animal Experiments (Protocol # 114/2010, CETEA/UFMG/Brazil). All animals were maintained in collective cages in an environmentally controlled room with a 12-h light/dark cycle and given free access to water and food *ad libitum*.

Mice Handling: Gavage of Recombinant *L. lactis* MG1363 Strain (Encapsulated and Non-encapsulated) Into C57BL/6 Mice

Mice were split into three groups as follows: (i) PBS group, (ii) non-encapsulated L. lactis ssp. cremoris MG1363 (pExu:mCherry), and (iii) encapsulated L. lactis MG1363 (pExu:mCherry). Two independent experiments were performed with 24 mice in each group (72 mice/experiment). The animals were separated according to each evaluated time (three animals for each time). The recombinant strains (10¹⁴ CFU bacterial suspensions in a final volume of 100 µL of PBS) were orally administered by gavage. The administration was performed in one go (at zero time) and, at the following intervals: 12, 24, 48, 72, 96, 120, 144, and 168 h (post-gavage), animals were euthanized by cervical dislocation and intestinal sections of duodenum, jejunum, ileum and colon were analyzed by confocal microscopy and qRT-PCR. Images were captured using Zeiss LSM 540 META inverted confocal laser-scanning microscope and analyzed by Zeiss LSM Image Browser software.

mRNA Extraction and Real-Time PCR (qRT-PCR)

Samples of intestinal sections (duodenum, jejunum, ileum, and colon) at 24 h post-gavage, were collected to perform qRT-PCR assay to confirm mCherry expression in enterocytes after oral gavage. We even collected intestinal samples (duodenum,

jejunum, ileum, and colon) at different times post-gavage (12, 48, 72, 96, 120, 144, and 168 h). Samples from each gut portion were collected after mice euthanasia and stored at -20° C in RNA later (Invitrogen) until RNA extraction. Total RNA was obtained using TRIzol reagent (Invitrogen), in compliance with manufacturer instructions. The quality and quantity of RNA samples were evaluated in agarose gel electrophoresis, and also through spectrophotometer analysis on NanoDrop[®] 2000 spectrophotometer (Thermo Scientific) taking into account absorbance ratios of 280/260 and 260/230 nm. Extracted RNA samples were treated with DNAse I (Invitrogen) which was subsequently deactivated. The complementary deoxyribonucleic acid (cDNA) synthesis was performed using 1 μ g of RNA and ImProm-II reverse transcriptase (Promega, Madison, WI, United States) in compliance with its manual.

Quantitative reverse transcription PCR (qRT-PCR) was performed using iTaq Universal SYBR Green Supermix (Bio-Rad, Hercules, CA, United States) and gene specific-primers for mCherry open reading frame (ORF). Housekeeping gene Actb was used as reference for normalization (Giulietti et al., 2001). Experimental approach was optimized by adjusting concentrations of primers for optimal specificity and efficiency (Table 2). Amplification reactions were performed in final volume of 10 µL, using 5 µL of SYBR green supermix and 10 ng of cDNA (5 ng/ μ L). The PCR cycle parameters were as follows: initial denaturation at 95°C for 30 s, annealing/extension at 60°C for 60 s, 40 cycles of 95°C for 15 s followed by a dissociation stage for recording the melting curve. Expression levels in control group were used as calibration data (i.e., animals which received PBS). Results were shown graphically as fold changes in gene expression, using the means and standard deviations of target gene expression amount in accordance with Hellemans et al. (2007). Data were analyzed according to the relative expression using $2^{-\Delta \Delta Ct}$ method (Hellemans et al., 2007).

Statistical Analysis

Statistical analysis was performed using GraphPad Prism 6. Statistical significance between the groups was calculated using a Student's *t*-test. A 95% confidence limit was significant at a value of P < 0.05.

RESULTS

Recombinant Strain of *L. lactis – L. lactis* MG1363 (pExu:*mCherry*)

The mCherry ORF (711bp) (GenBank No. AST15061.1) was successfully cloned into the pExu vector (Mancha-Agresti

et al., 2016). This vector has an eukaryotic unit harboring the cytomegalovirus mammalian promoter (pCMV), the polyadenylation signal of the bovine growth hormone (BGH), and a prokaryotic region containing RepD/RepE replication origins for *L. lactis* and also OriColE1 replication origin for *E. coli*. The resistance marker Erythromycin (Ery), was used to select recombinant strain. pExu:*mCherry* vector construction was successfully confirmed by molecular techniques: PCR, enzymatic digestion (*Not*I and *Xho*I), and also DNA sequencing. pExu:*mCherry* was transformed into *L. lactis* ssp. cremoris MG1363 wild type strain generating *L. lactis* MG1363 (pExu:*mCherry*) recombinant strain.

Eukaryotic Cells Are Able to Express the mCherry Protein

Functionality of pExu:*mCherry* was established after transfection of CHO cells in two independent assays. In the first one, fluorescence microscopy analysis showed that transfected eukaryotic cells were able to express the reporter protein. In contrast, non- transfected cells showed no fluorescence, as expected. In **Figure 1**, the pictures A, B, and C show the eukaryotic cell expressing or not the fluorescent protein. Images were captured by fluorescence microscopy (**Figures 1A–C**).

In the second one, the percentage of expressing cells was evaluated by flow cytometry. After 48 h, 19% of transfected cells with pExu:*mCherry* showed ability to express the reporter protein. No expression was observed in the non-transfected cells, and also in cells transfected with pExu:*empty* (data not shown). In **Figure 1** pictures D and E show the dot plot of non-transfected and transfected cells respectively. These results confirmed functionality of pExu:*mCherry* plasmid in eukaryotic cells.

Encapsulation Efficiency in 1% (w/v) Alginate and Loss of Viability After Encapsulation and Freezing of *L. lactis* MG1363 (pExu:*mCherry*)

At first, alginate concentration for encapsulation was standardized by testing three different concentrations (0.5, 1, and 2% w/v) with 3% CaCl₂ (w/v). Results obtained at this stage showed that the uniformity and spherical beads at 0.5% (w/v) of alginate concentration were not satisfactory due to low viscosity and consequently, less number of binding sites for Ca²⁺ ions (cross-linkage) (Chandramouli et al., 2004; Lotfipour et al., 2012). With 2% (w/v) alginate concentration, beads were too viscous to be extruded from the 21G needle. Thus, the 1%

TABLE 2 | Targets and primers concentration of qRT-PCR performed in this study.

RNA target	Primer seq	uence (5'–3')		
	Forward	Reverse	Amplicon size (pb)	Primer (μ mol I ⁻¹)
mCherry	CACTACGACGCTGAGGTCAA	GTGGGAGGTGATGTCCAACT	97	0.25
β-Actin	AGAGGGAAATCGTGCGTGAC	CAATAGTGATGACCTGGCCGT	138	0.25



(w/v) alginate concentration presented the best conditions for encapsulation.

Regarding efficiency of encapsulation, our results showed that at the time of doses preparation it had 2.8×10^{14} CFU. After the encapsulation process (represented as 0 time), we observed a decrease in the number of CFU (1.6×10^{14}), being about 60% efficiency, in comparison with non-encapsulated ones. It was possible to observe that both strains (encapsulated and nonencapsulated) lost viability during freezing days, in equivalent form, as demonstrated in **Figure 2**. Therefore, in this study, only recent confectioned doses were used in oral administration to mice.

In artificial gastric juice, our results showed that the number of cultivable cells observed corresponds to 4.5×10^4 CFU and 4.7×10^4 CFU for non-encapsulated and encapsulated, respectively. Regarding initial doses in non-encapsulated bacteria (2.8 $\times 10^{14}$ CFU) and encapsulated (1.6 $\times 10^{14}$ CFU), we can observe that the percentage survival of non-encapsulated bacteria was 25.3%, while the survival of encapsulated strain was 32.9%. The bacterial survival showed around an 8% increase in encapsulated ones. These results lead to the conclusion that encapsulated bacteria has slightly more resistance to survive in

artificial gastric juice, demonstrating that encapsulate process can be successfully used in oral administration strategies.

mRNA and Protein Expression in Mice Bowel

In order to investigate the expression of mCherry protein by eukaryotic cells in vivo, we evaluated mRNA expression of mCherry in different parts of the bowel, after gavage. Our results showed that animals which received encapsulated bacteria were able to express 4.34x fold increase in duodenum and 3.03x fold in jejunum portion when compared with non-encapsulated bacteria. However, no significant differences were seen in ileum and colon portions as shown in Figure 3. When the kinetics qRT-PCR experiments were performed, it was observed the same behavior as in confocal analysis. Animals which received the encapsulated doses have higher relative expression in duodenum and in jejunum sections while in ileum and colon the relative expression was lower. Nevertheless, in the colon no statistical differences were observed. The same behavior was observed in the relative expression of non-encapsulated bacteria, where the levels of expression in the duodenum and in the jejunum sections



FIGURE 2 Cellular viability: viability of non-encapsulated and encapsulated cells of *L. lactis* MG1363 (pExu:*mCherry*) from 0 to 5 days after freezing (–80°C). The 0 represents the number of CFU by plate count immediately after the encapsulation process. **P* < 0.05, ***P* < 0.001, and ****P* < 0.0001.



were higher compared to ileum and colon ones (Supplementary Figures 1, 2).

Intestinal Cells of Mice Orally Administered With Encapsulated *L. lactis* MG1363 (pExu:*mCherry*) Showed mCherry Expression in Distant Regions of the Bowel

After oral administration of encapsulated and non-encapsulated *L. lactis* MG1363 (pExu:*mCherry*) to C57BL/6 mice at different times (12, 24, 48, 72, 96, 120, 144, and 168 h), the expression of mCherry protein by eukaryotic cells was investigated. The eukaryotic cells of the duodenum and jejunum were able to express mCherry protein until 3 days post-gavage with non-encapsulated bacteria as was shown in previous report with eGFP

protein (Mancha-Agresti et al., 2016), while encapsulated bacteria was able to keep the protein expression for 7 and 4 days in duodenum and jejunum, respectively. When we investigated the ileum and colon sections, there was no expression found after gavage with non-encapsulated bacteria. Nevertheless, ileum of animals which received the encapsulated *L. lactis* expressed the recombinant protein between 2 and 4 days after gavage, as shown in **Figure 4**. In the colon section no expression was found (data not shown). The confocal microscopy showed two important aspects. First, there was more expression of mCherry protein by eukaryotic cells when encapsulated *L. lactis* was administered, as were shown in qRT-PCR results. The other aspect is the encapsulated strain is able to reach distant parts of the bowel, as ileum, for example (**Figure 4**).

DISCUSSION

Lactococcus lactis is commonly studied as a host for heterologous protein production and as a delivery platform for therapeutic molecules (Morello et al., 2008; Bahey-El-Din et al., 2010). Different strategies have been proposed in order to improve the delivery in the gut, including the membrane fragilization (Tao et al., 2011) or the expression of invasin proteins in the bacteria membrane (Innocentin et al., 2009). Even though these strategies have drawbacks, many reports showed delivery efficiency when using the DNA vaccine platform, by both oral (Zurita-Turk et al., 2014; Pereira et al., 2015; Souza et al., 2016) or nasal administration (Mancha-Agresti et al., 2017).

The eGFP expression by enterocytes, after mice oral administration of non- encapsulated L. lactis MG1363 (pExu:egfp), was successfully reported by our group (Mancha-Agresti et al., 2016). It was also reported that delivery by this recombinant strain only occurred in the duodenum section between 12 and 72 h after gavage. The eGFP protein is the marker of choice for many biological studies. However, there are limitations to its use, both in vivo and in vitro experiments. For example, GFP may lose its direct fluorescence during tissue fixation, as well as for subsequent processing which leads to commercial use of antibodies for immunostaining for GFP detection. Also, GFP expression shows substantial biological variability, even among similar cell types in a single animal (Anderson et al., 2005; Brazelton and Blau, 2005). In addition, GFP protein could have diminished brightness, variability, or loss of fluorescence due to auto-fluorescence of the cells in green wavelengths, and also a delay between protein synthesis and fluorescence development (Cubitt et al., 1995; Aspiras et al., 2000; Shaner et al., 2005). Even more, conventional fluorescent proteins, such as GFP, emit in visible spectrum, where light absorption by tissue is strong (Deliolanis et al., 2008), therefore, its sensibility is low.

In order to improve our previous results and circumvent the drawbacks of *egpf* or *gfp* reporter gene, we decided to evaluate another reporter, the *mCherry*, using the same system, the pExu vector delivered by *L. lactis* ssp. *cremoris* MG1363. The mCherry is a monomeric, non-toxic protein and doesn't need any stress induction to host organisms expressed at high levels (Carroll

L	DUODE	NUM	JEJU	NUM	ILE	UM
ENCAR	PS.	NON ENCAPS.	ENCAPS.	NON ENCAPS.	ENCAPS.	NON ENCAPS.
12h	<u>20μm</u>					
24h						
48h	a. Or y whet th a					
72h		-, -,2 				
96h						
120h	8 2 ⁸					
144h						
	-					

et al., 2010). It is highly resistant to photobleaching, consequently losing less fluorescence overtime (Viegas et al., 2007). An important issue to highlight about mCherry in comparison with other red-shifted fluorescent proteins, is their fluorescence emission beyond the 600 nm spectra, where light absorption by tissues is substantially reduced, this showcases enhanced detection sensitivity in whole body imaging applications by at least two orders of magnitude over GFP (Deliolanis et al., 2008).

A previous study using mCherry reporter gene was conducted by van Zyl et al. (2015) to analyze, after mice gavage, the migration and colonization in the gastrointestinal tract (GIT) of two recombinant LAB: *Enterococcus mundtii ST4SA* and Lactobacillus plantarum 423. This study reports mCherry as a promising reporter system for living cell imaging studies *in vitro*, *in vivo*, and *ex vivo*. They showed that both bacteria predominantly colonized the cecum and colon, and also persisted in the gut for at least 24 h (van Zyl et al., 2015). Another study used *mCherry* ORF cloned in prCR12 vector (heterologous expression of mCherry protein), transfected in three strains of *Lactobacillus* (*L. plantarum* Lp90, *L. plantarum* B2, and *L. fermentum* Pbcc11.5) showed great strategy in estimating gut colonization in zebrafish model using probiotics. Another interesting point highlighted by these authors is to avoidance of animal sacrifice (Russo et al., 2015). Acid gastric secretion, a major defense mechanism against the majority of ingested microorganisms, is the first stress confronted by orally administered bacteria (Marteau et al., 1997). Once *L. lactis* has overcome the gastric barrier, they need to envisage the enteric secretions encountered in the duodenum region such as mucus, lysozyme, and phospholipase A2 (Peeters and Vantrappen, 1975; Harwig et al., 1995), defensins secreted by Paneth cells (Mallow et al., 1996) and also bile salt and pancreatic juices. Due to these adversities, high cell mortality is detected in duodenum (Drouault et al., 1999). Divergence may occur once distinct bacterial species demonstrate different reductions in viability, as shown in a study comparing survival of *Bifidobacterium bifidum, Lactobacillus acidophilus, Lactobacillus bulgaricus*, and *Streptococcus thermophilus* in the gastric compartment (Marteau et al., 1997).

To prevent this situation, and consequently increase *L. lactis* viability in duodenum region and also reach further regions from the intestine, we investigated the encapsulation technique, that has been extensively studied and standardized in *in vitro* experiments (Sheu and Marshall, 1993; Rowley et al., 1999; Krasaekoopt et al., 2003; Desai and Jin Park, 2005; Urbanska et al., 2007; Nedovic et al., 2011).

Once the focus of our group is the use of LAB as DNA vaccine platform in the treatment of different gut disease, like inflammatory bowel disease (IBD), an important issue concern how the encapsulation doses could be affected by the freezing. Demonstrating that bacteria remains viable after freezing could help the development of new therapeutical strategies, for example, preparation of encapsulate doses in one moment and administrate them in another one. Even more, in developing countries this application could help to solve logistic issues, for example frozen doses could be transport further distances without big damage. In order to provide support for *in vivo* studies, we initially performed *in vitro* assays to verify the efficiency of encapsulation process with alginate matrix and the viability of bacteria doses for 5 days after freezing.

In contrast with Kailasapathy (2006) studies, in which EE of *Lactobacillus acidophilus* and *Bifidobacterium lactis* was tested after storage, we unexpectedly verified a decrease in the CFU of *L. lactis* ssp. *cremoris* MG1363 doses soon after the encapsulation process when compared with non-encapsulated. However, when these bacteria were submitted to low pH conditions, simulating gastric environment, the viability of encapsulated bacteria increased around 8% when compared with non-encapsulated. The important issue of this result is to highlight that encapsulation matrix was able to protect the bacteria against these astringent conditions.

Our findings are in accordance with Mortazavian et al. (2007) who tested three different pH (extreme, intermediate, and normal), in extreme and normal conditions they showed that encapsulated *L. acidophilus*, with 2% sodium alginate, had slightly higher percentages of survival than non-encapsulated, being 17.4 and 16%, respectively (Mortazavian et al., 2007). Also, an increase of 9.52 and 7.52% was described in the survival of encapsulated bacteria (*L. acidophilus*) with again 2% of sodium alginate at pH = 3.0 for 3 h in 2 and 1% of bile salt respectively (Chandorkar et al., 2018). These authors highlighted that microencapsulation

is a competent technique able to protect probiotics against gastrointestinal environment. All this data supports the idea that encapsulated techniques improve the survival of probiotic bacteria against unfavorable conditions.

This finding was corroborated by our *in vivo* results where the expression of mCherry protein in the duodenum was higher for encapsulated bacteria and was also detected in ileum. The qRT-PCR provided quantitative results that were in line with those obtained in confocal microscopy, specially, in duodenum and jejunum portions, evidencing higher expression of mCherry protein in animals which received encapsulated doses. Although fluorescence had been observed by confocal microscopy at ileum portion, no significant differences were observed in qRT-PCR assay for both, ileum and colon.

Microencapsulation process shows to protect bacteria doses against environment through the GIT. Our hypothesis is that the alginate matrix protects the bacteria against the adversities (stomach and duodenum), allowing their movement across the bowel, being the bacteria able to deliver the plasmid in further sections, as jejunum, ileum, and also slightly in colon.

To our knowledge, this is the first study describing the comparison of encapsulated vs. non-encapsulated *L. lactis* using DNA delivery strategy, *in vivo*. Compared with our previous results (Mancha-Agresti et al., 2016) microencapsulation technique enables higher and longer recombinant protein expression in the gut. Furthermore, this process increases bacteria survival allowing further segments of the gut such as ileum to be reached. The methodology of encapsulation adopted in this work is able to enhance the potential for mucosal delivery by LAB. These findings are uplifting for mucosal therapy for different kinds of bowel diseases.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

NC-R, MD, CC, LJ, and PM-A conceived the project. NC-R, MD, PM-A, and SCS wrote the original draft of the manuscript. NC-R, MD, PM-A, SL, AN, and VA wrote, reviewed and edited the manuscript. VA obtained the funding and supervised the project.

FUNDING

This study was supported with grants from the Conselho Nacional de Desenvolvimento Científico e Tecnológico (CNPq), Coordenação de Aperfeiçoamento de Pessoal de Nível Superior (CAPES), and Fundação de Amparo à Pesquisa do Estado de Minas Gerais (FAPEMIG).

SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIAL

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fmicb.2018. 02398/full#supplementary-material

REFERENCES

- Ai, H., Olenych, S. G., Wong, P., Davidson, M. W., and Campbell, R. E. (2008). Hue-shifted monomeric variants of *Clavularia* cyan fluorescent protein: identification of the molecular determinants of color and applications in fluorescence imaging. *BMC Biol.* 6:13. doi: 10.1186/1741-7007-6-13
- Allain, T., Mansour, N. M., Bahr, M. M. A., Martin, R., Florent, I., Langella, P., et al. (2016). A new lactobacilli in vivo expression system for the production and delivery of heterologous proteins at mucosal surfaces. *FEMS Microbiol. Lett.* 363:fnw117. doi: 10.1093/femsle/fnw117
- Anderson, D. A., Wu, Y., Jiang, S., Zhang, X., Streeter, P. R., Spangrude, G. J., et al. (2005). Donor marker infidelity in transgenic hematopoietic stem cells. *Stem Cells* 23, 638–643. doi: 10.1634/stemcells.2004-0325
- Aspiras, M. B., Kazmerzak, K. M., Kolenbrander, P. E., McNab, R., Hardegen, N., and Jenkinson, H. F. (2000). Expression of green fluorescent protein in *Streptococcus gordonii* DL1 and its use as a species-specific marker in coadhesion with *Streptococcus oralis* 34 in saliva-conditioned biofilms in vitro. *Appl. Environ. Microbiol.* 66, 4074–4083. doi: 10.1128/AEM.66.9.4074-4083. 2000
- Bahey-El-Din, M., Gahan, C. G. M., and Griffin, B. T. (2010). Lactococcus lactis as a cell factory for delivery of therapeutic proteins. Curr. Gene Ther. 10, 34–45. doi: 10.2174/156652310790945557
- Běláková, J., Horynová, M., Křupka, M., Weigl, E., and Raška, M. (2007). DNA vaccines: are they still just a powerful tool for the future? Arch. Immunol. Ther. Exp. 55, 387–398. doi: 10.1007/s00005-007-0044-4
- Bermúdez-Humarán, L. G. (2009). Lactococcus lactis as a live vector for mucosal delivery of therapeutic proteins. Hum. Vaccin. 5, 264–267. doi: 10.4161/hv.5.4. 7553
- Bolotin, A., Wincker, P., Mauger, S., Jaillon, O., Malarme, K., Weissenbach, J., et al. (2001). The complete genome sequence of the lactic acid bacterium. *Genome Res.* 11, 731–753. doi: 10.1101/gr.169701.There
- Brazelton, T. R., and Blau, H. M. (2005). Optimizing techniques for tracking transplanted stem cells in vivo. *Stem Cells* 23, 1251–1265. doi: 10.1634/stemcells. 2005-0149
- Carroll, P., Schreuder, L. J., Muwanguzi-Karugaba, J., Wiles, S., Robertson, B. D., Ripoll, J., et al. (2010). Sensitive detection of gene expression in mycobacteria under replicating and non-replicating conditions using optimized far-red reporters. *PLoS One* 5:e9823. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0009823
- Chandorkar, V. V., Shukla, N. G., and Gomashe, A. V. (2018). Microencapsulation of *Lactobacillus acidophilus* for its survival under high acid and high bile salt concentrations. *Int. J. Curr. Res.* 10, 63818–63820.
- Chandramouli, V., Kailasapathy, K., Peiris, P., and Jones, M. (2004). An improved method of microencapsulation and its evaluation to protect *Lactobacillus* spp. in simulated gastric conditions. *J. Microbiol. Methods* 56, 27–35. doi: 10.1016/j. mimet.2003.09.002
- Charteris, W. P., Kelly, P. M., Morelli, L., and Collins, J. K. (1998). Development and application of an *in vitro* methodology to determine the transit tolerance of potentially probiotic *Lactobacillus* and *Bifidobacterium* species in the upper human gastrointestinal tract. *J. Appl. Microbiol.* 84, 759–768. doi: 10.1046/j. 1365-2672.1998.00407.x
- Chávarri, M., Marañón, I., Ares, R., Ibáñez, F. C., Marzo, F., and del Carmen Villarán, M. (2010). Microencapsulation of a probiotic and prebiotic in alginatechitosan capsules improves survival in simulated gastro-intestinal conditions. *Int. J. Food Microbiol.* 142, 185–189. doi: 10.1016/j.ijfoodmicro.2010. 06.022
- Cook, M. T., Tzortzis, G., Charalampopoulos, D., and Khutoryanskiy, V. V. (2012). Microencapsulation of probiotics for gastrointestinal delivery. J. Control. Release 162, 56–67. doi: 10.1016/j.jconrel.2012.06.003
- Cubitt, A. B., Heim, R., Adams, S. R., Boyd, A. E., Gross, L. A., and Tsien, R. Y. (1995). Understanding, improving and using green fluorescent proteins. *Trends Biochem. Sci.* 20, 448–455. doi: 10.1016/S0968-0004(00)89099-4
- Day, R. N., and Davidson, M. W. (2009). The fluorescent protein palette: tools for cellular imaging. *Chem. Soc. Rev.* 38, 2887–2921. doi: 10.1039/ b901966a
- Deliolanis, N. C., Kasmieh, R., Wurdinger, T., Tannous, B. A., Shah, K., and Ntziachristos, V. (2008). Performance of the red-shifted fluorescent proteins in deep-tissue molecular imaging applications. *J. Biomed. Opt.* 13:44008. doi: 10.1117/1.2967184

- Desai, K. G. H., and Jin Park, H. (2005). Recent developments in microencapsulation of food ingredients. Dry. Technol. 23, 1361–1394. doi: 10.1081/DRT-200063478
- Drouault, S., Corthier, G., Ehrlich, S. D., and Corthier, R. (1999). Survival, physiology, and lysis of *Lactococcus lactis* in the digestive tract. *Appl. Environ. Microbiol.* 65, 4881–4886.
- Fávaro-Trindade, C. S., and Grosso, C. R. F. (2002). Microencapsulation of L. acidophilus (La-05) and B. lactis (Bb-12) and evaluation of their survival at the pH values of the stomach and in bile. J. Microencapsul. 19, 485–494. doi: 10.1080/02652040210140715
- Gasson, M. J. (1983). Plasmid complements of Streptococcus lactis NCDO 712 and other lactic streptococci after protoplast-induced curing. J. Bacteriol. 154, 1–9.
- Giulietti, A., Overbergh, L., Valckx, D., Decallonne, B., Bouillon, R., and Mathieu, C. (2001). An overview of real-time quantitative PCR: applications to quantify cytokine gene expression. *Methods* 25, 386–401. doi: 10.1006/meth. 2001.1261
- Goderska, K., Zybala, M., and Czarnecki, Z. (2003). Characterisation of microemcapsulated *Lactobacillus rhamnosus* LR7 strain. Pol. J. Food Nutr. Sci. 12, 21–24.
- Goh, C. H., Heng, P. W. S., and Chan, L. W. (2012). Alginates as a useful natural polymer for microencapsulation and therapeutic applications. *Carbohydr. Polym.* 88, 1–12. doi: 10.1016/j.carbpol.2011.11.012
- Green, M. R., and Sambrook, J. (2012). *Molecular Cloning: A Laboratory Manual*, 4th Edn. New York, NY: Cold Spring Harbor.
- Harwig, S. S., Tan, L., Qu, X. D., Cho, Y., Eisenhauer, P. B., and Lehrer, R. I. (1995). Bactericidal properties of murine intestinal phospholipase A2. J. Clin. Invest. 95, 603–610. doi: 10.1172/JCI117704
- Hellemans, J., Mortier, G., De Paepe, A., Speleman, F., and Vandesompele, J. (2007). qBase relative quantification framework and software for management and automated analysis of real-time quantitative PCR data. *Genome Biol.* 8:R19. doi: 10.1186/gb-2007-8-2-r19
- Holdeman, L. V., Good, I. J., and Moore, W. E. (1976). Human fecal flora: variation in bacterial composition within individuals and a possible effect of emotional stress. *Appl. Environ. Microbiol.* 31, 359–375.
- Hongying, F., Xianbo, W., Fang, Y., Yang, B., and Beiguo, L. (2014). Oral immunization with recombinant *Lactobacillus acidophilus* expressing the adhesin Hp0410 of *Helicobacter pylori* induces mucosal and systemic immune responses. *Clin. Vaccine Immunol.* 21, 126–132. doi: 10.1128/CVI.00434-13
- Innocentin, S., Guimaraes, V., Miyoshi, A., Azevedo, V., Langella, P., Chatel, J.-M., et al. (2009). Lactococcus lactis expressing either Staphylococcus aureus fibronectin-binding protein A or Listeria monocytogenes internalin a can efficiently internalize and deliver DNA in human epithelial cells. Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 75, 4870–4878. doi: 10.1128/AEM.00825-09
- Jach, G., Pesch, M., Richter, K., Frings, S., and Uhrig, J. F. (2006). An improved mRFP1 adds red to bimolecular fluorescence complementation. *Nat. Methods* 3, 597–600. doi: 10.1038/nmeth901
- Jankowski, T., Zielinska, M., and Wysakowska, A. (1997). Encapsulation of lactic acid bacteria with alginate/starch capsules. *Biotechnol. Tech.* 11, 31–34. doi: 10.1007/BF02764447
- Kailasapathy, K. (2006). Survival of free and encapsulated probiotic bacteria and their effect on the sensory properties of yoghurt. *LWT Food Sci. Technol.* 39, 1221–1227. doi: 10.1016/j.lwt.2005.07.013
- Krasaekoopt, W., Bhandari, B., and Deeth, H. (2003). Evaluation of encapsulation techniques of probiotics for yoghurt. *Int. Dairy J.* 13, 3–13. doi: 10.1016/S0958-6946(02)00155-3
- Lee, K. Y., and Heo, T. R. (2000). Survival of *Bifidobacterium longum* immobilized in calcium alginate beads in simulated gastric juices and bile salt solution. *Appl. Environ. Microbiol.* 66, 869–873. doi: 10.1128/AEM.66.2.869-873.2000
- Li, Y.-G., Tian, F.-L., Gao, F.-S., Tang, X.-S., and Xia, C. (2007). Immune responses generated by *Lactobacillus* as a carrier in DNA immunization against footand-mouth disease virus. *Vaccine* 25, 902–911. doi: 10.1016/j.vaccine.2006.09. 034
- Linares, D. M., Kok, J., and Poolman, B. (2010). Genome sequences of *Lactococcus lactis* MG1363 (revised) and NZ9000 and comparative physiological studies. *J. Bacteriol.* 192, 5806–5812. doi: 10.1128/JB.00533-10
- Lotfipour, F., Mirzaeei, S., and Maghsoodi, M. (2012). Preparation and characterization of alginate and psyllium beads containing *Lactobacillus acidophilus*. *ScientificWorldJournal*. 2012:680108. doi: 10.1100/2012/680108

- Mallow, E. B., Harris, A., Salzman, N., Russell, J. P., DeBerardinis, R. J., Ruchelli, E., et al. (1996). Human enteric defensins. Gene structure and developmental expression. J. Biol. Chem. 271, 4038–4045. doi: 10.1074/jbc.271.8.4038
- Mancha-Agresti, P., de Castro, C. P., dos Santos, J. S. C., Araujo, M. A., Pereira, V. B., LeBlanc, J. G., et al. (2017). Recombinant invasive *Lactococcus lactis* carrying a DNA vaccine coding the Ag85A antigen increases INF-γ, IL-6, and TNF-α cytokines after intranasal immunization. *Front. Microbiol.* 8:1263. doi: 10.3389/fmicb.2017.01263
- Mancha-Agresti, P., Drumond, M. M., Rosa, do Carmo, F. L., Santos, M. M., Coelho dos Santos, J. S., et al. (2016). A new broad range plasmid for DNA delivery in eukaryotic cells using lactic acid bacteria: in vitro and in vivo assays. *Mol. Ther. Methods Clin. Dev.* 4, 83–91. doi: 10.1016/j.omtm.2016.12.005
- Marteau, P., Minekus, M., Havenaar, R., and Huis in't Veld, J. H. (1997). Survival of lactic acid bacteria in a dynamic model of the stomach and small intestine: validation and the effects of bile. J. Dairy Sci. 80, 1031–1037. doi: 10.3168/jds. S0022-0302(97)76027-2
- Morello, E., Bermúdez-Humarán, L. G., Llull, D., Solé, V., Miraglio, N., Langella, P., et al. (2008). *Lactococcus lactis*, an efficient cell factory for recombinant protein production and secretion. *J. Mol. Microbiol. Biotechnol.* 14, 48–58. doi: 10.1159/ 000106082
- Mortazavian, A., Hadi Razavi, S., Reza Ehsani, M., and Sohrabvandi, S. (2007). Principles and methods of microencapsulation of probiotic microorganisms. *Iran. J. Biotechnol.* 5, 1–18.
- Nedovic, V., Kalusevic, A., Manojlovic, V., Levic, S., and Bugarski, B. (2011). An overview of encapsulation technologies for food applications. *Procedia Food Sci.* 1, 1806–1815. doi: 10.1016/j.profoo.2011.09.265
- Nienhaus, G. U., and Wiedenmann, J. (2009). Structure, dynamics and optical properties of fluorescent proteins: perspectives for marker development. *ChemPhysChem* 10, 1369–1379. doi: 10.1002/cphc.200800839
- Ott, L., McKenzie, A., Baltazar, M. T., Britting, S., Bischof, A., Burkovski, A., et al. (2012). Evaluation of invertebrate infection models for pathogenic corynebacteria. *FEMS Immunol. Med. Microbiol.* 65, 413–421. doi: 10.1111/j. 1574-695X.2012.00963.x
- Patterson, G., Day, R. N., and Piston, D. (2001). Fluorescent protein spectra. J. Cell Sci. 114, 837–838.
- Peeters, T., and Vantrappen, G. (1975). The Paneth cell: a source of intestinal lysozyme. *Gut* 16, 553–558. doi: 10.1136/gut.16.7.553
- Pereira, V. B., Saraiva, T. D. L., Souza, B. M., Zurita-Turk, M., Azevedo, M. S. P., De Castro, C. P., et al. (2015). Development of a new DNA vaccine based on mycobacterial ESAT-6 antigen delivered by recombinant invasive *Lactococcus lactis* FnBPA⁺. *Appl. Microbiol. Biotechnol.* 99, 1817–1826. doi: 10.1007/s00253-014-6285-3
- Picot, A., and Lacroix, C. (2004). Encapsulation of bifidobacteria in whey proteinbased microcapsules and survival in simulated gastrointestinal conditions and in yoghurt. *Int. Dairy J.* 14, 505–515. doi: 10.1016/j.idairyj.2003.10.008
- Rowley, J. A., Madlambayan, G., and Mooney, D. J. (1999). Alginate hydrogels as synthetic extracellular matrix materials. *Biomaterials* 20, 45–53. doi: 10.1016/ S0142-9612(98)00107-0
- Russo, P., Iturria, I., Mohedano, M. L., Caggianiello, G., Rainieri, S., Fiocco, D., et al. (2015). Zebrafish gut colonization by mCherry-labelled lactic acid bacteria. *Appl. Microbiol. Biotechnol.* 99, 3479–3490. doi: 10.1007/s00253-014-6351-x
- Salminen, S., Bouley, C., Boutron-Ruault, M. C., Cummings, J. H., Franck, A., Gibson, G. R., et al. (1998). Functional food science and gastrointestinal physiology and function. *Br. J. Nutr.* 80(Suppl. 1), S147–S171. doi: 10.1079/ BJN19980108

- Sanders, M. E., Guarner, F., Guerrant, R., Holt, P. R., Quigley, E. M., Sartor, R. B., et al. (2013). An update on the use and investigation of probiotics in health and disease. *Gut* 62, 787–796. doi: 10.1136/gutjnl-2012-302504
- Shaner, N. C., Campbell, R. E., Steinbach, P. A., Giepmans, B. N. G., Palmer, A. E., and Tsien, R. Y. (2004). Improved monomeric red, orange and yellow fluorescent proteins derived from *Discosoma* sp. red fluorescent protein. *Nat. Biotechnol.* 22, 1567–1572. doi: 10.1038/nbt1037
- Shaner, N. C., Steinbach, P. A., and Tsien, R. Y. (2005). A guide to choosing fluorescent proteins. *Nat. Methods* 2, 905–909. doi: 10.1038/nmeth819
- Sheu, T. Y., and Marshall, R. T. (1993). Microentrapment of lactobacilli in calcium alginate gels. J. Food Sci. 58, 557–561. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2621.1993.tb04323.x
- Souza, B. M., Preisser, T. M., Pereira, V. B., Zurita-Turk, M., de Castro, C. P., da Cunha, V. P., et al. (2016). *Lactococcus lactis* carrying the pValac eukaryotic expression vector coding for IL-4 reduces chemically-induced intestinal inflammation by increasing the levels of IL-10-producing regulatory cells. *Microb. Cell Fact.* 15:150. doi: 10.1186/s12934-016-0548-x
- Tao, L., Pavlova, S. I., Ji, X., Jin, L., and Spear, G. (2011). A novel plasmid for delivering genes into mammalian cells with noninvasive food and commensal lactic acid bacteria. *Plasmid* 65, 8–14. doi: 10.1016/j.plasmid.2010.09.001
- Urbanska, A. M., Bhathena, J., and Prakash, S. (2007). Live encapsulated Lactobacillus acidophilus cells in yogurt for therapeutic oral delivery: preparation and in vitro analysis of alginate-chitosan microcapsules. Can. J. Physiol. Pharmacol. 85, 884–893. doi: 10.1139/Y07-057
- van Zyl, W. F., Deane, S. M., and Dicks, L. M. T. (2015). Use of the mCherry fluorescent protein to study intestinal colonization by *Enterococcus mundtii* ST4SA and *Lactobacillus plantarum* 423 in mice. *Appl. Environ. Microbiol.* 81, 5993–6002. doi: 10.1128/AEM.01247-15
- Viegas, M. S., Martins, T. C., Seco, F., and do Carmo, A. (2007). An improved and cost-effective methodology for the reduction of autofluorescence in direct immunofluorescence studies on formalin-fixed paraffin-embedded tissues. *Eur. J. Histochem.* 51, 59–66.
- Wegmann, U., O'Connell-Motherway, M., Zomer, A., Buist, G., Shearman, C., Canchaya, C., et al. (2007). Complete genome sequence of the prototype lactic acid bacterium *Lactococcus lactis* subsp. *cremoris* MG1363. *J. Bacteriol.* 189, 3256–3270. doi: 10.1128/JB.01768-06
- Wells, J. M., and Mercenier, A. (2008). Mucosal delivery of therapeutic and prophylactic molecules using lactic acid bacteria. *Nat. Rev. Microbiol.* 6, 349–362. doi: 10.1038/nrmicro1840
- Zurita-Turk, M., Del Carmen, S., Santos, A. C. G., Pereira, V. B., Cara, D. C., Leclercq, S. Y., et al. (2014). *Lactococcus lactis* carrying the pValac DNA expression vector coding for IL-10 reduces inflammation in a murine model of experimental colitis. *BMC Biotechnol.* 14:73. doi: 10.1186/1472-6750-14-73

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2018 Coelho-Rocha, de Castro, de Jesus, Leclercq, de Cicco Sandes, Nunes, Azevedo, Drumond and Mancha-Agresti. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Mutation of the Surface Layer Protein SIpB Has Pleiotropic Effects in the Probiotic *Propionibacterium freudenreichii* CIRM-BIA 129

Fillipe L. R. do Carmo^{1,2,3}, Wanderson M. Silva^{4,5}, Guilherme C. Tavares⁶, Izabela C. Ibraim¹, Barbara F. Cordeiro¹, Emiliano R. Oliveira¹, Houem Rabah^{2,3}, Chantal Cauty², Sara H. da Silva¹, Marcus V. Canário Viana¹, Ana C. B. Caetano¹, Roselane G. dos Santos¹, Rodrigo D. de Oliveira Carvalho⁷, Julien Jardin², Felipe L. Pereira⁶, Edson L. Folador⁸, Yves Le Loir^{2,3}, Henrique C. P. Figueiredo⁶, Gwénaël Jan^{2,3*†} and Vasco Azevedo^{1†}

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Aleš Berlec, Jožef Stefan Institute (IJS), Slovenia

Reviewed by:

Paulina Deptula, University of Helsinki, Finland Maria de los Angeles Serradell, Consejo Nacional de Investigaciones Científicas y Técnicas (CONICET), Argentina

*Correspondence:

Gwénaël Jan gwenael.jan@inra.fr

[†]These authors shared senior authorship

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Infectious Diseases, a section of the journal Frontiers in Microbiology

Received: 18 May 2018 Accepted: 18 July 2018 Published: 17 August 2018

Citation:

do Carmo FLR, Silva WM, Tavares GC, Ibraim IC, Cordeiro BF, Oliveira ER, Rabah H, Cauty C, da Silva SH, Canário Viana MV, Caetano ACB, dos Santos RG, de Oliveira Carvalho RD, Jardin J, Pereira FL, Folador EL, Le Loir Y, Figueiredo HCP, Jan G and Azevedo V (2018) Mutation of the Surface Layer Protein SIpB Has Pleiotropic Effects in the Probiotic Propionibacterium freudenreichii CIRM-BIA 129. Front. Microbiol. 9:1807. doi: 10.3389/fmicb.2018.01807 ¹ Departamento de Biologia Geral, Instituto de Ciências Biológicas, Universidade Federal de Minas Gerais, Belo Horizonte, Brazil, ² Institut National de la Recherche Agronomique, UMR1253 Science & Technologie du Lait & de l'Oeuf, Rennes, France, ³ Agrocampus Ouest, UMR1253 Science & Technologie du Lait & de l'Oeuf, Rennes, France, ⁴ Instituto de Biotecnología, CICVyA - Instituto Nacional de Tecnología Agropecuaria, Hurlingham, Argentina, ⁵ Consejo Nacional de Investigaciones Científicas y Técnicas, Buenos Aires, Argentina, ⁶ AQUACEN, Escola de Veterinária, Universidade Federal de Minas Gerais, Belo Horizonte, Brazil, ⁷ Departamento de Biointeração do Instituto de Ciências da Saúde, Universidade Federal da Bahia, Salvador, Brazil, ⁸ Centro de Biotecnologia, Universidade Federal da Paraíba, João Pessoa, Brazil

Propionibacterium freudenreichii is a beneficial Gram-positive bacterium, traditionally used as a cheese-ripening starter, and currently considered as an emerging probiotic. As an example, the P. freudenreichii CIRM-BIA 129 strain recently revealed promising immunomodulatory properties. Its consumption accordingly exerts healing effects in different animal models of colitis, suggesting a potent role in the context of inflammatory bowel diseases. This anti-inflammatory effect depends on surface layer proteins (SLPs). SLPs may be involved in key functions in probiotics, such as persistence within the gut, adhesion to host cells and mucus, or immunomodulation. Several SLPs coexist in P. freudenreichii CIRM-BIA 129 and mediate immunomodulation and adhesion. A mutant P. freudenreichii CIRM-BIA $129\Delta slpB$ (CB129 $\Delta slpB$) strain was shown to exhibit decreased adhesion to intestinal epithelial cells. In the present study, we thoroughly analyzed the impact of this mutation on cellular properties. Firstly, we investigated alterations of surface properties in CB129 $\Delta slpB$. Surface extractable proteins, surface charges (ζ -potential) and surface hydrophobicity were affected by the mutation. Whole-cell proteomics, using high definition mass spectrometry, identified 1,288 quantifiable proteins in the wild-type strain, i.e., 53% of the theoretical proteome predicted according to P. freudenreichii CIRM-BIA 129 genome sequence. In the mutant strain, we detected 1,252 proteins, including 1,227 proteins in common with the wild-type strain. Comparative quantitative analysis revealed 97 proteins with significant differences between wild-type and mutant strains. These proteins are involved in various cellular process like signaling, metabolism, and DNA repair and replication. Finally, in silico analysis predicted that slpB gene is not part of an operon, thus not affecting the downstream genes after gene knockout. This study, in accordance with the various roles attributed in the literature to SLPs, revealed a pleiotropic effect of a single *slpB* mutation, in the probiotic *P. freudenreichii*. This suggests that SlpB may be at a central node of cellular processes and confirms that both nature and amount of SLPs, which are highly variable within the *P. freudenreichii* species, determine the probiotic abilities of strains.

Keywords: bacteria genomic, bacteria proteomic, surface layer protein, HDMSE, shotgun proteomic

INTRODUCTION

Probiotic bacteria are defined as "living microorganisms which when administered in adequate amounts confer a health benefit on the host" (Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations and World Health Organization, 2002). This term was further used by International Scientific Association for Probiotics and Prebiotics (ISAP) (Hill et al., 2014). Clinical proofs of efficiency were indeed obtained, in the context of antibioticand Clostridium difficile-associated diarrhea (Rondanelli et al., 2017), lactose intolerance (Oak and Jha, 2018), irritable bowel syndrome (IBS) (Ford et al., 2014), and ulcerative colitis, one of the disorders that constitute Inflammatory bowel disease (IBD) (Plaza-Díaz et al., 2017). The mechanisms underpinning these effects mainly belong to three categories: (i) metabolic effects, (ii) modulation of the gut microbiota, and (iii) probiotic/host molecular interactions. Although lactobacilli and bifidobacteria were mainly considered for probiotic usage, promising effects were also reported for dairy propionibacteria (Rabah et al., 2017).

The probiotic properties of dairy propionibacteria are strain-dependent and include microbiota modulation, apoptosis modulation in colonic cells and immunomodulation. Some of these probiotic abilities were validated at the clinical level. Microbiota modulation by dairy propionibacteria result in a bifidogenic effect (Roland et al., 1998; Seki et al., 2004; Suzuki et al., 2006). The corresponding molecular mechanisms were elucidated, and two molecules are shown to be involved in bifidogenic effect: 1,4-dihydroxy-2-naphtoic acid (DHNA) and 2-amino-3-carboxy-1,4-naphthoquinone (ACNQ) (Isawa et al., 2002; Furuichi et al., 2006). The pro-apoptotic effect of dairy propionibacteria was evidenced using in vitro cellular models (Jan et al., 2002) and animals models (Lan et al., 2008). This effect is mainly due to the production of the short chain fatty acids (SCFA) acetate and propionate by dairy propionibacteria (Lan et al., 2007; Cousin et al., 2016). The anti-inflammatory effect was suggested in IBD patients (Mitsuyama et al., 2007) and confirmed in animal colitis models (Foligné et al., 2010; Plé et al., 2015, 2016). Immunomodulatory properties are due to several metabolites as SCFAs and to cells wall component (Rabah et al., 2017). Indeed, surface proteins considered as microorganism-associated molecular patterns (MAMP) play a pivotal role in interaction with host's immune system (Deutsch et al., 2012; Le Maréchal et al., 2015). This includes SlpB and SlpE, surface proteins anchored to the cell wall via surfacelayer homology (SLH) domains (Deutsch et al., 2017; do Carmo et al., 2018). Indeed, mutation of *slpB* and *slpE* genes clearly affected the immunomodulatory properties of P. freudenreichii (Deutsch et al., 2017). We have recently shown that SlpB is involved both in immunomodulation and in adhesion to cultured human intestinal epithelial cells (do Carmo et al., 2017).

In probiotic bacteria, extractable surface proteins play several role in bacterium/host interaction, protection against environmental stresses, inhibition of pathogens, survival within the host digestive tract, and determination or maintenance of cell shape (Hynönen and Palva, 2013; do Carmo et al., 2018). In this study, we investigated the impact of *slpB* gene mutation on the physiology of *P. freudenreichii* CIRM-BIA 129 using a proteomic approach. In this purpose, we investigated alterations in extractable surface proteins and in the whole-cell proteome. We compared wild-type CIRM-BIA 129 with mutant CB129 Δ *slpB*. We report pleiotropic effects of this single mutation on physicochemical properties of this propionibacteria.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Bacterial Strains and Culture Conditions

The wild-type *P. freudenreichii* CIRM-BIA 129 (WT) strain and genetically modified *P. freudenreichii* CIRM-BIA 129 $\Delta slpB$ strain (CB129 $\Delta slpB$) (do Carmo et al., 2017) were grown at 30°C in Yeast Extract Lactate (YEL) broth (Malik et al., 1968). For the CB129 $\Delta slpB$, YEL culture media were supplemented with chloramphenicol (10 µg.mL⁻¹). The growth of *P. freudenreichii* strains was monitored spectrophotometrically by measuring the optical density at 650 nm (OD_{650 nm}), as well as by counting colony-forming units (CFUs) in YEL medium containing 1.5% agar. *P. freudenreichii* strains were harvested in a stationary phase (76 h, 2 × 10⁹ CFU.mL⁻¹, determined by plate counts) by centrifugation (8,000 × g, 10 min, 4°C).

Inventory of Extractable Surface Proteins Using Guanidine Hydrochloride and MS/MS

Proteins were guanidine-extracted, trypsinolysed and subjected to mass spectrometry (Le Maréchal et al., 2015). Peptides were separated by Nano-LC-MS/MS using a Dionex U3000-RSLC nano-LC system fitted to a Qexactive mass spetrometer (Thermo Scientific, San Jose, CA, USA) equipped with a nanoelectrospray ion source (ESI) (Proxeon Biosystems A/S, Odense, Denmark). Peptides were identified from MS/MS spectra using the X!Tandem pipeline 3.4.3 software (Langella et al., 2017) for search into two concatenated databases: (i) a homemade database containing all the predicted proteins of the *P. freudenreichii* CIRM-BIA 129 used in this study and (ii) a portion of the UniProtKB database corresponding to taxonomy 754252: *P. freudenreichii* subsp. *shermanii* (strain ATCC 9614/CIP 103027/CIRM-BIA1).

Zeta Potential Analysis

Electrophoretic mobility (zeta potential) was determined according to the well-described protocol of Schär-Zammaretti and Ubbink (2003). Bacteria were harvested from a 5 mL stationary phase culture by centrifugation ($8.000 \times g$, 10 min, room temperature) and washed twice with a PBS buffer pH 7.0. Cell count of the final suspensions was approximately 10^8 CFU/ml. The pellet was resuspended in a 10 mM KH₂PO₄ solution (pH 7.0). The electrophoretic mobility was measured by using a ZetaSizer nanoZS (Malvern Instruments, Malvern, United Kingdom) and a glass capillary Zetasizer Nanoseries DTS 1061 (Malvern Instruments, Malvern, United Kingdom) as the electrophoretic cell. Electrophoretic mobilities were converted to the ζ -potential using the Helmholtz-Smoluchowski equation (Schär-Zammaretti and Ubbink, 2003). All experiments were done in biological and technical triplicates.

Cell Surface Hydrophobicity Analysis

The Microbial Adhesion To Hydrocarbons (MATH) assay was performed as described by Kos et al. (2003). The optical density of the stationary phase bacteria was adjusted to an $OD_{650 nm} = 1$. The samples were centrifuged for 5 min, 10,000 × g at room temperature and the pellets washed twice with the same volume of PBS pH 7.0 prior to resuspension in 15 mL of 0.1M KNO₃, pH 6.2. An aliquot of each bacterial suspension (4 ml) was mixed with 1 mL of the solvent (Xylene, chloroform and ethyl acetate), incubated for 5 min at room temperature and mixed by vortex during 120 s. Subsequently, samples were incubated during 60 min to allow phases separation, the aqueous phase was carefully removed and absorbance ($OD_{600 nm}$) was determined as above. Cell surface hydrophobicity in terms of per cent (H %) was calculated using the following formula: H % = (1-A1/A0) × 100. All experiments were done in biological and technical triplicates.

Transmission Electron Microscopy Assay

Cultures were grown on YEL medium to an $OD_{650 nm}$ of 1. Transmission electron microscopy was executed after bacteria were washed with PBS and fixed overnight at 4°C in 0.1 M sodium cacodylate buffer (pH 7.2) containing 2% glutaraldehyde. Fixed bacteria were rinsed and stored at 4°C in cacodylate buffer containing 0.2 M sucrose. They were then postfixed with 1% osmium tetroxide containing 1.5% potassium cyanoferrate and 2% uranyl acetate in water before gradual dehydration in ethanol (30% to 100%) and embedding in Epon. Thin sections (70 nm) were collected on 200-mesh cooper grids and counterstained with lead citrate before examination. The thickness of the cell wall was determined using the imageJ software in both strains analyzed by Transmission Electron Microscopy (TEM) as described (Foligné et al., 2010; Deutsch et al., 2012).

Stress Conditions Challenge

P. freudenreichii strains in stationary phase were subjected to lethal doses of different stresses. The acid challenge was carried out at pH 2.0 for 1 h as described (Jan et al., 2000). The bile salts stress was induced by adding 1.0 g/l of bile salts for 60 s as described (Leverrier et al., 2003). For the thermic stress, bacteria were heated for 30 min at 63° C. Viable cells were determined

by serial dilutions of samples made up in peptone water (0.1% bacteriological peptone, Kasvi, Brazil), adjusted to pH 7.0 and containing 0.9% NaCl, into YEL medium containing 1.5% agar. CFU were counted after 6 days of anoxic incubation at 30° C (Anaerocult[®] A - Merck Millipore). All experiments were done in biological and technical triplicates.

Whole-Cell Protein Extraction and Preparation of Total Bacterial Lysates

The optical density of the stationary phase bacteria was adjusted to an $OD_{650 nm} = 1$. The cultures were centrifuged for 5 min, 10,000 \times g at room temperature and the bacterial pellets from biological triplicates were resuspended in 1 mL of lysis buffer containing 42% urea, 15% thiourea, 4% SDC (sodium deoxycholate), 12.5 mM Tris-HCl pH 7.5 and 1.5% dithiothreitol (DTT) with 10 µL of protease inhibitor (GE HealthCare, Pittsburgh, USA). Next, whole-cell proteins were extracted as described (Silva et al., 2014) and quantified by Qubit 2.0 fluorometer (Invitrogen, Carlsbad, USA). 100 µg of each protein extract were denatured with 0.2% of RapiGest SF solution (Waters, Milford, USA) at 80°C for 15 min, reduced with 100 mM DTT at 60°C for 30 min, and alkylated with 300 mM iodoacetamide at room temperature in a dark room for 30 min (Leibowitz et al., 2017). Subsequently, proteins were enzymatically digested with 10 μ l of trypsin at 0.5 μ g. μ L⁻¹ (Promega, Madison, USA), and the digestion stopped with the addition of 10 µL of 5% trifluoroacetic acid (TFA) (Sigma Aldrich, Saint Louis, USA) (Silva et al., 2017). Tryptic peptides were subjected to SDC removal (Lin et al., 2010), desalted using C18 MacroSpin Columns (Harvard Apparatus, Holliston, USA), according to the manufacturer's instructions, and dried under vacuum in the EppendorfTM VacufugeTM Concentrator (Eppendorf, Hamburg, Germany) (Wong et al., 2013). Prior to injection, the peptides were resuspended in 20 mM ammonium formate (Sigma Aldrich) and transferred to Waters Total Recovery vials (Waters).

LC-HDMS^E Analysis and Data Processing

Quantitative proteomics analyses were conducted Ultra-Performance with Bidimensional Nano Liquid Chromatography (nanoUPLC) tandem Nano Electrospray High Definition Mass Spectrometry (nanoESI-HDMS^E) both using a 1-h reverse-phase (RP) gradient from 7 to 40% (v/v) acetonitrile (0.1% v/v formic acid) and a 500 nL.min⁻¹ nanoACQUITY UPLC 2D Technology system (Waters) (Gilar et al., 2005). A nanoACQUITY UPLC High Strength Silica (HSS) T3 1.8 μ m, 75 μ m \times 150 mm column (pH 3) was used in conjunction with a RP Acquity UPLC Nano Ease XBridge BEH130 C18 5 μ m, 300 μ m \times 50 mm nanoflow column (pH 10) (Silva et al., 2017). Typical on-column sample loads were 500 ng of total protein digests for each sample of the 5 fractions (500 ng per fraction/load).

The measurements for all samples by mass spectrometer was operated in resolution mode with a typical m/z resolving power of at least 25,000 Full Width at Half Maximum (FWHM) and an ion mobility cell that was filled with helium gas and a cross-section resolving power at least 40 $\Omega/\Delta \Omega$. The effective

resolution with the conjoined ion mobility was 25,000 FWHM. Analyses were performed using nano-electrospray ionization in positive ion mode nanoESI (+) and a NanoLock-Spray (Waters) ionization source. The lock mass channel was sampled every 30 s. The mass spectrometer was calibrated with an MS/MS spectrum of [Glu1]-Fibrinopeptide B human (Glu-Fib) solution (100 fmol. μ L⁻¹) that was delivered through the reference sprayer of the NanoLock-Spray source. The double-charged ion ([M + 2H]²⁺ = 785.8426) was used for initial single-point calibration, and MS/MS fragment ions of Glu-Fib were used to obtain the final instrument calibration.

The multiplexed data-independent acquisition (DIA) scanning with added specificity and selectivity of a non-linear "T-wave" ion mobility (HDMS^E) device was performed with a Synapt G2-Si HDMS mass spectrometer (Waters) (Giles et al., 2011). Synapt G2-Si HDMS was automatically planned to switch between standard MS (3 eV) and elevated collision energies HDMS^E (19–45 eV) applied to the transfer "T-wave" collision-induced dissociation cell with nitrogen gas. The trap collision cell was adjusted to 1 eV, using a millisecond scan time that was previously adjusted based on the linear velocity of the chromatographic peak that was delivered through nanoACQUITY UPLC (Waters). A minimum of 20 scan points was generated for each single peak, both in low-energy and high-energy transmission at an orthogonal acceleration time-of-flight (oa-TOF) and a mass range from m/z 50 to 2,000.

Mass spectrometric analysis of tryptic peptides was performed using a mass spectrometer equipped with a T-Wave-IMS device (Waters) in MS^E mode following the method previously described (Distler et al., 2014). Stoichiometric measurements based on scouting runs of the integrated total ion account prior to analysis were performed to ensure standardized molar values across all samples. Therefore, the tryptic peptides of each strain were injected with the same amount on the column. The radio frequency (RF) offset (MS profile) was adjusted such that the nanoESI-HDMS^E data were effectively acquired from m/z 400 to 2000, which ensured that any masses less than m/z 400 that were observed in the high energy spectra with arose from dissociations in the collision cell (Silva et al., 2017).

The mass spectrometry proteomics data have been deposited to the ProteomeXchange Consortium via the PRIDE (Vizcaíno et al., 2016) partner repository with the dataset identifier PXD009804.

Proteins Identification and Quantification

HDMS^E raw data were processed using Progenesis QI for Proteomics (QIP) v.2.0 (Nonlinear Dynamics, Newcastle, UK) as described by Kuharev et al. (2015). For proteins identification, the peptides were searching against a *P. freudenreichii* strain CIRM-BIA 129 database as described above. The reversed sequences were joined together to the original sequences using ProteinLynx Global Server (PLGS) v 3.0.2 (Waters) database management tool. The reversed sequences were used to calculate the false positive rate during identification process. Next, the following parameters were used for peptide identification: digest reagent = trypsin; maximum missed cleavage = one; maximum protein mass = 600 kDa; modifications: carbamidomethyl of cysteine (fixed), acetyl N-terminal (variable), phosphoryl (variable), oxidation of methionine (variable); search tolerance parameters: peptide tolerance = 10 ppm, fragment tolerance = 20 ppm, maximum false discovery rate (FDR) = 1%.

The protein-level quantitation was performed with Relative Quantitation using Hi-N algorithm. Proteins identified with at least two peptides and presents in at least two of the three biological replicates were considered (Silva et al., 2014). The proteins list was exported by the function "export protein measurements" and was used to subsequent bioinformatics analysis. Proteins were considered to be differentially expressed between mutant and wild type if there were a significant (p < 0.05, ANOVA) change in expression ≥ 2 -fold (log2 ratio ≥ 1.0). A volcano plot was generated to visualize the differentially expressed proteins across these strains.

Extraction of Genomic DNA of the CB129∆*slpB* Strain

Genomic DNA was extracted from CB129 $\Delta slpB$ culture grown in YEL medium supplemented with chloramphenicol (10 µg ml⁻¹), during the phase (76 h at 30°C). Samples was centrifuged at 4°C and 8,000 × g for 10 min. Bacterial pellets were resuspended in 1 ml Tris/EDTA/RNase [10 mM Tris/HCl (pH 7.0), 10 mM EDTA (pH 8.0), 300 mM NaCl, 50 µg RNase A ml⁻¹] with 50 mg of Glass beads VK01 and cell lysis occurred in Precellys[®]24 by 2 cylces of 15 s at 6,500 rpm. DNA was purified using phenol/chloroform/isoamyl alcohol and precipitated with ethanol according with Sambrook and Russell (2001). DNA concentrations were determined spectrophotometrically in Thermo Scientific NanoDrop 1000.

Genome Sequencing, Assembly and Annotation of the CB129 Δ *slpB* Strain

CB129 Δ *slpB* strain sequencing libraries were constructed using 100 ng of genomic DNA. The gDNA was sheared with the Ion ShearTM Plus Reagents Kit and barcoded using the Ion Xpress Fragment Library kit and Ion XpressTM Barcode Adapters (Life Technologies, USA), according to the manufacturer's protocol. Size selection of \sim 400 bp was performed with 2% E-Gel[®] SizeSelectTM Agarose Gels (Invitrogen, USA) and quantified with the Ion Library Quantitation Kit. The libraries were amplified with the OneTouch Template 400 kit on the Ion One TouchTM 2 (Life Technologies) and enriched on the Ion OneTouchTM ES (Life Technologies). Genomic libraries were enriched using Ion PITM Hi-QTM Sequencing Polymerase in the Ion 318TM v2 Chip, according to the manufacturer's protocols, and they were sequenced using Ion Torrent Personal Genome Machine (PGM). The amplification processes were performed using Ion PGMTM Hi-QTM Sequencing 400 Polymerase with required 1,100 flows. Finally, signal processing was performed using Torrent Suite 4.2.1 to conclude the sequencing process.

De novo assembly was conducted using the software Newbler v 2.9 (Roche 454, USA). The assembled contigs were oriented to generate a scaffold using CONTIGuator v 2.7 (Galardini et al., 2011) and the strains *P. freudenreichii* CIRM-BIA 1 (<u>FN806773.1</u>) and *P. freudenreichii* JS17 (<u>LT618789</u>) as reference.

The *P. freudenreichii* CIRM-BIA 1 strain (without the *slpB* gene) was used for comparative analysis as it is a reference from INRA strain collection strain and P. freudenreichii JS17 strain was used due to the presence of the s-layer gene slpB. CLC Genomics Workbench 7.0 (Qiagen, USA) was used to map the raw reads against the reference genome and to generate the consensus sequence used to the gap filling. The plasmid that integrated within and disrupted the *slpB* gene was not found in the scaffold, but its sequence was found within the contigs that were excluded during the scaffold generation. It was manually inserted to the scaffold by mapping its ends on the *slpB* gene and using the overlap sequences as coordinates for the insertion. The insertion was validated by mapping the reads on the assembly and checking for mismatches on the regions flanking the plasmid. The genome of CB129 Δ *slpB* strain was annotated automatically using RAST pipeline (Aziz et al., 2008; Brettin et al., 2015).

Bioinformatics Analyses

The predicted proteins of CB129 $\Delta slpB$ and WT strain were analyzed using the SurfG+ v1.0 tool (Barinov et al., 2009) to predict sub-cellular localization. It enabled the classification of proteins within the following categories: cytoplasmic (CYT), membrane (MEM), potentially surface-exposed (PSE) and secreted (SEC). The prediction of orthologous groups by functional category the sequences was performed using Cluster of Orthologous Genes (COG) database version 2014db (Galperin et al., 2015). The COG database search was performed using an in-house script (available at https://github.com/aquacen/blast cog). The number of predicted proteins in relation to subcellular localization and functional category were visualized in plots generated using TIBCO SpotFire software 7.0 (TIBCO, Boston, USA) from the protein list exported of QIP. The Interactivenn web-based tool (Heberle et al., 2015) was used to evaluate the shared proteins among strains through Venn diagram.

Protein-protein interaction (PPI) network was constructed using interolog mapping methodology and metrics according to Folador et al. (2014). To generate a preview of the interaction network was generated using Cytoscape version 2.8.3 (Shannon et al., 2003) with a spring-embedded layout. To indicate the reliability of our predicted PPIs in the database STRING, the network was selected using the score 500 (0.5). In the PPI network, the interactions with score close to 500 are with red or yellow lines and, above 700 in dark green lines. The score indicating how much the pair of proteins in the interaction is similar (homologous) to the interaction according to the database. In the PPI, they interact with at least 65% identity with at least 65% coverage.

A circular map comparing the chromosome of CB129 $\Delta slpB$ with *P. freudenreichii* CIRM-BIA 1 and JS17 strains was generated using BLAST Ring Image Generator(BRIG) software v0.95 (Alikhan et al., 2011). Operon prediction in CB129 $\Delta slpB$ strain was performed using FGENESB (http://www.softberry. com).

Statistical Analyses

Growth curve, MATH assay, Zeta potential measure, and stress challenges were performed with three technical replicates and

three biological replicates. The results were expressed as means \pm standard deviations. Statistical analyses were performed in GraphPad Prism Software version 7 (GraphPad Software) using Student's *t*-test, one-way or two-way ANOVA with SIDAK's or Tukey *post-hoc* analyses for multiple comparisons. Asterisks represent statistically significant differences and were indicated as follows: *p < 0.05; **p < 0.01; ***p < 0.001.

RESULTS

Impact of *slpB* Mutation on *P. freudenreichii* Extractable Surface Proteins

SLPs play a key role in probiotic/host interactions and we have shown that such interactions are impaired in an *slpB* mutant. Electrophoretic analysis of guanidine extracts confirmed the disappearance of the corresponding SlpB protein (do Carmo et al., 2017). In the present study, we further investigated these extractable fractions in order to decipher the impact of such a single mutation on the inventory of SLPs, and more widely, of extractable surface proteins, including surface layer associated proteins (SLAPs). Using nanoLC-MS/MS, we identified 40 surface extractable proteins in CB129 $\Delta slpB$ strain, yet 33 in the parental wild-type CIRM BIA 129 one (Table 1). The core of extractable proteins, non-covalently bound to the cell wall, common to mutant and parental strains, was composed of 23 proteins, including solute-binding protein of the ABC transport system (BopA), internalin A (InlA), surface protein with SLH Domain E (SlpE), and surface-Laver Protein A (SlpA). Moreover, it comprised a series of cytoplasmic proteins involved in different biological processes like Heat shock 70 kDa protein 1 (HSP70 1), Clp chaperone, GroL1 and GroL2, Elongation factor Tu, and subunits of Methylmalonyl-CoA mutase and subunits of Methylmalonyl-CoA carboxytransferase. Among extractable proteins specific of the CB129 Δ *slpB*, we identified proteins involved in metabolic processes like Coenzyme A transferase involved in acetyl-CoA metabolic process and Pyruvate phosphate dikinase Pyruvate synthase involved in pyruvate metabolic process. Furthermore, this specific subset also comprised another protein involved in stress response (HSP70 2). As expected, the SlpB protein was found only in the parental wild type CIRM BIA 129, yet not in the CB129 Δ *slpB* mutant.

Impact of *slpB* Mutation on *P. freudenreichii* ζ-Potential and Cell Surface Hydrophobicity

Propionibacterial SLPs, with a low isoelectric point, confer negative charges to the cell surface. In order to identify if the net surface charge was altered in the mutant strain, we conducted ζ -potential and cell surface hydrophobicity assays in both strains. As shown in the **Figure 1A**, the WT strain exhibited a zeta potential of -21.73 ± 1.63 mV, reflecting a negative net charge, in accordance with the low isoelectric point of *P. freudenreichii* SlpB protein. By contrast, mutation of *slpB* gene significantly affected the zeta potential of the CB129 Δ *slpB* strain, which

identified in the extraction of surface proteins non-covalently bound to the cell wall using guanidine hydrochloride of CB 129 wild-type and CB129Δs/pB strains ¹ .	
ABLE 1 Proteins	
Ψ Τ	

Strain									220				2	ndiespezino		
Group ID ^a	Sub-group ID ^b	locus_tag	Protein description ^c	SurfG+ ^d	COG letter ^e	MW ^f	log(e- value) ^g	Coverage ^h	Uniques	i Specific uniques ^j	Uniques ⁱ Specific emPAI ^k uniques ^j	log(e- value) ^g	Coverage ^h Uniques ⁱ Specific emPAI ^k uniques ^j	Uniques	ⁱ Specific uniques ^j	emPAI ^k
al	a1.a1	PFCIRM129_05460	Surface protein with SLH domain (S-layer protein E)	SEC	0	59.2	- 125.6	50	19	18	47.3	- 138.8	55	18	17	41.8
a1	a1.a2	PFCIRM129_00700	Surface layer protein B (S-layer protein B)	SEC	0	56.8	-263.2	74	34	33	37274.9	I	I	I	I	I
al	a1.a3	PFCIRM129_09350	Surface layer protein A (S-layer protein A)	SEC	0	58.3	-174.3	75	24	23	16.0	-143.5	68	22	21	9.0
a2	a2.a1	PFCIRM129_12235	Internaline A	SEC	S	145.5	-464.8	67	53	I	89.1	-426.3	65	49	I	42.3
a3	a3.a1	PFCIRM129_03680 & PFCIRM129_03685	MERGED=TRUE	I	I	95.9	-186.7	43	18	I	283.8	-196.6	47	20	I	431.9
a4	a4.a1	PFCIRM129_10100	60 kDa chaperonin 2 (Protein Cpn60 2) (groEL protein 2) (Heat shock protein 60 2)	CYT	0	56.4	-82.5	80	13	I	5.3	-112.6	49	7	I	14.8
a5	a5.a1	PFCIRM129_07835	60 kDa chaperonin 1 (Protein Cpn60 1) (groEL protein 1) (Heat shock protein 60 1)	CYT	0	50	-89.2	80	10	I	2.2	-134.7	90	21	I	7.5
a6	a6.a1	PFCIRM129_06355	Chaperone clpB 2 (ATP-dependent Clp protease B2) (Clp chaperone)	CYT	0	94.2	-39.6	19	10	0	1.2	-103.0	59	7	I	3.0
a7	a7.a1	PFCIRM129_06315	Chaperone protein dnaK 1 (Heat shock protein 70 1) (Heat shock 70 kDa protein 1) (HSP70 1)	СЧТ	0	65.3	-24.0	13	Q		0.6	-61.2	34	-1 01	12	3.00 3.00
a7	a7.a2	PFCIRM129_08775	Chaperone protein dnaK 2 (Heat shock protein 70 2) (Heat shock 70 kDa protein 2) (HSP70 2)	CYT	0	67.1	I	1	1	I	I	-43.7	23	10	~	2.0
a9	a9.a1	PFCIRM129_08275	Elongation factor Tu	СУТ	J	43.6	-43.7	33	7	I	2.0	-32.4	28	7	I	3.4
b11	b11.a1	PFCIRM129_11405	30S ribosomal protein S1	СЧТ	٦	53.5	-5.4	7	N	I	0.3	-58.9	27	œ	I	1.6
b12	b12.a1	PFREUD_01840	Pyruvate synthase/Pyruvate- flavodoxin oxidoreductase	СЧТ	0	136.4	I	I	I	I	I	-67.5	16	4	I	L i
b13	b13.a1	PFCIRM129_10305	Methylmalonyl-CoA carboxytransferase 5S subunit. (transcarboxylase 5S) 505 bp	CYT	0	55.5	-23.3	16	Ŋ	I	0.7	-37.1	53	o	I	1.8
b14	b14.a1	PFCIRM129_06950	Trigger factor (TF)	сут	0	57.3	-8.3	9	N	I	0.3	-36.7	20	9	I	2.0

Byte-JoneResultantRestrictioneSurfactStateConstraineStateStateStateStateStateState10:10:10:10:10:10:10:10:10:10:10:10:10:1	Strain								Wild-type	ype				CB	CB129∆slpB		
UFGJAI FEGMATEGATOR Merinymetry-Code mutate may accompany Code mutate and Sector mutate Merinymetry-Code mutate and Sector mutate and S	Group ID ^a	Sub-group ID ^b			SurfG+ ^d	COG letter ^e	МW ^f	log(e- value) ^g	Coverage ^h		ⁱ Specific uniques ^j	emPAI ^k	log(e- value) ^g	Coverage ^h		Specific uniques ^j	emPAI ^k
Initial Fromming. Fromming. Control Cut Cit Cit <thc< td=""><td>D 15</td><td>b15.a1</td><td>PFCIRM129_07240</td><td>Methylmalonyl-CoA mutase large subunit (Methylmalonyl-CoA mutase alpha subunit) (MCM-alpha) (MUTB-(B)-2-Methyl-3- oxopropanoyl-CoA CoA-carbonylmutase)</td><td>CYT</td><td>_</td><td>80.1</td><td>- 15.6</td><td>~</td><td>4</td><td>I</td><td>0.4</td><td>938 138 13 13 13 13 13 13 13 13 13 13 13 13 13</td><td>ر ب</td><td>ω</td><td>1</td><td>1.0</td></thc<>	D 15	b15.a1	PFCIRM129_07240	Methylmalonyl-CoA mutase large subunit (Methylmalonyl-CoA mutase alpha subunit) (MCM-alpha) (MUTB-(B)-2-Methyl-3- oxopropanoyl-CoA CoA-carbonylmutase)	CYT	_	80.1	- 15.6	~	4	I	0.4	938 138 13 13 13 13 13 13 13 13 13 13 13 13 13	ر ب	ω	1	1.0
Initial FFCIMI129_10735 Merivation/Continues between/Continues C/I C	16	b16.a1	PFCIRM129_06070	Enolase 1	СЧТ	G	45.9	-26.5	20	Ð	I	1.1	-41.5	25	7	I	1.7
013.11 FCGRM722_10160 Immediate CM C 57.2 -26.1 18 6 1 -16.7 8 3 1 D20.41 PFCIM122_08570 Conventinersci. EC M 58.7 -51.6 22 8 -17 -95.6 6 2 2 - D21.41 PFCIM122_08500 Rependent protein CM C 59.7 -51.6 22 8 -17 -95.6 6 2 -<	17	b17.a1	PFCIRM129_07235	Methylmalonyl-CoA mutase small subunit (Methylmalonyl-CoA mutase beta subunit) (MCB-beta)	СҮТ	_	69.5	-16.2	o	4	I	0.4	-59.4	26	J	I	1.2
D2141 FCIMI129.08670 Celvand pertictaes, Nocomportant science EC M B37 -51.6 22 B -17 -95 6 2 2 1 D2141 FFCIMI129.08600 FOD-represent priviles indoreductascaFF44S C 59.7 -7 -7 -6 20 8 -7 -7 D2141 FFCIMI129.0800 FOD-represent priviles CT C 74.7 -17.1 5 -6 2 -6 2 -6 2 -6 2 -6 -6 2 -7 -7 -7 -7 20 8 -7 -7 -7 -7 20 8 -7 -7 -7 1 20 8 -7 -7 -7 20 8 -7 -7 1 20 8 -7 -7 1 1 -7 1 20 1 20 1 -7 1 -7 1 20 1 20 20 1 1 20 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1	19	b19.a1	PFCIRM129_10180	Iron-sulfur protein	CYT	0	57.2	-26.1	18	9	I	1.1	-16.7	80	Ю	I	0.4
D21a1 FFGIM129.08300 FAD-dependent pyridies CVT C 50.7 -	50	b20.a1	PFCIRM129_08670	Cell-wall peptidases, NlpC/P60 family SEC protein	SEC	Σ	58.7	-51.6	22	ω	I	1.7	-9.5	Q	2	I	0.4
$D2.a1$ FCIRM129_00205Succinate dehydrogenaseCYTC 7.47 -17.1 5 3 -1 0.3 -20.8 6 4 -1 $b23.a1$ PFCIRM129_00461NADH-auroneCYTC 84.8 -22.3 6 3 -2 0.3 -20.8 6 -2	21	b21.a1	PFCIRM129_09300	FAD-dependent pyridine nucleotide-disulphide oxidoreductase:4Fe-4S ferredoxin, iron-sulfur binding: Aromatic-ring hydroxylase	CY	0	59.7	I	I	I	I	I	-42.1	20	ω	I	1:2
b23.31 FCIRM129_08495 NDH-quinone CYT C 84.8 -22.3 6 3 - 0.2 -28.3 9 5 - NADH dehydrogenase 1, chain (3) exidoreductase chain (3) chain (3) exidoreductase chain (3) chain (3) E 0.2 35.9 -28.3 6 3 - 0.2 -28.3 9 5 - b24.a1 PFCIRM129.09980 Peptifylmoly cistrans SEC 0 35.9 -23.0 22 4 - 56 -11.5 7 2 - b25.a1 PFCIRM129_10295 Methylmoloyt-CoA CYT 1 56.3 -31.2 11 5 7 2 7 3 - b25.a1 PFCIRM129_11200 Giveratese 12S subunit (FC2.1.3.1) iTarescriboxylase 12S -31.2 11 5 - 0.7 -15.2 7 3 - b26.a1 PFCIRM129_11300 Giveratese 12S - - 0.7 -15.2 7 3 <td< td=""><td>22</td><td>b22.a1</td><td>PFCIRM129_00205</td><td>Succinate dehydrogenase flavoprotein subunit</td><td>CYT</td><td>O</td><td>74.7</td><td>-17.1</td><td>Q</td><td>က</td><td>I</td><td>0.3</td><td>-20.8</td><td>Q</td><td>4</td><td>I</td><td>0.5</td></td<>	22	b22.a1	PFCIRM129_00205	Succinate dehydrogenase flavoprotein subunit	CYT	O	74.7	-17.1	Q	က	I	0.3	-20.8	Q	4	I	0.5
b24.a1 PFCIRM129_09990 Peptidy-prokl cis-trans SEC 0 35.9 -23.0 22 4 - 5.8 -11.5 7 2 - b25.a1 PFCIRM129_10295 Methylmalonyl-CoA CYT 1 56.3 -31.2 11 5 - 0.7 -15.2 7 3 - b25.a1 PFCIRM129_10295 Methylmalonyl-CoA CYT 1 56.3 -31.2 11 5 - 0.7 -15.2 7 3 - b26.a1 PCIRM129_11300 Glyceratboxylase 12S submit, 610 bp - - 0.7 -15.2 7 3 -	53	b23.a1	PFCIRM129_08495	NADH-quinone oxidoreductase chain G (NADH dehydrogenase I, chain G)	CYT	0	84.8	-22.3	Q	ო	I	0.2		o	Q	I	0.4
b25.a1 PFCIRM129_10295 Methylmalonyl-CoA CYT I 56.3 -31.2 11 5 - 0.7 -15.2 7 3 - carboxytransferase 12S subunit (EC2.1.3.1) (Transcarboxylase 12S) 5 - 0.7 -15.2 7 3 - b26.a1 PFCIRM129_11300 Glyceraldehyde-3- CYT G 37.7 -48.7 39 9 - <td< td=""><td>24</td><td>b24.a1</td><td>PFCIRM129_09980</td><td>Peptidyl-prolyl cis-trans isomerase</td><td>SEC</td><td>0</td><td>35.9</td><td>-23.0</td><td>22</td><td>4</td><td>I</td><td>5.8</td><td>-11.5</td><td>2</td><td>0</td><td>I</td><td>1.2</td></td<>	24	b24.a1	PFCIRM129_09980	Peptidyl-prolyl cis-trans isomerase	SEC	0	35.9	-23.0	22	4	I	5.8	-11.5	2	0	I	1.2
b26.a1 PFCIRM129_11300 Glyceraldehyde-3- CVT G 37.7 –48.7 39 9 – 2.9 – – – – – – – – – – – – – – – – – – –	25	b25.a1	PFCIRM129_10295		CYT	_	56.3	-31.2	-	Q	I	0.7	-15.2	~	ო	I	0.4
	26	b26.a1	PFCIRM129_11300	Glyceraldehyde-3- phosphate dehydrogenase / erythrose 4 phosphate dehydrogenase	СЧТ	U	37.7	-48.7	90 8	Ø	I	2.0	I	I	I	I	I

Frontiers in Microbiology | www.frontiersin.org

Strain								Wild-type	ype				CB	CB129∆ <i>slpB</i>		
Group Sul ID ^a ID ^b	Sub-group ID ^b	locus_tag	Protein description ^c	SurfG+ ^d	COG letter ^e	MWf	log(<i>e-</i> value) ^g	Coverage ^h	Uniques	Uniques ⁱ Specific emPAI ^k uniques ^j		log(e- value) ^g	Coverage ^h	Uniques ⁱ	Specific uniques ^j	emPAI ^k
b27 b27	b27.a1	PFCIRM129_05155	ATP synthase subunit alpha (ATPase subunit alpha) (ATP synthase F1 sector subunit aloha)	C T	0	58.8	6.7-	Q	N	1	0.2	-17.9	÷	Ŋ	I	0.6
b30 b3(b30.a1	PFREUD_10490	ATP synthase subunit beta (ATPase subunit beta) (ATP synthase F1 sector subunit beta)	CYT	0	52.4	-12.0	o	ო	I	0.4	-15.0	12	4	I	0.7
b31 b3	b31.a1	PFCIRM129_11080 & PFCIRM129_11085	MERGED=TRUE	I	I	35.4	I	I	I	I	I	-17.1	20	4	I	0.9
b32 b32	b32.a1	PFCIRM129_10995	Glycerol kinase (ATP:glycerol 3-phosphotransferase) (Glycerokinase) (GK)	CYT	0	55.6	I	I	I	I	I	-17.7	1	Ω	I	1.3
b33 b30	b33.a1	PFCIRM129_01440	Coenzyme A transferase (Putative succiny)-CoA or butynyl-CoA:coenzyme A transferase)	CYT	0	55.6	I	I	I	I	I	-14.5	~	ო	I	0.5
b34 b34	b34.a1	PFCIRM129_11710 & PFCIRM129_11715	MERGED=TRUE	I	I	58.8	-12.1	4	0	I	0.4	-30.6	13	Ð	I	1.2
b35 b3t	b35.a1	PFCIRM129_05730	D-lactate dehydrogenase	СЧТ	0	63.6	-9.5	6	ო	I	0.3	-14.4	11	4	I	0.4
b36 b3(b36.a1	PFCIRM129_00390	Cysteine synthase 2	СҮТ	ш	33.5	-40.2	38	9	I	1.7	I	I	I	I	I
b37 b37	b37.a1	PFCIRM129_08120	Solute binding protein of the ABC transport system	SEC	ш	61.4	-7.3	2	ო	I	0.4	-11.9	4	5	I	0.3
b38 b38	b38.a1	PFCIRM129_05105	Hypothetical protein	СҮТ	I	64	I	I	I	I	I	-17.0	10	Ŋ	I	0.6
b40 b4(b40.a1	PFCIRM129_01500	Pyruvate phosphate dikinase	СЧТ	G	95.7	I	I	i	I	I	-11.2	က	0	I	0.1
b41 b4-	b41.a1	PFCIRM129_03550	Alanine dehydrogenase	СЧТ	ш	39.3	I	I	I	I	I	-5.8	9	0	I	0.4
b43 b49	b43.a1	PFGIRM129_10420	iolA (Myo-inositol catabolism IolA protein) (Methylmalonic acid semialdehyde dehydrogenase)	CYT	0	52.7	I	I	I	I	I	-9.1	Q	0	I	0.3
b44 b44	b44.a1	PFCIRM129_08025	Resuscitation-promoting factor	SEC	_	37.7	-15.9	11	N	I	0.9	I	I	I	I	I
b45 b4	b45.a1	PFREUD_14570	Polyribonucleotide nucleotidyltransferase (Polynucleotide phosphorylase) (PNPase) (Guanosine pentaphosphate synthetase)	CYT	7	79.3	I	I	I	I	I	- 0 5	m	N	I	0.2
b46 b46	b46.a1	PFCIRM129_08280	Elongation factor G (EF-G)	СҮТ	J	76.5	I	I	I	I	I	-5.4	0	2	I	0.2

123

TABLE	TABLE 1 Continued															
Strain					I			Wild-type	be				CB1	CB129∆slpB		
Group ID ^a	Sub-group locus_tag ID ^b	locus_tag	Protein description ^c	SurfG+ ^d	COG letter ^e	MWf	log(e- value) ^g	Coverage ^h Uniques ⁱ Specific emPAI ^k uniques ^j	Uniques ⁱ S u	Specific em uniques ^j		log(<i>e</i> - C value) ^g	overage ^h	Coverage ^h Uniques ⁱ Specific emPAI ^k uniques ^j	Specific e uniques ^j	:mPAI ^k
b48	b48.a1	PFCIRM129_08935	FAD linked oxidase domain protein	CYT	U	100.4	ı	I	I	I		-18.2	IJ	m	I	0.2
b49	b49.a1	PFCIRM129_08300	DNA-directed RNA polymerase beta chain (RNAP beta subunit) (Transcriptase beta chain) (RNA polymerase subunit beta)	СЧТ	×	128.5	1	I	I	I	1	8 0 1	ო	0	I	0.1
b50	b50.a1	PFCIRM129_00200	Succinate dehydrogenase	СУТ	O	27	-8.4	10	0	1	0.6	I	I	I	I	I
b51	b51.a1	PFCIRM129_10175	Hypothetical protein	СУТ	S	23.1	-11.5	16	N	1	0.7	I	I	I	I	I
^a The Grc ^b The Su, ^c Protein ^d SurfG+ ^d SurfG+ ^d SurfG+ ^d SurfG+ ^d SurfG+ ^d SurfG+ ^d SurfG+ ^f <i>h</i> olocul, ^h <i>h</i> olocul, ^h olocul, 	⁴ The Group to which the protei ^b The Sub-Group to which the p ^c Protein description as it appea ^d SurfG+ localization prediction. ^e Cluster of Orthologous Group ^f Nucleotide metabolism and th N. Cell motility: O, Post-transla Functional Prediction only: S, F, Molecular weight of the protein ^g Protein e-value expressed in L ^g Protein e-value evalue expressed in L ^g Protein e-value evalue ev	^a The Group to which the protein belongs. All the proteins in a group have ^b The Sub-Group to which the protein belongs. All the proteins in a sub-group description as it appears in the header of the fasta file. ^c Protein description as it appears in the header of the fasta file. ^d SurfG+ localization prediction. ^d SurfG+ localization prediction. ^e Cluster of Orthologous Group category – A, RNA processing and modifiend in the first in organic ion transpressing and modifiend in the file metabolism and the modification in the interval of motility. O, Post-translational modification: P, Inorganic ion transpression and Molecular weight of the protein sequence assigned to this subgroup of protein -Percentage of protein sequence assigned to this protein. ^{The} number of unique peptide sequence specific to this subgroup of protein the Exponentially Modified Protein Abundance Index (emPAI) computation ^t The Exponentially Modified Protein Abundance Index (emPAI) computation ^t the transpression and the sequence as the force of the protein.		at least one peptide in common. oup are identified with the same cation; B, Chromatin Structure a it transport, H, Coenzyme metab ort and metabolism; Q, Seconda ort and metabolism; Q, Seconda err of times this protein would be eins. It is only available if there a eins. It is only available if there a m ((shihama et al., 2005).	the same the same Structure a me metab s. Seconda s. Seconda e if there ar	valid pepti valid pepti olis. I, Lipic iny Structu iny Structu re more th	des. tratabolis re: T, Sign andomly. C andomly. C	gy production m; J, Translati Transduction alculated as th arcup within a	and convers n; K, Transc U, Intracell e product of group.	ion; D, Cell c; nption; L, Ret llar trafficking unique peptic	cle contr lication ar and secre le e-value	ol and mitc d repair; Y, Nu tion; Y, Nu tion; Y, In tion; Y, Nu s in the sa	osis; E, Amir VI, Cell wall/ uclear struct imple.	io Acid meta membrane/ei ure; Z, Cytos	bolis and tr welope bic keleton; R,	ansport; genesis; General

was -6.75 ± 0.55 mV, showing a reduced electronegativity, in accordance with a disorganization of the S-layer at the bacterial cell surface. As shown in Figure 1B, the wild type strain also showed a high affinity to the hydrocarbons tested, whereas the CB129 Δ *slpB* mutant showed a decreased adhesion, whatever the hydrocarbon used in the assay. Adhesion, respectively to mutant and WT strains, were as follow: to Xylol, 0.33 \pm 0.52% and 43.67 \pm 6.31%, to Chloroform 16.5 \pm 10.7% and 75 \pm 5.88, and to Ethyl Acetate 5.33 \pm 7.17% and 43.83 \pm 5.74%. Cell surface properties being drastically affected, we then sought morphological changes caused by the mutation (Figure 2). Both strains exhibited a similar cell wall thickness, 24.33 ± 0.4154 nm and 24.90 \pm 0.4154 nm, respectively. No significant difference in term of bacteria morphology, cell wall thickness and shape was observed between the two strains using transmission electron microscopy.

Impact of *slpB* Mutation on *P. freudenreichii* Growth and Stress Tolerance

A single mutation, inactivating a key gene, may affect bacterial fitness and thus probiotic efficacy. We therefore monitored P. freudenreichii growth and tolerance toward acid, bile salts and heat challenges, in the wild type and in the mutant. The growth curves showed a similar pattern for both strains (Figure 3A). The bacterial count at the stationary phase end was also equivalent for both strains, with a viable population count of 1.63×10^9 CFU.mL⁻¹ and 1.75×10^9 CFU.mL⁻¹ for the wild type and the mutant strains, respectively. Tolerance toward stress challenges is reported in Figure 3B. In the case of acid stress, we observed a significant decrease in viability for the CB129 Δ *slpB* strain 0.71 \pm 0.13% (7.3 \times 10⁶ CFU.mL $^{-1}$) compared to the WT strain 5.76 \pm 1.48% (5.76 \times 10⁷ CFU.mL⁻¹). During the bile salts stress, we observed the same trend in the tolerance. Indeed, the survival rate for the CB129 $\Delta slpB$ strain was significantly decreased 0.37 \pm 0.24% (3.71 \times 10⁶ CFU.mL⁻¹), compared to the WT strain $2.19 \pm 1.01\%$ (2.19×10^7 CFU.mL⁻¹). The same stands for heat challenge, with a reduced survival in CB129 Δ *slpB* 0.71 \pm 0.16% $(9.01 \times 10^6 \text{ CFU.mL}^{-1})$ compared to WT strain 5.76 \pm 1.35% $(5.86 \times 10^7 \text{ CFU.mL}^{-1}).$

Impact of *slpB* Mutation on *P. freudenreichii* Qualitative and Quantitative Proteome

Considering the major alterations in surface extractable proteins, bacteria cell surface physicochemical properties, and stress tolerance, a qualitative and quantitative analysis of the total proteome was performed to elucidate the impact of the *slpB* gene knockout in the mutant strain. A total of 1,288 quantifiable proteins (53.26% of predicted proteome) wherein 1,253 proteins (reported in **Figure 4A**) were identified (**Table S1**). In the WT strain 1,227 proteins were found, whereas in the CB129 Δ *slpB* strain, we detected 1,252 proteins. Comparative analysis revealed a core-proteome, composed by 1,226 proteins, shared by both strains (**Figure 4A**). Differences in protein abundance were observed by proteomic quantitative analysis (**Figure 4B**). A



total of 97 proteins (4.2% of the predicted proteome) of these common proteins showed differences in the level of expression among strains, including 36 up-regulated and 61 down-regulated proteins in CB129 $\Delta slpB$ in comparison with the WT strain (**Table 2**).

According to the predicted subcellular localization of the 1,253 proteins identified, 1,081 proteins are CYT (61% of predicted proteome), 71 are MEM (18% of predicted proteome), 77 are PSE (41% of predicted proteome) and 24 are SEC (38% of predicted proteome). In the analysis of non-differentially expressed proteins, we classified 1,001 as CYT proteins, 67 as MEM proteins, 70 as PSE proteins and 22 as SEC proteins





(Figure 4C). Meanwhile, between the *P. freudenreichii* WT and the CB129 $\Delta slpB$ strains, from 97 proteins differentially expressed, the subcellular localization were predicted as follow: 81 CYT, 2 MEM, 7 PSE, and 7 SEC proteins (Figure 4C).

According to COG functional classifications, the differentially expressed proteins were classified into 20 biological processes (**Figure 5A**). A general category of differentially regulated proteins in CB129 $\Delta slpB$ strain core proteome showed 27 proteins involved in information storage and processing, 25 associated to metabolism and, 18 proteins related to cellular processes and signaling (**Figure 5A**). Proteins that mediate

different biological process were dysregulated in the mutant strain. As seen in **Figure 5B**, 11 proteins were classified as having general functions, 10 proteins related to process of replication, recombination and repair, other 10 proteins linked to posttranslational modification, chaperones, protein turnover, and 9 proteins involved in the transcription process. The differentially expressed proteins between wild-type and mutant strains detected in each functional category are shown in **Table 2**. In addition, we detected proteins exclusive to the proteome of each strain. WT strain exhibits a unique exclusive protein, the Putative carboxylic ester hydrolase, which is involved in



FIGURE 3 | Mutation of *SlpB* drastically affects stress tolerance in *P. freudenreichii* CIRM-BIA 129. **(A)** The growth curve of Wild-type (WT) and mutant CB129 Δ *slpB* strains was determined at 30°C in YEL broth until stationary phase (72 h). Growth was monitored by OD_{650 nm} as a function of time. No statistically significant difference was found in growth curve between strains. **(B)** Wild-type (WT) and mutant 129 Δ *slpB* strains were subjected to acid, bile salts and thermal challenges. Viable propionibacteria were enumerated by plate counting before and after each challenge. Asterix represent statistically significant differences between strains and were indicated as follows: **p < 0.01.

metabolism, especially in hydrolase activity. Interestingly, 27 proteins were found exclusively in the mutant strain, they are involved in several processes like metabolism and replication, recombination and repair (**Table S1**).

slpB Gene Mutagenesis and Whole-Genome Co-localization

Complete genome of CB129 Δ *slpB* (BioProject - PRJNA476583, Accession - CP030279) strain was sequenced and assembled in a circular chromosome, which exhibits a length of 2.6815.18 bp, with a G+C content of 67.28%, and a total of 2,479 CDSs, 6 rRNA genes (5S, 16S, and 23S), and 45 tRNA genes. The circular map showed a high similarity when comparing CB129 Δ *slpB* with

the CIRM-BIA 1 and the JS17 reference strains (**Figure 6A**). **Figure 6B** shows the localization of the plasmid inserted within the *slpB* gene during its knockout and **Figures S1**, **S2** shows the read mapping before and after the insertion. Genomic analyses of genetic context, i.e., the sequences upstream and downstream the *slpB* gene, confirmed that this locus is not part of an operon and thus should not affect the expression of downstream genes or upstream genes. Complete genome sequence of CB129 Δ *slpB* strain further ruled out any homologous recombination (HR) in other genome sites.

Protein-Protein Interaction (PPI)

We performed a PPI network to evaluate the interactions among the proteins differentially regulated in WT and $CB129\Delta slpB$ strains (**Figure 7**). The interactome analysis revealed 118 interactions between identified proteins. In PPI network, we observed that upregulated proteins, such as DNA-directed RNA polymerase alpha chain (PFCIRM129_08045), and 50S ribosomal protein L2 (PFCIRM129_08225), which exhibit high interaction, are involved in Transcription and Translation, respectively. Moreover, downregulated proteins such as GTP binding signal recognition particle protein (PFCIRM129_00245), DNA polymerase III alpha subunit (PFCIRM129_04260) and Enolase 2 (PFCIRM129_06035) showing high interaction, are involved in metabolism, DNA repair and main glycolytic pathway, respectively.

DISCUSSION

Propionibacterium freudenreichii CIRM-BIA 129 has emerged as a probiotic strain with a great immunomodulatory potential in the context of inflammatory bowel disease, according to promising results obtained in animal models (Plé et al., 2015, 2016). Recently, our group has studied the role of the surface SlpB protein of P. freudenreichii CIRM-BIA 129 in adhesion to the intestinal epithelial cells, a probiotic property linked to beneficial effects. Knocking-out of the slpB gene evidenced a direct involvement of this protein in the adhesion to HT-29 cells. Electrophoretic analysis of guanidine extracts confirmed the disappearance of the corresponding SlpB protein (do Carmo et al., 2017). Surface layer proteins are associated to several functions (do Carmo et al., 2018). Therefore, in order to better understand the impact of this mutation, we performed a more thorough proteomic analysis by applying nanoLC-MS/MS to these extracts. Differences were found between the parental wild type CIRM BIA 129 and the isogenic CB129 Δ *slpB* mutant strains of P. freudenreichii, in terms of surface extractable proteins. As shown in Table 1, proteins previously identified in CB 129 WT strain guanidine-extracted proteins (Le Maréchal et al., 2015) were detected in both strains, including in particular, surface proteins anchored in the peptidoglycan cell wall via surface layer homology (SLH) domains, such as SlpA, SlpB, SlpE, and InIA like as previously reported by Carmo and collaborators (do Carmo et al., 2017). However, this set of SLH domain-containing proteins was reduced in the mutant strain guanidine-extracted proteins, with the expected absence of SlpB protein, thus validating the directed mutagenesis. Analysis



of CB129 $\Delta slpB$ strain guanidine-extracted proteins, identified several proteins, including chaperones, such as ClpB, DnaK, and GroEL, and Enolase (carbohydrate metabolism) involved in stress tolerance, as previously reported for Propionibacterium ssp. strains by enzymatic shaving of the surface proteins using trypsin (Jan et al., 2000; Gagnaire et al., 2015; Huang et al., 2016). Another noticeable difference was the higher number of guanidine-extracted proteins, in the mutant strain, compared to the wild type strain. This included proteins usually described as cytoplasmic: enzymes of the central carbon metabolic pathways, such as pyruvate synthase, or the two subunits of the methylmalonyl-CoA mutase, a recognized cytoplasmic marker, previously described as an extracellular marker of autolysis (Valence et al., 2000). Interestingly, the HSP 70 cytoplasmic stress-related protein present at the surface of the mutant strain could be responsible for preventing protein denaturation. It is as such considered a factor of virulence and pathogenesis in some specific pathogens (Ghazaei, 2017), in Neisseri meingitidis (Knaust et al., 2007) and in Mycobacterium spp. (Das Gupta et al., 2008). This appeals further investigation, as it suggests a profound modification of the envelope structure and cell surface properties of the mutant strain.

SLAPs are known to determine key parameters of the surface layer of bacteria, in terms of charge and hydrophobicity (Wilson

et al., 2001). Not only amino acid residues, but also covalent modification may endow the S-layer lattice with a strong negative charge. Thus, we determined the surface charge in both *P. freudenreichii* WT and CB129 Δ *slpB* strains by measuring the zeta potential, which reflects the mobility rate of cells within an electric field. A lower negative value is reportedly linked with higher hydrophobicity, consequently improving adhesion (de Wouters et al., 2015). Likewise, considering the presence of surface proteins and their role in zeta potential, van der Mei et al. have shown that some wild type strains, like the L. acidophilus ATCC4356, with SLPs, are more negatively charged at pH 7 than strains without SLPs, such as L. johnsonii LMG9436 and L. gasseri LMG9203 (van der Mei et al., 2003). We thus further investigated the hydrophobicity of the cell surface, a parameter thought to be correlated with *in vitro* adhesion of bacteria to mucin, collagen, fibronectin, and to human epithelial cells (Duary et al., 2011). The cell surface hydrophobic and hydrophilic properties have been studied in lactic acid bacteria (Sandes et al., 2017) and can be correlated to the adhesion process to intestinal epithelial cells of apolar surface proteins (Guo et al., 2010). Using the MATH assay, we showed that the CB129 $\Delta slpB$ strain has a strongly decreased ability to adhere to xylol, as well as to chloroform and to ethyl acetate solvents, indicating a change in the global properties of the cell surface, affecting adhesion to surfaces.

TABLE 2 | Differentially regulated proteins at CB129∆*s/pB* in relation to CB 129 wild-type.

Accession	Score	Description	LOG(2) ratio fold-change	Anova (p)	COG biological process
UP-REGULATED PR	OTEINS				
PFCIRM129_09610	41.9018	Protein of unknown function	6.16	0.006	Coenzyme transport and metabolism and Signal transduction mechanisms
PFCIRM129_09540	37.0751	Protein of unknown function	5.43	0.003	Transcription
PFCIRM129_09590	102.7882	Protein of unknown function	4.53	0.002	Cell wall/membrane/envelope biogenesis
PFCIRM129_09465	51.2086	Protein of unknown function	4.33	0.005	-
PFCIRM129_09585	90.2656	Protein of unknown function	4.10	0.006	General function prediction only
PFCIRM129_04060	38.8837	Guanylate kinase, Guanosine monophosphate kinase (GMP kinase)	3.83	0.033	Nucleotide transport and metabolism
PFCIRM129_09570	44.4682	Protein of unknown function	3.69	0.003	Cell motility
PFCIRM129_07005	243.5985	DNA ligase (NAD+)	3.32	0.009	Replication, recombination and repair
PFCIRM129_01620	59.7705	Stomatin/prohibitin	2.96	0.036	Posttranslational modification, protein turnover, chaperones
PFCIRM129_10485	35.443	Spermidine synthase	2.76	0.011	Amino acid transport and metabolism
PFCIRM129_10870	30.3436	Protein of unknown function	2.09	0.033	General function prediction only
PFCIRM129_09930	56.3355	Hypothetical protein	2.06	0.004	Posttranslational modification, protein turnover, chaperones
PFCIRM129_09935	87.1427	Aldo/keto reductase	2.02	0.001	Secondary metabolites biosynthesis, transport and catabolism
PFCIRM129_08225	203.0233	50S ribosomal protein L2	1.84	0.018	Translation, ribosomal structure and biogenesis
PFCIRM129_05110	60.8023	Nuclease of the RecB family	1.80	0.039	Replication, recombination and repair
PFCIRM129_02560	52.268	Transcriptional regulator	1.61	0.041	Coenzyme transport and metabolism
PFCIRM129_08430	75.8136	Pyruvate flavodoxin/ferredoxin oxidoreductase	1.55	0.040	Energy production and conversion
PFCIRM129_09920	380.2718	Hypothetical secreted protein	1.37	0.008	Translation, ribosomal structure and biogenesis
PFCIRM129_04715	57.0906	Hypothetical protein	1.36	0.008	Signal transduction mechanisms
PFCIRM129_09175	100.5874	NAD-dependent epimerase/dehydratase	1.33	0.038	General function prediction only
PFCIRM129_12405	136.3375	UDP-glucose 4-epimerase	1.29	0.041	Cell wall/membrane/envelope biogenesis
PFCIRM129_01790	34.8378	3-dehydroquinate dehydratase	1.27	0.010	Amino acid transport and metabolism
PFCIRM129_07890	128.6333	Putative O-sialoglycoprotein endopeptidase	1.26	0.048	Translation, ribosomal structure and biogenesis
PFCIRM129_00585	212.5378	Polyphosphate glucokinase	1.24	0.048	Transcription and Carbohydrate transport and metabolism
PFCIRM129_07790	140.7785	Cysteine synthase 1	1.23	0.020	Amino acid transport and metabolism
PFCIRM129_09600	51.9916	Protein of unknown function	1.21	0.034	Replication, recombination and repair
PFCIRM129_11300	522.5826	Glyceraldehyde-3-phosphate dehydrogenase/erythrose 4 phosphate dehydrogenase	1.21	0.030	Carbohydrate transport and metabolism
PFCIRM129_00690	23.8969	Protein of unknown function	1.14	0.049	Function unknown
PFCIRM129_01510	22.4775	Carbohydrate or pyrimidine kinases PfkB family	1.14	0.040	Carbohydrate transport and metabolism
PFCIRM129_03870	27.4108	Glutamine-dependent NAD(+) synthetase	1.08	0.036	General function prediction only
PFCIRM129_00225	85.9906	16S rRNA processing protein	1.06	0.028	Translation, ribosomal structure and biogenesis
PFCIRM129_11255	221.963	Pyridoxal biosynthesis lyase pdxS	1.06	0.047	Coenzyme transport and metabolism

(Continued)

Accession	Score	Description	LOG(2) ratio fold-change	Anova (p)	COG biological process
PFCIRM129_03920	293.1815	Pyridine nucleotide-disulphide oxidoreductase	1.05	0.013	Energy production and conversion
PFCIRM129_07930	409.5736	Glucosamine-fructose-6- phosphate aminotransferase (Hexosephosphate aminotransferase, D-fructose-6-phosphate amidotransferase)	1.04	0.031	Cell wall/membrane/envelope biogenesis
PFCIRM129_11805	158.7382	Magnesium (Mg2+) transporter	1.03	0.013	Inorganic ion transport and metabolism
PFCIRM129_08045	417.9752	DNA-directed RNA polymerase alpha chain (RNAP alpha subunit) (Transcriptase alpha chain) (RNA polymerase subunit alpha)	1.01	0.004	Transcription
DOWN-REGULATED	PROTEINS				
PFCIRM129_06035	66.5616	Enolase 2	-1.09	0.010	Carbohydrate transport and metabolism
PFCIRM129_06325	41.3227	Trypsin-like serine protease	-1.13	0.015	Posttranslational modification, protein turnover, chaperones
PFCIRM129_00315	221.1159	Beta-lactamase-like:RNA- metabolizing metallo-beta-lactamase	-1.21	0.031	Translation, ribosomal structure and biogenesis
PFCIRM129_04530	19.2011	Hypothetical protein	-1.23	0.045	Function unknown
PFCIRM129_06605	17.9867	Metal-dependent hydrolase	-1.29	0.032	General function prediction only
PFCIRM129_10030	162.9893	DNA repair protein	-1.32	0.042	Replication, recombination and repair
PFCIRM129_06500	87.9342	Hypothetical protein	-1.33	0.048	Nucleotide transport and metabolism
PFCIRM129_10650	33.3856	Hypothetical protein	-1.33	0.045	Cell wall/membrane/envelope biogenesis
PFCIRM129_03835	79.2532	Pyrazinamidase/nicotinamidase	-1.37	0.019	Coenzyme transport and metabolism and Signal transduction mechanisms
PFCIRM129_10070	83.9023	Hypothetical protein	-1.39	0.024	General function prediction only
PFCIRM129_00245	381.851	GTP binding signal recognition particle protein	-1.45	0.031	Intracellular trafficking, secretion, and vesicular transport
PFCIRM129_05955	85.1759	Peptide-methionine (S)-S-oxide reductase	-1.46	0.009	Posttranslational modification, protein turnover, chaperones
PFCIRM129_09830	327.7897	Aspartyl/glutamyl-tRNA(Asn/Gln) amidotransferase subunit B (Asp/Glu-ADT subunit B)	-1.49	0.042	Translation, ribosomal structure and biogenesis
PFCIRM129_09395	77.9918	Protein of unknown function	-1.50	0.035	Replication, recombination and repair
PFCIRM129_07355	38.1315	Hypothetical protein	-1.59	0.036	Amino acid transport and metabolism
PFCIRM129_02750	19.5802	Anti-sigma factor	-1.61	0.010	Transcription
PFCIRM129_09840	37.8042	Glutamyl-tRNA(Gln) amidotransferase subunit C (Aspartyl/glutamyl-tRNA(Asn/Gln) amidotransferase subunit C)	-1.71	0.045	Translation, ribosomal structure and biogenesis
PFCIRM129_12290	113.782	Hypothetical protein	-1.73	0.023	Translation, ribosomal structure and biogenesis
PFCIRM129_02880	157.3643	Zn dependant peptidase	-1.82	0.002	General function prediction only
PFCIRM129_01675	171.214	Flavin-containing amine oxidase	-1.82	0.013	Amino acid transport and metabolism
PFCIRM129_00465	78.5201	Thiamine biosynthesis protein	-1.90	0.047	Coenzyme transport and metabolism
PFCIRM129_09980	56.8929	Peptidyl-prolyl cis-trans isomerase	-1.91	0.019	Posttranslational modification, protein turnover, chaperones
PFCIRM129_02370	174.428	L-aspartate oxidase (LASPO) (Quinolinate synthetase B)	-1.94	0.010	Coenzyme transport and metabolism

(Continued)

TABLE 2 | Continued

Accession	Score	Description	LOG(2) ratio fold-change	Anova (p)	COG biological process
PFCIRM129_05120	33.1399	Putative carboxylic ester hydrolase	-1.99	0.020	Lipid transport and metabolism
PFCIRM129_04475	54.968	Transporter	-2.01	0.026	Function unknown
PFCIRM129_12425	80.5954	Protein of unknown function FUZZYLOCATION=TRUE	-2.02	0.025	Transcription
PFCIRM129_04980	227.0852	D-alanine–D-alanine ligase (D-alanylalanine synthetase)	-2.05	0.005	Cell wall/membrane/envelope biogenesis and General function prediction only
PFCIRM129_11215	88.6965	Dioxygenase	-2.12	0.047	Inorganic ion transport and metabolism and Secondary metabolites biosynthesis, transport and catabolism
PFCIRM129_10195	96.8755	Transcriptional regulator	-2.12	0.036	Transcription
PFCIRM129_08985	30.4822	Hypothetical protein	-2.13	0.042	General function prediction only
PFCIRM129_04260	287.3443	DNA polymerase III alpha subunit	-2.15	0.038	Replication, recombination and repair
PFCIRM129_02065	15.789	Ferrous iron uptake protein A 9.a.8.1.x	-2.25	0.022	Inorganic ion transport and metabolism
PFCIRM129_04725	106.5589	Hypothetical protein	-2.27	0.032	Cell wall/membrane/envelope biogenesis
PFCIRM129_05460	489.2107	Surface protein with SLH domain	-2.29	0.039	Posttranslational modification, protein turnover, chaperones
PFCIRM129_04925	12.884	Hypothetical protein	-2.29	0.028	Carbohydrate transport and metabolism
PFCIRM129_10690	9.166	Protein of unknown function	-2.37	0.049	Function unknown
PFCIRM129_05620	65.4691	MscS transporter, small conductance mechanosensitive ion channel	-2.43	0.044	Cell wall/membrane/envelope biogenesis
PFCIRM129_06895	73.9719	Thiredoxine like membrane protein	-2.49	0.024	Posttranslational modification, protein turnover, chaperones
PFCIRM129_10610	181.5134	Phosphocarrier, HPr family	-2.54	0.021	Signal transduction mechanisms and Carbohydrate transport and metabolism
PFCIRM129_02565	36.2455	Hypothetical protein	-2.57	0.039	Defense mechanisms
PFCIRM129_00850	58.5524	Cation-transporting ATPase	-2.59	0.005	Inorganic ion transport and metabolism
PFCIRM129_02970	142.4983	Hypothetical protein	-2.60	0.016	Energy production and conversion
PFCIRM129_00010	145.5914	Argininosuccinate lyase (Arginosuccinase)	-2.65	0.004	Amino acid transport and metabolism
PFCIRM129_02590	36.8971	Hypothetical transmembrane protein	-2.71	0.013	Inorganic ion transport and metabolism
PFCIRM129_02910	44.2268	Hypothetical protein	-2.74	0.039	Replication, recombination and repair
PFCIRM129_10040	39.9232	Hypothetical protein	-2.78	0.048	Carbohydrate transport and metabolism
PFCIRM129_12235	1098.1026	Internaline A	-2.80	0.041	Posttranslational modification, protein turnover, chaperones
PFCIRM129_00040	20.5108	N-acetyl-gamma-glutamyl- phosphate reductase (AGPR) (N- acetyl-glutamate semialdehyde dehydrogenase) (NAGSA dehydrogenase)	-2.99	0.002	Amino acid transport and metabolism
PFCIRM129_03005	41.8204	Hypothetical protein	-3.01	0.035	Secondary metabolites biosynthesis, transport and catabolism
PFCIRM129_05445	69.2875	Transcriptional Regulator, TetR family	-3.09	0.036	Transcription
PFCIRM129_02960	83.486	Cold shock-like protein CspA	-3.36	0.031	Transcription

(Continued)

TABLE 2 | Continued

Accession	Score	Description	LOG(2) ratio fold-change	Anova (p)	COG biological process
PFCIRM129_00705	46.3689	Surface protein of unknown function	-3.42	0.016	-
PFCIRM129_08670	192.0452	Cell-wall peptidases, NIpC/P60 family secreted protein	-3.80	0.000	General function prediction only
PFCIRM129_03390	45.4963	Superfamily II RNA helicase	-4.01	0.019	Replication, recombination and repair
PFCIRM129_06155	35.4	Hypothetical protein	-4.03	0.004	Carbohydrate transport and metabolism
PFCIRM129_06085	371.7356	Transcription-repair coupling factor	-4.07	0.004	Replication, recombination and repair and Transcription
PFCIRM129_01360	47.9803	NUDIX hydrolase	-4.17	0.012	Nucleotide transport and metabolism
PFCIRM129_11775	48.0011	Surface protein D with SLH domain	-4.70	0.020	Posttranslational modification, protein turnover, chaperones
PFCIRM129_00700	461.2371	Surface layer protein B (S-layer protein B)	-5.10	0.009	Posttranslational modification, protein turnover, chaperones
PFCIRM129_11140	154.2908	Type I restriction-modification system DNA methylase	-5.58	0.005	Defense mechanisms
PFCIRM129_04135	15.2209	Uncharacterized ATPase related to the helicase subunit of the holliday junction resolvase	-5.82	0.006	Replication, recombination and repair



distribution and Biological process were predicted based on the functional classifications of COG database.



These results corroborate with the previous study showing a decreased adhesion to HT-29 human intestinal epithelial cells (do Carmo et al., 2017). Hydrophobicity and ζ -potential are factors correlated with bacterial adhesion to the epithelial cells, which are guided by charge and hydrophobicity of the bacterial surface.

The presence of surface layers being reportedly linked to tolerance toward stresses (do Carmo et al., 2018), we decided to investigate the impact of such a mutation on the CB129 $\Delta slpB$ strain tolerance toward stress challenges that are relevant for the selection of new probiotics. The ability to survive acid stress in the stomach and bile salts stress in the duodenum during the passage



through the digestive tract, is important for probiotic interaction with the host (Rabah et al., 2017). Accordingly, in vitro assays can be used to simulate digestive stresses, mimicking the exposure to acidic conditions (pH 2.0) or to biliary salts (1 g.L^{-1}) (Jan et al., 2000). For P. freudenreichii, commonly used as a cheese starter, the heat stress tolerance constitutes a relevant technological ability of this strain (Rosa do Carmo et al., 2017). Overall, we observed a large decrease in tolerance to the environmental stresses, confirming a role of SlpB in toughness. In the guanidineextracted proteins of the mutant strain, the chaperones and heat shock proteins, DnaK1, DnaK2, ClpB 2, GroE1, and GroE2 were found. Inside the cell, they are responsible for protein folding and are correlated to acid and bile adaptation (Leverrier et al., 2005; Gagnaire et al., 2015). Here, they were found at the surface of the CB129 $\Delta slpB$ mutant, which was more susceptible to extreme acid stress and temperature, compared to wild type strain. Previous work showed that L. acidophilus ATCC 4356 adapts to harsh environments by increasing the expression of the s-layer SlpA protein upon bile, acidic pH and heat stress exposition (Khaleghi et al., 2010; Khaleghi and Kasra, 2012). Moreover, changes in the cell surface properties could alter the transmembrane protein complex responsible for the extrusion of protons from the cytoplasm, which are responsible for surviving environmental stresses (Ruiz et al., 2013; Rosa do Carmo et al., 2017).

Profound modifications of *P. freudenreichii* physiology and surface properties suggested that modifications, wider than the disappearance of a single protein, occurred as a result of slpB gene inactivation. To understand this impact of the mutation, a comparative proteomic analysis was performed to identify significant alterations in the whole proteome profile of the mutant strain, using label-free quantitative proteomic analysis. Prediction of sub cellular localization using the SurfG+ tool (Barinov et al., 2009) evidenced changes in all the categories (CYT, MEM, PSE and SEC) in the differential proteome of CB129 Δ *slpB*. In addition, differential proteome was functionally classified using COG, showing a functional implication of differential proteins in cellular processes such as signaling, information storage, processing, and metabolism. Specifically, this study showed that the moonlighting enolase and NlpC/P60 are both exported (Frohnmeyer et al., 2018), as it was recently observed in the cutaneous Propionibacterium acnes strain (Jeon et al., 2017). These moonlighting proteins were downregulated in CB129△slpB. Interestingly, in the Bifidobacterium and Lactobacillus genera, moonlighting proteins, such as enolase, also play a role in immunomodulation and adhesion (Sánchez et al., 2010; Kainulainen and Korhonen, 2014; Vastano et al., 2016). Furthermore, in the PPI network we observed high interactions between the downregulated Enolase (PFCIRM129_06035), reportedly involved in human gut colonization and stress adaptation (Ruiz et al., 2009), with other proteins involved in several other processes, including metabolism and DNA repair. Moreover, all surface layer-associated proteins SlpA, SlpD, SlpE, and InlA were downregulated in CB129 Δ *slpB*. These proteins form a protective layer on the surface of the bacteria, and have been associated with environmental stress tolerance (Fagan and Fairweather, 2014). As seen previously, a decreased amount of these proteins could be directly associated with stress susceptibility and with altered hydrophobicity. SLAPs can directly influence these properties (Pum et al., 2013), and consequently alter adhesion to epithelial cells (do Carmo et al., 2017).

We performed the complete genome DNA sequencing of the CB129 Δ *slpB*, which, in turn, allowed us to evaluate whether the *slpB* gene disruption had major consequences on the mutant strain genome. The *slpB* gene is not part of an operon, which suggests that homologous recombination using the suicide plasmid pUC: $\Delta slpB:CmR$ (do Carmo et al., 2017) did not affect the expression of upstream and downstream genes. Analysis of the genetic context, upstream and downstream, revealed that the homologous recombination process was sitespecific, and not affecting other genes in the genome of the mutant strain CB129 $\Delta slpB$. However, we were unable to evaluate possible rearrangements in the genome of CB129 $\Delta slpB$, which could have affected the transcription of other genes. Therefore, more studies are necessary to explore whether any probiotic potential was lost after the single mutation of the slpB gene in Propionibacterium freudenreichii CIRM-BIA 129 strain.

CONCLUSION

This study evidenced the pleiotropic impact of the surface layer protein *slpB* mutation in the probiotic strain *Propionibacterium freudenreichii* CIRM-BIA 129 in relation to its physicochemical proprieties, stress challenges, surfaceome and whole cell quantitative proteome. It confirmed the key role of SLPs and strongly suggests that expression of specific ones, such as *P. freudenreichii* SlpB, should be used as criteria for selecting strains with probiotic potential.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

FC performed *in vitro* assays, microscopy, proteomic assays and data interpretation. WS, FP, GT, and ROC performed proteomic assays, data interpretation and bioinformatics analyses. BC, EO, and SS performed *in vitro* assays. II and HR data interpretation. EF performed PPI network. CC performed microscopy. MC, AC, and RS performed genomics and data interpretation. VA,

REFERENCES

- Alikhan, N.-F., Petty, N. K., Ben Zakour, N. L., and Beatson, S. A. (2011). BLAST ring image generator (BRIG): simple prokaryote genome comparisons. *BMC Genomics* 12:402. doi: 10.1186/1471-2164-12-402
- Aziz, R. K., Bartels, D., Best, A. A., DeJongh, M., Disz, T., Edwards, R. A., et al. (2008). The RAST server: rapid annotations using subsystems technology. *BMC Genomics* 9:75. doi: 10.1186/1471-2164-9-75
- Barinov, A., Loux, V., Hammani, A., Nicolas, P., Langella, P., Ehrlich, D., et al. (2009). Prediction of surface exposed proteins in *Streptococcus pyogenes*, with a potential application to other Gram-positive bacteria. *Proteomics* 9, 61–73. doi: 10.1002/pmic.200800195
- Brettin, T., Davis, J. J., Disz, T., Edwards, R. A., Gerdes, S., Olsen, G. J., et al. (2015). RASTtk: a modular and extensible implementation of the RAST algorithm for building custom annotation pipelines and annotating batches of genomes. *Sci. Rep.* 5:8365. doi: 10.1038/srep08365
- Cousin, F. J., Jouan-Lanhouet, S., Théret, N., Brenner, C., Jouan, E., Le Moigne-Muller, G., et al. (2016). The probiotic *Propionibacterium freudenreichii* as a new adjuvant for TRAIL-based therapy in colorectal cancer. *Oncotarget* 7, 7161–7178. doi: 10.18632/oncotarget.6881

GJ, HF, and YL contributed to the supervision, analysis, and interpretation of data and were major contributors to revising the manuscript. All authors contributed in writing the manuscript.

FUNDING

This work was supported by Conselho Nacional de Desenvolvimento Científico e Tecnológico (CNPq), Fundação de Amparo à Pesquisa do Estado de Minas Gerais (FAPEMIG), and Coordenação de Aperfeiçoamento de Pessoal de Nível Superior (CAPES).

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

The authors thank Prof. Dra. Mônica Cristina de Oliveira UFMG, Prof. Dr. Leonardo Borges Acúrcio UNIFOR-MG, Dra. Cristiana Perdigão Rezende AQUACEN, Dra. Fernanda Dorella AQUACEN, Miss. Gabriella Borba de Assis AQUACEN for expert technical assistance and useful discussions and advices. GJ also thanks A.B.I. Timadeuc for sharing experiences.

SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIAL

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fmicb. 2018.01807/full#supplementary-material

Figure S1 | Verification of assembly error by read mapping. The plasmid $pUC: \Delta s/pB:CmR$ was not inserted in the s/pB gene during de novo genome assembly. The read mapping on the s/pB gene shows misalignments upstream and downstream insertion site, confirming the assembly error. The read mapping was performed using in CLC Genomics Workbench 7.0.

Figure S2 | Assembly curation and validation by read mapping. The manual insertion of plasmid pUC: $\Delta s | pB: CmR$ in the s | pB gene was validated by read mapping. The correct read alignments upstream **(A)** and downstream **(B)** the plasmid validate the manual insertion. The read mapping was performed using in CLC Genomics Workbench 7.0.

Table S1 | Total list of proteins identified in the core-proteome of CB 129 wild-type and CB129 $\Delta slpB$.

- Das Gupta, T., Bandyopadhyay, B., and Das Gupta, S. K. (2008). Modulation of DNA-binding activity of *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* HspR by chaperones. *Microbiology* 154, 484–490. doi: 10.1099/mic.0.2007/ 012294-0
- de Wouters, T., Jans, C., Niederberger, T., Fischer, P., and Rühs, P. A. (2015). Adhesion potential of intestinal microbes predicted by physico-chemical characterization methods. *PLoS ONE* 10:e0136437. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0136437
- Deutsch, S.-M., Mariadassou, M., Nicolas, P., Parayre, S., Le Guellec, R., Chuat, V., et al. (2017). Identification of proteins involved in the anti-inflammatory properties of *Propionibacterium freudenreichii* by means of a multi-strain study. *Sci. Rep.* 7:46409. doi: 10.1038/srep46409
- Deutsch, S. M., Parayre, S., Bouchoux, A., Guyomarc'h, F., Dewulf, J., Dols-Lafargue, M., et al. (2012). Contribution of surface β -glucan polysaccharide to physicochemical and immunomodulatory properties of *Propionibacterium freudenreichii. Appl. Environ. Microbiol.* 78, 1765–1775. doi: 10.1128/AEM.07027-11
- Distler, U., Kuharev, J., Navarro, P., Levin, Y., Schild, H., and Tenzer, S. (2014). Drift time-specific collision energies enable deep-coverage data-independent acquisition proteomics. *Nat. Methods* 11, 167–170. doi: 10.1038/nmeth.2767

- do Carmo, F. L. R., Rabah, H., De Oliveira Carvalho, R. D., Gaucher, F., Cordeiro, B. F., da Silva, S. H., et al. (2018). Extractable bacterial surface proteins in probiotic-host interaction. *Front. Microbiol.* 9:645. doi: 10.3389/fmicb.2018.00645
- do Carmo, F. L. R., Rabah, H., Huang, S., Gaucher, F., Deplanche, M., Dutertre, S., et al. (2017). *Propionibacterium freudenreichii* surface protein SlpB is involved in adhesion to intestinal HT-29 cells. *Front. Microbiol.* 8:1033. doi: 10.3389/fmicb.2017.01033
- Duary, R. K., Rajput, Y. S., Batish, V. K., and Grover, S. (2011). Assessing the adhesion of putative indigenous probiotic *lactobacilli* to human colonic epithelial cells. *Ind. J. Med. Res.* 134, 664–671. doi: 10.4103/0971-5916.90992
- Fagan, R. P., and Fairweather, N. F. (2014). Biogenesis and functions of bacterial S-layers. Nat. Rev. Microbiol. 12, 211–222. doi: 10.1038/nrmicro3213
- Folador, E. L., Hassan, S. S., Lemke, N., Barh, D., Silva, A., Ferreira, R. S., et al. (2014). An improved interolog mapping-based computational prediction of protein-protein interactions with increased network coverage. *Integr. Biol.* 6, 1080–1087. doi: 10.1039/C4IB00136B
- Foligné, B., Deutsch, S. M., Breton, J., Cousin, F. J., Dewulf, J., Samson, M., et al. (2010). Promising immunomodulatory effects of selected strains of dairy propionibacteria as evidenced *in vitro* and *in vivo*. Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 76, 8259–8264. doi: 10.1128/AEM.01976-10
- Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations and World Health Organization (eds.). (2002). *Probiotics in Food: Health and Nutritional Properties and Guidelines for Evaluation*. Rome: Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations : World Health Organization.
- Ford, A. C., Quigley, E. M. M., Lacy, B. E., Lembo, A. J., Saito, Y. A., Schiller, L. R., et al. (2014). Efficacy of prebiotics, probiotics, and synbiotics in irritable bowel syndrome and chronic idiopathic constipation: systematic review and meta-analysis. *Am. J. Gastroenterol.* 109, 1547–1561; quiz 1546, 1562. doi: 10.1038/ajg.2014.202
- Frohnmeyer, E., Deptula, P., Nyman, T. A., Laine, P. K. S., Vihinen, H., Paulin, L., et al. (2018). Secretome profiling of *Propionibacterium freudenreichii* reveals highly variable responses even among the closely related strains. *Microb. Biotechnol.* 11, 510–526. doi: 10.1111/1751-7915.13254
- Furuichi, K., Hojo, K., Katakura, Y., Ninomiya, K., and Shioya, S. (2006). Aerobic culture of *Propionibacterium freudenreichii* ET-3 can increase production ratio of 1,4-dihydroxy-2-naphthoic acid to menaquinone. *J. Biosci. Bioeng.* 101, 464–470. doi: 10.1263/jbb.101.464
- Gagnaire, V., Jardin, J., Rabah, H., Briard-Bion, V., and Jan, G. (2015). Emmental cheese environment enhances *Propionibacterium freudenreichii* stress tolerance. *PLoS ONE* 10:e0135780. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0135780
- Galardini, M., Biondi, E. G., Bazzicalupo, M., and Mengoni, A. (2011). CONTIGuator: a bacterial genomes finishing tool for structural insights on draft genomes. *Source Code Biol. Med.* 6:11. doi: 10.1186/1751-0473-6-11
- Galperin, M. Y., Makarova, K. S., Wolf, Y. I., and Koonin, E. V. (2015). Expanded microbial genome coverage and improved protein family annotation in the COG database. *Nucleic Acids Res.* 43, D261–D269. doi: 10.1093/nar/gku1223
- Ghazaei, C. (2017). Role and mechanism of the Hsp70 molecular chaperone machines in bacterial pathogens. *J. Med. Microbiol.* 66, 259–265. doi: 10.1099/jmm.0.000429
- Gilar, M., Olivova, P., Daly, A. E., and Gebler, J. C. (2005). Two-dimensional separation of peptides using RP-RP-HPLC system with different pH in first and second separation dimensions. J. Sep. Sci. 28, 1694–1703. doi: 10.1002/jssc.200500116
- Giles, K., Williams, J. P., and Campuzano, I. (2011). Enhancements in travelling wave ion mobility resolution. *Rapid Commun. Mass Spectrom. RCM* 25, 1559–1566. doi: 10.1002/rcm.5013
- Guo, X.-H., Kim, J.-M., Nam, H.-M., Park, S.-Y., and Kim, J.-M. (2010). Screening lactic acid bacteria from swine origins for multistrain probiotics based on *in vitro* functional properties. *Anaerobe* 16, 321–326. doi: 10.1016/j.anaerobe.2010.03.006
- Heberle, H., Meirelles, G. V., da Silva, F. R., Telles, G. P., and Minghim, R. (2015). InteractiVenn: a web-based tool for the analysis of sets through Venn diagrams. *BMC Bioinformatics* 16:169. doi: 10.1186/s12859-015-0611-3
- Hill, C., Guarner, F., Reid, G., Gibson, G. R., Merenstein, D. J., Pot, B., et al. (2014). Expert consensus document: the international scientific association for probiotics and prebiotics consensus statement on the scope and appropriate

use of the term probiotic. Nat. Rev. Gastroenterol. Hepatol. 11, 506-514. doi: 10.1038/nrgastro.2014.66

- Huang, S., Rabah, H., Jardin, J., Briard-Bion, V., Parayre, S., Maillard, M.-B., et al. (2016). Hyperconcentrated sweet whey, a new culture medium that enhances *Propionibacterium freudenreichii* stress tolerance. *Appl. Environ. Microbiol.* 82, 4641–4651. doi: 10.1128/AEM.00748-16
- Hynönen, U., and Palva, A. (2013). Lactobacillus surface layer proteins: structure, function and applications. Appl. Microbiol. Biotechnol. 97, 5225–5243. doi: 10.1007/s00253-013-4962-2
- Isawa, K., Hojo, K., Yoda, N., Kamiyama, T., Makino, S., Saito, M., et al. (2002). Isolation and identification of a new bifidogenic growth stimulator produced by *Propionibacterium freudenreichii* ET-3. *Biosci. Biotechnol. Biochem.* 66, 679–681. doi: 10.1271/bbb.66.679
- Ishihama, Y., Oda, Y., Tabata, T., Sato, T., Nagasu, T., Rappsilber, J., et al. (2005). Exponentially modified protein abundance index (emPAI) for estimation of absolute protein amount in proteomics by the number of sequenced peptides per protein. *Mol. Cell. Proteomics MCP* 4, 1265–1272. doi: 10.1074/mcp.M500061-MCP200
- Jan, G., Belzacq, A.-S., Haouzi, D., Rouault, A., Métivier, D., Kroemer, G., et al. (2002). Propionibacteria induce apoptosis of colorectal carcinoma cells via short-chain fatty acids acting on mitochondria. *Cell Death Differ*. 9, 179–188. doi: 10.1038/sj.cdd.4400935
- Jan, G., Rouault, A., and Maubois, J.-L. (2000). Acid stress susceptibility and acid adaptation of *Propionibacterium freudenreichii* subsp. shermanii. Le Lait 80, 325–336. doi: 10.1051/lait:2000128
- Jeon, J., Mok, H. J., Choi, Y., Park, S. C., Jo, H., Her, J., et al. (2017). Proteomic analysis of extracellular vesicles derived from *Propionibacterium* acnes. PROTEOMICS - Clin. Appl. 11:1600040. doi: 10.1002/prca.201600040
- Kainulainen, V., and Korhonen, T. K. (2014). Dancing to another tuneadhesive moonlighting proteins in bacteria. *Biology* 3, 178–204. doi: 10.3390/biology3010178
- Khaleghi, M., and Kasra, R. (2012). "Effect of environmental stresses on S-layer production in *Lactobacillus acidophilus* ATCC 4356," in *Advances in Applied Biotechnology*, ed. M. Petre (London: InTech), 209–224.
- Khaleghi, M., Kermanshahi, R. K., Yaghoobi, M. M., Zarkesh-Esfahani, S. H., and Baghizadeh, A. (2010). Assessment of bile salt effects on s-layer production, slp gene expression and some physicochemical properties of *Lactobacillus acidophilus* ATCC 4356. J. Microbiol. Biotechnol. 20, 749–756. doi: 10.4014/jmb.0906.06050
- Knaust, A., Weber, M. V. R., Hammerschmidt, S., Bergmann, S., Frosch, M., and Kurzai, O. (2007). Cytosolic proteins contribute to surface plasminogen recruitment of *Neisseria meningitidis*. J. Bacteriol. 189, 3246–3255. doi: 10.1128/JB.01966-06
- Kos, B., Susković, J., Vuković, S., Simpraga, M., Frece, J., and Matosić, S. (2003). Adhesion and aggregation ability of probiotic strain *Lactobacillus acidophilus* M92. J. Appl. Microbiol. 94, 981–987. doi: 10.1046/j.1365-2672.2003.01915.x
- Kuharev, J., Navarro, P., Distler, U., Jahn, O., and Tenzer, S. (2015). In-depth evaluation of software tools for data-independent acquisition based label-free quantification. *Proteomics* 15, 3140–3151. doi: 10.1002/pmic.201400396
- Lan, A., Bruneau, A., Bensaada, M., Philippe, C., Bellaud, P., Rabot, S., et al. (2008). Increased induction of apoptosis by *Propionibacterium freudenreichii* TL133 in colonic mucosal crypts of human microbiotaassociated rats treated with 1,2-dimethylhydrazine. Br. J. Nutr. 100, 1251–1259. doi: 10.1017/S0007114508978284
- Lan, A., Lagadic-Gossmann, D., Lemaire, C., Brenner, C., and Jan, G. (2007). Acidic extracellular pH shifts colorectal cancer cell death from apoptosis to necrosis upon exposure to propionate and acetate, major end-products of the human probiotic propionibacteria. *Apoptosis Int. J. Program. Cell Death* 12, 573–591. doi: 10.1007/s10495-006-0010-3
- Langella, O., Valot, B., Balliau, T., Blein-Nicolas, M., Bonhomme, L., and Zivy, M. (2017). X!TandemPipeline: a tool to manage sequence redundancy for protein inference and phosphosite identification. *J. Proteome Res.* 16, 494–503. doi: 10.1021/acs.jproteome.6b00632
- Le Maréchal, C., Peton, V., Plé, C., Vroland, C., Jardin, J., Briard-Bion, V., et al. (2015). Surface proteins of *Propionibacterium freudenreichii* are involved in its anti-inflammatory properties. *J. Proteomics* 113, 447–461. doi: 10.1016/j.jprot.2014.07.018

- Leibowitz, M. P., Tavares, G. C., Pereira, F. L., Perdigão, C., Azevedo, V., and Figueiredo, H. C. P. (2017). Shotgun label-free proteomic analyses of the oyster parasite *Perkinsus marinus. J. Proteomics Genomics Res.* 2:13. doi: 10.14302/issn.2326-0793.JPGR-17-1571
- Leverrier, P., Dimova, D., Pichereau, V., Auffray, Y., Boyaval, P., and Jan, G. (2003). Susceptibility and adaptive response to bile salts in *Propionibacterium freudenreichii*: physiological and proteomic analysis. *Appl. Environ. Microbiol.* 69, 3809–3818.
- Leverrier, P., Fremont, Y., Rouault, A., Boyaval, P., and Jan, G. (2005). In vitro tolerance to digestive stresses of propionibacteria: influence of food matrices. *Food Microbiol.* 22, 11–18. doi: 10.1016/j.fm.2004.05.003
- Lin, Y., Liu, Y., Li, J., Zhao, Y., He, Q., Han, W., et al. (2010). Evaluation and optimization of removal of an acid-insoluble surfactant for shotgun analysis of membrane proteome. *Electrophoresis* 31, 2705–2713. doi: 10.1002/elps.201000161
- Malik, A. C., Reinbold, G. W., and Vedamuthu, E. R. (1968). An evaluation of the taxonomy of *Propionibacterium. Can. J. Microbiol.* 14, 1185–1191.
- Mitsuyama, K., Masuda, J., Yamasaki, H., Kuwaki, K., Kitazaki, S., Koga, H., et al. (2007). Treatment of ulcerative colitis with milk whey culture with *Propionibacterium freudenreichii*. J. Intest. Microbiol. 21, 143–147. doi: 10.11209/jim.21.143
- Oak, S. J., and Jha, R. (2018). The effects of probiotics in lactose intolerance: a systematic review. *Crit. Rev. Food Sci. Nutr.* 9, 1–9. doi: 10.1080/10408398.2018. 1425977
- Plaza-Díaz, J., Ruiz-Ojeda, F. J., Vilchez-Padial, L. M., and Gil, A. (2017). Evidence of the anti-inflammatory effects of probiotics and synbiotics in intestinal chronic diseases. *Nutrients* 9:E555. doi: 10.3390/nu9060555
- Plé, C., Breton, J., Richoux, R., Nurdin, M., Deutsch, S.-M., Falentin, H., et al. (2016). Combining selected immunomodulatory *Propionibacterium freudenreichii* and *Lactobacillus delbrueckii* strains: reverse engineering development of an anti-inflammatory cheese. *Mol. Nutr. Food Res.* 60, 935–948. doi: 10.1002/mnfr.201500580
- Plé, C., Richoux, R., Jardin, J., Nurdin, M., Briard-Bion, V., Parayre, S., et al. (2015). Single-strain starter experimental cheese reveals anti-inflammatory effect of *Propionibacterium freudenreichii* CIRM BIA 129 in TNBS-colitis model. J. Funct. Foods 18, 575–585. doi: 10.1016/j.jff.2015.08.015
- Pum, D., Toca-Herrera, J. L., and Sleytr, U. B. (2013). S-layer protein self-assembly. Int. J. Mol. Sci. 14, 2484–2501. doi: 10.3390/ijms14022484
- Rabah, H., Rosa do Carmo, F. L., and Jan, G. (2017). Dairy Propionibacteria: versatile probiotics. Microorganisms 5:E24. doi: 10.3390/microorganisms5020024
- Roland, N., Bougle, D., Lebeurrier, F., Arhan, P., and Maubois, J. L. (1998). Propionibacterium freudenreichii stimulates the growth of Bifidobacterium bifidum in vitro and increases fecal bifidobacteria in healthy human volunteers. Int. Dairy J. 8, 587–588.
- Rondanelli, M., Faliva, M. A., Perna, S., Giacosa, A., Peroni, G., and Castellazzi, A. M. (2017). Using probiotics in clinical practice: where are we now? A review of existing meta-analyses. *Gut Microbes* 8, 521–543. doi: 10.1080/19490976.2017.1345414
- Rosa do Carmo, F. L., Rabah, H., Fernandes Cordeiro, B., Da Silva, S. H., Jan, G., Azevedo, V. A., et al. (2017). "Applications of Probiotic Bacteria and Dairy Foods in Health," in *Current Research in Microbiology* (Wilmington, DE). Available online at: https://hal.archives-ouvertes.fr/hal-01583804
- Ruiz, L., Couté, Y., Sánchez, B., de los Reyes-Gavilán, C. G., Sanchez, J.-C., and Margolles, A. (2009). The cell-envelope proteome of Bifidobacterium longum in an *in vitro* bile environment. *Microbiology* 155, 957–967. doi: 10.1099/mic.0.024273-0
- Ruiz, L., Margolles, A., and Sánchez, B. (2013). Bile resistance mechanisms in *Lactobacillus* and *Bifidobacterium*. Front. Microbiol. 4:396. doi: 10.3389/fmicb.2013.00396
- Sambrook, J., and Russell, D. W. (2001). *Molecular Cloning: a Laboratory Manual.* 3rd edn. Cold Spring Harbor, NY: Cold Spring Harbor Laboratory Press.
- Sánchez, B., Urdaci, M. C., and Margolles, A. (2010). Extracellular proteins secreted by probiotic bacteria as mediators of effects that promote mucosa-bacteria interactions. *Microbiol. Read. Engl.* 156, 3232–3242. doi: 10.1099/mic.0.044057-0
- Sandes, S., Alvim, L., Silva, B., Acurcio, L., Santos, C., Campos, M., et al. (2017). Selection of new lactic acid bacteria strains bearing probiotic features

from mucosal microbiota of healthy calves: looking for immunobiotics through *in vitro* and *in vivo* approaches for immunoprophylaxis applications. *Microbiol. Res.* 200, 1–13. doi: 10.1016/j.micres.2017. 03.008

- Schär-Zammaretti, P., and Ubbink, J. (2003). The cell wall of lactic acid bacteria: surface constituents and macromolecular conformations. *Biophys. J.* 85, 4076–4092. doi: 10.1016/S0006-3495(03)74 820-6
- Seki, K., Nakao, H., Umino, H., Isshiki, H., Yoda, N., Tachihara, R., et al. (2004). Effects of fermented milk whey containing novel bifdogenic growth stimulator produced by *Propionibacterium* on fecal bacteria, putrefactive metabolite, defecation frequency and fecal properties in senile volunteers needed serious nursing-care taking enteral nutrition by tube feeding. *J. Intest. Microbiol.* 18, 107–115. doi: 10.11209/jim.18.107
- Shannon, P., Markiel, A., Ozier, O., Baliga, N. S., Wang, J. T., Ramage, D., et al. (2003). Cytoscape: a software environment for integrated models of biomolecular interaction networks. *Genome Res.* 13, 2498–2504. doi: 10.1101/gr.1239303
- Silva, W. M., Carvalho, R. D., Soares, S. C., Bastos, I. F., Folador, E. L., Souza, G. H., et al. (2014). Label-free proteomic analysis to confirm the predicted proteome of *Corynebacterium pseudotuberculosis* under nitrosative stress mediated by nitric oxide. *BMC Genomics* 15:1065. doi: 10.1186/1471-2164-15-1065
- Silva, W. M., Folador, E. L., Soares, S. C., Souza, G. H. M. F., Santos, A. V., Sousa, C. S., et al. (2017). Label-free quantitative proteomics of *Corynebacterium pseudotuberculosis* isolates reveals differences between Biovars ovis and equi strains. *BMC Genomics* 18:451. doi: 10.1186/s12864-017-3835-y
- Suzuki, A., Mitsuyama, K., Koga, H., Tomiyasu, N., Masuda, J., Takaki, K., et al. (2006). Bifidogenic growth stimulator for the treatment of active ulcerative colitis: a pilot study. *Nutrition* 22, 76–81.doi: 10.1016/j.nut.2005.04.013
- Valence, F., Deutsch, S. M., Richoux, R., Gagnaire, V., and Lortal, S. (2000). Autolysis and related proteolysis in Swiss cheese for two Lactobacillus helveticus strains. J. Dairy Res. 67, 261–271. doi: 10.1017/S0022029900004118
- van der Mei, H., van de Belt-Gritter, B., Pouwels, P., Martinez, B., and Busscher, H. (2003). Cell surface hydrophobicity is conveyed by S-layer proteins—a study in recombinant *lactobacilli. Colloids Surf. B Biointerfaces* 28, 127–134. doi: 10.1016/S0927-7765(02)00144-3
- Vastano, V., Pagano, A., Fusco, A., Merola, G., Sacco, M., and Donnarumma, G. (2016). The *Lactobacillus plantarum* Eno A1 enolase is involved in immunostimulation of Caco-2 cells and in biofilm development. *Adv. Exp. Med. Biol.* 897, 33–44. doi: 10.1007/5584_2015_5009
- Vizcaíno, J. A., Csordas, A., del-Toro, N., Dianes, J. A., Griss, J., Lavidas, I., et al. (2016). 2016 update of the PRIDE database and its related tools. *Nucleic Acids Res.* 44, D447–D456. doi: 10.1093/nar/gkv1145
- Wilson, W. W., Wade, M. M., Holman, S. C., and Champlin, F. R. (2001). Status of methods for assessing bacterial cell surface charge properties based on zeta potential measurements. J. Microbiol. Methods 43, 153–164. doi: 10.1016/S0167-7012(00)00224-4
- Wong, C. C. L., Cociorva, D., Miller, C. A., Schmidt, A., Monell, C., Aebersold, R., et al. (2013). Proteomics of *Pyrococcus furiosus (Pfu)*: identification of extracted proteins by three independent methods. *J. Proteome Res.* 12, 763–770. doi: 10.1021/pr300840j

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

The reviewer MAS declared a shared affiliation, with no collaboration, with one of the authors, WS, to the handling editor at time of review.

Copyright © 2018 do Carmo, Silva, Tavares, Ibraim, Cordeiro, Oliveira, Rabah, Cauty, da Silva, Canário Viana, Caetano, dos Santos, de Oliveira Carvalho, Jardin, Pereira, Folador, Le Loir, Figueiredo, Jan and Azevedo. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Characterization of a Prophage-Free Derivative Strain of *Lactococcus lactis* ssp. *lactis* IL1403 Reveals the Importance of Prophages for Phenotypic Plasticity of the Host

Anne Aucouturier, Florian Chain, Philippe Langella and Elena Bidnenko*

MICALIS Institute, INRA, AgroParisTech, Université Paris-Saclay, Jouy-en-Josas, France

Lactococcus lactis is a lactic acid bacterium of major importance for the dairy industry and for human health. Recent sequencing surveys of this species have provided evidence that all lactococcal genomes contain prophages and prophage-like elements. The prophage-related sequences encompass up to 10% of the bacterial chromosomes and thus contribute significantly to the genetic diversity of lactococci. However, the impact of these resident prophages on the physiology of *L. lactis* is presently unknown. The genome of the first sequenced prototype strain, L. lactis ssp. lactis IL1403, contains six prophage-like elements which together represent 6.7% of the IL1403 chromosome. Diverse prophage genes other than those encoding phage repressors have been shown to be expressed in lysogenic conditions, suggesting that prophage genes are indeed able to modulate the physiology of their host. To elucidate the effect of resident prophages on the behavior of L. lactis in different growth conditions, we constructed and characterized, for the first time, a derivative strain of IL1403 that is prophage-free. This strain provides unique experimental opportunities for the study of different aspects of lactococcal physiology using the well-defined genetic background of IL1403. Here, we show that resident prophages modify the growth and survival of the host strain to a considerable extent in different conditions, including in the gastrointestinal environment. They also may affect cellular autolytic properties and the host cells' susceptibility to virulent bacteriophages and antimicrobial agents. It thus appears that prophages contribute significantly to lactococcal cell physiology and might play an important role in the adaptation of *L. lactis* to cultivation and environmental conditions.

Keywords: Lactococcus lactis IL1403, prophages, prophage impact, prophage-cured strain, physiology of Lactococcus lactis

INTRODUCTION

Lactococci (*Lactococcus lactis* species) are widely used in the industrial manufacturing of fermented dairy products (Leroy and De Vuyst, 2004; Smit et al., 2005). *L. lactis* is also of particular interest for its ever-growing therapeutic and epidemiological applications in the domains of human and animal health (Bermudez-Humaran et al., 2013). For many years, lactococci were an object of intensive fundamental and applied studies, which now have progressed to the fields of "omics-" and

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Aleš Berlec, Jožef Stefan Institute (IJS), Slovenia

Reviewed by:

Chad W. Euler, Hunter College (CUNY), United States Douwe Van Sinderen, University College Cork, Ireland

> *Correspondence: Elena Bidnenko elena.bidnenko@inra.fr

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Infectious Diseases, a section of the journal Frontiers in Microbiology

Received: 21 May 2018 Accepted: 13 August 2018 Published: 31 August 2018

Citation:

Aucouturier A, Chain F, Langella P and Bidnenko E (2018) Characterization of a Prophage-Free Derivative Strain of Lactococcus lactis ssp. lactis IL1403 Reveals the Importance of Prophages for Phenotypic Plasticity of the Host. Front. Microbiol. 9:2032. doi: 10.3389/fmicb.2018.02032 systems biology (de Vos, 2011; Kok et al., 2017). Currently, 34 complete and 97 partially assembled lactococcal genomes are available in NCBI's GenBank¹. In each one, the genomes of temperate bacteriophages (complete prophages) and prophage remnants have been identified (Chopin et al., 2001; Ventura et al., 2007; Kelleher et al., 2018). Prophage-related sequences encompass from 3 to 10% of the total genome, and represent a significant part of the observed genomic differences among *L. lactis* strains (Kelleher et al., 2018). Genome sequence analyses of lactococcal prophages indicated that they are affiliated with the P335 group of phages, one of the three dominant phage species commonly found in dairy factories (Deveau et al., 2006). The two other species (c2- and 936-like) are composed of phages that are exclusively virulent (Deveau et al., 2006).

The impact of prophages on cell physiology and bacterial ecology has mainly been studied in Escherichia coli (Wang et al., 2010) and some bacterial pathogens (reviewed in Fortier and Sekulovic, 2013). Although resident prophages are able to provoke the destruction of a cell, there is a growing appreciation for the beneficial effects they can have for a host. Specifically, there is evidence that prophages can increase host fitness under specific environmental conditions, improve its resistance against infecting phages, or modify cellular metabolism by introducing novel functions or altering pre-existing ones (Wang et al., 2010; Fortier and Sekulovic, 2013; DeBardeleben et al., 2014; Howard-Varona et al., 2017). However, questions about the overall impact of prophages on different aspects of L. lactis physiology have not yet been completely resolved. The main reason for this is the lack of an experimental model appropriate for this type of study, namely, a prophage-free strain of L. lactis in which all phagerelated chromosomal elements have been removed. Progress has been made toward this goal, but the strains generated to date have several drawbacks. For example, a putatively prophagecured derivative of L. lactis ssp. cremoris UC509 (UC509.9) still carries a remnant prophage (Ainsworth et al., 2013; Kelleher et al., 2018). Likewise, the derivative strains have been produced of L. lactis IL1403, but these still contain three prophage remnants (Visweswaran et al., 2017). Finally, a prophage-free derivative of L. lactis ssp. cremoris NZ9000 was generated, but in the process several non-essential host genes were also deleted (Zhu et al., 2017).

Lactococcus lactis subsp. *lactis* IL1403 strain is the first completely sequenced lactococcal strain (Bolotin et al., 2001). It has been widely used for both fundamental and applied research, including diverse studies of lactococcal genetics and physiology, as well as lactococcal phage biology (Chopin et al., 2005; Douillard and De Vos, 2014; Kok et al., 2017). The genome of IL1403 contains six prophage-like elements, which represent in total 6.7% of the IL1403 chromosome (Chopin et al., 2001). Transcriptional analyses of IL1403 and other lactococcal strains have revealed that, in addition to the genes encoding repressor proteins, other phage-specific genes are expressed in the lysogenic state under different growth conditions (Boyce et al., 1995; Blatny et al., 2003; Seegers et al., 2004; Xie et al., 2004; Cretenet et al., 2011; Dijkstra et al., 2016; Visweswaran et al., 2017). As yet, though, it is unknown if or how these prophage-encoded proteins affect the physiology of the lactococcal cell.

Here, we describe the construction and initial characterization of a derivative of *L. lactis* IL1403 strain in which we deleted all prophage-like elements. We then examined the impact of IL1403 prophages on aspects of cell physiology that are of particular relevance for the industrial and health applications of *L. lactis*. Our results reinforce previous findings of the complex effect of prophages on the behavior of the bacterial cell, and demonstrate the significant contributions of prophages to the adaptive phenotypic plasticity and fitness of *L. lactis*.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Bacterial Strains, Plasmids, Phages, and Media

Lactococcus lactis ssp. lactis IL1403, IL1946 (Chopin et al., 1989; Bolotin et al., 2001), and derivative strains were grown at one of two defined temperatures (30°C or 37°C, specified for each experiment) in M17 medium supplemented with 0.5% glucose (M17glu). E. coli strain TG1 was grown at 37°C in LB medium. When needed, ampicillin (Ap; 100 µg/ml for E. coli), tetracycline (Tc; 5 µg/ml for L. lactis and 10 µg/ml for E. coli), chloramphenicol (Cm; 10 µg/ml), and erythromycin (5 µg/ml for L. lactis) were added to the culture medium. Heme (Sigma) stock solution (0.5 mg/ml) was freshly prepared in alkaline water (0.05 N NaOH). Plasmid pIL1237 is a derivative of pBluscript II SK+ that carries the Tc^R gene of pAT182 (Rasmussen et al., 1994), while plasmid pIL253 and pIL253 derivative, which carry Cm^{*R*} gene, were from our laboratory collection. Reference prolate phages (c2, bIL67), small isometric-headed phages (sk1, bIL66, bIL170, bIL41), and phages isolated from industrial samples (bIL8, bIL10, bIL13, bIL14, bIL19, bIL20, bIL32, and bIL39) were also from our laboratory collection. Phages were sequentially propagated in suitable L. lactis hosts and, when required, in L. lactis IL1403 or L. lactis IL6288 strains using M17glu medium supplemented with 10 mM CaCl₂. Phages were enumerated as described in (Anba et al., 1995).

Measurement of Growth Rate and Cell Survival

For growth-rate experiments, *L. lactis* strains were incubated overnight in M17glu medium at 30°C in static (non-aerated) conditions, then diluted to OD_{600} 0.05 (measured with a Novaspec II Visible Spectrophotometer, Pharmacia Biotech) in fresh M17glu medium that contained, when required, different concentrations of heme (Sigma), from 0 to 100 µg/ml. We then transferred 200 µl of each sample to a 96-well plate. All plates (with the lids on to avoid evaporation) were incubated at the temperature indicated for each experiment, with or without constant shaking, in a multimode microplate reader (Synergy 2, BioTek Instruments, Inc) for the time indicated. The OD₆₀₀ was measured at 15-min intervals; the static culture was gently agitated before each measurement. Growth experiments were repeated at least four times, and each experiment included four

¹http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/genome/genomes/156

independent cultures of each strain. For the survival experiments, time and temperature conditions are specified in the Results and Discussion section, but the general procedure was as follows. Bacterial cultures were grown overnight in M17glu medium, then diluted in fresh medium. Static cultures were grown without agitation (culture volume 20 ml in 50-ml bottle) at 30°C or 37°C. To determine cell viability, aliquots were taken at different time points, serially diluted in Ringer's saline solution (Merck, Germany), and plated on M17glu agar. Colony-forming units (CFUs) were counted after 36 h of incubation at 30°C. Each data point (CFU/ml) was the mean of the counts of at least three independent cultures.

Lysozyme and Nisin Susceptibility Assays

The susceptibility of *L. lactis* to antimicrobials was determined using M17 agar plates. Overnight cultures of IL1403 and its derivative strains were diluted 10-fold in Ringer's saline solution (Merck). Drops (5 μ l) of the dilutions were spotted on M17glu agar that contained different concentrations of inhibitors: from 0 to 0.5 mg/ml of lysozyme (Fluka) and from 0 to 300 ng/ml of nisin (Sigma). Plate counts were performed after 36 h of incubation at 30°C. The experiment was reproduced three times.

Plate Test of Autolytic Activity

Lytic activity of growing *L. lactis* cells was examined by plating the diluted overnight cultures on M17 agar plates that contained 0.2% (wt/vol) autoclaved, lyophilized cells of *Micrococcus luteus* ATCC 4698 (Sigma). Plates were incubated at the indicated temperatures for 48 h and then examined for the appearance of halos around the lactococcal colonies. The experiment was performed three times. Images were acquired with a ChemiDoc MP system (Bio-Rad).

Autolysis in Buffer Solution

Lactococcus lactis strains were grown in M17 medium to an OD_{600} of 0.6. Cells were harvested by centrifugation at 5000 g for 15 min at 4°C, washed once with sterile 50 mM potassium phosphate (PBS) buffer (pH 7.0), and resuspended in the same buffer to OD_{600} 0.7; supplemented when required with 0.05% Triton X-100 (Bio-Rad). Cell suspensions were transferred into 100-well sterile microplates and incubated at 30°C or 37°C. Autolysis was monitored by measuring the OD_{600} of the cell suspensions at 15-min intervals with an automated multimode plate reader (Synergy 2, BioTek Instruments, Inc). This experiment was performed twice. Each experiment included four independent cultures of each strain. The extent of autolysis was expressed as the percentage decrease in OD_{600} .

Heme-Induced Toxicity Assay

Autoclaved heme (Fluka) was added to exponentially growing cultures of *L. lactis* IL1403 and IL6288 (OD₆₀₀ of 0.6) at concentrations ranging from 0 to 50 μ g/ml. Cultures were incubated at 30°C under non-aerated conditions. After 1 h, the number of viable cells was determined by diluting the cultures in Ringer's saline solution and spotting 3 μ l onto M17glu agar.

Images were acquired with a ChemiDoc MP system after 36 h of incubation at 30 $^\circ$ C. This experiment was performed twice.

Molecular Cloning and DNA Sequence Analysis

The procedures used here for DNA manipulation, cloning, and transformation of *E. coli* and *L. lactis* were carried out, for the most part, as described in (Sambrook et al., 1989; Anba et al., 1995). Polymerase chain reactions (PCRs) were performed using the Gene AMP PCR System 9700 thermal cycler (Applied Biosystems) and ExTaq (Takara Biomedicals) essentially as recommended by the supplier. Nucleotide sequencing was performed on PCR products using appropriate primers (**Supplementary Table S1**), Taq polymerase (Applied Biosystems), and fluorescent dideoxyribonucleotides on a 377A DNA Sequencer (Applied Biosystems).

Curing of Resident Prophages From IL1403 Chromosome

First, we constructed plasmids that carried DNA fragments corresponding to the early genome regions of different IL1403 prophages; this was performed by cloning *SmaI*-digested phage-specific DNA into the *Eco*RV site of the pIL1237 plasmid vector. DNA fragments used for cloning were amplified using the IL1403 chromosome as a template and specific oligonucleotides (AA07/AA08 for bIL309; AA30/AA31 for bIL286; AA32/AA33 for bIL310; AA34/AA35 for bIL312) that contained *SmaI* sites (see **Supplementary Table S1** for oligonucleotides used in this study). Cloning was performed in *E. coli* strain TG1. The resulting plasmids were designated pIL1237::bIL309, pIL1237::bIL286, pIL1237::bIL310, and pIL1237::bIL312.

To delete bIL309 prophage, we started with the previously constructed bIL285-free strain IL1946 (Chopin et al., 1989) and transformed it with the pIL1237::bIL309 plasmid. Five Tc^{R} colonies were tested by PCR to verify the correct integration of pIL1237 at the bIL309, using oligonucleotide pairs AA26/MCC31, AA27/MCC32, and AA26/AA27. One PCRpositive clone was selected for induction experiments. To induce prophage excision, cells were grown to OD_{600} 0.6, serial dilutions were spotted on M17 agar plates, and plates were irradiated with UV light (at 254 nm) with an energy of 40 J/m² for 2-4 s with a Stratalinker 2400 UV source (Stratagene). Next, 24 Tc^S clones selected after irradiation were tested by PCR with the oligonucleotide pair AA26/AA27 to detect the excision of bIL309; 4 PCR-positive clones were subsequently verified by sequencing. The resulting L. lactis strain (bIL285- and bIL309-free) was named IL6248 (Table 1).

Next, to delete bIL286 prophage from this strain, IL6248 cells were transformed with the pIL1237::bIL286 plasmid. Seven IL6248 Tc^{*R*} colonies were tested by PCR for chromosomal integration using the oligonucleotide pairs AA28/AA41, AA30/AA29, AA39/AA40, AA37/AA40, AA36/AA37, and AA36/AA39. One PCR-positive clone was used for induction experiments. Induction was performed by irradiation with UV light (254 nm) with an energy of 60 J/m² for 2–4 s. Verification of the prophage-free derivative strain was performed by PCR using

Strain	Parental strain			Resident p	rophages		
IL1403		bIL285	bIL286	bIL309	blL310	blL311	blL312
IL1946	IL1403		blL286	bIL309	bIL310	blL311	blL312
IL6248	IL1946		blL286		bIL310	blL311	blL312
IL6250	IL6248				bIL310	blL311	blL312
IL6254	IL6250					blL311	blL312
IL6260	IL6250					blL311	blL312
IL6277	IL6260						blL312
IL6288	IL6277						
IL6345	IL1403	bIL285		bIL309	bIL310	blL311	blL312
IL6353	IL6345	bIL285			bIL310	blL311	blL312
IL6351	IL1946			bIL309	bIL310	blL311	blL312
IL6328	IL6260					blL311	
IL6354	IL6288		blL286				

TABLE 1 | Prophage-free derivative strains of L. lactis IL1403.

the oligonucleotide pair AA28/AA29. The resulting *L. lactis* strain (bIL285-, bIL309-, and bIL286-free) was named IL6250 (**Table 1**).

To delete bIL310 prophage, strain IL6250 was transformed with the pIL1237::bIL310 plasmid. Seven IL6250 Tc^R colonies were tested by PCR for chromosomal integration at the bIL310 using the oligonucleotide pairs MCC35/AA41, MCC44/AA42, and AA41/AA42. One PCR-positive clone was used for induction experiments. Induction was performed by irradiation with UV light (254 nm) with an energy of 60 J/m² for 2-4 s. Verification of the prophage-free derivative strain was performed as described above. Two clones of the resulting L. lactis strain (bIL285-, bIL309-, bIL286-, and bIL310-free) were named IL6254 and IL6260 (Table 1). To delete bIL312 prophage, strain IL6254 was transformed with the pIL1237::bIL312 plasmid, but all efforts to obtain Tc^R integrants were unsuccessful. We then checked for the presence of bIL312 in strains IL6254 and IL6260 (both bIL285-, bIL309-, bIL286-, bIL310-free) using the oligonucleotide pairs AA43/AA44, AA43/AA56, AA34/AA35, AA44/AA37, and AA56/AA57; we wanted to identify clones in which bIL312 had been spontaneously lost as the result of the previous treatment with UV light. Among approximately 1000 clones, three clones derived from IL6260 did not carry bIL312. The verification of the selected clones was performed as described above. The resulting L. lactis strain (bIL285-, bIL309-, bIL286-, bIL301-, and bIL312-free) was named IL6328 (Table 1).

A bIL311-free strain was obtained with the use of the pGhost9 plasmid integration mutagenesis system (Maguin et al., 1996). DNA fragments that corresponded to the early region of the bIL311 genome were amplified using the oligonucleotide pairs AA53/AA60 and AA47/AA58. They were digested with *SmaI* and *KpnI* and cloned into pGhost9 in *E. coli* TG1 cells. Next, the resulting plasmid was introduced into IL6260 strain. Selection of integrants was performed after shifting the temperature to 37.5° C and cells plating on M17glu agar supplemented with Em. The integration was confirmed by PCR amplification. Excision of the integrated pGhost construct, which led to the deletion of bIL311, was performed by shifting the temperature to 30° C and selecting for Em^S clones. The resulting *L. lactis* strain

(bIL285-, bIL309-, bIL286, bIL310, and bIL311-free) was named IL6277 (**Table 1**). Deletion of bIL312 prophage from IL6277 was performed via transformation with the pIL1237::bIL312 plasmid, the selection of four Tc^{*R*} integrants, and consequent induction of the prophage by irradiation with UV light (254 nm) with an energy of 60 J/m² for 2–4 s. The resulting, completely prophage-free, strain IL1403 (bIL285-, bIL309-, bIL286-, bIL301-, bIL312-, and bIL311-free) was verified by sequencing and named IL6288 (**Table 1**). Strain IL6351 (bIL285-, bIL286-free) was constructed from IL1946 using the pIL1237::bIL286 plasmid essentially as described above (**Table 1**). In addition, bIL286 was deleted from IL1403 strain as described above, the resulting strain was named IL6345 (**Table 1**). Next, IL6353 (bIL286, bIL309-free) stain was constructed from IL6345 by the constitutive insertion and induction of pIL1237::bIL309 plasmid.

Finally, we constructed the lysogenic strain IL6354 by reintroducing bIL286 into the prophage-free strain IL6288; this was performed using the superinfection plate assay with total phage lysate as described in (Reyrolle et al., 1982). Briefly, phage lysate was prepared from 10 ml of exponentially growing IL1403 culture treated with mitomycin C (final concentration of 0.5 µg/ml/) at 30° C. Lysis was detected by measuring the OD₆₀₀ for 4 h at 30min intervals following the addition of mitomycin C. Cellular debris was removed by centrifugation at 8,000 rpm for 10 min at 4°C. Between 10 and 20 µl of the lysate were immediately spotted on M17glu agar plates in which the top agar had been mixed with IL6288 cells. A non-treated culture served as the control. Plates were incubated at 30°C for 36 h. The individual colonies that grew within the lysis zones were examined for the presence of the prophage using PCR with the oligonucleotide pairs mentioned above and subsequent sequencing. One clone carried the bIL286 prophage at its initial location; it was retained and named IL6354 (Table 1).

Mouse Experiment

Germ-free mice (8-weeks-old, C3H) were provided by ANAXEM, the germ-free rodent breeding facility of the MICALIS institute (INRA, Jouy-en-Josas, France). All animals were housed in flexible-film isolators (Getinge-La Calhène, Vendôme, France). Three isolators were used; each contained one cage of four mice. Mice were provided, ad libitum, sterile tap water and a gamma-irradiated standard diet (R03-40, S.A.F.E., Augy, France). Their bedding was composed of wood shavings and they were also given cellulose sheets as enrichment. The light/dark cycle was 12 h/12 h, the temperature was maintained between 20 and 22°C, and humidity was between 45 to 55%. All procedures related to the use of germ-free mice were approved by the Local Ethics Committee (Comethea: reference number 45) and by the French Ministry of Research, and were recorded under the project number 3441-2016010614307552. Once a day for 3 consecutive days, mice were orally gavaged with 16% glycerol solution in PBS buffer that contained either 10⁹ CFUs of strain IL1403, or 10⁹ CFUs of strain IL6288, or the mixture of IL1403 (pIl253:EmR) and IL6288 (pIL253: CmR) strains (10⁹ CFUs of each strain). Feces were collected and weighed at the indicated day after gavage. Then, feces were resuspended, vortexed and diluted in PBS buffer. The survival and stability of L. lactis was checked by plating fecal material on M17glu agar either antibiotic-free or supplemented with Em or Cm for the detection of IL1403 or IL6288, respectively, in the pure or the mixed cultures. CFUs were counted after 36 h of anaerobic cultivation at 30°C.

RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

Construction of Prophage-Free Derivatives of *L. lactis* IL1403

As was described previously (Bolotin et al., 2001; Chopin et al., 2001), the genome of L. lactis strain IL1403 contains six randomly distributed prophage-like elements: bIL285 (35538 bp), bIL286 (41834 bp), bIL309 (36949 bp), bIL310 (14957 bp), bIL311 (14510 bp), and bIL312 (15179 bp) (Figure 1A). The bIL309 is integrated into a tRNA^{arg} gene. Five other prophages are integrated into non-coding regions of the IL1403 chromosome. The bIL312 is integrated between the tRNA^{met} gene and the hslA gene, which codes for the bacterial histone-like protein HU and is transcribed in the opposite direction of the phage integrase gene. The bIL285 is integrated between the *ykhD* gene (codes for redox-sensing transcriptional regulator) and the *radC* gene (codes for DNA repair protein), which are oriented in the opposite direction to the prophage lysin and integrase genes, respectively. The bIL286 is integrated between the tRNA^{ser} gene and the *yofM* gene. This latter gene is transcribed in the opposite direction of the phage integrase gene and it appears to be similar to the *ylxM* gene of *Bacillus subtilis*, which encodes a component of a putative signal recognition particle. Prophage bIL310 is integrated between the genes yofE and mtlD, which encode, respectively, a protein of unknown function and mannitol-1phosphate 5-dehydrogenase. Finally, prophage bIL311, which carries two IS983 elements within its early-genes region, is located between the yucF and pdc genes, which code for a protein of unknown function and phenolic acid decarboxylase, respectively.

Prophage-like elements can be divided into two groups: the first comprising the three prophages with large genomes (33–42 kb; bIL285, bIL286, bIL309) and the second composed of the three prophages with small genomes (14-15 kb; bIL310, bIL311, and bIL312) (Figure 1B). The three smaller IL1403 prophages appear to lack the genes required for phage morphogenesis and lysis of the host cell; they have thus been considered to be prophage remnant elements. It was reported previously that the repression system that maintains lactococcal prophages in the lysogenic state in different lactococcal strains is quite tight: prophages do not appear to be activated by individual stressors such as low or high temperatures, high osmotic pressure, hydrochloric or lactic acids, hydrogen peroxide, or the antibiotic bacitracin, which targets peptidoglycan synthesis (Xie et al., 2004; Ho et al., 2016). However, treatment with ultraviolet (UV) light does cause the induction of all IL1403 prophages with the exception of bIL311 (Chopin et al., 2001), a finding that was previously employed for the deletion of the bIL285 prophage from IL1403 strain (Chopin et al., 1989). We used this existing bIL285-free strain (IL1946) and eliminated four of the remaining prophages (bIL286, bIL309, bIL310, and bIL312) via the construction of single-copy integrants using the non-replicative pIL1237 plasmid that carried the Tc^{R} gene. Prophage genomes that were marked with Tc^{R} gene were induced by UV light to enable the selection of Tc^S prophage-free clones (see the Section "Materials and Methods"). However, this method was not successful in deleting the bIL311 prophage, which was subsequently accomplished using the pGhost9 plasmid integration mutagenesis system (Maguin et al., 1996) (see the Section "Materials and Methods"). The final prophage-free derivative of strain IL1403, cured of all six prophages, was designated IL6288. In addition, we constructed several intermediate IL1403 derivatives that contained different combinations of prophages. The IL6345 and IL6353 strains were constructed by the successive deletions of bIL286 and bIL309 prophages from the parental IL1403 strain. We also evaluated the ability of the prophage-free strain, IL6288, to serve as a potential host in re-lysogenization experiments that used total phage lysate obtained after the induction of lysogenic strain IL1403 (see the Section "Materials and Methods"). Using this approach, we found that only phage bIL286 was able to relysogenize the prophage-free derivative strain; this was consistent with a previous suggestion that all the other prophages are defective (Chopin et al., 2001). The relevant genotypes of all constructed strains are listed in Table 1.

Resident Prophages Modify the Susceptibility of Host Cells to Virulent Phages

The presence of prophages in a bacterial chromosome alters the sensitivity of the host strain to infecting phages by different mechanisms. Constitutive expression of prophageencoded repressor proteins ensures immunity of the host to infection with related temperate phages. Two other mechanisms, the abortive infection (Abi) and superinfection exclusion (Sie) resistance systems protect bacteria from virulent phages (Chopin et al., 2005; Labrie et al., 2010). Strain IL1403 does not possess any Abi system, but four prophage-encoded *sie* genes have been formally identified in its genome: *orf2* (*sie*₂₈₅) in bIL285, *orf2*



(*orf2*₂₈₆), in bIL286, *orf2* (*sie*₃₀₉) in bIL309, and *orf2* (*sie*₃₁₂) in bIL312 (McGrath et al., 2002; Mahony et al., 2008). These *sie* genes are located within the phage lysogeny modules; they are expressed in the lysogenic state and encode proteins with membrane-spanning regions and/or a hydrophobic N-terminus (McGrath et al., 2002; Mahony et al., 2008). When produced using the nisin-inducible expression system in *L. lactis* ssp. *cremoris* strain MG1363, *sie*₃₀₉ and *sie*₃₁₂ provided resistance against several phages from the 936 phage group by blocking phage DNA injection. Sie proteins have been detected in different IL1403 proteomes, indicating that these proteins are produced in substantial amounts (Drews et al., 2004; Beganovic et al., 2010).

To examine the impact of resident prophages on a cell's sensitivity to infection with virulent phages, *L. lactis* IL1403 and its derivative strains were assayed against a range of 936- and c2-like phages (see the Section "Materials and Methods"). For 12 of the 14 virulent phages from our laboratory collection, phage titers and plaque morphology were identical for all tested

strains (**Table 2**, data shown for bIL170 and bIL67). However, the presence or absence of resident prophages had a detectable effect on the activity of phages bIL14 and c2; these two virulent phages had different titers and showed variable plaque morphology when propagated on the parent strain IL1403 or its prophage-free derivative IL6288 (**Table 2**). Both properties were unaffected by the identity of the host strain (IL1403 or IL6288) that had been used for initial phage propagation (data shown for phage stocks prepared in IL1403 strain).

The development of the 936-like phage bIL14 was positively affected by the deletion of all six prophages: the titer of bIL14 obtained by plating on IL6288 was more than ten times higher than on the parental strain (**Table 2**). Additionally, no turbid plaques were detected on strain IL6288 (**Figure 2A**). Instead, bIL14 appeared to have varying effects on the intermediate strains. The development of bIL14 in strains IL1946, IL6353, IL6260, IL6328, and IL6277 was similar to that in IL1403, while the development of bIL14 in IL6250, IL6345, and IL6354 was
TABLE 2 Resident prophages of *L. lactis* IL1403 interfere with infection by virulent phages.

Strain	train		Relevant	genotype				Phage titer	a (PFU/ml) ^b	
							93	6 Phage species	с	2 Phage species
							bIL170	bIL14	blL67	c2
IL1403	blL285	blL286	blL309	blL310	blL311	blL312	1 × 10 ⁸ c ^c	$2.7 \times 10^{6} \text{ c}; 1.2 \times 10^{6} \text{ t}^{d}$	1 × 10 ⁸ c	1.1 × 10 ⁵ c, s ^e ; 3.3 × 10 ⁶ t
IL1946		blL286	bIL309	blL310	blL311	blL312	1 × 10 ⁸ c	8.4×10^5 c; 8×10^5	1 × 10 ⁸ c	2.5×10^4 c, s; 5.1×10^4 t
IL6345	bIL285		bIL309	blL310	blL311	blL312	1 × 10 ⁸ c	$4.4 \times 10^7 \text{ c}$	1 × 10 ⁸ c	2.5×10^5 c, s; 2.6×16^5 t
IL6351			bIL309	blL310	blL311	blL312	1 × 10 ⁸ c	2 × 10 ⁵ c	1 × 10 ⁸ c	1.8×10^3 c, s; 9.1×10^4
IL6248		blL286		blL310	blL311	blL312	1 × 10 ⁸ c	$4.1 \times 10^{5} c$	1 × 10 ⁸ c	1×10^5 c, s; 2.2 × 10 ⁵ t
IL6353	blL285			blL310	blL311	blL312	1×10^8 c	$1 \times 10^{6} \text{ c}; 6 \times 10^{5} \text{ t}$	1 × 10 ⁸ c	2.3×10^5 c, s; 1.5×10^6 t
IL6250				blL310	blL311	bIL312	1 × 10 ⁸ c	$4.5 \times 10^{7} c$	1 × 10 ⁸ c	8.9×10^4 c, s; 7.2 \times 10^4 t
IL6260					blL311	bIL312	1 × 10 ⁸ c	1.5 × 10 ⁶ c; 5 × 10 ⁶ t	1 × 10 ⁸ c	3×10^4 c, s; 3×10^5 t
IL6328					blL311		1 × 10 ⁸ c	$2.1 \times 10^{6} \text{ c}; 3.8 \times 10^{6} \text{ t}$	1 × 10 ⁸ c	4×10^{5} c; 2×10^{5} t
IL6277						blL312	1 × 10 ⁸ c	$1.8 \times 10^{6} \text{ c}; 5.1 \times 10^{6} \text{ t}$	1 × 10 ⁸ c	$1 \times 10^{6} \text{ c}; 6 \times 10^{6} \text{ t}$
IL6354		blL286					1 × 10 ⁸ c	$4.5 \times 10^7 \text{ c}$	1 × 10 ⁸ c	$9.5 \times 10^{6} \text{ c}; 1 \times 10^{6} \text{ t}$
IL6288			Propha	ge-free			1 × 10 ⁸ c	$4.9 \times 10^{7} c$	1 × 10 ⁸ c	8.8×10^{6} c; 1.5×10^{7} t

a, average of three independent experiments; b, PFU: plaque forming units; c, c: clear plaques; d, t: turbid plaques; e, s: small plaques.

similar to the prophage-free strain (Figure 2A and Table 2). Thus, it appeared that bIL14 had the maximal plating efficiency on strains, which were deleted for bIL286 either singly (as in strain IL6345) or together with other large prophages (IL6250). This could be evidence that the bIL286-encoded orf2286 sie gene plays an important role in bIL14 infection. However, the stimulatory effect of bIL286 deletion on the efficiency of bIL14 infection disappeared with the single deletion of either bIL285 or bIL309 (IL6351 and IL6353, respectively, Table 2), which suggests that the relationship between the three prophages is complex. Furthermore, the simultaneous deletion of the three small prophages (bIL310, bIL311, and bIL312) increased bIL14 plating efficiency to the level found in the prophage-free strain, even in the presence of bIL286 (IL6354). Instead, the intermediate strains IL6248 and IL6351 showed lower sensitivity to bIL14 than the parental strain did (Figure 2A). These strains carry all three small prophages (bIL310, bIL311, bIL312) and either bIL286 or bIL309, but lack bIL285. At present, the molecular basis for the behavior of the bIL14 phage cannot be explained because its genome sequence is unknown. However, these results are consistent with previously reported data that indicated that prophage-encoded Sie defense systems were effective only against a limited group of the virulent 936-like phages, based on a highly specific direct interaction between the Sie protein and a structural element of the adsorbed phage (Mahony et al., 2008).

For the prolate-headed phage c2, the highest titers and clear plaques were likewise found in the prophage-deleted strain, IL6288, while the lowest titers and the mixture of small clear and turbid plaques were found in IL1403 and any strain carrying the two small prophages bIL311 and bIL312 (i.e., strains IL6250, IL1946, IL6248, IL6345, IL6351, IL6353, and IL6360) (Figure 2B and Table 2). The presence of phage bIL311 played a major role in the inhibition of c2 infection (compare strains IL6328 and IL6277, Table 2), but this inhibitory effect was further intensified by the presence of bIL312 (compare strains IL6328 and IL6260, Figure 2B and Table 2). Previous investigations



of the bIL312 phage found that its *orf2* (*sie*₃₁₂) gene provided resistance against 936-like phages, but not c2 phages; instead, no putative resistance genes have yet been identified in the genome of bIL311 (McGrath et al., 2002; Mahony et al., 2008). This suggests that the effects observed here were caused by as-yet-unidentified bIL311- and bIL312-encoded resistance function(s). It has been shown recently that two late bIL311 genes, *orf17* and *orf18*, and one bIL312 gene, *orf21*, are expressed in the host IL1403 strain (Dijkstra et al., 2016). The predicted Orf17 protein shows homology to proteins from the GNAT family of acetyltransferases. The predicted Orf18 protein contains a helix-turn-helix DNA-binding motif. No homology to proteins of known function can be detected for bIL312 *orf21*.

It should be noted that the genomes of two prolate-headed phages tested here, bIL67 and c2, are highly similar at the overall nucleotide level, but there is a region that is much less conserved (51.9% of identity) which contains three late-expressed genes involved in host-range determination (Lubbers et al., 1995; Millen and Romero, 2016). To infect a host cell, all c2-like phages first recognize carbohydrate receptors on the cell surface in order to ensure the reversible binding of the phage to the host cell. Next, c2 phage interacts with the cell-membrane protein receptor Pip (phage infection protein), which results in irreversible binding and is essential for subsequent injection of phage DNA (reviewed in Mahony et al., 2016). However, bIL67 requires a different cell-membrane-associated protein receptor, YjaE. The factors that determine the utilization of either Pip or YjaE are encoded by genes from the non-conserved genomic regions of c2 and bIL67, respectively (Millen and Romero, 2016). This may explain the different behavior observed here between c2 and bIL67 phages during infection of the wild-type and prophage-free strains: it could be that the prophage-encoded proteins modify the arrangement of the specific cellular receptors required for infection by c2, but not by bIL67.

Altogether, our results indicate that prophage genes may contribute to the resistance of their host to virulent phage infection. In addition to the *sie* genes previously identified in the IL1403 genome, other as-yet-unidentified prophage-encoded functions (for example, those encoded by bIL311) are probably involved in phage resistance and await further investigation.

Prophage-Free Strain Shows Increased Resistance to Cell-Wall-Specific Antimicrobials

To compare the susceptibility of IL1403 and its prophage-free derivative to antimicrobial agents, we selected two commonly used cell-wall inhibitors, lysozyme, and nisin. Lysozyme, which is an important element of the innate immune system in animals, acts through hydrolysis of peptidoglycan (PG) sugar chains. In addition to this enzymatic activity, lysozyme, like nisin, also has non-enzymatic inhibitory effects based on cationic antimicrobial peptide (CAMP) activity; this kills bacteria through the formation of pores and destabilization of the cytoplasmic membrane via mechanisms involving interactions with phospholipids (Herbert et al., 2007; Roy et al., 2009). Bacterial resistance to CAMP activity occurs through modification of the cellular membrane or the interception of CAMPs by cell envelope-associated or secreted proteases (Roy et al., 2009; Koprivnjak and Peschel, 2011).

To test the impact of the resident prophages on their host's sensitivity to antimicrobial agents, we examined the growth of IL1403 and its derivatives in the presence of lysozyme or nisin (see the Section "Materials and Methods"). As shown in **Figures 3A,B**, parental strain IL1403 was highly sensitive to both lysozyme and nisin, while its prophage-free derivative, IL6288, was much more resistant to both antimicrobials. The IL6353 strain, which carried the bIL285 prophage, showed the same pattern of growth inhibition as IL1403, while the bIL285-free derivatives tested (IL1946, IL6351, IL6248) were similar to IL6288 in showing increased resistance to both antimicrobials (data shown for IL6248).

Our results demonstrated that the resident prophages, especially bIL285, increase the sensitivity of IL1403 to antimicrobials. We suggest that the cause of this may lie in modifications made by prophage-encoded proteins to the bacterial membrane and/or PG that increase host sensitivity to lysozyme and nisin. For example, the orf2 (sie₂₈₅) protein, encoded by the constitutively expressed lysogeny module, could serve as a mediator of the CAMP-membrane interaction. orf2 (sie₂₈₅) was detected in the proteome of L. lactis (Drews et al., 2004) and later recognized as a membrane protein that contains a bacterial Pleckstrin-homology (PHb) domain (Xu et al., 2010). It has been shown that membrane-associated PHb-containing proteins can interact with phosphatidylinositol lipids (Xu et al., 2010). Thus, it may be that the orf2 (sie₂₈₅) protein modifies the phospholipid organization of the membrane and thereby increases host sensitivity to antimicrobials. In addition, the cell-wall hydrolase activity encoded by the bIL285 and/or bIL286 prophages (Visweswaran et al., 2017) may also contribute to fragility of the cell wall and increase the sensitivity of the parent strain to cell-wall-specific antimicrobials. Similarly, an increased sensitivity to lysozyme was recently demonstrated for lysogenic Streptococcus suis strain SS2-4 compared to its prophage-free derivative, but no molecular mechanism was proposed to explain this observation (Tang et al., 2013).

The experimental validation of the involvement of phageencoded lysins and/or orf2 (*sie*₂₈₅) in the sensitivity of lactococci to antimicrobials requires further investigation.

Resident Prophage Modifies the Autolytic Properties of *L. lactis* IL1403

The autolytic properties of *L. lactis* are crucial for its use in dairy fermentation and are also considerated in health applications (Lortal and Chapot-Chartier, 2005; Bermudez-Humaran et al., 2013). Bacterial autolysis is a complex phenomenon determined by multiple factors: the composition and structure of cellular PG, the expression and activity of peptidoglycan hydrolases (PGHs) and proteolytic enzymes, and the activity of prophageencoded lytic enzymes (Lepeuple et al., 1998; O'Sullivan et al., 2000; Pillidge et al., 2002; Lortal and Chapot-Chartier, 2005; Visweswaran et al., 2017). Altogether, these factors determine important variations in autolysis levels that are found among lactococcal strains, and make the selection of an appropriate autolytic strain a difficult task. Previous studies of the autolysis of lactococcal cells have investigated the role of the main cellular autolytic enzyme, N-acetyl muramidase (AcmA), and the influence of the prophages bIL285, bIL286, and bIL309, which possess two-component lysis cassettes that encode lysin-holin complexes (Pillidge et al., 2002; Labrie et al., 2004; Visweswaran et al., 2017). Expression of the corresponding prophage genes was not detected by global transcriptome analyses, but was instead demonstrated by qRT-PCR (Xie et al., 2004; Cretenet et al., 2011; Visweswaran et al., 2017). Phage-specific endolysin activity was detected in the cell-free extracts only after UV induction of prophages (Visweswaran et al., 2017).

To examine the impact of the resident prophages on the autolysis of growing lactococcal cells, we first applied the standard plate assay for the detection of PGH activity, using lyophilized *M. luteus* cells at both 30° C (to simulate fermentation conditions) and at 37° C (to simulate the gastrointestinal environment) (see the Section "Materials and Methods").



FIGURE 3 Sensitivity of *L. lactis* IL1403 and its derivative strains IL1946 (blL285-free), IL6353 (blL286-, blL309-free), and IL6288 to (**A**) lysozyme and (**B**) nisin. Serial dilutions of overnight cultures (from 10^{-3} to 10^{-5}) were spotted on M17glu agar containing either lysozyme (from 0 to 0.5 mg/ml; **A**) or nisin (from 0 to 300 ng/ml; **B**). Colonies were counted after 36 h of incubation at 30°C. The bars represent average values from three independent experiments, including two biological replicas for each strain.



FIGURE 4 | Autolytic properties of IL1403 and its prophage-free derivative strain IL6288. (A) Lytic activity of growing *L. lactis* IL1403 and IL6288 cells was examined by plating serial dilutions of overnight cultures on M17glu agar plates that contained 0.2% (wt/vol) autoclaved, lyophilized cells of *M. luteus* ATCC 4698. Images were acquired with a ChemiDoc MP System after 48 h of incubation at 30°C or 37°C. Autolysis of *L. lactis* IL1403 and its derivative strains IL6351 (blL285-, blL286-free) and IL6288 (prophage-free) at 30°C (B) and 37°C (C). Exponentially grown cells were washed and re-suspended in 50 mM potassium phosphate buffer in the absence or presence of 0.05% Triton X-100 (+TX100). Lysis was monitored by measuring the OD₆₀₀ of the cell suspensions at 15-min intervals with an automated multimode plate reader (Synergy 2, BioTek Instruments, Inc). For each strain, the mean values of three independent suspensions, analyzed simultaneously, are plotted and expressed as the percentage decrease in OD₆₀₀, the SDs were \leq 10%. Similar autolytic profiles were obtained in three independent experiments. The results presented are of a representative experiment.

We observed no difference between the halos formed by the parent and the derivative strains during growth at either 30°C or 37°C (**Figure 4A**, data shown for IL1403 and IL6288). This suggests that the main cellular autolysin, AcmA, exhibits

the same level of activity in all tested strains and that the contribution of the prophage-encoded lytic enzymes to cellular autolytic activity is insignificant in the tested growth conditions. Next, to determine the impact of the resident prophages

on autolysis of non-growing cells, we performed a standard turbidimetric assay using autolysis buffer that contained the non-ionic detergent Triton X-100 (see the Section "Materials and Methods"); Triton X-100 permeabilizes bacterial cells via solubilization of integral membrane proteins and does not affect PG composition or the activity of PGHs (Schnaitman, 1971). As shown in Figures 4B,C, the prophage-free strain exhibited an autolysis rate similar to that of the parental strain at both 30°C and 37°C. In order to examine the putative roles of the prophage-encoded integral membrane proteins in IL1403, we repeated the autolysis test without the use of Triton X-100. At 30°C, both strains exhibited weak autolytic activity, which is characteristic for non-induced autolysis. Furthermore, IL1403 showed similar autolysis profiles at 37°C in the presence or absence of Triton X-100. Instead, in the absence of the detergent the autolysis rate of IL6288 at 37°C increased significantly compared to that of IL1403 (Figure 4C). To identify the prophage(s) primarily responsible for the observed phenotype, we assessed the autolytic properties at 37°C of L. lactis IL1403 derivatives that contained different prophages. In the presence of Triton X-100, all showed autolytic profiles identical to the parental strain. However, in the absence of Triton X-100, profiles differed among strains. Strains IL6351 and IL6248 (both lacking bIL285) showed autolytic profiles similar to that of prophagefree IL6288 (Figure 4C, data shown for IL6351). The unusual autolytic profiles of the non-permeabilized bIL285-free L. lactis cells suggest that bIL285 encodes protein(s) that protect L. lactis IL1403 cells from autolysis under the non-growth conditions, In this, L. lactis may be similar to Streptococcus pneumonia, in which it was recently shown that the presence of a phagelike element correlated with a delay in autolysis (DeBardeleben et al., 2014). This inhibition of autolysis was not attributed to alterations in the amount or activity of the major autolysin LytA, but was instead explained by increased cross-linking within the cell wall.

These results suggest that bIL285-encoded protein(s) may change the autolytic properties of the host by modifying the cellular membrane rather than through interfering with the activity of autolysins. The influence of temperature on this phenomenon is of special interest and may have implications for the industrial and therapeutic applications.

Prophages Interfere With the Growth Rate and Survival of *L. lactis* Cells

The impact of prophages on bacterial fitness is not obvious. Some prophage-free derivative strains exhibit improved fitness compared to parental strains under conditions that trigger prophage induction, but in other cases prophages can be beneficial for their hosts (Wang et al., 2010; Verghese et al., 2011; Baumgart et al., 2013; Wiles et al., 2013; Martínez-García et al., 2014). Most research conducted to date has focused on the roles of resident prophages and prophage-like elements in *E. coli* and different bacterial pathogens, but less information is available for lysogenic bacteria from other ecological systems (Wang et al., 2010; Casas and Maloy, 2011; Verghese et al., 2011; Fortier and Sekulovic, 2013; Tang et al., 2013).

To address the overall effect of the resident prophages on the fitness of L. lactis IL1403, we first investigated the growth rate of lysogenic and prophage-free strains at 30°C and at 37°C in rich M17 medium (see the Section "Materials and Methods"). At 30°C, no significant difference was observed between the growth rates of the parental and the prophage-free derivative strains within the time of our experiment (\sim 15 h) (Figure 5A). At 37°C, instead, both strains grew at a uniform rate, but the prophage-free IL6288 strain reached and maintained a plateau of stationary growth at a higher OD than that of the parental strain (Figure 5A). These results indicate that the prophages present in L. lactis IL1403 do not play an important role during exponential growth under the standard laboratory conditions, but the prophage-free derivative has a growth advantage at the increased incubation temperature. The decrease in growth observed for the parental strain was not caused by prophage induction, as high temperature (37°C) does not provoke the excision of phage DNA (Chopin et al., 2001; Ho et al., 2016).

Next, we examined the effect of resident prophages on the survival of host cells during stationary-phase growth (Figures 5B,C). Long-term viability of lactococcal strains is a crucial characteristic for their use in fermentation and storage of dairy foods (Stanton et al., 2005; Bron and Kleerebezem, 2011). Both strains IL1403 and IL6288 showed a rapid decrease in viability during growth at 37°C (Figure 5C). In contrast, the survival of IL1403 after 75 h of growth at 30°C was higher than that of its prophage-free derivative (Figure 5B). Both strains entered into the stationary phase at the same time, but IL1403 retained at least 90% of its viability for approximately 50 h after reaching the stationary phase, while the viability of the prophagefree strain decreased over that time. To examine the contribution of individual prophages to the survival of the host cells, we then estimated the viability of the intermediate prophage-free derivative strains. The viability of the IL6250 strain carrying only small prophages during the stationary-phase growth at 30°C was intermediate between the parental strain and its prophage-free derivative (Figure 5B).

Our results demonstrate that prophage genes improve the stationary-phase survival of lysogenic *L. lactis* strains at a temperature appropriate for growth. Indeed, this type of conditional selection was suggested to contribute to the stabilization of the domesticated prophage genomes (Bobay et al., 2014). Thus, prophage genes could represent an important selective advantage for *L. lactis* strains during the fermentation process.

Prophages Adversely Affect Aerobic and Heme-Activated Respiration Growth of *L. lactis*

Survival of *L. lactis* in aerobic environments is generally poor, as oxygen induces DNA, protein and membrane damage (Duwat et al., 2001; Rezaïki et al., 2004). However, *L. lactis* growth can be greatly improved under these conditions if there is a supply of heme, an iron–containing porphyrin essential for activation of the respiration electron transfer chain. Compared with aerobic growth, respiratory growth increases lactococcal biomass and



FIGURE 5 (Growth and survival of *L. lactis* IL1403 and its derivative strains at 30°C and 3°C. (**A**) For growth experiments, non-aerated cultures of strains IL1403 and IL6288 were incubated in M17glu medium at the given temperature in a multimode microplate reader (Synergy 2, BioTek Instruments, Inc). OD_{600} was measured at 15-min intervals for the indicated time; cultures were gently agitated prior to sampling. Each experiment included four independent cultures of each strain. For each strain, the mean values of three independent cultures, analyzed simultaneously, are plotted, and the SDs were \leq 10%. Growth curves of each strain were established at least four times. Survival experiments were performed in static growth conditions at 30°C (**B**) and 37°C (**C**). Cultures of IL1403, IL6250 (bIL285-, bIL286-, bIL309-free), and prophage-free IL6288 were incubated in M17glu medium at the indicated temperature. Cell survival was monitored by counting CFUs after plating bacterial cultures on M17glu agar. Colonies were counted after 36 h of incubation at 30°C. Each data point (CFUs/ml) is the mean of three counts.



FIGURE 6 | Effect of heme on the growth of *L. lactis* IL1403 and its prophage-free derivative strain IL6288. For the assay of heme-induced toxicity (A), autoclaved heme was added to static cultures of *L. lactis* IL1403 and IL6288 at an OD₆₀₀ of 0.6 at the indicated concentrations. Cultures were incubated at 30°C under non-aerated conditions. After 1 h, viable cell numbers were determined by spotting indicated serial dilutions of the bacterial cultures onto M17glu agar. Images were acquired with a ChemiDoc MP system after 36 h of incubation at 30°C. This experiment was performed twice; the results of a representative experiment are shown. For the characterization of growth under aerated conditions (B–E), cultures of IL1403 and its derivative strains were incubated in M17glu medium with (+H) or without heme in a multimode microplate reader (Synergy 2, BioTek Instruments, Inc) with constant shaking at 30°C (B,D) or 37°C (C,E). Each experiment included four independent cultures of each strain. For each strain, the mean values of three independent cultures, analyzed simultaneously, are plotted. Growth curves of each strain were established three times. The results presented are of a representative experiment.

long-term survival (Rezaïki et al., 2004). Because of this, hemeactivated respiration conditions have been already used for dairy starter production and may open new avenues for the use of *L. lactis* in health-related contexts (Teusink and Smid, 2006; Pedersen et al., 2012). However, free heme causes toxicity at high concentrations due to its ability to generate reactive oxygen species (Lechardeur et al., 2011).

Considering the importance of this aspect of lactococcal physiology, we wanted to investigate how prophage content influences the resistance of *L. lactis* IL1403 to heme and its survival under aeration and/or respiration conditions. First, we determined whether resident prophages influence the tolerance of the bacterial host to heme (Materials and Methods). As shown

in **Figure 6A**, there were only slight differences between strains IL1403 and IL6288 in sensitivity to treatment with heme, which was performed under static conditions of growth at 30°C. This suggests that resident prophages have little or no impact on the regulation of heme uptake and degradation, which are known to determine heme tolerance in bacteria (Lechardeur et al., 2011).

We next compared the growth of the parental strain and its derivatives under aerobic conditions at 30° C and 37° C (see the Section "Materials and Methods"). For all strains, the negative effects of oxygen on cell growth were more apparent at 37° C than at 30° C. As shown in **Figures 6B,C**, the growth period of prophage-free strain IL6288 was extended compared to that of the parental strain, so that IL6288 cultures entered into



the stationary phase at a higher optical density than those of IL1403. In general, the growth kinetics of the prophage-free strain were similar to those of intermediate strains that carried only the three small prophages (IL6250) or strains with the small prophages and either bIL309 or bIL286 (Figure 6C; data shown for IL6250 grown at 37°C). Instead, the strains that carried the

three small prophages together with bIL285 (strain IL6353) or with bIL309 and bIL286 (strain IL1946) showed intermediate growth profiles (**Figure 6C**; data shown for IL6353 grown at 37° C).

It has been shown that the cleavage of the lactococcal phage repressors by RecA results in prophage induction (Chopin et al., 2001). In *L. lactis*, oxygen provokes DNA-damage and an increase of RecA activity (Rezaïki et al., 2004). Thus, the oxidative stress may stimulate induction of the resident prophages, which in turn may negatively affect bacterial growth. In addition, negative effect of the increased temperature in the conditions stimulating DNA damage might be due to the thermosensitive nature of the double-strand break repair enzyme, RexAB, responsible for the main recombination-mediated DNA repair pathway in lactococci (El Karoui et al., 1998).

Because DNA damage of *L. lactis* cells under respiration conditions is reduced by the presence of heme (Rezaïki et al., 2004), we next examined the effect of heme addition on the growth of two *L. lactis* strains in aerobic conditions (see the Section "Materials and Methods"). As shown in **Figures 6D,E**, the growth of the prophage-free strain was improved by the addition of heme at both 30° C and at 37° C. Conversely, the growth of IL1403 was improved at 30° C but was weakened at 37° C. This suggests that heme is more toxic to cells grown under aeration conditions at increased temperature. Moreover, this effect correlates with the presence of prophages.

These data demonstrate that deletion of the resident prophages from strain IL1403 positively affects the aerobic

growth of lactococcal cells and significantly increases the positive effect of heme-activated respiration.

Prophage-Free Strain Has Improved Survival in the Digestive Tract of Germfree Mice

The majority of *L. lactis* strains do not survive the passage through the digestive tract. However, this bacterium's high potential for therapeutic use has stimulated the search for factors that increase its ability to persist in the gastrointestinal environment (Vesa et al., 2000; Kimoto et al., 2003). Under these conditions, bacterial physiology may be affected in a number of ways. For example, the different physicochemical stressors in the digestive tract (e.g., nitric oxide or bile salts) might activate the bacterial SOS response and subsequently, the induction of prophages. Even prior to induction, though, prophage-encoded functions might modify the host's PG and/or cell membrane, weaken the cell wall, and increase the sensitivity of lysogenic bacteria to lysozyme and other host defense factors (see above).

To evaluate the impact of the resident prophages on lactococcal survival and/or colonization in the digestive tract, we used a germfree mouse model. Specifically, we determined the viability of *L. lactis* IL1403 and IL6288 cells after oral gavages of either pure (IL1403, IL6288) or mixed (50:50 IL1403:IL6288) bacterial cultures (see the Section "Materials and Methods"). After passage through the stressful gastrointestinal conditions, strain IL6288 demonstrated significantly enhanced survival compared to the parent strain. As shown in **Figure** 7, the population of IL1403 cells decreased considerably during the experimental period (from approximately 10⁵ CFUs/g feces at the 4th day after administration to 10^2 CFU/g feces at the 17th day, either in pure IL1403 culture or in mixed culture with IL6288). This is consistent with previously published results

demonstrating the poor survival of lactococcal strains in the digestive tract (Drouault et al., 1999; Vesa et al., 2000; Kimoto et al., 2003). In contrast, the population of IL6288 cells was relatively stable, remaining at approximately 10^7 to 10^6 CFUs/g feces both in the pure and the mixed culture during the experimental period (17 days).

We suggest that, the increased resistance to lysozyme (see above) can be an important factor determining the survival of IL6288 cells through the digestive tract of mice. On the other hand, the repression system(s) of IL1403 prophages may be rather sensitive to some specific gastrointestinal stresses. Thus, prophage induction may also contribute negatively to the survival of the lysogenic strain.

These data indicate that the deletion of the resident prophages was a decisive factor in the ability of *L. lactis* cells to survive within the gastrointestinal environment. This finding may have major implications for the use of *L. lactis* strains as biotherapeutic agents, because prophage-free derivatives may be able to function more effectively as vaccines and/or probiotic strains.

CONCLUSION

Our results reveal the significant contribution that resident prophages make to diverse aspects of *L. lactis* cell physiology, many of which are relevant to the use of *L. lactis* for industrial and health applications. They also indicate that a resident prophage, alone or in combination with others, shapes the cellular phenotype and influences its plasticity in response to the environment. Under experimental conditions that were comparable to those of industrial fermentation, the lactococcal prophages were mostly beneficial for host survival. However, the presence of prophages had clear adverse effects when *L. lactis* was

REFERENCES

- Ainsworth, S., Zomer, A., de Jager, V., Bottacini, F., van Hijum, S. A., Mahony, J., et al. (2013). Complete genome of *Lactococcus lactis* subsp. *cremoris* UC509. 9, host for a model lactococcal P335 bacteriophage. *Genome Announc*. 1:e00119-12. doi: 10.1128/genomeA.00119-12
- Anba, J., Bidnenko, E., Hillier, A., Ehrlich, D., and Chopin, M. C. (1995). Characterization of the lactococcal abiD1 gene coding for phage abortive infection. J. Bacteriol. 177, 3818–3823. doi: 10.1128/jb.177.13.3818-3823.1995
- Baumgart, M., Unthan, S., Rückert, C., Sivalingam, J., Grünberger, A., Kalinowski, J., et al. (2013). Construction of a prophage-free variant of *Corynebacterium glutamicum* ATCC 13032 for use as a platform strain for basic research and industrial biotechnology. *Appl. Environ. Microbiol.* 79, 6006–6015. doi: 10.1128/AEM.01634-13
- Beganovic, J., Guillot, A., van de Guchte, M., Jouan, A., Gitton, C., Loux, V., et al. (2010). Characterization of the insoluble proteome of *Lactococcus lactis* by SDS-PAGE LC-MS/MS leads to the identification of new markers of adaptation of the bacteria to the mouse digestive tract. *J. Prot. Res.* 9, 677–688. doi: 10.1021/ pr9000866
- Bermudez-Humaran, L. G., Aubry, C., Motta, J. P., Deraison, C., Steidler, L., Vergnolle, N., et al. (2013). Engineering lactococci and lactobacilli for human health. *Curr. Opin. Microbiol.* 16, 278–283. doi: 10.1016/j.mib.2013.06.002
- Blatny, J. M., Ventura, M., Rosenhaven, E. M., Risøen, P. A., Lunde, M., Brüssow, H., et al. (2003). Transcriptional analysis of the genetic elements involved in the lysogeny/lysis switch in the temperate lactococcal bacteriophage

exposed to the conditions of the gastrointestinal environment. Our construction of a prophage-free strain of *L. lactis* opens new avenues for both fundamental and applied studies of different aspects of lactoccoccal cell behavior, including the response to environmental stresses and bacteria-phage and bacteria-host interactions in a "pure" bacterial genetic background. As *L. lactis* continues to grow in economic importance, this work can assist in the rational selection of strains for both the industrial manufacturing of fermented dairy products and therapeutic applications for human and animal health.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

EB, FC, and PL designed the experiments. AA and EB performed all the major experiments. AA and FC carried out the animal experiment. EB wrote the manuscript. All the authors approved the manuscript for publication.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We are deeply grateful to S. D. Ehrlich in whose laboratory this study was initiated and to M. C. Chopin, who coordinated the early stages of this work. We thank Sylvia Le-Guin and members of the Anaxem Platform, MICALIS, Jouy-en-Josas, France for the assistance and help with the mice experiments.

SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIAL

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fmicb. 2018.02032/full#supplementary-material

¢LC3, and identification of the Cro-like protein ORF76. Mol. Gen. Genomics 269, 487-498. doi: 10.1007/s00438-003-0854-y

- Bobay, L. M., Touchon, M., and Rocha, E. P. (2014). Pervasive domestication of defective prophages by bacteria. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 111, 12127–12132. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1405336111
- Bolotin, A., Wincker, P., Mauger, S., Jaillon, O., Malarme, K., Weissenbach, J., et al. (2001). The complete genome sequence of the lactic acid bacterium *Lactococcus lactis* ssp. *lactis* IL1403. *Genome Res.* 11, 731–753. doi: 10.1101/gr. 169701
- Boyce, J. D., Davidson, B. E., and Hillier, A. J. (1995). Identification of prophage genes expressed in lysogens of the *Lactococcus lactis* bacteriophage BK5-T. *Appl. Environ. Microbiol.* 61, 4099–4104.
- Bron, P. A., and Kleerebezem, M. (2011). Engineering lactic acid bacteria for increased industrial functionality. *Bioeng Bugs* 2, 80–87. doi: 10.4161/bbug.2. 2.13910
- Casas, V., and Maloy, S. (2011). Role of bacteriophage-encoded exotoxins in the evolution of bacterial pathogens. *Future Microbiol.* 6, 1461–1473. doi: 10.2217/ fmb.11.124
- Chopin, A., Bolotin, A., Sorokin, A., Ehrlich, S. D., and Chopin, M. C. (2001). Analysis of six prophages in *Lactococcus lactis* IL1403: different genetic structure of temperate and virulent phage populations. *Nucleic Acids Res.* 29, 644–651. doi: 10.1093/nar/29.3.644
- Chopin, M. C., Chopin, A., and Bidnenko, E. (2005). Phage abortive infection in lactococci: variations on a theme. *Curr. Opin. Microbiol.* 8, 473–479. doi: 10.1016/j.mib.2005.06.006

- Chopin, M. C., Chopin, A., Rouault, A., and Galleron, N. (1989). Insertion and amplification of foreign genes in the *Lactococcus lactis* subsp. *lactis* chromosome. *Appl. Environ. Microbiol.* 55, 1769–1774.
- Cretenet, M., Laroute, V., Ulvé, V., Jeanson, S., Nouaille, S., Even, S., et al. (2011). Dynamic analysis of the *Lactococcus lactis* transcriptome in cheeses made from milk concentrated by ultrafiltration reveals multiple strategies of adaptation to stresses. *Appl. Environ. Microbiol.* 77, 247–257. doi: 10.1128/AEM.01174-10
- de Vos, W. M. (2011). Systems solutions by lactic acid bacteria: from paradigms to practice. *Microb. Cell Fact.* 10:S2. doi: 10.1186/1475-2859-10-S1-S2
- DeBardeleben, H. K., Lysenko, E. S., Dalia, A. B., and Weiser, J. N. (2014). Tolerance of a phage element by *Streptococcus pneumoniae* leads to a fitness defect during colonization. *J. Bacteriol.* 196, 2670–2680. doi: 10.1128/JB.01 556-14
- Deveau, H., Labrie, S. J., Chopin, M. C., and Moineau, S. (2006). Biodiversity and classification of lactococcal phages. *Appl. Environ. Microbiol.* 72, 4338–4346. doi: 10.1128/AEM.02517-05
- Dijkstra, A. R., Alkema, W., Starrenburg, M. J. C., Hugenholtz, J., van Hijum, S. A. F. T., and Bron, P. A. (2016). Strain-dependent transcriptome signatures for robustness in *Lactococcus lactis. PLoS One* 11:e0167944. doi: 10.1371/ journal.pone.0167944
- Douillard, F. P., and De Vos, W. M. (2014). Functional genomics of lactic acid bacteria: from food to health. *Microb. Cell Fact.* 13(Suppl. 1):S8. doi: 10.1186/ 1475-2859-13-S1-S8
- Drews, O., Reil, G., Parlar, H., and Görg, A. (2004). Setting up standards and a reference map for the alkaline proteome of the Gram-positive bacterium *Lactococcus lactis. Proteomics* 4, 1293–1304. doi: 10.1002/pmic.200300720
- Drouault, S., Corthier, G., Ehrlich, S. D., and Renault, P. (1999). Survival, physiology, and lysis of *Lactococcus lactis* in the digestive tract. *Appl. Environ. Microbiol.* 65, 4881–4886.
- Duwat, P., Sourice, S., Cesselin, B., Lamberet, G., Vido, K., Gaudu, P., et al. (2001). Respiration capacity of the fermenting bacterium *Lactococcus lactis* and its positive effects on growth and survival. *J. Bacteriol.* 183, 4509–4516. doi: 10.1128/JB.183.15.4509-4516.2001
- El Karoui, M., Ehrlich, D., and Gruss, A. (1998). Identification of the lactococcal exonuclease/recombinase and its modulation by the putative Chi sequence. *Proc. Nat. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 95, 626–631. doi: 10.1073/pnas.95.2.626
- Fortier, L.-C., and Sekulovic, O. (2013). Importance of prophages to evolution and virulence of bacterial pathogens. *Virulence* 4, 354–365. doi: 10.4161/viru. 24498
- Herbert, S., Bera, A., Nerz, C., Kraus, D., Peschel, A., Goerke, C., et al. (2007). Molecular basis of resistance to muramidase and cationic antimicrobial peptide activity of lysozyme in staphylococci. *PLoS Pathog.* 3:e102. doi: 10.1371/journal. ppat.0030102
- Ho, C. H., Stanton-Cook, M., Beatson, S. A., Bansal, N., and Turner, M. S. (2016). Stability of active prophages in industrial *Lactococcus lactis* strains in the presence of heat, acid, osmotic, oxidative and antibiotic stressors. *Int. J Food Microbiol.* 220, 26–32. doi: 10.1016/j.ijfoodmicro.2015.12.012
- Howard-Varona, C., Hargreaves, K. R., Abedon, S. T., and Sullivan, M. B. (2017). Lysogeny in nature: mechanisms, impact and ecology of temperate phages. *ISME J.* 11, 1511–1520. doi: 10.1038/ismej.2017.16
- Kelleher, P., Mahony, J., Schweinlin, K., Neve, H., Franz, C. M., and van Sinderen, D. (2018). Assessing the functionality and genetic diversity of lactococcal prophages. *Int. J. Food Microbiol.* 272, 29–40. doi: 10.1016/j. ijfoodmicro.2018.02.024
- Kimoto, H., Nomura, M., Kobayashi, M., Mizumachi, K., and Okamoto, T. (2003). Survival of lactococci during passage through mouse digestive tract. *Can. J. Microbiol.* 49, 707–711. doi: 10.1139/w03-092
- Kok, J., van Gijtenbeek, L. A., de Jong, A., van der Meulen, S. B., Solopova, A., and Kuipers, O. P. (2017). The Evolution of gene regulation research in *Lactococcus lactis. FEMS Microbiol. Rev.* 41(Suppl. 1), S220–S243. doi: 10.1093/femsre/ fux028
- Koprivnjak, T., and Peschel, A. (2011). Bacterial resistance mechanisms against host defense peptides. *Cell. Mol. Life Sci.* 68, 2243–2254. doi: 10.1007/s00018-011-0716-4
- Labrie, S., Vukov, N., Loessne, M. J., and Moineau, S. (2004). Distribution and composition of the lysis cassette of *Lactococcus lactis* phages and functional analysis of bacteriophage ul36 holin. *FEMS Microbiol. Lett.* 233, 37–43. doi: 10.1016/j.femsle.2004.01.038

- Labrie, S. J., Samson, J. E., and Moineau, S. (2010). Bacteriophage resistance mechanisms. Nat. Rev. Microbiol. 8, 317–327. doi: 10.1038/nrmicro2315
- Lechardeur, D., Cesselin, B., Fernandez, A., Lamberet, G., Garrigues, C., Pedersen, M., et al. (2011). Using heme as an energy boost for lactic acid bacteria. *Curr. Opin. Biotechnol.* 22, 143–149. doi: 10.1016/j.copbio.2010.12.001
- Lepeuple, A. S., Vassal, L., Cesselin, B., Delacroix-Buchet, A., Gripon, J. C., and Chapot-Chartier, M.-P. (1998). Involvement of a prophage in the Lysis of *Lactococcus lactis* subsp. *cremoris* AM2 during Cheese Ripening. *Int. Dairy J.* 8, 667–674. doi: 10.1016/S0958-6946(98)00104-6
- Leroy, F., and De Vuyst, L. (2004). Lactic acid bacteria as functional starter cultures for the food fermentation industry. *Trends Food Sci. Technol.* 15, 67–78. doi: 10.1016/j.tifs.2003.09.004
- Lortal, S., and Chapot-Chartier, M. P. (2005). Role, mechanisms and control of lactic acid bacteria lysis in cheese. *Int. Dairy J.* 15, 857–871. doi: 10.1016/j. idairyj.2004.08.024
- Lubbers, M. W., Waterfield, N. R., Beresford, T., Le Page, R. W., and Jarvis, A. W. (1995). Sequencing and analysis of the prolate-headed lactococcal bacteriophage c2 genome and identification of the structural genes. *Appl. Environ. Microbiol.* 61, 4348–4356.
- Maguin, E., Prevost, H., Ehrlich, S. D., and Gruss, A. (1996). Efficient insertional mutagenesis in lactococci and other gram-positive bacteria. J. Bacteriol. 178, 931–935. doi: 10.1128/jb.178.3.931-935.1996
- Mahony, J., McDonnell, B., Casey, E., and van Sinderen, D. (2016). Phage-host interactions of cheese-making lactic acid bacteria. Annu. Rev. Food Sci. Technol. 7, 267–285. doi: 10.1146/annurev-food-041715-033322
- Mahony, J., McGrath, S., Fitzgerald, G. F., and van Sinderen, D. (2008). Identification and characterization of lactococcal-prophage-carried superinfection exclusion genes. *Appl. Environ. Microbiol.* 74, 6206–6215. doi: 10.1128/AEM.01053-08
- Martínez-García, E., Jatsenko, T., Kivisaar, M., and Lorenzo, V. (2014). Freeing *Pseudomonas putida* KT2440 of its proviral load strengthens endurance to environmental stresses. *Environ. Microbiol.* 17, 76–90. doi: 10.1111/1462-2920. 12492
- McGrath, S., Fitzgerald, G. F., and Sinderen, D. V. (2002). Identification and characterization of phage-resistance genes in temperate lactococcal bacteriophages. *Mol. Microbiol.* 43, 509–520. doi: 10.1046/j.1365-2958.2002. 02763.x
- Millen, A. M., and Romero, D. A. (2016). Genetic determinants of lactococcal C2viruses for host infection and their role in phage evolution. J. Gen. Virol. 97, 1998–2007. doi: 10.1099/jgv.0.000499
- O'Sullivan, D., Ross, R. P., Fitzgerald, G. F., and Coffey, A. (2000). Investigation of the relationship between lysogeny and lysis of *Lactococcus lactis* in cheese using prophage-targeted PCR. *Appl. Environ. Microbiol.* 66, 2192–2198. doi: 10.1128/AEM.66.5.2192-2198.2000
- Pedersen, M. B., Gaudu, P., Lechardeur, D., Petit, M. A., and Gruss, A. (2012). Aerobic respiration metabolism in lactic acid bacteria and uses in biotechnology. *Annu. Rev. Food Sci. Technol.* 3, 37–58. doi: 10.1146/annurevfood-022811-101255
- Pillidge, C. J., Rallabhandi, P. S., Tong, X. Z., Gopal, P. K., Farley, P. C., and Sullivan, P. A. (2002). Autolysis of *Lactococcus lactis. Int. Dairy J.* 12, 133–140. doi: 10.1016/S0958-6946(01)00135-2
- Rasmussen, B. A., Gluzman, Y., and Tally, F. P. (1994). Inhibition of protein synthesis occurring on tetracycline-resistant, TetM-protected ribosomes by a novel class of tetracyclines, the glycylcyclines. *Antimicrob. Agents Chemoth.* 38, 1658–1660. doi: 10.1128/AAC.38.7.1658
- Reyrolle, J., Chopin, M. C., Letellier, F., and Novel, G. (1982). Lysogenic strains of lactic acid streptococci and lytic spectra of their temperate bacteriophages. *Appl. Environ. Microbiol.* 43, 349–356.
- Rezaïki, L., Cesselin, B., Yamamoto, Y., Vido, K., Van West, E., Gaudu, P., et al. (2004). Respiration metabolism reduces oxidative and acid stress to improve long-term survival of *Lactococcus lactis. Mol. Microbiol.* 53, 1331–1342. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2958.2004.04217.x
- Roy, H., Dare, K., and Ibba, M. (2009). Adaptation of the bacterial membrane to changing environments using aminoacylated phospholipids. *Mol. Microbiol.* 71, 547–550. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2958.2008.06563.x
- Sambrook, J., Fritsch, E. F., and Maniatis, T. (1989). Molecular Cloning: A Laboratory Manual, 2nd Edn. Cold Spring Harbor, NY: Cold Spring Harbor Laboratory Press.

- Schnaitman, C. A. (1971). Solubilization of the cytoplasmic membrane of *Escherichia coli* by Triton X-100. J. Bacteriol. 108, 545–552.
- Seegers, J. F., Mc Grath, S., O'Connell-Motherway, M., Arendt, E. K., van de Guchte, M., Creaven, M., et al. (2004). Molecular and transcriptional analysis of the temperate lactococcal bacteriophage Tuc2009. *Virology* 329, 40–52. doi: 10.1016/j.virol.2004.07.003
- Smit, G., Smit, B. A., and Engels, W. J. (2005). Flavour formation by lactic acid bacteria and biochemical flavour profiling of cheese products. *FEMS Microbiol. Rev.* 29, 591–610. doi: 10.1016/j.fmrre.2005.04.002
- Stanton, C., Ross, R. P., Fitzgerald, G. F., and Sinderen, D. V. (2005). Fermented functional foods based on probiotics and their biogenic metabolites. *Curr. Opin. Biotechnol.* 16, 198–203. doi: 10.1016/j.copbio.2005.02.008
- Tang, F., Zhang, W., and Lu, C. (2013). Lysogenic Streptococcus suis isolate SS2-4 containing prophage SMP showed increased mortality in zebra fish compared to the wild-type isolate. PLoS One 8:e54227. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone. 0054227
- Teusink, B., and Smid, E. J. (2006). Modelling strategies for the industrial exploitation of lactic acid bacteria. *Nat. Rev. Microbiol.* 4, 46–56. doi: 10.1038/ nrmicro1319
- Ventura, M., Zomer, A., Canchaya, C., O'Connell-Motherway, M., Kuipers, O., Turroni, F., et al. (2007). Comparative analyses of prophage-like elements present in two *Lactococcus lactis* strains. *Appl. Environ. Microbiol.* 73, 7771–7780. doi: 10.1128/AEM.01273-07
- Verghese, B., Lok, M., Wen, J., Alessandria, V., Chen, Y., Kathariou, S., et al. (2011). comK prophage junction fragments as markers for *Listeria monocytogenes* genotypes unique to individual meat and poultry processing plants and a model for rapid niche-specific adaptation, biofilm formation, and persistence. *Appl. Environ. Microbiol.* 77, 3279–3292. doi: 10.1128/AEM.00 546-11
- Vesa, T., Pochart, P., and Marteau, P. (2000).). Pharmacokinetics of Lactobacillus plantarum NCIMB 8826, Lactobacillus fermentum KLD, and *Lactococcus lactis* MG 1363 in the human gastrointestinal tract. *Aliment. Pharmacol. Ther.* 14, 823–828. doi: 10.1046/j.1365-2036.2000.00763.x

- Visweswaran, G. R. R., Kurek, D., Szeliga, M., Pastrana, F. R., Kuipers, O. P., Kok, J., et al. (2017). Expression of prophage-encoded endolysins contributes to autolysis of *Lactococcus lactis*. *Appl. Microbiol. Biotechnol.* 101, 1099–1110. doi: 10.1007/s00253-016-7822-z
- Wang, X., Kim, Y., Ma, Q., Hong, S. H., Pokusaeva, K., Sturino, J. M., et al. (2010). Cryptic prophages help bacteria cope with adverse environments. *Nat. Commun.* 1:147. doi: 10.1038/ncomms1146
- Wiles, T. J., Norton, J. P., Smith, S. N., Lewis, A. J., Mobley, H. L., Casjens, S. R., et al. (2013). A phyletically rare gene promotes the niche-specific fitness of an *E. coli* pathogen during bacteremia. *PLoS Pathog.* 9:e1003175. doi: 10.1371/journal. ppat.1003175
- Xie, Y., Chou, L. S., Cutler, A., and Weimer, B. (2004). DNA macroarray profiling of *Lactococcus lactis* subsp. *lactis* IL1403 gene expression during environmental stresses. *Appl. Environ. Microbiol.* 70, 6738–6747. doi: 10.1128/AEM.70.11. 6738-6747.2004
- Xu, Q., Bateman, A., Finn, R. D., Abdubek, P., Astakhova, T., Axelrod, H. L., et al. (2010). Bacterial pleckstrin homology domains: a prokaryotic origin for the PH domain. J. Mol. Biol. 396, 31–46. doi: 10.1016/j.jmb.2009.11.006
- Zhu, D., Fu, Y., Liu, F., Xu, H., Saris, P. E. J., and Qiao, M. (2017). Enhanced heterologous protein productivity by genome reduction in *Lactococcus lactis* NZ9000. *Microb. Cell Fact.* 16:1. doi: 10.1186/s12934-016-0616-2

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2018 Aucouturier, Chain, Langella and Bidnenko. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Standardized Preparation for Fecal Microbiota Transplantation in Pigs

Jun Hu^{1,2,3†}, Lingli Chen^{1,2,3†}, Yimei Tang^{1,2,3}, Chunlin Xie^{1,2,3}, Baoyang Xu^{1,2,3}, Min Shi^{1,2,3}, Wenyong Zheng^{1,2,3}, Shuyi Zhou^{1,2,3}, Xinkai Wang^{1,2,3}, Liu Liu^{1,2,3}, Yiqin Yan^{1,2,3}, Tao Yang^{1,2,3}, Yaorong Niu^{1,2,3}, Qiliang Hou^{1,2,3}, Xiaofan Xu^{1,2,3} and Xianghua Yan^{1,2,3*}

¹ State Key Laboratory of Agricultural Microbiology, College of Animal Sciences and Technology, Huazhong Agricultural University, Wuhan, China, ² The Cooperative Innovation Center for Sustainable Pig Production, Wuhan, China, ³ Hubei Provincial Engineering Laboratory for Pig Precision Feeding and Feed Safety Technology, Wuhan, China

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Aleš Berlec, Jožef Stefan Institute (IJS), Slovenia

Reviewed by:

Julio Villena, Centro de Referencia para Lactobacilos, Argentina Metzler-Zebeli Barbara, Veterinärmedizinische Universität Wien, Austria

*Correspondence:

Xianghua Yan xhyan@mail.hzau.edu.cn [†]These authors have contributed equally to this work.

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Infectious Diseases, a section of the journal Frontiers in Microbiology

Received: 02 February 2018 Accepted: 30 May 2018 Published: 19 June 2018

Citation:

Hu J, Chen L, Tang Y, Xie C, Xu B, Shi M, Zheng W, Zhou S, Wang X, Liu L, Yan Y, Yang T, Niu Y, Hou Q, Xu X and Yan X (2018) Standardized Preparation for Fecal Microbiota Transplantation in Pigs. Front. Microbiol. 9:1328. doi: 10.3389/fmicb.2018.01328 The intestine of pigs harbors a mass of microorganisms which are essential for intestinal homeostasis and host health. Intestinal microbial disorders induce enteric inflammation and metabolic dysfunction, thereby causing adverse effects on the growth and health of pigs. In the human medicine, fecal microbiota transplantation (FMT), which engrafts the fecal microbiota from a healthy donor into a patient recipient, has shown efficacy in intestinal microbiota restoration. In addition, it has been used widely in therapy for human gastrointestinal diseases, including Clostridium difficile infection, inflammatory bowel diseases, and irritable bowel syndrome. Given that pigs share many similarities with humans, in terms of anatomy, nutritional physiology, and intestinal microbial compositions, FMT may also be used to restore the normal intestinal microbiota of pigs. However, feasible procedures for performing FMT in pigs remains unclear. Here, we summarize a standardized preparation for FMT in pigs by combining the standard methodology for human FMT with pig production. The key issues include the donor selection, fecal material preparation, fecal material transfer, stool bank establishment, and the safety for porcine FMT. Optimal donors should be selected to ensure the efficacy of porcine FMT and reduce the risks of transmitting infectious diseases to recipients during FMT. Preparing for fresh fecal material is highly recommended. Alternatively, frozen fecal suspension can also be prepared as an optimal choice because it is convenient and has similar efficacy. Oral administration of fecal suspension could be an optimal method for porcine fecal material transfer. Furthermore, the dilution ratio of fecal materials and the frequency of fecal material transfer could be adjusted according to practical situations in the pig industry. To meet the potential large-scale requirement in the pig industry, it is important to establish a stool bank to make porcine FMT readily available. Future studies should also focus on providing more robust safety data on FMT to improve the safety and tolerability of the recipient pigs. This standardized preparation for porcine FMT can facilitate the development of microbial targeted therapies and improve the intestinal health of pigs.

Keywords: fecal microbiota transplantation, pigs, standard, stool bank, intestinal microbiota

INTRODUCTION

The mammalian intestine harbors trillions of microbes (including bacteria, fungi, and viruses). These microbes play vital roles in the maintenance of gut homeostasis and host health (Sommer and Backhed, 2013). Currently, gut microbes are regarded as "microbial organs" functioning in nutrient absorption and metabolism (Backhed et al., 2007), host immune system development (Ivanov et al., 2009), the intestinal epithelium differentiation (Sommer and Backhed, 2013), and intestinal mucosal barrier maintenance (Garrett et al., 2010) in mammals. However, several factors, including host genetic characteristics, diet, environment, and antibiotic use, may affect the intestinal microbial diversity and function (Willing et al., 2011a; Schroeder and Backhed, 2016). Intestinal microbiota disorders can cause host gastrointestinal or non-gastrointestinal diseases (Brandt, 2013) such as inflammatory bowel disease (IBD), irritable bowel syndrome (IBS), and metabolic syndrome (Borody and Khoruts, 2011). Currently, antibiotics play important roles in intestinal disease prevention. However, antibiotics-induced resistance and spread of antibiotic-resistant pathogens have emerged as serious problems worldwide (Allen et al., 2014). Antibiotic therapy may also alter the intestinal microbial community and lead to intestinal microbial dysbiosis. Although probiotics (benign microbes) have shown efficacy in improving host intestinal health, their efficacy may be weak. This is because probiotic microbial composition is simple, and exogenous microbes may not colonize persistently to adapt to the dynamic intestinal homeostatic environment (Tannock et al., 2000; Sartor, 2004). Focus on the novel fecal microbiota transplantation (FMT) for the prevention and treatment of intestinal disorders has been increasing in the human medicine (Smits et al., 2013). More and more clinical applications of FMT have provided convincing proofs that modification of the intestinal microbiota is an effective therapy for intestinal dysbiosis-related diseases (Sekirov and Finlay, 2009; Smits et al., 2013). The urgent need for alternative therapies to antibiotics and the therapeutic potential of intestinal microbial manipulation promoted the development of FMT (Hamilton et al., 2012).

Fecal microbiota transplantation refers to the engraftment of fecal suspension from a healthy donor into the recipient's intestinal tract to restore the community and function of intestinal microbiota (Khoruts and Sadowsky, 2016). The first use of donor feces as a therapeutic agent for food poisoning and diarrhea was recorded in the Handbook of Emergency Medicine by a Chinese, Hong Ge, in the 4th century (Drew, 2016). During the 16th century, Shizhen Li described the effective treatment of many intestinal diseases with fecal material in the Compendium of Materia Medica and the fecal suspension was called "Huanglong Tang" (Zhang et al., 2012). FMT has been applied in veterinary medicine to treat intestinal disorders of ruminants and equines since the 17th century (Borody et al., 2004). In human medicine, the FMT was firstly used to treat pseudomembranous enterocolitis performed by Eiseman et al. (1958). Presently, FMT is highly recognized as an effective treatment option for recurrent Clostridium difficile infection (CDI) in human. It is gradually being used as a therapy for

some diseases including IBD, IBS, intractable constipation, and intestinal immunodeficiency in human (van Nood et al., 2013; Borody et al., 2015). The representative cases for FMT in mammals are shown in Table 1 (Anderson et al., 2012; Ridaura et al., 2013; van Nood et al., 2013; Sivan et al., 2015; Diao et al., 2016; Xiao et al., 2017). Growing evidences have revealed the similarity between intestinal microbiota of recipients and donors as well as the normalization of gut microbial compositions and functions in recipients after FMT therapy in human (Khoruts et al., 2010; Li et al., 2016). Rather than continuing to disturb the composition of normal intestinal microbiota, FMT efficiently restores gut microbiota of the recipients (Kelly et al., 2014). Currently, pigs encounter multiple stressors and overuse of antibiotics (Campbell et al., 2013; Barton, 2014), which destroy the normal community structure of intestinal microbiota and lead to the emergence of multidrug-resistant microorganisms in the intestine (Laxminarayan et al., 2013; Xu et al., 2015). The use of antibiotics in livestock farming was gradually banned (Casewell et al., 2003) due to that antibiotics-induced resistance, spread of antibiotic-resistant pathogens, and antibiotic residues in foods have emerged as serious problems worldwide (Allen et al., 2014). Thus, finding alternatives to antibiotics is important to livestock farming and food safety. Because of the similarities between human beings and pigs in terms of intestinal microbiota and nutritional physiology (Garthoff et al., 2002; Heinritz et al., 2013), FMT may be a promising method for intestinal microbiota reconstitution and health improvement in pigs. However, feasible procedures for performing FMT in pigs remain unclear. In this study, we summarize a standardized preparation for porcine FMT, which is used in the pig industry to prevent and treat intestinal disorders.

DONOR SELECTION

Optimal donors should be selected to ensure the efficacy of porcine FMT and reduce the risks of transmitting infectious diseases during the transfer of fecal suspension. Selection of donors which are not fit may have adverse effects on the stability and tolerance of the intestinal microbiota, thereby causing intestinal rejection. Importantly, porcine FMT may lead to pathogen transmission because donor feces may carry pathogenic and conditional pathogenic microbes. Thus, potential donors should be selected using strict exclusion criteria, including the genetic backgrounds, phenotypic characteristics, infectious diseases, common pathogens, and other indicators. We proposed the standard for donor screening in porcine FMT based on studies related to human donors screening and pig production.

Studies have revealed that maternal-line first-degree relatives or intimate contacts (e.g., mating, common-bond) can share environmental risk factors (Owens et al., 2013). Immediate family members may contain a mass of the same microbial species in their gastrointestinal tract. As a result, recipients are more tolerant to gut microbiota from donors who are immediate family members (Kelly et al., 2015). Intestinal microbial community has been recognized to be potentially associated with the pathogenesis of diseases and intestinal disorders

TABLE 1 Characteristics of donors and recipients, transplantation method, and effect of FMT on recipients

Donors	Recipients	Transplantation method	Effect on recipients
Healthy human (Anderson et al., 2012)	Patients with IBD	Colonoscopy/enema or enteral tube	Prevent infectious diarrhea in patients with IBD
Healthy human (van Nood et al., 2013)	Patient with recurrent CDI	Colonoscopy orduodenal Infusion	Normalize bowel functioning and treat CDI
Jackson Laboratory (JAX) mice (Sivan et al., 2015)	Taconic Farms (TAC) mice	Oral gavage	Facilitate antitumor immunity
Obese twin and lean twin (Ridaura et al., 2013)	Germ-free mice	Oral gavage	Transfer the characteristics of donor obesity from human to mice
Yorkshire pigs, Tibetan pigs, and Rongchang pigs (Diao et al., 2016)	Germ-free mice	Oral gavage	Transfer the gut characteristics from pigs to mice
Yorkshire and Tibetan pigs (Xiao et al., 2017)	Commercial hybrid newborn piglets	Oral gavage	Improve the intestinal anti-inflammatory function

(Bakken et al., 2011). Phenotypic features and behaviors are the most intuitive reflections of health status in pigs. In addition, it is important to verify whether there is a history of genetic disease based on genetic spectrum analysis of ancestors of potential donors. Moreover, the potential risks of transmitting infectious diseases should be assessed. Importantly, the donor pig candidates should be isolated from other pigs to avoid the transmission of pathogens among individuals. Below are the exclusion criteria in detail (**Box 1**).

To ensure that donors are of safety for porcine FMT, serological testing and stool testing should be performed to monitor infectious pathogens and other risk factors (**Table 2**). Common infectious diseases-related pathogens in the pig industry are as follows (Meurens et al., 2012; Denner and Mueller, 2015; Lee, 2015; Renukaradhya et al., 2015; Hu et al., 2017).

- Porcine infectious diseases-associated viruses include hog cholera virus, porcine pseudorabies virus, porcine parvovirus, porcine influenza virus, porcine encephalitis virus, porcine reproductive and respiratory syndrome virus, porcine circovirus type 2, porcine epidemic diarrhea virus, transmissible gastroenteritis virus, rotavirus, bocavirus, corona virus, cytomegalovirus, and porcine enterovirus.
- Porcine infectious diseases-associated bacteria include pathogenic Escherichia coli, Salmonella, Haemophilus parasuis, Bordetella bronchiseptica, Toxigenic pasteurellamultocida,

Actinobacillus pleuropneumoniae, pathogenic Streptococcus, Brachyspira hyodysenteriae, Lawsonia intracellularis, Clostridium perfringens, and Shigella.

• Porcine infectious diseases-associated parasites include Toxoplasma gondii, porcine whipworm, porcine ascarid, Clonorchis sinensis, Coccidia, and Cysticercus cellulosae.

Serological tests are widely used to detect infectious diseasesassociated pathogens based on the antigen-antibody binding reactions in vitro. We can use the antigen-antibody binding reactions to monitor the invasive pathogens which could stimulate host to generate the corresponding antibodies in serum. Blood samples are obtained from the porcine blood vessel and coagulated at 4°C. The serum is finally collected from the supernatant after the coagulated blood samples are centrifuged. Serological tests mainly include the serum neutralization test, hemagglutination inhibition test, enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay (ELISA), agar diffusion test, and complement fixation test. Specifically, ELISA tests have been a powerful approach to detect the infectious diseases-associated pathogens in serological tests because its several advantages, including good sensitivity and specificity (Sattler et al., 2014; Shin et al., 2015). Given that feces may carry some infectious pathogens, stool testing for donor pigs is crucial to reduce the infectious risk of porcine FMT directly. We should extract the fecal DNA from donor pigs and then perform PCR amplification reaction to

- ▶ Normal behavioral characteristics (including breathing status, feeding behavior, excreting behavior, social behavior, and reproductive behavior).
- ▶ No hemorrhagic spot and wound in body skin.

- Recent (<2 weeks) vaccination with live attenuated virus.
- ▶ Recent (<2 weeks) copulation (or artificial insemination).
- ► Contact with other pigs with a history of infectious diseases in the past.
- Appearance of diarrhea, constipation or hematochezia.
- History of exposure to other endemic diarrhea areas.
- History of using antibiotics or other drugs.

BOX 1 Key issues of criteria for donor screening in porcine FMT.

Selection of phenotypic characteristics:

[►] Age <5 months preferably.

Normal body temperature of 38~39.5°C (rectal temperature).

Ad libitum access to feed and water.

[►] No other abnormal behaviors.

Risk of infectious agents for donor screening:

TABLE 2 | General serological testing and stool testing to monitor potentially infectiouspathogens.

General serological testing	Stool testing
Hog cholera virus	Porcine epidemic diarrhea virus
Pseudorabies virus	Transmissible gastroenteritis virus
Porcine parvovirus	Rotavirus
Porcine influenza virus	Bocavirus
Porcine encephalitis virus	Corona virus
Porcine reproductive and respiratory syndrome virus	pathogenic Escherichia coli
Porcine circovirus type 2	Salmonella
Cytomegalovirus	Porcine Whipworm
Haemophilus parasuis	Porcine ascarid
Bordetella bronchiseptica	Clonorchis sinensis
Toxigenic pasteurellamultocida	Coccidia
Actinobacillus pleuropneumoniae	Cysticercus cellulosae
Pathogenic Streptococcus	Brachyspira hyodysenteriae
Toxoplasma gondii	Lawsonia intracellularis
Porcine enterovirus	Clostridium perfringens
	Shigella

confirm whether corresponding pathogens are present in the feces (Borewicz et al., 2015). RNA-virus pathogens could be detected using a combined method of the fecal RNA extraction and reverse transcription-polymerase chain reaction (RT-PCR). Specific primers should be designed according to the gene sequences of the standard pathogens. Whether the potential pathogens are present in feces could be judged through the corresponding amplified products. Moreover, ELISA test could be also used to detect pathogens-associated antigens in feces directly to confirm whether corresponding pathogens (such as porcine epidemic diarrhea virus) are present in the feces (Opriessnig et al., 2014).

Recent studies have used FMT to restore the phenotypes of donors in recipients, suggesting the key roles of intestinal microbiota in mammalian host health such as obesity (Ridaura et al., 2013; Goodrich et al., 2014), colon cancer (Wong et al., 2017), pathogens resistance (Lawley et al., 2012), and anti-tumor immunity (Sivan et al., 2015). Thus, it is crucial to select optimal pig donors because the fecal microbiota compositions of donors may have critical effects on the efficacy of the porcine FMT. Growing evidences have suggested that intestinal microbiotamediated colonization resistance against intestinal pathogens (Buffie and Pamer, 2013). Several studies have revealed that probiotics (include Lactobacillus, Bifidobacterium, and Bacillus spp.) contribute to decrease the level of colonization with enterotoxigenic E. coli (ETEC) and maintain intestinal microbial balance (Konstantinov et al., 2008; Chiang et al., 2015). A recent study showed that Lactobacillus johnsonii may have the potential efficacy to reduce Salmonella invasion of intestinal epithelium in pigs (Casey et al., 2004). Thus, we should select optimal donor pigs which have high-abundance "functional microbes" according to the results of fecal microbial compositions and functions analyzed by 16S rDNA sequencing and metagenomics in porcine FMT.

PREPARATION OF FECAL MATERIAL

Previous studies have suggested that at least 30 g of fecal material should be used for the FMT in human (Mattila et al., 2012; Satokari et al., 2015). However, varieties of stool diluents, such as sterile saline (0.9%, NaCl) and phosphate buffer solution (PBS) (Gough et al., 2011; Brandt and Aroniadis, 2013) can be used as alternatives. The stool material should be diluted 3–5 times with large volumes of the solvent and buffer solution (Cammarota et al., 2017). Considering the heterogeneity in the fecal microbes between different individuals or donors (Smits et al., 2013), we suggested that the dilution ratio of the fecal materials could be adjusted in porcine FMT. Importantly, all equipment used in the fecal suspension preparation should be strictly sterile.

Preparation of Fresh Fecal Material

Fresh feces used for the porcine FMT should be transported on ice to a specialized laboratory within 2 h after defecation (Lee et al., 2016). Approximately, 30 g fecal samples are diluted with 150 ml sterile saline and homogenized in a standard blender. The slurry is then filtered three times through gauze (Mattila et al., 2012), strainer, or 0.25 mm stainless steel sieves to eliminate the undigested and small particulate matter in the fecal suspension (Owens et al., 2013). We suggest that the fecal suspension could be centrifuged at 6,000 \times g for 15 min (Hamilton et al., 2012). The precipitate, without the supernatant, is re-suspended in fresh sterile saline, and then, the resulting suspension should be transferred to the recipients directly (Hamilton et al., 2012). Because the fecal microbes are predominantly anaerobes, reducing the time of oxygen exposure in fecal material preparation is crucial to ensuring fecal microbial viability. All fecal material preparation processes should be carried out at a room temperature of 20-30°C; preferably in an anaerobic incubator (Rossen et al., 2015) (Figure 1).

Preparation of Frozen Fecal Material

Preparation of frozen fecal suspension is an optimal choice to ensure sample availability, whenever there is the need for porcine FMT (Cammarota et al., 2017). Comparative studies have demonstrated that frozen fecal material does not only simplify the practical steps of clinical human FMT, but also has the similar efficacy to fresh fecal material (Satokari et al., 2015). To improve the fecal microbial survival rates during the cryopreservation, fresh stool samples should be diluted with sterile saline homogenized and filtered using the protocol used in the preparation of the fresh fecal material in porcine FMT. Subsequently, the resulting suspension should be added to glycerol to get a final concentration of 10% (Lee et al., 2016). Finally, the fecal suspensions are labeled accurately and then stored at -80°C (Satokari et al., 2015). Importantly, frozen fecal material should be stored at a low temperature as soon as possible (-80°C refrigerator or liquid nitrogen) to ensure the fecal microbial survival. When there is the need for porcine FMT, the frozen fecal suspension should be thawed at 37°C (water bath) (Figure 1). Upon frozen fecal suspension



FIGURE 1 | Schematic workflow of fecal microbiota transplantation (FMT) in pigs. At first, optimal donors should be selected to ensure the efficacy of porcine FMT and reduce the risks of transmitting infectious diseases during the transfer of fecal suspension via strict genetic backgrounds investigation, phenotypic characteristics, and serological test and stool testing. Fresh feces from healthy donor pigs were homogenized with sterile saline (0.9% NaCl) in blender and the stool materials should be diluted 3–5 times with large volumes of the buffer solution. The slurry was then filtered through sterile sieves and the suspension is either transferred to the recipients or mixed with 10% sterile glycerol to store at –80°C immediately. When there is the need for porcine FMT, the frozen fecal suspension should be thawed at 37°C (water bath).

thawing, sterile saline solution can be added to obtain a required concentration and the infusion of fecal suspension should be implemented as soon as possible at room temperature (Satokari et al., 2015).

TRANSFER OF FECAL MATERIAL

In the human medicine, different routes for fecal material transfer have been reported, including the upper gastrointestinal tract (oral administration); middle gastrointestinal tract (endoscopy, nasogastric tube, nasal jejunum, and nasal duodenum); lower gastrointestinal tract (colonoscopy and enema) (Drekonja et al., 2015). In mice models, oral gavage and cohousing are used to transfer the fecal microbiota from donor mice to recipient mice (Willing et al., 2011b). Cohousing takes advantage of the natural tendency of mice to feed on the feces of littermates (Endt et al., 2010). Recent studies have suggested that porcine FMT via oral gavage using fecal suspension from donor pigs can improve growth performance, intestinal barrier, and innate immune function in recipient pigs (Hu et al., 2017; Xiao et al., 2017). However, a recent study has shown that porcine FMT via oral gavage have a negative effect on the growth performance of pigs (McCormack et al., 2018). Considering the practicality of fecal material transfer in pig production, we proposed that oral administration of fecal suspension could be an optimal method for fecal material transfer in porcine FMT (Figure 1). Moreover, the prepared fecal materials could be mixed with diet for direct feeding or formulated into multi-layered capsules to be administrated with diet or oral gavage directly (Hirsch et al., 2015; Youngster et al., 2016). The frequency of fecal material transfer could also be adjusted according to practical situations in pig industry. The transfer of fecal material should be performed as soon as possible because the microbial cells are fragile and sensitive.

In the human medicine, patients with CDI should be treated with vancomycin at least for 3 days and then discontinue antibiotic for 12–48 h before FMT in order to inhibit the abundance of *C. difficile* in the intestine and reduce the load of intestinal microbes (Hamilton et al., 2012; Cammarota et al., 2017). However, recent studies on FMT in animal models have shown that antibiotic pretreatment could reduce the diversity of native microbiota and may be not beneficial to the establishment of exogenous microbiota (Manichanh et al., 2010). Thus, we suggest that all recipient pigs don't receive the antibiotics over 2 weeks before FMT and are free to water and diet.

ESTABLISHMENT OF THE STOOL BANK

To meet the potential large-scale requirement in the pig industry, it is important to establish a stool bank to make porcine FMT readily available. Fecal donors need to be recruited beforehand and rigorously screened systematically in porcine FMT. Several key issues should be considered. First, strict screening of donors including stool and serology testing is essential to prevent the transfer of infectious pathogens and reduce the risk of susceptibility in recipient (Smith et al., 2014). In addition, the supply of donor feces must meet the growing demand. Thus, we suggested that donor pigs should be segregated from other pigs since the stool and serological tests are conducted. After a series of stool and serological tests, feces will be continuously collected from eligible donor pigs (Kazerouni et al., 2015). The fecal material prepared for transplantation should be mixed with 10% sterile glycerol and stored at -80° C within 6 months, without diminishing the therapeutic efficacy (Costello et al., 2015). Establishment of stool bank not only saves the time for FMT, but also reduces cost since a single excellent donor can serve for multiple recipients (Hamilton et al., 2012). Furthermore, stool banks retain information about donors, thereby ensuring traceability during the FMT therapeutic process (Terveer et al., 2017). Procedures for the stool bank must comply with basic safety rules. Thus, the establishment of stool bank may optimize the practical procedures of porcine FMT and facilitate the development of this therapeutic method.

SAFETY OF FMT

Currently, most clinical experiences that focused on the use of FMT in humans have shown that FMT is safe in humans. Patients treated with FMT did not experience any serious adverse events (Borody and Khoruts, 2011), except minor symptoms such as slight diarrhea, constipation, vomiting, and abdominal discomfort (Kump et al., 2013; Rossen et al., 2015). It has been reported that the most common adverse events after FMT treatment of CDI and IBD include diarrhea, abdominal distention, abdominal cramps, constipation, and fever in human medicine (Cui et al., 2015; Agrawal et al., 2016). Some patients who received FMT treatment may suffer diarrhea on the day of transplantation, but the diarrhea generally disappears in a short term. In human medicine, adverse events are often associated with methods used to deliver fecal material, underlying diseases, and physical conditions of patients (Sokol et al., 2016). However, the evidence on the safety of FMT in pigs is relatively limited because porcine FMT has been applied before large and long-term comparable trials were conducted to assess the safety. Although recent studies have reported that the fecal microbes from donors extensively colonized in the recipients and coexisted with intestinal microbes of recipients over 3 months in human medicine (Li et al., 2016). The effects of fecal metabolites and heterogeneous substances on the intestinal microbiota of recipients are still unclear. Considering that pork is the main meat food for human, we should carefully reflect on the potential effects of porcine FMT on pork food safety. Firstly, strict donor screening is essential for reducing the risks of pathogen transmission during porcine FMT. Importantly, the potential antibiotics and drugs residues in pork of recipient pigs should be avoided via strict donor selection in which donor pigs have the history of using antibiotics or other drugs in diets or injection should not be used. Moreover, the potential

effects of fecal metabolites and heterogeneous substances on pork safety should also be further investigated in porcine FMT.

PERSPECTIVES

Based on the FMT procedures in human medicine and the pig industry, we proposed the standardized preparation (including donor selection, fecal material preparation, and fecal materials transfer) for the porcine FMT used in pig production. This standardized preparation for porcine FMT can increase the feasibility in the clinical operation for FMT and improve the intestinal health of pigs. Considering that the intestinal microbiota of piglets may be immature and sensitive to intestinal microenvironment, we conclude that porcine FMT on piglet production stage may be most effective. It is crucial to select optimal pig donors because the fecal microbes from donors may confer efficacy on the porcine FMT and the transfer of fecal materials may increase the risk of infectious pathogens transmission. Growing evidences have linked long-term diet habits to the composition of fecal microbiota (Matijasic et al., 2014). To ensure the fecal microbes from donor pigs can adapt to the intestinal microenvironment of recipient pigs, we suggest that the diets formulated according to NRC requirements for donor pigs and recipient pigs should be same if donor pigs and recipient pigs are same breed. It is known to us that there is a difference between pig breeds in diets because of the difference in nutrients requirements. Considering that there is no diet requirement for donors and recipients in human FMT, we suggest that the diets should be formulated according the nutrients requirements for different pig breeds, respectively. Although no relevant study has evaluated the survival rate of fecal microbes (including facultative anaerobic microbes, strict anaerobic microbes, and aerobic microbes) exposed to the atmosphere conditions (Yamashiro, 2017), the process of fecal material preparation will directly affect the efficacy of porcine FMT. Thus, it is important to shorten the time for fecal material preparation and transfer as soon as possible during porcine FMT. Considering that the effects of fecal metabolites and heterogeneous substances on the intestinal microbiota in recipients is still unclear, we should further improve the efficiency of fecal materials purification (besides the methods of filtration and centrifugation) to maximize the potential of porcine FMT. The method of fecal material transfer may also affect the efficacy of porcine FMT. Some microbes belonging to the phylum Firmicutes can form spores, which require growth factors in the upper digestive tract to survive (Burns et al., 2010). In addition, some microbes belonging to phylum Bacteroidetes may be denatured in the acidic environment of the stomach during the transfer (Damman et al., 2012). Therefore, it is crucial to identify the functional microbiota and choose an optimal method for delivery. A recent report has shown that the fecal microbial compositions in recipients are highly similar to that in donors by 14 days post-transplantation in human FMT (Khoruts et al., 2010). It is still difficult to conclude when the effect of FMT will be visible and how long the effect of FMT will be last

because the purposes and experimental conditions for porcine FMT may be different in different assay. Thus, more studies are needed to identify the intestinal microbial dynamics induced by porcine FMT and when the effect of porcine FMT should become visible.

Fecal microbiota transplantation has been widely used in human therapy for gastrointestinal diseases, including CDI, IBD, and IBS. Interestingly, some recent studies have used FMT to restore the phenotypes of donors in recipients and suggested the key roles of intestinal microbiota in mammalian host health such as obesity (Ridaura et al., 2013; Goodrich et al., 2014), colon cancer (Wong et al., 2017), pathogens resistance (Lawley et al., 2012), and anti-tumor immunity (Sivan et al., 2015). Thus, characterization of porcine intestinal microbial functions via FMT is of great significance and requires further investigation. The underlying mechanism of FMT and the gut microbes conferring efficacy on FMT are still unclear. Thus, precise manipulation of gut microbiota through probiotics (benign microbes) has currently emerged as a promising therapeutic strategy for gastrointestinal disorders (Foxx-Orenstein and Chey, 2012; Lawley et al., 2012; Buffie et al., 2015; Schieber et al., 2015). Recently, developed high-throughput approaches (including metagenomics, metatranscriptomics, and metabolomics) have been applied to identify the association between host health and the composition and functionality of gut microbiota (Kootte et al., 2012; Costea et al., 2017). Further studies should identify specific intestinal microbial candidates that are specific to disease pathogenesis and provide novel therapeutic strategies to take advantage of such beneficial microbes (Everard et al., 2013).

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

JH and LC wrote the paper with the help of all authors. JH, LC, YT, CX, BX, MS, WZ, SZ, XW, LL, YY, TY, YN, QH, and XX prepared the materials for this manuscript. XY revised this manuscript. All authors read and approved the final version of the manuscript.

FUNDING

This work was supported by the National Natural Science Foundation of China (Grant Nos. 31730090, 31520103915, and 31322053), the National Key Research and Development Program of China (Grant No. 2017YFD0500503), and the Fundamental Research Funds for the Central Universities (Grant Nos. 2013PY056, 2662015PY111, and 2013JQ001).

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We thank all present and past members of Yan Laboratory who have contributed comments and ideas.

REFERENCES

- Agrawal, M., Aroniadis, O. C., Brandt, L. J., Kelly, C., Freeman, S., Surawicz, C., et al. (2016). The long-term efficacy and safety of fecal microbiota transplant for recurrent, severe, and complicated *Clostridium difficile* infection in 146 elderly individuals. *J. Clin. Gastroenterol.* 50, 403–407. doi: 10.1097/mcg. 0000000000000410
- Allen, H. K., Trachsel, J., Looft, T., and Casey, T. A. (2014). Finding alternatives to antibiotics. Ann. N. Y. Acad. Sci. 1323, 91–100. doi: 10.1111/nyas.12468
- Anderson, J. L., Edney, R. J., and Whelan, K. (2012). Systematic review: faecal microbiota transplantation in the management of inflammatory bowel disease. *Aliment. Pharmacol. Ther.* 36, 503–516. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2036.2012.05220.x
- Backhed, F., Manchester, J. K., Semenkovich, C. F., and Gordon, J. I. (2007). Mechanisms underlying the resistance to diet-induced obesity in germ-free mice. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 104, 979–984. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0605374104
- Bakken, J. S., Borody, T., Brandt, L. J., Brill, J. V., Demarco, D. C., Franzos, M. A., et al. (2011). Treating *Clostridium difficile* infection with fecal microbiota transplantation. *Clin. Gastroenterol. Hepatol.* 9, 1044–1049. doi: 10.1016/j.cgh. 2011.08.014
- Barton, M. (2014). Impact of antibiotic use in the swine industry. Curr. Opin. Microbiol. 19, 9-15. doi: 10.1016/j.mib.2014.05.017
- Borewicz, K. A., Kim, H. B., Singer, R. S., Gebhart, C. J., Sreevatsan, S., Johnson, T., et al. (2015). Changes in the porcine intestinal microbiome in response to infection with *Salmonella enterica* and *Lawsonia intracellularis*. *PLoS One* 10:e0139106. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0139106
- Borody, T., Fischer, M., Mitchell, S., and Campbell, J. (2015). Fecal microbiota transplantation in gastrointestinal disease: 2015 update and the road ahead. *Expert Rev. Gastroenterol. Hepatol.* 9, 1379–1391. doi: 10.1586/17474124.2015. 1086267
- Borody, T. J., and Khoruts, A. (2011). Fecal microbiota transplantation and emerging applications. Nat. Rev. Gastroenterol. Hepatol. 9, 88–96. doi: 10.1038/ nrgastro.2011.244
- Borody, T. J., Warren, E. F., Leis, S. M., Surace, R., Ashman, O., and Siarakas, S. (2004). Bacteriotherapy using fecal flora: toying with human motions. J. Clin. Gastroenterol. 38, 475–483.
- Brandt, L. J. (2013). American Journal of Gastroenterology lecture: intestinal microbiota and the role of fecal microbiota transplant (FMT) in treatment of *C. difficile* infection. *Am. J. Gastroenterol.* 108, 177–185. doi: 10.1038/ajg. 2012.450
- Brandt, L. J., and Aroniadis, O. C. (2013). An overview of fecal microbiota transplantation: techniques, indications, and outcomes. *Gastrointest. Endosc.* 78, 240–249. doi: 10.1016/j.gie.2013.03.1329
- Buffie, C. G., Bucci, V., Stein, R. R., McKenney, P. T., Ling, L., Gobourne, A., et al. (2015). Precision microbiome reconstitution restores bile acid mediated resistance to *Clostridium difficile*. *Nature* 517, 205–208. doi: 10.1038/ nature13828
- Buffie, C. G., and Pamer, E. G. (2013). Microbiota-mediated colonization resistance against intestinal pathogens. *Nat. Rev. Immunol.* 13, 790–801. doi: 10.1038/ nri3535
- Burns, D. A., Heap, J. T., and Minton, N. P. (2010). Clostridium difficile spore germination: an update. Res. Microbiol. 161, 730–734. doi: 10.1016/j.resmic. 2010.09.007
- Cammarota, G., Ianiro, G., Tilg, H., Rajilic-Stojanovic, M., Kump, P., Satokari, R., et al. (2017). European consensus conference on faecal microbiota transplantation in clinical practice. *Gut* 66, 569–580. doi: 10.1136/gutjnl-2016-313017
- Campbell, J. M., Crenshaw, J. D., and Polo, J. (2013). The biological stress of early weaned piglets. J. Anim. Sci. Biotechnol. 4:19. doi: 10.1186/2049-1891-4-19
- Casewell, M., Friis, C., Marco, E., McMullin, P., and Phillips, I. (2003). The European ban on growth-promoting antibiotics and emerging consequences for human and animal health. *J. Antimicrob. Chemother.* 52, 159–161. doi: 10.1093/jac/dkg313
- Casey, P. G., Casey, G. D., Gardiner, G. E., Tangney, M., Stanton, C., Ross, R. P., et al. (2004). Isolation and characterization of anti-*Salmonella* lactic acid bacteria from the porcine gastrointestinal tract. *Lett. Appl. Microbiol.* 39, 431–438. doi: 10.1111/j.1472-765X.2004.01603.x
- Chiang, M. L., Chen, H. C., Chen, K. N., Lin, Y. C., Lin, Y. T., and Chen, M. J. (2015). Optimizing production of two potential probiotic lactobacilli strains

isolated from piglet feces as feed additives for weaned piglets. *Asian Australas. J. Anim. Sci.* 28, 1163–1170. doi: 10.5713/ajas.14.0780

- Costea, P. I., Zeller, G., and Sunagawa, S. (2017). Towards standards for human fecal sample processing in metagenomic studies. *Nat. Biotechnol.* 35, 1069–1076. doi: 10.1038/nbt.3960
- Costello, S. P., Conlon, M. A., Vuaran, M. S., Roberts-Thomson, I. C., and Andrews, J. M. (2015). Faecal microbiota transplant for recurrent *Clostridium difficile* infection using long-term frozen stool is effective: clinical efficacy and bacterial viability data. *Aliment. Pharmacol. Ther.* 42, 1011–1018. doi: 10.1111/ apt.13366
- Cui, B., Feng, Q., Wang, H., Wang, M., Peng, Z., Li, P., et al. (2015). Fecal microbiota transplantation through mid-gut for refractory Crohn's disease: safety, feasibility, and efficacy trial results. *J. Gastroenterol. Hepatol.* 30, 51–58. doi: 10.1111/jgh.12727
- Damman, C. J., Miller, S. I., Surawicz, C. M., and Zisman, T. L. (2012). The microbiome and inflammatory bowel disease: is there a therapeutic role for fecal microbiota transplantation? *Am. J. Gastroenterol.* 107, 1452–1459. doi: 10.1038/ajg.2012.93
- Denner, J., and Mueller, N. J. (2015). Preventing transfer of infectious agents. Int. J. Surg. 23, 306–311. doi: 10.1016/j.ijsu.2015.08.032
- Diao, H., Yan, H. L., Xiao, Y., Yu, B., Yu, J., He, J., et al. (2016). Intestinal microbiota could transfer host Gut characteristics from pigs to mice. *BMC Microbiol*. 16:238. doi: 10.1186/s12866-016-0851-z
- Drekonja, D., Reich, J., Gezahegn, S., Greer, N., Shaukat, A., MacDonald, R., et al. (2015). Fecal microbiota transplantation for *Clostridium difficile* infection: a systematic review. *Ann. Intern. Med.* 162, 630–638. doi: 10.7326/m14-2693
- Drew, L. (2016). Microbiota: reseeding the gut. *Nature* 540, S109–S112. doi: 10.1038/540S109a
- Eiseman, B., Silen, W., Bascom, G. S., and Kauvar, A. J. (1958). Fecal enema as an adjunct in the treatment of pseudomembranous enterocolitis. *Surgery* 44, 854–859.
- Endt, K., Stecher, B., Chaffron, S., Slack, E., Tchitchek, N., Benecke, A., et al. (2010). The microbiota mediates pathogen clearance from the gut lumen after nontyphoidal Salmonella diarrhea. PLoS Pathog. 6:e1001097. doi: 10.1371/journal. ppat.1001097
- Everard, A., Belzer, C., Geurts, L., Ouwerkerk, J. P., Druart, C., Bindels, L. B., et al. (2013). Cross-talk between Akkermansia muciniphila and intestinal epithelium controls diet-induced obesity. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 110, 9066–9071. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1219451110
- Foxx-Orenstein, A. E., and Chey, W. D. (2012). Manipulation of the Gut microbiota as a novel treatment strategy for gastrointestinal disorders. Am. J. Gastroenterol. Supp. 1, 41–46. doi: 10.1038/ajgsup.2012.8
- Garrett, W. S., Gordon, J. I., and Glimcher, L. H. (2010). Homeostasis and inflammation in the intestine. *Cell* 140, 859–870. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2010.01.023
- Garthoff, L. H., Henderson, G. R., Sager, A. O., Sobotka, T. J., O'Dell, R., Thorpe, C. W., et al. (2002). The Autosow raised miniature swine as a model for assessing the effects of dietary soy trypsin inhibitor. *Food Chem. Toxicol.* 40, 487–500.
- Goodrich, J. K., Waters, J. L., Poole, A. C., Sutter, J. L., Koren, O., Blekhman, R., et al. (2014). Human genetics shape the gut microbiome. *Cell* 159, 789–799. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2014.09.053
- Gough, E., Shaikh, H., and Manges, A. R. (2011). Systematic review of intestinal microbiota transplantation (fecal bacteriotherapy) for recurrent *Clostridium difficile* infection. *Clin. Infect. Dis.* 53, 994–1002. doi: 10.1093/cid/cir632
- Hamilton, M. J., Weingarden, A. R., Sadowsky, M. J., and Khoruts, A. (2012). Standardized frozen preparation for transplantation of fecal microbiota for recurrent *Clostridium difficile* infection. *Am. J. Gastroenterol.* 107, 761–767. doi: 10.1038/ajg.2011.482
- Heinritz, S. N., Mosenthin, R., and Weiss, E. (2013). Use of pigs as a potential model for research into dietary modulation of the human gut microbiota. *Nutr. Res. Rev.* 26, 191–209. doi: 10.1017/s0954422413000152
- Hirsch, B. E., Saraiya, N., Poeth, K., Schwartz, R. M., Epstein, M. E., and Honig, G. (2015). Effectiveness of fecal-derived microbiota transfer using orally administered capsules for recurrent *Clostridium difficile* infection. *BMC Infect. Dis.* 15:191. doi: 10.1186/s12879-015-0930-z
- Hu, L., Geng, S., Li, Y., Cheng, S., Fu, X., Yue, X., et al. (2017). Exogenous fecal microbiota transplantation from local adult pigs to crossbred newborn piglets. *Front. Microbiol.* 8:2663. doi: 10.3389/fmicb.2017.02663

- Ivanov, I. I., Atarashi, K., Manel, N., Brodie, E. L., Shima, T., and Karaoz, U. (2009). Induction of intestinal Th17 cells by segmented filamentous bacteria. *Cell* 139, 485–498. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2009.09.033
- Kazerouni, A., Burgess, J., Burns, L. J., and Wein, L. M. (2015). Optimal screening and donor management in a public stool bank. *Microbiome* 3:75. doi: 10.1186/ s40168-015-0140-3
- Kelly, C. R., Ihunnah, C., Fischer, M., Khoruts, A., Surawicz, C., Afzali, A., et al. (2014). Fecal microbiota transplant for treatment of *Clostridium difficile* infection in immunocompromised patients. *Am. J. Gastroenterol.* 109, 1065–1071. doi: 10.1038/ajg.2014.133
- Kelly, C. R., Kahn, S., Kashyap, P., Laine, L., Rubin, D., Atreja, A., et al. (2015). Update on fecal microbiota transplantation 2015: indications. methodologies, mechanisms, and outlook. *Gastroenterology* 149, 223–237. doi: 10.1053/j.gastro. 2015.05.008
- Khoruts, A., Dicksved, J., Jansson, J. K., and Sadowsky, M. J. (2010). Changes in the composition of the human fecal microbiome after bacteriotherapy for recurrent *Clostridium difficile*-associated diarrhea. J. Clin. Gastroenterol. 44, 354–360. doi: 10.1097/MCG.0b013e3181c87e02
- Khoruts, A., and Sadowsky, M. J. (2016). Understanding the mechanisms of faecal microbiota transplantation. Nat. Rev. Gastroenterol. Hepatol. 13, 508–516. doi: 10.1038/nrgastro.2016.98
- Konstantinov, S. R., Smidt, H., Akkermans, A. D., Casini, L., Trevisi, P., Mazzoni, M., et al. (2008). Feeding of Lactobacillus sobrius reduces *Escherichia coli* F4 levels in the gut and promotes growth of infected piglets. *FEMS Microbiol. Ecol.* 66, 599–607. doi: 10.1111/j.1574-6941.2008.00517.x
- Kootte, R. S., Vrieze, A., Holleman, F., Dallinga-Thie, G. M., Zoetendal, E. G., de Vos, W. M., et al. (2012). The therapeutic potential of manipulating gut microbiota in obesity and type 2 diabetes mellitus. *Diabetes Obes. Metab.* 14, 112–120. doi: 10.1111/j.1463-1326.2011.01483.x
- Kump, P. K., Grochenig, H. P., Lackner, S., Trajanoski, S., Reicht, G., Hoffmann, K. M., et al. (2013). Alteration of intestinal dysbiosis by fecal microbiota transplantation does not induce remission in patients with chronic active ulcerative colitis. *Inflamm. Bowel Dis.* 19, 2155–2165. doi: 10.1097/MIB. 0b013e31829ea325
- Lawley, T. D., Clare, S., Walker, A. W., Stares, M. D., Connor, T. R., Raisen, C., et al. (2012). Targeted restoration of the intestinal microbiota with a simple, defined bacteriotherapy resolves relapsing *Clostridium difficile* disease in mice. *PLoS Pathog.* 8:e1002995. doi: 10.1371/journal.ppat.1002995
- Laxminarayan, R., Duse, A., Wattal, C., Zaidi, A. K., Wertheim, H. F., Sumpradit, N., et al. (2013). Antibiotic resistance-the need for global solutions. *Lancet Infect. Dis.* 13, 1057–1098. doi: 10.1016/s1473-3099(13)70318-9
- Lee, C. (2015). Porcine epidemic diarrhea virus: an emerging and re-emerging epizootic swine virus. *Virol. J.* 12:193. doi: 10.1186/s12985-015-0421-2
- Lee, C. H., Steiner, T., Petrof, E. O., Smieja, M., Roscoe, D., Nematallah, A., et al. (2016). Frozen vs fresh fecal microbiota transplantation and clinical resolution of diarrhea in patients with recurrent *Clostridium difficile* infection: a randomized clinical trial. *JAMA* 315, 142–149. doi: 10.1001/jama.2015.18098
- Li, S. S., Zhu, A., Benes, V., Costea, P. I., Hercog, R., Hildebrand, F., et al. (2016). Durable coexistence of donor and recipient strains after fecal microbiota transplantation. *Science* 352, 586–589. doi: 10.1126/science.aad8852
- Manichanh, C., Reeder, J., Gibert, P., Varela, E., Llopis, M., Antolin, M., et al. (2010). Reshaping the gut microbiome with bacterial transplantation and antibiotic intake. *Genome Res.* 20, 1411–1419. doi: 10.1101/gr.107987.110
- Matijasic, B. B., Obermajer, T., Lipoglavsek, L., Grabnar, I., Avgustin, G., and Rogelj, I. (2014). Association of dietary type with fecal microbiota in vegetarians and omnivores in Slovenia. *Eur. J. Nutr.* 53, 1051–1064. doi: 10.1007/s00394-013-0607-6
- Mattila, E., Uusitalo-Seppala, R., Wuorela, M., Lehtola, L., Nurmi, H., Ristikankare, M., et al. (2012). Fecal transplantation, through colonoscopy, is effective therapy for recurrent *Clostridium difficile* infection. *Gastroenterology* 142, 490–496. doi: 10.1053/j.gastro.2011.11.037
- McCormack, U. M., Curiao, T., Wilkinson, T., Metzler-Zebeli, B. U., Reyer, H., Ryan, T., et al. (2018). Fecal microbiota transplantation in gestating sows and neonatal offspring alters lifetime intestinal microbiota and growth in offspring. *mSystems* 3:e00134-17. doi: 10.1128/mSystems.00134-17
- Meurens, F., Summerfield, A., Nauwynck, H., Saif, L., and Gerdts, V. (2012). The pig: a model for human infectious diseases. *Trends Microbiol.* 20, 50–57. doi: 10.1016/j.tim.2011.11.002

- Opriessnig, T., Xiao, C. T., Gerber, P. F., Zhang, J., and Halbur, P. G. (2014). Porcine epidemic diarrhea virus RNA present in commercial spraydried porcine plasma is not infectious to naive pigs. *PLoS One* 9:e104766. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0104766
- Owens, C., Broussard, E., and Surawicz, C. (2013). Fecal microbiota transplantation and donor standardization. *Trends Microbiol.* 21, 443–445. doi: 10.1016/j.tim. 2013.07.003
- Renukaradhya, G. J., Meng, X. J., Calvert, J. G., Roof, M., and Lager, K. M. (2015). Live porcine reproductive and respiratory syndrome virus vaccines: current status and future direction. *Vaccine* 33, 4069–4080. doi: 10.1016/j.vaccine.2015. 06.092
- Ridaura, V. K., Faith, J. J., Rey, F. E., Cheng, J., Duncan, A. E., Kau, A. L., et al. (2013). Gut microbiota from twins discordant for obesity modulate metabolism in mice. *Science* 341:1241214. doi: 10.1126/science.1241214
- Rossen, N. G., Fuentes, S., van der Spek, M. J., Tijssen, J. G., Hartman, J. H., Duflou, A., et al. (2015). Findings from a randomized controlled trial of fecal transplantation for patients with ulcerative colitis. *Gastroenterology* 149, 110.e4–118.e4. doi: 10.1053/j.gastro.2015.03.045
- Sartor, R. B. (2004). Therapeutic manipulation of the enteric microflora in inflammatory bowel diseases: antibiotics, probiotics, and prebiotics. *Gastroenterology* 126, 1620–1633.
- Satokari, R., Mattila, E., Kainulainen, V., and Arkkila, P. E. (2015). Simple faecal preparation and efficacy of frozen inoculum in faecal microbiota transplantation for recurrent *Clostridium difficile* infection–an observational cohort study. *Aliment. Pharmacol. Ther.* 41, 46–53. doi: 10.1111/apt.13009
- Sattler, T., Wodak, E., Revilla-Fernandez, S., and Schmoll, F. (2014). Comparison of different commercial ELISAs for detection of antibodies against porcine respiratory and reproductive syndrome virus in serum. *BMC Vet. Res.* 10:300. doi: 10.1186/s12917-014-0300-x
- Schieber, A. M., Lee, Y. M., Chang, M. W., Leblanc, M., Collins, B., Downes, M., et al. (2015). Disease tolerance mediated by microbiome *E. coli* involves inflammasome and IGF-1 signaling. *Science* 350, 558–563. doi: 10.1126/science. aac6468
- Schroeder, B. O., and Backhed, F. (2016). Signals from the gut microbiota to distant organs in physiology and disease. *Nat. Med.* 22, 1079–1089. doi: 10.1038/nm. 4185
- Sekirov, I., and Finlay, B. B. (2009). The role of the intestinal microbiota in enteric infection. J. Physiol. 587, 4159–4167. doi: 10.1113/jphysiol.2009.172742
- Shin, M. K., Yoon, S. H., Kim, M. H., Lyoo, Y. S., Suh, S. W., and Yoo, H. S. (2015). Assessing PCV2 antibodies in field pigs vaccinated with different porcine circovirus 2 vaccines using two commercial ELISA systems. J. Vet. Sci. 16, 25–29.
- Sivan, A., Corrales, L., Hubert, N., Williams, J. B., Aquino-Michaels, K., Earley, Z. M., et al. (2015). Commensal Bifdobacterium promotes antitumor immunity and facilitates anti-PD-L1 efficacy. *Science* 350, 1084–1089. doi: 10.1126/ science.aac4255
- Smith, M. B., Kelly, C., and Alm, E. J. (2014). Policy: how to regulate faecal transplants. *Nature* 506, 290–291.
- Smits, L. P., Bouter, K. E., de Vos, W. M., Borody, T. J., and Nieuwdorp, M. (2013). Therapeutic potential of fecal microbiota transplantation. *Gastroenterology* 145, 946–953. doi: 10.1053/j.gastro.2013.08.058
- Sokol, H., Galperine, T., Kapel, N., Bourlioux, P., Seksik, P., Barbut, F., et al. (2016). Faecal microbiota transplantation in recurrent *Clostridium difficile* infection: recommendations from the French group of faecal microbiota transplantation. *Dig. Liver Dis.* 48, 242–247. doi: 10.1016/j.dld.2015.08.017
- Sommer, F., and Backhed, F. (2013). The gut microbiota-masters of host development and physiology. Nat. Rev. Microbiol. 11, 227–238. doi: 10.1038/ nrmicro2974
- Tannock, G. W., Munro, K., Harmsen, H. J., Welling, G. W., Smart, J., and Gopal, P. K. (2000). Analysis of the fecal microflora of human subjects consuming a probiotic product containing *Lactobacillus rhamnosus* DR20. *Appl. Environ. Microbiol.* 66, 2578–2588.
- Terveer, E. M., van Beurden, Y. H., Goorhuis, A., Seegers, J., Bauer, M. P., van Nood, E., et al. (2017). How to: establish and run a stool bank. *Clin. Microbiol. Infect.* 23, 924–930. doi: 10.1016/j.cmi.2017.05.015
- van Nood, E., Vrieze, A., Nieuwdorp, M., Fuentes, S., Zoetendal, E. G., de Vos, W. M., et al. (2013). Duodenal infusion of donor feces for recurrent *Clostridium difficile. N. Engl. J. Med.* 368, 407–415. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa1205037

- Willing, B. P., Russell, S. L., and Finlay, B. B. (2011a). Shifting the balance: antibiotic effects on host-microbiota mutualism. *Nat. Rev. Microbiol.* 9, 233–243. doi: 10.1038/nrmicro2536
- Willing, B. P., Vacharaksa, A., Croxen, M., Thanachayanont, T., and Finlay, B. B. (2011b). Altering host resistance to infections through microbial transplantation. *PLoS One* 6:e26988. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0026988
- Wong, S. H., Zhao, L., Zhang, X., Nakatsu, G., Han, J., Xu, W., et al. (2017). Gavage of fecal samples from patients with colorectal cancer promotes intestinal carcinogenesis in germ-free and conventional mice. *Gastroenterology* 153, 1621.e6–1633.e6. doi: 10.1053/j.gastro.2017.08.022
- Xiao, Y., Yan, H., Diao, H., Yu, B., He, J., Yu, J., et al. (2017). Early Gut microbiota intervention suppresses DSS-Induced inflammatory responses by deactivating TLR/NLR signalling in pigs. *Sci. Rep.* 7:3224. doi: 10.1038/s41598-017-03161-6
- Xu, M. Q., Cao, H. L., Wang, W. Q., Wang, S., Cao, X. C., Yan, F., et al. (2015). Fecal microbiota transplantation broadening its application beyond intestinal disorders. *World J. Gastroenterol.* 21, 102–111. doi: 10.3748/wjg.v21.i1.102
- Yamashiro, Y. (2017). Gut microbiota in health and disease. Ann. Nutr. Metab. 71, 242–246. doi: 10.1159/000481627

- Youngster, I., Mahabamunuge, J., Systrom, H. K., Sauk, J., Khalili, H., Levin, J., et al. (2016). Oral, frozen fecal microbiota transplant (FMT) capsules for recurrent *Clostridium difficile* infection. *BMC Med.* 14:134. doi: 10.1186/s12916-016-0680-9
- Zhang, F., Luo, W., Shi, Y., Fan, Z., and Ji, G. (2012). Should we standardize the 1,700-year-old fecal microbiota transplantation? *Am. J. Gastroenterol.* 107, 1755–1756. doi: 10.1038/ajg.2012.251

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2018 Hu, Chen, Tang, Xie, Xu, Shi, Zheng, Zhou, Wang, Liu, Yan, Yang, Niu, Hou, Xu and Yan. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Antimicrobial Susceptibility and Virulence Surveillance of *Campylobacter* spp. Isolated From Patients in Two Tertiary Medical Centers in Taiwan

Mao-Cheng Ge^{1,2†}, Shu-Fang Kuo^{2,3†}, Shih-Cheng Chang^{1,2}, Chun-Chih Chien³, Huey-Ling You³ and Jang-Jih Lu^{1,2,4*}

¹ Department of Laboratory Medicine, Chang Gung Memorial Hospital, Taoyuan, Taiwan, ² Department of Medical Biotechnology and Laboratory Sciences, College of Medicine, Chang Gung University, Taoyuan, Taiwan, ³ Department of Laboratory Medicine, Kaohsiung Chang Gung Memorial Hospital, Kaohsiung, Taiwan, ⁴ Department of Medicine, College of Medicine, Chang Gung University, Taoyuan, Taiwan

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Aleš Berlec, Jožef Stefan Institute (IJS), Slovenia

Reviewed by:

Hosny El-Adawy, Friedrich-Loeffler-Institut, Germany Marta Pałusinska-Szysz, Maria Curie-Sklodowska University, Poland

*Correspondence:

Jang-Jih Lu janglu45@gmail.com [†]These authors have contributed equally to this work

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Infectious Diseases, a section of the journal Frontiers in Microbiology

Received: 25 July 2018 Accepted: 10 December 2018 Published: 07 January 2019

Citation:

Ge M-C, Kuo S-F, Chang S-C, Chien C-C, You H-L and Lu J-J (2019) Antimicrobial Susceptibility and Virulence Surveillance of Campylobacter spp. Isolated From Patients in Two Tertiary Medical Centers in Taiwan. Front. Microbiol. 9:3186. doi: 10.3389/fmicb.2018.03186 Campylobacter spp. may cause fever, vomiting, and diarrhea in humans. Antibiotic treatment is suggested for patients with severe campylobacteriosis. However, the interpretative criteria for antibiotic susceptibility are inconsistent between Clinical and Laboratory Standards Institute and European Committee on Antimicrobial Susceptibility Testing guidelines. The aim of the study is to investigate the antibiotic susceptibility and prevalence of cytolethal distending toxin genes and to evaluate antibiotic susceptibility testing methods in the clinical laboratories of two tertiary medical centers in Taiwan. In total, 236 bacterial isolates were collected between 2001 and 2014. The disk diffusion and E-test methods were used to evaluate the antibiotic susceptibility, and broth dilution results were used as a reference. The virulence genes cdtA, cdtB, cdtC, and ceuE were detected through polymerase chain reaction. The antimicrobial sensitivity rates for erythromycin, ciprofloxacin, and tetracycline using the broth dilution assay were 80.4, 5.4, and 3.4%, respectively. No significant differences were observed in the antibiotic susceptibility of the isolates obtained from southern and northern Taiwan. However, some differences were observed between species. The susceptibility test for erythromycin (disk diffusion) showed that the isolates with small inhibition zone diameters were all resistant, and five isolates (4.0%) with large IZDs were non-sensitive. The error rate of the disk diffusion method according to the CLSI M45-A3 guideline was 5.4% (8/148). The incompatibility rates between the E-test and broth dilution methods for erythromycin, ciprofloxacin, and tetracycline were 8.0, 5.3, and 1.3%, respectively. The positive rates of the genes *cdtA* and *cdtC* were considerably higher in Campylobacter jejuni than in C. coli. Erythromycin is recommended as the first choice of treatment for campylobacteriosis. The disk diffusion method is suitable for prescreening Campylobacter susceptibility by using the CLSI M45-A2 and EUCAST criteria (low error rate of 3.4%). If antibiotic treatment fails or IZDs are between 6 and 20 mm, minimum inhibitory concentration testing by using the *E*-test method is highly recommended because the results of the *E*-test and broth dilution methods exhibit high agreement. The error rate of disk diffusion method using CLSI M45-A3 criteria is only slightly higher than B, which is also a suitable criteria.

Keywords: Campylobacter, antibiotic susceptibility, virulence factor, disk diffusion, E-test

INTRODUCTION

Campylobacter spp. are zoonotic bacteria. First named in 1963, the Campylobacter genus currently comprises more than 20 species (Sebald and Veron, 1963). The main causes of human infection are Campylobacter jejuni and Campylobacter coli (van der Beek et al., 2010). There are a few reports of infections in other species (Man, 2011). People who are in close contact with animals, consume raw meat, are employed in animal husbandry, or own pets are at a high risk of campylobacteriosis (Dasti et al., 2010). Campylobacter infections may cause watery diarrhea, abdominal cramps or fever (Kaakoush et al., 2015). Severe campylobacteriosis has also been reported (Ge et al., 2013). Antibiotic treatment is suggested for patients with severe campylobacteriosis (Kaakoush et al., 2015). There are several common antimicrobial agents for erythromycin, ciprofloxacin, tetracycline, and doxycycline in campylobacteriosis therapy (Ge et al., 2013). The Clinical and Laboratory Standards Institute (CLSI) M45 guidelines recommend the susceptibility test by using the disk diffusion and broth dilution minimum inhibitory concentration (MIC) methods (Clinical and Laboratory Standards Institute, 2016). According to the M45-A2 (2010 version) guidelines, Campylobacter can be reported as being resistant to erythromycin and ciprofloxacin if no inhibition zone is observed in disk diffusion screening. If the inhibition zone diameter (IZD) is >6 mm, the susceptibility can be confirmed using the MIC method according to the interpretive criteria. The sensitivity of Campylobacter to tetracycline and doxycycline can only be confirmed using the broth micro-dilution method. In the M45-A3 (2016 version) guidelines, the IZD interpretive criteria were newly added, but the MIC interpretive criteria were the same as those in the previous version. However, the European Committee on Antimicrobial Susceptibility Testing (EUCAST) guidelines include another criterion for susceptibility, which is different from the CLSI criterion for susceptibility in C. jejuni and C. coli (EUCAST, 2018). Whether the use of the 2016 version criterion is feasible and whether the IZDs are consistent with the MIC results remain unclear in Taiwan. In addition, whether the results of the E-test method for MIC determination are consistent with those of the broth micro-dilution method, which is more complex and expensive than the *E*-test, requires investigation.

Studies have shown that the resistance of *Campylobacter* is increasing, particularly its resistance to commonly prescribed ciprofloxacin and tetracycline (Luangtongkum et al., 2009). Because most hospitals in Taiwan do not report the antimicrobial susceptibility of *Campylobacter* spp., the resistance of *Campylobacter* isolates is unknown in Taiwan. In this study, we intended to examine the antimicrobial susceptibility of

Campylobacter to provide reliable data for clinical use and for reducing the dependence on empirical medication and literature recommendations when treating campylobacteriosis. In addition, susceptibility data from different years were analyzed to identify drug resistance trends. We analyzed susceptibility data from different areas in Taiwan to determine whether regional differences exist in antibiotic resistance.

Campylobacter produces several cytotoxins, including the extensively studied cytolethal distending toxin (CDT), which is also produced by many gram-negative bacteria (Bolton, 2015). *Campylobacter* species that produce toxins are more likely to cause serious illnesses than species that do not (Fais et al., 2016). Analysis of virulence factors is helpful to provide evidence for active treatment.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Analysis of Case Numbers of Campylobacteriosis

Analysis of the number of cases of campylobacteriosis in Chang Gung Memorial Hospital, Linkou, from 2005 to 2014 showed that the average number of cases of intestinal infection per year was 181. The average number of cases of parenteral infection per year was 9 in the same period; however, the number of cases was slightly higher in 2008-2011 probably because of the influence in the area (Supplementary Material A). The positive rate of virulence was higher in children than in adults, and the rate has not changed significantly from 2010 to 2014 (Supplementary Material B). No seasonal differences in the case numbers were observed, but the positive rate was higher in winter because fewer samples were collected in winter (Supplementary Material C). Intestinal infection was predominantly observed in children aged 1-6 years, accounting for 34.4% of the total case number; however, parenteral infection was predominantly observed in adults aged > 45 years, accounting for 68.6% of the total case number (Supplementary Material D).

Bacterial Isolates and Growth Conditions

In total, 236 bacterial isolates were analyzed. The isolates consisted of 165 isolates from patients in northern Taiwan (2001–2012: 59 isolates of *C. jejuni* and 29 isolates of *C. coli*; 2013–2014: 45 isolates of *C. jejuni*, 31 isolates of *C. coli*, and 1 isolate of *C. fetus*) and 71 isolates from patients in southern Taiwan (2013–2014: 57 isolates of *C. jejuni* and 14 isolates of *C. coli*). Stool (193), blood (41), and dialysate (2) samples of the patients were collected. The clinical isolates obtained from

northern and southern Taiwan were collected consecutively in different periods from two tertiary medical centers, namely Linkou Chang Gung Memorial Hospital and Kaohsiung Chang Gung Memorial Hospital, respectively. All samples were plated on Columbia blood agar plates containing 5% sheep blood agar and were incubated at 42°C in a microaerophilic atmosphere(CampyPak; BBL; Becton Dickinson, Rutherford, NJ, United States) for 24-48 h. Species identification was performed through matrix-assisted laser desorption ionization time of flight mass spectrometry and multiplex polymerase chain reaction (PCR) assay (Wang et al., 2002; Schulthess et al., 2013; Randall et al., 2015). The accuracy of MALDI-TOF mass identification in Campylobacter is close to 100% (Randall et al., 2015). The mass identifications and data analyses were performed using the Bruker LT microflex MALDI-TOF mass spectrometer (Bruker Daltonics, Bremen, Germany). A direct smear method with a 70% formic acid overlay was used. The gene of PCR is hipO from C. jejuni; glyA from C. coli, C. lari, and C. upsaliensis; sapB2 from C. fetus subsp. fetus; and the internal control 23S rRNA.

Broth Micro-Dilution Method

Minimum inhibitory concentration were determined for the 236 *Campylobacter* isolates using a commercial susceptibility plates (Sensititre, Trek Diagnostic Systems) containing serial double fold dilutions of nine antimicrobial agents, namely erythromycin, azithromycin, telithromycin, clindamycin, tetracycline, nalidixic acid, ciprofloxacin, florfenicol, and gentamicin. The broth dilution protocol was based on that provided in the CLSI guidelines (Clinical and Laboratory Standards Institute, 2016). The results of susceptibility to erythromycin, ciprofloxacin, and tetracycline were interpreted using epidemiological cutoff values based on MICs reported in the CLSI guidelines. The CLSI interpretive criteria for the other six antibiotics are not available. Quality control is the operation of *C. jejuni* ATCC 33560 specified by the manufacturer.

Disk Diffusion Method

Susceptibility testing of erythromycin, tetracycline and ciprofloxacin was performed for 148 isolates of *Campylobacter* spp. obtained from patients in northern (n = 77) and southern (n = 71) Taiwan from 2013 to 2014 by using the disk diffusion method. The disk diffusion protocol, quality control and the interpretative criteria used were based on the CLSI guidelines (Clinical and Laboratory Standards Institute, 2016). Culture condition is Mueller Hintion agar with 5% sheep blood, 42°C for 48 h in a microaerophilic atmosphere(CampyPak; BBL; Becton Dickinson, Rutherford, NJ, United States).

E-Test Method

The *E*-test was performed for 75 isolates (40 from northern and 35 from southern Taiwan) selected randomly from the 148 isolates obtained during 2013–2014; erythromycin, ciprofloxacin, and tetracycline were used for this test. The MICs of erythromycin, ciprofloxacin, and tetracycline for the *Campylobacter* isolates were determined using the standard *E*-test method. After inoculation with McFarland 0.5 turbidity standard *Campylobacter* culture, 90-mm plates containing *E*-test strips (AB BIODISK, Solna, Sweden) were incubated at 42°C for 48 h in a microaerobic environment (CampyPak; BBL; Becton Dickinson, Rutherford, NJ, United States). Quality control is the operation of *C. jejuni* ATCC 33560.

Virulence Factor Analysis

The genes encoding CDT, namely *cdtA*, *cdtB*, *cdtC*, and *ceuE*, were detected in the 148 isolates obtained from 2013 to 2014 through PCR, as previously described (Bang et al., 2003). The primers sequence is cdtA (GNW: 5'-GGAAATTGGATTTGGGGGCTAT ACT-3'; IVH: 5'-ATCACAAGGATAATGGACAAT-3'; Amplicon: 165 bp), cdtB (VAT2: 5'-GTTAAAATCCCCTGCTATCAA CCA-3'; WMI-R 5'-GTTGGCACTTGGAATTTGCAAGGC-3'; Amplicon: 495 bp), cdtC (WMI-F: 5'-TGGATGATAGCAGGGG ATTTTAAC-3'; LPF-X: 5'-TTGCACATAACCAAAAGGAA G-3'; Amplicon: 555 bp), ceuE for C. jejuni (ceuEJ) (JEJ1: 5'-CCT GCTCGGTGAAAGTTTTG-3'; JEJ2: 5'-GATCTTTTTGTTTT GTGCTGC-3'; Amplicon: 794 bp), ceuE for C. coli (ceuEC) (COL1: 5'-ATGAAAAAATATTTAGTTTTTGCA-3'; COL2: 5'-ATTTTATTATTTGTAGCAGCG-3';Amplicon: 894 bp). The conditions of PCR are 94°C1 min/42°C2 min/72°C3 min/ (30 cycles) at cdtA/cdtB/cdtC and 95°C3 min/57°C30 s/72°C1 min/30 cycles at ceuEJ and 95°C3 0 s/57°C30 s /72°C1 min/30 cycles at ceuEC.

Statistical Analysis

The Student *t*-test was used to determine the significance of differences. A difference was considered statistically significant if p < 0.05.

Ethics Approval and Consent to Participate

The isolate was not for the study, but for the treatment of infectious diseases in routine hospital laboratory procedure. We only used the bacterial isolate retained in the bacterium library, and the patient data are kept anonymous. Since this study only focuses on a bacterial isolate rather than patients, ethical approval was not necessary for the study according to the Swedish act concerning the ethical review of research involving humans, Etikprövningslagen (2003:460).

RESULTS

Susceptibility Analysis

Antibiotic sensitivity was analyzed using the MIC and disk diffusion methods. Clinical isolates either from northern or southern Taiwan were used for analysis. The sensitivity rate for erythromycin detected using the MIC assay was 119/148 (80.4%) (**Table 1A**). Low drug resistance indicated that erythromycin is a suitable choice for empirical therapy. In the disk diffusion method, 24 (30.0%) isolates with small IZDs (≤ 6 mm) were all resistant, and 5 (4.0%) isolates with large IZDs (>6 mm) were resistant. Eight isolates exhibited different results from those reported in CLSI M45-A3 guidelines. Three isolates larger than 16 mm were resistant. The high agreement between the

TABLE 1A | Compliance analysis between the inhibition zone diameters and MICs by using broth dilution method for erythromycin (A), ciprofloxacin (B), and tetracycline (C).

		Disk diffusion (mm)								
Interpretation			≤6	7–12	13–15	16–19	20–23	≥24		
CLSI guideline M	145-A3 2016			R	1		S		Total (n)	
EUCAST disk dif	ffusion guideline i	n C. jejuni			R		s			
		<1						30	30	119
	S†	1–8		3*#		1#	3	82	89	
	Iţ	16						1*#	1	1
MIC (µg/ml)		32–64							0	28
	R [†]	>64	24				1*#	3*#@	28	
	Total (n)		24	3		1		120	148	

*Error (5.4%, 8/148) of disk diffusion based on CLSI M45-A3 guidelines 2016. #Error (6.1%, 9/148) of disk diffusion based on EUCAST disk diffusion guidelines for C. jejuni. @Including two isolates with inhibition zone diameter > 40 mm.[†]S, susceptible; I, intermediate; R, resistant.

TABLE 1B									
			Disk diffusion (mm)						
			<u>≤</u> 6	7–23	≥24	Total (n)			
		<1	3		4	7			
	S†	1			1	1			
	1	2		1	1	2			
MIC (µg/ml)		4–64	107	6	3 [@]	116			
	R	>64	22			22			
	Total (n)		132	7	9	148			

[†]S, susceptible; I, intermediate; R, resistant. @Including one isolate with inhibition zone diameter > 40 mm.

TABLE 1C |

			Disk diffusion (mm)					
			≤6	7–25	≥26	Total (n)		
		<1			2	2		
	S [†]	1–4			3	3		
	I. I.	8				0		
MIC (µg/ml)		16–64	7	4		11		
	R	>64	121	9	2@	132		
	Total (n)		128	13	7	148		

[†]S, susceptible; I, intermediate; R, resistant. @Inhibition zone of two isolates is >40 mm.

two methods indicated that the disk diffusion method with erythromycin is useful for susceptibility screening. The resistant rates for ciprofloxacin and tetracycline determined through MIC assays were 138/148 (93.2%) and 143/148 (96.6%) (**Tables 1B,C**), respectively. High antimicrobial resistance showed that both these antibiotics are not suitable choices for empirical therapy. The isolates with small IZDs (≤ 6 mm) were all resistant to tetracycline, but not all isolates (129/132, 97.7%) were resistant to ciprofloxacin. The isolates with large IZDs (> 6 mm) that had sensitivity rates of 11/16 and 15/20 were non-sensitive to ciprofloxacin and tetracycline, respectively. Unexpectedly, some of the isolates with very large IZDs (> 40 mm) were found to be resistant in the MIC assay (**Table 1**). This disagreement between

the results of the two methods indicates that the disk diffusion method with ciprofloxacin and tetracycline is not useful for susceptibility screening.

Differences in Antibiotic Susceptibility Between the Isolates From Northern and Southern Taiwan

Several differences were observed in susceptibility to the nine antibiotics, namely erythromycin, azithromycin, telithromycin, clindamycin, tetracycline, nalidixic acid, ciprofloxacin, florfenicol, and gentamicin, between *Campylobacter* isolates from northern and southern Taiwan (**Table 2**). In *C. coli*, azithromycin

Antibiotics	Species	Area			Cumulativ	e isolates (%)	inhibited, by M	IC(mg/L)		
			0.12	0.25	0.5	1	2	4	8	>8
Erythromycin	C. coli	North			2(6.5)	8(25.8) #	14(45.2) #	17(54.8) #		31(100.0)
		South				1(7.1) #	4(28.6) #	6(42.9) #		14(100.0)
	C. jejuni	North	1(2.2)	4(8.9)	12(24.4)	32(71.1) #	37(82.2)#	40(88.9) #	42(93.3)	45(100.0)
		South		6(10.5)	17(29.8)	39(68.4) #	51(89.5) #	53(93.0) #		57(100.0)
Azithromycin	C. coli	North	11(35.5) *#	18(58.1)						31(100.0)
		South	1(7.1) *#	5(35.7)						14(100.0)
	C. jejuni	North	29(64.4) #	34(75.5)	35(77.8)	36(80.0)	38(84.4)	39(86.7)		45(100.0)
		South	43(75.4) #	51(89.5)	53(93.0)		54(94.7)			57(100.0)
Telithromycin	C. coli	North			1(3.2)	3(9.7)	10(32.3) #	14(45.2) #	17(54.8) #	31(100.0)
		South	1(7.1)				2(14.3) #	4(28.6)#	7(50.0)#	14(100.0)
	C. jejuni	North	1(2.2)	3(6.7)	9(20.0)	14(31.1)				45(100.0)
		South		1(1.8)	9(15.8)	16(28.1)				57(100.0)
Clindamycin	C. coli	North		6(19.4)	7(22.6)#	10(32.3) #	16(51.6)#	19(61.3)#	20(64.5)#	31(100.0)
		South			1(7.1) #	4(28.6) #	6(42.9)#		7(50.0)	14(100.0)
	C. jejuni	North	7(15.6)	15(33.3)	31(68.9) #	36(80.0)#	39(86.7)#	40(88.9)#	42(93.3) #	45(100.0)
		South	9(15.8)	23(40.4)	36(63.2) #	46(80.7) #	52(91.2) #			57(100.0)
Tetracycline	C. coli	North			1(3.2)					31(100.0)
		South								14(100.0)
	C. jejuni	North			1(2.2)					45(100.0)
		South					2(3.5)			57(100.0)
Nalidixic Acid	C. coli	North								31(100.0)
		South								14(100.0)
	C. jejuni	North						1(2.2)	2(4.4)	45(100.0)
		South							2(3.5)	57(100.0)
Ciprofloxacin	C. coli	North			1(3.2)				5(16.1)	31(100.0)
		South					1(7.1)		2(14.3)	14(100.0)
	C. jejuni	North	2(4.4)	3(6.7)				6(13.3)	9(20.0)	45(100.0)
		South		1(1.8)	3(5.3)		4(7.0)	6(10.5)	9(15.8)	57(100.0)
Florfenicol	C. coli	North				2(6.5)	16(51.6)	24(77.4)	29(93.5)	31(100.0)
		South				3(21.4)	10(71.4)#	11(78.6)	12(85.7)	14(100.0)
	C. jejuni	North			3(6.7)	5(11.1)	16(35.6)	26(57.8)	40(88.9)	45(100.0)
		South				7(12.3)	18(31.6)#	36(63.2)	57(100.0)	57(100.0)
Gentamicin	C. coli	North			1(3.2)	13(41.9)	20(64.5)	22(71.0)	. ,	31(100.0)
		South			1(7.1)	4(28.6)	5(35.7)	. ,		14(100.0)
	C. jejuni	North	1(2.2)		17(37.8) *	36(80.0)	39(86.7)		40(88.9)	45(100.0)
		South	1(1.8)		35(61.4)*	51(89.5)	55(96.5)	56(98.2)		57(100.0)

TABLE 2 | Minimum inhibitory concentration operated by broth dilution of C. jejuni and C. coli isolated from patients in two tertiary medical centers in northern and southern Taiwan.

*Significant difference in area (p < 0.05). #Significant difference in species (p < 0.05). MIC of C. fetus is 1, 0.25, 4, 2, 2, >64, 1, 8, and 0.5 from top as in the aforementioned order.

■ Non-susceptible in CLSI guideline M45-A3 2016 (erythromycin ≥ 16 µg/mL; tetracycline ≥ 8 µg/mL; ciprofloxacin ≥ 2 µg/mL).

Susceptible in CLSI guideline M45-A3 2016 (erythromycin $\leq 8 \mu g/mL$; tetracycline $\leq 4 \mu g/mL$; ciprofloxacin $\leq 1 \mu g/mL$).

No MIC interpretive criteria in CLSI guideline M45-A3 2016.

resistance was higher in the isolates obtained from southern Taiwan than in those from northern Taiwan, but in *C. jejuni*, gentamycin resistance was higher in the isolates obtained from northern Taiwan than in those from southern Taiwan. Other antibiotic resistance rates (erythromycin, telithromycin, clindamycin, tetracycline, nalidixic acid, ciprofloxacin and florfenicol) were not significantly different between the isolates obtained from the two areas. Significant differences were observed in the antibiotic susceptibilities of *C. coli* and *C. jejuni* to erythromycin, azithromycin, telithromycin, clindamycin, and gentamicin in each area; however, no significant difference was observed between the isolates obtained from the two areas.

Verification Analysis by Using the *E*-Test and Microdilution MIC Methods

The MICs of three antibiotics, namely erythromycin, ciprofloxacin, and tetracycline, in 75 *Campylobacter* isolates were further verified using the *E*-test and microdilution methods.

TABLE 3 | Comparison between the E-test and broth-dilution methods for erythromycin (A), ciprofloxacin (B), and tetracycline (C).

	Antibiotics		E-test				
			Susceptible	Intermediate	Resistant		
Broth-dilution	(A) Erythromycin	Susceptible	59	1*	3*#		
		Intermediate	0	0	0		
		Resistant	2*#	0	10		
	(B) Ciprofloxacin	Susceptible	3	0	1*#		
		Intermediate	0	0	0		
		Resistant	3*#	0	68		
	(C) Tetracycline	Susceptible	3	0	0		
		Intermediate	0	0	0		
		Resistant	0	1*	71		

*Inconsistency between different methods. #Major error. Interpretive criteria is based on the CLSI M45-A3 guidelines, 2016. Erythromycin: <8, 16, and >32 µg/mL; ciprofloxacin: ≤ 1 , 2, and $\geq 4 \mu g/mL$; tetracycline: ≤ 4 , 8, or $\geq 16 \mu g/mL$ as susceptible, intermediate, or resistant.

TABLE 4 | Positive rate of the presence of each *cdt* gene in clinical isolates.

Campylobacter isolate (n)	Specimen (n)	cdtA	cdtB	cdtC	ceuEJ	ceuEC
C. coli (45)	Other (6)*	0.0%	100.0%	0.0%	N/A	100.0%
	Stool (39)	21.9%	100.0%	15.4%	N/A	100.0%
C. fetus (1)	Other (1)*	0.0%	100.0%	100.0%	N/A	N/A
C. jejuni (102)	Other (6)*	83.3%	100.0%	83.3%	100.0%	N/A
	Stool (96)	97.9%	100.0%	62.7%	99.0%	N/A

*The other specimens are blood (n = 11) and dialysate (n = 2). N/A, not applicable.

		2001-2006			2007–2012		2013–2014		
	Stool(16) %	Blood(8) %	Total(24) %	Stool(42) %	Blood(22) %	Total(64) %	Stool(67) %	Blood(10) %	Total(77) %
Ciprofloxacin	75.0	100.0	83.3	76.2	86.4	79.7	76.1	80.0	76.6
Erythromycin	18.8	25.0	20.8	14.3	18.2	15.6	19.4	40.0	22.1
Tetracycline	81.3	100.0	87.5	69.0	77.3	71.9	97.0	90.0	96.6

As shown in Table 3, several disagreements were observed between the results of the two methods. The incompatibility rates for erythromycin, ciprofloxacin, and tetracycline were 8.0% (6/75), 5.3% (4/75), and 1.3% (1/75), respectively. Furthermore, the major error rates of erythromycin and ciprofloxacin are 6.7% (5/75) and 5.3% (4/75), and tetracycline has no major errors.

Presence of Bacterial Virulence Genes

The genes encoding CDT, namely cdtA, cdtB, cdtC, ceuEJ, and ceuEC, were analyzed in the related Campylobacter species C. coli and C. jejuni (Table 4). The positive rates of C. jejuni for cdtA and cdtC in stool are 97.9% and 62.7%, respectively, and those for C. coli is 21.9% and 15.4% respectively. The positive rates for *cdtA* and *cdtC* were considerably higher

in C. jejuni than in C. coli (p < 0.05). However, the positive rates of the other three virulence factors were nearly 100%, and no differences were observed between C. coli and C. jejuni.

Antibiotic Susceptibility Analysis of **Campylobacter Species Isolated From** Patients in Different Periods

We further analyzed antibiotic resistance rates in three periods, namely 2001-2006 (n = 24), 2007-2012 (n = 64), and 2013-2014 (n = 77) in northern Taiwan (Table 5). The resistance rates for all antibiotics, except tetracycline, were high in Campylobacter isolated from blood than those from stool samples. Although the resistance rate for tetracycline in 2007-2012 was slightly low and the resistance rate for erythromycin in

blood isolates was slightly high; the difference was not statistically significant.

DISCUSSION

The antibiotic resistance interpretive criteria in the CLSI M45-A2 guidelines suggest that erythromycin is resistant when an IZD (<6 mm) is not observed in a 15-µg paper disk, and uncertain if the IZD exceeds 6 mm. When the resistance results of the disk diffusion methods are uncertain, the MIC method can be used to determine drug resistance; accordingly, an MIC of $\geq 32 \ \mu g/mL$ represents that the isolate is resistant to the tested drug, whereas MICs of ≤ 8 and 16 μ g/mL represent that the isolate is sensitive and intermediate, respectively. In addition to CLSI, other reference standards, such as EUCAST, are used in Europe. EUCAST also recommends the use of a 15-µg paper disk of erythromycin to test the susceptibility of C. jejuni. According to the criteria for C. jejuni, IZD < 20 mm indicates resistance, whereas IZD > 20 mm indicates sensitivity; however, for C. coli, IZD < 24 mm indicates resistance, whereas $IZD \ge 24$ mm indicates sensitivity. In addition, according to the criteria of the MIC method in EUCAST, an MIC of >4 μ g/mL indicates resistance, whereas an MIC of <4 μ g/mL indicates sensitivity, without an intermediate category. In the CLSI M45-A3 guidelines, disk diffusion criteria were added (IZD < 12 mm indicates resistance, an IZD of 13-15 mm indicates the intermediate category, and IZD \geq 16 mm indicates sensitivity).

Currently, antibiotic susceptibility testing for *Campylobacter* is not widely implemented in Taiwan. However, based on the needs of clinical treatment, susceptibility testing may be introduced in the future (Ge et al., 2013). Our hospital, similar to other hospitals in Taiwan, uses the antibiotic resistance interpretive criteria of the CLSI guidelines. However, we wish to identify the difference between these two criteria and between different antibiotic susceptibility testing methods.

In this study, all the 24 isolates with IZDs \leq 6 mm for erythromycin showed MIC > 16 μ g/mL (CLSI criteria). However, 4 of the 28 isolates considered resistant according to the EUCAST criteria (IZD < 20 mm) were sensitive according to the MIC method and CLSI criteria (MIC $\leq 8 \ \mu g/mL$). The isolates with IZD > 20 mm were considered sensitive according to the EUCAST criteria. Most of the isolates were sensitive, with the exception of five isolates with MIC > 8 μ g/mL, which denotes the resistance criterion of CLSI. The discrepancies between disk diffusion and IZD < 20 mm (sensitive) and $IZD \ge 20 \text{ mm}$ (resistant) are 14.2% (4/28) and 4.1% (5/120), respectively. We believe that the criteria of the disk diffusion method in EUCAST or CLSI for determining erythromycin susceptibility are feasible, despite a few errors, because the requirements of labor, material, resources, and turn-aroundtime for the disk diffusion method are less than those for the MIC method. Al-Natour's study on Campylobacter isolated from animals showed a high degree of agreement between

the two methods although the criteria used were different from those used in the present study (Al-Natour et al., 2016). However, our study showed that the disk method was only suitable for erythromycin and not for ciprofloxacin and tetracycline. The difference in suitability may be due to differences in drug resistance in isolates from different regions.

Although the erythromycin-resistant isolates identified using the M45-A2 criteria (IZD < 6 mm represents resistance) of CLSI were entirely correct, the use of these criteria is complicated for the isolates for which the resistance cannot be determined because of the discrepancy of intermediate isolates in the M45-A3 criteria and the complexity of the broth dilution MIC method. The combination of the CLSI and EUCAST criteria might provide additional information, such as ≤ 6 mm represents resistance, where >20 mm represents sensitivity (low error rate of 3.5%, 5/144). Because of a high error rate (75%, 3/4), if the IZD is between 6 and 20 mm or if antibiotic treatment failed, the MIC method is recommended.

Among the isolates, resistance to ciprofloxacin and tetracycline, regardless of the CLSI or EUCAST criteria, was high (>90%), thus indicating that these two antibiotics are not suitable for empirical treatment. Even if the IZD exceeded the "sensitive" criteria of EUCAST (≥26 mm for ciprofloxacin and \geq 30 mm for tetracycline), a large proportion of the isolates were shown to be resistant according to the results of the MIC method. For ciprofloxacin, the rate of non-compliance was 33.3% (3/9) based on the CLSI MIC criteria and >56% based on the EUCAST MIC criteria. For tetracycline, the rate of non-compliance was 50% on average. The sensitivity to these two antibiotics could not be determined using the disk diffusion method; hence, the MIC method was used. Two methods of MIC determination are routinely used, broth dilution and E-test. The broth dilution method requires the preparation of antibiotic solutions or commercial kits that are expensive (US\$25/isolate and nine antibiotics) and require more complicated operations. Commercial kits have a short shelf life, and are associated with difficulty of interpretation; however, the E-test is considerably simpler and have a long shelf life. Although the price of E-test for nine antibiotics is similar to that of broth dilution, the price of E-test are more flexible in price because we can choose a few antibiotics we need. We compared the rates of compliance of the two MIC methods to determine whether we can use the E-test result instead of the broth dilution method to obtain MIC data. The results showed that E-test method results exhibit high agreement with those of the broth dilution method according to the CLSI criteria, 94.6% (71/75), 94.6% (71/75), and 98.6% (74/75) for erythromycin, ciprofloxacin, and tetracycline, respectively.

Although previous studies have indicated an increase in *Campylobacter* resistance in recent years (Luangtongkum et al., 2009), no significant difference was obtained among the data of different years in our analysis, thus suggesting that the increase in ciprofloxacin and tetracycline resistance may have occurred before 2001. According to a study in

Taiwan duck farms from 2013 to 2014, antimicrobial resistance differs between northern and southern Taiwan (Department of Veterinary Medicine, National Taiwan University, unpublished data). This discrepancy may be due to differences in the use of antibiotics in the livestock sector or in the natural distribution of such zoonotic bacteria. Because human infection partly results from meat consumption, we analyzed the regional difference of antibiotic susceptibility in patients with campylobacteriosis. We analyzed the differences in resistance to nine antibiotics between two tertiary medical centers, Linkou and Kaohsiung Chang Gung Memorial Hospitals, with a distance of 250 km between them, which represent northern and southern Taiwan, respectively. The results showed that the effects of regional differences on human infection were not significant because we observed differences in only two analysis groups, namely gentamycin for C. jejuni and azithromycin for C. coli, with higher and lower resistance, respectively, in the northern than in the southern area.

The number of Campylobacter bacteremia cases was highest in the middle-aged population in our study; the result is similar to that of a recent study in Israel in 2016 (Hussein et al., 2016). In our study, however, we did not find Campylobacter species other than C. jejuni, C. coli, and C. fetus, although the increasing prevalence of uncommon Campylobacter has been reported in the literature. Differences between species were observed in four antibiotics, namely azithromycin, erythromycin, telithromycin and clindamycin; C. coli showed higher resistance to all the drugs than C. jejuni did. Pigs are the main natural reservoirs of C. coli. We do not know whether the discrepancy is due to differences in the feeding process of pigs between regions or livestock or other differences such as the nature of species. According to a report by Riley in Canada, C. coli is more resistant to ciprofloxacin and erythromycin than C. jejuni (Riley et al., 2015). Moreover, our study reported that C. coli was less resistant to tetracycline than other species. Similar studies have provided different results on drug resistance (El-Adawy et al., 2015; Cha et al., 2016; Kim et al., 2016). Therefore, the establishment of a bacterial local susceptibility database is required because of the regional difference.

Campylobacter is more toxic to hosts when it contains virulence factors (Bolton, 2015; Lai et al., 2016). We analyzed the differences between four virulence factor genes, namely *cdtA*, cdtB, cdtC, and ceuE, between C. jejuni and C. coli. The results showed that the positive rate of *cdtA* and *cdtC* in *C. jejuni* (*cdtA*: 97.9% in stool and 83.3% in the other; cdtC: 62.7% in stool and 83.3% in the other) was significantly higher than that in C. coli (cdtA: 21.9% in stool and 0.0% in the other; cdtC: 15.4% in stool and 0.0% in the other). However, the difference of positive rate in cdtB and ceuE between C. jejuni and C. coli is not significant due to their positive rate nearly 100%. According to a study of Campylobacter in storks in Europe (Szczepanska et al., 2015), the positive rate of cdtB in Campylobacter was 58-88%, which is less than that observed in our study. The positive rate of C. coli in the above study was higher than that of C. jejuni, which was also different from our human clinical case study. We

believe that this difference is attributable not only to differences in regions but also differences in species. However, the number of *Campylobacter* studies on the positive rate of *cdt* genes in human clinical infection cases has not increased in recent years. Although the positive rate of the virulence factor in *C. jejuni* is higher than in *C. coli*, the number of parenteral infection cases (*C. jejuni*: *C. coli* = 1:1) caused by *C. coli* is higher than that of intestinal infection cases (*C. jejuni*: *C. coli* = 1:0.4). The use of antibiotics and other invasive factors may contribute to these differences. Additional studies are needed to explain these differences.

CONCLUSION

Cases of severe or invasive campylobacteriosis require the use of antibiotics; erythromycin is suitable as the first choice, and the ciprofloxacin and tetracycline are not suitable because of their high drug resistance (observed in more than 95% of cases in Taiwan). The disk diffusion method with erythromycin can be used as a susceptibility screening method, as determined using the CLSI (≤ 6 mm represents resistance) and EUCAST (≥ 20 mm represents sensitivity) criteria. The error rate of the combination method was only 3.5% (5/144). If antibiotic treatment fails or when the IZD is between 6 and 20 mm, the MIC method is recommended. The error rate of disk diffusion method using CLSI M45-A3 criteria is only slightly higher than B, which is also a suitable criteria. The *E*-test is an alternative approach for the broth dilution method because of the high agreement of its results with broth dilution results.

DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The raw data supporting the conclusions of this manuscript will be made available by the authors, without undue reservation, to any qualified researcher.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

M-CG, S-FK, and J-JL designed the experiments. C-CC, and H-LY integrated the experiments for bacterial isolates and control of antibiotic susceptibility test. M-CG and S-FK participated in other experiments. S-CC performed the statistical analyses. M-CG and J-JL wrote the manuscript. All authors discussed the results and implications and commented on the manuscript at all stages.

FUNDING

This work was supported by the grants from Kaohsiung Chang Gung Memorial Hospital (CMRPG8D0361) and the Ministry of Science and Technology (MOST104-2320-B-182A-005-MY3 and MOST 107-2320-B-182A-021-MY3) of Taiwan.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

The authors thank Melisa Andrews and Haerin Shin from Wallace Academic Editing Group (http://www.editing.tw/) for editing a draft of this manuscript.

REFERENCES

- Al-Natour, M. Q., Alaboudi, A. R., Osaili, T. M., and Obaidat, M. M. (2016). Resistance of *Campylobacter jejuni* isolated from layer farms in northern Jordan using microbroth dilution and disc diffusion techniques. *J. Food Sci.* 81, M1749–M1753. doi: 10.1111/1750-3841.13363
- Bang, D. D., Nielsen, E. M., Scheutz, F., Pedersen, K., Handberg, K., and Madsen, M. (2003). PCR detection of seven virulence and toxin genes of *Campylobacter jejuni* and *Campylobacter coli* isolates from danish pigs and cattle and cytolethal distending toxin production of the isolates. *J. Appl. Microbiol.* 94, 1003–1014. doi: 10.1046/j.1365-2672.2003.01926.x
- Bolton, D. J. (2015). Campylobacter virulence and survival factors. *Food Microbiol.* 48, 99–108. doi: 10.1016/j.fm.2014.11.017
- Cha, W., Mosci, R., Wengert, S. L., Singh, P., Newton, D. W., and Salimnia, H. (2016). Antimicrobial susceptibility profiles of human *Campylobacter jejuni* isolates and association with phylogenetic lineages. *Front. Microbiol.* 7:589. doi: 10.3389/fmicb.2016.00589
- Clinical and Laboratory Standards Institute (2016). *Methods for Antimicrobial Dilution and Disk Susceptibility Testing of Infrequently Isolated or Fastidious Bacteria.* Wayne, PA: CLSI,
- Dasti, J. I., Tareen, A. M., Lugert, R., Zautner, A. E., and Gross, U. (2010). *Campylobacter jejuni*: a brief overview on pathogenicity-associated factors and disease-mediating mechanisms. *Int. J. Med. Microbiol.* 300, 205–211. doi: 10. 1016/j.ijmm.2009.07.002
- El-Adawy, H., Ahmed, M. F., Hotzel, H., Tomaso, H., Tenhagen, B. A., Hartung, J., et al. (2015). Antimicrobial susceptibilities of *Campylobacter jejuni* and *Campylobacter coli* recovered from organic turkey farms in Germany. *Poult. Sci.* 94, 2831–2837. doi: 10.3382/ps/pev259
- EUCAST (2018). Clinical Breakpoints Bacteria (V 8.1). Available at: http://www.eucast.org/clinical_breakpoints/
- Fais, T., Delmas, J., Serres, A., Bonnet, R., and Dalmasso, G. (2016). Impact of CDT toxin on human diseases. *Toxins* 8, 1–12. doi: 10.3390/toxins8070220
- Ge, B., Wang, F., Sjolund-Karlsson, M., and McDermott, P. F. (2013). Antimicrobial resistance in campylobacter: susceptibility testing methods and resistance trends. J. Microbiol. Methods 95, 57–67. doi: 10.1016/j.mimet.2013. 06.021
- Hussein, K., Raz-Pasteur, A., Shachor-Meyouhas, Y., Geffen, Y., Oren, I., Paul, M., et al. (2016). Campylobacter bacteraemia: 16 years of experience in a single Centre. *Infect. Dis.* 48, 796–799. doi: 10.1080/23744235.2016.1195916
- Kaakoush, N. O., Castaño-Rodríguez, N., Mitchell, H. M., and Man, S. M. (2015). Global epidemiology of campylobacter infection. *Clin. Microbiol. Rev.* 28, 687–720. doi: 10.1128/CMR.00006-15
- Kim, J. S., Lee, M. Y., Kim, S. J., Jeon, S. E., Cha, I., Hong, S., et al. (2016). High-level ciprofloxacin-resistant *Campylobacter jejuni* isolates circulating in humans and animals in Incheon, Republic of Korea. *Zoonoses Public Health* 63, 545–554. doi: 10.1111/zph.12262
- Lai, C. K., Chen, Y. A., Lin, C. J., Lin, H. J., Kao, M. C., Huang, M. Z., et al. (2016). Molecular mechanisms and potential clinical applications of *Campylobacter*

SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIAL

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fmicb. 2018.03186/full#supplementary-material

jejuni cytolethal distending toxin. *Front. Cell. Infect. Microbiol.* 6:9. doi: 10.3389/ fcimb.2016.00009

- Luangtongkum, T., Jeon, B., Han, J., Plummer, P., Logue, C. M., and Zhang, Q. (2009). Antibiotic resistance in Campylobacter: emergence, transmission and persistence. *Future Microbiol.* 4, 189–200. doi: 10.2217/17460913.4.2.189
- Man, S. M. (2011). The clinical importance of emerging Campylobacter species. Nat. Rev. Gastroenterol. Hepatol. 8, 669–685. doi: 10.1038/nrgastro.2011.191
- Randall, L. P., Lemma, F., Koylass, M., Rogers, J., Ayling, R. D., Worth, D., et al. (2015). Evaluation of MALDI-ToF as a method for the identification of bacteria in the veterinary diagnostic laboratory. *Res. Vet. Sci.* 101, 42–49. doi: 10.1016/j.rvsc.2015.05.018
- Riley, A., Eshaghi, A., Olsha, R., Allen, V. G., and Patel, S. N. (2015). Antibiotic susceptibility of clinical isolates of *Campylobacter jejuni* and *Campylobacter coli* in Ontario, Canada during 2011-2013. *Diagn. Microbiol. Infect. Dis.* 83, 292–294. doi: 10.1016/j.diagmicrobio.2015.07.020
- Schulthess, B., Brodner, K., Bloemberg, G. V., Zbinden, R., Böttger, E. C., and Hombach, M. (2013). Identification of gram-positive cocci by use of matrix-assisted laser desorption ionization-time of flight mass spectrometry: comparison of different preparation methods and implementation of a practical algorithm for routine diagnostics. *J. Clin. Microbiol.* 51, 1834–1840. doi: 10. 1128/JCM.02654-12
- Sebald, M., and Veron, M. (1963). Base DNA content and classification of vibrios. Ann. Inst. Pasteur 105, 897–910.
- Szczepanska, B., Kamiński, P., Andrzejewska, M., Śpica, D., Kartanas, E., Ulrich, W., et al. (2015). Prevalence, virulence, and antimicrobial resistance of *Campylobacter jejuni* and *Campylobacter coli* in white stork *Ciconia ciconia* in Poland. *Foodborne Pathog. Dis.* 12, 24–31. doi: 10.1089/fpd.2014.1793
- van der Beek, M. T., Claas, E. C., Mevius, D. J., van Pelt, W., Wagenaar, J. A., Kuijper, E. J., et al. (2010). Inaccuracy of routine susceptibility tests for detection of erythromycin resistance of *Campylobacter jejuni* and *Campylobacter coli*. *Clin. Microbiol. Infect* 16, 51–56. doi: 10.1111/j.1469-0691.2009.02755.x
- Wang, G., Clark, C. G., Taylor, T. M., Pucknell, C., Barton, C., Price, L., et al. (2002). Colony multiplex PCR assay for identification and differentiation of *Campylobacter jejuni*, *C. coli*, *C. lari*, *C. upsaliensis*, and *C. fetus* subsp. *fetus. J. Clin. Microbiol.* 40, 4744–4747. doi: 10.1128/JCM.40.12.4744-4747. 2002

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2019 Ge, Kuo, Chang, Chien, You and Lu. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

